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Tre following memoir was drawn up for the Bombay Times
and Monthly Times newspapers : the former a bi-weekly print,
chiefly read in India; the latter, for which it was principally in-
tended, being published on the morning of the dispatch of the
Overland Mail, and having much the greater part of its circula-
tion in Europe. Various valuable narratives, giving accounts
of the campaign of 1839, were published in the year 1840, the
titles of which have been quoted as their pages have been
referred to and drawn upon for the substance of the Second
Chapter of the present volume. The writers of these treat,
after their own fashion, of the events of which they were wit-
nesses or sharers : Dr KeNNEDY confines himself to an account
of the march of the Bombay column, which at first, for three
months, pursued a different route from the Bengal portion of the
z{rmy; until, reaching the mouth of the Bolan Pass, it afterwards
followed the track of the leading column, although ten marches
inits rear, until the whole assembled at Candahar on the 4th May,
where the elements of the grand army were, for the first time,
united. The march between this and Cabool furnishes common
ground, which has been traversed by all the writers who describe
the operations of Sir Joun Kgange, Dr KENNEDY retires with
the Bombay force by the new route over the Toba mountains, to
the southward of that which had been previously traversed,and
brings the reader back-through Sukkur with the last fragment
of the force. Major Ourram’s “ Rough Notes” are entirely
confined to what he himself did or saw : he gives us his adven-
tures at starting in Cutch in quest of camels—the gallant,
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dangerous, though unsuccessful pursuit of Dost MaHoMED,—
the independent operations amongst the Ghilzies, and the ad-
vance on, and capture of, Kelat. Majors Houan and HaverLock
chiefly confine themselves to the details of the proceedings of the
Bengal troops—the work of the former officer being valuable as
a body of statisticsand book of reference, butscarcely claiming
the character of a history or narrative. Of the first campaign,
no general account is to be found comprised in any single work ;
and the reader who desires to make himself acquainted wich the
operations of 1839, must not only study with care those just
alluded to, but must peruse, besides, many elaborate and tedious
official papers, before he can have any thing like a distinct con-
ception of the subject. The Second Chapter of the present
volume is an attempt to callocate the facts, and condense the
matter, furnished by the books just named and official papers
referred to, as well as that contained in the newspapers and let-
ters of the time, and so for the first time to supply, in the shape
of unintérrupted narrative, a general view of the whole opera-
tions of the original campaign.

No attempt has hitherto been made to continue the history of
the events which occurred betwixt November 1839 and Novenis
ber 1841, which connect by close and indissoluble, though
generally disregarded or unexamined, links, the triumphs with
which the Doorannee alliance opened, and the calamities where~
with it closed : for before the war of retribution began the Swan
Soosan was dead, and all peaceful political connexion with
Affghan affairs at an end,—the material for which lies scattered
in abundance amongst the Despatches which have appeared in
the Government Guazette, and the published aceounts furnished by
the officers engaged in the war.

Throughout the greater portion of this period the present
writer had been occupied as Editor of the Bombday Times.
Constantly engaged in examining, sifting, and compating
accounts from the seat of war, reconciling discrepancies, cor-
recting or rejecting statements which appeared over-coloured
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or inaccurate, and then reducing them to a narrative form for a
bi-weekly paper,—to be subsequently re-examined, corrected,
and abridged for a monthly publication,—he was necessarily,
from the nature of his profession, nearly as familiar with the
subject as any man by incessant study could become. He had,
besides, the advantage of knowing his authorities, which
the public were compelled to take on trust:—he was perfectly
aware of the weight to be attached to statements which,
appearing before the world in an anonymous form, were
always authenticated to the publisher by the names of the
writers, and often came from such men as Colonel Dennie
and the general officers engaged in the actions described.

* It was but too apparent, from the errors constantly committed
not only by such writers as those of the Annual Register, but by
others whose familiarity with discussions appertaining to Indian
affairs ought to have kept them informed, that the amount of
ignorance generally prevalent on these topics was almost un-
bounded, the indifference to enlightenment nearly ifcurable ;
and that few indeed, even of thebest informed, had carried the
continuous thread of the story of events unbroken and fully
along with them. On these grounds, a narrative such as the
present seemed to be a desideratum which no one appeared, at
the period when it was most required, inclined to supply :-—the
time was hastening on when the interest attaching to the annals
of 1840-41 was passing away,—and ill qualified as the present
writer might otherwise have felt himself for the task of historia-
grapher, from the nature of his professional avocations, the sub-
ject was, at all events, familiar to him in most of its aspects, and

"he was ready to do the best which circumstances permitted
while public curiosity was not quite asleep, and when no other
labourers seemed disposed to come into the field.

~ In completing the revisal and correction of proofs, he chanced
“to be peculiarly fortunate, in from time to time obtaining the
services of seven different staff officers, two of them of the

Queen’s and five of the Company’s service, all of whom had been
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engaged in one or more of the several campaigns under review,.
and nearly all of them at the heads of departments in the de-
tachments to which they belonged, and each of whom most
frankly and willingly complied with his request for their advice
and assistance. The introductory and concluding chapters are
the only ones which have not been subjected to this species of
ordeal. To these gentlemen the Author’s most grateful acknow-
ledgments are due; and he only regrets that, in consequence of the
etignette of the Service, forbiding them to be formally known
as contributors to a newspaper, he cannot thank them by name
for the labour and pains bestawed by them in correcting casual
errors, which fortunately were less numerous than might have
been apprehended,—as well as for the complimentary manner
in which they have been pleased to express themselves as to the
accuracy of the narrative. For the opinions maintained as to
the policy and management of the war, the gentlemen alluded to
are, of course, in no way to be held responsible.

The sale of books of the present description is in Western
India in the last degree limited: the waunt of curiosity so con-
stantly manifested in England in reference to the concerns of
the East, left no reason to suppose that a work of greater mage
nitude on this subject, if published separately, would have
covered the heavy charges incurred in printing at Bombay,—
the difficulty at once and necessity.of having the proofs care~
fully corrected and revised, put home publication out of the
question,—and the style of the writing pretended to none of
the graces which might have attracted the attention of the reader
where the subject by itself was to him of little interest. On
these grounds, a very small edition (200) of the volume has been
thrown off : this being not, strictly speaking, a reprint from the
Bombay Times, but an impression from the types as re-adjusted
and placed in pages. Several errors have been corrected, and
some few changes in arrangement, and a slight enlargement
made, while the whole has been subjected to repeated and very
careful revisals: and this is all that has been done in the way
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of alteration. These explamations are required to account for
the numberless imperfections with which the volume is charge-
able,—for the defects in style, and occasional want of me-
thod which, though inexcusable in a formal historical work,
may be pardoned in a newspaper memoir, written occasionally
amidst attacks of sickness, at all times in haste and under the
. pressure of numefouns, complicated, laborious, and wvaried avo-
cations. The duties of a newspaper editor at home give no
sort of idea of the labonrs and perplexities of a journalist in
India :—without reports of public meetings or parliamentary
debates,—where political discussions, in the English sense of
the term, which at all times farnish food for unlimited specnla-
tion to a ready or fluent writer, are disrelished,—with a hot and
relaxing climate to contend agsinst, and many of the duties
which in Europe are discharged by correspondents, reporters,
sub-editors, or other assistants, thrown entirely into his hands.
In drawing up the present narrative, each month demanded its
chapter complete, however numerous might be the documents
required to be consulted, or perplexing and inaccessible the
authorities to be referred to,—whatever might be the amount of
hiterrnptions, or the pressure of extraneous avocations ; and the
several sheets were generally taken away by the compositor as
written—the first proofs not being ready for revision till the last
pages were out of the writer's hands. The dispatch of the mail
required that the printing machine should be at work by a given
hour, without regard to the fatigues of the party who prepared for
# its supplies of food. This will account for, ¥ ot excuse, much
repetition and not a little confusion, which will be observed espe-
dially in the first and second chapters, and of which no one of those
which follow is wholly free. To have got rid of these, which even
an author’s partiality for bis own writings leaves sufficiently ap-
parent to himself, would have required an amount of alteration,
incurring an expenditare of money and of labour which there
was no reason ‘to suppose the return of sales would compensate,
and which no prudent person would have recommended a poor
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man to undertake without hope of requital, for the benefit of
those who might not, after all, have appreciated the outlay
that had been incurred in their behalf.

No exertion has been spared to complete the work to the best
of the writer's ability under the disadvantages which hurried
periodical publication always impose ; he is conscious of no sel-
fish motive, or personal bias towards any one; and has neither
been influenced by fear or favour of any party ; he has warmly
and fearlessly assailed the dishonest and aggressive foreign policy
alike of Lord ELLENBOROUGH as of Lord Auckranp, aware
that, inso doing, he should incur the displeasure of the men of
both parties who might happen to favour his speculations with
perusal: he undertook the task in his capacity - of newspa-
per editor, in the hope of supplying something not quite fami-
liar nor wholly unacceptable to the reader, but under no delusion
as to his pre-eminent qualifications for its discharge,—and now
passes the result of his labours from his Lands, not as a volume
worthy of the name of history, or capable, as a literary produc-
“tion, of withstanding the censures of the critic, but as a mere
reprint of an ephemeral memoir, which may help to assist the
recollection of those into whose hands it shall chance to fall,—and
who prefer a book to a series of chapters spread over seven months
of a newspaper file,—of the connection betwixt the victories of
Lord KEANE and the terrific disasters of the army of General
EvpainsToNE. The excessively limited amount of its circulation
precludes it from being considered so much even as 2 memoir to
serve in the place of history till history be written. 1t was ori-
ginally intended that the chronicle of events should have been
brought down through the calamities of winter and spring 1841-
42 to the trizmphant return of our armies to India: and this
is a work of much interest and importance which yet remains to
be performed by some one,—the narratives of the prisoners being
confined to the affairs at Cabool. But the parliamentary papers
and numerous journals published in the course of the past six
months, furnish a mass of material which would, after the utmost
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compression, occupy as large a space as that devoted to the events
of the three preceding years; and it seemed doubtful whether
public interest might not flag had this been attempted o be issued
in chapters,—more than doubtfu! whether it would have been cared
for as a separate volume. The narrative, therefore, was broken
off at the period supplied by the Ghilzie insurrection—when
a new roll rather than a new chapter in our history may be said
to have been opened up.

The woodcuts of Nufoosk and Surtof were engraven for a
work of a different nature from the present: that having fallen
aside they are now taken advantage of. This, it is hoped, will
be accepted as an explanation why, if any illustrations were
thought of, more were not given. These are presented to the
reader because they were at hand, at any rate ; they were not
purposely prepared : more could not have been afforded.
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ERRATA.

At page lg’ line 7 from the top, for 1837 read 1839.

s+ 2 from bottom, for fall of Herat read safety of Herat.
49, ... 4 from tho bottom (note 41,) for expected read expressed.
63, w10 fg{m top, for presents to Lahore read presents to Runject
ing,
92, ... 11 from the top, for 6th April read 26th April.
124.—Omit from line 5 to line 10 from the top of the page. The change
of plan adopted in the course of publication excludes the ac-
count of the destruction of the Cabool army and advance of
General Pollock’s troops, proposed to have been given in the
concluding chapters,
127, line 15 from the bottom, for Lieut. McKenzie read Licut. Nicholson,
148.—A. note, copied from the dgra Ukhbar, states, that the chiefs who
fell into the hands of Lieut. Nicholson were executed con-
trary to agreement. Sir W, Maonaghten in his letter, printed
at p. 287-89, states, that the chiefs wero perfectly aware that
they were to be capitally punished, and that there was no
stipulation whatever to the contrary.
203.-~Line 15 from the bottom, for judgment of a court of inquiry read
decision of a court, &e. .
233, ... 16 from top, for Kojuck read Kujjuck.
243.—Mr Bell’s demise is said to have taken place on the 1st August:
it occurred late on the evening of the 31st July. -
249.—Line 7 from top It is stated that Lieut. Outram was spocially
mentioned by Colonel Deacon in his account of the capture of
Kittoor. This was not Licut. James (afterwards the distin-
quished Major) Outram, as stated by mistake in the text;
but his brother ; both werc present and did good service, bnt
Licut. Outram of the engincers is the party stated to have
been named in the dispatch.
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PREFACE.

AFFGHANISTAN is walled in on the north by the Hindoo Koosh and
the Paropamisan range of mountains,* many of which reach the
elevation of 20,000 feet—the summit level of the passes through
which the intercourse betwixt the countries to the north and south of
these is maintained, varies from 10 to 13,000 feet.f On the south
and east it is bounded by the river Indus from Attock in longitude
73° east, latitude 24° north, to as far south as latitude 32° 20°. On
the east it is divided by stupendous mountain ranges from Chinese
Tartary—on the west it borders with Bokhara, Koondooz, and Persia;
on the south-west with Beloochistan and Scinde, from both of which
it was wont to claim allegiance, military service, and tribute. The
kingdom of Cabool, which more immediately concerns us at present,
arose out of the dismemberment of the empire of Nadir Shah. When
that monarch was murdered in 1747 he was succeeded by Ahmed
Shah, the founder of the Doorannee moparchy ;—a skilful, brave
and enterprizing soldier, whose whole reign, to the period of his death
in 1773, was spent in war. He bequeathed an empire which reached
from Khorassan to Sirhind, and from the Oxus to the sea, to his son
Timor, a weak aud indolent monarch, unable to rule the extensive
realms and turbulent subjects the more vigorous hand of his father
had with difficulty controlled. Timor Shah transferred the seat of
government from Caundahar to Cabool, and was, in 1793, succeeded
by Zemaun Shah, one of the youngest of his sons.} On the elevation
of this prince to the throne, which had been effected by a faction of

* Hamilton’s Gazetteer.

+ Rough Notes on the Campaign in Scinde and Affghanistan, &c. By
Captain James Outram, p. 110,

f Asiatle Journal from September to December, 1838. The whole of the
papers in this periodical on our Affghan policy are able and excellent, aud
would form valuable subjects of study to those who have the ignorance or
mpudence to asscrt that the mischiefs of the Affrhan war were only first dis-
overed after it began to appear unfortunate.
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the nobles, his elder brothers broke out in open insurrection: one had
himself proclaimed king of Candahar, but was afterwards defeated and
blinded by Mahmoud Shah, another brother, who seized Herat, which
he was permitted to retain. The elevation of the Shah Zemaun to the
throne, had given rise to much popular discontent : and Futteh Khan,
head of the Barukzyes, having furmed an alliance with the ruler of
Herat, advanced to the eastward, where, near Caudahar, he defeated
Zemaun, who was afterwards betrayed into the hands of the con-
queror, by whom he was blinded and sent prisoner to Cabool. Shah
Soojah, a still younger son of Timeor, and brother of Zemaun, now,
for the first time, appears in the field. In 1801, on learning the mis-
hap of his brother, he advanced on Cabool from Peshawur, but was
defeated, and his army dispersed by Futteh Khan and his Barukzyes.
An attempt in 1803 was more successful. When Futteh Khan,
acknowledged on all hands to have been a man of talent and courage,
was absent from his capital engaged in quelling an insurrection,
advantage was taken of some religions quarrels betwixt the leading
Mahommedan sects: and the Shah Soojah, who had shortly before
been a second time defeated, from a fugitive living on the bounty of
the tribes was raised to the throne. After six years of almost unin-
terrupted turbulence and discord, during which he, on more than one
occasion, nearly lost his crown, he was, in 1810, totally defeated by
Futteh Khan, and driven from his kingdom." In 1811 he made an
unsuccessful attempt to regain the sovereignty. He subsequently
resided in the Punjaub till stripped of the crown jewels and all his
other property by Runjeet Singh. This is a brief but exact outline of
the early career of the Shah Soojah. His grandfather obtained the
kingdom by conquest. His brother, to whom he temporarily suc-
ceeded, was one of the younger sons of Timor, the son of Ahmed
Shah, and was raised to the sovereignty by force over the heads of
his elder brothers; to whom, if seniority and hereditary right were
to be considered grounds of claim, it properly belonged. Kamran
Shah of Herat, son of Mahmoud, the eldest of these, has throughout,
since his father’s death, been the representative of the lineal branch,
and is so still. The Shah Soojah maintained a weak and troubled reign
for the space of seven years, during which he never exercised authority
over one balf the territory or subjects, or claimed one tithe of the
rights of which we afterwards for a time put him in possession. It
is well to recollect these things, because the general impression amongst
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the public at large appears throughout to have been, that in placing
the late Doorannee ruler on the throne, we were restoring a once
powerful and popular monarch to rights which he had formerly en-
joyed:—to a kingdom and subjects so ruled by him through a long
period of time, as that, from them with him as their sovereign, we
might look for a strong and imperishable barrier against all invasion
from Persia and Russia. Instead of this, we associated ourselves with
an ally who was only able to maintain a precarious rule, because of the
dissensions of the other chiefs :——who never possessed the confidence
of the Affghans to an extent that would have enabled Lim to ward .
off foreign aggression, from whatever quarter it might have been
threatened.

Futteh Khan, though actually holding the power and destinies of the
kingdom in his hands, bad never claimed the title of Sovereign,
which was enjoyed by Shah Mahmoud, the hereditary Grand Vizier.
The former chief was shortly afterwards deprived of sight at Candahar
by a son of the latter, in revenge for the contemptuous manner in
which he had spoken of the ruler of Cabool. This barbarous act of
vengeance immediately converted the brothers of Futteh Khan into
the most actlive enemies of Mahmoud Shah and his family.* After
a considerable period of turbulence and strife, the Doorannee empire
was dismembered. In 1826, Dost Mahomed made himself entire
master of Cabool.f He deprived his brother Jubbar Khan of the
Ghilzee country, of which he had just before obtained possession, and
made him his vizier; seizing also on Jellalabad, which had belonged
to Mahomed Zemaun Khan. Candahar fell under the rule of three
of Dost Mahomed’s brothers. In 1833, the Shah Soojah made a last
attempt to recover the sovereignty; he defeated the Scindians and
possessed himself of Shikarpore. Having advanced by the Bolan Pass
and Quettah, he was, on the 2d of July 1834, defeated by Dost
Mahomed near Candahar, and sought refuge from the Khan of Kelat.
From this date he lived a pensioner on the Indian Government within
tbe Company’s territory. He had, indeed, resided at Loodianah
since 1818: we allowed him a pension of £4500 a-year, but avoided
meddling with his quarrels.} Sixty winters had cooled his ambition,
and he scemed content to spend his days in affluent and luxurious

*te'l‘he above is chiefly an abridgement from the Asiatie Journal, as already
quo
I Major Hough’s March and Operations of the Army of the Indus, p. 414.
1bid, p. 404, note.
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exile, when in 1838 it pleased the British Government to treat with
him as a sovereign about to be placed unce more in power!

Having given thus much of a cursory glance at the state of politics
in Affghanistan when we first embroiled ourselves with its affairs,—its
revenue, and the character of its people fall next to be noticed
before enlarging on the political questions whose discussion imme-
diately preceded preparations for war, and which will not, for some
time to come, have ceased to oceupy public attention,

The entire population of the Doorannee empire is estimated by Mr

_Elphinstone at about a million of souls: of these, from 80,000 to
100,000 are inhabitants of Cabool,* and about a similar number of the
city of Candahar.t The town of Istaliff, but little known to us till
attacked and destroyed by Gen. McCaskill on the 29th Sepi. 1842,
contains about 15,000 inhabitants; Charekar about 3000 ; Ghuznie
about 3000; and Quettah about 6000. The last-named town was at
this time a portion of the Khanate of Kelat, to which it has since been’
re-annexed ; from 1839 to 1842, we held it as belonging to the Shah
Soojah, There are no other towns of nute in the kingdom, save
Jellalabad, which is within the first line of passes. Cabool, the capital,
is situated in Lat. 34 deg. 30 min. N., and Long. 68 deg. 31 min. E
It is more than three miles in circumference. It is surrounded by
rocky hills; and the beautiful but narrow valley in which it stands
is no less than 6396 feet above the level of the sea.j It is remark-
able for the excellency and abundaace of its fruits. The Bala Hissar,
or citadel, is placed on an eminence, half a mile long and half as
much broad, overlooking and commanding the town, which is difficult
of access either to friend or foe. It is, or rather it was, chiefly
remarkable for the magnificence of its bazaars. 'These buildings,
formed by a continuation of streets roofed in and crossing each other
at right angles, were, until our troops blew them up in 1842, the
admiration of every traveller, and the architectural pride of Central
Asia, The revenues of Cabool with all its territories, amounted in
Dost Mahomed’s time to from £250,000 to £300,000 a year;| during
the period of our occupation they seldom exceeded £220,000;9 while,

* Burnes. Major Hough.
+ Major Hough states that there are 40,000 houses, and 100,000 inhabitants
in Candahar (p- 138.) Weare dlsposed to take a lower esnmate
Major Hough, pp. 284 and 430.
|| See Burnes’s Travels.
9 Letter of Sir Alex. Burnes, published in the Bombay Times.
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in addition to this, Candahar yielded £80,000 ; and the whole revenues
of the Shah Soojah betwixt 1839 and 1841, never probably amounted
to any thing like £400,000 a year. The charges we incurred on his
account annually, were about eight times this. The winter throughout
Affghanistan is exceedingly severe, the thermometer at Cabool often

sinking below zero, and remaining 8 or 10 deg. under freezing for
three or four months together.

Recent occurrences have occasioned so much wrathful discussion as
to the character of the Affghan population, that instead of attempting
an analysis or delineation of it for ourselves, we shall borrow what
appears to us an exceedingly fair one from the Asiatic Journal; the
article we are about to quote being an abstract of the views of Elphin-
stone, Conolly, Burnes, and Mooreroft :—

* These tribes differ so much in their internal government, manners, and
customs, that they may be almost regarded as distinet nations ; the only fea-
ture which is most marked amongst the Affighan tribes, as common to all, is a
wild independence, which, in some approaches to & republican sentiment of
equality. They are all, likewise, remarkable for a lofty martial spirit, sim-
plicity of manners, and hospitality. The original number of their tribes, or
family divisions, is four ; but these have been subdivided into several branches,
each ruled by its own independant khan, or chief, though retaining an idea of
a community of blood and interests. Each tribe, or ooloos, has a distinct form
of government, of the patriarchal character, constituting a complete common-
wealth in itself. The Afighan nation is composed of an assemblage of these
commonwealths, which form one state by obedience to the authority of a
common sovereign, though the submission of some of the tribes has ever been
but nominal. The Affghans exult in the free spirit of their institutions; they
cherish the notion that ¢all Affghans are equal’ When Mr. Elphinstone
urged, on an intelligent old man of the Meeankhail tribe, the superiority of a
secure life, under a powerful monarch, to the discord and bloodshed which
prevailed under their present system, be replied proudly, ¢ We are content
with discord, we are centent with bloodshed, but we will never be content
with a master.’

t The condition of the Affghan women, who are described as large, and
very fair and handsome, varies with their rank ; those of the upper classes are
entirely concealed, those of the poor do the work of the house. The former
are not uneducated. In the country, they go unveiled, and exercise hospi-
tality when their husbands are from home. ¢I am not sure,’ says Mr
Elphinstone, ¢that there is any people in the East, except the Affghans,
where I have seen any trace of the sentiment of love, according to our ideas of
the passion.’

“The Affghans exhibit a remarkable contrast to other Mahommedan nnti.ons
in their treatment of Christians, to whom they have not the smallest aversion.
M. Durie, an Indo-Briton, who travelled threugh Affghanistan as far west a3



vi

Candahar, mixing with all classes as a Mahommedan, though suspected of
being a Feringhee, represents the people as kind, free, liberal, and tolerant:
their aversion towards the Sikks arises from their regarding them as pagans.

“ One of their most remarkable characteristics is their hospitality; the
practice of this virtue is so much a national point of honour, that their
reproach to an inhospitable man is to say that he is no Affghan. A man’s
bitterest enemy is safe while he is under his roof, and a stranger who has
come into an Affghan’s tent or house is under the protection of the master as
long as he stays in the village. The protection, however, does not extend
further ; there are instances, in some of the predatory fribes, of travellers
being entertained and dismissed with presents, and yet robbed by the same
trihe, when met again without the bounds of their protection.

¢ The tribes most addicted to rapine in the west are about Candahar, in the
desert country on the borders of Persia and Beloochistan, and the Ghilzees,
who inhabit the Paropamisan mountains. All the tribes of the range of Soli-
man, especially the Khyberees and Vizcerees, are notorious plunderers ; many
others in the east are disposed to plunder, and it is remarked that all the pas-
toral tribes in the west are more disposed to rebbery than those who live by
agriculture : robbery is, however, never aggravated by murder.

« The nomade population is diminishing, though the Dooranees extol the
charms of a pastoral life. Those who live in tents are chiefly to be found in
the west, where they amount to one-half the population. All over the east,
the people live in houses. The commonest house is built of unburnt brick
one story high, and roofed with a terrace or low cupola. There is little or no
furniture within, except a coarse woollen carpet, and pieces of felt to sit on.
The houses of the great are of two or three stories, and enclosed with high
walls containing stables and offices, and several courts laid out in gardens
with fountains. The halls are supported by pillars and Moorish archess
carved and painted. The walls are ornamented with paintings in distemper
or oil; and pictures. The furniture consists chiefly of carpets and felts. The
tents of tho shepherds are of coarse black camlet ; those of the common people
are from twenty to twenty-five feet long, ten or twelve broad, and eight or
nine high, supported by poles, and divided into two apartments by a curtain ;
those of the khans are larger and better—the Dooranees line their tents with
felt.
¢ The Affghans are a social, sober, steady, cheerful people. Though merry,

they do not laugh much, though they talk a great deal. They are fond of
tales and songs, which are of love or war; but their favourite amusement is
the chase or hawking.

¢ The men are all of a robust make, generally lean, though bony and
muscular. They have high noses, high cheek-~bones, and long faces. Their
hair and beards are generally black ; sometimes brown. They shave the
middle part of the head, but wear the rest of their hair, which is coarse and
strong, Their countenance has an expression of manliness and deliberation,
united to an air of simplicity. The western Affghans are larger and stouter
than those of the east, and some Doorances and Ghilzees are of surprising
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strength and stature; but, generally speaking, the Affghans are not so tall as
the English. Their manners are frank and open, and though mauly and inde-
pendent, they are entirely free from military pride and ferocity. About towns,
the Affghans are in some degree polished ; but in many parts of the country
they are plain and rustie, but never fierce or insolent, Their deportment is
easy, yet it is not uncommon to find them bashful, a defect rarely seen in an
Asiatic. Their conversation is rational, they are desirous of information, and
the bulk of the people are remarkable for prudence, good sense, and observa-
tion. Capt. Burnes says they always interrogated him eclosely regarding
Europe, and that ¢it was delightful to see the curiosity of even the oldest
men.’ Though far behind Europeans in veracity, and though they would
seldom scruple to deceive when their interest was at stake, they have not the
habitual falsehood of the natives of India and Persia. They are all remarka-
bly hardy and active, industrious, and laborious. From the nature of their
country, they are exposed to endure cold and heat, and accustomed to
climbing mountains and swimming torrents, They are impatient of beat,
though much of the climate of Affghanistan is hot. They are attached to
their clans and families, proud of their ancestry, and all take a lively interest
in the honour of their country. They are kind to their immediate dependents,
though the Affghan rule over conquered nations is severe and tyrannical
They are faithful in friendship, and mindful of favours, They are neither
rritdble nor implacable, but they retain a long remembrance of injuries not
retaliated : revenge is esteemed a duty., Capt. Burnes taxes them with idle-
ness and a passion for intrigue; yet he adds, ¢ I imbibed a very favourable
impression of their national character. Mr. Elphinstone sums up their cha-
racter in these words.—¢ Their vices are revenge; envy, avarice, rapacity,
obstinacy ; on the other hand, they are fond of liberty, faithful to their
friends, kind to their dependents, hospitable, brave, hardy, frugal, laborious,
and prudent ; and they are less disposed than the nations in their neighbour.
hood to falsehood, intrigue, and deceit.’ *—asiatic Journal, 1838, pp. 306-—
308.

There is, in one particular, a remarkable difference betwixt the
Affghans and the tribes to the porth and west of them in a matter
whieh of itself is sufficient to mark the character of a people. The

Heratees, Khivaus, Uzbegs, and Tartars of every race deal freely and
extensively in slaves.

¢ In the Khurm valley we overtook another slave party from the Hazara
country. The owners, to the astonishment of our party, were men of Cabool.
They appeared greatly mortified at being seen by us, hung down their heads,
and wished, but in vain, to escape notice. The Khirakushes recognised them
as inhabitants of Chardeh, a plain in the vicinity of Cabool, and at once
charged them with carrying on a traffic as degrading to an Affghan as it is
accounted honourable in an Uzbek. They were asked how they could face
their clansmen after such disreputable conduct. In extenuation of thoir con-
duct, they stated, that after trading to a considerable extent with the Hazaras,
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and waiting twelve months for a settlement of their claims, thcy had been
unable to obtain payment. The correctness of the demand was readily
acknowledged, and slaves, valued at its full ‘amount, offered in lieu of all
claims. At first they refused this mode of payment, but were at length
induced to comply. Unable after such a description of compromise to return
direct to their own country, they were now proceeding to the Uzbek mart of
the Khurm, or Tash Kurghan, there to realize by sale the proceeds of this
discreditable barter.

« Nothing surprises one so much, nor is more difficult to be accounted for
on rational principles, than the marked shades of difference which often, as in
this case, are exhibited in the moral character of neighbouring nations.
Here we bhave two races of men, professing the same belief, whose habits in
many respects are alike, and whose location and pastoral pursuits offer many
points in common, yet differing in almost every feeling that marks the man,
and which in their combined influence constitute the peculiar genius of a
people. Of the freedom enjoyed by the Afighans, the Uzbeks kvow nothing.
The liberty of the slave they capture is not more at their disposal than their
own life is in the hands of their chief or Beg. To love of country, a feeling
dominant in the breast of an |Affghan, and which glows with more or less
intensity in the soul of every other people from the Zahara to the Esquimaux,
the Uzbek is almost a stranger. The custom of man stealing appears to have
smothered every better feeling ; and the pratice of trafficking in human beings
extends even into their domestic arrangements; for their wives are as much
articles of property as their slaves, and are bought and sold with the same
callous indifference.”—Wood’s Journey to the Oxus, pp. 210 & 211.

The following extract, from Mr Masson’s late work, gives an idea
of Affghan liberality and toleration, for which we should in vain seek
a parallel in the wide limits of Asia:—

¢ ArragaaN ToreraTioN.—It is matter of agreeable surprise to any one
acquainted with the Mahomedans of India, Persia, and Turkey, and with
their religious prejudices and antipathies, to find that the people of Cabool
are entirely free from them. In most countries few Mahomedans will eat with
a Christain ; to salute bim even in error, is deemed unfortunate, and he is
looked upon as unclean. Here none of those-difficulties or feelings exist.
The Christian is respectfully called a ¢ kitabi,” or ¢one of the book.” The
dissolute Vazir Futi Khan, when occasionally an Armenian Christian pre-
scnted himself desiring to become a convert to Islam, was wont to inquire
what he had found deficient in his own religion that he wished to change it?
and would remark, that those persons who possessed a book and would adopt
a new faith, were scoundrels, actuated by love of gain, or other interested
motive. To the Hindu anxious to enter the pale of the Mahomedan Church,
he made no objection ; on the contrary, he applauded him who, haviag no
religion, embraced one. I at first imputed the indifference of the Cabool
people to their own laxity, for I soon observed that there was very little
rcligion among them. Those called Shias were very generally of tho Sun-
mazzabz, which, whatever its mystical pretensions, I fear implies no religion at

o
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all. The same system largely prevails among the Suni professors: but when
the same liberality was found to extend over the country and among all
races whether Affghans, Tajiks, or others, who could not be chargeable with
Sufi doctrines, I was sensible that there must be some other reason, * *

¢t Living with the Armenians of the city, I witnessed every day the terms of
equality on which they dwelt among their Mahomedan neighbours. The
Armenian followed the Mahomedan corpse to its place of burial ;—the Ma-
homedan showed the same mark of respect to the remains of the Armenian
ecommunity. They mutually attended each other’s weddings, and participated
in the little matters which spring up in society. The Armenian presented
gifts on Id Noh Roz, or the Mahomedan New-year’s Day ; he reccived them
on his own Christmas Day. If it had happened that a Mahomedan had mar-
ried an Armenian female who was lost to the Church of the Cross, 1 found
that the Armenians had retaliated, and brooght Mahomedan females into their
families and inducted them into their faith. An Armenian, in conversation
with the presont head of the Wais family, said, that some person had called
him a Kaflr, or Infidel. The reply was, ¢ He that calls a kafir is a kafir himself.
It is something for a Christian to reside with Mahomedaas so tolerant and
unprejudiced. Wine prohibited to be made or sold in the city, is permitied to
be made and used by Armenians, who are simply restricted to indulge in their
own houses. They have not unadroitly. induced tlie Mahomedans to believe
that to drink wine is part of their religion, and to interfere on that head is
impossible. There are a fow families of Jews at Cabool; but, while perfectly
tolerated as to matters of faith, they by no means command the respect
which is shown to Armenians. Like them, they are permitted to make vinous
and spirituous liquors ; and they depend chiefly for their livelihood upon the
clandestine salo of them. Some years since. a Jew was heard to speak dis-
respectfully of Jesus Christ: he was arrdigned, and convicted before the
Mahomedan tribunals on a charge of blasphemy; the sentence was sangsar,
or to be stoned to death, The unhappy culprit was brought to the Armenians.
that they, as particularly interested, might carry into effect the punishment of
the law. They declinéd ; when the Mahomedans led the poor wretch without

the city, and his life became the forfeit of his indiscretion. It was singular
that an attack upon the divinity of our Saviour should have been held cogni-
zable in a Mahomedan ecclesiastical court, and that it should have been
resented by those who, in their theological disputes with Christians, never fail
to cavil on that very point.” .

These matters are given with the greater minuteness and detail,
because it has been the habit ever since our armies entered Affghanistan,
to .speak of the people as treacherous and deceitful savages, charae-
terized by mu:cely a good or estimable quality, and hardly, amidst the
severest snﬂ't?rmgs inflicted on them, or the most intolerable exaspera-
tl.m.nf to which they were exposed, entitled to the sympathies of
civilized men! It appears of late t% have been forgotten that Affighan-
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istan and its people were well known to us before our soldiers entered
it; that it bad, betwixt 1808, when Mr Elphinstone went on em-
bassage, till 1832, when Conolly and Burnes traversed it from the
love of travel and desire to extend our knowledge of geography and
statistics, been described by travellers surpassed by none in modern
times in unimpeachable veracity, in careful and minute research, and
in powers of graphic description.®* The testimony of these and of
those who followed after them in 1837 and 1838, on the eve of the
outbreak of the war, of whom Lieut. Wood was one, is perfectly
unanimous,—the passage already quoted from the Asiatic Journal
giving a full and faithful abstract of their opinions. No man knew
more of the Afighan character than the late Sir Alexander Burnes : he
had lived with them in peace, and traversed their country before our
discords began with them ; he hal negotiated with them, and striven
to avert collision, and examined every turn and winding, every nook
and crevice of their policy : he had watched them in open war, and
purchased their forbearance when it could not otherwise be procured.
On the 23d October 1841, within a week of his death, he writes
thus: “ I have often wondered at the hatred of the officers towards
the Affghans. They surpass their western neighbours, the supple
lying Persians ; their northern ones, the enslaved Uzbegs; their

* The books of travels referred to are the following :—

Travels into Bokhara, contairing the Narrative of a Voyage on the Indus
from the sea to Lahore, &c.; and an Account of a Journey from India to
Cabool, &c., in 1829 and 1830. By Lieut. Burnes. 3 vols, 8vo. 1832,

Journey to the North of India, overland from England through Russia,
Persia, and Aﬂ;ﬁl:nistan in 1830. By Lieut. Arthur Conolly.

Moorcroft’s Travels in the Himalayan Provinces of Hindostan and the Pun«
jaub, in Ladakh and Kashmir, Peshawur, Cabool, Koondooz and Bokhara.

repared for the press by H, H. Wilson, Saaskrit Professor, Oxford. [These
volumes were not published till 1841, though referring to the period inter-
venintghbetwixt 1819 and 1825. Moorcroft had corresponded ver{a:xbensively
with the Government as well as with his friends in India, and a large amount
of the information, systematically arranged by Dr Wilson, had appeared
before in fragments.] ]

Wood's Journey to the Sources of the Oxus in 1837-8. 1 vol. 8vo. 1841,

Cabool ; being a personal Narrative of a Journey to, and Residence in, that
country in 1836-8. By Lieut.-Col. Sir Alex. Burnes. 1842. This journal,
though preparednll)f Sir A. Burnes at the date just mentioned, was not passed
from his hands till May 1841 ; so that he had abundance both of leisure and
epportunity to correct any imperfeotions in his previous observations. .

arrative of a Journey in Beloochistan, Affghanistan, and the Punjaub,

betwixt 1826 and 1838, by C. Masson, 3 vols, 1842. The best portion of these

;olu:gz:b appeared in the Transactions of the Bombay Geographcal Society
or .
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Eastern, the timid Indian;and their southern ones, the fierce savage
Beloochees. Yet they are blamed because they fight at night, when
in fact the poor wretches are unable at any other time to cope with
disciplined armies. This courae, after all, is I imagine, nothing else
than is allowable ; it was the same as the Scotch Highlanders pursued
a century since.” * The Affghans throughout found themselves unable
to withstand us in the field : our guns, with which they had nothing
to cope, mowed them down in hundreds, and although certainly on
numerous occasions they threw themselves upon us regardless of all
danger, charging home to the points of our bayonets, as often as they
could they took advantage of the darkness of night, or the defiles and
ravines which their country supplied, and which did something to
equalize the condition of the disciplined soldier with that of the
untrained warrior of the mountains. This was provoking for us, but
it was the only wise course they could have pursued: the vexation
and annoyance, the frequent mischiefs and continual irritation occa-
sioned by it, made our officers as indifferent judges of the people
against whom they were employed, and of whose*character they wrote,
as honourable-minded men could well become. They were placed in.
a false position: they saw everything through a tinted medium ; and
they naturally described as they observed : being at the same time in
the worst possible position for philosophical observation.

* This is copied nearly verbatim from an entry, dated 23d October, in a
private journal of Sir Alexander Burnes'’s, which extends to the 18t November,
the day before his murder, and which, singularly enough, amidst the wreck of
t;..ll_ o:.h or things has been preserved entire. It is now in the hands of his

riends.
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SCINDE AND AFFGHANISTAN,

FROM 1887 TO 1842,

CHAPTER L

Opinions of the British in Indis little affected by consideration of Home party politics. Per-
plexity in the Narrative from the diversity of authorities, the imperfections of the pab-
lished papers, and thei t alternations betwixt peace and war amongst the rulers
of Central Asia—Feeling of all the A®ghans against Persia in 1832 Arrains or PEsaa-
wur—Hostile movements of Runjeet Singh against the D Btates in 1818 —
Seizes on Attock aud Moolt On Cash Cap Peshawur—Resigns it ia favour
of Eamran Shsh and Dost Mahomed—Hurry Singh gets possession of, byteeachery, in 1834
—Defeat of the Shah Soo}ak near Candabsr-Dost Mahomed attempts to recover Pesha.
wur in 1835-—Retreats bef the Beikhs—8 ful attack on Nao Nehal Singh in 1338
~'The Prince seizes Deera-Ishmael Khan..Preparations for another descent of troops
from Cabool—Battle of Jumrood in May, 1837 Death of Harry Bingh-Prostration of
the Seikhs—Our tender of mediation. Awrains or HeExaT—8ize of the Principality—
Character of Kamran Bhah, and his Vizier — Death of the ng of Persia in 1834.—
‘Warlike preperations of the new King-~Lord Pal ton’s r tl
to march on Herat in 1836—Mr Ellice's slarm—Mr M‘Neil and Mr Ellice agreed upon
bis right—Advance of the Persian army in July, 1837— Occupation of Karrack—Our com-
plete command of Persia throughout the Gulf—Money ted oo the bassy—Grati

tude of Kamran Shah. Rerarions wire Russia—Harmony of the Courts of St Peters-
burgh and Londom in 1834 and 1835—Buspicions of Mr Ellice—Bugbear of Russian in-
fluence—Count Bimonich joins the Persian Camp before Herat—Gives Directions —Nego-
tiati with the Candahar Sirdars—Mission of Lieutenant Vicovich to Cabool—With-
drawal of Count Bimonich and Captain Vicovich—English Cabinet express themselves
entirely satisfied—Bir J. Hobhouve’s Bpeech in 1843—R ks on- A pti of False-
hood and Folly of Russia unsupported. CaPrai¥ Bua¥Es's NEoOTIATIONS oT CABGOL—
Mission at first Commercial—Becams Political in June 1837— Letter to Mr M‘Neil—Dost
Mahomed and Lord Auckland’s Correspondencein 1836—Burnes arrives at Oabool—-Cordml
Reception—Opinion of the reasonsbleness of Dost Mab d’s D ds e and
Persian influence—Candahsr Affairs—Mis-ion of Lieutenant Leesch-A frival of Kohun
Dill Khian at Cabool in April — Arrival of Vicovich—Unwise import: ttached to—
His Ch t: Burnes's Despatch of 224 J. 'y in ref to Sooltan Khan—Insolent
papers of the Government of India—Despatch of 5th March with Suppressed Passages—
Further Misunderstandings—Farewell Letter of Lord Auckland--Retirement of the Mis.
sion—Determination to have 8 War—Negotiations at Lahore-—Vacitlation of Lord Auck-
land—Influence employed with,

Tais chapter has, with a view to explicitness and perspicuity, been
broken up into four subdivisions—on the affairs of Peshawur and those
of Herat—on the alleged intrigue of Persia and Russia, and negocia-
tions of Sir Alexander Burnes at Cabool, betwist. September 1857 and
May 1838 ; though it must be allowed that the danger of occasional
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ropotition has thereby been incarred, As tho statements put forward
may appear sirange sad new to the English reader—at variance, as they
are, with most of what has been set forth in and out of Parliament by
the defenders of Lord Auckland's policy,~it is proper to explain that
vory nearly the whola of the facts are taken from the official papers of the
Government of India, or Foreign Office, selections from which were, in
1837, published by order of Parliament, The sources of all the informa-
tion have boen carefully and copiously Indicated, that the resder, who may
chance to suspect prejudice or partislity, may have an opportunity of satis«
fying himself as to whether the extracts have been fairly deslt with, The
works whence theso are taken are perfectly open and accessible; and we
have overy wish that the suspicious should resort to them to ses whelher
their doubts are capable of verification.

The writer has no hesilation in admitting that he fs, and has always
been, conservative in his views,—opposed to the late Governor-General in
bis English politics, but not, therefors, opposed to him in his Indizn admi-
nistration, In Kndia, these considerations have little weight in the dis-
cussion of general questions. The keenest and most consistent advocate of
Lord Auckland’s policy, is the Englishman newspaper-—a conservative in
its politica: one of its ablest opponents is the somewhat more than Whig
Bengal Hurharu. Divided as the newspapers of India have been in their
ideas of the wisdom of the Simla policy of 1838, they have borne unanimous
and willing testimony to the good intentions of Lord Auckland, and the
amiable and benevolent character of his domestic administration. They
have been still more heartily cordial and united in ridicnling ard exposing
the alternate bursts of madness and imbecility, the ficklencss, vacillation,
and caprice which have throughout characterised the runle of Lord
Ellenborough, These consideralions mnay perhaps be permadted to have
some weight in exempting us from the charges of that undeviating partizanship
which manifests iteelf in England, where, amongst one class of disputants,
nothing is wrong—nothiog censurable or dubious in the conduct of the late
Gov.. General —nothing in that of the present one which is not more or less
liable to one, or all, the three imputations—and where, amongst their op~
ponents, these predicaments are maintsined—the individuals placed in them
being shifted. With all the opprobrinm of the Affghan war on its head,
the administration of Lord Auckland will, in India, be regarded heace-
forward with far more respect ti:an that of Lord Ellenborough with un-
disputed claims to the popularity and wisdom of the absudonment of the
unimaginably wicked and disastrous scheme of his predecessor. To the
Huropean reader much confasion of ideas must necessarily srise from the
constant reforences to parties at war the one day and peace the next, inces-
santly makiug arrangements for attack or for defence ; terrifying the Caleutea
eabinet with the ideas that the flames of war Were to be lit up ia the very
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regions where we were endeavouring to extend our commerce—the next
with alarms for intrigue and coalition, threatening danger on the threshold
of our Indiam pessessions, and filling the rulers thereof with alarm and
dismay. These constant alternations are in the last degree perplexing in
the study of the Parliamentary papers ; from which the advocates of either
side, who chose to restrict their sefections to isolated passages, may draw
weapons enough to defend themselves against their opponents.

The docnments themselves have been furnished by a variety of individuals,
very differently situated from each other, in respect, alike, of their oppor-
tunities, as of their aptitude for observation, and deducing their conclusions
from appearances in the last degree varying from each other.

The papers themselves besides, have been garbled and sent forth to serve the
purposes of the late Cabinet in supperting their Affghan pelicy, rather than
to supply correct information : they are in some cases, as in that of the
share supplied by the late Sir Alexander Burnes, so made up as to support
positions as much as possible oppesed to those they were intended to sus-
tain, which they now establish when set forward entire. Itis evident besides,
from the allusions in many of the manmautilated despatches, that much of
the information which it would be desirable to pessess remains to this heur
concealed in the archives of the Board of Control.

No pains have been spared to clear up the obscurity flowing from these
channels in so far as this could be accomplished by a careful study and com-
parison of all the papers which appeared with or without consent of parlia—-
ment. There are other sources of perplexity which can only be surmounted
by a careful consideration of a few leading particulars about to be
explained,

It must, in the first place, be kept in view amongst the constant allusioas
to the alternshions of hostile and of friendly intercourse amongst the chiefs
themselves, that they in fact had no settled or consistent system of policy :
that their alliances were transient and uncertain : that the incursion of one
month was followed by the embassage of the next. Take the ease of Persia
and Herat as ao illustration : we ind the former threatening the latter early
in 1834, and before the end of the year they were on terms of friendship ;
and in 1886, 1837, and 1838, Herat was besieged—and Persia agreeing with
Russia to have Kamran, the Suddozye prince, set aside, and Kohun Dil Khao,
the Barukzye Sirdar, put on the throne in his stead. In Nov. 1838, Persia
foregoes ali these schemes, and once more makes peace: in 1840 the tables
are turned, and the king of kings is induced by Eagland to strengthen the
hind, and increase the territory, of the Suddozye. Scarcely is this arrange~
ment completed, when the latter turns his back on Eagland, makes spontane-
ous submission to Persia, and restores what we had procured for him. Turn
aextto Candahar: the Sirdars therehad, from the time their brother Dost Maho-
med acquired supremacy in Cabool, been dlmost incessantly at feud with him.
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They were thronghout in league with another brother to destroy his power,
Sooltan Mahomed Khan, on whom the Ameer had conferred Peshawur ; and
seemed ready to accept the assistance of Herat and Persia in turn to accom—
plish their objects as these presented themselves. On one point only were all
the Mahomedan princes just named thoroughly agreed,—in their hatred to the
Seikbs, and their determination to recover Peshawur from heathen dominion.
In this great object they were united, but in nothing beyond it. Dost Maho-
- med had given it to his brother, from whom it had been fraudulently wrested
in 1834, ard he desired to re-annex it to Cabool. His brother, himself in
league with the Candahar Sirdars, coveted it for their own use alone, being
in the last degree jealous of the Cabool chief, and eager to subvert his
authority. Kamran Shah apparently lent himself to this confederacy
without hope of immediate gaio, unless indeed the dream might have crossed
his mind that in the midst of the confusion he might have some chance of
recovering a further portion of the territories ruled over by his grandfather ;
his chief object being te avenge himself on the Barukzye chief, wlio had
successfully driven and excluded the last hope of the Suddozyes from kingly
power, The king of Persia obviously desired to increase the Doorannee em-
pire as much as possible, in the hope of making it all his own. It must be-
sides, be recollected, that war in these couantries, so far from being regarded,
as in civilized Europe, the worst of evils, is looked upon as a heroic and
exciting occupation,—as the only means by which power and glory are
really to be won. The rapture of the strife s reason enough for the
leaders—ithe hope of plunder for the followers—rushing into battle.

In 1832, when Captain Burnes first visited Affghanistan, Persia threatened
Candahar'; and the Sirdars, alarmed at the danger from the west, and aware
of how little they merited kindness at their brother’s hands, knew not
where to look for assistance. Dost Mahomed was too large-minded a poli-
tician to permit personal feeling to betray him into the folly of suffering his
country to be endangered. He knew that if Persia advanced on Candahar,
she would come farther, and that Ghuznie or Cabool itself might suffer.
He wrote to his brother—* When the Persians come, let me know, and as I
am now your enemy will I then be your friend.” (1) The threat of invad-
ing Affghanistan seems indeed to have been a peculiarly favourite one with
Persia ; made use of from time to time from the period of the final dissolution
of the Doorannee monarchy. Dost Mahomed appears to have been the only
prince in those parts who had seriously set himself about extending the inte-
rests of commerce, and maiataining the vigorous administration of justice
amongst his subjects. As nothing could more seriously bave impeded the tran-
quil advancementof these than the continual alarm to which the threats allud-

1. Travels in Bokhara, vol. iii. p. 272, 12mo edition.
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ed to from time to time gave rise, the wisest course he could have pursued was
to have endeavoured to obtain a secure and permanent alliance with the
sovereign who uttered them. His anxiety to establish relations with distant
foreign powers was equally an evidence of his desire for peace, and ought,
so far from exciting our jealousy, to have elicited our warmest approbation,
~the more especially when it appeared that an alliance with ourselves was
that which he preferred above all others, and for whose sake he was willing
to sacrifice them all. Que thing alone he refused to concede to us—the
abandonment of his claims to Peshawur,—a measure which, if yielded,
would have disgraced him for ever in the eyes of his subjects, as well as of
surrounding nations. For this refusal we expelled him from his throne !

No stronger evidence ean be had of the solicitude of a!l the Affghan chiefs
ag far west as Seistan, for an alliance with Eagland, than the promptitude
with which all their own individual schemes were abandoned so soon as the
appearance of the mission in 1837 held out a prospect of this being acceded
them. It must be kept in view that we offered our interposition betwixt
them and their enemies at a time when they asked not our assistance; that
they were under no treaty or obligation to us whatever ; and that if they had
something to hope from our friendship, they had no reason to suppose that
they had any grounds of fear from our enmity. They were porfectly inde—
pendent of us, and eatitled to aceept or decline the frieadly offers so super~
fluously and officiously proffered them, without our having the slightest
grounds of anger, further than may be considered justifiable when felt by one
-who, meddling with the affairs of his neighbour, receives, as he deserves,
the meddler’s requital. ’

When we tendered Kamran Shah, the Suddoyze, help against our
allies of Persia, he frankly told us, he did not want us. * With regard to
the coming of the Persian army,” says he, as stated in the official des-
patches, ‘‘ I am not, and never shall be, in any way willing to give you
trouble or annoyance. Should the Russian government evince any great
desire to come to Herat, do not prevent the advance of the army, or take
any trouble about the matter. It is an affair of no consequence. Let them
come, in order that they may be able to prove what they can do. May it
please God, the most Merciful ! the steed of their wishes shall not accom-
plish the journey of their design.”

AFFAIRS OF PESHAWUR.

¢ With a view to invite the aid of the pe paoTo Rulers of Affghanistan to the measures
neceuarfy for giving fuall effect to thosetreaties, Captain Burnes was deputed, towards the
close of the year 1836,0n a mission to Dost Mahommed Khan, the Chief of Cabool. The
original objects of that officer’s mission were purely of a commercial nature, Whilst Cap-
tain Burnes, however, was on his journey to Cabool, information was received by the
Governor General, that the troops of Dost Mahommed Khan had made a sudden anl un-



6

provoked attack on those of our auncient ally, Mahs Raja Runjeet Bingh. It was naturally
to beapprehended that His Highness the Maha Raja, would not beslow to avenge this ag-
grossion ; and it was to be feared that the flames of war being once kindled in the very
regions into which we were eadeavouring to extend our commerce, the peaceful and
beneficial purposes of the British Government would be altogether frustrated. In order te
avert a result so calamitous, the Governor Genersl resolved on authorizing Capt. Barnes
to intimate to Dost Mah d Khan that, ¢ he should evince a dispesition te come to just
and reasonable terms with the Maha Rajs, His Lordehip would exert his good offices with
His Hich for the restoration of an i understanding between the two powers.
The Maha Rajs, with the characteristic confideace which he has uniformly placed in the
faith and friendship of the British nation, at once d to the proposition of the Go-
ve;qo;a General to the all’:ct’.‘ that in :’;g smesnﬂme hostilities on his part should be suspended.”
~Simia Py tion, ls ct s .

h1

Tus troubles of Affghanistan, and strife of its Chiefs, had, from an early
period, been watched with intense interest by Runjeet Singh; eager to
profit by every opportuaity of extending his dominions to or beyond the Indus.
In May 1818, the Affghan forces having been withdrawn from Peshawar to
meet the exigencies of civil broils at home, the ruler of Lahore—who had
some time before possessed himself of the Fort of Attock-—dispatohed a
select body of troops with a heavy battering train to lay siege to Mooltan.
The expedition was successful : after a gallant but unsuccessful defence, in
which 1000 of the garrison fell, the towa was captured and sacked, the
mosques destroyed, the muzzia forbidden, and the cow declared sacred.
The following year he attacked the Capital of Cashmere, and after a severe
engagement, where the Affghans fought with all the rage and zeal of reli~
gious enthusiasm, he made good his conquest. Driving the enemy before
him, he next entered Peshawur, and received the submission of the inhabi~
tants. (1) These aggressions were commenced without the claim of right,
or pretence of quarrel, and on no colourable grounds but lust of conquest.
The territories on his north-western frontier were valuable and desirable:
the disagreemeants of their rulers rendered them weak and ill-defended : and
accordingly they were seized upon and anunexed to the Seikh dominions.
The countries beyond the Indus were at this time so torn by internal
dissensions that the rebel Sirdars feared to leave Cabool,—apprehensive that
the heir of Timour might return from Herat and claim the sovereignty.
Tranquillized on this point by three years delay, in 1823 Azeem Jhan,
learning that the Seikhs were about once more to cross the Indus, advaneed
to Peshawur to meet them: another engagement, more severe and bloody
than any which had hitherto occurred, again ensued: the Seikhs were vic-
torious, and the Affghans retired upon Cabool.

So excited was the state of public feeling, that Runjeet found himself
unable to retain Peshawur as a Seikh province, and aceordingly he divided
it betwixt Kamran Shah of Herat, grandson of the emperor Nadir,—and Dost
Mahomed Khan, the bitter rival of the Suddoyze race of kings, and most ac-
tive of theBarukzye chiefs, as yet only struggling for the supremacy soon after-

§

1. Conolly’s Travels, vol. ii., p. 402.
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wards attained by him at Cabonl. (2) Five months afterwards, Cashmere was
Jost to the Doorannees. Dost Mahomed having possessed himself of supreme
authority at Cabool, in 1826 made over his share of Peshawur to his elder
brother, who had been the last of his competitors for power, on his aban-
doning further pretences to the capital. (3) In 1834 the Shah Soojah, as
already mentioned in the preface, made one more attempt to regain his
throne. It fell in with the views of Runjeet Singh, on the present occasion
to offer him assistance, on the condition that Peshawur, together with the
whole of the Affghan territory betwixt the Hills and the Five Rivers, should
be formally ceded to him, and annexed to the Punjaub. The treaty was
agreed to,—the only portions demurred at being the surrender of the gates
of Somnath, then at Ghuznie, and the giving of Shahzadah as a hos-
tage.(4) The presence of Dost Mahomed and his chiefs was in July requir.
ed to the westward to repel the advances of the Shah Soojah, now ap-
proaching Candahar with a8 numerous army. The Chiefs of Peshawur
took advantage of these events to arrange a series of plans against the
anthority of the Cabool Chief: and fearing, from the rapidity with which
he had jost before overrun Jellalabad, that he might, so soon as his hands
were free, inflict on them summary chastisement, they sclicited aid from
Lahore, Hurry Singh, the most fortunate and talented of the Seikh com-
manders, was at this time encamped with a powerful foree near Attock;
watching, as is supposed, the opportunity of seizing on Peshawur, lest
perchance the Shah Socjab, on recovering his throne, should be supported
by us in making it, if found more convenient, tributary to Cabool : his master
wished to be beforehand with us in seeuring this new acquisition, that we, on
giving assistance to the Shah, should have no pretext for claiming it as com-
pensation for our services, should this other untoward alternative present
itself.(5) He appeared within six miles of the city of Peshawur, on
pretence of receiving the usual tribute of horses, rice, swords, &ec., which
the Sirdars had bound themselves to pay; finessing to gain time, which
was of the utmost importance to him, he delayed his departure on pre-
tence that the horses were not of such quality as bad been agreed upon.
Finally, it was proposed that Nao Nehal Singh, the prince royal, should
be permitted to make a friendly visit to the capital. Under cover of
this conciliatory concession, the whole Seikh army advanced, and at once sat
down in hostile attitude opposite the walls. The Affghan Sirdars, wholly

?.i Masson’s Journeys in Beloochistan, Affghanistan, and the Punjaub,
vol. iii., p. 60.
3. Iblx)d, 4, Parliamentary Papers 1839, p. 143. . .
6. Thisis the explanation given by an apparently well-informed writer in
the Delhi Gazette, June 1835, and it seems a probable one. Strange that two
years afterwards we should make the claim of Runjeet S8ingh on this province,
which he had snatched to keep it from us, the chief pretence for the deposition
of Dost Mahomed. See Asiatio Journal, 1835.
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unprepared for this, had no means of resistance: they fled at once with
their wives and treasure—yielding to an army of 9000 men a territory which
a few years before the Seikh sovereign himself had been unable to retain
with a force of 25,000. (6) This digression is essential for the full under-
stauding of the events just about to be related, which formed the chief
ostensible cause of our resolution to dethrone Dost Mahomed. (7) The
Shah Soojah having been defeated near Candahar, as narrated at the close
of the preface, retired once more to the previous asylum the British Govern-
ment had provided for him within their territories at Loodianah. It was
not to be supposed that Dost Mahomed would submit with patience to an
act of such frandulent and barefaced spoliation without an attemgt to reco-
ver the portion of his kingdom which had been ravished by trickery. He
was stated by Captain Wade (25th September, 1834), to have roused the
whole Mahomedan population for an attack on the Seikhs. Runjeet Singh,
who had then 25,000 men at or near the szene of action, was determined
(writes the Loodianah Resident) not to let go his hold on Peshawur, while
Dost Mahomed Khan, and the other Affghan rulers, were equally resolved
to stake their political existence on the capture of the place. Little could
be done before the setting in of winter, and the earlier operations appear to
have been of inconsiderable importance. Some severe skirmishing ensued with
small parties of treops detached from the main army, aszembling at Jellalabad
under Ukhbar Kban,—in which Hurry Singh had the worst of it,—hav~
ing on one occasion been repelled with ihe loss of 150 men. (8) The Maha-
rajah himself made every preparation to meet the approaching contest on
a larger scale than had hitherto occurred. He reinforced his army ; and
advancing from Lahore remained encamped for some time at Rotas, aud
then proceeded to Peshwur, around which a very large force was assembled
by the end of April. (9) Dost Mahowued having joined the army, which for
some time had been collect'ng under his favourite son, prepared to descend
through the Khyber Pass. Runjeet Singh atvanced to meet him, and drew
up his Seikhs in battle array across the line of the advancing Affghans,

6. Masson, vol. iii., pp. 225—-228. -

7. Sir Alexander Burnes thinks that the Maharajah was urged to this against
his better judgment, by Hurry Singh, +¢ It has proved [sayshe] a source of
annoyance, and latterly of serious disaster. Its revenue, under the Dooran-
nees, used to be £60,000 a year: under the Seikhs it is £100,000; but of
this £60,000 is allocated amongst the Chiefs holding Jaghires—-Mahomed Khan
Barukzye and his tribes enjoy £40,000 of this, and the bulk of the remainder
is devoted to religious purposes.” «It isgconcludes Burnes] a drain on the
finances of Lahore, with the additional di advantage of being so situated as to
lead the Seikhs into constant collision with fierce and desperate tribes, who,
were it not for their poverty, would be dangerous antagonists.”’—Cabool, by
Sir A. Burnes, vol, i, 1842

8. Calcutta Courier, June 3,1835; and Delhi Gazette, April, same year.

9. Delhi Gazette, June 3, 1835,
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and within two miles of theirfront. The Ameer, who seemed at no time to
have been sanguine of success, on seeing himself outnumbered by the pow-
erful and disciplined army of the Maharajah, eonsidering affairs hopeless,
returned towards Jumrood, and was followed for some distamce up the
Khyber Pass by the enemy (11th May, 1835.) Proposals were sent to him,
that if he would abandon all claims to the conquered territory, and give one
of his sons as an hostage for the maintenance of peace, he would receive a
Jagheer (estate) worth £30,000 a—year. (10) This proposition was at first
favourably received, but afterwards declined. Meantime the Affghan Sirdars
had tendered unconditional allegiance to the new ruler; aud it was agreed
that they should receive a territory of equal value with that rejected by Dost
Mahomed,—they doing homage, and acknowledging the Seikh sovereignty-
This reward for their hostility and treachery to the Ameer was accepted of,
and they became thereafter the dependents of the infidel.

General Avitabile, one of the Cersican officers who had, many years be-
fore, joined the service of the Maharajah, was made Governor of Peshawur,
~—the duties of which office he has now for seven years discharged with the
utmost ability : 2000 cavalry and 5000 irregulars were left to protect the
country. It was said that Dost Mahomed on retiring towards Cabool,
pledged himself to retake Peshawur or die in the attempt.(11) He returned
to his capital, leaving his sons to settle the affairs of Jellalabad; while his
principal opponent retired to Lahore, withdrawing all his troops from beyond
the Indus, save those already referred to. The Affghans of Peshawur, dis~
contented with the new order of things, meanwhile repaired in vast numbers
to Cauool to lay their grievances before their former raler, and express their
desire to be led against the Seikhs; and their eagerness to sacrifice their
lives for the faith, and in the expulsion of the infidels. Influenced by these,
and with the desire for the recovery of his territory unslacked and unabated,
it was determined that his eldest son, Afzul Bey Khan, should proceed to

10. We are at a loss to understand the allusion of Mr, Masson, vol, iii, p.
416, where he says—t¢ The ﬁroposal [made in 1837 or 38] to give Peshawur
to the Ameer—Runjeet Singh receiving in return one of his sons, bad never
been made by the Maharajah ;—Capt. Wade denouncing it—and I am sor
to say justly—as insidious.” Why it was the very offer Runjeet Sing
had himself made in 1835—only instead of the whole of Peshawur he was to
receive a jagheer of £30,000 a.year. Dost Mahomed, as will be seen from
the tekt, for a time entertained the proposal. Runjeet Singh had made a
similar one to the Shah Soojak in 1833, when negotiating for his restoration.—
Parliamentary Papers, 1838

11. Asiatic Journal, December 1835. This passage is a quotation ; but the
source whence it is taken is not named. The officers referred to are Gene!
Avitabile, Allard, Court, and Ventura,—all men who have distinguished them-
selves for military skill and general literary acquirements, and for the wisdom
and the friendly feeling towards our Government with which they have con-
ducted the affairs of the Maharajah.

D
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measnre h's sword with the unbeliever, An army of 20,000 men, mostly
Kuzzilbasher, were, without delay, accordingly assembled at Jellalabad. De-
scending the Khyber Pass with about half of this number, he came up with

the Seikh army only 5000 strong, under Nao Nehsl Singh, at the Gharry of
DeCassab, in June 1836. The fight was obstinate, and the slaughter on
both sides severe, when victory determined in favour ef the Affzhans: their
enemies completely defeated, dispersed and fled. Just before, a bloody en-
counter had taken placenearthecity betwixt the troops of Shere Singh, father
ot the prince already named, and immediate heir to the Seikh throne, and the
Chief of Lalpoora : both suffered severely, and each claimed the victory ; but
the Affghans appear to have had the best of it. A few months after this, Nao
Nehal Singh descended by the line of the Indus towards D+-jerat, and obtained
Deera Ish:nael Khan by stratagem—imprisoning the Chief, Shah Newaz
Khan ; the'alleged ground of offence being, that the Sacred Cow had been
openly killed within his territories. This fresh appropriation of Affzhan
territory, effected almost without bloodshed, was an evidence that the Lion
of the Punjaub had given all consideration of right and justice to the winds,
when an opportunity presented itself of aggrandizing himself at the expense
of his Mahommedan neighbours beyond the Indus ; and the ramour now ran,
that as he had taken possession of neirly the whole of the Doorannee ter-

ritory on the hither side the mountains, he might be expected to prepare
himself without delay for an advance upon the eapital; an idle boast, pro=
bably encouraged by the Court to cover the mischances which bad just been
experienced at Peshawur, and brazen out the appropriations he seomed de-
termined to make, so far as his power permitted.

Preparations were meanwhile made by the Seikhs for the seizure of Shikar-
.pore, a wealthy and populous town belonging tothe Ameers of Scinde, who ap-
pear to have given not the slightest cause for quarrel or displeasure, From
the beginning of autumn 1886, till the approach of spring in the following
year, though we read of no encounters of note betwixt the Seikhs and
Affghans, the hostility betwixt them appears not for a moment to have been
modified or interrupted. Great preparations having, in the course of
the winter and early in spring, been made by Dost Mahomed for a fur-
ther atterapt upon Peshawur;, an army, said to have consisted of about
fiteen thousand men, descended the Khyber Pass, and came up with
the enemy at the Fort of Jumrood, just beyond the mountains, on the 1st
May 1837. The strength of thHe Seikh army is not mentioned : they were
.commanded by the celebrated leader Hurry Singh. The Affghans com-
menced by cannonading the Fort; and, finding themselves for a time un-
resisted, considered that the day was their own.(12) Hurry Singh having

12, Masson, vol. iii, p. 424,
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suddenly burst upon them with a compact body of disciplined warriors, while
their irregular troops were divided from each other by separate ravines, for
a time carried every thing before him. Victory appeared for a while to lean
first to one side, then to the other, as the parties were alternately success-
ful. The Seikhs bad captured fourteen of the guos of their enemies, who
managed in the course of the day to recover eleven of them, and make up
their original number by the seizure of three pieces of Hurry Singh's artil-
lery. The Seikhs, who had committed themselves in pursuit of a body of re-
treating Affghans, were unexpectedly met by a fresh and powerful force,
and compelled to retire. Their gallant and able leader had fallen, and the
troops were everywhere compelled to quit the field. The Affghans claimed
the victory : but hearing that heavy and highly-disciplined reinforcements
would immediately be sent to join the beaten army, considered it hopeless
to proceed further, and retired accordingly on Jellalabad, elated with the
pride of success. It has generally been asserted, that the incursion termi~
nating ia the battle of Jumrood was designed in the knowledge that at this
time the bulk of the Seikh forces were absent at Am.itsur in celebration of
the marriage of Nao Nehal Singh, and it is to this that the term ** sudden,”
in the Simla Proclamation, is assumed to apply. Mr Masson publishes a
letter from Captain Wade uander date the 7th April, blaming the Ameer for
baving averlooked the opportunity then gone by. The festivities were over
in March, and the Maharajah immediately afierwards burried off his forces
to Peshawur in the full knowledge of what had been for several months
impending.

It appears (says Masson, vol. iii., p. 424) that the Maharajah was so con-
founded at the death of Hurry Singh, that he informed Captain Wade he
should be glad to give up Peshawur, preserving his pardah or his boaour.
Neothing could be clearer (continues the same writer) than that he was
witling, at the request of the British Government, to have abandoued this
upjust conquest—such request would have saved him the appearance of a
forced surrender. Capt, Wade, on the 15th Sept, 1837, wrote to Mr Masson
that the Seikhs are ready tobring their quarrels to an amicable adjustment on
any reasonable terms, in accordance to our wishes for mutual peace. (13)
‘Wit this in view, it is important to observe, that there was nothiag, save in
the death of a man of such note as Hurry Singh, at all different in the cir-
eumstances or concomitants more than in the half dozen other encounters
which had taken place betwixt the conquerors of Peshawur and its former
possessors throughout the four preceding years. It will be seen, also, that
Runjeet Siogh had all along acted on a system of most uaprincipled
aggression towards all his neighbours on every side of him : that Dost Ma-

13. Masson, vol. iii, p. 424.
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homed only strove to recover the territory of which he had been robbed.
In the Simla proclamation, issued on the 1st October following, the Ameer
was reported as the disturber of the peace on our N.W. frountier,(14) whereas
Runjeet Singh had maintained the whole line of the Indus from Sukkur to
Attock,~a scene of incesssnt strife. 'We tendered our mediation, to the
effect that we would guarantee the robber the permanent possession of his
plunder, and he very naturally accepted so generous an offer :—the party.
robbed declined it on these terms, and we dethroned him for his pains!

AFFAIRS OF HERAT.

¢ It subsequently came to the knowledge of the Governor General, that a Persian Army
was besieging Herat; that intrigues were actively prosecuted throughout Affghanistan, for
the purpose of extending Persian influence and authority to the banks of, andeven beyond,"
the Indus ; and that the Court of Persia bad nct only commenced a course of injury and
insult to the Officers of Her Majesty’s Mission in the Persian territory, but had afforded evi-
dence of being engaged in designs wholly at vari with the principles and objects of its
alliance with Great Britain.? . d hd hd .

# The Governor General deems it in thisplace necessary to revert to the siege of Herat,
and the conduct of the Persian nation. The siege of that city has now been carried on by
the Persian Armyfor many months, The attack upon it was a most unjustifiable and cruel
aggression, perpeirated and continued, notwithstanding the sol and rep d r
strances of the British Envoy st the Court of Persia, and after every just and becoming of-
fer of accommodation had been made and rejected, The besieged have behaved with a gal-

Jantry and fortitude worthy of (he justice of their cause, and the Governor General would yet
indulge the hope, that their heroism may enable them to intain a ful def until
succours shall reach them from British India. 1n the meantime, the ultericr designs of Per-
sia, affecting the interests of the British Government, have been, by a succession of events,
more and more openly manifested. The Governor General has recently ascertained by an
official despatch from Mr. McNeil, Her Majesty’s Envoy, that Hie Excellency has been com«
pelled, by the refusal of his just demands, and by a systematic course of disrespect adopted
towardshim by the Persian Government, to quit the Court of the Shah, and to make a pub-
lic declaration of the cessation of al intercourse between the two Governments. The ne-
eessity under which Great Britainis Elnced. of regarding the present advance of the Persian
Arms into Affghanistan asan act of bostility towards b If, has also been officially commau-
nicated o the Shah, under the express order of Her Majesty’s Government.”—Simiac Procla-
mation, October ), 1838,

HeraT, a principality on the borders of Persia, was one of the provinces
of the Docrannee empire, as constituted under Nadhir Shah, and his two

14, With those facts in view—given as they are on admittedly unquestion-
able authorities—how are we to regard such passages as the following ?—

¢ Whilst Captain Burnes was on his journey to Cabool, information was re-
ceived by the Governor-General that the troops of Dost Mahomed had made
a sudden and unprovoked attack on those of our ancient ally Runjeet Singh 111””
—Stmla Proclamation, para. 4.

¢ It was naturally apprehended that his Highness would not be slow to
avenge this aggression ; and it was to be feared, that the flames of war being
once kindled in the very regions into which we were endeavouring to extend
our commerce the peaceful and beneficial purposes of the British Government
would be altogether frustrated.”~—Ibid. Runjeet Singh, from the time he took
Moultan and Attock, and invaded Cashmere and Pesh.awur, had, for ten years,
kept the tlames of war blazing along the Indus, and we never interposed! It
was him who fed them now, when we blamed Dost Mahomed! Capt, Burnes
mentions that we bad no objection to his seizing on Jellalabad in June 1838,
or doing what he liked with Dost Mahomed ; so that we bad no dislike to the
flames of war in the abstract,—it depended entirely on the party who kindled
them whether we should fan or quench them. Dost Mahomed’s preparations
were incessantly commented on by the newspapers from March onwards.
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successors, Ahmed and Timor, whose joint reigns occupied the greater
portion of last century., It was ruled over, under the crown, by one of the
principsal chiefs or princes of the empire. Its revenue amounts to about
£90,000 ; the population of the city to about 50,000 souls. When the
Suddozyes were driven into exile, Shah Mahomed, the lineal heir and elder
brother of the late Shah Soojah, was, in 1818, expelled from power; he
found refuge in Herat, and was permitted by the Barukzyes to retain a hold
on the principality after the authority of the other members of his family had
become extinguished throughout the rest of the Doorannee empire. He died
in 1829, and was succeeded by the present ruler, Kamran Shah, nephew
of our late royal protege, and, as descending from the elder branch, rightful
representative of the Suddozye line. This prince, who seems a man of in-
tellect without principle, has lived without a friend, and has often suffered
from the treachery of those he trusted ; and, having been driven to a corner
of his dominions by rebel enemies, he has thought it expedient to fill his
coffers by any means that could be resorted to, in order, perhaps, to be pre-
pared for still greater reverses. (1) For ten or fifteen years he has ap-
parently resigned the cares of government to the hands of his Vizier, Yar
Mabomed, a man still more unprincipled and detested than his sovereign.
‘With this short personal notice, attention must be turned to the affairs of
Persia, which will speedily bring back our narrative to the more immediate
congideration of the concerns of Herat.

In Oct. 1834, the death of Futti Ali Shah raised his grandson and adopted
heir, Prince Mahomed Meerza, by the title of Mahomed Shah, to the throne
the ate sovereign had bequeathed to him. Fearing that the recollection of
his father’s successes in the field might tempt the youthful sovereign to en-
deavour to signalize the commencement of his reign by extended schemes of
conquest to the eastward, Lord Palmerston, in July 1885 (letter dated 22ad)
instructed our ambassador at Teberan that the Persian Government should be
specially warned against all.wing themselves to be pushed on to make war
with the Affghans, (2) The course apprehended was the very one which
the King had resolved to pursue. (8) “ It is unsatisfactory to know,”
writes Mr Ellice in November 1835, (4) *‘ that the Shah has_very ex-
tended schemes of conquest in the direction of Atighanistan ; and, in com-
mon with all his subjects, conceives that he hae the right of sovereignty
over Herat and Candabar. He proposed various expeditions for spring
1836—one against Herat-—one against Candahar—and another against

. Conolly, vol. ii., p. 416,
Nz %ord almerstous Letter, 22nd July 1835. Parliamentary Papers 1839,
- No. 1
3. Mr Ellice to Lord Palmerston, November 18, December 24, and Decem~
ber 30. Parliamentary Papers with Supplement.
4. Memo. to Lord Palmerston for 1835.
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the Belonchies: (5) the minister stated that the dominions ef Persia ex-
tended as far as Ghuznie.” (6) Whether the young king really thought
of this at the time, or merely spoke of it in empty bravado, does not
appear. It might have been either, or partly both: but this is beyond
dispute, that whatever were his purposes eastward of Herat, it required
not the disastrous experieuce of a year epent in preparation for the attack
of the furtress 10 no end, but that, after a nine months' sizge, e should
retire buffled frem its walls, to prove that he was unable to carry them into
effect, or 10 march an army a huodred miles beyond his own froutier, cal-
culated to slarm any one but the peasantry on the line of march. Ia Sep-
temuer 1832, when Caprain A. Burunes visited the Persian camp at Koochan,
be found the Prince Roval Abbas Meerza, whose exploits afterwards fired
his sun with martial ardour, at the very pionacle of his triumph. Yet his
success was ascribed by him entirely to the British officers who had trained
bhis troops: he had no money to pay his army, and admitted that, without
supplies from us, he despaired of success. (7)

In April 1836 Mr Ellice intormed Lord Palmerston that the king had
resolved to march upon Herat to chastise Kamran Shah for a gross
breach of treaty, in having failed to fulfil the agreement made with Abbas
Meerza for the restoraion of (zhorian, and of certain Persian famiiies
de'ained by him from their native country; and the payment of £10,000
apnually to the Shah. Mr Eliice considered that he had a perfect right to
obtain redress on these points by torce of arms.(8) Mr MecNeil took
exactly the same view of the questien, expressing himself in still stronger
terms:—*¢ Putting aside the claims of Persia to the sovereignty of Herat,”
writes the Ambassador to Lord Palmerston, under date 24th February 1837 ;
¢ and, regarding the que-tion as one bewteen two separate sovereigns, [ am
inclincd to believe that the Government of Herat will be found to have
been the aggressor.” From the death of Abbas Meerza, when an agree-
ment had been concluded for a suspension of hostilities between the parties,
and the line of boundary agreed upon, Persia had committed no act of hose
tility against the Aff¢hans (of Herat;, but at the death of the late Shah
(Oectuber 1834) the Government of Herat made a predatory incursion into

5. Parliamentary Papers with Supplement. Mr Ellice in his note, 8th Ja-
nuary 1836, states to Lord Palmerston tnat he had explained to the Persian
Minister that the Snan had Taz Mo08T ABSOLUTE RIGHT to obtain redress from
the Herat Prince but that the British Government would much rather prdfer
negociation than force of arms :—the friends of Lord Auckland have, as yet,
omitted to explain on what grouuds this were called in the Simla procla.
marion—a most unjustifiable and cruel aggression.

6. Letter to Lord Palmersten, received 28th February, 1839. Parliamen-
tary Papers 1839,

?.’ 1bid, December 24; received April 7.

8. Ibid, December 30; received ibid.
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the Persian territories, in concert with the Turcomans and Hazarehs, and
captared the subjects of Persia (to the extent of 11,000) for the purpose of
selling them as slaves.”” At the very time the Shah was making preparations
for an advance on Herat, with ulterior views on Candaharand Ghuzuie if any
faith could have been placed on the vapouring threats of his ministers, a source
of alarm of a precisely opposite description, and from a different quarter, ap-
pears to have burst on Mr Ellice. In March 1836, an ambassador arrived from
the most important of the destined victims of the purposed invasion of the
countries to the east,—the Candahar Sirdars themselves—proposing that
an alliance, offensive and defensive, should be entered into betwixt them, for
the purpose of attacking Kamran Shak , betwixt whom, as 1he representa-
tive of the Suddozye dynasty, and the Barukzye chiefsg there was a blood-
feud. The chiefs required an scknowlddgment of their independent adminis-
tration in the internal arrangements of the country, and submitted theme
selves to Persia in their foreign relations only.(9) The terms of the pro-
posed alliance were immediately granted them. It was probably these suc-
oessive threats of the Shah of advancing on Ghuzbie, baseless as they might
have been considered, which induced Dost Mahomed at the same time to
send an ambassador with overtures of alliance. These were to the effect,
that the Cahool Ameer would assist in attacking Hera:, taking vengeance
on the enemy of his house, on condition that the King of Persia should aid
him sgainst the Seikhs, who, taking advantage of the embarrassmeuts the
Shah Soojah had in 1834 occasioned him, were now stripping the Doorannes
empire of the whole of its furmer dependencies west of the Indus. The pro-
position was a most natural one: a power threatering to undermine or over-
throw him was about to be converted into an ally,—Persia, Candahar, and
Cabool were jointly to attack first Herat, and then Peshawur, the juint
powers severally benefiting by the result. It was scarcely to be expected
that the Ameer was to regard England with much affection, when he knew
that we protected, and were in closest alliance with, his most hated enemye
the Lion of Lahore, and that we supplied the Shah Soojah, his competitor
for the crown, with a safe hiding-place wheunce to sally out anl atiack him,
under cover of our wing, when he thought fit. ** Pressed on one hand by
the Seikhs,” says Mr (now Sir Juhn) M*‘Neil,(10) *‘and, on the other,

9 Bokhara Travels, 12mo edition, vol. iii. p. 79—Burnes’s Address—¢ I
did tell him (on his application for money) as I have ever fel, that | considered
the payment of money to such a Cabinet derogatory to the name and henour
of Britain ; since it has tended more to lower our estimation in Asia than
our most noble deeds have done in India to raise it,"’—a sentiment which should
be written on the girdle of every British ambassador at the Court of Persia.

10. So writes Mr Ellice on the 1st April 1836 ; on the 10th we find him once
more stating, that His Majesty had been encouraged and promised pecuniary as-
sistance from the Bussiaus, who well knew that the conquest of Heratand Can-
dabar by the Persians is in fact an advance for them towards India, if mot
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fearing that some member of the Suddozye family may incite the Dooran-
nees against him, he had for some time been secking to strengthen himself
by a foreign connection.” The Ameer had forwarded letters almost simulta-
neeusly to the Emperor of Russia, the Shah of Persia, and the newly ap-
pointed Governor-General of [ndia—all sent ambassadors in return, and none
at first wrote more cordially than Lord Auckland in reply. The anxiety of
the Russian Minister for the chastisement of these man-stealers, was most
satisfactorily explained by the extent to which they kidnapped the subjects of
his country. It was not wonderful that parties having a common object of
such importance in view, should have been drawn somewhat closely towards
each other—the marvel was, that, considering the causes, they were not
more 0. We havej however, in these observations, permitted ourselves to
wander from the subject of the eastward march of the Persian army, to
which attention must now be directed.

The summer and autumn of 1836 were occupied in preparing an expedi-
tion meant to be of overwhelming magnitude,—but so unskilfully had ar-
rangements been made, that, on the approach of winter, the head-quarters
of the army, with all their supplies, were still 600 miles to the westward of
the declared point of operation. Alarmed at these things, Kamran Shah
now of himself proffered terms of treaty; he acknowledged his previous
man-stealing practices, but pledged himself to abstain frem this
and every other species of aggression, if the Shah would bind him-
self to abandon the present advance, This he declined to do, and accord-
ingly in July 1837 an army of 40,000 men, with 70 pieces of artillery,
was on its march from Teheran to Herat. The utter worthlessness of any
professions of submissien on the part of Kamran Shah bad, before this,
become apparent. The British ambassadors had laboured inccssantly to
bring about an amicable arrangement, and had in part succeeded : when, on
a check which had been sustained by the Persian army, the Herat ruler
sent a message full of contamely and insnit. On receipt of this, the coun-
cillors of Persia determined that a force should, next season, be marched
to chastise the faithless and unprincipled chief. The fear of the approach
of this, occasioned a second overture for negociation. (11) New light on all
these matters appears about this time to have beamed from Downing Street on
the Goverament of India : and a communication from the Governor-General
entirely altered the opinions of Sir John M‘Neil: He now considered the war
eminently unjust, and urged the utmost remonstrances against it. The Per-

for the purlpose of actual invasion, certainly for that of intrigue and disorgani.
zation.”” {11 This within ten days of the time when he had given an account
of a treaty, offensive and defensive, having been concluded betwixt Persia and
Candahar! The name of Russia seems to turn the wits of British statesmen!

11. Letter to Mr Macnaghten, 22d January, 1837.
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sian route lay wholly through their own couatry, yet they were unableto reach
Herat before the end of November,—the sole obstructions nnsmg from an
emptytreasury and defective commissariat, and an undisciplined and disorderly
army, which frequently threatened to melt utterly away before they had seen
the enemy ; an excellent illustration of the futility of our fears of the
danger of aggression on Affghanistan from the troops of modern Persia.
The siege lasted nine months, the Persian army having retired from before
it on the 30th of September. An expedition from Bombay, which had
landed at Karrack, in the Persian Gulf, in the middle of June, showed
them how completely Persia was within our grasp: that we could disem-
bark any force we pleased at Bushire within a fortnight of its quitting Bom-
bay, and possess ourselves of the chief towns of the empire before the people
at large could be made aware that hostilities were intended. This, to-
gether with the urgency of our remonstrances, were assigned by the Shah
as the reasons for his retreat. Yet it must be kept in mind that bis at-
tempts against Herat had throughout proved failures; that he in one un-
successful assault lost 1800 men ; that his casualties had exceeded 3000.
He war, in September 1838, as remote from his object as in Nov. 1837.
His army was short of provisions, and without clething or pay ; and rather
than have continued before the fortress which had so repeatedly defeated
them, for another winter, would, in all likelihood, have dispersed of them-
selves in spite of all remonstrances. It may here be remarked as one of
numerous illustrations of the crooked and hollow policy in which we had
now engaged ourselves, that though the occupation of Karrack was an able
aod most effective military movement, both this and the preparations
againat Affghanistan, in consideration of any movement Persia might have
in view, were specifie violations of treaty, It had, in 1814, been expressly
stipulated by us, that if war should be declared between the Affghans and
Persians, the Eoglish Government should not interfere with either party
unless their mediation to effect a peace should be solicited by both par-
ties; (12) and in a despatch from Lord Palmerston to Sir J. M‘Neil,
dated 2d June 1886, the obligation to neutrality was emphatically recog-
nised. Yet we took possession of Karrack, an island belonging to Persia
in the centre of the Shah’s dominions, which placed the whole sea coast of
the country at our comwand, and we prepared to attack Affghavistan on
suspicion of her desire to ally berself with Persia, or to resist her aggressions,
the alternative apprehended by Government not being apparent! The intima-
tion of the fail of Herat, one of the alleged causes of our invasion, reached the
Government before a single regiment had marched ; while Runjeet Singh,

12, Treaty of 1814, article ix. The previous article binds Persia to assist us
with troopsin case the Affghans should be at war with the British nation.—
Parliamentary Papers, 18:9.

E
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whose personal animosity, another cause of our movements, was on his death-
bed, and Dost Mahomed had consented to postpone his claim to Peshawur,

and to keep all Russian and Persian embassies out of his territories would
we only afford him temporary protection. Every one of the pretexts of
quarrel had thus vanished before conflict began! We had still the bugbear
Russia before us as a pretended source of apprehension. Yet surely little
weight, in reality, was attached to this, however much might have been
pretended, when the Cabinet waited till Russia had offered an explanation of
her conduct—declared to be frank, gratifying, and satisfactory—before either
remonstrances or inquiries were thought of! What definite project we imagined
the Court of St Petersburgh to have had in view, has never been explained
by any one. A foreign writer had the sagacity to point out, that should all
the powers of the empire, with all the material the best appointed army could
desire, reach the western borders of Beloochistan in safety, that a descent
by us on Bushire would place us in possession of all their communications,

compel Persia at her peril to act agaiust them, and place the rear of their
armies, and the line of their advance and relief, completely at our merecy.
The descent on Karrack gives practical proof of the soundness of Count
Bjornstjerna’s speculations. (18) The uniform testimony of travellers had

speculatively shown that which the expedition to Khiva practically demon-

strated—that for Russia to send an army ‘as far as the eastern border of Persia,
was impossible, Our own experience is now sufficient to convince the most
sceptical that were they there, the mountain tribes would cut off their
supplies, destroy their cattle, and appropriate their baggage, before they
reached the Iadus, without our intervention. We could, any day, cut an
expedition from the westward to pieces, by landing a force at Bushire,
where the coast country, with our fleet and supplies, would farnish a
base of operations from which Europe and Asia together could not drive us.
A Russian army would take twice the time to march from her furthest to
our nearest frontier that the armies of England would occupy in being
transported from the banks of the Thames to those of the Indus. We take
no account of how our fleets mizht meanwhile be employing themselves in

the Baltic or Black Sea.

The mannerin which Xamran Shah has manifested his gratitude to-
wards us since 1837, might furnish a salutary lesson as to the nature of
these treaties of amity ; how hopeless it is to attempt to establish an alliance
betwixt barbarous and civilized nations, which can be made agreeable oc
advantageous to either—-and how worse than wasteful to fling a na-
tion’s wealth away on wretched chiefs who can never be satisfied or enriched
—who east us off the moment we stop our subsidies,—whose gratitude ex-

13. The British Empire in the East, by Couat Bjornstjerna.—=Translated by
H. Evans Lloyd. 1840, J. Murray. 1 vol. 8vo.
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tends not beyond the hour of their receiving our gifts into their treasury,w
and who employ the bounty we bestow on them for the basest and worst
of purposes. It has besn seen how incessantly Messra Ellice and
McNeil laboured to dissuade the King of Persia from advancing on Herat,
and how anxious they were to promote regociation. When this failed, and
an army of 40,000 men appeared under its walls, Herat was first defended
by the prowess of an Eoglish officer, and thea relieved by the descent of an
Eoglish force en the shores of Karrack. Their requital was, that, withia
two months of the Persiau retreat, Major Todd and Lieutenant Pottinger
were ordered to quit. {14) The following year another deputation was sent
from the army then at Candahar oa its way to Cabool. They remained
for nearly two years, and spent £300,000 in bribes, and in ondea=
vouring to repair the fortress. The moment they began to shorten their
expeaditure they were dismissed with contumely. The British Ministers
had laboured incessantly to obtain from Persia the cession of Ghorian, and
its annexation to Herat, with a view of establishing it as an independent
princedom. They had no sooner succeeded in this, than the object of our
solicitude being now no longer in our pay, made his submission to the Shah
spoataneously, and restored to him, under certain conditions as to which
we never were consulted, the very possession we had just before proeured
for bim] These things all stand on official record; the oldest of them
have occurred since the year 1836 : yet we go on wasting millions annually
on embassies at the courts of wretches who caly hold to us while we bribe
them: when we could purchase them for any service they could perform,
for one-tenth of the sum we pay them annually4 and for whose hostility,
aided by all the assistanee all the nations of Europe could conveniently
supply, we need not give ourselves the slightest disturbance !

RELATIONS WITH RUSSIA.

8o much for the Persian branch of the Russo-Persian question apart from
the affairs of Cabool,—a part of which will shortly be considered under the
head treating of the last-mentioned subject- In September 1834 so cor~
dially were Lord Palmerston aad Count Nesselrode at one on Petsian
affairs, that the English minister directed the ambassador at St Petersburgh
to intimate the gratification experienced by His Majesty's Government that
the Governments of Great Britain and Russia were acting in the same spi-
rit, and were equally animated by a sincere desire to maiatain not only the
internal tranquillity, but also the independence and integrity, of Persia. (1)

14 Despatch of Sir A. Barnes to Mr Torrens, dated Shikarpore, Oct. 31.
1. Lord Palmerston to Mr Bligh, 5th September, 1834 —Parliamentary
Papers, 1834.
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The letter (dated 5th Sept,) in which these expressions of amity and
good-will are contained, had been crossed by one from Count Nesselrode
(Aug. 22) couched in terms still more satisfactory—the Russian minister
stating * that tho Court of St. Petersburgh continued to think that a con-
formity of language and condnet on the part of the representatives of
Russia and Great Britain would, of all political eombinations, be the one
which would most effectually contribute to maintain tranquillity in Persia,
and to prepare the country for a new reign without exposing the empire
to the disorders ipseparable from any contested succession.” (2) In
1834, the Shah of Persia, Futteh Ali, died, and was succeeded by his
grandson, as already explained : the same harmonious feelings which up
to this time had existed betwixt the Courts of London and St Peters-
burgh appear to have continued without any laterruption. In December,
Mr Bligh writes Lord Palmerston—*¢ I have just seen Count Nesselrode,
who has given me some details respecting the death of the Shah of Persia.
Count Nesselrode seems to anticipate that Persia will inevitably become the
scene of civil commotion, and expresses his satisfaction that, under such
circumstances, the British and Russian Governments should have come to a
good understanding about this matter.” (3) Upon this hint our foreign
minister writes to the ambassador at Teheran, warning the Persian Go-
vernment against aggressive war.(4) It does not appear whether Mr
Ellice had been duly kept informed in reference to the friendly terms of the
correspondence betwixt Lord Palmerston and Count Nesselrode on Persian
affairs—it is to be presumed he was: but a very different train of feelings
had obtained hold of his mind in regard to the views of Count Simonich,
his brother ambassador at Teheran. In January 1836 he writes ¢ that the
Shah had determined on attacking Herat; and that his success was
anxiously looked for by Russia, whose minister did not fail to press its exe~
cution.” (5) ¢ The motive,” continues the ambassador, * cannot be
mistaken: Herat once annexed to Persia, may become, according to the

2. Ibid, Nov, 8.
3. Mr Bligh's note dated St Petersburgh, December 5, 1834—received 5th

January, 1835..~1bid. )

- 4. Ibid—Lord Palmerston’s note to Mr Ellice, July 25, 1835, referred to
under Herat affairs.

5. The Parliamentary Papers, from which the whole of the above facts are
derived, are marked as extracts. After the mutilation of the Cabool papers, so
justly characterised by Burnes as ‘¢ sheer trickery”’—we kuew not well what to
make of them ; they form of course what ministers mean to be set up as a jus-
tification of their measures. They ave full of confusion, which might r.obaliz
vanish had we the documents complete. In speaking of Herat affairs,
Ellice constantly refers to the Persian claims on Ghuznie ; yet there seems to
have been no intention of advancing even to Candahar, as there were no pre-
parations attempted, or capable of being made, for doing so, It is possible
that the entire documents would show that there were two different expedi-
tions in view, and that Count Simonich was favourable to that on Herat only.
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Commercial Treaty, the residence of a consular agent; who may from
thence push his researches and communications, avowed and secret, through- .
out Affghanistan.”” ¢¢ The extension of the Persian monarchy in the dirce-
tion of Affghanistan, will at once bring Russian influence to the very
threshold of our empire: and as Persia will not, or dare not, place herself
in a condition of close alliance with Great Britain, our policy must be to
consider her no longer an outwork for the defence of India, but as the first
parallel from whence the attack may be commenced or threatened.” This
metaphor of Mr Ellice seems at once to have been accepted as a substan-
tial and tangible fact: and from the hour this view of it began to be taken,
the Board of Control seemed to think of nothing but a battery of Rus-
sian cannon playing on the walls of Delhi—1500 miles off! What
there would have been either objectionable or inconvenient in the establish-
ment of a Russian commercial agent oa the frontiers of Persia—seeing
that Russia carried on ap extensive trade with these countries, and was the
only European power wbich did so, is not explained to us;—nor does
it appear what damage India could bave sustained from amy researches or
communications, either secret or open, which he could have conducted.
But this was the political mania of the Foreign Office for the time;
and any one demanding an explanation of the words ‘* Russian in-
fluence,’” or dariog to doubt the potency and malignancy of its effects
on his country, must bave run the risk of having his sanity, sin-
cerity, or patriotism called in question. This fantasy affected the sound
understanding of Sir Alexander Burnes; and in all his communications—
clear and sagacious as they are in every other respect, and full of statesman~
like policy and prudence—~whenever the visions of Russian intrigue, and
Persian influence come across him, he becomes visionary, and all but unin.
telligible. From this time forward, we find that every look and word of
Count Simonich is tortured into something threatening evil to the common
weal, and portending mischief to India! The shake of Lord Burleigh's
head conveyed not half so many meanings, when nodded most strongly,
according to the directions of Mr Puff, as did the most meaningless civil
speech of the Russian ambassadcr, interpreted by the lights of Mr Ellice
and Mr McNeil! Yet Count Nesselrode assures Lord Palmerston that, if
the Russian envoy comported himself as described by the members of the
British mission, he was acting in direct contradiction of his instructions:
and that so late as the 4th May 1837, he had received the most positive
orders * to employ all his credit with the Shah {of Persia] to dispose him
to a formal accommodation with Herat.” (6) Count Simonich’s own

6. Count Nesselrode’s reply to Lord Palmerston, 1st Nov. 1838—Parlia-
mentary Papers. .
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letters to his government give evidence that these instructions were most
heedfully attended to. On the 23th of May—befure receiving the des-
patch of the 4th of the same month just noticed—he writes to his own
Cabinet, *“ I have made the most pressing representations, in order to
induce his majesty [of Persia] to content himself with the voluntary sub-
mission of the Prince cf Herat, and not undertake that expedition at least
before placing the affairs of his country in order.” (7) The Emporor of
Russia called back the battalion in the Persian service, formed of Russian
deserters, at the very time when be knew that this was the principal force
in the Persian army, then before the walls of Herat. (8) Instead of ac-
companying the army with the view of urging on hostilities, Count
Simonich attended the movements of the Shah with the same peaceful
intent as Mr MeNeil: and he did this by special permission, asked for
and obtained, from the Court of St. Petersburgh. On his arrival in camp,
in the end of April, a fortnight after Mr McNeil, and in the seventh
mounth of the siege, when danger to Herat was considered uearly over,
the Ambassador, witnessing the distress from which the Persian army was
suffering, did not think that he ought to refuse his assistance to the Shah
when the sovereign earnestly entreated him to examine the works of the
siege.(9) Any Eaglish officer placed in similar circumstances, would
unquestionably have acted in the same manner, in order to render a friendly
sovereign the assistance he might have applied for in so eritical a situation.
Count Nesselrode further declared, that if the King of Persia had suc-
ceeded, by the capture of Herat, in getting victoriously out of the danger-
ous sitnation in which he had placed himself, it was the determina.
tion of his cabinet to have refused sanctioning the extension of Persian
power in that direction ; and to have negociated the cession of the city
and territories to IXohun Dil Khaun, chief of Candahar, on an arrangement
having expressly for its basis the very thing we pretended most to desire—
a formal obligation being imposed on Persia in no other way to assail the
integrity of the country of which the Sirdars were in possession, or the
tranquillity of the tribes of which they were the chiefs. (10) The explana-
tion in reference to the appearance of Captain Vicovich at Cabool was still

7. Count Simonich to H. E. Count Nesselrode, 28th May 1837—Ibid, This
was forwarded to Lord Palmerston 15, aud received July 21, 1337.

8. Count Nesselrode’s note te Lord Palmerston, Nov. 1838, ut supra,

9. We have taken the above nearly verbatim from Couut Nesselrode's
note ;—a fine, bold, perspicuous document,—as given in the Parliamentary
Papers selected for publication by the Foreign Office.

10. Count Nesselrode’s note to Lord Palmerston, October 20, 1838.—We
have, throughout, in a great measure copied the note verbatim. Also note of
me,h N{ggc;% 5, 1839.—Mr Leech sent a copy of the treaty to Mr M¢Neil in

C .
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more minute and satisfactory: he was sent there from Herat by Count
Simonich, in consequence of the arrival of an agent from Dost Mahomed
Khan, or rather, as it will by and bye beseen, from Mirza Sami Khan
bis minister, who had taken it upon himself to address the Emperor of
Russia in pame of his master.(11) The objects of his mission were
purely commereial ; in order to ascertain the advantages, and degree of
security Russian merehants might expect in entering on commercial specu-
lations with Cabool. (12) Surely we were the last parties in the world
who had a right to find fault with such a measure as this,—our own coua-
tryman Buroes, haviog, six years befure, approached the very gates of
Orenberg on a similar expedition. Oa one point the Russian ambassador
exceeded his instructions when before Herat, and he frankly confessed it,
as did his cabinet before being called upon to do so: he not only lent his
aid in negociating a treaty betwixt the King of Persia and the Sirdar of
Candabar, with a view to the cession of Herat to the latter, ‘! securing
thereby the tranquillity of the eastern frontiers of Persia, by putting an end
to the acts of plunder by which they were incessantly disturbed,” (13)
but he gave the guarrantee of Russia for the maintenance and
fulfilment of the agreement. The determination of the Emperor had
ever been not to maintain with Affghanistan any other than purely
commercial relations : he would take no part in the civil wars of the
Chiefs, nor in the family feuds, which had no claim on his attention.
Count Simonich’s guarantee was therefore at once disallowed, and he him-
self recalled. . Not only so, but General Duhamel,by whom he was suc-
" ceeded, 80 s00n as he discovered that the objects of Capt. Vicovich's mission
had been misconstrued by us or by himself, or by both, without waiting for
fresh directions from St. Petersburgh, and in conformity alone with the
spirit of his original instructions, immediately on his arrival at Teheran
ordered the agent to return. 'With these assuraaces, given with the utmost

11. Masson, vol. iii. p. 465, Masson doubts if Vicovich really was accredited
by the Russian minister at all ; or whether he was not adopted after the sen-
sation which his appearance at Cabool had made became known: he says—
¢ Count Nesselrode, in acknowledging the mission of Vicovich, may be sup-
posed to have adopted his letters, although he does not expressly say so: I
still, however, believe it to have been a fabrication while admitting the Russian
minister’s dexterity in relinquishing projects he never entertained.” The ex-
planation in Count Nesselrode’s note quoted in the text, is such that we cannot
for a moment concur in this view of the case. SirJ (. Hobhouse calls him a
Polish renegade (Ses Speech, June 23). He appears to have been murdered
on his return from Cabool, and no more inquiries made after him. It might
have been enough to know this much, to feel assured that Russia had no inten-
tion of attempting the revolution of empires when an agent such as this was
resorted to-

12, Count Nesselrode, ut supra.

13. Ibid, March 5, 1839—verbatim.
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apparent frankness anl candour in two very able and elaborate papers, of
dates 1st November 1838, and March 5, 1839, Lord Palmerston declared
Her Majesty's government to be entirely satisfied (Dec. 20, 1838)—con-
vinced that Russia harboured no hostile dezigns against the interests of Great
Britain in India ; and that the two powers would thereafter unite in earnestly
dissuading the King of Persia from undertaking any similar expedition to
that against Herat. Io reply to the second note (that of 5th March, 1839,)
the declarations of reconciliation were still more cordial,—expressing the
satisfaction which the renewed assurances of friendship afforded H. M.'s
government,;and the gratification f:lt especially by the information, that the
first act of General Duhamel on arriving at Teheran was the recall of the
commercial agent already referred to. The same declaration on the part of our
foreign minister was afterwards emphatically repeated in Parliament. It is
impossible to peruse the official papers, even as prepared for publication—
tricked out as a portion of them has since been proved to have been, to
bolster up the policy of Lord Auckland—without coming to the conclusion,
that a more baseless vision than that of hostile design on the part of Russia,
conjured up by Mr. Ellice, and unhappily believed in by Lord Palmerston,
pever misled the rulers of a country. If it be afirmed, as it has often
been, that the declarations of Russia, however plausible and specific in ap-
pearance, are wholly untrust worthy,— it must be replied, in the first place,
that H. M.’s ministers declared that they implici'ly confided in them: they
may take the aliernative of confessing, that in this they uttered a falsehood
knowing it to be such ; or that they then said what they believel to be true,
but which has since been proved to them to be the opposite. If so, however,
we are entitled to demand what new light hias been thrown on the intentions
of Russia in regard to the affairs of Central Asia, since March 18397 If
the affirmations of the Courtof St. Petersburgh are at any time to be received
with less confidence than those of other kingdoms, it will require to be
shewn on what grounds? When, and how, it has deceived its allies?
If it be established that its assertions are untrustworthy, then it is
a mockery to receive, or respond, to them; or to maintain towards
a country, thus affirmed to be self-outlawed from the society or privileges of
civilized nations, the demeanour required where ordinary principles of poli-
tical morality are adhered to: those who neglect or violate the laws of the
European commonwealth have no right to require that these be observed
towards them. With matters as they now appear before us, the accusations
of duplicity and dishonesty broaght against Count Nesselrode and his
colleagues, in reference to their conduct towards Persia and Affghanistan,
must be looked on as base and malignant slanders, Lord Palmerston asks,
with a confident air of triumph, whether the intentions and the policy of
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Russia were to be deduced from the declarations of Count Nesselrode, or
from the acts of Count Simonich and Lieut. Vicovich ? (14) Thereply to
this is simple—that the acts referred to are no where to be found but in
the fancies of the members of the Persian and Cabool missions;—the
grounds of suspicion set forth by Mr Eilice and Mr McNeil, as published
in the Parliamentary Papers, would not have been admitted as circumstan-
tial evidence to convict an English poacher! Captain Burnes gives us his
suspicions only ; we are wholly in the dark as to the grounds on which
they were founded. The explanations of Count Nesselrode were de—
clared to be so entirely satisfactory, that the accusations against Russia
were thereby de facto admitted to have fallen to the ground. Under these
circumstances, the following passage from the Speech of Sir John Hob-
house, delivered in Parliament on the 231 of June 1842, in opposition to
the motion of Mr, Baillie for the production of the papers on which the
justification of the Affyhan War was grounded, is worthy of quotation ;=

¢ I am sorry to say (observes the Hon. Bart.) that that advice came from the Rus.
sian Minister at the Court of Persia. It came from the representative of that most
powerful state, who had hitherto acted in the most frieadly way with the British Minis-
ter, but who gave advice to the Schah totally contrary to the advice that was tendered
by the British Minister, and carried his advice afterwards into effect by the interven-
tion which I must more particularly allude to hereafter—an intervention on the part
of the representative of the Cabinet of St. Petersburgh, which was totally imcompa-
tible I say was totally incompatible with the very safety of India. Couat Simo-
nich advised theadvance upon Herat. Hon. Gentlemen are now so familiar with
the importance of that city and atate, from its position in Central Asia, that it is
unnecessary for me to dwell upon it. This, however, I must state, that the best
authorities had laid it down as an indisputable fact, that that ecity and its immediate
dependencies are the most important of all the eities and states of Central Asia,
and that the master of Heratis in a position, both with reference to Persia and to.
the Affghan states, to hold the balance, if he has any considerable power, between
the parties who might contend for empire much further and with much greater.
proximity to India. But Count Simonich did not confine himself to giving advice.
At the very time that the English Minister, in econsequence of instructions from
Lord Palmerston, retired, after fruitless endeavours to prevail upon the Schah to
relinquish his pretensions, Count Simonich remained in the neighbourhood, and
sctually, it might be said, superintended the siege, and an officer of distinetion,
who had been in the Russian service, assisted at the siege, and I think I recollect,
was killed there.

¢ But it did not stop there. The intervention of Russia did notstop with the

14. Dratt of a note presented to Count Nesselrode, dated Foreign Office,
26th October, 1833. ‘I'he “imla Proclama:ion was issued three weeks before
Lord Palmerston thought of enquiring whether Russia had given any cause for
our going to war with Dost Mahomed! It turned out she had given none:
yet we went to war votwithstanding, when the last of our pretences for so
doing had admittedly failed us !!

F
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mere appearance of the Russian ambassador at the siege of Herat. Forsoath, s
treaty was entered into—it will be found in the papers before the House—by
which, in the most summary way, the iawful sovereign of Herat (the real represen-
tative of the ancient dynasty) was to be dethroned, and his dominions were given
to one of the princes of Candahar, a brother of Dost Mshomed. By that treaty an
entire change was to oceurin the whole ofthat important part of Central Asis;
and who does the House of Commons think was the guarantee of that treaty ? No
Jess s person than the Russian ambassador, and I hold a proof of it in my hand.
‘Was the Governor-General of India, or the Minister at home charged with the Ia-
dian department, or my noble friend, the then Secretary of State for Foreign Af-
falrs, or the Cabinet at large, to permit such a state of things for a moment ? Was
Lord Auckland to look on tamely when this transaetion was taking place, I might
say, at the very gates of India? But there was a person who has gained an ua.
happy notoriety by the publication of these papers, deputed also, I am sorry to
say, by the Russian Ambassador—a renegade Pole he was said to have been—a
Captain Vicovioh, whose exploits, no doubt, Hon. Members have read of in this
history. That individual was deputed by Count Simonich to go—whither? To
the ex-chiefof Cabul—and he went there accordingly. But not contented with
that, there was to be another missian, a sort of branch mission to the Azcers
of Scinde, and another to the Court of Lahore ; and was Lord Auckland te con-
sider those things as nothing but a trumpery effort made by the Schah of Persia,
which the very shadow of the British bayonet from beyond the Sutledge would at
once put dewn? Nol Lord Auckland considered, with the Cabinet at home, that
the time was come for resistance. My noble friend (Lord Palmerston) directed a
remonstrance to be made to Count Nesselrode, and an answer was given to it.
TPhe Hon. Gentleman said, that my noble Friend, in his reply, considered the
answer satisfactory ; that wasnot the word. My Noble Friend said he considered
the assurances were satisfactory, and so they were, for they were earried into
effeet. For what occurred ? Count Simonich was recalled ; and, moreover, the
unhappy man, Captain Vicovitoh; who was a tool in these intrigues, was also re-
ealled, and has been heard of nomore, ‘The rumour was, that he put an end to
his own existence ; but he has been heard of no more. An effect, however, a
very serious and dangerous effuct, had been produeed by these intrigues. Itdid
not signify to those barbarous states whether or not that ambassador, Count Si-
monich, or that eavoy, Captain Vicoviteh, had exceeded their orders or not, as
Count Nesselrode said they had. What did Dost Mahomed know of that? How
eould he judge ?”

Sir Joln Cam Hobhouse, who now adduces charges of the grossest
duplicity and fraud agaiast the Cabinet of St. Petersburgh, was, by his
ewn showing, in possession of the evidence supplied by Mr MeNeil
and Lord Auckland in 1838 : this was embodied in a note to Count Nessel .
rode of date 26th October, but had been unofficially before him in a sepa—
rate form ; and the several points replied to specifically and seriatim by a note
from the Russian minister of date 15t November-—before the formal note of our
foreign minister was received. Lord Palmerston states, that Count Nessel -
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rode’s communication had received all the attention that its importance sé
justly demanded, and that its general result had been highly satisfactory to
H. M.'s govern'ment. ‘ The proceedings of Russian agénts in Asia [con.
tinues the noble viscount] had for some considerable time been so much at
variance with the professed policy of the Russian government, and so incon-
sistent with the friendly relations aubsisting between Great Britain and
Russia, that the British Cabinet deemed it its duty to ascertain, by frank
explanations’ with that of St. Petersburgh, whether any change had taken
place in the declared policy of the Imperial cabinet in regard to the affairs
in question, or its friendly dispositions towards Great Britain? The
despatch of Count Nesselrode contains upon these points, assurances the
most full and complete, and H. M.’s government accept, as entirely satis~
Jactory, the declarations of the Imperial cabinét, that it does not harbour
any designs hestile to the interest of Great Britain in India; snd that its
own policy, with respect to Persia, remains unchanged, and is the same
which, in 1884, the twoe powers agreed to adopt.”

Sir John Cam Hobhouse was, in 1833, President of the Board of Con~
trol, and one of the members of the Goverament who stated thems:lves
satisfled with the explanations in reference to the conduet of the Per.
sian and Affghan missions ;—admitting by this declaration, that the impres-
sions founded on their previous information were groundless, and that the
statements now recapitulated, on which these were based, were utterly falla-
clous! The statement eontained in the revised report of the speech,—that
¢ Lord Palmerston aad his colleagues considered the assurances of Count
Nesselrode satisfactory, because they were carried into effect, ” Count
Simonich and Lieutenant Vicovich having been recalled when the intima-
tion of the pleasure of the Cabinet was coaveyed to the Court of St
Petersburgh, is at variance with the evidence supplied by official documents !
The announcement of the recall here referred to is contained in a note
dated 5th March, 1839: this again called forth expressions of pleasare
and satisfaction from Her Majesty’s Government, who had * been much
gratified by learning, that one of the first acts of General Duhamel, on en-
tering upon his fanctions at Teheran, [in supercession of Count Simonich]
was to recall Lieut. Vicovich from Affghanistan.”(15) The paper of ex.
planations referred to by Sir Joha Cam Hobhouse with which the Cabinet
first expressed themselves so highly gratified, is dated the Ist November,
and contains not one word of the second mentioned recall! Why should nnt

15. The very wor.!s of the official correspondence have, for the most party
been retained in the text,-~which throughout this section is litctle else than an
abridgement of the Parliameatary p?:rs of 1839; in which the late ministry
put what they then meant to be the defence of their polioy. These are now
uga.ngolned, and old exploded or refuted statements once more dragged into
the field.
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Russia or Persia have sent missions to Cabool, or Lahore, or Scinde,~or
China, or Burmah, or Japan if it so pleased them ? We were then on
terms of amity with them all,—though the first three enumerated were at
deadly feud with esch other,—so that no deputation could have any com-
mon hostile object in view. 'Lhe explanation in reference to the trans—
ference of the sovereignty of Herat from the wretched effete Suddozye
prince, to the more vigorous Barukzye Sirdar, was fully set down in
Count Nesselrode's notes,—and this also was, in 1838 and 1839, con-
sidered entirely satisfactory: well it might, if our pretended wishes for
peace in Central Asia contained one particle of sincerity : the wretch pro-
posed to be set aside was the son of the elder brother of the father of the
Shah Socjah, who had seized upon Herat on the general dismemberment
of the kingdom, and was permitted to retain it. He was, according
to the rules of legitimacy and primogeniture, the rightful sovereign
of the Doorannee empire, to the exclusion of the Shah Soojah himself.
He had no more claim on Herat than on the Punjaub, Peshawur, Cash-
mere, Cabool, or Ghuznie,~save that given him by the sword. His
character as a sovereign, and his value as an ally, may be gathered from
the section referring to the affairs of Herat. Russia desired to have
him removed and a better man put in bis place, * to secure the tran-
quillity of the eastern frontiers of Persia, by putting an end to the acts of
plunder by which they aro incessantly disturbed.””(16) Kamran Shah,
¢ the lawful sovereign—the real representative of the ancient dynasty’’—
derived his reveaues from man-stealing,—from plundering merchants pass-
ing in his neighbourhood, and by making inroads into conterminous eoun-
tries to carry off their inhabitants and sell them asslaves. The more peace-
ably-disposed states which suffered from his malpractices, were as much en-
titled to depose him as a cammon nuisance, or a robber in the highways of
commerce, as were England and France in dealing with the far more digni-
fied and bonourable plunderers the Deys of Tunis or Algiers! The ex-pre-
sident of the Board of Control states, that the guarantee for the fulfilment
of the treaty by which these changes were to be effected, *¢ was no less a
person than the Russian ambassador.”” He might, in candour, have added,
that in doing so this ambassador acted in opposition to his instructions, and
was recalled for having so acted before Lord Palmerston offered any remon-
strance or complaint :(17)—as aiso, that thus much was admitted by the
ambassador himself to the British embassy! How lightly Dost Mahomed
held the Russian mission in comparison to the hope of the friendship of
England, the members of the late Cabinet knew right well, though their
hearers might not. The portion of the despatch referring to this was sup-

16. Count Nesselrode’s note, 5th March 1837 ; also 1st November 1838,
17. See Count Nesselrode’s Note of ist November 1838.




29

pressed, when all the extracts injurious to the eredit of Russian candour
were given to the world. Sir Alex. Buroes, in one of these, of date 27th
December 1887, writes to the Government of India :—** On the morning of
the 19th, that is, yesterday, the Ameer came over from the Bala Hissar,
with a letter from his son, the Governor of Ghuznie, reporting that a Rus-
sian Agent had arrived at that city on his way to Cabool. Dost Mahomed
Khan said, that he had come for my counsel on the occasion ; that he wished
to have nothing to do with any other power than the British; that he did
not wish to receive any agent from any other power whatever, so long as he
had a hope of sympathy from us; and that he would order the Russian
agent to be turned out, detained on the road, or act in any other way that I
desired him.” Ia a-further suppressed portion of another despatch, dated
26th January 1838, Sir John knew that the following statement was to be
found :—** Since arriving here [at Cabocl] I have seen an agent of Persia
with alluring promises, after penetrating as far as Candahar, compelled to
quit the country, beeause no one sent to invite him to Cabool. Following him,
an agent from Russia, with letters highly complimentary, and promises more
than substantial, has experienced no greater civility than was due by thelaws
of hospitality and nations. It may be urged by some, that the offers of one or
both are fallacious ; but such a dictum is certainly premature. The Ameer of
Cabool has sought no aid in arguments from such offers, but declared that his
interestsare bound up in an alliance with the British Government, which he
will never deaert 8o long as there is a hope of securing one. It is evident,
therefore, that in this chief [Dost Mahomed | we have one who isready to
meet us; and from what is passing in Central Asia at this momeat, it isany
thing but desirable to exhibit indifference to the solicitations of one whose
position makes him courted ; and whose aid may render powerful for or
against us.”’ (18) Amongst the various anomalies apparent in these singular
passages of our political history, it is not unworthy of remark, that the
apeech on which these observations have been offered, was delivered on the
debate on a motion by Mr, Baillie for the production of papers alleged to
have been on a previous occasion printed in a garbled form. Sir J. C. Hob=
house was opposed to this—the chief argument against graating the request
of the mover turning on the misunderstandings this might generate betwixt

18. Burnes’s suppressed Despatches. Lord Fitzgerald and Vesci, the
present President of the Board of Control, took upon himself to athrm in
his place in the upper house, that his predecessor in office was not liable to the
charge of unfairly garbling Burnes’s papers: we must in charity believe that the
noble lord had not examined thom when he made the aflirmation: yet under
such iznorance of what he assisted to defond, the assertion wassomething more
than bold, in the face of the declaration of Sir Alexander himself—that the
publication was sheer trickery, and that he had been made to support doctrines
which he denounced. The noble lord may, by this time; have had the means
of correcting his impression !
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usand Russial When the papers were posthumously published from the MSS.
of Sir Alex. Burnes entire, without consent of Parliament, it turned out that
the tenor of the cancelled portions was calculated to produce an effect the
very opposite of animosity | In coutrast to the English minister’s perversion
or concealment of the contents of state papers, Count Nesselrode had himself
explained ** that Lord Palmerston’s having informed him that the affairs of
Persia would probably form the subject of setious discussion in Parliament,
and that the English cabinet will probably find itself obliged to give publicity
to the commanications which have been exchanged on this subject betwixt our
cabinet and that of Londons—the Emperor desires me to state to you, in his
nange, that he does not see any inconvenience in that publicity. The policy
of our august master does not fear open day, On the contrary, His Majesty
willbe glad to see that explanations which he has spontavously offered to
England should be generally known.” (19) ¢‘ Strong in our rectitude, and
in our couscience, we shall never have anything to conceal or to dissemble
which we have designed or undertaken.”

It seems throughout to have been assumed by the Melbourne administra.
tion, that such was the policy of Russia that no faith whatever was to be
placed in her professions ; this postulate has already been adverted to above:
—we had no right to assume that Count Nesselrode and his colleagues were
fools as well as scoundrels. Yet nothing short of fatuity could ever have in-
duced the Cabinet of St Petershurgh to believe that Russia could have possibly
maintained herself in India, bad Britain made her a gift of it: that she
could ever have reached it, even had she attempted to doso: or that, if
having succeeded in the inconceivable exploit of placing a hundred thousand
men on our frontiers, she could have maintained them on British ground for
a single campaign. To any nation in Europe less used to enlightened,
liberal, and honest government—Iless blessel with comwmercial enterprise
and perseverance than our own, India would prove a ruinous possession.

" To those who have perused the contents of the previous pages, it will
have become apparent, that so far from the attack of Persia on Herat being,
as asserted by Lord Auckland, * cruel and unjustifiable,” it was declared by
two successive ambassadors the very opposite of both—that so far from being
at variance with the principles and objects of our alliance, we were bound
by a special clause contained in each of thres successive treaties to give no
assistance, except as mediator at the solicitation of both parties, to either
Affghan or Persian, should war arize betwixt them.(20) So far from the
attack of Dost Mahomed on Peshawur being either sudden or unprovoked,
it bad been long premeditated—was one of a series which had been going

§9. vount Nesselrode’s Notes of 5th March 1839, and 6th Nov. 1838,
. %(8)37Treaty of 1814—1826, repeatedly referred to by both parties as in force
in .
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on without interruption for three years in succession—and was provoked by
the perfidious conduot of the Seikh ruler seizing on a portion of the Doo-
rannee territory, which the Ameer of Cabool was endeavouring to resover.
It will be perceived from what immediately follows, that the Ameer of Ca-
bool, who in 1838 had been declared by the Governor-General to be an
usurper, had just two years before (22d Aug. 1836) been written to by
Lard Auckland, the same Governor-General, in terms expressive of * re-
gard and esteem "—the Dost having been designated Ameer, without ques-
tion as to the validity of bis title, and called by the name of *“ friend '’ ;—that
Runjeet Singh was desirous that the Governor-General should be the chan-
nel of submitting to his consideration the pretensions described as unreason.
able j—and that the Cabool ruler himself, in case any difficulty should be
made on this point, was willing that this should be left in abeyance through-
out the lifetime of the Lahore chief. The negociations at Cabool betwixt
September 1837 and May 1838 require next to be examined. We cannot
in this, as in two of the preceding sections, draw our materials from papers
printed by Parliament ; the portions which will most avail the purposes of
the present enquiry were withlield from the public as lonyg as the ministers
could keep them back : they have been published from the private papers
of the late Sir Alexander Burnes, being portions of his despatches forwarded
to Government, but suppressed when the others were printed by order of
the House of Commons.

CAPTAIN BURNES'S NEGOCIATIONS AT CABOOL.

“ After much time spent by Captain Burnes in fruitless negotiation at Cabool, it appeared
that Dost Mahomed Khan, chiefly in consequence of his reliance upon Persian encourage.
ment and assi persisted, as resp d his misunderstanding with the 8ikhs, in urging the
most unr ble pr i such as the Governor General could not, consistently with jus-
tice, and his regard tor the friendship of Maha Raja Runjeet Siogh,be the chanaoel of sub-
mitting to the consideration of His Highness; that he d sch of aggrandi t
and amibition, injurious to the security and peace of the Froutiers of India; and that he
openly threatened in furtherance of th se schemes, to call in every foreign aid which he
could command. Ultimately he gave his undisguised support to the Persian designs of
Affghanistan, of the unfriendly and injurious character of which, as concerned the British
Power in India, he was well apprised, and by his utter disregard of the views and interest of
the British Gover t, pelled Capt. t to leave Cabool without having effected
any of the objects of his Mission.” . o » ® .

“ It was now evideat, that no further intarference could be exercised by the British Go-
vernment to bring about a good understanding between the Sikh Ruler and Dost Mahom-
ed Khan, and the hostile policy of the later Chief showed too plainly that s0 long as Cabool
remained under his government, we could never hope that the tranquillity of our neighbour-
hood would be senured, or that the interests of our Indian Empire would be preserved
inviolate.”— Siml.s Proclamation, October 1, 1838.

‘Wz have in thie, as in the two preceding portions of this narrative, placed
the paragraph of the Simla Proclamation to which the observatiens which
follow next in order more particularly relate, as a text to which the reader
may refer: should he succeed in reconciling it with the official documents
on which it is professed to be based, and on the examination of which we are
now about to enter, he will have been moire fortunate than the writer of the
narrative,
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In 1882, treaties had been entered into with the Ameers of Scinde, the
Nawab of Bahawulpore, and the MaharajahRunjeet Singh,which had for their
object the extension of British commerce by means of the opening up of the
navigation of the Indus. (1) The glowing descriptions of Burnes (2) appear
to have given a very exaggerated idea of the value of the internal traffic
of the countries beyond the Indus. It was forgotten that where there was no
industry, no manufactures, or mineral wealth, no sea-coast or rivers to per-
mit exportation, there could be little or nothing to give in exchange for im-
ports :—and that the wants of a population, purely nomade, must at all times
pe simple aod singularly few. The whole of our commerce with Persia has
never exceeded two miilions sterling a-year, rarely got above one; (3) the
total of our trade with Affghanistan certainly never exceeded a million
annually, and has very rarely amounted to much more than the Lialf of one. (4)
Besides this, the Indus in reality was never closed save by its own dangerous
entrances and shallow depth of water, (5) Lord Ellenborough has opened the
Indus as far as Mithen Kote, and the Sutiej in continnation of this to the
Markunda, where it ceases to be navigable for the sinallest craft. Yet the gross
valne of the British goods consumed by the countries adjoining does not at pre«
sent amount to a quarter of a million sterling, and will not in all likelihood
be doubled for ten years to come: the expense of maintaining troops be-
twixt Kurrachee and Bukkur, both stations included, exceeding £600,000
. a-year; with ‘a less force, it would be unwise to think of keeping these
stat ionsat all. The great line of traffic was not along, but across, the Indus
by the Delhi frontier, (6) or parallel to it, at a distance of 10 miles, by
Sonmeanee and Kelat. The countries teyond the Indus, besides, have
always been open to the free admission of every variety of foreign im-
ports on paying a moderate fixed duty. The chief obstructions in reach~
ing these, are irremediable by treaty: aud arise from the attacks of the
plundering tribes in the passes, which cannot be restrained save by the
payment of a black mail or subsidy. This, in the time of the Doorannee
monarchy, amounted to £8000, and during the short reign of the Shah

1. Masson, vol. jii. p. 432.
...2. Simla Declaration, Uctober 1, 1838—ut supra. Bokhara Travels, Book
iii, The term exaggerated, is applied witliout censure on Burnes: his state.
ments are apparenily quite within the mark, but the idea of commerce with
f,h; interior at all appears t?] hal\:e induced il sorts of absurd conclusions. ‘The
inlerences were exaguerated ; the premises were glowing, but not too much so.
3. Sir J. M‘Neil, gﬁoted iu,Houglr’h's Preface. . = ovte %
4. See Mr Torrens’s Tables, June 1841,
g, Burnes’s Cabool, p. 126,

- Masson’s Keturns suj plied to the Bombay Times, and given in detail, J
1841, Torrens’s Trade Tubles by the Delni l‘!rontler_.a set of pnper:a:)f" v::z
dubious authority— the lust ;—from which it appears that £670,000 worth of
goods crossed the Dclbi frontier for Cabool in 1840.41.
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Soojah from 1839 to 1841, to £12,000 a-year (7) for the use of the Khyber
Pass alone.

In the month of October 1836, Captain (afterwards Lieut. Col. Sir Alex.)
Burnes was directed by the Government of India to proceed from Bombay
through Scinde, and thence to Cabool on a commercial mission, whose ob-
ject was to bring, if possible, into operation, a line of policy some years be-
fore chalked out by Lord William Bentinck, for the extension of trade and
promotion of our intercourse with the countries to the westward of the In-
dus. The traveller had, six years before, traversed the countries to which
hie was now sent on mision, and acquired the friendship of many of the
chiefs, especially of Dost Mihomed of Cabool—one of the most able, vigo-
rous, and enterprising rulers in central Asia ; and he had, besides, distin-
guished himself beyond any man of his time ia the Company’s service, for
the aceuracy and copiousness of the Commercial statistics he had, from time
to time, laid before the Government. With him in this embassage were as-
sociated, Lieut. Wood of the Indian Navy, Lieut. (now Major) Leech of
the Bombay Engineers, and Dr Lord of the Company’s Medical service.

A combination of events occasioned the speedy alteratiom of the objects
and character of the mission. Before the end of June he had received
instructions to proceed without delay to Cabool, and enter on a train of po-
litical arrangements,—destined, as it proved, to terminate in the dethrone
ment of Dost Mahomed, and the restoration of the Shah Soojah ;—in the
murder of the latter, and eventual reinstatement of the former in power.

Urged forward by successive expresses with instructions from the Govern-
ment of India, as the emergencies seemed to arise,he proceeded to Peshawur,
where he arrived on the 12th and left on the 30th August ; having delayed
in hopes of the arrival of an escort, expected toc have accompanied them
through the Khyber Pass.(8) On 20th Sept., the mission entered Cabool
with great pomp and splendour. Ukhbar Khan, the favourite son of Dost Ma-
homed, had been sent out to meet them, with a fine body of cavalry, The Sir-
dar, a youth scarcely twenty years of age, but the largest man in the cortege,
placed Sir Alex. Burnes on the same elephant with himself, and conducted
them straight to the Bala Hissar to b introduced to his father's court,
where his reception was most cordial. A spacious garden, close to the palace
and under the Bala Hissar, was ailocated as the residence of the mission.
The following day they were admitted to a formal audience. The Ameer's
view of the Governor-General’s letter was all that could be desired.

- On being iuformed that some of the rarities of Europe had been brought to
him as presents, he promptly replied, that Captain Barnes and his friends
were the rarities the sight of which most pleased him. As they passed

7. Journey to the Oxus, p. 171.
8. Major Hough, p. 318.
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through the city, some of the people cried out, ¢ take care of Cabool ;”” “do
not destroy Cabool,”—and wherever they went they were received with cordial
welcome. ¢ Power frequently spoils men (says Sir A. Burnes in his ex-
cellent work on Cabool) ; but with Dost Mahomed, neither the increase of
it, nor his new title of Ameer seems to have done him any harm. He seemed
even more alert and full of intelligence than when I last saw him.”(9)
The following account is given of the Dost by Lieut. Wood, a member of
the mission. (10)

¢ Dost Mahomed Khan is about forty-five years of age, and looks worn out and
aged before his time, His frame is large and bony, and g}l bis features strongly
marked. There is a steraness in the general expression of bis features, which is
increased by his flowing, jet-black beard, but his countenance is lighted up by eyes
of peculiar brilliancy and intelligence : when he fixes them upon those by whom he
is addressed, they actually seem to flash with approbation or dissent. From the
ease with which he ran over the names of places visited by Captain Burnes in 1832.3,
it is evident that his memory must be a good one; and the various subjects on
which hespoke, the good sense of his remarks, and the readi of his replies,
proved that his conversational talents were of no mean order. When any one of
us addressed him, he sat with his eyes rivetted upon the speaker, and his whole
soul appesred absorbed by the subject : when he himself spoke, though he did not
resort to Persian gesture, nor assume the solemnity of a Hindoo rajah, there was
that in bis manner and tone of voice which enforced attention,

¢ Qur welcome had been cordial ; and as we left the apartment X could not help
contrasting the audience we had just quitted with the scene in a Haiderabad dur-
bar on a like occasion, and the bearing of the blunty, homely Afghan with that of
the vapouring Beluche, Dost Mabomed’s reception of the mission was leas warm-
1y expressed than that of the Sind Amirs, but the ruler of Kabul felt what the
others only feigned. He deemed himself honoured by the arrival of & British mis-
sion at his capital ; while on the contrary the potentates of Sind, when they grant
an interview to a British agent, affect to think that the condescension is on their
ppart ; they counsider only the servant who is sent to them ; but the more intelligent
Affghans view in the servant the government which he represents.”—Wood’s Jour-

ney to the Ozus, pp. 171 and 172.

The following extract from a letter, addressed, after the march on Herat
had begun, to Mr M<Neil, Ambassador at the Court of Persia, is im«
portant, as explaining the views of Captain Burnes on the claims of Dost
Mahomed, just before the Government of India had determined that mo
concession whatever ought to be made to the Ameer, and that the claims

9. Burnes’s Cabool, p. 149. It may be of interest to recollect, that this is
the celebrated Ukhbar Khan who had, six months before this, distinguished
himself against Hurry Singh at Jumrood. If Wood’s statement be correct,
he could be no more than 24 when he joined the Cabool insurgents. He is
now about 25.

10. Wood’s Journey to the Oxus, pp. 171 and 172.
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which the best-informed of their own servants considered equitable and just,
should be set aside, and he deposed, on the plea of putting forward aggres-
sive pretensions calculated for his own aggrandisement, and injurious to
British views :-—

Eztract : Letter from Captain A. Burnes to the British Ambassador in Persia,
dated above Mooltan, on the Indus, 6th June 1837.

Assumiog then, as I have done in my late communications to Calcutta, that a
friendly commercial connexion with the states beyond the Indus, and between that
river and Persia, wouldbe highly beneficial to our interests, the advantage would
be greater if we could render that connexion political. There is certainly now no
alteration since 1809, and it was then desirable. The only objection to it at present
is the offence which we shall give to our old elly at Lahore, but as hia death cannot
be very distant, [ have urged upon notice the propriety of taking a middle course.
Supposing it were found that D ost Mahomed Khan possessed all the influence, and
all the ability, for which be universally receives credit, much embarrassment is not
likely to accrue to us, by either promising to that chief, or entering into a secret
treaty with him, that we should throw our iufluence into his hands, to establish
himself on the right bank of the Indus, as far down as Shikarpoor, on the demise
of Runjeet Sing. Till then, by ajudicious friendly intercourse we might so guide
" the course of events, as to consolidate his power, and prepare the way for the closer
future connexion, which we contemplated. A loan of money would of course be
by far the most substantial way, butthat I was afraid to suggest, not that I think
it should be withheld, but from the utter hopelessness of getting it ; nor would I
urge its being given at all, if the cash were to be employed against Runjeet. To
that I see strong objections. We should let him keep Peshawur while he lives, and
meanwhile, turn Dost Mahomed Khau’s attention to Candahar and Herat. He
has annexed Jellalabad to his country since I was ia Cabool in 1832, which gives
him an addition of six lacs of rupees to his revenue.

Though the above be the outline of the policy which it appears to me we should
follow, I should like first to see with my own eyes, the state of affairs in Cabool,
the more so, after reading your letter of the 22nd of January.—As for Suddozye
ascendancy in Cabool, I consider that hopeless, either from Kamran, or Shoojah
ool Moolk ; the former, by the way, is said to be dying of dropsy, and the latter
bas not the head to manage any thing.— The most powerful tribe of the Doora-
nees is assuredly the Barukzge. Your view of the influence of the Cabool
Kuzzilbashesis new to me. At first sight it might appear anti-nations), and the
power of Dost Mahomed Khan in consequence to be anti-national ; but still
Abmed Shah, Timor Shah, Zeman Shah, and evea Shoojah, trusted greatly to
these Kuzzilbashes, and the Ghoolam Khanee, as they are called, have at all
times had great influence in Cabool. I leok upon them as the main stay of Dost
Mabomed Khan, and it is to them that he will owe the crown of Cabool if he
ever gets it.  His own clan the Barukzye, will not oppose their influence, as I think,
with some few exceptions, they were glad of the supremacy which a Barukzye

has secured. Itis certain that the chief of Candahar acknowledges in some degree
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the superiority of Dost Mahomed Khan, as you bave been informed ;'and I hear
that it was by the advice of the whole clan, that the chief of Cabeol has taken
the title of Ameer. In fact, there is a circumstance written to me by Mr. Masson
quite corroborative. On receiving the Governor General’s notification of my ap-
proach, Dost Mahomed Khan summoned Kobua Dil Khan to Cabool, and if he
would not come himself; requested him to send one of his brothers and not re-
proach him hereafter, since cvery thing depended on this visit. I very much fear I
shall find one of the Candahar Sirdars at Cabool. On all these points, however, I hope
soon to be better informed, and before I get to Cabool to find myself invested with
other authority than what I now hold, The part which the Candahar chief is acting
requires particularly to be watched. Immediately I got your letter X sent off a mes-
senger from Dera Ghazee Khan to Candahar, through the Lukkee Surwur pass, by
which it has been reached in 8 days, to ascertain what was going on there, and I ad-
dressed Kohun Dil Khan for the first time as to the objects Government had in view
in deputing me to the countries west of the Indus. I shall very soon hear what pas-
ses, for sinee I dispatched the messenger, which is but four days ago, I have had
a letter from Candahar saying *¢ that the Persian Elchee iz expected to reach in a
day or two, and that the Sirdars have made pompous preparations to receive the
Embassy,” though my informant had no idea of presents from the Russian Eavoy.
I shall not fail to avail myself of the worthy Meer Mahomed Candsharee, and if
things are not right in Candabar, when I get to Cabool, I shall wait there till I
put them so. At all eventsy I shall leave nothing undone to try and put a stop to
their intercourse with the Ruasian minister; and if matters go rightly we ahall, I take
ity be able to neutralize thepower of the Candahar chiefs, or, atall events, place
them in complete subjection to Dost Mahomed Khan, whose influence increases
daily, and will be nought diminished by his late victory over the Sikhs. .As to that
indeed, a letter from Captain Wade, which bes just reached me, says ¢ that the
« Sikhs have nerver been so severely handled, and a near move at the present time
¢ towards the Sutlej might secure the independence of Dost Mahomed Khan,” so
that the game at present is all in favor of Cabool.

Captain Burnes was entrusted with a letter of the mest warm and cordial
tenor from the Governor- General to the Ameer, written in the same kind
and friendly strain as that of the preceding year. It was dated 15th May,
1837. 1t is needless to say how much gratified Dost Mahomed felt at what
he assumed to be a fresh instance of our good wishes towards him, At this
time, Lord Auckland was perfectly aware of the King of Persia’s prepara-
tions for attacking Herat,(11) as also of the allegations in reference to the ad-
vice given to this effect by Count Simonich. (12) He knew, likewise, that
messages of friendship, (13) and letters of amity and regard,(14) had been

11. Mr M¢Neil’s Lotter to Lord Palmerston, Nov. 3, 1836.

12. 1bid. As also Letter of Lord Palmerston to the Earl of Durham, 16th
January, 1837.

13, Mr M¢Neil, &e., December 30, 1836.

14. lbid, Feb. 20,1837, The above is abridged from Exftracts of Letters
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exchanged betwixt the Ameer of Cabool, the Candahar Sirdars, and the
King of Kings. The incessant attempts of Dost Mahomed Khan to recover
" Peshawur, were known to every one. There was, in fact, nothing which had
occurred, so far as appears by anything on record, betwixt the 15th May,
when the letter of friendly greeting which was to introduce Captain Burnes
as a commercial agent was written, and the st of June, when it was deter—
mined to convert this into a threatening embassage, demanding explanations
and denouncing vengeance, for the sole crime of defeating the Seikhs at
Jumrood on the 1stof May. The preparations for attacking them were long
before well known; the result of the action was the only thing which had tran.
spired.(15) We have assigned the last fortnight of May as the period in
which this wonderful alteration was wrought in the Calcutta Council Cham.
ber. The letters of Captain Burnes, indicating this, are dated Indus 5th of
July ; it must have taken a mounth or nearly to transmit letters from Cal-
cutta to the Indus. He says, ‘‘ I came to luok after commerce, and already
I have required to abandon my ledger for treaties and politics.(16) I was
ordered by express to pause; and, while hurrying on my accounts, another
express cries pause,—which places a vast latitude in my hands. * * [have
not as yet got replies to my recommendations ou our line of policy in Ca-
bool, consequent on a discovered intrigue of Russia, and on the Cabool
chief throwing himself in despair into Perso-Russian arms.” If these things
were new to Burnes, the published papers show that Lord Auckland and
Lord Palmerston had been for many months acquainted with them. It was
the interpretation which was to be put upon them, aand the line of policy to
be pursued in consequence, which were the only things that were novel-—and
new these were with a vengeance. No papers relating to these have been
published, and we are left to look to Downing Street, where a tottering
Cabinet required some achievement in India, considered certain of success,
to divert public attention from mismanagemeat at home, for a solution of the
mystery which attends them. )

Lord Auckland had, a year before, as will be seen by the subjoined com-
munication, expressed himself in the warmest terms towards the Ameer,
calling him his friend, and expressing his anxiety to know in what maoner
he could be of service to him in bringing about a reconciliation with
the Seikhs! .

Ameer Dost Makomed Khan, of Cabool, to Lord Auckland, the Governor-General

. of India, 31st May, 1836.
After compliments,

As 1 have been long attached to the British Government by the ties of friendship

published in most of the London newspapers, from the posthumous papers of
the late Sir Alex. Burnes, first printed in Bombay for private circulation.

15. Delhi Gazette, Feb. 15, 1837 ; and so on till May.

16, Cabool, p. 142, Letter to Mr Secretary M‘Naghten, dated Sept. 24.
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and affection, the late intelligence of your Lordship’s arrival, enlightening with your
presence the seat of Government, and diffusing over Hindoostan the brightness of
your countenance, has afforded me extreme gratification ; and the fleld of my hopes
(which had before been chilled by the cold blast of the times) bas, by the happy tid-
ings of your Lordship’s arrival, become the envy of the garden of Paradise.

It may be known to your Lordship, that, relying on the principles of benevolence
and philanthropy which distinguish the British Government, I look upon myself
and country as bound to it; and the letters I have received from that quarter have
all been replete with friendly sentiments and attention, and to the effect that, in the
time of need, the obligations of friendship should be fulfilled. The late transactions
in this quarter, the conduct of reckless and misguided Sikhs, and their breach of
treaty, are well known toyour Lordship. Communieate to me whatever may now
suggest itself to your wisdom, for the settlement of the affairs of this country, that it
may serve as a rule for my guidance.

I hope your Lordship will consider me and my country as your owa ; and favour
me often by the receipt of your friendly letters. Whatever directions your Lordship
may be pleased to issue for the administration of this country, I will act accordiagly.

Lord Auckland to Ameer Dost Makomed Khan, written 22d August, 1836.
After compliments. :

1 have had the pleasure to receive your friendly letter, which was transmitted to
me through Captain Wade; and T am gratified at the opportunity which it affords
me, so shortly after my assumption of the Indian Goverameat, to convey to you the
assurances of my unfeigned regard and esteem.

It is my wish that the Affghans should be a flourishing and united nation ; and
that, being at peace with all tLeir neighbours, they should enjoy, by means of a more
extended ce, all the benefits and comforts possessed by other nationsy which,
through such means, have attained a high and advanced state of prosperity and
wealth.

My predecessor, aware that nothiog was so well calculated to promote this object
as the opening of the navigation of the Indus, spared himself no pains in procuring
this channel for the flow of industry and enterprise ; and it shall be my study to se~
cond his philanthropic purpose, and to complete the scheme which he s0 successfully
commenced. I feel assured that you cannot but take a lively interest in the success
of this undertaking, so especially conducive as it must be, to the prosperity of the
people over whom you rule,

Itis probable that I may, ere long, depute some gentleman to your Court, ta dis«
cuss with you certain commercial topics, with a view to our mutual advantage.

I bave learned with deep regret that dissensions exist between yourself and Ma-
harsjah Runjeet Sing. My friend, you are aware that it is not the practice of the
British Government to interfere with the affairs of other independent states; and
indeed it does not immediately occur to me how the interference of my Govern«
ment could be exercised for your benefic. I shail be happy, however, to learn from
you by what means you thiok that I can be of any assistante; and, in the meantime,
I have only to hope that you will be able to devise some mode of effecting a recon~
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ciliation with the Sikhs; it bzing not only for your own advantage, but for the ad-
vantage of all the countries in the viciﬁity, that two nations so situated should ever
preserve unimpaired the relations of amity and concord.

Begging that you will accept my renewed assurance of friendship and regard,

Iam, &. (Signed) AvuckrLanp.

SirA. Burnea’s instructions, in reference to the mercantile portion of his mis-
sion, were sufficiently cepious and explicit : when this was transmuted into an
embassage of a widely different character, he appears to have been left almost
wholly to the guidance of his own understanding.(17) If we consider the
very imperfect condition of our informatien at this period, or rather the im-
penetrability of our ignorance, and the total want of justification for the
measures afterwards adopted, that Burnes’s reports did actually supply, the
conclusion is almost forced on us, that the mission was sent to see and
speak of matters on which a quarrel might be founded. When this failed,
Captain Wade fell back on the reports supplied by Mr Masson in 1835.(18)
Captain Burnes had learnt, on his way to Cabool, how easy would be the
adjustment of the Peshawur question oa the part of Runjeet Singh.(19) On
arriving at Cabool, he found Dost Mahomed anxious to come into all the
views of Government,

Persian influence was rapidly on the decline: and though a Persian Elchee
was then known to be on his way to Cabool, it seemed doubtful if he would
be received ; if he had been 8o, there were no offers which he could have
made which would have been placed for a moment in the balance against
those of the British Government.(20) Our Envoy, ten days after his arri-

17, In a private letter, dated Cabool, 30th October, Burnes thus writes :—
¢¢ I hardly know what the Government of India will think of my measures, for
my line of conduct is only indicated by them, not marked out. I am ina very
critical position, and they tell me so totidem verbis”’ Masson complains
incessantly of this matter; he quotes a letter from Burnes, in which the writer
says,—t¢ My last accounts from Calcutta are, in plain language, as follows,—
that Lord Auckland looks with great anxiety to hear from me in Cabool, after
I have seen about me; the meaning of which is clear enough, that they are to
act afte,!" I have reported. This looks like toasting our toes at Cabool for the
winter. '

18. Masson's Travels.

19, We have, in the text, given Burnes’s own views of this matier. Mas-
son’s are almost word for word the same. In commenting on a letter received
on that subject from Captain Burnes, he says, ¢« While perfectly aware that the
occupation of Peshawur was unprofitable, and the constant source of alarm and
inquietude to Runjeet Singh, and satisfied that he would relinquish it if soli-
cited to de so, I had not hoped that he would have voluntarily come forward
and expressed a desire to be eased of it.”’—Masson, vol. ii., p. 447.

20. Burnes’s Letter to Sir W, M‘Naghten—Cabool, Oct. 4, 1837—Blue Book,
1839. We shall require to refer to these papers almost incessantly for some
space to come. They form a continued series from the 25th September to the
1st May. Those quoted as ‘¢ unpublished papers’” are fragments of the ori-
ginal despatches as forwarded to Government. They were suppressed b{‘ the
Board of Control when ordered by Parliament to be published ir1839. They
give a totally altered complexion to the conduct of Dost Mahomed.
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val, was closetted with the Ameer, and found him most frank and circum-
stantial in his explanations. He had been before, as already explained under
a previous head, on treaty of alliance with Persia ; he declared that he al-
ready bitterly repented ever having had anythiog to do with that country—
the more especially since he had received the Governor-General’'s no-
tification of Captain Burnes’s intended mission. He stated that the
Candahar negociations with Mahomed Shah were entirely without his
concurrence, and much against his inclination. If the affairs of Pesha-
wur were ever adjusted, he said he would be expected to have no more oc-
casion for aid from any one ; but whether the British Government interested
itself in this or not, he was resolved to do every thing he could to show bis
respect for its wishes ; if he couid not succeed in regaining our friendship,
he was equally resolved to have nothing more to do with Persia. It was
impossible that anything could have been more satisfactory than this, if we
really were in earnest in our desire to treat with him as an independent
sovereign, The same tone of friendship was maintained with the most per-
fect consistency to the end, when our offers of alliance became so absolutely
insulting, considering the terms on which they were made, that he had no
choice left but to decline them. The following extract from a private letter,
dated Cabool, 30th October, gives Captain Burnes's opinions in a more con-
cise and graphic form than do his communications with the Government of
India, though the two are in substaace identical :—
¢ Cabool, 30th October, 1837, —Here a hundred things are pnssing of the high-
est interest—1 arrived here on the 24th of last monthy and have had a very cor-
dial reception—Dost Mahomed Khan has fallen into all our views, and in so doing
has either thought for himself, or followed my counsel, but for doing the former I
give him every credit, and things now stand so, that I think we are on the threse
bold of a negotiation with King Runjeet, the basia of which will be his withdrawal
from Peshawar, and a Barukzye receiving it as a tributary of Lahore, the Chief qf
Cabool sending his son to ask pardon.—What say you to this after all that has been
urged of Dost Mahomed Khan’s putting forth extravagant pretensions? Runjeet will
accede to the plan I sm certain, but *** jsa great little man, if you comprebhend
what I mean, and while he is looking to the horizon (to use his own words) of po-
litics end considering, events crowd on, and spoil his speculations. I have,
in behalf of Government, agreed to stand as mediator between the parties, and
Dost Miehomed bas cut asunder all his connexion with Russia and Persia, and
refused to receive the Ambassador from the Shah pow at Candabar.—His brothers
at that city have however caressed the Persian Elchee all the more for this, and L
bave sent them such a Junius as I believe will astonish them. I had indeed rea-
son to act promptly, for they havea son settirg out for Tehran with presents to the
Shab and the Russian Ambassador, and I hope I shall be in time to explsin our
hostility to stich conduct.— Every thing here Las indeed run well, and but for our
deputation at the time it bappened, the house we occupy would have been tenant-
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ed by a Russian Agent and a Persian Elchee., I hardly know what the Govern-
ment of India will think of my measures, for my line of conduct is only indicated
by them, not marked cut.—Yet I am inspirited by their free use of laudatory ad-
jectives regarding my proceedings hitherto—* ¥* [am in a very critical posi-
tion, and so they tell me—totidem verbis,——but I like difficulties-——they are my
brandy.”

‘We have already had occasion to refer to the utter want of instruc-
tions from which the mission suffered oa first reaching Cabool. So far
from this having been remedied, it became aggravated each month of
their stay. The pure no meaning of the terms ** Persian aggression’’ and
¢ Russian intrigue” puzzled them far more than the phantoms they ap-
prehended would have done if converted into substantial realities. Mr
M*Neil sounded the double alarm, that Persia was about to march on
Hoerat, Caodahar, and Ghuznie, and that Mahomed Shah and Dost Ma-
homed were about to form an alliance —out of which some fearful and
indefinite mischief was to spring, whose form was too dreadful to be
described, its power too terrific to be resisted. Dost Mahomed was
forbidden to make terms for himself with Persia, on pain of our
severest displeasure, and the Ameer at once declated that if this would
please us, we should have no giouuds of dissatisfaction: he had treated
with Persia as he had done with other powers, with a view of strengthening
his authority, and without any idea of annoying us. But then again,
Persia threatened to advance towards Cabool with a view to invasion. This
intention, which, whether real or pretended, we have every reason to believe
incapable of being carried into effect, was fully believed in as practicable and
imminent by the whole Persian mission, (21) by Dost Mahomed, and the
_members of the mission at Cabool ; Captain Burnes having offered himself
to serve with the troops of Candahar, and to assist the Sirdar with money
in case it should be carried into effect. (22) It was implicitly relied
on by Lord Auckland, and is yet held as an unquestionable article of creed
by the then chairman of the Board of Control. (23) Yet Lord Auckland de--

21. See letters of Mr Ellice, Mr M‘Neil, Major Tod, &c. from 1834 to 1838 ;
they will be found more fully quoted and reterred to under the Herat and
Russian heads,

22. Burnes's private letters, also despatches.——See Mr Macnaghten’s letter,
dated Belleiry, 20th Jan., severely blaming Captain Burnes for having made
an offer of assistance. Burnes himself says, fenterta.iu the belief that if we
keep our footing in Cabool and Herat falls, the presence of Mr Leech alone
will prevent the Shah of Persia from attacking Caundahar.”—Suppressed
Despatch, 22d February, 1838.

23. 8ir J. C. Hobhouse's speech, 23d June, 1842. The ex-chairman quotes
Mr Ellice as an authority on the imminence of the dangers ot invasion from
Persia, This is naivé enough; he seems to have forgotiern that the alleged
cause of the war was, the desire of Dost Mahomed to screen himself from this
danger, by an alliance with Persia. We would not help him in fighting with

H
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clared in hi: minute (12th May, 1838), that he had before stated to the
Secret Committee his determination not to oppose the hostile advance of
Persia upon Candahar or Cabool, whether by arms or money. (24) He,
in short, would not permit Dost Mahomed to enter into a treaty to save himself
from Persian invasion, nor suffer him by alliance with her to protect himself.
This was the state of matters in the beginning of the year 1838, but a
change in our conduct towards the Cabool chief was at hand, to which,
after noticing the affairs to the eastward, we shall speedily have occasion
to advert. On the 25th December, two months after the arrival of the
mission at Cabool, Lieutenant Leech was dispatched to Candahar to
ascertain how matters stood in that quarter. The three brothers who
ruled in Western Affghanistan, were Kohun Dil Khan, Rehem Dil Khao,
and Meer Dil Khan: the first described by Captain Burnes as an honest
good man and staunch Soonee ; the second, as having some energy ; and
the third, as possessed of morc talent than either of the other two. (25)
These chiefs were at this time in treaty with Persia, with a view to their
assisting in the attack cn Herat. It does not appear whether or not any
hint of the intentions of Russia as to the bestowment of the princedom
on the eldest of the brother Sirdars, had transpired. The treaty was
submitted to them and agreed to in January: (26) how long before this they
were informed of the intentions of Persia and Russia in their favour we
have not discovered. If, in the knowledge of this, they were still disposed
to break off ail arrangements with Persia and Russia in our favour, we
surely could have desired no stronger evidence of their anxiety for our
alliance :—nor could we assuredly blame them for endeavouring to complete
an arrangement so favourable to themselves, if their exertions for this
‘had only begun after they saw that there was no longer reason to hope
for our friendship, much less for our assistance. Herat, and the territory
‘dependent upon it, would have mere than doubled in extent, and tripled
in value, and infinitely increased in political weight their territorial pos-
sessions. (27) However these things may be, we find from the instruc-

her, and deposed himn because he would not comply with our wishes in endea-
vouring to make friends with her !

. 24. We only became aware of the existence of this very important document
by a reference to it in a paper of subsequent date. It bore upon the pacific
view of the T‘xestion apparently, and was therefore suppressed.

26. Lieut. Leech’s despatch, 12th March, encloses Count Simonich’s guaran.
tee.

25. Burnes's Instructions to Lieutenant Leech. This very important despatch
was omitted by Sir J. Hobhouse on the publication of the Parliamentary
Papers. It was found amongst the posthumous papers of Sir A. Burnes:—
\lvgéuote from a copy published in the Caledonian Mercury of 22d October

27. Quarterly Review, June 1839. The article referred tois a review of the
mutilated Parliamentary Papers, Itis believed to have been written by Sir
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tions of Captain Burnes to Licutenant Leech, as well as from his other
letters, that by the beginning of December *¢ they had listened to advice—
declined sending one of their sons to Persia as previously agreed to—dis-
missed the Persian Elchee, and began to look with serious anxiety for coun-
sel and assistance towards the British Government, and their brother Dost
Mahomed.” The King of Persia, in referring to this, sent back infor-
mation that their assistance against Herat was no longer desired. (28)
Serious and not unnatural apprehensions were however entertained by
them, that, in case of the Shah succeeding at Herat, their preceedings on
this head might so incense him as to furnish. him with an excuse for re-
suming his often threatened measures for an eastward march, with a
view to the subjection of the countries to which he never failed to
prefer claims so often as opportunity occurred: claims which, when put
forward, invariably filled our statesmen with alarm. In reply to a repre-
gentation from the Sirdars, apparently to this effect, received on the 22d
December, (29) Captain Burnes stated that, in the event of Persia attempt- .
ing to subdue their chiefship, he would proceed in person along with the
Ameer of Cabool to assist them ; that he would do every thing in his pewer
to aid them—even to the extent of paying their troops. The sum proposed
to be advanced for this latter purpose was three lakhs of rupees—i. e.
£30,000. The chiefs declined the pecuniary portion of the offer, writing,
in returo, that the original intent of their negociations had been to keep off
Persia,—to ruin Kamran, and make themselves masters of Herat. This
was understood to mean that their apprehensions at this time were more
from the aggressions of the latter than the former power, (80) Itis difficult
to reconcile this with the previous represeatations of the brother Sir-
dars. This proposition appeared calculated to meet all the exigencies of
the case, assuming that our designs were honest,—that we wished to main-
tain the Barukzye chiefs in the position in which we found them ; (31)

John McNeil, and at any rate is embued with the darkest tints of Russo-
phobia. The writer had only the minor half of Burnes’s papers to resort to.
He deals in the broadest assertions beyond the records he pretended to
review. The article is full of talent, and has had more influence in favour
of Lord Auckland’s policy than all the other writings which have been
published on the subject. Some admirable remarks will be found in the
Spectator newspaper of July 25, 1839, relating to this subject.

28. Instructions to Lieutenant Leech, ut supra.-—Caledonian Mercury.

29. Neither the letter nor the reply appears amongst the printed papers,
though both must be in the hands of Government. We know of the existence
of the former, and quote the substance of the latter from Burnes's instructions
to Lieutenant Leech. The sum offered was stated by Masson, in a MSS.
note to the present writer, at three lakhs-.£30,000.

30+ Letter of Captain Burnes to Dost Mahomed Khan, April 23, 1838, We
confess we are unable to reconcile some of these very prominent contradic-
tions in the Parliamentary Papers.

3!. Mr Secretary Macnaghten, in his letter 20th January, just about to be
examined in the text, stated, that * it was our object also to mark our wish for
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but so far from this being the view of the matter taken by Lord Auckland,
Burnes’s conduct was severely censured, and only not repudiated to prevent
exposure of the fact that he and his Government were at variance. A
different view of it was taken by the Secret Committee of the Court of
Directors, and when the Governor-General intimated that her Majesty
had been pleased to confer the honours of Lieutenant—-Colonel and Knight-
hood upon him, (December 1839) his Lordship was obliged to confess that
this very policy which had incurred his severest displeasure, had been judged
by the authorities at homeas the wisest that could have been adopted. We
learn little more than the above from the published papers of the intent of
Lieutenant Leech’s mission, or the motive of his residence at Candahar ;
and here, without rezard to order of time, we may bring the narrative of
the negociations in this quarter to an end. The treaty with the King of
Persia, by which Herat was to be made over to Kohun Dil Khan, some time
before concluded, had been guaranteed by the Russian ambassador in Mareh,
and probably at thiz time only waited the sanction of the Cabinet of St
Petersburgh. Thkis was not oanly not accorded to it, but Couat Simonich
was recalled immediately on its beicg known that he had so far exceeded
his instructions as to give the authority of Russia as a voucher for its
fulfilment. Of all these things it is to be presumed our minister at Cabool
was fully aware, as we find by the priated papers, that Mr M‘Neil, then
in the camp before Herat, had been made acquainted with them by Mr
Leech before the 11th of April. Under these circumstancés, and with no
further light before us on the subject than that which the Blue Book sup-
plies, we are unable to explain how in the accouat given of the arrival on
the first week of April of Kohun Dil Khan at Cabool in quest of pecuniary
or military aid against Persia, they happen not to be referred to- There
was at this time no doubt entertained in Western Affghanistan that the fall
of Herat was at hand ;(32) and apparently in anticipation of the speedy
occurrence of this event, the Sirdar waited on Captain Burnes, with a
view of obtaining a direct promise of protection from Persia, should
she, in the event of succeeding in her present expedition, advance with
hostile purpose to the westward. It is difficult to suppose, after what
we know to have occurred, that the apprehension pretended could real.
ly have been experiemced, or if it had been so, that the supplies ap-

the maintenance in their actual position of all the chiefs of Affzhanistan, being
the most just course of proceeding in itself, and as the existing division of
ower amongst them was felt to be on the whole decidedly most beneficial to
gritish interests,”” By the middle of May Lord Auckland had come to conclu-
sions exaetly the opposite of these !
32, Burnes's Despatch, 25th April—Blue Book. It is curious that Me
M*Neil, writing at this same date from the camp before Herat, apprises Lord
Palmerston that there is no appreheusion of its fall.
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plied for could have been expected to be received. Yet the enormous
amount of treasure which we had lavished in Persia caused it to be
believed throughout the whole of Central Asia, that whenever we in-
terposed our authority, or proffered friendly offices, money would be
scat'ered in almost boundless profusion.  The expenses of the embassy
at the Court of Teheran, including subsidy, amounted to abount £128,000
annually betwixt 1809 and 1827, and betwixt this latter date and 1837 to
about £30,000 a-year, or ia all to abont two and a half millions(33)—a sum
justly deemed enormous by us, till taught by the Doorannes alliance that a si-
milar one might annually be required to maiotain a so-called wise and popular
Suddozye sovereign on the throne of Cabosl. The able writer in the
Quarterly Review states, that ¢‘the hope of playing off England against
Russia and Persia, an1l these powers against England, and the prospect of
advantage to themselves, which they believed to be opened to them by a
competition between states so powerful and wealthy, for their attachment—
divested their communications of all sincerity, and enough transpired to de-
stroy every feeling of confidence in their good faith. A comparison of dates
will shew that they were at the same time holding out to England on the
one side, and to Persia anl| Russia on the other, professions of the most
cordial attachment and exclusive alliance.” Of the last mentioned . fact
there is no sort of doubt—the first two assertions are pure assumptions,
Russia and Persia in agreeing to the cession of Herat, should it fall before
the armies of Mahmoud Shah, had guaranteed all that was desired of them
already, and more perhaps than ever had been hoped for before. There was
therefore no reason why England should be playe | off agaiast them. From
us, again, the aid they asked was purely conditional on two contingencies,
neither of which ever arrived—the fall of Herat, and the hostile advance of
Persia, with a view to the conquest of the Affshan states to the eastward.
‘We can only suppose this danger to have been appreheaded as the result of
the alliance the Sirdars had entered on with us, and the indignatioa the
King of Persia might have been expected to have feit at the slight put upon
him and his offers of alliance, so soon as Captain Burnes promised them the
friendship of Eongland ; or the alternative vengeance of Kamran Shah,
should the siege prove unsuccessful. Captain Burnes had forwerly been
severely snubbed for offering aid of any sort: he of course —now on
the eve of his departure from Cabool—had no choice left but to refuse
it. He probably began to suspect, what proved to be the case, that the
Government of India desired any thing rather than the conciliation of the

33. Pamphlet of Sir Hartford Jones Brydges, late ambassador at the Court
of Persia ; Lon., Oct. 1838, Lord Auckland considered the fall of Herat, and
the consequent advance of Persia eastward, as the most probable event 30 late
a3 the 12th May. (See Simla Mioute of that date.) :
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Affghan chiefs. Had it been otherways, we could readily have afforded to
promise them all that they desired from us, conditional as this was on two
things never realized. If Herat had fallen, and Persia advanced, we should,
if we had left har progress unopposed, have permitted her to take up a posi—
tion, through sheer lust of conquest, which would have enabled her to assume
a threatening attitude towards us, the idea of which Lord Auckland pretended
to deplore.(84) The arrival and requisition of Kohun Dil Khan—an event
of sufficient importance to warrant the present amount of remark, was, in all
likelihood meant for no other end than to ascertain, by a specific proposi-
tion, what at any rate were not the intentions of the Government of India;
that some sort of conclusion might from this be drawn, as to what they pro-
bably were. On this last point Capt. Burnes was unable to form anything
like a conjecture; he was as much at a loss as the Ameer or Sirdar, what
was meant to be the result of his :nission, and long after his departure, when,
as it appears from the minute of the 12th of May, Lord Auckland’s mind was
made up for something very warlike, he writes to Mr Macnaghten, un-
der date 29th June, indicating how much he was at a loss to conjecture the ul-
timate intentions of Government,—not more s+ than they themselves appear
at the time to have Leen.(85) Accounts being for the present closed at
Candahar, the condition of the state of affairs at Cabool falls to be resumed,
back as far as the arrival of Lieut. Vicovich on the 20th December. Sub-
sequent events have braught many things to light in reference to the charac-
ter and position of this adventurer, of which Mr M‘Neil and Capt. Buraes
were at the time necessarily ignorant ; yet it does seem most unaccountable,
that, taking into consideration the only objects which could by possibility be
contemplated by Russia, supposing her likely to pursue the same principles
of action which had in all other quarters thronghout guided her policy duriag
the past and present reign, and the questionable shape in which Vicovich at
first and throughout appeared,—such consequence should have been attached
to his approach, and such ill-supported inferences drawn fram his detention.
This man is reported by Captain Burues as a Cossack Lieutenant ; by Sir J.
C. Hobhouse as arenegade Pole. His credentials appear to have consisted of
a letter, professedly written by the Emperor himself, not by any secretary or
minister—a circumstance sufficient to have excited suspicion. (36) HHe was

34. Lord Auckland’s Minute, dated 12th May 1838..~We have copied his
Lordship’s observations almost verbatim. It was curious, that when so much
alarm was experienced lest Persia should advance, we refused to permit any
steps to be taken for driving or keeping her back.

35. See letter quoted in part, unfairly as usual, by Sir J. C. Hobhoase in
his speech of 23d June. Itisgiven entire in the Bombay Times of the 24:h,
and Summary of the 27th, August.

86. Masson’s Journeys, &c. In quoting Mr Masson on this subject, we are
bound to state, that whatever he writes in reference to Captain Burner, bears
an appearance in the last degree suspicious.
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said to have been provided with money, which he promised liberally ; but
there is not the slightest reason to believe that ever it mado its appearance.
He bore with him a genuine letter, of a general and perfectly inoffensive
character, from Count Simonich, which appears amongst the Parliamentary
Papers, expressive of respect and promising presents ; but the presents them-
selves, like the pecuniary assistance, appear never to have reached their
destination. (37) He spread reports in all directions ¢ that he was sent to
intimate the arrival at Astrabad of a large Russian force destined to co-ope—
rate with the Shali’s army against Herat.” (38) This we now know to
have been a falsehood so moaustrous, that the man who could have had re-
course to it was wholly untrustworthy. So much opposed to this was the
fact, that every Russian soldier in the service of Persia was ordered, in the
course of the siege, to return to his own country to prevent the possibility
of suspicion. He was admitted by Count Nesselrode to have been sent by
tie Russian ambassador at Teheran as a commercial agent, and it is now
demonstrated that even in this capacity his rank must have been of the
humblest. Mr M‘Naghten alludes to him as appearing in this character,
and Captain Burnes himselfy in one despatch, declares his disbelief that
he could by possibility be acting on the instructions of the imperial
court. He was ordered back by General Dahamel, and when he disap-
peared near Candahar, where he is supposed to have been murdered, (39)
no notice of the eveat was taken by his Government. The mission of
Lioutenant Vicovich, as already stated, was explained by the Russian
minister to have been in return to a messenger from Dost Mahomed. The
arrival of this man with his letter, says Charles Masson, * astonished the
Ameer, particularly as ho was unconscious of having written a letter to
Russia. He did not at the time remember Hussein Ali [the messenger
sent to St Petersburgh, who was said to have fallen sick and been de-
layed at Moscow] and he required to ba told that he was the son of Baji
Nurwari. He then observed, I gave him no letters, and Mirza Samee Khan
[the minister) explained that he had written one, and claimed for himself
much eredit for having procured the Ameer the honour of a reply from the
Emperor. (40) Whether the Ameer believed his Mirza or not I caanot
tell. It was known that Hussein Ali had accompanied Vicovich from
Bokhara to Orenburg. His noa-appearance with the Cossack officer was
considered badly accounted for by the pretence stated that he was sick at

37. Masson, in a MS. note in the Quarterly, states that they never were re-
ceived.

38. Mr M‘Neil to Lord Palmerston.—Parliamentary Papers. The circula-
tion of the report is deponed to by Masson, MS. note.

39. Masson's Travels. Sir J. C. Hobhouse’s speech.

40. Masson’s Travels, vol. iii. p. 464.
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Moscow, and the general opinion was that Vicovich had murdered him}
and this I state not wishing to belie Vicovich, but to shew the litile respect
in which his mission was held.”” *¢ The reception of Vicovich was not such as
he had reason to boast of, and in the house of Mirza Samee Khan he resided,
in fact, under surveillance.”

This agent remained some seven or eight months at Cabool. We can-
not discover in any paper, public or private, a single overt act of intrigue
laid to his charge. With all the means and appliances possessed by
the various missions at Cabool, Candahar, Herat, and Teheran, which seem to
have been resorted to so nnaparingly, and with such success, that scarcely any
communication of note escaped them, not one letter, either to or from Vico-
vich, from any party whatever, has ever been produced or referred to. His
vocation seems to have been limited to ¢* a system of enormous lying'’—to
the exhibition of his Cossack uniform, and certain mysterious closetings
with the Chiefs, with a view, probably, on their part, to discover whether
the man, to whose appearance we attached such mighty consequence, had
really been intrusted with any commission at all from his Government, or had
any fuoction whatever, above those already described, assigoed to him, with
the wish on his side of appesring a greater maa than till now he had dreamt of
becoming. Political quacks of this sort have been found to emanate from other
countries than Russia without being similarly successful in attracting atten-
tion. Yet, if Count Nesselrode, with half his Cabinet, had been at Cabool,
with a Russian army half-way on its march to Delhi, greater consequence
could hardly have been attachel to themn than that with which we find this
migerable adventurer treated in the official papers of Lord Auckland and
Lord Palmerston, and in half the other despatches! About the 20th of
January, Captain Burnes received letters of dates 25th November and 2d
Dec., from Mr M*Naghten, giving him, for the first time, apparently some
definite instructions on one or two points as to how he was to proceed and
what to require, for up to this period he seems on both questions to have been
left to follow his own discretion. From this it appeared, that though Run-
jeet Singh was asserted to be unlikely to consent to the restoration of Pesha-
wur to Dost Mahomed, he might probably be induced to make it over to its
former ruler,—~Sooltan Mahomed Khan, the Ameer’s brother. It is singu-
lar, that up to the time of the publication of the Simla Proclamation, the
Governor-General had never taken the very simple and obvious step of
directly ascertaining from the Maharajah himself whether or mot he would
cede Peshawur without objection. Captain Burnes and Mr Masson, the
only two authorities referred to on these matters, had both assured Go-
vernment, as has already been stated, that the Seikhs would at this
time have been most thankful to have got rid of it: and wanted but
the pretext of our interposition with them to save their honour, to make it
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over to any one we were disposed to have named. (41) It appears to have
occasioned much mortification in the Simla cabinet, that the Affghan chiefs,
one and all, hal come so readily into our views, as to leave scarcely a
single point on which to disagree with them. It looks as if serious appre-
hensions had besn entertained that Runjeet Singh, if applied to, might
have manifested so much of the same eomplying spirit, as to have left no
room for a quarrel, the only thing which from the commencement appeared
to have been determined on ; and relieved us even from the impertinence
of intruding the offer of our friendly offices on those who desired them
not, and stood in no neel of them. Sooltan Mahomed Khan, it will be
recollected, was stripped of all authority when Dost Mabomed obtained
power at Cabool, but had the half of Peshawur assigned to him in compen-
sation for hisloss. He had from this time forward been counstantly en-
gaged in plots against his brother: it was in the courseof one of tliese while
intriguing with the Seikhs, that Hurry Singh seized ou his territories, as
well as those of the Ameer on the Attock in 1834. At this very time the
Ameer bad just been made acquaiated with an intrigue against him that
had originated at Peshawur ; Sooltan Mahomed Khan having seat an
agent to the Shah Soojah at Loodianah with a view of obtaining his restor-
ation. The position in which matters at this time stood will be most readily
understood by the republication of one of the mutilated despatches of
Captain Burnes, extracts from which are to be found in the Blue Book.
The portions marked with single inverted commas were suppressed by the
Board of Control on its original appearance, and have been extracted from
his posthumous papers :—= »
Capt. A. Burnesto W. H, Macnaghten, Esq-
( Vide Blus Book, No. V. p. 22.)
Sir, Cabool, 26th January, 1838.

¢I have now the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letters of the

*25th Nov. and 2nd of December last, which reached me about the same time,

41. ¢ Dost Mahomed Khan, chiefly in consequence of his reliance on
Persian encouragement and assistance, persisted, as respected his misunder-
standings with the Seikhs, in urging the most unreasonable pretensions, such
as the Governor-General could not, consistently with justice and his regard
for the friendship of the Maharajah Runjeet Singh, be the channel of submit-
ting to the consideration of his highness.”’--Simla Proclamation. It was
surely a pity that they should not at any rate have been submitted, when
Lord Auckland had such strong assurances that had they been so, they would
have been favourably considered. The passage about assistance from Persia
contrasts curious!y with the paragraph in the Simla minute of 12th Ma}‘y already
referred to, where such serious apprehensions are expected by his Lordship,
that Persia might, in sheer lust of conquest, occupy Affghanistan altogether.
‘Was it Persian alliance or Persian invasion that was apprehended ? They
seem to have boen put forward alternately just as suited. Sir J. C, Hobhouse
foared the latter when he last expressed himself on the subject.

I
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*and conveyed the views of the Right Hop. the Governor General' regarding the
overtures made by Dost Mahomed Khan, for adjusting his differences with the
Sikhs, and the apprehension that the Maharajah would not be disposed to sur-
render Peshawur on those terms, but be more likely to restore it to Sooltan
Mahomed Khan, its former governor. I lost no time in making known these .
circumstances, f as well as the sentiments of his Lordship on them,’ and the
policy which it would be advisable for the Ruler of Cabool to pursue.

2. Afterlistening with considerable attention to what I impressed upon him,
the Ameer proceeded to make his own comments on what was recommended.
He said that he felt satisfied that the British Government was actuated by the
wmost pure and upright motives in making known its sympathy with the suffer-
ings of the Affghan nation, and that, in seeking to apply some remedy to them,
it only followed the generous course for which it was celebrated throughout
Asia; that there were, however, obstacles and objections to what had heen
recommended, ¢ which the Government of India might not krow’ which it
behoved him to unfold, ¢for its deliberation,’ before any adjustment of differ-
ences on such terms was carried into effect.

8. «In offering to render tribute, horses, and apology, to Runjeet Sing, and
to hold Peshawur under him,” continued he, I was actuated by no motive of
hostility to Sooltan Mahomed Khan: he is my brother, and though we have
differed, the rancour is on his side, and not on mine, I stated that I would
secure to him and his brothers the jagheers they enjoy ; and this, with what
would have to be paid, would not have rendered it a very profitable appendage
tomy power; for these were precautionary measures to secure myself in
Cabool, and prevent injury befalling me. Of Runjeet Sing’s power to invade
me in Cabool, I have little fear; of his power toinjure me, if he reinstates
Sooltan Mahomed Khan in the governmeut of that city, I bave great apprehen-
sion, for in it I see 4 Mahomedan ruler instead of a Sikh; and had the Maha-
rajah been more conversant with the politics of Affghanistan, and bent on my
destruction, he might ere this have succeoded, had he not displaced Sooltan
Mahomed Khan from Peshawur, and supplied him with funds to corrupt those
about me, who are inimical, and envy the rise to my present elevation,

4. “ At the present time, many of the chiefs who belonged to Peshawur
and their retainers, are subsisted by me. They fled from their country onr
its invasion by the enemies of our religion, and on my brother becoming a ser-
vant fo them, It cannot be supposed that with my limited revenues I can ei-
ther give to these persons what they are entitled to, or what they received in
their own country ; but ¢ this moment I expend about 90,000 Rupees annu-
ally in giving them bread. When Peshawur is restored, these individuals will
of course leave me, and along with them will proceed every one who may
take offence at his merits not being appreciated as he considers they deserve ;
and thus, instead of being freed from enemies, I shall be lowered among my
countrymen far below my present situation ; and, far from being free from
danger, as at present, bave that situation most certainly endangered. I think,
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therefore, that I see in the contemplated plans for altering the arrangement
for governing Peshawur, a rectification of the errors of the Ruler of Lahore ;
and that his designs are sinister, and his object to draw the British Govern-
ment unawares into them.

6. ¢ Inthe friendly expression of the feéling entertained towards the Aff-
ghans by the British Government, Isee clearly, that it would not permit itself
to be made a party to my destruction. If you are not disposed to strengthen
my hands, and raise me above the rank which I at present enjoy, it cannot be
your intention, with offers of sympathy, to bring about my ruin. On that point
T am at ease ; but in separating us all one from another ; in seeking to keep the
chiefs from being dependent on one amother ; you are certainly neutralizing
the power of the Affghan nation, and sowing the seeds of fature dissension.
Your object is to prevent harm ; you will prevent good. You will secure to
yourselves the gratitude of Peshawur, of the Eusufzyes, the Khutucks, and the
tribes near the Indus ; but as for myself, yon open a new door of intrigue
against me ; and as you see injury likely to accrue from the Chief of Canda-
har entering on an alliance with Persia, I sce injury to myself in 8ooltan Ma-
homed Khan, when restored to his chiefship of Peshawur, being in alliance
with Lahore : and, above all, what security am I to have that the chiefs of
Peshawur and Candahar will not join to injure me, and be aided in their de-
signs by Maharajah Runjeet Sing 2"

6. To these arguments I opposed the views of the British Government, and
said that it would ill tally with its wishes to find new causes of quarrel arise
consequent on anadjustment of the differences between the Sikhs and Aff-
ghans ; that as the Ameer had renounced his connexion with Persia, we had
in return hoped to do hima good office by entering into a negociation with
Runjeet Sing on the differences existing between them, but that if he was
thoroughly sincere in his belief that the restoration of Peshawur to Sooltan
Mahomed Khan was positively injurious to him, it was proper tostate most
delidedly that we had no such design, ¢ and would be a party to no measures
¢ ofsucha tendency. I then pointed ouf the various advantages which must
¢ arise from the Sikhs withdrawing themselves to the other side of the In-
¢ dus, and Idwelt upon the increase of reputation which must follow to him-
¢ gelf on his having contributed, by his determined opposition, to the release
¢ of his brothers, their wives and their children, from the hands of the Sikhs,
¢ to have once more in the possession of the family the burying place of its
¢ ancestors, and to hear again in a country inhabited by Mahomedans the
¢ Summons o prayer (eezan,) and secure the permission to follow the usages
¢ oplslam, and their Mosques from defilement and spoliation.’

¢ 7. Giving every weight to what had been urged, I proceeded to lay be-

"¢ fore him (the Ameer), the positive advantages derivable from an altered
* stato of things in Peshawur,—¢ The number of troops entertained by you
+ will become unnecessary; your increased exactions from the merchant and
¢ the cultivator will cease, because war with the Sikhs will no longer engage
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¢ your attention, decrease of expence will be tantamount to increase of re=
¢ venue, your resources will be improved, your power concentrated and
¢ strengthened, and asto the charge brought forward of our raising up many
¢ Chiefs in Affghanistan, he was to recollect that those Chiefs were his bro-
¢ thers, that Candahar, Cabool, and Peshawur, would thus be in possession
¢ of one family, the sons of one father, who had a common interest against
* the encmies of their house, and whose family differences whatever they
¢ were, might be made to disappear when they ceased to be threatened by a
¢ powerful Ruler like Maharajah Runjeet Sing ; that as to the neutralization
¢ of the Affghan nation which he complained of, it was certainly no part of
¢ the policy of the British Government to injure any of the present holders
¢ of power in this country more than himself, and that we looked to the ge-
* neral good of all parties; that the Ameer no doubt understood better
¢ than we did what injured, and what availed him; but it appeared tome
¢ that he had too exaggerated a view of Runjeet Sing’s designs, and that it
¢ would certainly be taken into the Governor General’s consideration, if this
¢ gubject proceeded further, how far he should receive security against the
¢ plans of Lahore to be compassed by means of his brothers in Peshawvr,
¢« and also the nature of the counteraction which would be used to prevent
¢ his brothers at Peshawur and Candahar combining to do him injury.’

8, To this Dost Mahomed Khan replied, that there were no doubt many
advantages in prospect, and that the arguments adduced had both foundation
and solidity, but that the advantages were chiefly on the side of others ; that
he had hitherto been able to stand on the defensive against Runjeet Sing, and
to do it with some effect ; that that Ruler’s withdrawal was more injurious to
him on the terms proposed, than his continuance at Peshawur ; that he him-
self now received a degree of respect which he could then no longer command,
and that it was better to leave things as they were, in the hopes of some fu-
ture charge, than to shackle himself by being a party to an arrangement, which
did him little good, and seemed fraught with danger; and in return for which,
things might be expected of him which he could not perform, Peshawur,
said he, has been conquered by the Sikhs ; it belongs to them ; they may give
it to whomsover they please ; if to Sooltan Mahomed Khan, they place itin the
hands of one who is bent on injuring me, and I cannot therefore acknowledge

any degree ofgratitude for your interference, or take upon myself to render
servicesinreturn. ¢ I admit that it will be highly beneficial in many ways to
¢ gee the Sikhs once more Eastward of the Indus, but I still can dispense with
¢ none of my troops, or relax in my precautionary measures, as equal if not
¢ greater anxieties will attach to me.—I have unbosomed myself to you, and
¢ laid bare, without any suppression, my difficulties. I shall bearin litely
¢ remembrance the intended good offices of the British Government, and I
¢ ghall deplore that my interest did not permit me to accept that which was
¢ rendered in a spiritso friendly, but which to me and my advisers has only
¢ geemed hastening my ruin. To Runjeet Sing your interferance isbeneficial,
¢ as he finds himself involved in serious difficulties by the pessession of Pesha-
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¢ wur, and he is too glad of your good offices {0 escape from a place which is a

-¢ burthen to his finances, but by that escape a debt of gratitude is exactible
¢ from him, and not from me : and if your Government will look into this mat-
¢ ter, they will soon discover my opinions to be far from groundless, and my
¢ conclusions the only safe policy I can pursue.’

9. The Nawab Jubbar Khan followed his brother, and said, it was undoubt-
edly true that the Ameer had not mistaken the evils which might ensue to him-
self from the entire restoration of Peshawur to Sooltan Makomed Khan, but
that the Affizhan nation could not afford to lose the sympathy which had
been exhibited by the British Government; and an arrangement might be
made on the basis of a treaty which Runjeet Sing had once entered into with
the Ameer and his deceased brother Yar Mahomed Khan, which was to divide
Peshawur between them and receive equally at their hands a fixed tribute.
Such an arrangement might now be made, and the Ameer would be free from
fear of injury, and Runjeet Sing receive from him and Sooltan Mahomed
Khan conjointly, the amount on whichhe was disposed to surrender it. The
Ameer added, that such an arrangement would remove his fears :and he
should wish no other person placed there but the Nawab himself, and one or
two of his own agents under him. ¢ These observations comiog from the Nawab
¢ Jubbar Khan are the more remarkable, since he is devoted to his brother
¢ Sooltan Mahomed Khan, and would rejoice to see him restored to Peshawur
¢ —They consequently carried with me a conviction that the Ameer’s fears are
* not groundless, and that they will deserve all due consideration before Go-
¢ vernment enters upon any measures for attaching this Chief to its in-
¢ terests.’

10. To ‘the proposition of the Nawab, and the observations of the Ameer
which followed upon it, I made no further remark thaun that the plan would
also be taken into consideration ; but before proceeding further, it was in-
cumbent on me to ask one categorical question: ¢Ihad stated that the
+ British Goveroment considered itself conferring an everlasting favor on the
¢ Affghan nation by prevailiog on the Sikhs to withdraw from this side of the
¢ Indus ; that I who had seen this country, considered this act as one of the
¢ greatost blessings which could happen to this people. I had however heard
¢ from the Ameer, that he did not appreciate this service as we did, and
¢+ was I’ then  to consider that he would rather have the Sikhs in Peshawur.
¢ with all their exercise of prejudice and all the disgrace that it entailed’, in
preference to Sooltan Mahomed Khan's being restored to his government in
that city ? .

11. The Ameer replied, that this was certainly placing the matter in an ex-
treme light, and that he found a difficulty in answering the question: ¢ He
¢ admitted fully the advantages of getting rid of the Sikhs, and was far from
¢ depreciating the good offices of removing them if it could be done, but’ he

" would candidly ask in return, if the mode of accomplishing an act generally
beneficial were proved to be detrimental to himself, who had the most sub-
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stantial share of power in the Affighan dominions at this time, it could be said
to be applying aremedy to the difficulties under which the Affzhans laboured ;
and it in return for it, the British Government could reckon on those acts
which all powers naturally look to in return for benefits conferred. ¢ I ask
you not to aid me in achieving a supremacy throughoat this country ; but I do
ask to be allowed tostand in the position in which you have found me : if I am
to be protected from intrigues in Peshawur, I will then consider myself bene-
fitted, but without such a plan as that which the Nawab has stated, or some
such other, that places a Barukzye there, which the Governor-General must
devise, I foresee evils which cannot have entered into the minds of those who
are my well-wishers.

€12, ¢Asaninstance in point, at this moment Ihave beenmade acquaint«
¢ ed with an intrigue that has originated in Peshawur, and as I believe with
¢ Runjeet Sing, which will convey to your Government juster notions than any
¢ expressions of general apprehension. Sooltan Mahomed Khan has just sent
¢ an agent to the ex King at Loodianah to offer his services to combine against
¢ me, and to secure my brothers at Candahar in support of this coalition ; what
¢ gecurity am I to receive against a recurrence of such practices? As for the
¢ex-King himself I fear himnot, he has been too often worsted to make head
¢ here unless he hasaid from the British Government, which I am now pretty
¢ gertain he will never receive. If my brother at Peshawur however, under a
¢ promise of being made his minister, and assisted with 8ikh Agentsand mo-
¢ ney, appears in the field, I may find that in expressing my satisfaction at his
¢ restoration to Peshawur I have been placing a snake inmy bosom—and I may
¢ then, when too late, lament that I did not let the Sikhs do their worst instead
¢ of replacing them by another description of enemies.’’

13. I have thusplaced before the Right Honorable the Governor-General
the opinions and views entertained by the Rauler of Cabool, and the nature of
the arguments which I have opposed to them. *It has appeared to me that
¢ they call for much deliberation. It will be seen that the Chief is not bent on
¢ possessing Peshawur, or on gratifying an enmity towards his brothers, but
+ simply pursuing the worldly maxim of securing himself from injury; the ar-
¢ guments which he has adduced seem deserving of every consideration, and the
¢ more 80, when an avowed partizan of Sooltan Mahomed Khan dees not deny
¢ the justice of the Ameer’s objections. It will be for His Lordship to judge
¢ how far the British Government will agree to an interference through its
¢ Agent that will prevent the Chief of Peshawur from caballing agaiost his
¢ brother in Cabool, and if this could not be brought about by the plan suggest«
¢ ed of placing the Nawab Jubbar Khan there on the part of the Ameer, and on
¢ the terms proposed. It would give Runjeet Sing tribute from both the Ameer
¢ and Sooltan Mahomed Khan, and thus gratify him, while the known good feel-
¢ ing of the Nawab towards the British Government would give confidence to
¢ Runjeet Sing in the arrangement, and secure to the British a great reputation .
¢ in these countries. In the event of this arrangement being also rejected, it
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¢ does certainly appear to me that we are bound in some way to protect the
¢ Ameer from the cabals of Peshawur and Candahar, without which this coun-
¢ try will become a scene of strife, injurious alike to our commerce and our po-
¢ licy, Those Chiefs will acknowledge the Ruler of Cabool as the head of the
¢ family, and respect him accordingly, but they do not admit being dependent
¢ on him, nor is it desirable to make themso. If we stand aloof and do not en—
¢ courage Runjeet Sing to recede, the Ameer of Cabool will hold his present
¢ ground, since he is the most powerful of his family.—If we iaterfere, we en-
¢ danger his supremacy such as it is, and consequently it seems incumbent on us
* to prevent such interference being detrimental.’

¢ 14, Under such circumstances it might be urged that all interference had
¢ better be avoided, but this, as it appears to me, would be, under the existing
¢ state of affairs, a very doubtful line of policy, unless itis intended to put
¢ forth the ex-King at Loodiana, secure through him a footing in these coun,
¢ tries, and sweep the present rulers from their authority, which has happily
¢ never been contemplated. Besides the very questionable nature of such a
¢ proceeding, it would not gain the objects of Government, for we should
"# then be unable to balance one Chief-ship against avother, and though we
¢ might be sure of him whom we advance to the throne of his fathers, we may
¢ experience in his successor all the evils of a powerful Mahomedan neigh-
¢ bour. With the Barukzye family in the three Eastern divisions of Affgha.
¢ nistan, we have to deal as it were with but one house, and we have the cer-
¢ tainty of their good will and services for these good oftices, which will keep
¢ them stable, as they are, and prevent them injuring each other.—In time,
¢ when one Chief found he could not destroy another, the family differences
* will be allayed, and we shall thus force into one mass materials which are
¢ less incoherent than they appear, and have all that is wished on this impor-
¢ tant frontier of our Indian Empire.’

¢ 16. 1 have not lesitated, while reporting on a -question of this
¢ magnitude, to give expression to sentiments which have been adopted
* after much reflection on the scene of these distractions, Since arriv-
¢ ing here I have seen an Agent of Persia with alluring promises,
¢ after penetrating as far as Candahar, compelled to quit the country,
¢ because no one was sent to invite him to Cabool, Following him, an Agent
¢ of Russia with letters highly complimentary, and promises more than sub-
¢ stantial, has experienced no more civility than is due by the laws of hospita.
¢ lity and nations.—It may be urged by some, that the offers of one or both
¢ were fallacious, but such a dictum is certainly premature ; the Ameer of
¢ Cabool has sought no aid in his arguiaents from such offers, but declared
¢ that his interests are bound up in an alliance with the British Government,
¢ which he never will desert as long as there is a hope of securing one, It is
¢ evident therefore that in this chief we have one who is ready to meet us, and
¢ from whatis passing in Central Asia at this moment it is any thing but
¢ desirable to exhibit indifference to the solicitations of one whose posi-

L]



56

¢ tion makes him courted, and whom aid, may render powerful for or against
us.’

* 16. As thisletter contains matter which may materially affect an adjust-
- ment ot the diffcrences between the Sikhs and Affzhans, I havesent a copy
of it specially to Captain Wade.—I am not in possession of his letter to you
handing up the first overtures of the Ameer of Cabool, and I cannot in con-
scquence give my sentiments thereon, which will be received as an apology
for my not having touched upon them in this letter.— Captain Wade and
myself have, I am sure, but one objeet, which is to gain the ends of Govern-
ment by using our most strenuous endeavours respectively at Lahore and
Cabool, but I must respecttully entreat that Dost Mahomed Khan's views be
subjected to strict scrutiny before they are pronounced to be a mere  gra-
tification of his personal resentments.””— Did I think so, I would not trans.
mit this letter, but this Chief is perfectly aware of the policy we have mark-
ed out for ourselves in this country, and his conduct has been already in some
degree put to the test by Persia and Russia.—With regard to the latter, the
importance of it has now become manifest by the arrival of an express from
the Bombay Government, conveying to me the despatches of our Ambassador
in Persia, which prove all previous conjectures to bewell founded, and that
Mr. Vickovitch is, whathe has given himself out, an Agent from the Empe-
ror of Russia.—The necessity for a good understanding with this Chief has
thus become more than apparent, as the dangers from such an alliance are no
+ longer imaginary, but fairly developed.’

LI NI N N

L I T N N S Y

“ a &

¢ 17. Thavejust received a letter as Ifinish this, from the Ameer to the
¢ Governor General, which I enclose with its translation.’

I have, &ec,
ALEXANDER BueNgs.

.

Nothing, certainly, could be more conclusive or convincing than the rea-
soning of the Ameer: the accuracy of his facts we never disputed. But
this was a mild specimen of the requirements of the Governmeant of India;
A letter from Mr Macnaghten, dated 20th January, was received by
Capt. Burnes on the 22d of Feb., containing another from Lord Auckland
himself. The latter of these was smooth in expression, but imperious in de-
mand ; the furmer wasin the last degree insolent in both—such only as we
were entitled to prefer to a ruler, who, having placed himself absolutely in
our hands, was still urging the most unreasonable and absurd requests. The
immediate object of this was to intimate Lord Auckland's extreme dis-
approbation of the assistance proposed to have been given by Buraes to
Candahar, in the event of an attack from the westward. The principles
laid down on which Dost Mahomed was for the future to be treated with
were,—first, the Dost being now essentially dependent upon our good
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offices for the removal of his apprehensions from Seikh power, (42) his
ocompliance in having thrown himself on our friendship, and cast aside the
alliance of other states, was to be taken advantage of; and now that he
bad left himself withoutan ally save ourselves, we were to abuse, insult, and
plunder him as the reward of his esteem and regard forus 1 Burnes was once
more (43) instructed to tell him ““that, in the precarious position in which
he was placed, our good offices for the peace and security of his remaining
territory should be thankfully accepted by him.” This was the language the
British eavoy was to employ towarde the most vigorous minded and enlighten-
ed ruler in Central Asia :—aruler who, from the time our intercourze began
with bim, had, according to our own account of the matter, treated all the
Europeans who ever visited him with ti.e utmost kindness and consideration :
who having lost one of the most valuable pertions of his territory while
engaged in de'ending himself against a wretched and unpopular imbe-
cile, to whom we gave harbourage and assistance, had for four years striven
without intermission to regain it—who bad in the majority of cases been
successful, and in mo case, even when compelled to retire, quitting the
field under such circumstances of disaster, as that he did not, within
three months of any given retreat, return undismayed into the field,
—and who, when we officiously interposed our uncalled for *‘ good offices,’’
had given the ensmy so severe a handling, that had we kept away
they were ready of themselves to have come in to his terms! (44) That
Dost Mahomed could have endured a proposition so insulting, evinces
an anxiety to avoid offence almost without a parailel in the annals
of royal forbearance. Well might his brother reply—‘¢that governizent
must be ignorant of the true state of affairs in the country ; that so far from
the proffered protection from Runjeet Singh being of the nature stated, the
Maharajah had never sought to attack Cabool, and that hitherto all the
aggression had been on the part of the Ameer, and not the raler of Lahore ”
— ot his attacks they were under little apprehension.”(45) But we must
*

42, Letter of Mr Macnaghten, 9th paragraph. This paper does not appear
in the 8lue Book. There certainly was good reason why it should have
been suppressed as a manifestation ot the commencement of the most unjust
and rigorous system of policy on record. I'ne comparatively mild letter
of Lord Auckland to the Ameer of the same date and superacription, is given
at length in the Blue ‘Book, so as to throw the odium of the impending mis-
understandings on Dost Mahomed! The bullying aud overbearing note of
the Secretary told too much.

43. The same instructions appear to have been given in a letter of 27th
December, not publisued.

44. See extract from Burnes’s Cabool, under head Peshawur, note 7; also
extract from Captain Wade’s letter to Mr Masson, under the present head.

45. This it will be observed, is one ot Burncs’s longest despatches :—there
are just 22 lines of it given in the Blue Book, and these are garbled ; 250 lines
are suppressed without intimation !

K
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give the suppressed despatch entire, illustrating as it does the clear and
vigorous intellect of the good Nawab, and how ill able the sophisms ef the
Indian Government—which Captain Burnes was directed to employ, to
bolster up a dishonest course-—could stand against the arguments of the
untutored Affghan, with right upon his side :—

Captain Burnes to W. H. Macnaghten, Esq.
( Vids Blue Book, No. V. p. 28.)
Cabool, March 5, 1838.

Sir,—On the 234 ultimo, I had the honor to report to you the result of my
intercourse with the Ameer of Cabool, on the subject of the extent to which he
was to reckon on the good offices of the British Governmeut, in an adjustment of
his differences with the Sikhs, aod the returns which would be expected from him
in consequence.

2. From various quarters I have meanwhile heard, that the Ruler of Cabool is
but il disposed to meet Government in its wishes; and the advice given to him
by one of the firstindividuals whose counsel he sought, ¢ viz. Mahomed Khan Byat’
was that he should take the British Government at their word, and dismiss their
agent, since there was nothing now to be expected from his presence in Cabool.
From the receipt of the G overnor General’s letter to the present time, nightly
meetings have been held at the Bala Hissar, and the Ameer has, on more than
one occasion, given vent'to very strong expressions, both as to his futire proceed-
ingsy and the disappointment at the slight degree of appreciation entertained by
Government regarding him.

¢ 3. On the morning of the 2nd instant, I bad a visit from the Nawab Jubbar
¢ Khan, who arrived at Cabool on the preceding day from his estate, having set
¢ out immediately he heard of the decision of the British Government. He had
¢ previously read His Lordship’s letter to the Ameer, and he had just come from
¢ visiting his brother,—..I need not detain Government with a repetition of what I
¢ stated to the Nawab, since I made him fully acquainted with the views of Go-
¢ vernmeat, and the oaly terms which it seemed just in regard to Maharsja Run-
¢ jeet Sing, that we could tender our good offices, which isted in an end
¢ vour to use our influence at Liahore to puta stop to future aggression on the parg
¢ of the Ruler thete on the Affzhan dominions, and thus releasing them from the
¢ wrath of a powerful sovereign whom they had offended, sgainst the danger of
¢ whom their applications in every qusrter for succour sfforded manifest proof of
¢ their fear and danger.—I further told the Nawsb of the views of Government
¢ regarding Peshawur, of its restoration being in the hands of Runjeet Sing, but
¢ most certainly it would not be given to the Ameer.’

¢ 4. The Nawabreplied, that the Government must be ignorant of the true state
¢ of sffairs in this country, that it was well known he was an avowed and open
¢ partizan of the Britishy and that he might therefore give his opinions with a
¢ frankness that was not liable to be mistaken ; that the good offices of the Go-
¢ vernment to remove the Sikhs and their future attacks, and to make some set
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¢ tlement in Pashawur were proofs of sympatby, but his Lordship might not have
¢ reftected that so far from the proffered protection from Ruajeet Sing being of
¢ the value stated, that the Maharaja had uever sought to attack Cabool, and
¢_that hitherto all the aggression had been on the part of the Ameer and not the
¢ Ruler of Lahore—That it appeared we valued our offers at s very high rate,
¢ since we expected in return that the Affghans would desist from all iatercourse
¢ with Persia, Russia, Toorkistan, &e. &c. &c. Were the Affghans to make all
¢ these powers hostile, and to receive no protection against the enmity raised for
¢ their adhering to the British? As for Peshawur being withheld from the Ameer,
¢ it might be got over, and he believed he did not over-rate his influence with
¢ Sooltan Mahomed Khan when he stated that he might bring about a reconcilia-
¢ tion between him and the Ameer ; but he must say that the value of the Aff-
¢ ghans had indeed been deprecisted, and that he did not wonder at the Ameer’s
¢ disappointment.’

¢ 5. I replied to the Nawab that 1 really did not comprehend the motives
¢ which swayed him or his brother.—I had before found that it was not Candahar
¢ which he wished to subdue, and that the difficuities about Peshawur were not
¢ insurmountable, and that in consequence it could not be that Chiefship which the
¢ Ameer sought to conquer.— What then were his wishes or expectations? Digni-
¢ ty and respect (izzut wa ikram,) was the reply, aad to be looked upon ia the light
¢ of being able to do something for the British Government, and for such service to
¢ receive its real friendship and nota proffer of its sympathy, which did not insure
¢ protection from the West, and which dwelt upon the good doneon the Eastern
¢ frootier by withdrawing Runjeet Sing, of whose attacks they were uader little
¢ apprehension.—The whole ef the Affghan country, continued he, is now at your
¢ back, and no future opportunity may prove so favorable to gain aay ends which
¢ you may have to establish your influence in Cabool, and if you lose this opportuni-
¢ ty you will have yourselves to blame.—.Before leaving, the Nawab asked me to
¢ tell him confidentially if the real object of the Governor General’s letters was to
¢ withdraw from the Affghans, or to make friendship with them, for he hoped he
¢ would be told his exact meaning that he might use his influence to bring about
¢ a good understanding, or at ouce to save himself from disgrace, refrain from in.
¢ terfering. 1gave him an assurance that we did most sincerely sympathize with
¢ his brother apd all the Affghans, and that the use of Lis influence would be much
¢ appreoiated, but that after the explicit letter of the Governor General, and the
¢ instructions which Ihad received, I would deceive him if he founded hopes of
¢ any thing farther being done for the Affighans than what had been stated.—He
¢ took his leave, telling me that be hoped for the best, but that he too was disap-
¢ pointed. He made also the singular declaration, that if you wish the good of this
¢ gountry, you must either put aside by force the Ameer, or find some means of
¢ ebliging him.’

¢ 6. On the 3d instaut I had a visit from Mirza Samee Khan, the principal
¢ Secretary, who made me acquainted, of course by desire of the Ameer, with what
* had passed since I last saw him ; he stated that the Ameer was more depressed
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¢ at what had occurred than he had ever been, that he had often written to the
¢ British Government about his affairs, and in return they replied to him about
¢ their own, and spoke of commerce : that the answer which he had however re-
¢ ceived from Lord Auckiand on his assuming the Government, differed from all
¢ others,and had been most scceptable : that it now appeared if the Ameer took
¢ any means which he thought advisable to resist Runjeet Sing, it will be consider-
¢ ed adirect breach of friendship, so that by teeking the good offices ofthe British
¢ he had brought upon himselt their enmity instead of their indifference. And for
¢ what did the Government claim the gratitude of the Ameer and from abstaining
¢ from sll communication with powers to the West ? that it would use its gool
¢ offices with Runjeet Sing to prevent future aggression, and that the Ameer
should be satisfied with this and his remaining territories. The Government
could not as it appeared to the Ameer have knewn the true state of things when
Runjeet Sing bad never made aggression on Cabool, or taken a jureeb (acre) of
the Ameer’s territories, which are now larger than ever, and that he bad bitherto
successfully resisted. He had however no hope against the Sikhs if the British
Government aided or encouraged their attacks, but he certainly would econsider it
unjust if he sought other aid to hinder Runjeet Sing, and the British Government
interfered.—That the offers to adjust affairs at Peshawur did not suit the Ameer’s
views, that he waved all expectations of that place for himself since it was dis-
pleasing to ug, but that he regarded Sooltan Mahomed Khan and Runjeet Sing
o8 identified, and that by such a settlementhis cheracter (purdeb) did not remain
with the people who had attached themselves to bim, whose injury would fellow
on Sooltan Mahomed’s restoration, and whom he would then have the disgrace
¢ of having deserted.—In addition to all this, he was to get no protection from
¢ Persia, or any power whose anger he might haveraised because of his adhereace
¢ to the British, which in Mahomed Shah’s approachto Herat seemed both sn aet
¢ of honesty and justice.”

“«a & & A n e o a &

o o o

¢ 7. 'These, continued the Mirza, are not only the views of the Ameer himself,
¢ and tho’ as yet no general assemblage of his advisers had taken place he had
¢ had the opinion of others, The Nawab Mahomed Oszman Khan had wriiten in
¢ reply from Bala Baghy that subjugation by Runjeet Sing could never disgrace
¢ him even it it did take place, but a desertion of those who had served him in his
¢ wars with the Sikhs would most certsinly do so, and if he could not ma-
¢ nage to have some influence in Peshawur such must follow, but that he
¢ must know he bad no hopes of resisting the British Government what
¢ ever be might do to that of Lahore.—Tie Mirza made nearly the same obser-
¢ vation as the Nawab about the expectations which the Ameer had cherished of
¢ doing service for the British and devoting himself to ity that it was not the ad-
¢ justment of Peshawur affaira that dissipated his hopes. but the indifference to his
¢ sufferings and station which it was now clear we felt, and this was the more
¢ gtrange as he abandoned sl his intercourse with Persia and every other power to
¢ please us, for he could not be charged with over civility to Cuptain Vickovitch,
¢ who had not been even received till he had consulted with me, and whose con-
¢ tinuance here depended upon the moon, and to whom letters which had been
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written, had not been given beeause they met my disspproval.—The Ameer, said
he, has taken up an impression that your Government has misunderstood the
nature of the correspondence with Russisy and attached to it 8 degree of
blame which would only have been just, had it taken place after an exhibition of
your friendly feelings.’

¢ 8, Ireplied to Mirza Samee Khan, that they knew as well as I did the views
of the British ; that I could not take upon myself the responsibility of doing more
than reporting all they had to say, and that I really did not see how Goverrment
were to blame, since I did not know exactly at this time what the Ameer of
Cabool expected of us.—That as far as the respeot due to his situation, my
presence here was proof enough of the friendly estimation in which we held bim,
and that there was no doubt some grounds for the claims made to protect bim
from the west, but my Government knew its own interests best, and the extent
which the British agreed to go in its good offices had been ex plicitly stated, and
that if they considered their own interests they would gladly accept what had
been tendered in a spirit so friendly, for if we did not appreciate the services of
the Affghans in the light which they themselves did, we wished to do them a
substantial service, which it grieved me to see that they did not hold in that
light, It was certainly true, I added, that Cgpuin Vickovitch bad been received
ashad been stated, aad that the letters which were to be sent had been altered,
but I begged him to remember the messsge about waiting till the vernal equi-
nox (nowroz) for an answery and if he thought 8 Government like the British
would submit to be tied down by such a limit.’

¢ 9, The Mirza observed, that the Ameer had apologized for that message, which
was decidedly wrong, but that ] who was on the spot, should judge of the sgi-
tating circumst: I took this occagion to say, that if the Ameer thought we
were in error about Russian letters, he had it in his power now to transmit the
originals from Russia to the Governor General, but I observed that this wasa
suggestion far from agreeable, snd the Mirza said that if I wished to see these
letters again he would bring them 10 me, but he did not think the Ameer would
ever permit their being sent to Iodia, but we had received copies of them,
1 wreated the reply with indifference, and said that the remark on my part had
arisen from his own observation,——Before Mirsa Bamee Khan left, I gathered
that the result of all the conference up to this time (3d instant) went toolaim
from the British Goverament a means of proteetion from the West as the price of
their adherence to us, and farther, that, however Peshawur might be settled by
Runjeet 8ing, no acknowledgment could be made for our good offices nuless means
were taken to prevent injury from suoh settlement to those who bad betriende
ed the Ameer~—even with this latter arrangement it appeared we could not carry
the Ameer’s heart along with usy—singe he believed it in his power to do service
from the position he held, and the anxiety to be allied to us above all others, to
which we seemed to give little or no weight, but on the contrary had shewn in
the Governor General’s letter that we looked with s degree of indifference (be
purwaee) to any connection with the Affghan nation.’
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¢ 10. On the morning of the 4tb, I had another visit from the Nawab. While
oonversing on the contents of the Governor General’s letter [ observed that no
communication could more clearly convey the sincerity and good feelings of the
British Goverament thsn such & declaration, to which he assented, adding that
there were hopes conveyed in it which appeared on & re-perusal to be satisfactory,
but that I dimmed all these exp ions by declining to give any promises about
protection from Persia, or any proof of our friendly feelings towards the Affghans :
we had weighed much on our good offices at Peshawur, and no one would be
more rejoiced to see Sooltan Maliomed Khan ouce more established in his Go.
vernment than himself, but we had really gone too far in fixing that as the limit
of our good offices, and if we meant to purchase the Affghans by it we should
not succeed, that our policy appeared to him the more strange since we had fur-

ished N kets, &c. &o, and even officers and money, to Persia, when
in Affghsnistan the door of India (durwaza i Hind) we mean to do nothing, and
what was more, to cousider Dost Mahomed Khaan our enemy if he eatered
into any description of political intercourse with others.—~The singular attachmeat
of <his man to the British Government made its appearance however in a form
different from what has been stated—he made a serious proposal to me to keep
¢ the Ameerin check if we were determined to go no farther, by drawing closely
¢ to Candahar ; establishing Sooltan*Mah d Khan in Peshawur, and then bidding
¢ defiance to the Ameer ; but to effect this, added he, you must substantially pro—
¢ tect Candahar. I replied that Government had uot coatemplated any such
¢ measure, and it was its object to maintain all the Affghan Chiefsin their actual
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¢ position.’

11. It seems very clear, from what has been above stated, although the final
answer of Dost Mahomed Khaa has not been received, that we have little bope of
establishing a frieadly connestion with him on the terms wished for by Gevern-
meut ; even if it could be brought about before a vast change of opinion takes
place, the friendship would be delusive, and no degree of dependence could be
placed on this Chief.

¢ I am aware that the views of Government are decided, and it would be high-
¢ ly presumptuous in me to make any observations on the record of the different
¢ gonversations which have been above reported.” As Mr, Vickovitch still remains
in Cabool (and his presence is the strongest test of the Ameer’s disposition to
make use of him against us) ; snd as Dost Mahomed Khan does not appreciate
our good effices in Peshawur, I shall deemn it my duty to retire when I receive
the Ameer’s letter unless some very decided change of tone takes place at Cabool.
¢ The only feeling, and it is one of the highest importance, which will counteract
¢ this stepis the expression of His Lordship’s opinion that the line of Policy mark-
¢ ed out in respeet to Dost Mahomed Khan ought to be readily successful, and the
¢ belief that this Chief will bave judged better for his interests than to compel me
¢ to quit Cabool. I am well aware of the responsibility when 1 shall incur as a
¢ public servant by this act, if it be too precipitately taken, but as our unavoidable
¢ Joss of character must equally follow my continuance here under expectations
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¢ which appear deceptive, I shall not hesitate between such responsibility and the
¢ peramount consideration of what appears to me due to our national honor,’
1 have, &c.
Avex. BuBNes.

Even this, however, was insufficient to obtain the quarrel which we
had, it would appear, three times determined to provoke. We had a
last resource yet left us: it was now clear that there was hardly any
thing which we could demand of the Ameer which he was not prepared to
concede to us, rather than forego the hope of our friendship : the master—
stroke of our policy was to ask him for what he could not give. It was
proposed that the Ameer should be requested to send presents to Lahore,
in testimony of his gratitude for having been relieved of Peshawur-—to make
submission to him after having inflicted on him severer humiliation and
chastisement than he had ever before cndured at the hands of an enemy—
and ask his pardon for having endeavoured to get back his own! The
whole of the papers on this subject are suppressed, and we only discover the
fact of this scheme having been in contemplation from Burnes’s posthumous
MSS. It would be important to possess the documents to which these are
replies. This last act of tyranny was one to which our envoy refused to be a
party. ¢ He found that he could not propose to the Ameer of Cabool to
seund preseats to Lahore as an opening to the establishment of future friend.
ship : the difficulties had been great, without adding to them. Had Dost
Mahomed Khan himself assented, the Mahommedan populace would have
despised him, and probably have prevented him.'’(46) An untoward event at
this time occurred, which, with parties less determined for hostilities than
the war party in the secretariate,~for Lord Auckland unhappily was now
removed from his counci), in which, we have every reason to believe, he
would have been out-voted,—would have deprived us of all excuse for the
Affghan campaign. (47)

On 5th March, the Ameer called on Capt. Burnes. The usual explana~
tions were gone over—it was no wonder that they were in 8o far unsatisfacw
tory, when Burnes admits that, up to this time, he could not discover what
were the intentions of the Governor-General.(48) The Envoy told him
explicitly, that if he did not wish our good offices on the terms proposed,
he should dismiss bim, The Dost (49) professed himself shocked at this

.

46. Suppressed portion of despatch, 13th March. .

47. He ,was on his way to Simla. A most unwise provision in the Charter
Act permits the Governor to act alone, and on his own responsibility, when
absent from Calcutta. The Commander-in-Chief is known to have been hos-
tile to the war, and the Hon. Messra. Prinsep and Bird were universally be-
lieved to be the same—Three out of five.

48. Suppressed portion of the despatch of the 5th March. The presentable
fragments are given in the Blue Book, pp. 29, 30, and 31,

49. The above is given nearly verbatim. What the phrase, “our good
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last propositien, from which he considered disgrace to him would flow :—
“ You have been welcomed,” said he, ‘‘by every Mahommedan State since
you left Bowbay, from the belief that you were the bearer of good news to
an uohappy race of men, whose internal discord has made them the prey of
& nation of another faith. I dare not, if I wished it, set myself up against
the Affghan people: the belief has gone abroad that your presence is con-
nected with their advantage, and, though I admit that I profic by it, still
the objects of my heart are not fully accomplished.'”

¢ There are Affghans in Tak fighting in thousands at this hour against the
Sikhs; they have aided me, and they looked to me, but their sufferings will
have no abatement; but I throw myself upon tha ganerosity of the Governor-
General of India, and I rely on the sympathy which his Lordship has
expressed.

¢ I congratulated the Ameer on his having seen his own interest better
than to permit of frieadship being interrupied between him.and a nation so
woll disposed towards hin; but that it was now my duty to tell him clearly
what we expected of him, and what we could do in return. You must never
receive ageats from other powers, or have aught to do with them, without
our sanction ; you must disiniss Captain Vickovitch with courtesy; you must
surrender all claim to Peshawur on your own account, as that chiefship
be ongs to Mabarajah Runjeet Sing; you must live on friendly terms with
that potentate ; you must also respect the independeunce of Candahar, and
of Peshawur; and co operate in arrangements to unite your family. In
return for this, I promise to recommend to the Governnent that it use its
good offices with its anciens ally Maharajah Ru njeet Sing, to remove present
and futucre causes of difference beiween the Sikhs and Affghans at
Peshawur ; but as that chietship belongs to the Maharajah, he may confer
it on Sooltan Manomed Khan or any other Affghan whom he chooses, on his
own terms and tribute; it being uczderstood that such arrangement is to
preserve the credit and honour of all parties.

¢ To this I assent’ said the Ameer ; ¢ but as these arrangements are not set
forth in full in his Lor.ship’s letter, it would be desirable for you to reduce
the matter to writing, as far as your knowledge of the Governor-General’s
views will permit you, that I may fairly see what is expected, and what is to
be done in return. The differences of the Affghans and Sikhs can never be said
to be adjusted so long as the Maharajah keeps his troops and Officers at Pesh-
awur : and, consequently, though I place every faith in the friendly interven-
tion of the British, and know that the Maharajah must be left to himself Iam
bound to state that fresh causesfor disturbance must arise if his Higiness does
not place my brother. or an Affshan, in Peshawur, and leave him to govera it
subject to his (the Maharajah's) orders, but without the presence of Seikh

offices’”” meant, the Affghans appear never to have been able to discover,~nor
will the reader be very likely to find it out from the Blue Book.
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troops.” I replied, that since the Ameer agroed himself to peace, it was better
toleave these things to be settled hereafter, since the less that was now said
about them the better.”

18. ¢ Having thus, it appeared to me, gained the ends desired by Government, I
¢ proceeded to improve the dawa of good feeling towards his brothers, and sued
¢ for the Nuwab Jubbar Khan’s co-operation in making up matters between the
¢ Ameer and Sooltin Mahomed Khan.' This most amiable man declared to me
¢ that the matter was easy, and begged that I would write to the Governor Gene-
¢ ral and say that he pledged himself to bring it about, and thet there was but one
¢ diffieulty which could prevent it, and this would be the disapprovul of the Maha-
¢ raja Runjeet Sing, If this was no obstacle, he would proceed at once to Pesha-
¢ wur and bring all his brothers to Jellalabad, where they would be met by the
¢ Ameer, and in my presence he would get them to exchange papers that the Pesha-
¢ wur family miy coms to Cabool in summer, and the Ameer go to Peshawur
¢ in winter, each with a few hundred horse ; and that further, he pledged himself
¢ to bring together the whole family from Candahar, or at least one of the bro-
¢ thers, aad t0 witness the much desired object of the restoration of harmony
¢ and unarimity in their house. On this he added that all the Ameer’s fears
¢ for his Peshawur adhereats, now with him. would end, if the affair could
¢ be adjusted.—I assured the Nuwab Jubbar Khan that his exertions would
¢ receive high applacse and appreciation, and that if things went right and I bap-
« pened to be presentat the peace-making, I would consider it one of the most
¢ happy events that had oceurred, and which would rescues a brave nation from
¢ inevitable destruction, Ido ndt believe the Nuwab ovetrates his influence ; he
¢ has great weight both at Peshawur and Candabar, through Sooltan Mahomed,
¢ Kohun and Ruhum Dil Khans, and when war no longer disturbs the peace
¢ of the Eastern frontier of Affzhinistan, these much wished for objects will cer-
¢ tainly follow, as is amply proved by my previous correspondence. With Persia,
¢ we should have had Russian iofluence in her train, and had the Ameer been
* disposed to doubt the sincerity of the Shah, the presence of the Russian Ageut,
¢ Captain Vickovitch, would have gone far to remove his suspicions.’

Here, then, so late as the month of March were the last of our difficulties
surmounted, and everything gained from the Ameer which the British Go-
vernment appeared to have desired. Nothing of any moment—save the
arrival of Kobun Dil Khan from Candahar, formerly noticed at length,
is recorded as having occurred for the next four weeks.

There were said to have been letters written to Candahar by the Dost,
stating that he had now lust all hope from the British—no great marvel that
there should,—and interviews discovered with Captain Vicovich, of which no
one professed to know the purport ; and with matters in this alarming state,
l?:urnes felt that he could no longer remain at Cabool consistently with
his instructions. He left on the 26th of April, beicg accompanied in all
honour by three ofthe Ameer’s sons and the prime minister two miles be-
yond the gates. Captain Burnes writes from Jellalabad (80th April,) that he

L
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had heazd reports of the Dost’s having gone over to Persia, and sought the
security of Russis,—that some of the Ameer’s family, or of his brothers at
Candabar, were to be sent with letters to the Shah ; that Captaia Vicovich
had promised to get the guarantee of Russia to all their arrangements,—
and that, when Herat fell, the King of Persia would either assist with
troops or money for an attack upon Peshawur. Barnes at tha time seems
to have been very doubtful of the weight to be attached to this report,
and on more mature consideration he manifestly held it of no account
whatever. The light which subsequent disclosures has thrown upon the
subject, now shews that Captain Vicovich had no political authority ; but that
he was one of the most wild and unscrupulous of romancers. Russia
formally refused to give any guarantee whatever in the case of the cession
of Herat to Candahar : the latter place never fell into the hands of Persia,
so that this most mendacious of nations could never have been brought into
the predicament of requiring to fulfil her promise, if she had made any: she
bad no money to pay her own troops, and was therefore sufficiently unlikely
to afford subsidies to Dost Mahomed ; and as she required a twelvemonth
to march her army from her capital to the nearest frontier—from Teheran
to Herat,—it 1s sufficiently unlikely that she could, even had she desired it,
have succeeded in ever reaching Peshawur, a thousand miles beyond it! With
this closes the narrative of our negociations with Dost Mahomed : the reader
may judge whether anything had arisen in the course of these to justify the
infliction on him and his brothers of the last of ills rulers can endure, We
took their country from them and gave it to the enemy of their race, leaving
them the choice of the alternatives of becoming outcasts and wanderers -
from the land of their fathers, or prisoners of state within our territories.
The majority of them preferred the former—the nobler selection. The
subject of this chapter was introduced by a letter from Lord Auckland
to Dost Mahomed, and with another at the interval of less than two years,
it may be closed.

Lord Auckland to Ameer Dost Mahomed Khan.

After compliments. Simla, 27 April 1838.

I Havs received your letter, and fully comprehend its contents.

It has been a source of much regret tome to find that your views of what
ismost for your advantage, have led you to decline the good offices which 1
have tendered, for the purpose of effecting a reconciliation between you and
Maharajah Runjeet Sing, on the only terms on which I could, consistently with
what has appeared to me just, engage to exercise my mediation for the
settlement of the unhappy difterences existing between you.

With the explanation, however, of your sentiments which you have now
afforded to me, my farther interposition in this affair could not lead to bene-
ficial results ; and as, in so unsettled a condition of things, the continuance of
Captain Burnes, and of the officers under his orders, in Affghanistan, would not
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be eonduocive to the good ends which I had hoped to accomplish by their de-
putation, I have now issued orders to them to return to India ; and they will
accordingly set out, on receiving from you their dismissal, for which their im.
mediate application will be made to you.

I have to express to you my acknowledgments for your attention and kind-
ness to these officers while residing in your dominions.

(Signed) AvUOKLAND,

Dost Mahomed and Captain Burnes had parted in sorrow bat not in anger,
and surely, from anght that has yet appeared, there was nothing to lead to
the belief, from any thing which had occurred, that the country would be in.
vaded by our armies, and its chiefs—not one but all—readered fugitives or
captives. From what appears in the printed papers, there is no reason
whatever to believe that the Ameer or his brothers were, from this date,
guilty of one disloyal act towards us. The assertion that Dost Mahomed
ever threatened to call in foreign aid to enable him to consummate schemes
of aggrandizement and ambition, injurious to the security and peace of the
frontiers of India, is founded on no better grounds than the declaration that
Persia was prosecuting throughout Affzhaniatan intrigues, ¢ having for their
object the extension of her influence to the banks of, or even beyond, the In=
dus ;" (50) and both, so far as the printed papers are concerned, are as
thoroughly unsupported as sny averments ever made by the most reckless
statesman. Lord Auckland, in his Simla minute of the 12th of May states,
¢¢ that Dost Mahomed Khan had shown himself to be so disaffected and am—
bitious (51) that with him we could form no satisfactory connection; al-
though he might not, under such circumstances, furnish us with grounds
of direct hostility against him.” This is most decidedly an admission
that, up to this date, no grounds of direct hostility had been furnizhed by
the Ameer. The probability is, that the secretaries, or the leaders under
whose influence the Governor-General had placed himself, had, by this
time, arranged the whole matter without his Lordship’s keowledge: the
mission of Mr Macnaghten to Cabool, three days afterwards, proves
that the thing was completed by the 15th May.

This mission, from which results so singular in many ways arose, was
as strange as it was important. It has just been seen that on the 12th
of May the Governor-General placed on record, opinions in many respects
pacific—in no respect countensncing the idea that Dost Mahomed was to be
dethroned. Three days afterwards the chief secretary set out on a mission

50. Simla preclamation,

51, Verbatim extract from the minute. His Lordship does not condescend
to enlighten his readers in what way the Ameer had evinced either ambition
or disaffection to us. The published papers exhibit none , but much of the
contrary of both.
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to Lahore with the draft of a treaty ready prepared, by which the Indian
Government, the Maharajah Runjeet Sing, and Shah Soojah.Qol- Moolk,
bound themselves together so that the fmnds and enemies of any one of the
parlies were to be considered the friends and enemies of all the others.
After this had been duly discussed and determined on, and was on the very
eve of being subscribed, Mr Macnaghten continued to consult Sir Alexander
Burnes and Mr Masson, as if every thing was to be regulate | by their ad-
vice. The opinion of both these gentlemen or this point, almost exactly
coincided. That of Sir Alexander Burnes, as expressed in his official letters
not quoted in the Blue Book, is as follows :—

Extracts : Opinions as to the mode of restoring Shah Shoojah, submzued
by Sir A. Burnes.

Lahore, 18ih June, 1838.—But objectionsarise to sending Shooja- Ool-Moolk

from the country of the Sikhs, of which Dost Mahomed Khan would not be
slow to avail himself, agitating the country to war against the infidels who
had come to invade him. These objections seem stronger than they really are,
and indeed amount to little when we have gained the end of directing the
Sikhs, Sikh troops should if possible not be used at all ; but I adhere to the
opinion, which I have already expressed, that one if not two of our Regiments
should be given to the Shah nominally as an escort to his person, and to show
decidedly to the Affghans how much we are interested in his safety and wel-
fare. The smallest number of our troops will be exaggerated in Cabool toan
army, and we shall speak at once to men's eyes and senses. If Maharaja Run-
jet Singh objects to the use of our troops when he has so many of his own, he
might be told they were merely honorary, as their small number proved, and
that the Shah required them as the nucleus on which he was to form his future
forces. Besides this direct assistance, opportunity should be given to the
troops of our army to volunteer, as they have lately done for the force in
Oude, and instead of rew levies a good army might soon be collected ; but though
it is doubtless necessary to have a force of sufficient strength to cope with the
Chiefsof Cabool and Candahar, for my part I have more faith in political
agilation for the Shah’s cause than in physical force.* * * *

Matters being thus arranged, I would recommend the following line of pro-
ceedure, From Peshawur, Shah Shooja should issue a proclamation and send
it in hundreds through the Affghan country, that he had arrived at Peshawur to.
recover the throne of his fore-fathers, to put an end to wars with the Sikhs, to.
unite the Affghan nation, and to repel the enemies of their creed, the Persians,
who had dared to invade the kingdom; that he was now able to chastise his
enemies, both internal and external, since he and the British Government
were one ; and that, from the affection he bore to his people, he could not
think of declaring war till he had given all parties a fair opportunity of re-
pairing to his camp and tendering their allegiance; that the treatment all
would experience would be according to their early presence, and that His
Majesty’s object was not to scrutinize particularly what had passed, but te
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restore the glory of the Duoranee Monarchy. This, with a distribution of
money in Khyber, where Shooja has more friends than in any part of Aff-
ghanistan, and the Kohistan of Cabool, which could easily be managed, would
in all huinan probability dissolve Dost Mahomed’s power, and tbe Shalh's ad-
vance on Cabool would be & triumph without bloodshed ; for the Affghan
nation never will suomit to Persia but by fear, and Dost Mahomed Khan by
going over to Mahomed Shah, has converted doubting friends into enemies,
and materially contributed thereby to Shah Shooja’s success. * * *

¢ The next, and probably the most delicate, of all questions which present
themselves, is the disposal of Dost Mahomed Khan. His ambition makes it
more than questionable if he ever would consent to act in a subordinate capa-
city, but be should have the offer, for he will be & dangerous antagonist if he
flies 0 Persia, and we have the first authority for recording that one of Shah
Shooja’s most serious errors, when King, was in failing to conciliate Futteh
Khan Barukzye, the brother of Dost Mahomed Khan, and in whose place he
may now clearly be said to be. These are the words of Mr Elphinstone :
¢ Futteh Khan was soon after persuaded to make his submission to the new
King (Soojah). An opportunity was now offered of securing the attachment
of this powerful and active Chief, but it was allowed to escape, and hence
arose the misfortunes which disturbed the rest of Shah Shoojah’s reign, and
which drove him at length from his thronme.” This is bigh authority, and
though it perhaps would be impolitic to offer the Viziership to such a Chief,
some situation as a Doorannee Lord, such as existed in the old court of the
Suddozyes, might be found for him, and a liberal provision in land. The
presence of a British agent, and an active avd decided influence in all that
relates to the pelitical affairs of Cabool, which I take for granted is to be our
policy, if it did not break the factions spirit of Dost Mahomed Khan, would
prevent his doing harm. I think also that it would be highly to the credit of
the British Government to aid in such an offer of conciliation ; for if the
Ameer is disappointed, our hopes, the difficulties that beset him from the west
are to be considered, and we escape the odium of being privy to his entire”
destruction by showing that our object is the restoration of the Dooranee
monarchy, and not the punishment of the Chief of Cabool. It is to be
observed, that Affghan differences are much easier healed than those op
other nations; and, above all things, it should be Shah Shoojah’s policy to
forget the past, and the talents of Dost Mahomed Khan may yet avail him in
subduing some of his rebellious subjects. Much ig to be said on this subject, and
it requires great reflection and consideration, which may and must be given
to it when matters are more advanced.

Lahore, 19th June, 1838,—2. I attach importance to the presence of a small
portion of our troops from the prestige it will exercise. There are as solid
objections to the presence of our officers as our troops: a disaster in either
cnse would be unfortunate, and going so far as to give money and officers, an
honorary escort is not a step far beyond. 1t is not essential to success,
but I think would contribute to it.
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The reference by Mr. Macnaghten to Capt. Burnes, replied to on the 18th
and 19th of June, was clearly nothing else than a pretext, with a view of
extracting something from him capable of receiving a construction favourable
to the views of the war party—now unhappily in the ascendant; so as to
satisfy, if possible, the still wavering resolution of the Governor-General.
The treaty, providing for war on the largest scale, and ratified on the 26th,
betwixt the British Government, the Mabarajah Runjeet Singh, and the
Shah Soojah-ool- Moolk, must before this have been drawn up,

It has already been seen that Mr Macnaghten was, so late as the end of
January, in favour of the maiatenance of the arrangements among the Ba-
rukzye chiefs as they stood, considering their divisions well calculated
to ward off the advances of a foreign fue. He had now abandoned this
and taken an entirely opposite view of the case, and determined that
nothing could save India but the re-integration of the Dooraunee empire
under the Shah Soojah, the proverbially unfortunate. The sole original
objection to the maintenance of Dost Mahomed’s claims upon Peshawar
was, that it kindled up the flames of war in those regions where we were
most anxious to promote the interests of commerce; but when it appeared
that the equitable claims of the Ameer cculd readily be adjusted by peace-
ful pegociation,—our aversion to hostilities took another form, and
it was now the aggrandizement of this man, who had, more than any
Ruler in Asia, courted our friendship without selfishness—without hope of
favour or fear of injury—until we meddled with his affairs, that alarmed
us! A few months afterwards, when Runjeet Singh asked permission
to advance with fira and sword on Jellalabad, and increase his territories
by fresh appropriations from his neighbour, our fears, both of war
and aggrandizement on Ais part, had vanished. If the historian were
permitted to examine into thie archives of the Colonial Office, with a
view of ascertaining when certain unsatisfactory despatches from Calcutta
Brst began to be received—and were then to turn to the Board of Coatrol,
and see whether the first warlike instructions sent out by Sir John Hob-
house had not considerably more to do with these than with any tidings
sent by the Persian mission—the results might be curious.

The arrival in India of the news of the unfortunate issue of the general
election of August 1887, would, if examined into, probably be found to
coincide remarkably with some of the more pugnacious Simla minates.
These things will be matter of speculation for the annalist to inquire into,
when the records of the public offices ars transferred to the Tower or the
British Museun.

Although it was obviously our inteation, from the month of June 1887,
to pick a quarrel,and have a war on some account,somewhere,with somebody-—
a source of reoreation in which ourstatesmen were permitted to indulge with-
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out enquiry, by virtue of an accumulated surplus of ten millions of hoarded
treasure in the coffers of government,—the form and pressure this was to
assume was left to be determined by the chapter of accidents. According
‘to Mr Masson, it was the Punjaub that the Board of Control wished us to
seize upon, and the mistake into which we foll was that of marching on
Cabool, when Lahore was inteaded to have been the point.of our destina-
tion.—making a traverse of 1500 miles instead of 50. The gentleman re~
ferred to professes to have been shewn, by Captain Burnes, the letter
to this effect from the Secret Committee. It passed through the hands
of Lord Auckland and his secretaries, and might be worth while en-
quiring after. There was said to have beea such difficulty in keepiag
Lord Auckland’s courage at the sticking point, that the secretaries
were terrified lest the whisper of the possibility of pacific arvange-
ments should reach his ear. An amasing anecdote is mentioned on
this subjeet by Masson. ¢*I had prsviously learaed,” says this not over-
trustworthy authority, ¢ a strange account of the mode in which the amiable
Lord Auckiand had been driven into measures which his better judgment
disapproved, and how he was obliged to yield to the assaults of certain fe-
‘male A, D. C’s and Seeretaries, and [ now questioned Sir Alexander on
the part he had taken, particularly as regarded this useless expedition. He
replied that it was arranged before he reached Simla, and that when he
arrived, Torrens and Colvin came running to him, and prayed him to say
nothing to uasettle his Lordship ; that they had taken all the trouble in the
world to get him into the business, and that even now he would be glad on
any pretence to return from it.”” The correspondent of a London daily
paper is still more explicit as to the sources of the plaa of the campaign on
the great scale—how Mr Macnaghten was at once ambitious and unpopular,
he wished to becomns an Eavoy, and was wished out of the Secretariat to
make room for Mr Torrens, whose wife, a fashionable and accomplished
woman, was ia great favour with the rulers of the ruler of India—the Hon.
Misses Eden, sisters and managers of Lord Auckland !

From the subscription of the treaty at Lalore, on the 26th of June, the
State Papers furnish no further light on the course of events till the middle
of August, when a despatch of Lord Auckland’s to the Secret Committee
indicates that matters were finally arranged, much as set forth in the Simla
proclamation of the Ist October—the bulk of which has been quoted in
paragraphs at the heads of the sections of the present chapter. It was one
amongst the singular anomalies with which the arrangements of the Afighan
expedition abound, that we relied for our means of getting into the country
ou the Lsovernments of Scinde and Khelat—both in former days dependen~
cies of the Doorannee empire, but both for thirty years perfectly independent
of all superiors. The inducement to assist us which we held out to them
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was, that they should be once mors replaced amder their old oppressive
masters, be annexed to the Donraonee empire, and merge their individual
authority in the sovereigaty of the Shah Sonjah! The alternative offered
for declining a request 8o modest and equitable was—deposition, or probably
death 1!

It must not, in covclusion, be forgotten, that we vever gave Dost Maho-
med the most distant hint that we intended to wage war with him. He
had, on numerous occasions, expressed bimself so awed by British power,
and so apprehensive of its being employed againet him in assisting the
Seikhs, that had we made him aware that we purposed attacking him,
it is probable he would have made any sacrifice that could have beea re-
quired of him. We aever gave him the alternative; we never made him a
tender of the terms oa which we were willing to have abstained from iavad-
ing his couatry. ‘We, on the I8t Qctober, for the first time announced our
intention of restoring the Shah So1jah, and deposiug the Ameer and the
Candahar Sirdars,—not pretending that with the last we ever negotiated or
had any grounds of quarrel! We marched an army into-the couatry with-
out having asked whether, with the alternative of invasion before them, the
chiefs would not concede the points which they knew we would compel them
to yield to us in the long run at any rate. The Affghans knew onr power
too well,~as indeed they had often told us,—-to immagine that they could
keep the field agaiost us, Ia this particular the campaign of 1839 was
whoily without precedeat: and it is beyond question, that accordiag to the
principles of civilized war, Lord Keaac’s army could not have complained
had they beea treated as marauders, The Colonial Society has drawn up
a statement oa the subject, shewing, that had the whole of our people whe
fell into the hands of the enemy during the period of our occupation of the
country, been hanged, the Affghans would have acted under the sanction of
the highest European authorities, and would have been countenanced by
the conduct of all civilized nations, on whose territories similar aggressions
had been attempted. Ithas of late become the custom to affirm, that the ob-
jections to the policy of Lord Auckland only began to make their appearance
after the calamities of Nov. and Dec. 1841 ; s statement more unfounded can.
notexist. Ithasalready been seen thathad Lord Auncklandbeen at Caleutta
when hostile measures were in agitation, he would in all likelihood have
been outvoled at his own Council Board on the question of Affgzhan inva-
sion, The whole of the military chiefs in India viewed the expedition aa
one of pure insanity. The aversion of the Government of Bombay, far
more intimately acquainted than that of Calcutta with the couatries we .
proposed to subdue, to the whole scheme of the Simla policy, has long been
notorious. The press of India, though far from unanimous certainly, gene-
rally condemmned tho measure, and predicted with very great accuracy, as the
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vesults afterwards exemplified, the mischiefs to which it must give rise. We
have already seen with what aversion the matter was regarded at the India
House, and how early Sir Henry Willock, and Mr St John Tucker, recorded
their opinions against it. The press, in general, entered but slightly into
the discussion : the journals which ventured on an examination of the ques-
tion, with the exception of the Quarterly Revisw, gave their opinions deci-
dedly against it. The AJsiatic Journal, as the best informed of those on
Oriental affairs, has been repeatedly referred to, and its articles on the sub-
ject in 1838 and 1839 are well worthy of perusal. We cannot deny our-
selves the pleasure of quoting, in conclusion, some extracts from a very
exc-llent article in the Spectator newspaper, of 27th July 1839, on the
Review's observations on the Parliamentary papers, pointing out not
only the general danger incurred by the newly adopted policy of the Gover-
nor=General—for that of the Government of India iticould in no sense be
called—but the shape this danger was iikely to assume, and the quarters
whence it might be expected to approach us, The Spectator's views were
given to the world in the midst of our triumphs; he boded evil while the
shouts of vietory still filled our ears. His anticipations have been realized :—

¢ THE WAR IN IXDIA.

“THE current number of the Quartsrly Review has an elaborate paper on Russis,
Persia, and India ; distinguished by a tone of friendliness to the Government and
its agents, and what is more, a sut tial vindication of recent British policy snd
proceedings in Asis, which fow would have expected at the hands of that stanch organ
of the Opposition, even in charity. To us, indeed, it seems tbat the Reviewer is,
for once, t0o charitable : for a pretty careful examination of the file of papers laid
before Parliament in the passing session, leads us to conclusions considerably at
variaace with his; and at the same time it has confirmed some of our previons
opinions and speculationa, it enables us to correct or qualify others. Ia short, we
rise from the perusal of the Eastern Correspondence with a persuasion, that our
present war in India, or rather outside of Indis, is more questionable in its objects,
and suspicious in its pretexts,aud likely to be more extensive and perilous, than
any which the British Governinent of that couatry has ever yet waged with any
Asiatic power.

*¢ Let us begin by examining the pretext for the war. For thirty yesrs and up-
wards, we have maintained, withoutinterruption, an embassy at the Court of Persia,
and paid in salsries, in subsi lies and gifts, in arms and ammaunition, between three
and four millions sterling. The object of our Persian diplomacy was to secure
Tadia agsinst French and Russian invasion, The upshot of our thirty years’ ex-
penditure of money, protocols, and despatches, is, that Persia, oa our own admis-
sion, iustead of heing a bulwark against the aggression of an European power, has
become a stepping-stone for Russia. In a word, by our own showing, all our
Persian diplomacy has been worss than useless—it hss been highly detrimental.

# With the Shah of Persis we have three respective tresties, every ane of which

™M .
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contsins the following article—¢ If war should ensue between the Persian and
Afgban Goveraments, the English Government shall take no partin it ; nor shall
it give assistance to either party, exceptas a mediator, at the solicitation of both
parties, for the purpose of producing peace.”  Well, a war arises between the Per.
sian King and the Afghaos—as justy upon the part of the former, as any ever waged
by ao European government, and far juster than mostof them. The Prince ot
Herst, the most westerly state of the Afghans, taking advantage of a moment of
ansrchy, invadesa Persian province, burnaits towns and villages, and, carrying off
twelve thousand of its inhabitants, sells them, man, woman, aud child, as slaves.
The King of Persis, naturslly indignant at this outrage, wmarches an army to chas-
tise the public robber, and invests Herat.  According to the admission of the Bri.
‘tish Envoy, (a man of mark and talenty) twice repeated in the papers laid betore
Patliament, the King of Persia has right and justice on his side. Well, then, are
the Eaglish Minister, the Envoyy and the Gover 1or-General of India, neutral and
quiescent, as in good faith became parties to the treaty we have just quoted ? Quite
the contrary. They are notonly not asked te interfere as mediaturs by both par-
tiss, but one party expressly repudiates their interfere.c+; while the other does
not solicit it, and only accepts it wheu it has b:en often obtruded: as we may sce
from the following curious passage of a letter froin the Prime Minister of Herat to
the British Eavoy—¢ With regard to ths coming of the Kajur (Persian) army to
this couutry, I am not, and never sha'l be, in any way williug to give you trouble
or annoyauce. Should the Perg’an Goverameat evince any grea: dusire to ¢ ome to
Herat, do not prevent the advance of the army, or take any trouble in the matter.
18 is an affair of no cousequence. Lzt them comey in order that they may prove
what they are able to do, May it please God the merciful, by the grace and
assistance of the Alinighty, the steed of their wishes shall not accomplish the jour.
ney of their design.” ‘Thisis the polite Oriental fashion of saying ¢ laissez nous
faire’ to a meddler ; anl the recent obstinate refusal of the Prince of Hzrat to ac-
cept a British aubsidiary forc. tor his protection, shows that our iuterpretation is the
right one, The Eaglish Goverament is not oaly not neutral, it directly interferes,
and without befug a-ked. It isfar from stopping even at the point of impertinent
uegotiation. A roviag ageut of the Governor.Geueral of Ludia, a skilful eagincer,
throws himself into the fortress of Herat, and assiats in its defonce agaicst the Per-
siaus ; & squadron of men of war is sent and takes pessession of a portion of
our allies’ territory on the I'ersian Gulf; and a great army is marched
to detbrene an Affgban chief suspected of preferring & Persian to an English alli-
ance, (some alliance or other being indispensable, and wa having expressly refused
him ours except on terms intolerabley) for his protection against a fourth party,
ti.e Seiks, who had wrested from him, by a series of aggressions, 8_large portion of
his domiunions. In reference to this conduct, the Persian Minister for Foreign
Affairs has the following pertineut remarks—¢ We are iguorant by what evideuce
the British Government considers our iaterference in the affuirs of Af_bavistan as
a mark of hon.iliiy against itself. Besides the auspicious treaty, the observation of
the stipulations of which is the foundation of the fricndship of the two states, are
there any other treatics or engagements between Persia and England relative to
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which any neglect or non-observance has proceeded from us ? or did the plenipo.
tentiaries of both states forget this point at the time of forming the treaty, that
they omitted any allusion t+it ? or have new rules of friendship been instituted
in this world, with which we are not acquainted ? or does the party which consi.
ders itself strongest consider also that the observation or violation of treaties rests
on its discretion ?* Here is a shocking charge of Punic faith, made sgainst the
government cf a civilized country by a people whom we have beco accustomed to
look upon as faithless barbarians ; and the only reply we bave made to ity virtually
amounts to this, that our original intention in making the treaty was not accom.
plished,—that isy that Persia did not turn out to be the bulwark sgainst Russian
aggression which we mistakingly supposed it would, In short, we talk of the
¢ spirit’ of the treaty, carefully avoiding to say one word about its plain sad obvi-
ous letter.

¢ Agaiost the faith of treaties, then, we set up necessity and expediency, Now
let this plea be looked into. Herat is declared to be the key to the British domi. .
nions in India—the key which isto open the door to the Russians and their
allies the Persians, to Hindoos:an. The supposed key, in this case, is surely ats
vast distance from the door, Our ownarmy has been already five months on its
march from the frontier, backed by all the resources of Indis, and withcut firirg a
single shot, unless at a few freebooters ; and there is no trustworthy intelligence
that it has yet reached the first spot where there iz any probability of its meeting
with resistance, viz, Candahar; in the neighbourhood of which, by the way, it is
proposed that we should canton for the whole summer,—by which (for Cabool, the
msin point, and & month’s march through snowy mouatsins and marrow deflles,
remains untouched) it is plainly pronounced that the affaie is to cost us two cam-
paigns, From Caodahar to Herat, allowing for halting-days, and supposing no in-
terruption from an enemy, isat least & month’s march. Thus, therefore, without
meeting an enemy-—and, supposing the barren country which it had in its rear
and alonyg its line of march could afford it the same supply of food which fertile,
populous, and peaceful India affords us—it wouid take a Russian armny five months
to march from Herat to the nearest British frontier, with many a ¢ key’ to get pos.
seasion cf, and many a door to unlock, between ; and, after thit, there is & march of
at Jeast fifteea huadred miles further to the chief seat of our power sand re.
som’cu, Lower Bengal and Calcutta ; which would take at least four months more,

pposing the climate, our armies, and our fortresses offered no resistance, and that
Joha Bull (whe in one half the whole time mentioned could send an army from
the banke of the Thames) were to look on with his hands in his breeches.pocket
doing nothing. But to reach India, is not to conquer India, (never so powerful and
united as under our own administration, ) asany one who will take the pains to read,
may learn from the history of its invaders from ALBXANDER to Anxep Suaim,
Most of them never peuetrated much beyond the frontier, and the few who estab-
lished themselves in the North-west, took not months or years, but from one to two
centuries, to conquer the Kast and the South. The truth is, that s Russian inva-
tion, and conquest of India, is but the dream of a troubled and uneary consciences
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Ne men in bis waking moments and sober senses imagines the possibility of the
thing, or fancies it even probable that any naticn whatevery without the command
of the sea and of immense pecuniary resources, would be mad enough even to make
the attempt. * At the conclusion of your letter,’ saysthe Persian Prime Minis-
ter to one of our agents, ¢ there are some remarks about alarm. I am in great as-
tonishment at this declaration, idering the distance of four months’ journey and
the great friendship between the two states, which during this length of time, has
never been interrupted bya hair’s breadth on eitherside. What cause is there for
alarm, or for these remote speculations, which have never entered into the mind
of any oney nor ever will 2’ It is clear, from these remarks of the Persian Vizier,
that his Excellency had no personal acquaintance with Lerd Avuckuaxp or Lord
PALMERSTON, or he would not have expressed himself so rashly. What, after all,
does the reader fancy hes thrown the Indian Council Chamber and the foreign
Office into a turmoil 2 The Russian Euvoy st the Court of Persia is supposed,
contrary to his inatructionsy to have advised the Shah to attack Herat: anda
Russian Lieutenant of Infantry goes on a commercial miseion to an Affghan siate ;
and this has sufficed to frighten the Foreign Secretary snd the Governor-General
from their propriety. At the very moment we are making this charge against Rus-
sia and Persiz, our English officer of Engineers, beivg the agent of the Governor-
General, is fighting in the ranks of the Herattees ; and there is a diplomatic agent
at Csbool, and another at Candahar, endesvouring to force treaties ou the chiefs
of those two places, by which they are to break off all counexion with Persia and
Russia. Where is our sense of political justice ?

¢ There is not the least doubt but the very measures we are pursuing lesd us into
far greater difficulties than the actual iavasion of the Persiaus and Russians them-
selves could produce, The war with the Burmese cost us fifteen millions, If we
eseape from the present more dificult contest witha penalty cf double the amounty
we may look upon ourselves as fortunate. This will add just one-half to the nation-
al debt of India, and an anaual interest of a million and a half will add a tithe to
the taxes of the already over-taxed Hindoos. Is it not better to stay at home, admi-
nister justly, tax lightly, and thus gain the support of the conquered millions, than
squander their mouey in so dangerous, extravagant; aad Quixotic an enterprize ?
The very undertaking itself proves that we are iil at ease at home, couscious of the
instability of our powery and suspicious that we have misgoverned ludis, to the dis-
satisfaction of its inhabitante,

*¢ 1€ our diplomatistsand politicians would only keep their hands out of mischicf
it is astonishing how perfeet & bulwark nature and fortune have opposed to the
possibility of s successul invasion of British {ndia from the westward. The coun-
ury lying between Persia aod British India is one either of rugged mouutaius or of
uncultivated and almost impassable sandy deserts. ~ Oa the side of Persis, all but
o1 one NaTrOW quarter, it is a sandy desert two hundred miles bread. On the side
of India, there is a for more exteusive one, generally of double that breadth, except
at one point also. Even at this last point there is, according to Mr. ELpaINSTONE,
one hundred and sixty miles of *the strongest country’ he hal ¢ever seen.s
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The peorle that an invadirg army would have to encounter, if not alienwed by
our ambition, is as formidable ss their country is strong, They are ectimated at
fourteen millions ; a fourth part of whom, probably, are in that shepherd or no-
‘made state in which men have little to lose snd much to gain by war. The ruling
people exceed four millions in number ; snd in their manners, habitsy and cus.
toms, are rather Europeans of the widdle ages than Asiatics. ¢‘An European,’ says
Mr. ELPHINSTONE, ¢ coming among then, would scarce fail to admire their martial
and lofty spirit, their hospitality, and their bold sad simple manners. He would
admire their strong and active forms, their fair complexions, and European fea-
tures ; their industry and enterprise ; the hospitality, sobriety, and contempt of
pleasure, which appear in all their habits; and, above all, the independence and
energy of their character. The Afghans themselves (he adds) exult in the free
spirit of their institutions. They endeavour to maintain that all Afghans are equal.
I once strongly urged oo a very intelligent old man, of the tribe of Meankbail,
the superiority of a quict and secure life, under a powerful monarch, to the dis.
cord, the alarms, and the blood which they owed 10 their present system. The
old man replied with great warmth, and thus concluded an indignant bharangue
against arbitrary power—* We are content with discord, we are content with alarms,
we are content with blood-—but we will never be content with a master,’’

¢ The plain truth is, that we are breaking down, by our aggression, the moat
formidable portion of the bulwark that lies between us and invasion to the West,
We are meking, in fact, the false movement of a general, who, finding abroad
marsh between himself and his opponent, wantonly crosses it, with great loss
and inconvenience, posts himself on the opposite margin, and, cutting bimself off
from his supplies. affords his opponent, at the first fuvourable moment, an oppor-
tunity of driving him into the swamp, or starviog him to death, or compelling him
to surrender at discretion, Such is a fair view of nur present adventure ; nor can
we see any termination, utter discomfiture excepted, to the course into which it
Jeads, until it bring us to the very thing we deprecate—contiguity and collision
with the power of Russia in Persis.”’— Spectator, July*27, 1839.
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CHAPTER 1L

Runjeet 8ingh refuses to permit our troops to pass through the Punjaub—Route by the Bolan
Pass— Augmentation cf the army by 13,000 men besides the Contingent-~ Retirement of the
Commander-in-Chief, Sir H. Fane—S8ir J. Keane nominated Generalissimo of the Army of
the Indus—Entrance into Affigbanistan—Rengal col "eserm-— bay lands
at Vikkur-—Hostile aspect of Scinde--Want of ls—Secarcity of C issariat stores—.
Demonstrations on Hydrabad —Ameers agree to our terms—Bengal column reaches Roree,
and crosses the Indus to Sukkur--Misunderstandings betwixt the Bengaland Bombay co-
ijumas sbout camels—Colonel Dennie’s remonstrances on the inutility of the Shah's
Jevies—Capture of Kurrachee—Reserve left there—Amount of force at Bhikarrore in
¥ebruary—Beagsl troops ascend the Bolan Pass—Apprehensions on reaching Quettah—
Rumours of a retreat—Conduct of the Khan of Khelat—S8ir A, Burnes’s mission to—
Bresks his agreements—We resolve to dethrone him—Ezxtreme scarcity of provisions—
Troops on half ratiuns for six weeks—Arrive at Candahar and enter it unopposed—
Progress of the Bombay column—The Lukkee Pass—Larkhana—The desert—Reach
Dadur—Excessive heat—Euter the Bolan Pass—Reach Quettah—Arrive at Candabar—
Adventures of Colonel Denunie betwixt Shikarpore and Candahar—Force at— Condi-
tion of—Remain six weeks at Candabar—March on Ghuznie—Description of fortress—
Conflicting accounts of enemy’s force—Open fire of artillery ou the walls of—-Move
round from the Candabar to the Cabool side-—Plan of attack of-.Captain Qutram’s
attack on the enemy’s irregulars—Slaughter of the Ghazee prisoners—Preparation for the
attach ful explosion of powder-bags at the gate—Storming of the gate--Capture
of the fortress— Excellent conduct of our troops--Advance on Caboul--Dost Mabhomed
abandoned by his troops—Capture of his guns and baggage—Purauit of, by Capt., Outram
~Treachery of Hadji Khan Kakur—The Dost makes his escape into Toorkistan-Return
of the p ing party to Cabool--The Bhah euters Cabool—State Durbar for the purpose
of conferring the Doorannee Order, Dr. Kennedy’s account of--Bengal column quits Ca.
bool—Proceeds By Jellalabad and Khyber, through the Punjaub, to Ferozepore—Bombay
column pr ds to Ghuzoie—Captain Outram’s operations against the Ghilzies—Columnn
takes the left of Candahar— Reaches Quettah—~One portion descends the Bolan Pass and
reaches Scinde—Loss by Cholera—General Willshire advances on Khelat—Gallant cap-
ture of—Slaughter at—Captain Outram’s adventures—Gemeral Willshire descends the
Gundava Pass to Scinde—Lord Keane’s return to Bombay, and reception—General re-
flections—Troops required to be left in Affghanistan -Opinions of the campaign enter-
tained in England.

So soon as it became wanifcst that nothiog but a war on the largest scale
would fully meet the views of the Governor-General and his advisers, it
was resolved that tuis should be commenced in form next spring, as early as
the disappearance of the snow beyond the passes would permit. Runjeet
Singh declining to suffer our troops to traverse the Punjaub, our principal
rendezvous was appointed to be Shikarpore in Scinde ; our lie of advance,
by the Bolan Pass, Quettah, and Candahar.

During the preliminary diplumatic arrangements, which had occupied
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from December, 1887, till August, 1838, military preparations had been in
rapid progress, The Army of India, which had, since 1828, beea reduced
from an effective force of 274,000, did not, in 1837, exceed the strength of
190,000, exclusive of contingent or subsidiary troops. (1) This was, before
the month of October in the following year, raised to 203,000 ;—an augmen-
tation of ten men to each company (2) ordered on the 80th Juune, and a
second of similar amount on the 28th August, having given an iucrease of
18,000 men. (38) Besides this, a force raised am~ngst the camp-followers
at the Company’s various frontier posts, officered from the Indian army,
and paid by the British treasury, under the name of the ‘* Shah’s Contin-
gent,” added, before next midsummer, nearly 8,000 mea to the muster-
roll of the army : these, if not very efficient, were as expensive as our best
drilled veterans. The encrease of our army, occasioned by the Affghan
war, betwixt 1838 and 1842, amounted to 50,826 mea.

Sir Henry Fane was at this ime Commander-ia-Chief of all India. He
is said to have disapproved both of the principles of policy, and the arrange-
went of the details of the expedition; (4) aud viewed with great appre.
hension the prospect of having our armies so far removed from their base of
operatioas—our own frontier. The Commander-in«Chief was, besides, in
indifferent health and about to proceed to Europe: he bad, indeed, retired,
and was succeeded by Sir Jasper Nicholls, before the expedition returned

" 1. British Empirein the Eist, by Count Bjornstjerna, 1838.-.Translated
by H. Evans Loyd. London, 1840. Vol. i, p. 185. ‘“Lhe following is given by
this illustrious toreigner as the strength of our armies in 1837 :—
Staff, British....... ccvcciiiscteaevans oo 312 Brought overiecs. ..... 17,776
Company’s officers of British birth .. 3,416  Artiliery train.......... 1,392
Officers of Hindoo birth,,..... eas 83,416  Cavalry..coeeern-ees o 14,599

Engineer corps.. 3,498 lnﬁntry' .......... 0o veee 124,281
Horse artillery.. 1,023 European teoops......... 26,582
Foot  ditto... 5,492  Medical Staff, &C.seeee .. 5,000

17,576 Total..... .. 159,360

2. See General Order, Simla, 30th June and 28th August,--republished in
Bombay G. O. to the same effect, for the army of the Western Presidency,
July 12th and September 3rd.

8. Asiatic Journal, new series, second part, p. 328, for Dec. 1838. The
asst of the Company’s military establishment was in 1830 set down in the Par.
liamentary papers at 9t millions sterling. The ordinary annual charge of a
sepoy regimeut of 1000 men, every thing included, is reckoned at about
£40,000 :—that of a European regiment av about £80,000. Cavalry chargea
are double those of infantry.

4. Letter from his son, published in the London Times of 5th June 1842 ;e
* 1 am prepared to prove, if callod upon, [says Colonel Fane] that the mili-
tary head in India and second member ot council of that country, did op-
pose, or perhaps rather point out to the Governor -General, the extreme
danger of this wild and unmcasured expedition.””—¢ He ensured Lord Auck-
lind of the success which did at first appear to attend us, but warned him,
that to maintain large bodies of troops in countries so distant, and which
ng:;lm? produced food suflicient .or the scauty population, was next to impoa-
siblo,”’
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to India. {(5) He resigned the command of the onward force at Ferozepore,
and boa's were provided for himself and staff to drop down the Sutleige
and [adus, (keeping parallel with the marching column) with the intention
of remaining at Bombay, (which he in fact did for several months after-
wards) but retaining the post of Commander-in-Chief in India until his
successor should be appointe] from home. The Governor- General, immes
diately upon this resignation in December 1833, nominated Sir John Keane
to the chief command aad direction of the whole furce; a hrave and expe-
rienced ofticer, but head-strong, passionate, vindictive and domineering,
thongh bold and determined in action. From this period he was instructed by
the Governor- General to give his owo orders to Sir Willoughby Cotton, who,
as senior officer, succeeded to the eommand of the Bengal column as a
temporary measure, until its junction with the Bombay troops. This also
gave the temporary command of & division to Major Géneral Nott, and of a
brigade to Colonel Dennie. The head-quarters of the Bengal column had
assembled at Ferozepore, an outstation on the banks of the Sutlej, about
50 miles from Lahore, the capital of the Punjaub. The nearest course for
this body to have pursued would have been through the Seikh territory ; by
which route & march of 850 miles from their cantonments would have
brought them to Peshawur; 200 more through the Khyber and Khoord
Cabool passes and by Jellalabad, would have taken them at once to Cabool.
The difficulties of this line have at all times been considered formidable :
no army save our owa ever appears to have forced them. Nadir Shah, in
1789, paid £100,000 for the use of the passes ; (8) and the Khyberies and
Ghilzies who inhabit the adjoining moununtains, have always been in the
Labit of receiving from £4,000 to £8,000 a-year as black-mail, fron the
Doorannee rulers. for free passages to kafilas to and from Cabool. Yet the
facility with which Colonel Wade made his way, the following August,
from Peshawur to Cabool with 10,000 men, shews that when the natives
are liberally treated, and prudeatly dealt with, and not previously excited to
hostility, their country may be traversed with comparatively little trouble.
The objections to thia route, however, lay not in the physical difficulties
which presented themselves to our progress,—these have grown upon us as
we have become better acquainted with them. They were at the time sur-
mounted by the Shahzada Timour’s contingent, and were held compara-
tively lightly of by officers of experience. (7) The insurmountable objec-

5. Narrative of the War .n Affghanistan, by Capt. H. Havelock, H. M,
13th L, I, Vol. ii., p. 173.

6. March and Operations of the Army of the Indus—1840. Major Hough,
to whom we shall have many occasions of acknowledging our oblisatious,
omits to quote his authority on this point.

7. Captain Hivelock reasons this matter very ably : he gives.the prefer-
ence to sn advance by Dera-Ismael Khan—a' little-kaown path over the
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“tions of our ancient ally Runjeet Singh to the passage of so formidable a
force through the centre of his country, compelled us to take the western or
Bolan Pass route, towards which the Bengal column now prepared to
march. By the beginning of December, the force on the Bengal side, just
mentioned as destined to proceed without delay to Scinde, amonnted to
9,500 men, A considerably larger number bad originally been intended;
but intelligence of the retirement of the Persian army from Herat in the
end of September, diminished the exigencies of the service ; and the intima-
tion which notified this, stated that, under these altered circumstances, the
command of the column would be assumed by Sir Willoughby Cotton, on
the march downwards to Shikarpore. (8) Besides this, a reserve division
of 4,250 men was stationed at Ferozepore under Major-General Dunecan.
A Seikh army of observation of 15,000 was agreed by Runjeet Singh to be
_maintained at Peshawur, while the levies of the Shahzada Timour, the
eldest son of the Shah, amounted to 4,800 of the contingent, with 6,000
Seikh aliies. This Jast was taken charge of by Lieut.-Colonel Wade, (9)
and moved on Cabool by the eastern passes.

The Bombay column, under Sir J. Keane, landed at Vikkur, on the
eastern bank of the Hujamry mouth of the river Indus, 50 miles to the
right of the town and fort of Kurrachee, betwixt the 20th and 28th of
November, (10) The Ameers of Scinde—feudatories of the Doorannee
Empire, with whom, for the space of ten years, we had been on terms of
alliance (11)—had faithfully promised to provide supplies and the means of
conveyance for our armies. On our arrival at Kurrachee, so far from find-
ing that either the one or the other had been attended to, it was discovered
that they entertained the most jealous and hostile feelings towards us, and
had done all that they could to obstruct and annoy us on our advance.

mountajns from Dejerat direct upon Ghuznie ; by which it was pretended
General Nott’s force were, on a recent occasion, ordered to return. Have-
lock wrote after returning to India by the Khyber route ; and speaks dis-~
paragingly of the Khoord Cabool and Tezeen defiles, which at that time he
had not seen. It is curious that this officer should have had three times to
force his way through this series of passes——once on the march of Sir R. Sale’s
force in October 1841, and twice with that of General Pollock in September
and October 1842.

8. General order quoted by Hough, p. 3, dated Secret Department, De-
cember 4,

9. Captainy now Lieut. Colonel Sir, C, M. Wade, then political agent in
these parts.

10. Rough notes of the Campaign in Scinde and Affghanistan, by Captain
James Outram.—Campaign of the Army of the Indus, by R. H. Kennedy, M.
D., Superintending Surgeon to the Bombay column of the force, The port
of Kurrachee, at which the British force bas, since 1838, been stationed, is 500
miles by sea from Bombay. A Lighthouse, and new cantonments, have just
been ordered to be constructed, with a view of maintaining it as a permanent

ossession.

11, Visit to the Court of Scinde;, by James Burnes; M. D, K. H., F. R. 8.

N
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While they continued to profess the utmost friendship for us, they began to
levy, en masse, their fighting men from seventeen to sixty years of age.
From 16,000 to 17,000 Beloochees occupied the Hydrabad side of the river.
So eager were these undisciplined hordes to attack us, that it was said the
Ameers had to distribute from £50,000 to £60,000 amongst them to keep
them at peace. (i2) Captain Outram, (who acted as extra A.D.C. to
Sir John Keane,) one of the most active, indefatigable, and adventurous
soldiers in the army, was dispatched without loss of time to Cutch, a sub-
sidiary state to the eastwarl, with letters from Sir Johu-Keane and Colonel
(now Sir Henry) Pottinger to the Rao, His Highness was the personal
friend of both, as well as one of the most zealous and faithful supporters of
the British government te be found among the princes of India, and his
aid and influence on this occasion enabled Captain Qutram to succeed
in collecting a censiderable supply of camels—a most seasonable help to
Sir John Keane. The troops which had disembarked at Vikkur 5,500
strong, after various difficulties and delays, advanced towards Tatta on the
24th December. They crossed an arm of the Indus by a bridge of boats :
the heavy baggage was transported in flat-bottomed vessels up the stream.
The climate here was very trying for the native troops : the thermometer,
which rose to about 90° during the day, descending as low as 85° over
night,—a temperature, this latter, which nearly incapacitates the sepoy, as
the former unfits the European, for duty. (13) It had originally been pro-
" posed that, for the sake of producing a moral effect, the army should
proceed up the river by boat; but this unwise project was afterwards
renounced. Its extreme inexpediency was subsequently proved by the diffi-
culty experienced in providing boats for the transportation of the mere
ordnance atores of the army,—whatever was transported by the river being
afterwards found an impediment and vexation. (14) ‘
The granaries had been plundered by the Beloochees, as was believed by
the sanction of the Ameers. At length, seeing that we could make our
way withont their aid, and in spite of their resistance, they agreed to the
terms of the treaty proposed by us; having further pledged themselves to
supply us with whatever we required, on being duly paid for it. A tribute
of £280,000 baving been set down as due by them to the Shah Soojah, we,
as his patroas, for the present compelled them to make payment to us of
£100,600 as a first instalment of the long arrear. By the Ist February
they had duly professed submission, their army having, with much difficulty,

12. Outram, p. 30.

13, Narrative of the Campaign of the Army of the Indus in Scinde and
Affghanistan, in 1838-30—By R. H. Kennedy, J D., Chief of the Medical Staff
-of the Bombay Division.

14, Kennedy, Vol. i, p. 145.
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been disbanded by them. Their resolution on this point was probably.
stimulated by the fact, that while the Bombay column was encamped within
two marches of their capital, the Shah’s contingent, 6,000 strong—which
was the first to approach the river at Shikarpore on their left, moved down
parallel to the line of Sir John Keane's upward advance, and occupied
Larkhana, while halt the Bengal column moved upoa their vight, the other
half standing fast at Sukkur; so that they had in their immediate neigh-
bourhood three armies, amounting in all to above 20,000 men, After a
considerable halt at Tatta, collecting camels and making other prepa-
rations, as well as carrying on negotiations with the Ameers, the force
moved on to Jerruck, one of the strongest positions on the Indus, and
within two marches of Hydrabad, Here it was that the Ameers were
desired to communicate their final answer to the terms proposed. They at first
resolutely refused their assent to these, and Sir John Keane adopted measures
without loss of time to compel them to come in to our views. He dispatched
messengers and additional guards down the river to hasten up and protect
the heavy ordnance and ammuaition, which would be required in the event
of an attack upon Hydrabad becoming necessary; while the other demon-
strations from the force above were directed as already detailed, The
Ameers secing themselves in this serious predicament--threatened with an
attack upon their capital from all points, immediately gave in to all the
terms proposed to them.

It did not come within the plan for the campaign that Hydrabad shounld
be taken, or the Ameers deposed : the instructions of Lord Auckland were
very strong and specific on this point, and nothing short of an actnal attack
on our troops, or positive refusal of the Ameers to come in to our terms,
would have justified the Commander-in-Chief in using force and attacking
their capital; it being thought that the consequences of such a measure
might retard the ulterior operations of the campaign, and perhaps the
season bo so far advanced as to render hazardous the march of the troops
through the Bolan Pass, and thereby delay the operations for a whole year
The resident, Colonel Pottinger, was most resolute in resisting ali proposi-
tions involving the idea of actual aggression, to which abundant provecation
had beeu given. The Governor-General was afterwards greatly pleased
with Sir John Keane’s management of the affair. (15) The brushwood
adjoining the camp having taken fire, during the halt at Jerruck, three
promising young officers, who had been out shooting, were burnt to death.

On the 24th Jan, the Bengal eolumn reached Roree, on the Indus; and on

15. We stata this on the authority subsequently referred to as unquestion-
able, although not named. An impression has hitherto very generally pre-
vailed that Sir J. Keane was in fault in not having attacked Hydrabad : on
not oint were his instructions more explicit : they were to the effect notified
in the text.
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the 27th erossed to Sukkur, on the left bank, by a bridge of boats.
Bukkaur, a strong fort situated on a rocky island in the middle of the river,
was, after some delay, eeded to us by authority of the Ameer of Khyrpoor.
Qn the 26th, a detachment of 5,500 men was dispatched towards Hydra-
bad, under Sir W. Cotton, to act in concert with the army of Sir John
Keane, whose movements have just been given, should the conduct of the
Ameers have compelled active measures to be resorted to. The treaty had,
however, meanwhile been subscribed ; and, when seven marches on his
way, Sir W, Cotton was, on the 6th February, ordered to retrace his steps.
The Shah’s contingent baving marched in a line nearly parallel to that of
Sir W. Cotton’s detachment, but on the western side of the river and at
some distance from its banks, had meanwhile oecupied Larkhana some 25
miles lower down, but on the same side with Shikarpore. Intimation
having been received that there was no further occasion for their services in
the direction of Hydrabad, the two detachments retraced their steps, and
roturned to head-quarters ; that on tlLe right bank of the river baving
crossed the Jndus from Roree to Sukkur by a bridge of boats betwixt the
13th and 15th. At Sehwan, Sir Henry Fane and Sir John Keane met by a
preconcerted plan, and the meeting was such as could not but gratify all
who saw it. The two men embraced: they had always, it seems, Leen
upon the most intimate and friendly terms, and meeting for the first time in
the east on such an occasion, and in such a place, was full of interest-

On reaching Larkhana, Sir Jobn Keane, in a general order, dated 10th
March, announced to the troops of both presidencies the arrangements con-
sequent upon his assuming the command, in obedience to the Governor-
General’s orders, by which amongst other things Sir Willoughby Cotton,
as a matter of course, fell back to the command of his division, General
Nott to his brigade, and Colonel Dennie to his regiment ; Major-General
Willshire to command the Bombay division, Major-General Thackwell the
cavalry division, and Brigadier Stevenson, as senior officer, the artillery of
Loth presidencies. Tle troops of Bengal and Bombay to be guided as much
as possible by the regulations of their own particular presidency ; and the
orders of the Commander-in-Clief intended for both to be issued through,
and signed by, Lieut..Colonel Macdonald, the Leputy Adjutant-General of
Queen’s troops, Bombay, and senior officer in the department of the
Adjutant-General with the force, officiating also as Military Secretary to
his Excellency.

Sir John Keane quitted the Bombay column a few days afterwards for
the advance, taking as his escort a wing of the Ist cavalry, and one of the
19th Native Infantry. On reaching Dadur, he had his first interview with
his Majesty Shah Soojah and Mr, (afterwards Sir William) Macnaghten,
whose camp had reachied that place the day before, and all moved on
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together through the Bolan Pass, The Shah's camp continued during all
the after operations with the Commander-in- Chief,

The Governor-General employed Sir Alexander Burnes, Major Leech,
and several other officers to collect camels, and was under the impression
that when all should be concentrated at Shikarpore, they (including those
with the Bengal column) would amount to 45,000 ; and this number, he
ioformed Sir John Keane, should be distributed into fair proportions
between the troops of the two presidencies and Shah Soojah's contiagent,
but not one half this amount was ever collected. The Bengal column,
which had just arrived, teok it for granted that all the camels were for
them ; and thought it extremely hard that the Commander-in-Chief should
order any to be appropriated for the Bombay troops, or for the Shah: the
Bengal Commissariat officers left at Shikarpore, in particular managed ta
evade every order sent to them to dispatch camels to Larkhana, until Cap-
tain Outram was sent there; and Colonel Dennie, who was then in charge,
exercised his authority very properly on that point. At this time Colonel
Dennie was still in command of two native regiments of General Nott's
brigade, and thought it hard these troops should be left there, and the
camels given up for raw levies of the Shah. On this point he addressed a
letter to Colonel Macdonald for the information of the Commander-in-
Chief; and out of this has arisen an erronecus impression, as now ascers
tained, that Colonel Dennie thereby incurred the displeasure of Sir John
Keane. His Excellency was himself completely of the same opinion with
Colonel Dennie, but the Governor-General's policy and his orders were, to
send on the Shah’s contingent entire if possible. It seems Sir John Keane
at this period had a very high opinion of Colonel Dennie ; that he thought
equally well of bim when he joined at Candahar; and up to the day after
Ghuznie was taken, when, by a visit Colonel Deanie paid him in his tent,
he greatly offended the Commander-in-Chief. (16) The reports, therefere,
which have gained such extensive circulation, countenanced as they are by
hia own letters since published, that Sir John Keane bore enmity to Colonel
Dennie before the capture of Ghuznie, are totally without foundation.’
Sir John Keane felt himself bound to disapprave of some arrangements
made by Colonel Dennie, when he volunteered to take charge of a convoy
from Dadur through the Bolan Pass, which included two troops of the
Shah's artillery, a great part of the material belonging to them having been
captured by bands of plunderers and robbers in the pass on that occasion ;
but this circumstance made no difference in the feelings of the Commander—

16. We give this view of the case on the highest authority : our own
impressions have, we confess, been hitherto different: we are happy to have
this opportunity of correcting them,



86

in-Chief towards Colonel Dennie, who was a guest at Sir John Keane's
table, partaking of his hospitalities during the halt at Candahar.

A resorve force of 3,000 men had heen ordered up from Bombay to be
stationed at Kurrachee. They landed near the town on the 3d February,
sbout 50 miles from the Hujamry mouth of the Indus, where the troops
under Sir John Keane had disembarked on the 27th November,

The fishermen on the coast had informed them that the fort was one of
the strongest in Lower Scinde, and that it was defended by one of the
Ameers in persoo, with an army of 8,000 men. Her Majesty’s ships
Wellesley and Algerine, under command of Admiral Sir F. Maitland, ac-
companied the transports, Her Majesty’s 40th having landed under com-
mand of Colonel Valiant, with some artillery, the fort was levelled by the
first broadside of the men-of-war, and was within the hour in our posses-
sion, without the troops having occasion to fire a shot. The garrison
were captured in endeavouring to make their escape, and were found te
consist of no more than 20 men! Cholera, which has since that period
proved so fatal to the troops stationed at Kurrachee, broke out soon after the
brigade was encamped, and carried off many men ; together with Colonel
Thomas Powell of the 40th regiment ; an old and experienced Peninsular
officer, much regretted. To return, however, to the armies now on
their march towards the mountains. It had beean agreed that the Ben-
gal division, for the sake of conveniency of carrying on baggage and
supplies, should move at some distance abead of the Bombay troops,
which had not yst overtaken them, and by a line considerably to the
right, and that the whole army should unite at Candahar. It was at one
time proposed that Sir John Keane’s force should ascend the Gundava Pass,
and take a line of route for a time forming an acute angle with that the
others pursued. This resolution wae, however, departed from, from the
apprehension of ebstructions which proved to be unreal. The descent of
Sir T. Willshire by this pass, after the fall of Kelat the following November,
shewed its perfect practieability. (17) The whole of the principal division,
which bad been separated into three portions by the diversion on Hydrabad,
having, as already stated, been once more reunited on the 17th February,
proceeded towards Shikarpore, a large commercial town containing about
6,000 houses, and 30,000 inhabitants, on the edge of the desert, (18)
which interposes itself betwixt Scinde and the fertile plains of Cutchee,
skirting the foot of the mountains; the Bengal 85th Native Infantry had
been ordered to stand fast at Sukkur till relieved, part of the treasure
having been deposited in the adjoining fort of Bukkur. Sir Willoughby
Cotton arrived at Shikarpore on the 20th February; the other portions of

17. Kennedy, vol. ii., p. 157.
18, Hougb, p. 33 —Sir Alexander Burnes’s Travels to Bokhara.
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the force having come in in the course of the five preceding days, orders
were given to commence the march towards the Bolan Pass without delay,
The force under his immediate command, ineluding the Shah’s contingent,
amounted to about 15,000 fighting men, attended by about 0,000 camp-~
followers ; so that there were nearly 100,000 people to feed from the com-
missariat. (19) This was altogether independent of the Bombay division,
amounting to 5,500 fighting men, with probably not fewer than 30,000
camp-followers ; so that the whole army betwixt Kurraches—where the
reserve of 3,000 was stationed—and Dadur, just before we entered the
Bolan Pass, amounted to 27,000 soldiers, and probably 125,000 camp-
followers,—or nearly 130,000 in all. The Bombay camp followers provid-
ed their own food, and were not ratiored by the commissariat. The
desert having been crossed in safety, Dadur, at the foot of the moun-
tains 150 miles beyond Shikarpore, was attained by the 6th March, the
Bombay troops being still nine marches, or nearly 100 miles, hehind.
Here supplies began to run short, so that it was thought prudent to
put the non-combatants of the Bengal column on half rations before
entering the mountain country. Yet they had scarcely left the terri.
tories of professing allies, and overcome no more than one-half of the
road to Cabool; they had hitherto lost little or nothing by pillage, and
never encountered an enemy, Dadur is, as already stated, the nearest
town to the base of that enormous ridge which, buttress-like, sup-
ports the table land beyond. The latter is here attained by the defile
known by the name of the Bolan Pass—a terrible chasm which, in the
course of 70 miles, carries the traveller to a height of 5,637 feet above the
level of the plains below, which are here about 750 feet in height above the
sea, This portion of the country is inhabited by the poorest and wildest
tribes, who live entirely by plunder—supporting existence on the plainest
and scantiest fare. Fortunately, they offered no opposition to our troops
till just about to quit the defile, when some skirmishing took place, by
which a few of our people were wounded. The excessive barrenness and
steepness of the line of march had ecaused the destruction of a vast number
of horses and camels, and a considerable loss of private baggage. On the
26th March the troops arrived, in safety, at Quettah, where a very short
halt was permitted them, This is the capital of the fertile valleys of Shawl
and Pesheen. It contains a population of about 6,000 souls. The territory
was, in the reign of Ahmed Shah, made over to Kelat on condition of con-
tributing a contingent of 12,000 men when the exigencies of the state

19. Hough, p. 34. Wo give the above on the aathority of Major Hough.
We are assured, however, by a member of Lord Keane’sstaff, that the camp-
fot"?;weé'hm“t be prodigiously over-rated—28,000 only having been mustered
at Candahar.



88

required it : it afterwards became, along with Kelat, wholly independent of
Candahar, whose chiefs desired to keep it in subjection. We bave just
seen how the expectations of the armay had been disappointed in obtaining
supplies from the Ameers of Hydrabad and Khyrpoor; a more severe
source of mortification awaited them in the non-fulfilment of the promises
of Mehrab Khan of Kelat, whose dominions had been traversed by us from
a little beyond Shikarpore to Quettah. The chief just named goveraed the
various rude tribes who inhabit the eastern portion of Beloochistan. He
could boast a descent from seven princes; was a shrewd, brave, unseru-
pulous ruler, who had never rought our friendship, or received overtures of
amity, till the march of our armies had begun. ¢ While the Doorannes
empire preserved the semblance of authority [says Masson], there was,
agreeably to the original treaty concluded between Ahmed Shah and
Nasser Khan, a Belooch force of ono thousand men stationed in Cashmere;
and the Khans of Kelat had ever been attentive to the observance of their
engagements. On the dislocation of the empire, and after Cashmere had
been lost (1809), there was, of course, an end to the treaty, and, virtnally,
of dependence.” * So long as there was a nominal Shah in the country,
as in the case of the Shah Ayub, they professed a certain allegiance; but
when, by the final partition of the remnants of the Doorannee empire, it
became parcelled into small and separate chiefships, they no longer felt the
. necessity of acknowledging the supremacy of either.”” (20) In 1834, when
the Shah Soojah was defeated at Candahar, Mehrab Khan gave him
shelter, and refused to deliver him up to his enemies. (21) In November,
1838, Sir Alexander Burnes (22) had beea dispatched to Shikarpore to
endeavour to obtain a treaty with him, binding himself to supply our army
with carriage and provisions so far as our march lay through his country.
For this, the Khan was to receive a subsidy of £15,000 a-year during the
war, besides payment for the supplies ; but was to be denuded of all his
independence, and a moiety of his territory, so soon as the Shah was
restored] He heid out as long as he could, bat at length gave a hesi-
.tating, reluctant, and apparently insincere assent, It was no wonder that
be should have been concussed into this: an army of 20,000 men was then
on its march, the whole of which was to pass through his territories—one-
fourth of it by the Gundava route, subsequently abandoned, close to his

20. Journies in Beloochistan, Affghanistan, and the Punjaub, by Charles
Masson. 3 vols: Bentley, 1842, vol. i1, p. 101,

21. Ibid, p. 102, Mr. Masson was the chief, or rather the only, authority
referred to by Sir C. M. Wade, in support of the views afterwards adopted by
Lord Auckland in opposition to those ot Sir Alex. Burnes.

22. Sir Alexander Burnes was appointed Envoy to Kelat and other states,
under Mr. Macnaghten’s direction«General Notification by the Gevernor«
General, Simla, October 1,
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capital.  All the historians of the campaign agree that, had this last line of
march been pursued by the Bombay columo, Kelat would have been dealt
with at oace. Mehrab promised plentifully, as most oriental, and many
European princes, under these circamstances, would have done; trusting
that the chapter of accidents would enable him to evade, or release him
from, a treaty which was acceded to under fear or constraint, and which we
had no right whatever to impose upon him. Major Leech had been at
Kolat some months before (August 1838), urging the chief to supply us on
our march. The answer received at this time was such as to furnish but
little hope thiat our wishes would be complied with. (23) It is important
to keep these things in view: the affairs of Kelat furnish two singularly
important episodes further on in our narrative; and nearly all the writers
of the time, apparently without searehing into the facts, or geriously eon-
sidering the matter, concur in condemning the Khan as guilty of some
grievous piece of ingratitude, or a gross breach of treaty,~—well deserving
the capital punishment afterwards inflicted on bim! Before leaving Shik.
arpore the Kelat chief had desired us to send people to take charge of the
stores he had provided for us, as he would not be responsible for their
safety. On applying at Dadur for what we considered we had reason to
expect from him, less than one-tenth of what we looked for was found to
have been provided. Oa the 24th March, Sir Alex. Burnes, with Lieu-
tenants Simpson and Paterson, went from Sir-i-ab on a further embassy to
Kelat, to endeavour to reason the chief into terms, *‘ He appears [says
Atkinson] to have had a morbid dread of the Shah Soojah ; and could not
be brought to promite that he would see him, without the assurance that
the British would stand his friends, and gunarantee his safety.” (24) Ho
was informed that he needed be under no apprehension on that head,—that
he should hold the territory dependent on Cabool, (25) on the same terms
as in the reign of Ahmed Shah, grandfather of the Shah Soojah, in the
middle of the preceding century, He was, as formerly intimated, proposed
to receive a subsidy of £15,000 a-year during the tontinuance of our army

23. Hough, p. 45, note :—* I must say, [writes Hough,] he, i. ¢, Major
Leech, was never very sanguine as to his keeping his promise.”

24. Hough, p 73, note. The above are nearly the words said {o have been
used by the Khan.

25, '%he Expedition into Affghanistan—by Dr. J. Atkinson, Superintending
Surgeon of the Bengal Division. The apprehensions here detailed were, in
all fikelihood, a feint to get rid of a peculiarly disagreeable arrangement.
The whole of the Kelat episode has been excessively compressed. Our treat-
" ment of Mehrab Khan was, perhaps, the most tyrannous proceeding during

the campaign, We send an army of 20,000 men into the country—ask one of
the rulers to supply us with the means of carrying on the war, which, if sue-
cessful, robs him of his power and independence—and then, when he en-
g::gl:{“fn fio resist us, we attack and plunder his capital, and kill himself and

ief

(]
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in the direction of Khorassan, on condition of supplying provisions, ear-
riage, and escorts, to the exteat of his ability; all of which were to be
separately paid for. After a good deal of shuffling and evasion, he at length
subscribed the treaty. When it is considered that, during the Barukzye
rule, Kelat and its acquisitions—Quettah and Shawl smongst the rest—
had been perfectly independent, his reluctance to accede to a measure
whose object was the restoration to the throne a man who had treated him
with gross ingratitude, and who he bated and despised ,—and that from
this must follow the loss of the fairest balf of his country, and all I:’s inde-
pendence,—his aversion to our advance, and reluctance to assist vs, seems
neither so marvellous nor reprehensible as the writers of the tirze appear to
regard it. The provisions were' at length promised, hut were not forth-
eoming, and the paymeot never was required. (26) Burnes gives a very
minute account of one of his discussions with this Chief, in a letter to
Government, dated March 30, 1839. He said that ** Dost Mahomed was
s man of resource and ability ; and though we could ecasily put him down
through the Shuh Soojah, even in our present mode of procedure, we could
never win over the Affghan nation by it (27) <« Wait,” said he, ¢ till
sickress overtakes your troops—till they are exhausted with fatigue from
long and harassing marches, and from the total want of supplies; wait till
they have drank of many waters ; and wait, too, till they feel the sharp.
ness of the Affghan swords.” (28) The Khan is said, on another occasion,
to have used these ominous words :—** You have brought an army into the
country, but how do you propose to take it out again ?'' (29)—the very
expression which fell from the Duke of Wellington, on the same subject, on

246. These statements are given on the authority of Major Hough, who is
generally correct, though lie does not quote his informant, He states that
Lieut. Simpson, one of tte party, informed him that a plot had beeu laid by
Meurab Khan to murder them, which was oniy toiled by their sudden depar-
ture. ‘This is not noticcd in any of the letters, either public or private, of Sir
Alexander Burnes,—who speaks of the Khau with great respect : neither is it
£0 by Masson, to whom he was intimately known : and we hold it, therefore,
ground.ess, as it certainly is eminently improbable.

27. ‘I'lis letter was first published in the Bombay Times of the 24th and 27th
August, 18412—Subsequently at greater length in the Caledonian Mercury, (an
Ediuburgh paper) 2:d Oct, 18+2. Several other documents appear in this
paper not previously printed, to which we shall have occasion to refer. Burnes
coucludes Jus letter to Government by staung, in reference to the counsel the
Kelat Chiet had oftered as to the couduct ot the Shah Soojah—¢ 1 agreed his
advice was sound and good.” .

28 Atkinson, p- 131, Dr, Atkinson’s bock contains far the fullqst informa-
tivn of any of cur printed authorities on the Kelat treaty. His facts and
interences, however, scem often singularly incouscquential, He gives | the

. above as evidence of the connection of the Chief with Persia and Russia |

29. We take this from Hough : it is not mentioned by Burnes 'The remark-
able sugacity of ihe observations of the who!e of the Affghan Chiefs, as given
in the uflicial papers, contrasts strikingly with the flimsy sophistry of Lord
Auckland’s politicals,
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the intimation of our advance into the country having been made in parlia-
ment. (30) We never took the army out of the country—their bones rest
in Affghanistan! Sir Alex. Burnes rejoined the force on the 7th April,
withont any satisfactory arrangement having been effected. *To return
from this digression to the Bengal column, which we left at Quettah—the
Bombay column not having as yet entered the Bolan Pass. On the 4th
April, Sir John Keane having established his head-quarters at Quettah
_issued an order in continuation of that promulgated at Larkhana, dated 10th
March, by which Sir W. Cotton was directed to resume charge of the frst
division, and General Nott of the second brigade, from which they had
been temporarily transferred on the 4th December. . Colonel Dennie, who
had been left in command of trcops at Shikarpore, was ordered to join his
regiment,—Brigadier Gordon, commanding in Upper Scinde, succeeding to
his duties. The other details may be passed over for the present. So
scarce and dear had grain already become, that the camp-followers greedily
devoured the fried skins of sheep, coagulated blood, roots, or whatever else
they eould procure, to save themselves from starvation. (31) With a
" march of 150 miles before them to Candahar, they were obliged to push on
a8 far as Pesheen (25 miles) with only ten days’ half rations for the men,
and none at all for the cattle. (32) All communication betwixt the front
and rear divisions, now 100 miles apart from each other, was completely
cut off by the tribes in the Pass. A very unlooked for spirit of discon~
tent had began to make its appeirance amongst the Bengal troops just
before Sir John Keane took command at Quettah: They had been on
half ratiens for some time before his arrival, and had permitted themselves
to believe that their situation was desperate. A political officer (Major
Leech, we understand) tendered his advice, in writing, to Sir Willough-
by Cotton, among otlier alterations, that a retreat towards Shikarpore would
be prudent; this baneful counsel got circulation through the camp, and
was in everybody's mouth, and many had made up their minds that it must
end in a retreat. The first act of Sir John Keane wase, to desire that no
officer or soldier should permit themselves to indulge in such nonsensical
and mischievous talk, and he issued an order for a march forward the
next morning. This confidence on the part of the Commander-in-Chief
seemed to iaspire spirit in all. The adoption of some prompt and stringent
measure for the subsistence of the troops now became indispensable; and
as more than nine days’ provisions for a fifieen days’ march could not on
any terms be procured, the fighting men were put on half, and the non~
combataats, v..:0 had been reduced to this ten days before, were bronght

30. Hansard’s Debates, February, 1839,
31. Hough, p. 74.
32. Outram, p. 62
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déwn to quarier rations (88)-—or, ss Havelock calls it, famine allow-
dnce, (84) Oon the first march towards Candahar, sixty of the artillery
horses weré shot, to prevent them from falliog into the hands of the enemy,
<=no more food for them being procurable, In the course of seven days,
116 cavalry horses died from the effects of starvation; and of esting
4 poisonous weed often mixed with the grass which was gathiered : and, be<
twixt the 6th April and middle of June; this arm of the servico was nearly
disabled for want of food ! Nine hundred camels had died in the course of
threo months! (85) It is needless to follow, in detail, the footsteps of the
troops on their march to Candahar—a distance of 150 miles, which occu-
pled them till the 6th April. They found some supplies of forage, as well
& live-stock, on the way—as welcome as unlooked-for,— which con-
siderably relieved the pressure of their neceasities, They were incessantly
harassed by the predatory tribes, who, without venturing to attack them,
émitted no opportunity of committing the most audacious acts of robbery
on their baggage. These were, on most occasions, pursued, and on many
evertaken ; and, when captured, were- hanged or shot—no quarter being
on suy oecasion given them. On the 26th April the liead—quarters of the -
army reached Candahar. (36) The Bengal column had traversed a distanee
of 1,000 miles since quitting Ferozepore ; the non-combatants had been on
half or on quarter rations for the preceding 48 days; the fighting men,
with the cattle of all arms, on half rations ; the cavalry and light artillery
Borses had had no grain fer 26 days, snd were at length found aunfit for
duty,—in which state they continued for tome weeks after their halt. (37)

‘We must now return, however, and trace the progress of the Bombay
column; which, when the Bengal troops entered the Bolan Pass, was nine
marehes in the rear, but had now so far gained on the advance as to be in
the Kojjuck Pass, 60 miles bebind, when the head-quarters of the grand
army arrived under the walls of Candahar,

On the forward movement, just after the demonstration opposite Hydra-
bad, betwixt the 4th and 10th February, the Bombay column kept along
the western bank of the Indus, continuing to approach the range which
divides Lower from Upper Scinde at the Lukkee Pass. Here 1,000 men
wore, for four days, employed in cutting a road along the face of the pre.
tipice which overhangs the river, and in dragging up the guns and heavy
bsggsge. Having experienced some inconvenience in consequence of an
order which; Laving been misunderstood, caused the baggage to separate

s

83. Atkioson, )

34, Havelock, vol. i., p. 255.

35. Ibid, p. 298.

86. Hough, p. 96. Havelock, p. 208,

37. Kennedy- vol. i., pp. 188 10 209, gives & véry livély ard graphic adcount
of the march of the Bombay column till it fell, at Dadur, into the routs of
that which preceded it.
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into several portious, and some alarm in crossing the Arul, a large artificial
canal, where the pontoon bridge was threatened to be carrled away by a
premature inundation ;—tbey, on the 8d March, reached Larkhana, the
pest already deseribed as baving been occupied by the Shah’s troops on
their descent from Bukkur to assist in hastening the resolves of the Ameers.
In the plaa of operations for the campaign, one brigade at least of the
Bombay troops was ordered to be left on the banks of the Indus, to be
distribated as might be found mecessary; and such portions stationed at
Stikkur and Shikarpore, and along the line to Dadur, ss might be deemed
proper to keep up the communication with the brigade of Bengal troops
above the Bolan Pase, at Quettah, and the advance—three n ative regiments
under Brigadier Gordon, were, therefore, selected for the purpose. Indeed,
1t would have been alinost impossible to have taken them on for want of
carriage. The remainder of the Bombay column, thea redaced to 8600
men, two-thirds European and the other natives of India (lst Cavalry
sud 19th Bombay Native Infantry) moved on, They crossed the desert
by & forced march of 80 miles on the 16th. A person sent to ex-
plore the Gundava Pass, returned and reported it impracticable. Had
it been threaded is was intended, it would have carried the force close
by Kelat, and out of the already impoverished track of the leading
division. It does riot appear how the reporter came to the conclusion
Jjust stated : that it was an erroneous one, appeared the following November,
by the facility with which it was traversed in the opposite direction by our
troops. Oun the 23d March, Sir John Keane, with his staff, escorted by a
detachment of Bombay light cavalry, quitted the force, and after joining
Shal Socjah st Dadur on the 28th March, arrived, as already stated, at his
éommand at Quettah on the 4tk April. He was succeeded in charge by
Sie T. Willshite. (38) Mehtab Khan, whose actual hostility towards us
Bad scarcely sought to conceat itself by so mueh of the semblance of friend-
ship as to misléad any one, even when in the act of treating with us,
appears to have urged the tribes along the line of our march to practise
évery species of annoyance against us ; a system which needed little stimu-
lant amongst the predatory hordes, who have, from time immemorial, sub-
sisted almost entirely by plunder. In an intercepted letter addressed to &
hill chief, of a date subsequent to that of the tresty of the beginning of
April, lie is repotted to have written~‘* What is the use of your treaties
and your srrangements? all child’s play. There is no reliof but in death :
no cure but in the destruction of the English: Their heads, goods, and
bodies must be sacrificed. Strengthen the Pass. Call on all the tribes to
lisrass aud destroy.” (39) How nearly this system had proved successful,

38. Kennedy, wt supra. . . . .
39. Atkinsoi: P lsg—Though both Major Hough and Dr Atkinson furnish
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uader the very impe:fect shape it assumed, we have already seen: hadl.it
been carried out as just suggested, the campaign would probably have
cloged short of Candahar. Orders had been given to withhold all grain
from us in Cutchee; and the most annoying system was that of rifling the
letter—bags, so that, from the end of March till the troops reached Cabool
in August, the safe arrival of not a single packet could ever be depended
on. (40) Numberless executions occurred in consequence of this very
vexatious species of molestation ; but it does not appear to have, in any
degree, decreased with the deaths of a few of the culprits. On the 8th
April, the now Jiminished columa, having suffere! grievously from exces-
sive heat—the thermometer often standing as high as 101°—reached Dadur,
and found Major Griffiths in chiarge of the depot of the Bengal commise
sariat, Stores having been received from Shikarpore, the whole of the
troops had entered the Bolan Pazss by the 12th, . The thermometer was
110°; but could they have borne fire by thinking on the. snuwy Caucasus»
the accounts they received of a snow storm which had been experienced just
above the Pass a few weeks befure would have relieved them. Oa the 20th
they reached Quettah, having, on their progress through the Pass, escaped
molestation from the-enemy till near the conclusion ; a rather sharp attack
was made upon them jn a very exposed position, but occasioned nothing
more than the loss of some baggage and three or four men: the loss of
forty-nire camel-loads of grain, with five horses killed, was the heaviest of
our casualties. (41) During the march from Dadur they had been con-
siderably annoyed by the stench of dead camels, and multitudes of unburied
bodies of the enemy left behind along -the line of the advance of the first
division. General Nott, with the second brigade, and a considerable force
of foot artillery, had been left behind at Quettah to keep open the com-
munication with the rear. Here, a large amount of camel-men deserted.

facts sufficient to illustrate the character of the chief, as well as to prove the
sagacity, if not the honesty, of the system proposed to be put in force, neither
of them seem to comprenend the drift of their own statements! They speak of
Mehrab Khan as a weak-minded traitor, well deserving the punishment inflict-
ed on him, because he promised but did not fulfil that which he dared not
refuse, but might well withtiold ! Major Havelock and Sir A. Burnes give him
due credit for talent and savacity. ‘

40. Keunedy speaks of this as having been done in sheer wantonness of
mischief. This is improbable : it is easily accounted for by the wish of in-
terrupting communication—by retarding dispatches—a motive which has been
held 1o legitimatise this species of annoyance in every war. Masson gives par-
ticulars of matters of this sort, when he and Loveday were prisoners in the
hands of the Brahoes in August 1840 —see Masson’s letter dated Quettah, Dec.
24, 1840,—published in the Bombay Times, March 13; and Summary, April 1.
Dr Kennedy mentions that the Khan had been sent mounies as bribes, and re-
ceived all he got: we cannot discover any evidence whatever of this in any
quarter. All the other writers agree that he was promised a subsidy,—but
he never earned, nor, so far as we can perceive, obtained any.

41. Outram, p. 68.
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The sudden change of climate which, in the course of ten days, had
elevated their position by nearly 5,000 feet, and lowered the temperature
from 96° or 104° to 80° and 58° produced a slight, but almost universal,
though transient, attack of dysentery. Nothing ef any note, further than
what has just been mentioned, occurred till they reached Candahar, where
they arrived, by rapid marches, on the 4th May, and found the Bengal
troops, who had been there since the 26th April,

Befure proceeding to examine the state of affairs at Candahar, we must
record a notable adventure of an officer already well known to fame through
forty years of distinguished military service ; and whose name, from this
date to the close of his honourable career leading the van at Jellalabad on
the 7th April 1842, occupies a conrpicuous place in the narrative of the con-
flicts which from this time, on to the memorable close of our conneztion
with the country three years and a-half afierwards, continued almost
without jntermission. The party just referred to was Lientenant Colonel
Dennie, of H. M. 13th Light Infantry. He had been left in command of
the second brigade, consisting of the 31st and 42d Bengal Native Infantry,
ordered to remain at Shikarpore till means of conveyance should reach them
from Mooltan and the Panjaub : this was a temporary arrangement, which
ceased on the remodelling of the commands. The reserve stores and car-
riage were here put under his charge ; while he was, at the same time, en-
gaged in organizing a portion of the raw levies directed toform the Shah's
contingent. (42) * No sooner had Head Quarters got above the pass, than
the whole of the camels, horses, and means of conveyaunce were withdrawn
from Shikarpore. Colonel Dennie remonstrated ; but in vain : he complain-
ed that he had neither been left hands or feet (43)—neither the means of
defeuce or escape. Remonstrance, however, was useless, andin this help-
less state he remained at Shikarpore till the end of March, Captain Stock-

42. Colonel Dennie’s letters, 9th March 1839, and 24th Nov, 1840. As we
shall have frequeut occasion to refer to these papers, we may state that t.ey
cousist of a series of letters to friends in Bombay, not immediately meaut tor
pubiication, but of which the writer stated that any use might be made which
was desired. provided he was not in his military capacity committed with his
superior officers. A nuwber of these were published either in substance, or
in the shape of articles, during his life, wittiout the author being referred to,
and the proceeding was, we have every reasoun to believe, highly approved of,
When lus death removed all personal objections to their appearing in the
form in which they were written, a selection wade from them was published in
the Bombay Times during the month of April. They form importaut historical
documents on many points where our information was defective. A similar
series of letters, rather of an earlier date, was published in the Dublin Uni-
versity Magaziue for September and October 1842. A uumber ot unpublished
letters from tue same quarter are in the present writer’s hands: they also have
occasionally been drawn upon, and are marked MSS. gapers.'

43. Letter dated Cabool, I3th April 1841. We have given nearly the
whole ot the letter. :



8
96

ley of the Bombay commis:ariat, had, in the mean time, while on his way
to Dadur with cattle, grain, and stores, been surrounded and shut up in
the fort of Janneedeera by the Beloochees ; 250 of his eamels had been
eaptured, and numbers of his people had been cut up. (44) Securinga
few treasure camels, the only cattle left bim, with 200 sepoys he maiched
to the rescue ; and, after a rapid march of 150 miles, one-third of it across
the desert, he succeeded in saving the convoy, and delivering it safely
over to the commissariat depot at Dadur. All intercourse betwixt the
troops above and those below the pass had, as before explained, beem cut
off by the Beloochees. It was here, in the middle of May, that hefirst
learned of the Quettah General Order of the 4th of April, already advert.
ed to, ordering him to join his regiment, now on its way to Candabar, At
Dadur, Captsin Anderson, commanding two newly raised troops of the
Shal’s Horse Artillery, with tumbrils, ammunition waggouns, &c., amounts
ing to 50 carriages, elained Colonel Dennie's protection through the Bolan
Pass. Opposed in like wanner by a numerous enemy the grester part of
the way, with horses that could not draw,and boys that could not ride—
compelled to halt every alternate day in this mountainous and rocky defile,
they were destitute for several days of all powcer, and their casualiies in
killed and wounded were necessarily increased by men dying of apoplexy or
going mad from heat. With all these obstacles to be overcome, the de-
tachment was brought in safety to Quettah with astonishingly little loss.
From Quettali, Colonel Dennie, with this insignificant force, augmented
at Dadur by the accession of five companies of the Bengal 87th N. L, tock
charge of treasure to Candahar, a distance of 150 miles, the Kojjuck Pass
intervening. With this he arrived in safety, (45) and joined the head-
quarters of his regiment on the very day appointed.

Having thus brought our narrative to the point where the whole of the
elements of the grand army were assembled at Candahar, we msy be per-
mitted shortly to review the general sspect of the military arrangements of
Sir J. Keane at the opening of a campaign which, up to this date, could
scarcely be considered as begun. The troops had marched to the battle-
ground, but had hitherto met with no opposition : they were now about to
engage in combat, The army which had assembled at Candahar, by the
6th of May amounted to 10,400 (45) fighting men, of whieh the Bengal

44. Letter to Major Henderson, Officiating Military Auditor General.—Ca-
bool, 24th Nov. 1840,

45. Letter to Major Henderson, ut sup. He says in a published letter of
the 13th April 1841, ¢¢ I have always considered that duty the most arduous,
if not the most meritorious, which fell to my lot in Affghanistan.”

46. In all numerical matters we have taken Major Hough for our guide. He
ives no account of the Contingent in his muster roll, dated Candahar, 1st
une, This author is one of those whem every body copies, and no cre com-

mends. As a store-house of exact statistical facts, his work is invaluable ; but
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column supplied 6460, the Bombay division, last arrived, 3940 ; these were
exclusive of the Shah's Contingent, of whose exact strength, at this date,
wes are not informed, but which probably brought the force up to 15,000.
The followers at Candahar amounted in all to 28,653, of which more than
half were on the muster-roll, and a.l depended on the commissariat. These
were attended by about 4000 horses and bullocks, and above 10,000 ca-
mels. It was conputed, that from Shikarpore about 500 Beloochees had
been stain by us ; our own loss amounting to about 40 or 50 men, with about
500 horses, besides 900 camels, and a large quantity of baggzage.

The Shah’s Contingent constituted a description of force to which we shall
have such frequent accasion to refer, that we may here give a short notice
of its origin, expense, and uses. It consisted of six regiments of regular
infantry, two of cavalry, two troops of horse artillery, a corps of sappers
and miners, and a mountain train, besides five local corps of irregulars.
These amongst them mustered about 13,000 fighting men, paid and officered
by the Government of India, (47) at an outlay of about half a million an~

it is so dry, and so severely statistical, that it forms rather uninteresting
study by itself. Insaying this much, we most readily acknowledge the extent to
which, on the present and innumerable other occasions, we have been indebted
to him. Hough states in his journal, p. 105— The British force then present
at Candabar (Sth May) was about 9000 men, and there were about 3000 of the
Shah’s Contingent, besides some Affghan cavalry.”” We are unable exactly to
reconcile the two statements, but have assumed 15,000 as the gross number.
47. The following abstract of the charges of the Shah’s army was supplied
us by a Cabool correspondent of 27th September, 1841, whose name is un-
koown to us, but who, we have reason to believe, held a high official appoint-

ment :~—
Paid by the Indian Government, Rupees.

6 Regiments of Infantry of the line, yeariy.v.ccees avcece covnvnnrs ooone  7,92,000
1 Kohistanee Corps ....vveieesviiaaavesense ceee 78,000
1 Kbyber Corps ...eccenvtvaie sens cor s ocnavaee 78,000
1 Jezailchee Corps.. secovenee teseecasan 90,000
1 Bolan or Kakar Corps e .cveveeocscovnsssnsesocscs 48,000
2 Regular Cavalry Corps (50,000 monthly} .. ........ . 6,00,000
1 Atchpkzie do. vevernrnese covrcorevnsnscennes 36,000
2 Troops Horse Artillery .. ......... 1,44 GOO
1 Company Mountain Train ......... .o 54,000

<« 1,20,000

1 Corps of Sappers and Miners,.. «.ceveee cee covsresocacve sessessss
General 8taff:—(1 Brigadier, 1 Brigade Major, 1 Judge Advocate, |
Superintendent of Cavalry, 3 Cavalry Officers, 1 Artillery Officer)—
9500 MODEBLY .evt votovevs oeraereesanencmcscsrcanessnn s eevsenan e 1,14,000
Medical Department—(1 Surgeon, 5 Assistaat Surgeons).. 60,000
. Paid by the Shah.

4 Regiments of Jan Baz, 1 Battalion of Artillery Quards. Not pald by
the Company, and therefore the real cost unknown, but estimated at  6,00,000
Total, 28 lahks— 28,14,000

Add id for pension, half tings, and tingencies ...occveee.e o 9,38,000
Add C i iat Depar t, at 60,000 monthly ..eo seevevocenosnnes  7,20,000

Grand Total 44,72,000

1 necd not mention that the amount for pensions, half mountings, and contingencies, is very
uncertain ; I take it at 9,38,000, which, if not now, it will be at no distant day. Total, £447,200

sterling. . . A
Major Hough gives their numerical strength as high as 13,000 men, includ-

ing the Affghan and Kohistan levies of 4000, raised subsequent to our arrival
at Cabool.
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nually, their pay alone amounting to £280,000 ; the regular portion of
them consisted entirely of men of Hindostan, (48) The reason why this
body of raw levies should at the first juncture have been added toa couple
of well appointed armies, already adequately strong for the performance of
the task prescribed to ther, is not explained, Our ideas of the then prospec-
tive objects of the campaign are still so imperfect and obscure, that it would
be rash to pronounce an opinion on a piece of policy which seems eminent-
ly unwise and inexplicable, and in reference to the objects of which no one
has ventured to offer any information :—it was disapproved of by Sir J.
Keane, and censured by the highest military authorities. The only colour-
able pretext is that suggested by Colonel Dennie in his official letter to
Col. Macdonald, that * it was in the vain hope of giving plausibility to the
fiction that the Shah was entering his dominions surrounded by his own
troope,—when, in fact, it was too notorious to escape exposure; that he had

Hough in his preface, gives thefollowing as a recapitulation of the numeri-

cal strength of the force at the commencement of the campaign:—

* By way of Candahar, Bengal and Bombay columns, 13,030 ; Shah’s contin-
gent, 6070 ; total, 19,100. At Bukkur, under Brigadier Gordon 2200 ; reserve
at Kurrachee, 3050; reserve at Ferozepore, 5000. The Shahzada Timour's
force and Seikh contingent, to act by way of the Khyber Pass, 10,886. The
whole force amounting to 40,186. The difference betwixt this statement and
that already given from the same quarter, is not explained. The force left in
Affghanistan and Scinde amounted to 20,000 men, with from 70 to 80 guns.
‘This was gradually raised up to nearly 25,000 men before the insurrection
broke out. It is well to keep this in view, because it has been urged in-
numerable times, that we stripped the country of troops before it was quieted }

The subjoined from Major Hough’s preface, gives us the details of the
Shahzada’s force :—
Shahzada Timoor’s force, under Lieut.-Colonel Wade. Lieut. J. D. Cunning-
bam, Bengal Engineers, Mily. Secy. and Political Assistant.
Artillery.—Two 24-Prs. Howitzers and two 6-Prs. (and 20 Swivels)

under Lieut. Maule, Bengal Artillery, . . o e e 4

Golundauze, . N . . . . . . . . . 40
British,—2 Co.’s 20th (Capt. Ferris) and 2 Co.’s 21st N.L. (Capt.

Farmer), . . . . . . . . . . . 320
Cavalry.—Mahomedans armed with swords; shields and matchlocks

400—iregulars 600, . . . 1,000

Juzzailchees (rifles), 320. Infantry (matchlocks). Regulars 3 Bns.

(683)—2,040. 1rregulars 820 (under native commandants,) . 8,180
Affghans, . . . . . . . . . e . 100
Pioneers, . . . . . .. P . . . 200

. Total, . 4,840
British officers with these troops and commanding parties, Lieut. F. Macke-
son, 14th ; Lieut. Rattray, 20th, Political Assistant ; Lieut. J. G. Caulfield,
68th ; Lieut. Hillersden, b3rd Bengal N. I., and Dr Lord, Political Assistant
to Lieut.-Colonel Wade, Bombay establishment: Dr Alexander Reid, Bengal
establishment, in medical charge.
48. See letter of Colonel Dennie to Colonel Macdonald, D. A. G., Shikarpore,
March 9, 1839, We have as usual given nearly the words of the letter.
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not a single subject or Affghan amongst them,—his army being com-
posed of camp-followers from the Company’s military stations.”(49) We
can hardly suppose but that it was intended to leave the contingent behind
us as constituted—that is of Hindoo sepoys, commanded by British officers
and paid by the Company ; and yet if such was proposed at the time of the
publication of the Simla proclamation, the writers who stated that so
soon as the Shah Soojah was established on his threne, the British army
would be withdrawn, were guilty of embodying as gross an equivocation
in a Government proclamation as ever state paper contained ! To return
from these digressions, which have been considered mecessary for the full
elucidaticn of this portion of the narrative, the reader will recollect that
we have new arrived at that period when an army of 15,000 British soldiers
having encamped around Candahar, the Shah Soojah was prepared to
enter the western capital of the Doorannee empire—a city containing a po-
pulation of from 60,000 to 100,000 inbavitants.

On the approach of a force so perfoctly overwhelming, the three brother
Sirdars, who had for a period of 12 years maintained Candahar, fled with
their families and about 200 followers to Ghirisk, a small fortress on the
river Helmund, 80 miles distaut, which formerly belonged to one of the
other brothers, latterly to themselves. They left their capital on the 24th
April. ‘* Antecedently to the occupation of Candahar,” says Major Have-
lock, ¢ they might by timely submiasion have received at the hands of the
British government a comfortable provision and honourable asylum in
Hindustan ; they havs now no resource left but flight into Persia.'’ Who
doubts but they made the nobler choice ? It would be humbling were it not
ridiculous now to listen to the tone in which the contemporary narratives of the
Affghan war are written. The most unjustifiable acts of the Indian govern-
ment figure as worthy of all admiration ; the bold freedom of thought and

49. Letter dated Shikarpore, 9th March, 1859, addressed to Lieut. Colonel
Macdonald, Military Secretary to Lord Keane. We have so far given the
words of the letter as they stand. The following are farther extracts :—¢ I
cannot but lament, in common with the whole force, that two regular and
disciplined armies, brought from so great a distance with so much ditticulty and
cost; should, at the very moment of united action, be thus maimed aud dis-
membered merely for the sake of keeping together a mass of raw levies like
the Shah’s contingent, whose carriage and suppljes would suffice for the Ben-
gal and Bombay divisious, and who would again be much better employed in
being left here for formation and instruction, whereas in their present state
they must prove worse than worthless in advance. * * A necessary evil
which has arisen out of this has been the effort to establish the efficiency of
one part ot the army at the expense of the other,” &c. These observations
were as sound as fairly put, and their justice was hearlily concurred in by the
Commander-in-Chief. But the Government of India on this occasion desired
no advice on military matters from the officers in its service : Sir John Keane
knew this, and he troubled them with none, but executed what he was ordered.
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action manifested by the Affghans, whose analogies in our liistory are sources
of our highest and purest national pride, arespoken of by English officers as
pieces of fatnity wholly unaccountable! The Shah was anxious to have made
his troops pursue the Sirdars, and bring them back te camp : the more conside-
rate Envoy having, without success, endeavoured to make terms with them
and secure their submission or friendship, and fearing that the treatment
they migkt receive from any one under the immediate authority of the so-
vereign might not be altogether consistent with English justice or'genero-
sity, dispatched Brigadier Sale, on the 12th May, in pursuit of them ; who,
however, en approaching the Helmund, found that they had continued their
flight without interruption to Meshid in Persia. (50) The chiefs had been
driven to the alternative of seeking exile rather than attempting resistance,
by the treachery of one of their number—Hadjee Khan Kakur, who had de-
serted them, and shortly afterwards displayed similar treachery to us. They
proposed before this to have posted a body of cavalry to oppose us at the foot
of the Kojjuck pass, but had not carried their intention into effect. (51) This
arrangement, if conducted with the most ordinary skill, might bave been
sufficiently inconvenient for us, considering the strength of the position and
the crippled condition of the mounted portion of our troops.

On his approach to Candahar, the Shah appears to have been received in
a very friendly spirit by the populace. It was with the chiefs he was unpo-
pular; and they had quitted their country when they found their inability
to defend it. Up to this period the King kept in the rear of the British
Troops. * As we drew near to Candahar,” says Sir William Macnaghten
in a letter to Goveroment of the 24th April, ¢ at every hundred yards of
our progress we were met by bands of well-mounted and well-armed men,
all tendering their allegiance to bis majesty ; whilst the peaceable inhabitants
of the city assembled in crowds and manifested their joy at the Shah's re~
storation, in the most unbounded terms.'’(52) ¢*On the morning of the
24th April the king approached Candahar, but without any intention of
entering the city. The scarcity of water compelled his majesty to proceed
within three miles of the walls. This, atall events, was the excuse for
passing to the front, and leaving the British army in the rear. The king
was in advance of his own troops. The morning had scarcely dawned when
parties of horse were descried; they were soon ascertained to be friends
come to pay homage to their sovereign. They galloped up, dismounted,
drew up in line, prayed to the king, who welcomed them, and then fell
into the rear of the procession., One standard after another succeeded,

50. Atkioson, pp. 159, 160.
. B1. Kennedy, vol. ii., p, 248.
52, Dr Kennedy.



and ere his majesty enterel the ¢ity he had been joined by 1500 well-mount-
ed, dressed, and caparisoned horse. On his majesty’s entering into the
city, there conld not have been less than between 60,000 and 70,000 persons
present.”’(53) After they had visited the shrine containing the shirt of the
prophet, and prayed at his grandfather’s tomb, the party returned through
the city amidst universal demoostratious of loyalty and respect. These
emotions must either have been shallow, iusincere, or of very transient
duration, The Shah had not been six months seated on his throne, when
discontent and insurreclion made their appearance, which, in this quarter
never was subdued while we remained ip the country. On the 25th, the day
following that on which so favourable a reception had been given toa chance
visit, he took possession of his western capital in form. On the 8th of May
the whole of the British army was drawn ont in review order, by desire of the
sovereign, to make a display of our strength in the eyes of his subjects, and
celebrate fiis restoration to his throme, ¢ The king was surrounded by his
loving subjects, (says Lieutenant Fane,) and ragamuffia soldiers. but by
very few men of rank or consequence.”’(54) Nothing could have appeared
better than the whole array of people, butfrom fear or dislike of the Shah,
few, if any, men of influencein the country were present. ~ Itis needless to
give the details of the Shah’s levee, with the other regal ceremonies, by
whose meaps it was hoped to give the phantom the authority ofaking. The
modern eity of Candahar is comprised within a fortification, three miles in
circumference, forming an irregular oblong square, surrounded by a diteh
24 feet wideand 10 deep. The wall just within this is 27 feet in hgight, and
from 14 to 20 feet thick. It hassix gates, all at this time in bad repair.
The gateways are defended by six double bastions, and there are 54 lesser
bastions distributed along the face of the wall. There are four leading
streets running from north to south and from esst to west, and meeting in
the centrein a large circular space 50 feet in diameter, and covered in by a
dome. ‘This forms the principal market place, where the chief merchants
reside.

When we arrived at Candahar in April, the crops were in process
of rapid vegetation. We still clung to the hope that Mehrab Khan
would supply us with caitle and provisions; and as forage was becoming
more pleatiful as the season advanced, though the meauns of transport were
rather falling off than improving, we hung on from week to week till the

4 53. Letter from an officer of the Bombay force, published in a Bombay pa-
per;, quoted in Capt. Outram’s rough notes. This visit to the city wes made
at the sug%estion of the Envoy, and gave the greatest offence to Sir J. Keane.
1t certaioly was a singularly rash and imprudent adventure : wholly ignorant
a8 we were of the temper of the populace, it might have been fatal.

54. Five years in India—by Lieut. Henry Fane, late aid-de-camp to H, E.
the Commander in-chief ; now Captain in H. M. army, vol. ii,, p. 131.



approach of harvest :—that scason being later at (Ghuznee and Cabool than at
Candahasr, in consequence of the great additional elevation and higher lati-
tude of the latter two than the former, gave us reason to hope that we should
find the produce of the soil ready for us as we advanced. It was a singular
feature in the design of the campaign, that we should have sent an expedition
of such magnitude to so great a distance, knowing that for its success we
must in some measure be dependent on the aid of chiefs whom we might
punish for broken prowmises, but could not coerce, and whose whole interests
lay in retarding and resisting us. ¢ Had Mehrab Khan of Kela* obstructed
us in the Bolan Pass (says Dr. Kenonedy) ; (55) had Canlahar been proper-
ly defended ; had the 28 guns we found at Urgundah been bestowed for the
defence of Candahar and Ghuznee ; and had the 1200 cavalry shut up in the
latter fort been merely employed in riding round ue, wasting all the forage,
and watching all foraging parties from the Bolan Pass to Cabool : finally,
had Russian agency been so far developed as it was supposed, and ought to
have been, to have justified such a campaign ; had any oue of thesecontine
gencies occurred,—and not only one but all were to be looked for,—the army
could not have advanced ; not because we should not have been able to de-
feat the enemy if he would have givenus the oppertunity ; but because it
was his wisdom to avoid a contest, and the distance to be travelled exceeded
the means of any Commissariat to convey suppliesin the face of hostile
opposition. The wretchedness of the country denied pasture for our cattle,
and they must have perished on the road had the necessary delay occurred,
which mast have resulted from a cool and caleulating enemy, howerver feeble,
availing himself of the natural advantages his position gave him, and of the
length of way we had to travel.” At Caudahar there was every appeoar-
ance of a plentitul harvest. The Commander—in-Chief had a very heavy
respoasibility on his shoulders,—~that of the future provisioning of the army ;
and one of his first acts was to conzult the king and the envoy in regard
to the crops on the ground. It was considered, that if the owners cons:nt-
ed to receive a high price for their grain, and a certain number of the
largest mills were placed under the conirol of the commissariat, such
an arrangement would be the best, and least annoying to all parties ; but
unless the king could satisfactorily establish that he had power to guarantee
this, and assurance of it was given by the principal men in the place, and
by the owners of the crops, there was still left the power of might in the
hands of Sir John Keane, to take possession of the crops on the ground, and
pay the owners a fair valuation—but such a measure as this last was not to be
resorted to except in an extreme case. Themost satisfactory assurances were
given that there would be no occasion for coercion on the point of collect=

55, Campaign of the Army of the Indus, vol. i, p. 26).
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ing. grain, and this free system was cairied out to the letter; but the
cost was tremendous, and the treasury was in consequence mest severely
drawn upon. So extremely guarded was the Commaader-in-Chief obliged
to be, and so parsimonious in the disbursements from the treasury at that
time, that not arupee could be issued to any functionary, or establishment,
whether to the Envoy for the service of the Shah, the expenses of the
commissariat, or the pay of the troops, without a written order from
Colonel Macdonald, his Excellency’s military secretary. The grounds
and necessity of the requisitions for money were required to be made
manifest before the order was given. In this way it was managed to
keep the chest in such a state that there was always something
to go and come upon for exigencies. All attempts failed of raising
money at Candahar, by giving bills upon India. Whether this pro-
ceeded frem poverty in the place, or a want of coafidence in us, has
not been clearly ascertained, but in all probability from the former cause.
Daily reports were seat to Sir John Keane of the progress made,
and great exertions were used by the commissary-general to complete
the quantity of provisions required for an onward move, and for which
there was carriage, The four heavy guns of the battering train wero left
behind, for two reasons, first, because the carriage for their transport,
together with the amwunition and all belonging to them, could ill be
spared ; and, secondly, but the principal cause, owing to the strong opin-
jon given by the chief engineer, Capt. Thomson, that they would be wholly
unnecessary, as Ghuznie was not a place of that strenyth to require their
being brought into use. 'This opinion was not formed by Captain Thomson
on light grounds, It was, strange to say, come to on the authority and
report of an engineer and an artillery officer in our own service, who had seen
the place, and who were actually then present with the force! How dif-
ficult then is the situation of a commander of an army in a country
so little known as this was. Who could Sir John, Keane look to for in-
formation with so much confldence as to the officers in our own service
who had seen Ghuznie, and those, officers too of the scientific branch ?
Captain Thomson states in his official reports, that he was misled by this
information, The Commander-in-Chief has been blamed in more than one
publication for leaving the heavy guns behind. He did so, however, on
the recommendation of those from whom he had the best right to expect good
counsel on such a point, the heads of the engineer and artillery departments ;
and although the lamented Brigadier Stevenson is not alive to verify the fact
of what is here stated, Colonel Pew and Majors Thomson and Peat are, and
will readily subscribe to its accuracy. (56) At length the order was given

36. The above explanation is given on the authority not named but already
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that we should advance on the 29th June, and by the 1st July the whole
army had quitted. They met with no obstruction in their progress, and
no event of any considerable note occurred to them till their approach to
Ghuznee, when they were much annoyed by alarms of night attacks
which never were made. The troops still continued op hslf, and the fol-
lowers on quarter rations. (57) On the 21st of July, they arrived under
the walls of Ghuznie; the distance from Candahar being 230 miles.
The British force consisted of 8000 fighiing men fit for duty, and the
Shah’s contingent, about 4,000 : making 12,000 in all, with 40 pieces
of artillery. (58) Their baggage covered an area of 16 square miles. (59)

Ghuzoie is situated on the northern extremity of a range of hills run-
ping due east and west. The west, south, and east sides of the town, are
protected by a broad and deep ditch supplied with water from the river
adjoining. (60) The citadel or Bala Hissar is an irregular square on an
eminence overlooking all the city. The fortress was considered by the
Affghans so strong that it was believed capable of being maintained against
us for twelve mouths. Its garrison consisted of betwixt 3000 and 4000
men, half of which were cavalry ; they were provisioned for three months.
The population of the city was about equal in amount to the garrison. It
was commanded by Goolam Hyder Khan, youngest son of Dost Mahomed.
* The accounts of the fortress reeeived,”” says Captain Thomson, (61)
¢ from these who had seen 1t, were such as to incduce his Excellency the
Commander-in-Chief to leave at Candahar the very small battering train
then with the army, there being there a scarcity of transport cattle, The
place was deacribed as being very weak, completely commanded by a range
of hills. 'When we came before it on the morning of the 21st July, we were
very much surprised to find a high rampart in good repair, built on a
scarped mound about 35 feet high, flanked by numerous towers, and sur-
rounded by a fausse braye and wet ditch. The irregular figure of the
¢ enceinte’ gave a good flanking fire, whilst the right of the citadel covered
the interior from the commanding fire of the hills to the north, rendering
it nugatory. In addition to this, the towers at the angles had been
enlarged, screen~walls had been built before the gates, the ditch cleared out
and filled with water, stated to be unfordable, and an outwork built on the
right bank of the river so as to command the bed of it. As we approached
Ghuznie the most conflicting accounts reachied us of the intentions of the

repeatedly referred to. It has been made more minute because of the
misapprehension which bas generally existed on the subject.

57. Major Hough, p. 156, note.

58, Ibid, p. 164

69. Dr Kennedy.

60. Hough, p. 227.

61. Memoranda by Captains Thomson and Peat, cnginecrs, July 1839. We
have cmployed the words of the writers.
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enemy : it was at first maintained that night attacks were intended ; them
that battle was to be given us in form ; afterwards that the city and citadel
were to be abandoned without resistance; and, finally, which proved the
truth, that the garrison had been reinforced and received instructions to
hold out to the last. General Willshire’s brigade having pressed on by
forced wmarehes, the whole army were arranged by the Commander -in- Chief
in three columns, ready to deploy into line, and give battle at a moment’s
warning, and thus they moved across the extensive plain by which Ghuznie is
approached on the west, and after a march of twelve miles halted within a
mile of the walls of the fort. (62) On the arrival of the infantry a party
of skirmishers was throwa into a garden from which some matchlock fire
had appeared to proceed, and cleared it without difficulty. It was desired
by the Commander-in-Chief that it should be ascertained what amount of
fire the enemy could direct against us. With this object, 18 horse artillery
guns, together with the camel battery of 9-pounders, making 30 in all,
were got into pesition 700 yards from the walls. (63) They opened a brisk
fire of shot and shrapnell, which lasted for three quarters of an heur, the
enemy appearing to suffer severely, especially from the explosion of the
shells. The practice of the Affghans was good, and their guns were well
supplied. Having ascertained all we wanted to know, our artillery were
withdrawn. (64) The fort was now reconnoitred in form: it was found
that all the gates, save that opening on the Cabool road on the opposite
side from whence we halted, had been built up. It was impossible to
breach the walls with guns of the calibre we had alone brought along with
us, or in any reasonable time with the small battering train brought from
Sukkur and left behind, even could this have been commanded. Mining
and escalading were equally out of the question, from the height of the
parapet and magnitude of the wet ditch ; to sit down in formal siege was
an operation much too tardy to be thought of, cousidering the advanced
period of the year, and it was therefore determined, on the recommenda-
tion of the Engineers, that the Cabool gate should be blown in, and cap-
ture attempted by assault. On the evening of the day ef their arrival, the

62. Outram, p. 91.

63. Major Hough, p. 166, and note,

64, The works were evidently much stronger than we had been led to
expect, and such as our army could not venture to attack in.a regular mauner,
We had no battering train, continues Captain Thomson : to besiege Ghuznie
in form, a much larger one wowid have been required than the army ever
possessed. The command of the parapets from 60 to 70 feet, with the wet
ditch, were unsurmountable obstacles to an attack either by mining or escalad-
in * . hs ‘The result of this reconnoissance was a report to His
Excellency the Commandeyx in-chief that, if he decided upon an immediate at-
tack on Ghuzaie, the only feasible mode of proceeding, and the only one
which held out a prospect of success, was to make a dash at the Cabool gate-
way, blowing the gate open by powderé)ags.—mport, ut supra.
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troops were directed to change their ground : they marched in two colamns,
right and left of the fortress, to take up their new position on the Cabool
jnstead of the Candahar side: thiey were directed to make a considerable
circuit, so as to keep without the range of the fire of the fort: they reached
the new halting place in the course of the night. Besides being now in a posi-
tion for the operations about to be carried into effect previous to the assault,
the army was so placed as to prevent the escape of Hyder Khan and the
garrison should they think of abandoning the fort, as well as to preclude
the possibility of his receiving assistance or supplies from his father or
brother, whose troops were still further to the eastward, The Commander-
in-Chief having, at break of day, reconnoitred tbe new aspect the city
pow presented, laid down his plans and issued his orders for the proceed-
ings of pext night. (65) About noon the hills to the southward of our
camp were crowded by masses of horse and foot, displaying several stand-
ards. The whole of the Shal’s horse, supported by the Lancers and
a Bengal regiment of cavalry, moved out with a couple of guns to
meet them. So soon as the cavalry approached, the enemy, who had
begun to descend into the plain, found it expedient to re-ascend the
heights, leaving behind one of their standards in our possession, four or
five of their horses having fallen. Captain Outram had at this time
galloped out to ascertain what was astir: he reached the scene of action
just before the occurrence of the incident already described, and finding no
European officer on the spot, persuaded a body of the Shah’s horse to follow
him round the hills to the enemy’s rear, where he stationed them so as to
cut off their retroat. Intimidated by this movement, and repulsed by the
gallant charge of Eonsign Nicholson, the Affghans ascended the heights
beyond the reach of our horse. Captain Outram now suggested to an
English officer, whom, at this juncture, he met in charge of 150 infantry
and matchlock -men, that they should make an attempt to drive the enemy
from the heights in the direction in which the cavalry had been stationed,
They scrambled over the rocks with great gallantry, Captain Outram at their
head ; and after scaling the steep and rugged acclivity of the hill, sheltering
themselves from the fire, which was hot and well-directed, by every stone
and rocky promontory which came in their way, they at length step by step
attained the highest summit. They now reached the head-quarters of the
enemy, marked by a large green and white banner, which had been conse-
erated by the priests, and was suppesed to confer invincibility. Oa arriving
within fifty paces of this, the whole of our party rushed in with a general
cheer—a fortunate shot brought down the standard-bearer, and the standard
itself fell into our hands. The enemy were panic-struck, their charm had

66, Outram, p. 95.
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failed them, and they fled on every side. The loss of the Affghans amounted
to 30 or 40 in killed and wounded, and 50 were made prisoners by the
cavalry—the greater part of which were after wards executed, because one
of them in the king’s presence stabbed an attendant ; his Majesty gave in~
stant orders to behead Lim and the others. As may be supposed, this was
done without the knowledge of the Commander-in-chief, who was astounded
when Sir Alex. Burnes came to him scon after from Mr Macnaghten to report
it. It was also perpetrated without the knowledge of either of them ; but the
deed was done, and it was too late to recall it. His Majesty was, however, dis-
tinctly informed by Sir John Keane's orders, that such butchering would never
again be permitted within the limits of a British camp, even oa his Majesty’s
own subjects. (66) By 3 o’clock of the morning of the 23d July, the va.

66. This version of the matter may berelied on, though very widely differ-
ent from that usually given, Sir W. Macnaghten, though disapproving of the
measure at the time, afterwards attempted to defend it. {We have retained
this note, as well as the text to which it refers, exactly as it stood in the
Bombay Montlly Times. A letter subscribed ¢* OLD Version,” gives Sir W. Mac-
naghten’s own account of the matter, which is very greatly at variance with
the above.]

On referring the matter to an Officer of rank now in Bombay, who held a
(l:onﬁdentiul Staff situation with Sir John Keane at the time, he writes as fol-

ows i—

Sir,—As you have asked my impression as to the two versions regarding what
immediately preceded the beheading of the Ghazee prisoners by order of Shah
Shoojah, I can kave no objections to give it, in so far as I had any means of forming
an opinion,—it being a matter that did net in the most remote degree come within
the sphere of my office or duty. The point upon which I believe you wish an opi«
uion is, whether Sir John Keane was aware of the King’s intention to behead the
prisoners, and gave his concurrence 10 it, before the fact; or whether he was only
made aware of it after the fact. The impression on my mind isy that he only knew
it after, and for this reason { having gone into Sir John Keane’s tent that afternoon,
and finding Sir Alexander Burnes with him, Sir John Keane exclaimed ¢ what do
you think has happened ?—the King hes beheaded the prisoners taken this after-
noon.””  Sir Alex. Burnes then relsted how, and why the King had done so—that
when they were brought into His Majesty’s presence and questioned regarding
their rebellion and treason, they said they would glory in taking His Majesty’s life ;
that hie was an infidel, and had brought an army of infidels into the country, and
that they would take his life whenever they could, er had an opportunity; and one
of them, suiting the action to the word, plunged a dagger into the breast of one of
the Shah’s attendauts in Bis Majesty’s presence ;—upon which the King gave orders
that they should all be beheaded.

I cannot be mistaken in what Sir Alexander Buroes said, as I have above related
ity nor do I think he ceuld have come with a twessage from the Euvoy asking con-
currence, previous to that afternoon, without my knowing it, as I was seldom out of
Sir John Keane's tent, it being a time of heavy work, as well as heavy responsibility
and much anxiety to him, as the arrangements for the storming of Gbuznie were
still in progress and not completed. My impression therefore, for the reason I
have stated, is, that the account in the text is the nearest to the true version, There
was no writing of any kind upon the subject that I was aware of, and I seldom or
ever heard it afterwards talked of or condemned by the Officers in the Field ; atthe
woment all seemed to think the treasvn of the Ghasee prisoners of a double and

-
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rious detachments were at their posts, and all the guns in position at points
which commanded the eastern face of the fortress, as well as the Cabool

most sggravated kind ; and although at the time of Sir Alexander Burnes relating
the tragic story to me, as I have stated it, I heard Sir John Keane condemn the
Shah for his rash act, and that such a thing must not happen again, 1 at the same
time heard him say, that * the murderers and treacherous rascals deserved it,” or
worde to that effect. I therefore think, that if Sir William Macnaghten wrote a
year afterwards, to the effect stated in the note, he must have jumbled two things
together, and confounded the account Sir Alexander Burnes gave him of the Com-
mander-in-Chief’s conversation with concurrence in the Shah’s act,

I had for Sir William Macnaghten personally a very great regard,and so thorough«
ly convinced am I of his good intentionsyand his strict regard for truth, that if he
did write to the effect stated, he had couvinced himself of its correctness, however
he may have mixed up two circumstances at a time of intense anxiety, and of no
small danger, when my lamented friend Sir Alexander Burnes went back to him
and related his conversation with the Commander-in-Chief,

It was not an unusual thing for Sir John Keane to offer advice to the Shah (the
Envoy being of course cognizant of it). T'his he was not only authorized to do, but
also to enforce the advice in any case of necessity, In that way, he caused the Shah
to be informed on one occasion, when the ears of a man had been cut off by His
Majesty’s orders for 8 heinous crime, that mutilation, which was abhorrent to Bri-
tish feelings, bowever it might accord with Affighan law and usage, would not be
permitted, so long as His Majesty and his followera formed psrt of a British Camp.

I am, Sir, your obedient servant,

AN OrriCER oF RANK Now 1N BoMBAY, WHO HELD A
CoNEIDENTIAL STAFP BITUATION.

¢ The following extract is from an autograph-letter from Sir William Macnaghten
to Sir Alexander Burnes, dated ¢ Cabool, Nov. 27, 1840, now before me, and &
Copy of which I have supplied by last Mail to Sir William’s friends in London, to
enable them to meet the new ¢ version of the matter’ in your Summary with such
denial as they may think proper.

« Extract from a letter from Sir William Macnaghten to Sir Alexander Buraes, on
the subject of the destruction of the 36 prisoners who were put to death at Ghizoi
the presence of Major McSherry, on the evening of the 22d July 1839,
¢ The facts of the case, as contained in my official letter to Government, were

simply tbese : to the truth of my statement you and manypther persons caun testify,
¢ On the morning of the 22d July, whilst we were belore the Fort of Ghizni, a

numerous body of armed people (I have receutly heard their number estimated at
nearly four thousand) were seen ascending the hills immediately to the left of His

Mbsjesty’s camp. Io the course of the day they several times threatened to come

down upon our camp; but they were repulsed and keptin check chiefly by the

Bhab’s own troops and Christie’s horse, who were at different periods engaged

with these fanatics, Towards evening, & report was brought to me, that the King’s

people had taken several prisoners, and that His Majesty had determined upon the
execution of them all, On the impulse of the t, I suggested thata selec-
tion should be made of the offenders for tion ; and I immediately consulted

Lieut.-General Sir John Kesne, through Sir Alexander Burnes, who was in His

Excellency’s camp ; and bhis opinion was, that ¢ the most summary example should

be made of all such dastardly ruftians.” In the meanwhile, I had received several

messages from His Majesty, expressing his determination to put the prisoners to
death, as the only safe and proper course to be adopted in the exigency of our situ-
ation, | I tepl.led,'that His Majesty was supreme, but that I would at least strongly
secommend him, ifhe thought a severe example necessary, to liberate some of the
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gate. The weather was peculiarly favourable for the concealment of our
movements. The wind blew strongly and in gusts from the east, and occa-
sionally with such violence over night and towards dawn, as to render in-
audible to the devoted garrison the tramp of columns or rattle of artillery
wheels.(67) Under these circumstances, so quietly and judiciously were
all our arrangements effected, that not a shot was fired from the garrison
uatil after the commencement of the false attack by Captain Hay, with three
companies of the 35th N.I. from the opposite quarter to that from which
real danger was preparing. As an attack for the relief of the garrison had
been threatended, Col. Stalker with the Bombay 19th N.I., was ordered to
guard the Cabool road, but no enemy appeared. At midnight, the first bat-
tery left camp, followed by four others at intervals of half an hour. Those
to the right of the road were conducted to the right of their positions, by
Lieutenant Sturt, those on the left by Lientenant Anderson. The ground
for the guns was prepared by the sappers and pioneers, taking advantage of
the irregularities to the right, and some old gardea walls on the left.(68)
The artillery being all in readiness shortly after 3 o’clock, Captain Peat of the
Bombay Engineers moved down to the gateway, accompanied by six men of
H. M.'s 18th, without their belts, and supported by a detachment of the same
Regiment, consisting of 18 officers, 28 sergeants, 17 buglers, and 276 rank
and file, which entered to the right and left of the road, taking what cover
they could find as they arrived at the ditch, and endeavouring to keep down
the fire of the ramparts, which became very leavy on the approach of
the party, though it had been sufficiently slack throughout on previous
operations. Blue lights were shown by the besivged, which rendered
surrounding objects distinetly visible ; luckily they were burned on the top
of the parapet iastead of being thrown ioto the passage below. (69) The ex=
plosion party consisted of Captain Peat, Lieuts. Durand (70) and M‘Leod,

prisoners, in order that the retribution which had evertaken their comrades might
be made known to the whole of these fanatic offenders. My recommendation was
not concurred in by His Majesty to the extent that I could have wished: of 38
prisoners 2 only were releated,—the one on the ground of his being a Syud, and
the other because he begged his life. The remainder, who obstinately persisted in
exasperating His Majesty, were executed.’ * * *

¢ On such an occasion it was my duty to seek the advice of the chief military au-
thority on the spot, and I have shown that I did so.”

OLp VEnsrton.”

67. Havelock, vol. ii. p. 71.

68. Captain Thomson’s Report.

69. Report, ut supra. Copied verbatim.

70. This officer having been home on leave, returned to India with Lord
Ellenborough, and was appointed his Lordship’s Private Secretary. Loug
before the capture of Ghuznie, when very young in years, h_e had distinguish-
ed himself in scientific research : especially by his discoveries of some of the
most famous sub-Himalayan fossils.
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three serjeants, and eighteen men of the Sappers, in working dresses,
carrying 300 lbs. of powder in 12 sand-bags, with a hose 72 feet long.
These advauced steadily, silently, and rapidly, led by Lieut. Durand. The
enemy were perfectly aware that we were in the gateway, but appeared to
have no idea of the nature of the operations in progress. 1f they had been
30, tiley might have rendered it impossible to place the powder-bags, by
throwing over blue.lights, of which they had abundaunce in store. The
powder pots, and other fire-works so much used by the natives of Hindos-
tan, would easily have rendered the cramped space leading to the gate much
too hot for such an operation, but the ignorance of the besieged was known
and calculated on ; the results show how justly. Lieutenant Durand, on
first going up, saw, through the chinks of the gate, that there were lights,
and a guard immeiliately behind it. The men on duty were smoking quiet-
ly thinking of no danger : three minutes after, they must have been destroy-»
ed by the explosion ! The powder was placed, the hose laid, the train
fired, and the carrying party had retired to tolerable cover, in less than two
minutes. No maun was burt; Captain Peat was momentarily stunned by
the concussion, but speedily recovered. The success was complete, There
haviog been reason to apprehend that the enemy might have built up or
strengthened the gate from within, more than double the quantity of gun-
powder recommended by Colonel Pasley had been used. The charge was
so heavy that it not only destroyed the gate, but brought down a considera=
ble portion of the square building in which it was placed, the ruins obstruct-
ing the advance of the assaulting column. (7]) A few moments elapsed be
fore a bugler could be found to sound the advance. (72) The instant the
trumpet blast was heard, the storming party, consisting of the grenadier
companies of H. M.’s 2d and 17th, with those of the Bengal European Re=
giment, and a company of H. M.’s 13th, led on by the heroic Colonel Den~
nie, rushed in and found themselves for a few moments in fierce hand-toe
hand confliet with the Affghans amidst the ruins of the demolished gateway.
*¢ Nothing could be distinctly seen in the narrow passage; but the clash of
sword-blade against bayonet was heard on every side.”” (73) The soldiers
had to grope their way between the yet standing walls; there was neither
room nor leisure for regular firing. Each section loaded in turn, and deli-
vered its deadly volley at half pistol-shot distance on the enemy. The en-
trance-way just on passing the gate, took a sudden turn at right angles to
the line of its previous path, This led at first to the erroneous impression
that the passage was built up within, and that the explosion had not openec

71. Capt. Peat’s Report, verbatim,
72. Capt. Thomson’s Report.
73. Havelock, vol. ii,, p. 76.
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athoroughfare, The illusion was only dispelled when the sky began to ap-
pear over head ; and the leading files immediately afterwards found thém-
selves in the open square within the tewn. Meanwhile an erroneous report,
that Col. Dennie had been unable to make good am entrance, reached the
supporting column, consisting of H. M.’s 2d and 18th, with the remainder of
the Europeans, under Brigadier Sale, (H. M.’s 17th being directed to follow
the storming party into the fort.) They halted for a moment, and the retreat
was sounded ; (74) fortunately it was imperfectly heard and unattended to
during the tempest of the night and the excitement of the events in pro-
gress. A few minutes more elapsed, and the true version of the natter was
communicated ; Brigadier Sale pressed on, but the loss of the few minutes
his halt had occasioned, gave rise to mischief. (73) A considerable ianterval
was left betwixt the forlorn hope, under Col, Dennie, and the column of Bri-
gadier Sale, As the latter pressed into the gateway, the Queen’s regiment
takiog the lead, a large body of Affghaos, driven from the ramparts by the
fire of the forlorn hope, rushed down upon them in hopes of escaping be-
yond the walls. The attack was made on the rear company of the Queen's
and the leading files of the Bengal European regiment.(76) The fury of
their assault for a moment drove back the troops opposed to them. Briga.
dier Sale was cut down, and his adversary rolled over him. Capt. Kershaw
of H. M.’s 13th, during the struggle passed his sword through the body of
the Affghan. This, however, was not enough ; and not till Sir Robert Sale
managed to get uppermost and cleave his skull to the eyebrows, would his
desperate enemy let go his hold. The reserve under Colonel Croker now
speedily followed, and made its way into the city without resistance. On the
evening of the 22u0d a council of war had been held in the garrison of Ghuznie:
it had been proposed by Hyder Khan the governor, that all the females shounld
be sent into the fort as a place of protection ; this was opposed ; and just as the
assembly, whose debates had occupied the live long night, were being dissolv-
ed, the gates were burst open, and the batteries opened their fire. (77) No one
dreawt of what had happened, and the three leading companies under Col.
Dennie were within the fort before the chiefs suspected the approach of danger,
The Commdr.-in-chief, perceiving that the city had been won, desired that the
whole force of the artillery should be directed against the citadel, from which

a determined resistance was still expected. But the enemy were panie struck

with the suddenness and magnitude of the misfortune which had fallen upon

them, and though in their attempts to reach the gateway, the flying Affzhans

laid about them in all directions, there was no further resistance systematical-

74. Major Hough, p. 175.

75. Havelock, ut supra.

76. Major Havelock, vol. ii. p. 79,
77. Dr, Kennedy, vol. ii. p. 48.
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iy attempted. By five o’clock . M. the colours of H. M.,’s 13th (78) and 17th
waved from the battlements of the citadel of Ghuznie. There had beensome
sharp fightiog in the streets : one lofty building offered a desperate resistance,
and upwards of 50 Affghans perished in defending it. There were 514 dead
bodies picked up within the walls : we took 1600 prisoners,and the number of
the wounded was estimated about equal that of the captives. For weeks after-
wards, however, bodies were found in the recesses of private buildings or
narrow streets, mostly those of men who had died of their wouads, sothat
the total loss of the Affghans is estimated at about 1000 alain. (79) No
eity taken by assault ever suffered so little as Ghuznie, and no men ever
conducted themselves under similar circumstances with temperateness and
moderation equal to that of its captors. On this point all writers are un-
animous. With the close of the fighting all violence ceased, and not one
fernale was exposed to insult or injury. It may not be superfluous to
add, thatlong before this the commissariat store of intoxicating liquor had
been exbausted, and Sir J. Keane commanded a temperance army. To
the want of liquor is ascribed by the medical men the unprecedented cel-
erity with which the injuries of the wouaded were healed. Our casu-
alties in killed, wounded, and missing, officers and men together, amounted
to 191, of whom 17 only were killed. Hyder Khan, the governor, surren-
dered himself in the course of the morning, and was placed under the sur~
veillance of Sir Alexander Buarnes; he subsequently accompanied the Com-
mander-in-Chief with the part of the Bengal army which returned through
the Khyber Pass, and in progress through the Punjaub he requested that,
owing to the kind treatment he experienced, he might be allowed to accom-
pany Sir J. Keane all the way to Bombay,—a request which was asseated to
by the Governor-General. He remained through the year 1840 a prisoner
of state at Bombay, where he was left almost ecatirely at liberty. The fall
of Ghuznie was knowa at Cabool, 80 miles off, at 5 o’clock the same day.
(80) Meer Ufzul Khan, theeldest, and commonly known as  the fighting
son” of Dost Mahomed, was afterwards found to have been close upon cur
camp early in the morning with 5000 cavalry. He heard the firing, and was

78. Major Hough, p. 6.—The colours of the 13th were placed on the
battlements by Ensign Frere, an able, amiable, and gallant young officer,
who, after having been present at all the remarkable actions which occur-
red in Affghanistan betwixc 1838 and 1842, including the siege of Jella-
labad and return to Cabool, died on his way to India on the final abandon-
ment of the country,

79. Dr Atkinson’s Affghanistan, p. 236—¢ On our arrival at Cabool, infor-
mation reached us, that in searching through every recess and corner, be-
tween 200 and 300 more dead bodies had been found and buried ; so that,
together with those cut down in their flight, the total amount of killed has

been estimated at upwards of 1000.”—Ivid, ut supra. Major Hough esti-
mates them at 1200.

80, Major Hough.
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only waiting for daylight to discover the state of Ghuznie. Dawn showed
him the British flag waving on the citadel, and indicated that it had already
met its fate, He immediately fled towards Cabool, leaving his elephants
and baggage behind him, within six miles of our camp. These were after-
wards captured by us. (81)

Lieut.~Col. (now Sir Claude Martin) Wade, political agent at Loodiana,
had, as mentioned at the commencement of our narrative, assembled near
Peshawur an army of 4800 men of the Shah’s levies, besides a Seikh con-
tingent of 6000, (82) so early as the month of January. These were to
move upon Cabool by Jellalabad, nominally under Shabzada Timour, eldest
son of Shah Soojah ; while a further Seikh contingeut of 10,000 was to re-
main as an army of observation at Peshawur. Col. Wade having been duly
informed of the progress and success of the grand army under Sir J. Keane,
proceeded into the Khyber Pass on the 22d of June. On the27th he ob-
tained possession of Ali Musjid, a fort previously held by Dost Mahomed's
troops, and considered the key of the pass: the enemy abandoned it without
fighting on the approach of the advancing force. Mahomed Ukhbar Kban,
second son of Dost Mahomed, and afterwards too famous amongst the insur-
gent chiefs in 1842, was then stationed at Jellalabad, of which he was the
governor, with 2,500 men and 14 guns, On the fall of Ghuzoie he was
recalled to defend Cabool. This at once opened the way for the Shahzada’s
advance through the passes, He arrived at Cabool on the 2d Sept. Near
Gundamuck, Ukhbar Khan abandoned his artillery and camp equipage, so
that 12 guné, 7000 rounds of ball cartridges, with camp appointments, horses,
and draught bullocks, fell into the Shahzada’s hands. Gen. Ventura, who
was to have taken command of the Seikh contingent, remained behind in
consequence of the death of Runjeet Singh, and the entire command of this
force, amounting to betwixt 10,000 and 11,000, devolved on Col. Wade, (83)
who, for this well-directed movement, received the special thanks of the
Governor-General : and appears well to have deserved them. A march
through the passes, at all times a difficult operation, was at this juncture a
very important one; and though little opposition was experienced, it seems
to have been got rid of by skilful and judicious management,~by a series
of difficult and intricate arrangements amongst a set of most untractable
subjects.

So soon as all was tolerably quiet, H. M. Shah Soojah aod the Envoy

81. Major Hough, p. 183.

82. Major Hough, . ) .

83. Dr Atkiuson's expedition into Affghanistan. This work supplies us with
a great many valuablo facts, but it is impossible sufficiently to censure the
tone of childish adulation towards Lord Auckland’s administration, which
characterizes it every where, or the perverted credulity with which all
sorts of silly and incredible uneodobefl‘ against the Barukzyes are raked up.
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and Minister wera conducted round the citadel and a great part of the for-
tress, by the Commander-in-Chief. The King was astonished at our having
made ourselves master of a place considered to be impregnable, in the space
of two hours of assault, and within 48 hours of our baving presented onr-
selves before it. (84) He was still more delighted than astonished at tne
result. On the recommendation of the medical officers of the force, it
was determined that the sick and wounded should be lett at Ghuznie under
charge of field-surgeon Pinhey of the Bombay service. The garrison to be
stationed there consisted of the 16th Bengal N. L., a detachment of 30 artil-
lerymen, and 200 of the Shah’s horse: to these were afterwards added a
ressalah of the 4th Bengal local horse, with four of the Shah’s guns. (83)
On the 28th July, the Nawab Jubbar Khan, eldest brother of Dost Ma-
homed, arrived in camp on deputation from the Ameer. Sir Alex. Burnes
and an escort of Lancers went out to meet him. This chief had been cele-
brated by all the travellers whoever visited Affghanistan, for his hospitality,
his kindness to Europeans, and general liberality and benevolence of dispo-
sition. (86) His strength of intellect and shrewdness of remark bave
already been noticed by us in our introductory chapter, where the reasening
of the state papers of the Government of Incia is shewn to have been
completely demolished by him and his brother. ¢ The conduct of Jubbar
Khan (says Major Hough) was oa this occasion noble : he had at one time
been defrauded of his estates by his brother, but he said he wanted nothing
for himself.” The drift of his present proposition was, that Hyder Khan
should be released, and that Dost Mahomed should cease to offer further
resistance, and should resign all power and authority into the hands of Shah
Soojah, provided we consented to his becoming Vizier or Prime Minister—
a position whiech he claimed by right of heritage. After the steps we had
already taken, this proposal was clearly inadmissible. He was informed
that the only terms which Dost Mahomed could loek for, were a safe asylum
and liberal allowance within the British dominions. He declared that his
brother would never conseat to reside in India on any terms. He was of-
fered for himself the continuance of his property, with honours from the
hands of the Shah. These were declined, and the chief seems to have re-
sorted to a boldness of speech not over grateful to royal ears. ** On being

84. Lord Keane's dispatch.
85. Major Hough, p. 221.

86. Dr Atkinson’s work is on this, as on most other points affecting the
Barukzye character, at variance with all our books of travels. He does not
. state whence }ﬁs lights are drawn—that they are tinted by the medium of
the Shah Soojah court is sufficiently apparent. He speaks of Jubbar Khan
with much disparagement.
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introduced to the King,” says Dr. Atkinson, ‘‘ his deportment was not
uncourteous, but he said, ©if you are to be king, what is the use of the Bri-
tish army here ? Ifthe English are to rule over the country, what use are
you here ?' ** ‘¢ The Shal,” continues the courtly historian, * with un-
ruffied temper, parried this observation by soothing his hurt mind, and, ina
bland manner, promised him a confidential station near his person.” If,
instead of parrying, the Government of India had endeavoured to solve the
difficulty here set forth, as also that press:d by Mehrab Khan of Kelat—
¢ you have brought an army into the country, how do you propose to feed it
while here, or get it back again ?”’—before entering on the war, Britain
might have been spared the loss of much life, treasure, and fame. The Na-
wab having failed in effecting any of his objects, left us, declaring his deter-
mination to follow his brother’s fortunes to the close. )

On the 30th of July our troops marched from Ghuznie towards Cabool.
Near the end of the first day’s march they passed a defile of about 200 or 800
yards, behind which, a very inferior force with a few guns might have made
good. The elevation here was the greatest attained by them, being 9000
feet above the level of the sea. Very rigid orders were issued for the pro-
tection of the villagers, and to prevent injury to the growing crops, now
nearly ripe in the field. On the 1st of August a message from Peshbawur
brought accounts of the death of Runjeet Singh: this event, by which the
triple alliance was so materially affected, had occurred on the 27th of June,
the day before the troops left Candahar. Oa the 3d, intelligence was re-
ceived of Dost Mahomed having been wholly deserted by his chiefs and army,
the latter said to have shortly before amounted to 13,000 men. (87) Quar-
rels and jealousies had arisen amongst them: old feuds and grudges were,
as usual, called up just at the time they should have been forgotten. The
severities of Dost Mahomed's vigorous government were recent and mi-
nutely recollected : distance had mellowed the errors of the Shah Soojah,
and caused his half remembered seven years’ reign of 30 years since to be
looked back upon as an era of happiness and prosperity. The force,
besides, which was accompanying him to the throne, appeared capable of
bearing down all opposition, The result was, that with perfidy, treachery,
dissension, and disaffection every where, with enemies on every side, and no
one to encounter them, Dost Mahomed, with 600 horsemen, fled to Bamee-
an with a view of seeking refuge amongst the chiefs in Trans-Oxania till
more auspicious days sheuld come around. So soon as authentic accounts
of this reached camp, it was resolved to send a detachment in pursuit of the
Ameer, who, so long as he was left at liberty, must necessarily prove the
hope of the disaffected, and a source of substantial annoyance to the new

87. Letter of Sir J. Keane, dated 8tk August, to the Euvoy and Minister.
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ruler. Twothousand of the Shah’s Affighans, under Hadjee Khan Kakur,
were ordered for this service, accompanied by a hundred of our Cavalry,
regular and irregular, for the purpose of stimulating their exertinns, and
checking hostilities in case of the fugitive chief or his family falling into
their hands. (88) These were accompanied by the following British offi-
eers: —Captain Qutram, Captain Wheeler, Captain Troup, Captain Law-
rence, Captain Backhouse, Captain Taylor, Captain Christie, Captain
Erskine, Lieut. Broadfoot, Lieut. Hogg, aud Dr. Worral—Capt. Outram to
take command. The party assembled at 4 p.u., according to order, at the
tent of the Euvoy, where the Affghans were also to have been in readiness;
but not more than 300 effective men had made their appearance when it be-
came dark ; the remainder, consisting of from 400 to 500 of a ragged rabble,
mounted on yaboos or half starved ponies. It was promised that the rest
should follow, and the details were made up by 100 of Captain Christie’s
horse. Hadjee Khan Kakur was extremely desirous that the high road
should be pursued as far as Meidan, in order, as he pretended, ts take up
the track of their quarry; and it was not till Capt. Outram had repeatedly
urged the impossibility of ever succeeding in this manner in the pursuit,
seeing that Dost Mahomed was already 24 milesa-head of them, that the
line of march was changed. It was with great difficulty that guides were
ultimately procured to enable them to make a short cut across the hills, so
as tointersect the path of the Ameer, about three miles from Meidan, The
first night the party marched thirty miles, leaving Gada, a small village
situated in a confined but fertile valley, about 7 o. M, Several halts had been
made to admit of the Affghans closing up, but not more than 100 of the
1600 awanting bad made their appearance. Those who dropped in in the
course of the day gave evidence, from the plunder with which they had en-
cumbered themselves, of the cause of their delay. The March was renewed
in the evening ; the road was precipitous and bad ; at the end of ten miles
they bivouacked till one in the morning, when the moon having risen they
proceoded on afresh till 7 A, m. Barely 50 of the Affghans kept up with
them, the rest straggled in in the course of the day. Information was here
received that Dost Mahomed was at the village of Yourt, one march a-head.
Hadjee Kban Kakur, who had hitherto proceeded with the greatest reluct-
ance, became urgent for a halt till reinforcements could. be sent for. He
declared that the Ameer had 2000 followers, and was much too strong for
the present force to attack him with any hope of success. Capt. Outram
having iosisted on proceeding, the followers of the Hadjee were mus-

88. We have taken the whole narrative of the pursuit of Dost Mah
i?rl;:i “le!éuor Qutram’s Rough Notes, which we Kave given a good °3‘:ﬁ
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tered, and were found to amount te 700 in all,—less than ome half
of them being suitably mounted. Before they had advanced four miles
en the evening’s march the guides were reported to have deserted: in a
dark night, amongst abrupt precipices and interminable ravines, it was in
vain to attempt to move without conductors, so a halt was made till day-
break, and Yourt was, in consequence, not attained t1ll the morning of the
following day, the 6th. Few of the Affghans were nvow forthcoming, and
no inducement whatever could prevail on the Hadjee to advance sixteen
miles further to Huzar, where there was positive intellizence of Dost
Mahomed’s presence ; he promised most solemnly, however, to proceed in
the evening, and this afforded some hope of their being able to beat up the
Ameer's quarters during the night. Next evening he fell back on his old
resolution : nothing would induce him to move that night, but he promised
to make a forced march of double the distance next morning.

It was most singular that in arranging this most important expedition,
the whole authority was intrusted to Hadjee Khan Kakur; the European
officers were vested with no power save over their own men, and Capt.
Outram’s only instructions were, that he should act along with the Aff-
ghans, and second them if necessary ! All accounts agreed that the Dost
was accompanied by at least 2000 followers, but their progress was retarded
by the sickness of one of the young princes: this greauly increased the
chance of success in the pursuit, and Hadjee Khan was informed that, in
the event of his hanging back on the morrow, the party would proceed
without him or his assistance. It rained and hailed violently over night,
and our people had for thetwo preceding days had nothing to eat but a little
unripe parched corn. On the 7th they marched at dagbreak, and, on
arriving at Huzar, found traces-of the Ameer’s camp of yesterday; they
learned that he had that morning encamped at Kalloo, without apparently
being in any hurry to depart. They reached the place at three p.m., but
found the Dost gone so many hours before that he must have surmounted
the Kalloo Pass, the highest in the Hindoo Koosh. Every one of the
Affghans had now fallen behind, and the little sepoy band had been nine
hours in the saddle; their horses were knocked up ; they were 12,000 feet
above the level of the sea, and saw snow 1300 feet below them. In the
evening they obtained a scanty meal of flour. On the morning of the 8th
they were joined by Captains Trevor and Taylor with 30 troopers. In the
course of the day they surmounted the Pass called the Camel’s Back,
15,000 feet high, nearly the altitude of the summit of Mount Blanc.
Hadjee Khan they now found to be totally untrustworthy: a council of war
was held, when it was resolved that on the Ameer turning to oppose us in
the event of his being next day overtaken, of which no doubt was enter-
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tained, that the thirteen British officers should charge in the centre of the
band, every one directing his individual efforts against the person of Dost
Mahomed Khan, whose fall in this way must be next to certain. It was
evident that all the Affghans on both sides would turn against them, unlesg
they were immediately successful, and this plan appeared to afford the only
chance of escape to those who might survive. It was an object of para-
mount importance to effect the destruction of the Ameer rather than permit
his escape. (89)

On reaching Bameean, on the morning of the 9th, the intelligence of the
Dost’s escape, which had previously been received, was fully confirmed.
He had pushed ahead by long forced marches, and was, by this time, on
the extreme verge of the Shah's territory, and close upon the confines of
that of the Wullee of Khooloom, who had always been a friend of the
Barukzyes ; it would, under these circumstances, and in the utterly ex-
hausted state of their horses, have been madness to proceed, and it was
resolved to halt until they were so far refreshed as to be able to return to
Cabool. They arrived at the capital on the 19th, Hadjee Khan Kakur
was immediately arrested,—abundant evidence of his treasonable intentions
having now made their appearance. This wretch was originally a melon-
vendor. He deserted Dost Mahomed Khan to join the Candahar Sirdars,
and, having betrayed them and joined the Shah Soojab, forced them to
quit their country without a blow. For this he was ennobled with the
title of ‘¢ Nusseer-ood-Dowlah,”—or Sword of the State,—and received
territory valued at £80,000 a-year. It now appeared that he had leagued
himself to fight against the King in the event of any change of fortune
arriving. He has been since detained a state prisoner at Chunar,—as
deeply dyed a traitor as ever betrayed an empire,

Returning to the movements of Sir John Keane’s army : simultaneously
with the despatch of the party towards Bameean, Major Cuerton, with 200
of H. M/s 16th Lancers, was sent forward to take possession of the guns
left at Arghundee. They were all of brass, and amounted to 28 in number,
of various calibres, generally from 6 to 9 pounders. Many of them were
double-shotted, and would, in all likelihood, have been as injurious, if fired,
to the army to which they belonged, as to that against which they were
directed. They were badly mounted, difficult to work, and their car-
riages liable to damage or destruction from comparatively trivial accidents.
They were unskilfully placed, and an army situated where the guns had
been planted could very easily bave been attacked in flank from (90) the

89. Captain Outram’s Rough Notes, u¢ supra.
90. Dr. Kennedy. ’ ore
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high grounds, within easy range of them., A deep ravine would have
carried our light companies safely into the midst of them before they sus-
pected danger. Yet there was much strong ground eminently favourable
for military dispositions in the neighbourhood, where, had they known
how to make use of it, a very formidable resistance, even with their troops,
might have beon maintained. (91) A large quantity of powder and shot,
with tumbrils, ammunition-waggons, and gun-bullocks, were also cap-
tured, He was directed to push forward his reconnoisance as far as the
walls of the city. The army continued its march without interruption, and
on the evening of the 6th encamped under the walls of Cabool. On the
evening of the 7th, His Majesty proposed to proceed in state from Nanu-
chee to the Bala Hissar.

At 4 in the afternoon, when the heat of the day had been aucceeded by
one of those mild and beautiful evenings which characterise the autumnal
climate of the cooler latitudes or altitudes, the Shah Soojah, accompanied
by the Envoy and Minister, the Commander-in-Chief, and the general
officers of the army; Sir Alex. Burnes and other officers of the mission ;
the staff, and a vast number of other officers; left the camp to proceed,
with much pomp, into the city of Cabool. (92) They had about three
miles to march. The escort of His Majesty consisted of a squadron of the
4th Light Dragoons, and one of the 16th Lancers, with Captain Martin's
Troop of Bombay Horse Artillery. They were paraded in review order in
front of the lines, and on the road leading to the city. A royal salute was
fired as the Shah approached the escort; and the cavalry having saluted
him as he passed, fell into the rear of the procession.

The royal reception was respectful but cold ; the people were orderly:
curiosity brought them in thousands to witness the spectacle, and a feeling
of decorum seems to have prompted them to pay distant respect to the
king. The chiefs were absent; there was no enthusiasm, and not even
that clamorous exultation which a crowded populace commorly display on
the first fall of one who has kept them in order, or in the manifestation of
any important change in the order of things. The king led the way into
the palace : he wept as he witnessed the dilapidation the neglect of thirty
years had occasioned. (93) The cavaleade returned at a late hour in the
evening to camp, finding some difficulty in making their way past the bag-
gage of the Shah, ther passing through the narrow streets. For the next
three weeks no event of any moment occurred to the army. Capt. Qutram

91. Major Havelock.
92, Major Hough. Copied verbatim,
93. Major Hough, ut sup., p, 252.
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and his party returned on the 19th August from the fruitless pursuit of
Dost Mahomed, and on the 8d September the Shahzada Timour and
Colonel Wade, with betwixt ten and eleven thousand men under their com-
mand, arrived from Peshawur by the Khyber Pass, Jellalabad, and Khoord
Cabool. These things have been already mentioned. Of the events which
occurred on the march from Ghuznie we should have noticed the death
of Lieut.-Colorel Herring : he was following the grand army in charge of
treasure from Candahar, when he with two other officers had imprudently
gone out some way from camp unattended, and been murdered by the
robbers by whomn the whole country seemed infested, who hung upon
the skirts of our army. He was a gallant and experienced officer, and his
death was deeply lamented. Lieutenant Inverarity had in like manner
fallen a victim to a similar imprudence during the halt at Candabar in
May.

On the 17th September a magnificent state durbar was held at the palace
for the purpose ot conferring the badges of the Doorannee order on certain
of the most distinguished officers of the army.

¢ In a court-yard of about’a bundred yards square {says Dr. Kennedy
(94)] a ruinous and neglected garden, and surrounded by ruinous build-
ings of the old palace in which a dozen or two of bricklayers and plas-
terers were at work repairing the dilapidation and neglect of the past thirty
years, and who never stopped their work to look at us, sat the old King
alone in his glory; his throne being one of our old camp-chairs, value,
when new, some four or five rupees at the utmost ; behind it stood two old
fat eunuchs, each holding a dish in his hand : and up to this extraordinary
dumb show we marched, and were all ranged behind and on the right of the
camp-chair with the King in it.

“ When all was ready,—and it took less time than I could have sup-
posed,—Sir John Keane stepped before the said camp-chair with the King
in it, and gravely dropped on his knees before the Douranee Emperor.
One of the fat eunuchs waddled to the frout, and uncovered his dish, in
which was the decoration and ribbon of *the order of the Douranee
empire” The Emperor with great diffieulty stuck it on; and, Sir John's
coat being rather too tight, it cost him some effort to wriggle into the
ribbon : but the acorn in time becomes aun oak, and Sir John was at last
adorned, cap-a-pie, a Knight Grand Cross of the Douranee empire.

 The decoration required eloquence ; and Sir John, standing before the
Emperor, delivered himself of a speech, in which there was a great deal
about * hurling a usurper from the tkrone,’——at which my uncle Toby might
perhaps haye whistled his lillibullero.

94. Campaign of the Army of the Indus, vol, ii. p.112,
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* But as the Emperor of the Douranee empire did not understand
English, the Chief’s Persian interpreter, Major Powell, stepped to the
front to interpret. Poor man ! he was ¢ not accustomed to speak in public,’
and made but a bad job of it; and the Emperor, who seemed to wish the
whole affair over, broke into the midst of the interpretation with his own
observations complimentary to the British General, the British Army, and
the British Government. Burnes, for some reason best known to himself,
wished the whole interpretation to be fairly and fully driven into and
through the imperial ears, and whispered ¢ Deegurust,’ * There is more of
it;* which silenced the Emperor, and Major Powell went on: but, making
a pause to take breath, his Imperial Masjesty began again and was again
silenced : a third pause, and again his Imperial Majesty commenced ; and
by that time Burnes seemed tired too, and the Emperor had it all his own
way, and all the talk to himself for the rest of the ceremonial. Mr.
M*Naughten and Sir W. Cotton were next invested; and Sir A. Burnes
and Sir Martin Wade were told that they were created Knights Grand
Crosses too, but that the goldsmith had not been able to make the decora~
tions in time for them, but they might rely on receiving them in as short a
time as he could compass it. Lord Auckland was declared a Knight Grand
Cross also; how Colonel Pottinger escaped can be only explained by the
wonderfal good fortune that has attended that gentleman through life.

¢¢ The Grand Crosses being created, the Knights Commanders and Com-
panions were to be invested, but the decorations had not been made; and
it was clear that if there was to be a knesling and a tow-tow for each,
there would be no end of it: se an officer in a Bengal Cavalry uniform,
holding a paper in his hand, shouted out the names of the ¢ men whom the
King delighted to honour ;' and we, the of polloi, being all drawn up on
the right of the King, the parties so named stepped forth in succession,
and, crossing in front, bowed to the King, and ranged upon the left. The
officer, who thus enacted the Grand Mareschal of the palace, read with a
clear good voice, and deserved to have been a Grand Cross himself, if his
taste lay that way, for the fine feeling he showed when, in reading the
original list, he paused on the names of Brigadier Arnocld and Colonel
Herring, and, reading them with a subdued tone, added ¢ deceased,’ and
passed on to the next in order. This honourable tribute to the dead was
the only incident in the whole affair that seemed worth recording for any-
thing but its extreme absurdity.

¢¢ The decoration of the order is a Maltese cross, a bad imitation of the
Guelphic order of Hanover ; and it was the more absurd to give a Chris-
tian’s most sacred religious badge as an honour supposed to be conferred
by the most bigoted petty Mahomedan government in the world ; because
the arabesque star of six points, which forms the ornament of the historic

S
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gates of the tomb of Mahomed of Ghuznee, would have been so peculiar
and appropriate an emblem of a Douranee institution. The ribbon, ¢ party
per pale vert and gules,’ is in good taste; and when manufactured in
England, will no doubt be very ornamentasl,

¢« When the list was read out, and all was over, there rose the cry of the
disappointed ; and I saw Sir John Keane much excited, and apparently in
s bewilderment and amaze at the storm that threatened. The rule for the
selection had beeny that the brigadiers and heads of departments were to
be Knights Commanders; and all field officers, and sundry head-quarter
favourites, Companions. The claimants who now started forth were the
field-officers by brovet : there were only four or five; and these of course
from the simple fact of their brevet, were the oldest officers of their class,
and much senior to many who were preferred before them. One of them
had served nearly forty years in India, and was old enough to have been
the father of half the new-made knights: he is said to be writing a history
of the campaign, snd will no doubt make known his grievance, No satis-
factory reason was assigned for their being omitted ; had they been too
pumerous, it would have been otherwise, but they were not so0.”—Kennedy,
vol, ii., pp. 113—118.

On the 14th of September, before the separation of the Forces of the two

Presidencies of Bengal and Bombay, a General Order was issued, of which
the following is an extract :—=

¢ Sir John Keane eannot omit this opportunity of assuring the Troops of both
Presidencies, that it will be & proud reflection to him throughout his after life, to
bave had the honour of commanding Troops of suoh high cbaracter snd bearing,
and who have surmounted difficulties of all kinds without a murmur, but on the
contrary, a oheerfulness which dees them honor, and which marks their high discie
pline and good feeling : these qualities, combined with gallantry, they gave the ene-
wy a signal proof of, on the memorable day when their stronghold Ghuznee fell,

. % The conduot of the Troops bas been no less marked by their gallantry and high
bearing on that occasion, than it has all along by the cordial good feeling which has
subsisted between the combined forces of Bengal and Bombay throughout this sers
vice, and to which it will be the pleasing duty of Sir John Keane to call the attens
tion of the Right Honorable Lord Aucklandy the Governor-General; and he is con

vinced it will be equally gratifying to his Lordship to learn it, asit is to him to re«
port it,

¢ His Majesty Shah Shoojah-ool- Moolk has requested Sir John Keane to signify
to the Troops that His Majesty has, in token of his gratitude, determined on con-
ferring the decoration of the Order of the Doorannee Empire on certain Officers, and
to present every Officer and Soldier present at Ghuzoee on the 23d July last; with
amedal. That his Majesty has further addressed a letter through the Right Ho-
norable the Governor-General of Indis, to our most gracious Sovereign Queen
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Victoria, requesting that Her Majesty may be graciously pleased to permit the Offi-
ocers and Soldiers to wear these marks of distinetion,”’ (95)
By order, &o.
(8igned) R. Macpowarp, Lieut. Colonel,
Mily. Secy. and Depy. Adjt, Genl. H. M.’s Forces, Bombay.
On the 18th September the Bombay column quitted Cabool ; they retraced
their steps by the reute over which they had advanced as far as Ghuzaje:
thence crossing the Toba mountains, they made a short cat on Quetta,
evading the detour by Candahar, and pursuing a line of march to Quettah
entirely new to them. From Quettah part of the force proceeded to Kelat,
which they captured. But this will form a part of our narrative to which
we must return after tracing the progress of the Bengal troops to Feroze-
pore. Towards the beginning of October, the affairs to the northward of
the Hindoo Koosh began to wear an aspect so alarming as to ocession
serious apprehensions to the authorities at Cabool. Dost Mahomed ap-
peared to have so firmly established himself in the favour of the Chief of
Koondooz, and to have obtained such entire command of the reseurces
of the country, that the Envoy and Minister, st the suggestion of Dr
Lord, had at one time resolved to'establish, even at that late season of the
year, a brigade near Syghan. From this ill-considered measure he was
dissuaded by Sir John Keane. The troops sent out could have had no time
to construct for themselves sufficient cantonments before the setting in of
winter ; and would, even if they had, have been cut off from all communi-
cation with the army at Cabool, and exposed single-handed, and without
ammunition, provisions, line of operations, or means of resistance, to the
attacks of all the forces of independent Tartary, which, as subsequently
shown, could easily muster to the extent of 12,000 men. (96) This was
a bud of the fatal system which afterwards spread abroad, and proved fatal
tous. The Bengal troops remained for nearly a month after the departure
of the Bombay column—as late, in fact, as the season would permit.
Head-quarters, under Lord Keane, marched on the 15th October, and the
remainder followed with as little delay as possible,~=and the whole of those
who proposed returning for the present to India had left before the 20th
The cold was severe in the pass—ice was found upon the roads, and the
bodies of dead camels and lorses lay frozen all around, and the horsemen’s
cloaks which chanced in the morning to be splashed with water in crossing
the stream, were immediately decorated with a border of jce. (97) Hyder

95. These Medals have since been presented to the Officers and Soldiers in
the name of the Government of India.

96. Major Havelock, vol. ii., p. 171,

97. Major Havelock, vol. ii. p. 176.
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Khan, governor of Ghuznie, and Hadjes Khan Kakar, accompanied the
force. 'We thall not at present attempt a description of this tremendous
chain of defiles, or the savage predatory tribes which inhabit them, which
occupy nearly the whole space betwixt Cabool and Peshawar, a stretch of
200 miles. We shall, in the last chapters of our narrative—those which
record the melancholy loss of 13,000 men in the pass in January 1842,
and in that which describes the victorisus advance of General Pollock on his
mission of vengeaace eight months afterwards,—require to go over every
part of the ground which Lord Keane with his retiring force traversed with-
out annoyance or impedimen*. It is enough at present to mention, that
the army which left the capital on the 18th Osctober reached Peshawur on
the 8th November. They had not been attacked or molested in any way,
except the rear division on the last day’s march in the. Khyber pase, when
two officers were wounded, several men killed and wounded, and many
camels with their loads taken by the tribes that afierwarda gave so much
trouble ; nor experienced greater difficulty than might have been anticipated
in traversing such wild and sterile regious. From Peshawur the route lay
through the friendly territory of the Seikh ruler: the distance is 850 milesr,
which was traversed without inconvenience or obstruction, our troops
reaching the frontier station of Ferozepore on the Sutlej on New-year’s
day 1840.

A deputation from the Mabarajah Kurruek Sing met Sir Jobn Keane
st Attock, on crossing by the bridge of boats over the Indus after its
junction with the Cabool River at that place, to invite His Excellency to
visit the Cour: of Lahore. At the head of the deputation was Lena Sing,
a young and handsome Sirdar of great wealth, with an escort of 2000 men
well mounted and appointed, whe continued with the Commander-in-Chief
during his whole journey afterwards through the Punjaub until he reached
Ferozepore. Lena Sing is one of the very few men of high rank (or indeed of
any rank) in his country given to literary and scientific pursuits. He is
particularly fond of Astronomy, and not a day passed without his asking
questions, and taking instructions from Major Thomson and the other Engi-
neer officers. He was presented with a Sextant, which pleased him much,
and a set of instruments and telescopes were ordered out frrhim from Eog-
land.

Sir John Keane with all his personal Staff and the Staff of the Bengal
force, made the detour to Lahore, while the Army continued to move by
the direct route through the country, where he arrived on Christmas
day, taking with him as his Escort—Her Majesty’s 16th Lancers, a Troop
of Bengal Horse Artillery, and his Infantry Escort of the Bombay 19th N.
I. His reeeption was most cordial, and attended with a degree of splendour
which cannot be rivalled by any other Eastern Court in the present day-
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All the usual ceremonies were gone through, and a display made of Jewels,
Cashmeers, Cloth of Gold, &ec. &c., that surprised all who had seen it for
the first time. Sir John Keane was unfortunately so unwell at times, as
not to be able to attend all the ceremonies, and by the approval of the Ma-
harajah he was on those occasions represented by Colonel Macdonald; The
most imposing of all the ceremonies was a review of 45,000 men, with 1562
Ppieces of cannon, drawn up in one coatinued line, under the command of
the Heir apparent to the throne, Nao Nehal Sing, a high-spirited youth of
about 20 years of age, who afterwards lost his life by the falling of a beam,
at one of the gateways, on the day of his father's funeral, when he was tosue-
ceed as sovereign of the Punjaub. The courtiers, Generals and others, as
well as the whole of the Staff Officers of the British Force, were mounted on
Elephants, and mostly seated in goid and silver Howdahs, (98) to afford
them a better view of the troops from their elevated seats, than they could
command on their chargers, The fine appesrance of the troops, and their
appointments, surprised the British Officers. The arms, cuirasses and
clothing were all of French manufacture. The late Runjeet Sing had given
a carte blanche to two of Napoleon's officers of distinction, Allard and
Ventura, Generals in the Maharajah's service, to procure in France all that
they considered requisite for the equipment and respectability of His High~
ness’s Army. Thero were besides in his service, of the Napoleon school,
Generals Court and Avitabile (the latter a most intelligent energetic man,
who has since proved himself so useful and such a stanch friend to the Bri-
tish as Governor of the Province of Peshawur,) together with many other
French, German and Italian ofticers of inferior grade ; and the drill and dis-
cipline was entirely French. The Cuirassiers and Artillery were particu-
larly well horsed and appointed, and all had the appearance of soldiers ; it is
believed that if it came to blows, they would make but a poor stand against
a British Force,

On the 7th January Sir John Keane and his staff left them for Bombay,
and the various regiments were dispersed amongst their respective canton-
ments. Since the 8th November 1838, the Bengal colamn had traversed
a space of 2070 miles, the longest continuous march ever accomplished
by an Indian army. (99)

We must now return to the movements of the Bombay column, and
follow them through this important episode, detailing the operations against
Kelat, out of which one of the most singular passages in the history of our
policy in the East so speedily arose. It was a strange feeling in retracing
our steps,” says Dr Kennedy (100), * to compare the numerous recollec-

98 A Howdah resembles the body of a Gig, or very large arm chair.
for Hough, p. 362.
100. Vol. ii. p. 121. Hlstory of the Campaign of the Army of the Indus.
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tions ef our journey on the advanee, with its doubts and uncertainties,
and the thousand wild rumours which were every day afloat, in contrast to
the solution of all difficulties and the termination of all danger, on the
homeward march of the army.”’

Capt. Outram appears on most occasions to have been the officer in all
the army sought out when any enterprize of especial hazard, or where
unususl dispatch or daring was required, whose services were put in requi-
sition. The Envoy having applied to have him placed in political employ-
ment,~—on the 7th Sept., a week before the march of the Bombay eolumn,
he was sent out to depose, and, if possible, to arrest the refractory Ghilzie
chiefs, Mehta Moossa Khan, Abdoo! Rehman Khan, Ghool Mahomed
Khan, and the Mama, a Chief so named from his being the uncle of the
Candahar Sirdars, (101) and to establish the newly appointed Ghilzie
Governors, Meer Allum Khan, Zeman Khan, and Khulleel Khan ;—to
punish the inhabitants of Maroof, who, in May last, wantonly destroyed a
caravan proceeding from Hindostan to Candahar;—and lastly, to reduce
the forts of Hadjee Khan Kakur, should they still be held by his adherents.
The murder of Colonel Herring was reported just as he was about to
Start; he was directed if possible to search out and punish the perpetrators
of that atrocity. The force placed under his charge consisted of a wing of
the Shah’s 1st Cavalry and Goorkah Battalion, Capt. Abbot’s Battery of 9
pounders from Cabool, a reinforcement from Capt. Macan’s Regiment of
Shak’s Infantry at Candahar, half of the Shab’s 2d Regiment of Cavairy,
and a brigade of Horse Artillery. In consideration of the difficulty of
obtaining forage and preventing plunder with so large a pumber, the
regular force was, at the especial request of Capt. Qutram, reduced to 500
mep. A thousand Affghan cavalry, under Mahomed Oosman Kban, an
unele of the King, led in parties by 20 Affghan Chiefs, were to be added.
After the experience of the trust to be reposed in the Affghans, which had
been supplied from the time we reached Quettah, and especially after the
eonduct of Hadjee Khan Kakur and his people, it seems singular that the
system of pressing them into a service in which they seemed determined
only to impede or thwart our aims, should have been persisted in, when we
had troops of our own in the country sufficient for the discharge of all the
duty desired to be performed. It is impossible to conceive what good end
could have-been purposed to be served by it, unless to delude the people at
a distance into the belief that the Shah was subduing and quieting the
country by the help of his own subjects ; a more thorough delusion, or one
more zealously striven after, could not be imagined. Tbe Affghan auxili-

blO}. Outram’s Rough Notes, p. 123. We bave copied the instructions oer-
atim.
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aries could not be got ready, and Capt. Outram marched without them.
His Majesty, though unsble to make his faithful subjects accompany the
expedition, promised to drive them after it, and, in three days after it was
gone, he succeeded in driving a part of them from Cabool ; they jeined on
the 7th day of the march. On the evening of the 14th, Meer Allum Khan
succeeded in capturing some of the banditti connected with the murder of
Colonel Herring, On the 20th, Buxee Khan was captured. The following
day, Capt. Outram’s party were reinforced by a wing of the 16th N. I.
under Msjor M‘Laren, and they arrived at daybreak at a deep dell occupied
by the gang of which they were in quest. Our people managed completely
to surround the marauders ; they fought desperately, and maintained their
position until their ammunition was exhausted, when they were induced to
throw down their arms, after 16 of the most desperate of their body had
been killed, and 71 wounded. We lost three sepoys, and had two European
and two Native officors wounded. Not a soul escaped ; 112 prisoners, with
a similar number of camels, fell into our bands, The Company’s mark on
the head of the animals showed that they had been acquired by plunder.
Forty-six of the most feracious of the robbers were selected, and despatched
to Cabool for execution. Capt. Outram’s party were now moving on a line
nearly parallel with that of the Bombay column, which had left Ghuznie
on the 29th Sept,, (102) under a temperature which at night sunk to 84
deg., and were now only three marches to their right. They were in con-
stant intercourse with Sir T. Willshire, who supplied them with whatever
reinforcements were necessary. On the 1st Oct., the detachment of the
Shah’s Ist Cavalry, under Liout, M'Kenzie, was ordered to return to
Cabool—three weeks of such severe marching as that required amongst the
Ghilzie mountaios, having kuoocked up all the horses, Oua the 3d the
Poonah Auxiliary Horse, under Captain Keith Erskine, arrived in camp
the mext night they made up with a couple of nine-pounders, escorted by a
wing of the Bombay 19th N. I., sent out to meet them from Ghuznie by
previous agreement. Oa the 5th, Capt. Outram marched his little band 42
miles in the course of 24 hours. The following day he surprised in his fort
the principal Ghilzie chief Abdool Rehman Khan. The father of this man,
when disputing the empire with Shah Zeman, besieged Cabool with 50,000
horse and foot. Abdool Rehman seemed to have had no intention to fiy.
He had, just before the arrival of our troops, sent off his women and pro-
perty : he himself, with eighty chosen horsemen, remained within his hold.
It was a well-constructed fort, with a wet ditch and lofty citadel, before
which in former days the Shah Socojah had twice been foiled and forced to

102. Dr, Kennedy, &c., vol. ii., p. 122,
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return, Capt. Outram had resolved te defer the captare of the place till the
following evening, that the cavalry might be sufficiently rested to be able
immediately thereafter to make a dash upon the other chiefs, whose strong~
holds were only sbout a forced march off. Major M‘Laren had the fort
surrounded by 500 cavalry, besides two companies of the 16th Bengal N. I.
stationed under cover within 200 yards of the gate. Near midnight, how-
ever, Abdool and his party suddenly rushed out on horseback through our
piquets, and dispersing in all directions, managed to escape in the dark.
He had remained to the last in his fort under the expectation of being joined
by a neighbouring chief, who was to have attacked our rear with 1000
horse. This man had been brought over to our interests, and had come into
our camp the previous evening before sunset, leaving no choice to Abdool
Rehman but to attempt the flight thus boldly and successfully effected.
The fort was completely destroyed, having been mined and blown up by us
after its evacuation. On the evening of the 8th, Captain Qutram rode into
Gen. Willshire’s camp, attended by no more than a couple of Ghilzie fol-
lowers, though the distance was 20 miles. These operations against the
Ghilzies were continued with the utmost enterprise and spirit, and with no
inconsiderable success, till the troops reached Quettah on the 31st October.
Captain Outram had latterly occasionally accompanied the Bombay column,
sometimes moved parallel with it, and occasionally crossed its path in all
directions. The season of extreme cold was now approaching; the country
was to the last degree barren and inhospitable, On the 18th October, on
reaching the summit of the Toba mountains, the thermometer at daybreak
stood at 19 deg.—18 degrees below freezing. The engineer officer in charge
(Captain Peat) stated that it only required the difficulties of the country
to be a fraction of a fraction greater than they were, when the roads would
have become impassable. On the 29tk they regained the line of their
original advance at Hyderzye, and found themselves plentifully supplied
with provisions, sent out on purpose by Captain Bean from Quettah ; the
fort was attained in safety the second day after.

Before the Bombay column quitted Cabool it had been determined that
Mehrab Khan should be deposed, and a remote relative, Newaz Khan, a
Cutchee chief, placed in authority at Kelat. The conduct of the Beloo-
chee chief has been pretty fully treated of in the preliminary chapter
and earlier portion of the present narrative. Finding that all the obstruc-
tions which he had endeavoured to throw in our way, and the numberless
annoyances he had occasioned uns, bad failed to retard us on the path of
victory, or to prevent the restoration of the Shah Shoojah : he no sooner
found the Suddozye power supreme, and the British army likely to maintain
itself in Affghanistap, than he sent in all sorts of professions of loyalty and
devotion towards the king, and friendship for his allies. On General Will.
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shire’s arrival at Quettab, he received a letter written in the same unblush.
ing style as those addressed to the envoy and minister, in which he
declared himself the faithful subject of the Shah Shoojah, and devoted ally
of the British government, (103) and entreating that he would interfere to
prevent the hostile measures which Captain Bean, the political agent for
Shawl, had meditated, from beiag put in execution against him ; conclud-
ing by stating, that if attacked he would defend himself to the last. The
nature of our information as to the state of affairs at Kelat appears to have
been almost inconceivably imperfect. The most fitting time for & move-
ment against it would probably have been the month of August, when
General Nott, left at Quettah to keep the Beloochees in clieck, had a force
under his charge abundantly powerful for the purpose, especially as the
intelligence of the fall of Ghuzaie had at that time astonished and stunned
the whole of Affghanistan. It was afterwards said that Captain Bean had
requested General Nott to undertake the adventure with a single native
regiment and a company of artillery. He was believed to have been pre-
vented from this by a point of military etiquette on receiving a cory of
General Willshire’s instructions. Matters being now fully arranged, Bri-
gadier Banmgardt was dispatched on the 3d Nov.with H. M.'s 2d and 17th
Foot, and the 3lst Bengal N. I. The whole of the line regiments being
weak, these mustered less than 1000 bayonets, (104) To theae were added six
light field pieces, two of the Bombay Horse and four of the Shah’s Artillery ;
the sapper corps, and 150 irregulars, the whole in the best possible order.
General Willshire and staff foliowed them the ensuing day. The remain-
ing portion of the Bombay column unnder Brigadier Scott, consisting of
the park, with the whole of the cavalry and greater part of the artillery,
and the 19th N. 1., proceeded through the Bolan Pass, and so by Dadur on
to Sukkur, where they arrived without obstruction or adventure on the
29th November. Accounts of the fall of Kelat and of the advance of the
Russians on Khiva, had reached them on the way, and in consequence of
the latter event they were directed by the political agent to halt near
Bhaug ; but cholera had broken out amongst them in a part of the country
where comforts were not procurable, and acting on the recommendation of
the head of the medical department, Brigadier Scott moved on. Betwixt
the 20th and 30th of November, the force, mustering short of 700 men,
lost by this appalling visitation Surgeon Forbes of the 1st Bombay Cavalry,
and Captain Ogle of H. M.’s 4th Dragoons, together with 56 European
soldiers. The natives escaped.

To return to the operations against Kelat, whitherward, as above statod,

103. Dr Kennedy, vol. ii. p, 135.
104. Dr Kennedy, vol. ii. p- 143, verbat.
T
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General Willshire had marched on the 4th November. Until the 13th of
the month, when they closely approached Kelat, the column met with little
opposition in their progress ; it was now that active operations commenced.
‘Wo shall draw on Capt. Qutram's rough notes for an account of the capture
of the town, (105).

¢ 13th Nov. Marched at sunrise, the Local Horse being leftin charge of the
baggege. About a mile from the encampment we had just left, we were met by &
tody of about one bundred horse, who kept aloof until they observed that we had
no Cavalry to oppose to them, whereupon they became bolder, and galloping
close up to the head of the Column, discharged their matchlocks, A party of
Light Infantry having been thrown out to keep them at a distance, we continued
our march without furtber molestation about six miles, when, on our surmounting
a small range of hills, the town and fortress of Khelat suddenly burat wpon our
view, It was truly an imposing sight. Some small hillz in front were crowned
with masses of soldiers, snd the towering citadel which frowned above them
in their rear, was completely clustered over with human beings,—ladies of the
harem chiefly, who had assembled to witness the discomfiture of the Feringees,
and the prowess of their Lords, all of whom, with the Kban at their head, had
previously marched out to the heights, where they awaited us in battle array!

¢ No sooner had the head of the British Column shewed itself, than the enemy’s
guns, of which there were five in position on the heights, opened upon it; but
being ill directed, they were unattended with effect. In order to assemble every
efficient man of his small army, General Willshire here halted the troops until
the baggage had closed up, assigning the charge of it, and of the sick, tothe
Local Horse. It was very evident that the enemy, who greatly outstripped us
in point of numbers, were fully bent upon mischief ; and our total strength amount-
ing to less than one thousand bayonets, we had nothing to spare in the contest
that awaited us, During this delay two companies were sent to clear some gardens
on our left ; and a body of horse threatening us from that direction, a few
shrapnel shells were thrown amongst them, which caused them to withdraw to the
fort. The cool and determined demeanour of our veteran General inspired every
one present with confidence of success, nor shall I ever forget the obvious feeling
of delight with which his deep toned word of command, ¢ Loosen cariridges,’ was
received by the soldiers—evinging as it did, that an immediate attack was intended,
and 1fat serious opposition might be expected.

* The following plan of assault was then communicated by the General. Under
cover of the Artillery, the three redoubts on the beights are first to be carried by
four companies of each Regiment, Two companies are to advance through the
gardens, on ourleft, and the remaining ten companies are to form the reserve.
The heights, once in our possession, would serve ina great measure to cover our

camp from the Artillery of the fort, and would afford us a commandiog position
from which to sanoy the Garrison.

105. Captain Outram, pp. 141-—147.
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CAPTURE OF EHELAT.

¢ All being in readiness, the three columns of attack moved steadily forward
preceded bythe Artillery, which unlimbered gt the foot of the hills, and opened
8 cannonade of shells and shrapnel with sich admirsble precision, that the masses
of the enemy; crowning the heights, were compelled to abandon their position long
before the Infantry had geined the summit, Observing the enemy endeavouring
to draw off their guns, the General despatched e with orders to the Column of
the Queen’s Royals, which was the nearest to the gate; to pursue the fugitives,
and if possible, to enter the fort with them—but at any rate to prevent their
taking in the ordnance. I overtook the head of the column before it had attsined
to the redoubt ( C.) and galloped on to the redoubt at the very moment that
the enemy were vacating it ; when perceiving them to be engaged in the attempt
to carry off oneof the pieces of Artillery, T called on Captain Raitt of the Queen’s
Royals to push down quickly with his Grenadiers, and if unable to enter the gate
with the enemy, at all events to capture the gun. I accompanied this party;
which rushed down the hill, butarrived too Jate to enter the Fort with the enemy,
who however abandoned the gun outside, and hastily closed the gate after them.

¢ Teaving the Grenadiers to take post under cover of a ruined building, (marked
E. in the plan,) within sixty yards of the gate, so as to be in readiness to entet
by it, in case the general might decide upon following up this advantage by
blowing open the gate before the Garrison should find time to block it up, as they
doubtless would do, were the attack to be delayed, I rode back to report pro-
gress. The whole of our troops were already on the heights, and the guns
were also being dragged up. Four of the latter were directed to play upon the
towers commanding the gateway from the positions B. B., whilst the othet two
wcre ordered down te I, for the purpose of battering the gate itself. The Ge-
neral at the same time despatched me to G., with instructions to bring up the
Light Companies under Major Pennycuick to H., where a mud wall sbout four
feet in height, afforded shelter within thirty yardsofthe wall, on the opposite side
of the gate to that near which the Grenadiers of the Queen’s Royals were posted.
Having brought them at double quick time acrose the plain to within two bundred
yords of the walls; and then directed them to scatter and rush under cover, I
returned to the General, taking the point E. in my way, in order to warn the
Grenadiers that the gate would be immediately blown open, when they were to
rush in simultaneously with the Light Companies from the opposite side, It was
whilst taking up the positions E, and H. that most of the casualties during thie
day occurred, the troops so engaged being exposed to an exceedingly hot fire
from the walls, On these two occasions I was the only mounted officer present,
but although both the nature of my occupa_tion, and the singularity of my rifle
uniform, differing as it did from all others, must bave attracted a considerable share
of the enemy's observation, I escaped with my usual good fortune.

¢¢ From the point D., the two guns now opened uponthe gate, and being ad-
mirably directed (by Lieyt. Henry Creed of the Bombay Artillery,) afew rounds
were sufficient to throw down one half of it. The getfeul'l signals for the advance
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of the storming partier, not being immediately observed; 1 galloped down, and
sccompanied the Grenadiers to the gate, after seeing them in secure occupstion of
which, I returned to the General, whom I met close to the fort, bringing up the
main body of the troops, He Immediately despatched me with Captain Darley’s
Compsny of H. M.’s 17th Foot, with instructions to take the 31st Regiment Ben-
gsl Native Infantry along with me, and with these to storm the heights and
secure the gate on the opposite side of the fort, After passing quickly round
the western face, from which we were exposed to a considerable fire, I placed the
Company of the 17th under cover of aspur of the hill, and thence proceeded
back to seek for the 31st Regiment, which I found scouring the suburbs, Ha-
ving united the two detachments, we stormed the heights at K., where we ex-
perienced some trifling opposition from matchlockmen occupying the rocks above :
these being soon dispersed we rushed down to the gate L., driving in a party of the
enemy with such precipitation that they had neot time to secure the gate, possession
of which was thus obtained, and the escape of the garrison entirely cut off,

¢ We were here joined by a party under Major Deshon, which had been sent
round by the eastern face of the fort ; when I directed the officers to leave a de-
tachmentin charge of the gate, and with the remainiog portion to make their way
up to the citadel, which still maintained a fire upon our troops, whilst I ac.
companied Lieutenant Creed for the purpose of selecting a position from whence
to bombard it with the Shah’s guns. Placed the guns in positien at N., and
opened a fire on the citadel which was continued with destructive effect, until
our soldiers had obtained possession. Rejoining the General in the meantime,
to report progress, I found him at the gate firat carried, giving orders for attaching
baga of gunpowder to the gates of the citadel, which had hitherto successfully
resisted all attempts to enter it from this side, Reported that the party from the
opposite quarter bad already got well up, and with the aid of Lieutenant Creed’s
guns, weuld shortly surmount every obstacle. Hereupon troops were again sens
up to co-operate, and a few minutes more sufficed to display the British standards
waving over the highest of the towers of Khelat, All hostilities immediately
ceased, and the soldiers displayed much greater forbearance than they usually do -
on such occasions. Quarter was never rcfused by them when craved by eries of
¢ Aman’ ¢ Aman,” and before nightfall nearly two thousand prisoners had been
removed from the fort unharmed.

¢ About four bundred of the Garrison are aupposed to have fallen in this affair,
and smongst them are the chiefs Mehrab Khan, Wullee Mahomed Khan, and
otber principal Beloche chieftains—every person of note having been either
“ slain or eaptured. Some anxiety was expressed by the General on the occasion
of my rejoining him at the first gate, in consequence of the rumoured escape of
Mehrab Kban ; but I assured him that as the fighting portion of the Garrison had
been driven back whilst in the act of attempting to d p by the opposi
gate, I entertsined no doubt that the Kban was still within the fort, since he
could noty, in ‘honor, have previously deserted his foliowera. This afterwards
proved to be the case. Foiled on that occasion in his attempt to eseape, the
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Chief had returned to the citadel with Wullee Mahomed Khan of Wudd, and others
of his most trusty followers, where they had all died sword in hand; the
Khan himself being slain by a shot through the neck, from whose hand itis
not known. Considering the small number of our troops, not one balf of whom
were astually engaged, the loss on our side is severe, Thirty-two were killed,
and one hundred and seven wounded ; amongst the former is Lieutenant Gravatt
of the Queen’s Royals, and there are nine officers smongst the latter.

“14th. Working parties have been employed the whole day in removing
and burying the dead, as well as in collecting prize property. Scattered as the
dead bodies are aver every part of the town, among houses, the numerous dark
chambers of which are not easily explored, it has not yet been practicable to as-
certain the number of the slain, The amount of bootyis supposed to be very
considerable, but we unfortunately do not possess the means of carrying it away,
nor is there any market here in which to dispose ef it. The arms especislly are of
very superior manufacture, and the sword of the fallen chief Mehrab Khan in par-
ticular, which is of the most costly workmanship, is estimated to be of great
value. The members of our little army have with one accord resolved upon
presenting this enviable trophy to their gallant leader, General Willshire, in token
of their admiration of his heroic bearing yesterday.”—Oufram’s Rough Notes,
Pp. 141—-147.

The joyous tidings of this event were carried by Capt. Outram to Bombay
through the very heart of the enemy’s country, until he reached Son-
meeanee by the sea. (106) The adventure was as dangerous and daring as
any that could have been undertaken, and the bold adventurer only escaped
on reaching the shore by about five hours before his pursuers.

There is no doubt that the capture of Kelat was not only the most
creditable affair during the campaign, but that it was in itself exceedingly
brilliant and meritorious,—wellable to bear comparison with any exploit
our troops ever performed in Iudia. Kelat, with a garrison ounly one-
third less numerous than that of Ghuznie, and fortifications scarcely less
formidable, was captured by a feree musiering little over 1000 bayonets,
without eavalry, and with only one light guns. At Ghuznie we had 40
pieces of artillery, and above 6000 men; we speak comparatively; we
have no wish to disparage the skill, bravery, or moderation of the last
named gallant exploit which sealed the fortunes of the war. The loss of
the enemy was computed at about 500 men; amongst these were num-
bered eight of the most influential chiefs, including Mehrab Khan himself:
three others were taken prisoners. This brought up the loss of the Affghans

106, Capt. Outram had, afier quitting Cabool, been, during his operations
against the Ghilzies, invested with extensive political powers. These ceased
on his approach to Quettah, when he was made aide-de-camp to Sir T.
Willshire, and permitted to do duty with the engineers.
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during the campaign to about 2500. Our casualties amounted to 31
killed, and 108 wounded. The value of the spoil taken at Kelat was at
first calculated as high as £60,000, it turned out considerably less than a
tenth of this. The principal item was the crown and Zenana jewels : these
had been built up and plastered over in the wall of the house of the chief
counsellor of the Khan. No hint had been given in regard to them until
our army was about to leave; and the tenement in which they were secreted
bad been assigned as a habitation to our future resident. A native, fearing
probably that they must by and bye be discovered without his aid, or
without advantage to any of those who were in the secret, disclosed the
place of concealment—which it required much labour to break open. The
history of this much of our spoil is so singular as to deserve a few lines of
notlce ; they were valued at £60,000 ; we bhave seen how nearly they wero
missed : on their way to India they were as nearly lost. The jewels were
entrusted to the care of H. M.’s 17th. About 300 of this Regiment having
embarked at Kurrachee on board the transport Hannah for Bombay, were
shipwrecked at the mouth of the Indus on the 17th of March. Noue of
the people were lost, and the jewels were saved by Colonel Pennycuick,
who carried them on his back for a considerable way through the surf and
marsh. They were sold at Bombay the following July for betwixt £5000
and £6000 ; but the premises of the salesman shortly after the sale were
broken into and robbed, and he himself afterwards became bankrupt ; the
amount realized to the army was a sufficiently insignificant fraction of that
originally looked for.

Mehrab Khan and his principal chiefs having thus been stmmarily dis-
posed of by the fate of war, the field was all but clear, and Newaz Xhan
was at once established oa the musnud. We had become so familiar with
the unseating and reseating of rulers on thrones, that it seemed to be
thought that it required no more than the announcement that the house of
Nusseer had ceased to reign, to ensare stability to the rule of his successor.
Newaz was accordingly left to maintain himself in autbority as he best
could over the fierce and independent tribes whom he was designed to con-
troul and to re-subject to the new Doorannee sovereign. Although Mehrab
Khan had left a son—a spirited boy of fourteen years of age, to whom his
subjects seemed devoted,—and s widow—a woman of infinite courage, talent,
and perseverance, no apprehension appears to have been entertained on his
account, or effort made to get them into our hands. The new ruler, as if
established by the prescription of half a century, was left with Liout. Love-
day as our Envoy at his court, and 30 sepoys as a guard of honour! The
result wae, that in six months’ time he was expelled from Kelat ; Loveday
was taken and murdered ; and an insurrectionary movement of 18 months’

 ew
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duration brought about, which cost us £300,000 in treasure, the lives of 12
British officers, and some 300 soldiers, and ended in our reversing all that
we had done,—pensioning the widow, and replacing the son of Mehrab
upon his father's throne, This, however, comes to be treated in a sub-
sequent chapter. :

Sir T. Willshire returned by the Gundava pass into Cutchee—a fertile
distriet in Upper Scinde ; and joined the force stationed at Sukkur,—his
gallant little army being shortly afterwards broken up. 8ir John Keane
and his staff arrived there from Ferozepore, on the 4th February, 1840,
and gave the final orders for the breaking up of the army of the Indus,
under instructions from the Governor-General, after which the Com-
mander-in-Chief proceeded to Kurrachee, where he embarked for Bombay
and there landed with his staff, on the 27th February, amidst the roar of
cannon and other demonstrations ef respect.

Trus closed the first Affghan cawpaign; and as the people at home
appeared to have believed, concluded all arrangements exactly as bad been
desiderated, bringing round a period of universal peace. The war expen-
diture of these fifteen months seems, as near as can be guessed, to have
amounted to nine millions sterling. Our loss of men, including camp-
followers, appears altogether to have been under 800,—the principal part of
the deaths having been occasioned by predatory attacks on our line of
march, About 83,000 Government camels had perished on the march,
occasioning a loss of £140,518 in this item alone, (107)—this includes
about 4000 private camels, the value of which amounted to nearly £30,000,
besides the loss to Government just stated. The total loss of property
incurred by individual members of the service, is estimated at nearly £70,000
in the course of fourteen months, and which fell to be paid for by the officers
of the force. Upper India was drained to supply this amount of carriage ;
(108) and we never, till the conclusion of the war, could command sufficient
means of transport for our stores. The enemy had, as already stated, lost
about 500 men before we reached Candabar, and 1000 at the storm of
Ghuznie. We find no return of their casualties either on our advance to Ca-
boo}, or our retirement through the Khyber Pass, or during Major Outram’s
operations against the Ghilzies, where their loss must have been severe. We
are satisfied that to set them down a: 500 will be under the mark: 500
more at Kelat, bringing up the casualties on their side during the campaign
to about 2500.

Bat though the fighting was closed, the most momentous and costly
portion of our connection with Affghanistan was only just begun. The

107. Major Hough—Appendix.
108, Ibid, p. 7. PP
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Shah’s contingent was already about 10,000 strong; it wae, within six
months, raised to 18,000 ; it was officered and paid by us, and was chiefly
composed of subjects of the British Government. The cost of this, falling
on our treasury, amounted in 1841 to very nearly half a million sterling-

Of the Seikh force of 5000 men which had ascended the Khyber Pass
with Colonel Wade, a single regiment alone returned with him. The
rest remained at Cabool. But the aid of 25,000 foreign soldiers, even
with the fear of British power, was found inadequate to assure the Shah of
the loyalty or submission of his subjects, We have traced to the confines
of India the Bengal and Bombay columns on their retirement; but these
were the mere skeletons of the forces which, under the same name, bad
ascended the Bolan Pass. The whole of the Bengal division of infantry,
the 2nd Bengal light cavalry, and No. 6 light field battery, were ordered to
remain in Affghanistan ; (109)—the clouds which began to threaten on
the N. W. just as we were preparing to leave, induced the Commander-
jn-chief to comply with the request of the Envoy and Minister, that another
brigade might be left behind beyond what had been originally contem—
plated.

In detail, the arrangements of the force stood thus: H. M. 18th, and the
85th N, L., with three guns, were stationed in the Bala Hissar, Cabool ;
together with the Shah’s lst Cavalry, with some of his Artillery. This
force, amounting to about 2,000 men, were to be commanded by Lieut:
Colonel Dennie. The 48th N. L., the 4th Brigade, a detachment of sappers
and miners, and 2d cavalry, with a ressalah of Skinner’s horse, and three
guns, were to be cantoned at Jellalabad; where the King and Eavoy,
according to the former luxurious custom of the Doorannee Sovereigns,
proposed to spend the winter. If the Shah was slow in taking on himself
the toils of King-craft, he was resolved that he should postpone the enjoy-
ment of none of the luxuries of royalty for the sake ot the tranquillization
of his kingdom., The Ghuznie garrison was to be placed under charge of
Major (now Colonel) McLaren, and to cousist of the 16th N. I.; a ressalah
of Skinner's horse, and such details of the Shah’s contingent as could be
made available. The 42d and 434 N. L, with heavy artillery and local
horse, with details of the Shal’s troops, were to be stationed at Candahar.
(110) The Shah's infantry mustered in all about 4000, his regular cavalry
about 2000. Subsequent to the arrival at Cabool, garrison-artillery had
been formed, with a mountain-train of 12 8-prs. The Affghan and Kohistan
levies, raised on our arrival, amounted to about 4000, and the whole con-
tingent to about 18,000 men. Including the British force, which consisted

109. Major Hough, p. 268, .
110, General Orger copied from Major Hough.
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of H, M.’s 13th, 1st Bengal European Regiment, 2d Light Cavalry, and
the 2d, 16th, 85th, 87th, 42d, 43d, and 48th N. I, with details of Artillerys
there was, by the beginning of 1840, an organized force in Affghanistan of
20,000 men; with from 70 to 80 guns. But the most formidable-looking
and unlooked-for source of outlay was the salaries of thirty-two political
agents who were dispersed over the country to see after its interests : and who
received amongst them a revenue of £50,000 a-year. We shall speedily
see that liberal as was the scale of expenditure at starting, before six
months had elapsed it was found necessary to have it vastly encreased : and
the regular Indian army which, when left behind in October 1839, amounted
to about 8000, was within the next twelve months more than doubled in its
strength, At the outbreak of the insurrection in November 1841, we had
upwards of 14,000 men, besides the contingent, in the Shal’'s dominions !
How long such a state of matters as this was proposed to be continued,
does not appear :—if we might judge from the solidity and extent of the
political edifice we should infer that it was expected to be occupied by
British tenants for a considerable period of years. The expense of the
13,000 men added to the Indian army before the war began, necessary to
make up for the troops dispatched and detained beyond the Indus,
amounted to above £600,000—the cost of the maintenance of the extra
field force alone exceeding a million and a quarter annually, besides all
commissariat, civil, and diplomatic charges, The services of the political
agencies and the army called the Shah’s contingent, must, at’all events,
have been expected to be required for a long lapse of time. Yet the net
cost of these, as we have seen, amounted to £550,000 a-year; whereas
the total revenues of the kingdom screwed up to their bighest pitch, could
never be raised, during the three following years, to more than £250,000;
and were never estimated higher tham £300,000. With a country so
situated, — without sea-coast or navigable rivers, —mineral produce or
manufacturing industry, or any single capability or means of purchase,—
it seems difficult to divine what could possibly be contemplated by further
occupation. Tbe fears of Russia and Persia had, proved a dream ;—the
siege of Herat was raised before our troops left their cantonments in Hin-
dostan ;—apprehensions of disaffection in India had been dispelled, and the
Rajah of Sattarah, and Nawaub of Kurnool, from whose Portuguese allies
and hidden cannon so much was apprehended, had been reduced to the
condition of state prisoners with as little trouble as a bankrupt is brought
to gaol ;—Runjeet Singh, one of the most important parties to the tri-
partite treaty, was ou liis death-bed when it was signed, and in ashes before
we left Candahar ;—the Shah Soojah was in years above 60, in constitation
at least ten years older from the life he had led,—and his sons, from the
atrocious dissoluteness of their characters, were werthless or scandalous as
U
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allies to any nation :—yet with all the parties for or against, or with whom
the treaty had beea contracted, thus vanishing from the scene,—prepara-
tions were being made on a scale of such magonitude as if the drama had
been destined for perpetuity !

The intelligence of the fall of Ghuznie, and occupation of Cabool,
reached England in the middle of October; and nothing conld exceed the
triumph with which it was received. There was certainly much that was
peculiarly brilliant and captivating in the exploit itself, and something
extremely striking in the length, the difficulty, the boldness, and the suc-
cess of the march which had preceded it. At a quarterly meeting of the
Court of Proprietors held on the 18ith December, a series of resolutions
passed the week before by the Court of Directors was read: by these it
waa agreed that the thanks of the court should be tendered to Lord
Auckland, *¢ for the sagacity and promptitude with which he had planned
the expedition, and the zeal and vigour he had displayed in preparing the
troops to take the field.” Sir John Keane and the field officers were also
thanked for the intrepidity and spirit manifested by them in condusting
the campaign. (111) This was cordial enough so far as it went, and was
not unmerited: it was carried with dissent. Sir Charles Forbes spoke at
great length on the subject,—ucging tho strengest objections to the policy
of the Affghan War altogether, and especially adverting to the reported
slaughter of the Ghazee prisoners by the Shah Soojah at Ghuznie. He said
that the expense of the expedition had been estimated at three millions
sterling : it was now admitted that it would cost five: and for his part he
would not uadertake to defray them for seven, up to the time of the retarn
of our troops to India—about the period when the Hon'vle Baronet ad-
dressed the court. We have already seen that the war charges of 1839
have since been set down, by the best authorities, at about nine millions
sterliog., It now appears that so many as nine-tenths of the Court of
Directors (112) were hostile to the policy of the war, however much dis-
posed to approve of the military skill and bravery by which it bad been
carried into execution: and the chairman never ventured, on any one
occasion, to ask the court for an approval of the policy! Mr. St. John
Tucker had, ea.ly in 1839, made a formal protest against the war; aod Sir
Henry Willock a short time afterwards addressed Lord Palmerston at
Iength upon the subject. The country were, however, so completely carriel
away by the clash of victorious arms, and the shout of triumph, that it
was regarded as the extremity of party rancour to speak despairingly or
disparagingly of a system whose commencement had been crowned with

111, Report—Asiatic Journal for January 1840, Vol. 39, N. S, p. 49, part ii.
112. Mr. Hogg’s speech in the Housec of Commeons, July 8, 1842,
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vietory. They knew not then how much greater at one time had been the
probability of failure than of success ; and how much more terrible would
have been the consequences of the former than those of the latter were
auspicious. The general impression besides, sppeared to be, that large
acquisitions of territory had been gained, and ample additions made to our
revenue. (118) They little expected that the laurels we had reaped had
cost us nine millions sterling—that our new ally could osly be maintained
upon his throne by 20,000 British bayonets, and an expenditure of three
millions a~year 1—the return for which was woraine!! So cowed were
the opposition into silence, or so ill-informed on the details of the polivy,
that scarcely any reply was made to it when alluded to in the Queen’s
speech of the 15th January, 1840. Sir R. Peel said he would wait and
watch for the results. The Duke of Wellington had before remarked, that
he never entertained any doudt but that the valour and discipline of our
troops would secure victory to our arms: but it was when we had com-
pleted our first conquests that our dificulties would begin. When a vote of
thanks was proposed to the Governor-General, the Commander-in-Chief,
and the Army, the same cautious reserve was maintained by the Conserva-
tives : no formal opposition was offered : and up till after the time of Lord
Keane’s pension bill being passed in February 1841, no one save Lord
Ellenborough,—who declared the war to have been a folly, and said that it
remained to be seen whether or not it might not prove a crime,~ventured
to speak out in Parliament in terms of open and decided disapprobation ;
but in great praise of Lord Keane for the manner in which he conducted
the military part of it.

Lord Auckland—previously a Baron—was made an Earl: Sir Jobn
Keane was raised to the Peerage by the title of Baron Keane of Ghuznie
and Cappoquio ;—the following February a pension of £2000 a-year was
conferred upon himself, to be continued to his male representatives for two
generations: Mr Macnaghten and Colonel H. Pottinger-—the great diplo-
matists on the occasion—received Baronetcies: Colonel Wade obtained the
honor of knighthood. (114) Sir Alexander Burnes had been Knighted, and
raised to the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel on the commencement of the
war ;—the official intimation there.f having reached him in Scinde in
January. (115)

Before concluding the present chapter, it may be as well to take leave of

113. The speeches of 8ir Phillip Durham and Sir John Cam Hobhouse at
a meeting of the Directors, evidenced how extensively the delusion pre-
vailed- The error of the Minister must bave arisen from something worse
than ignorance !

114. These Patents aro dated Whitehall, Dce. 11, 1839.

115. Gazetted September, 1833,
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the principal actor,—the only one who retired from the stage no more to
appear before the public in person,—almost the only one who reaped the
honours and rewards of conquest, without suffering from the calamities
which fast followed at the heels of original success. Lord Keane arrived at
Bombpy on the 27th February. He remained for five weeke, during which
period he and his companions in arms received a splendid public entertain-
ment in the Town Hall: the whole period of his scjourn, in fact, was filled
up with feasts and festivities in honour of his successes in war. Oun his
return home he received a public entertainment from the Court of Directors
on the 11th July. As to his character, Lord Keane is a man of talents
not entitled to be called eminent, yet considerably above mediocrity. He
has had much experience in his profession, baving served in Egypt, in the
Peninsula, and in the American war of 1814. That he is a man of enter-
prize and resources—of vigour, spirit, and determination of purpose, is
disputed by no one. The cool equability of his courage has repeatedly
been called in question, (116) but without, as it appears to us, any suffi-
cient reason: and though there can be no doubt that, for the master-stroke
of the campaign—the capture of Ghuznie, the feat which won him all his
fame, he was in a great measure indebted to the science, skill, and conduct
of the Engineers, and the dauntless bravery of the troops; there are
abundance of points remaining, of which he alone can claim the merit, to
entitle him to the gratitude of his country. He was not the planner of the
campaign ; nor is he understood to have concealed his disapprobation both
of the plan and the policy which led to it: though entrusted with its
execcution, he was not called upon for more; and this much he effected
well. He was a stout Conservative in politics ; and after the glowing
Ghuznie despatch had been penved, he is understood to have said that
‘¢ the fort was but a rotten hole after all I —but that its capture would
.give the Whigs another year in office.—We have here given the bright side
of Lord Keane’s character: we have omitted the darker portions for the
present,—many of which would ill bear public scrutiny.

116. See Colonel Dennie’s Letters.
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CHAPTER IIIL

Extent of the Doorannee Empire under Ahmed Shah—under S8hah S8oojah—Political Agents—
Establishment and Expense of—Expedition to the northward, November 1839—The Shah
and Envoy winter at Jelhlnbo.d—(}ologel Orchard’s unsuccessfal expedition.to Pushoot
—Affair with the Hazarah Tribes—Grand Convoy arrives at Jellalabad in April—~Expedi~
tion against the Ghilzies betwixt Candabar and Ghuznie—Detach ts under Captains
Walker and Tayler—under Captain Anderson— Colonel Wallace's Detachment—Successes
of—R Surrender of Nawaub Jubbar Khan and two of the Sons of Dest dMshomed
—Reception of at Cabool ~Dost Mahomed proceeds to Bokhara and is made prisoner .Ad-
ventures of—Escapes and returns to Khool Discontented state of the country~Alarm.
ing state of Kohist: Captain Hay pelted to fall back on 8yghan, which is reinforced—
Captain M‘Gregor’s mishap near Jellalabad—Alarm of the Envoy—Apprehensgions: that we
should require to quit all our outposts and trate on the Capital—Colonel Whee-
ler’s success against the Kudjah Chiefs—Affzul Khan repulsed near Bajgah—Detach-
ment abandons Syghan leaving mach private property behind—Desertion of a part of the
Shah’s Troops—Colonel Dennie dispatched fiom Cabool to-reinforce Bameean—Exatrems
apprehensions of Dr Lord—Colonel Dennie’s brillisnt manceuvres on the Irsk mountain,
—Reaches B Ad of Dost Mah d—Battle of B Depnie’s Advance
on Byghan—Flight of the Affghans—The Khooloom Confederacy broken up—8ir R. Saleat-
tacks Tootan Durrah—Death of Lieutenant Connolly—Destroys the whole of the Tootan
Purrah Forts—Attack on Jugiah—At first un fol M ts of Dost Mahomed—
Destraction of the Village of Heibuk and adjoining forts—Battle of Purwan Durrah-.
Disgraceful conduct of the 2d Cavalry—Death of Dr Lord, Lieutenants Brogdfoot, and
Crispin—S8urrender of Dost Mahomed to the Envoy-S8ir Alexander Burnes’s account of
the State of the Country.

‘WE have as yet been favoured with no sufficiently trustworthy materials
to epnable us to come to any distinet conclusion as to what might have been
Lord Auckland’s intentions or expectations at the begiuning of the war as
to the line of policy to be adopted after the Shah should have been replaced
on his throne. It is probable, bowever, that he might have some such
scheme as the following before him: as we cannot imagine any man mad
enough to enter on an expedition, forsceing that long before any thing
final or effective could be brought about, it must be abandoned because the
finances as well as the credit of India were exhausted. We have already
seen that the withdrawal of a much larger portion of the regular army than
it was found prudent to permit to return to Iudia, had been contemplated,
and that the Commander-in-Chief, on the solicitation of the Envoy, left an
additional brigade behind him at Cabool in October. Tt is probable that,
by the second or third year of the new reign, it was hoped that the ser-
vices of the whole of our troops might be dispensed with, and that the
charge of the empire might be committed to the contingent for a few years
longer, when probably our more immediate connection with the country
might either have been expected to cease, or that by this time our faithful
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ally being gathered to his fathers, his kingdom might have become worthy

of annexation to our other territories. When, or by whom, the marvellouns

scheme of politieal organization, immediately atterwards brought into ope-

ration, wasdevised,—how long it was meant to last,—or what useful purpose
it was expected to serve, does not appear. There is no doubt but that it

was implicitly believed that the Doorannee empire might speedily be -
stretched very nearly to its original limits. At the death of Ahmed Shah

in 1778, it consisted of the provinces of—

Neshapoor, Ghuzaie, Dheera Ishmael Khan,
Meshid, Candahar, Mooltan,

Herat, Jellalabad, Scinde,

Cabool, Peshawur, Beloochistan,

Balkh, Cashmere, The country as far as Sir-
Bameean, The Punjaub, ) hind.

Ghorebund, Dheera Ghazee Khan,

The revenues of the Doorannee sovereigns at this period amounted to
about three millions a~-year. The total revenue of Cabool in Dost Maho-
med’s time was about £250,000, and it fell considerably helow this after
his deposition. The Shah Scojah had, in addition to these, the revenues of
Candahar, his other acquisitions yielded him none—which brought up the
whole financial returns of the empire to something under £800,000 a-year.
The dominions of which we put him in possession were Cabool, Bameean,
Ghuznie, Jellalabad, and Candahar, the last of which alone did not belong
to Dost Mahomed. One of our earliest arrangements for reducing the
Doorannee states to order, was the appointment of an expensive set of
functionaries termed political agents; so often adverted to, that it will be
convenient here to give a brief account of them. These were selected from the
civil or military services~~mostly from the junior grades of the latter,
their chief recommendation being their familiarity with the Percian lan-
guage. They resided in the larger towns or troubled districts, and were
vested with the most estensive powers over the troops in their neigh-
bourhood, without any relation to age or rank in the army ;—the
youngest lieutenant (and out of the thirty~two there were nine captains
and seventeen lieutenants) within the limits of the corps diplomatique being
competent to direct the oldest general in the service! Sir Alexander
Burnes ipvariably denounced this variety of diplomatic organmization as
productive of the most detrimental consequences to the country. Iu his
memorial to the Envoy of the 19th April, 1841, he says—** It seems to
me that wherever our political officers are, collision forthwith follows ;" and
in his private letters he speaks of the frog-spawn aad fry of politicals with
which the country was overspread. The Envoy, oa the other hand, con-
ceived them indispensable as means of gaining information. We shall bave
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so much to do with this body of functionaries in the course of the following
narrative, that we here give a list of their names, and statemeat of their in=-
_comes, a8 countained in the Bengal Almanae for 1841, Q)

Sir W. H. Macnaghten, Bart., Envoy and Minister,..ccvsseecsersseseses £11,220
Lieutenant-Colonel Sir Alexander Burnes, at Cabool,.weceeiscennne.s 3,000
Major E. Pottinger, Resident, Toorkistan,.. .ccccoseercescrrsrecscsercanee 1,440
Lieutenant P. Lynch, do., Ghilzie country, -w.cecessesiseesscscsseosaes 1,200
Captain A. Conolly, Envoy to Khiva, .. - 1,440
Lieutenaunt P. Nicholson, in charge of Dost Mahomod, sessaseeesces 1,080
Lieutenant C. Rattray, Political Assistant, Kohistan, ..... ceceeeressns 840
Captain G, F. P. Lawrence, Military Secretary to the Eavoy,...... 1,440
Lieutenant J. B, Conolly, Military Assistant to tne LavOy i cveee 810
Lieutenant Rawliuson, Political Agent, Candabar, ... «.coeseseenseecs 1,440
Lieutenant C. A. Jackson, Assistant t0 ditt0,.ceicers oo cenen wes 1,080
Lieutenant G. H. Macgregor, Political Agent, Jellalabad,.......... 1,440
Lieutenant C. Burnes, Political Agent, Ghuzuie, .ceveeccersersesseese 720
Captain F. Mackeson, Political Agent, Peshawur, .. seeeecress 1,800
Captain Colin Mackenzie, Political Agent,.ce.csceesse. cervereenss 540
Captain J. D. Bean, Political Agent; Quetta, ceseecesicsrrercssconneess 1,440
Lieutenant W. F. Hammersley, Assistant, cco.s ceererrenesorssossrenses.s 840
Nr Ross Bell, Political Agent, Upper Scinde; .eicerrsrsercecracosenese 3,900
Lieutenant E. B. Bastwick, Assistant, cccessssercernes croccance vo seveeanes 840
Captain W. J. B, Knyvett; Aitto; ceerecrcsiotseororcennanrecssnsssomsenonsss 840
Licutenant E. J. Brown, ditt0, .. cecceve coces sercoveoscnnceens sessoscosses 840
Lieutenant Sinclair, ditto, ceeesres oo rorsssnas e oes e enenssre 720
 Lieutenant W. Brown,eeecess e essca sansorernsas secnsencesnse S0

Lieutenant W. Young, Qitt0, .cccoersssercssccersareersrssosssnsronsonssonaees 120

Lieutenant W. Broadfoot, Assistant, Toorkistan Frontier, ......... 8410

Captain J. Nash, in charge of State Prisoners, Cabool; ..c.ccovereesee 960

Captain E. S8anders, attached to the Herat Agency, .....ccosssveesse 1,968

Captain J. Abbott, Political Agent, Herat,.ecoseerseonsers sercsresesnees 840

Major D’Arcy Todd, Herat, caieseenss . craresssossorsrarsee sassessssesanns 1,440

Lieutenant R. Leech, Political Assistant, 810

Lieutenant R. C. Shakespear, Political Agent, Heraty. . eveeeencsenrs - 840

Licutenant E. K. Elliot, Political Assistant, Candahar, ..cceiecisesee 720

Being just £49,248 annually—exclusive of Major Outram’s establishment in
Lower 8cinde, and without making any mention of the array of nativo attend-
ants. Mr Bell used to employ 750 camels for the transport of his private bag-
gage ; which, at £110s. per month each, makes the very respectable item of
£13,500,

Before the winter had set in, our people had had a brush with the refractory

1. The Bengal and Agra Annual Guide and Gazetteer for 1841. Rushton :
Calcutta. 2 vols. 8vo.—a very valuable work.
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Kohistances. In the end of September the Ghoorka corps, a troop of horse
artillery, three mortars, 1,000 Affighan cavalry, and 600 infantry, marched
for Bameean ; these were afterwards ordered to wait the junction of additional
troops. Dr Lord, political agent in that district, reported that Dost Maho-
med (2) had allied himself by marriage to the chiefs of Khooloom and
Khoondooz, and wasrapidly gaining influence in Toorkistan.(3) His intrigues
were said to have been so far matured, that his son Ukhbar Khan was
reported to have reached the Ghorebund Pass, 60 miles north of Caboeol, in
the end of September. The 4th brigade and the local horse, a company of
sappers and miners, aad the 35th and 37th N. L., left in the beginning of
October for the northward, with supplies for six weeks. Having joined the
force previously dispatched for Bameean, they were directed to cross the
pass and make a dash into Tartary——a measure afterwards abandoned.
On the 31st October a small party of horso artillery acting as cavalry, with
some infantry and Affghan horse, having come up with from 600 to 700
Uzbegs, near Syghan, thirty miles beyond Bameean, defeated and dispersed
them. Syghan was thus re-annexed to the Shah’s dominions; a worthless
possession like the rest, imposing on us the necessity of maintaining it,
without the possibility of its conferring benefit in return. (4) The king of
Bokhara, it was said, had offered the Dost a strong foree to enable him to
cut off the party at Bameean, now greatly reduced :—if his Majesty ever
made such a proposal he must very quickly have altered his intentions: as
in December he seized on the Dost, after having invited him to his court on
promise of assistance, or according to another account, when making his way
towards Persia, and in violation of all the rules of hospitality, so strictly
attended to in Cenmtral Asia, kept him in confinement till the following
August. The force maintained at Bameean throughout the winter consisted
of 600 infantry, with six guns and two mortars, the heavier detachment
above meutioned having returned to Cabool. The month of December passed
quietly over, though threats of insurrection in every quarter led us to.
look for a turbulent spring and summer: an aanticipation more than rea-
lized. The Shah and the Eavoy continned at Jellalabad throughout the
winter. The first of the operations of any magnitude in which we
were engaged, was unsuccessful. Colonel Orchard, in the beginning of
January, was dispatched against the fort of Peshoot, in the mountain
country to the eastward of Jellalabad, in command of a force about 2,000
strong, consisting of three 9-prs., 1 troop 2d cavalry, 1 wing 37th N. L,,

2. The Ameer is described by Wood as about 45 years of age (in 1838):
according to Dr Atkinson, Prince Timor, the Shah Soojah’s eldest son, who has
since retired to India, was at that time 40 ; the Shah htmself about 60.

3. Englishman newspaper, October 25, 1839.

4. Atkinson’s Expedition into Affghanistan, p. 327,
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80 of the 1st European Regt., 20 Sappers, 3d Regt. Shah's infantry, Rst
Shah's eavalry, 700 strong. Severe and continued rains had for some time
prevailed ; but en the 17th, the weather having cleared up, the guns were
placed in battery, and after two hours firing, praeticable breaches were made
on both sides of the principal gate. Lieutenant Pigon (afterwards blown
up and killed when engaged in a simiiar operation about a year after), with
a party of 40 Europeans and sepoys, pushed down the outer gate, and pro-
ceeded to examine the inner one, which was found to be still entire. A bagler,
by mistake, on seeing this party enter the breach, sounded the advance, and
the whole column began to move forwards, They were quickly made aware of
the blunder, and directed to shelter themselves from the enemy’s fire in aravine
close by. Two attempts were made to blow open the gates by means of gun-
powder bags; but both of them, in consequence of the rain which had begun to
fall again, proved failures. It having beea found impossible toscale the walls,
or storm the fort, in its present condition, and the troops having been for
five hours drenched with rain, and exposel to a severe fire from the fortress,
it was resolved to retire about noon. The enemy, perceiving that eventually
we should succeed, retreated shortly afterwards with the éclat of victory, car-
ryiog with them all their valuables, and leaving us in possession of their
naked hold. Our loss was severe, eonsisting of about 69 killed and wounded ;
Lieutenant Collinson aud Ensign Hicks were severely, the former, as it
proved, mortally wounded. We afterwards took possession of Khathke,
on the opposite side of the river, (5) and attempted to pursue the
chiefs, but found this last impossible at such a season. In January, a
fall of snow, said to have been nearly five feet deep, occurred at Cabool,
while the thermometer fell to 13—at one time it was 5 ; at Bameean it sunk
to 10 below zero, or 42 under freezing, the first week of the year. Ghuznie
also was for some time snowed up, the cold being very severe, the snow
lying a foot thick for weeks on end. The spirit of resistance which every—
where made its appearance amongst the tribes on the return of epring, was
as obstinate as it was universal. About seven miles from Bameean stood z
number of mud forts, belonging to the tribe called Hazarahs, on the table.
land at the foot of the mountains which form a valley stretching away to the
south-west. Meer Moheb and Shah Nusseer. Beg were the ruling chiefs,
of whom the former was supreme ; the valley was populous and well cul-
tivated, and the people had, up to the beginning of March, shown every dis-
position to supply our wants. Oa the 13th, the Hazarahs not only refused
to sell forage to the commissariat officers, but, having assembled in consider-
able numbers, insulted and stoned the troops sent in quest of it. To a
threat from one of our people, it was replied that we were Kaffirs, and

5. Colonel Orchard’s Despatch; 19th %&nuary.
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might bring our guns against them if we pleased. All attempts at concilia-
tion having failed, a detachment was despatched under Captain Garbett,
consisting of two 6-pr. guns under Lieut. M‘Kenzie, 25 Horse Artillery
Troopers as Cavalry, 50 Afighan Horsemen, and 4 Companies of the 4th
Light Iofantry under Captain Hay, to reduce them to order. The
first fort arrived at was a strong one; the oocupants refused all terms,
snd shut their gates against us. The heights in front, which had been
covered with Hazarahs, were quickly carried, The artillery played
briskly on the fort st s di:tance of 400 yards, and in less than an
bour it was in our possession. The garrison retired to an inner tower and re-
fused to yield. Hay and straw were piled up and set fire to in the lower part
of theirr etreat ; they still centinued resolute ; and, when the fire had burned
out, not & man of them was found alive. The women and chiidrea (18
ia number), who had sought refuge with the men, had scrambled to the top
of the tower as the flames advanced, and from this, after all the garrison had
been destroyed, they were rescued with difficulty ; a trooper having contrived
to carry up a rope through the burning building, by which they were let
down.(6) Our casualties amounted to 16 killed and wounded ; the enemy
lost about 50 killed.(7) The value of the whole property found within the
fort was about £40 ; no satisfactory explanation is given of the cause of the
enemy’s recusancy, or the fatal obstinacy of their resistance. A fine was
subsequently levied on the tribe. Considerable sickness had prevailed
amongst our troops, and great inconvenience been experienced by them,
in the course of the winter, from the effects of a climate so entirely
new to them, and for which they had been so imperfectly prepared. The
King and Envoy, with their ezcort and suite, returned from their winter
quarters at Jellalabad, and reached Cabool the first week of April. The
arrival, on the 9th May, of the grand couvoy, as it was called, from
India, helped.to remove, or to enable them to meet, those sources of
discomfort srising from climate, already described. The coavoy referred to
consisted of the 2d N. 1., six depot companies of native regiments, with drafts
of H. M.'s 18th and 1st European regiment, and the mountsin train,
amounting in all to 2,000 fighting men, 200 remount horses, with 800
camels for the use of the troops, commanded by Brigadier Wallace, who
had in charge £210,000 in treasure, and a vast quantity of public and pri-
vate stores. About 4,000 camp followers, and 2,000 camels, attended
it.(8) It left Ferozepore in the begioning of February, and proceeded
in quiet, and without annoyance, through the Punjaub. The Khyberies
having threatened to attack them, General Sale, with the 37th and 48th

6. Bengal Hurkaru.
7. Bombay Times, May 6,—‘§ives the same account as the Hurkary.
8. Hurkaru, March 5. Delhi Gazette, March 4,
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N. 1., moved down from Jellalabad to Jumrood to escort them through the
Passes. They reached the former place in safety on the 16th of April, and
thereafter proceeded without interraption to Cabool. Asspring advanced it be-
came apparent that so far from our being able to withdraw any portion of the
large force we had left in the eountry, and to which 2,000 men had just been
added, that a very coasiderable inorease of their numbers would speedily be
requisite.(9) It was said that, at this time, the Shah eould oot have taken
with him a hundred of his owa subjects into the field usless bribed by British
treasure to attend him. Aroand Candahar the people were in the same aon-
dition of discontent and disturbance as they were in Cabool and Kohistan. In
April, the whole Ghilzie country having for some time been in a state of
insurrection, cutting off the dakhs, and robbing every kafila betwixt Canda-
har and Cabool, a small party of cavalry, under Captain Tayler of the Euro«
pean regiment, and Captain Walker of the 4th Local Horse, pushed into
the centre of the enemy's fastnesses, and endeavoured to seize Sultan Ma-
homed and the Gooroo—chiefs who had been removed by Captain Qutram
the previous autumn, and who now headed the rebels. Having received
notiee of our approach, they retired to the mountains, but speedily returned
in such force as to compel the ocavalry to fall back on Khelat-i-Ghilzie.
Here they were reinforced by 200 infantry and 150 cavalry proceeding to
Cabool, under Captain Codrington. General Nott having received intelli.
geneo that a still larger body of Ghilzies was about to attack them, prepared
a strenger force for their assistance.(10) On the 7th May, an expedition,
" consisting of 46 of the 4th Local Horse, detachments of the Shah’s 1st aad
2d Cavalry, four 6-pr. guns of the Horse Artillery, the 5th regiment of the
Shab’s Iofantry, and another detachment-—amounting to 1,200 in all, of
whom 836 were cavalry——commanded by Captain W. Anderson, was dis-
patched from Candahar to attack a body of insurgent Ghilzies, and form a
junction, if possible, with Captains Walker and Tayler; this last was
effected on the 14th. At Tazee, near Khelat-i-Ghilzie, it was reported by the
spies that the enemy, about 2000 strong, had determined to give battle. Oa
the following day (i. e. the 16th) Captain Anderson advanced upoa them in
column, the artillery leading, flanked by two companies of the 5th Infantry,
the main body of which immediately followed. Captain Codringtoa closed
the rear and covered the baggage. The Cavalry having been divided into
two wings, were directed to take a wide sweep to the right and left, and so
endeavour to cut off the retreat of the enemy, on whom they were to close in
so soon as the fire indicated that the action had begun. In this order the de~
tachment marched for about five miles, when the enemy were overtaken, and

9. Delhi Gazeits, June 13, 1840.
10. Delhi Gazetts. 'The Gazette account is given by an officer with the force.
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after a sharp action were defeated and dispersed. Our casualties amounted
to 10 men killed and 30 wounded ; the enemy had about 100 killed.(11) The
fight lasted for abcut an hour, after which our men continued their march
till obliged to halt at Tazee, in consequence of want of carriage for the
wounded. Preparations were meanwhile made to despatch a force from Ca-
bool to co—operate with the troops under Geuneral Nott's command, the suc-
cess of a portion of which has just been related. Colonel Wallace marched from
the capital on the 22d of May with the 2d N. I., two troops of the 2nd Light
Cavalry under his command, three 9 prs. and 2 mortars. He reached Ghuznie
in safety, and having been reinforced by the addition of two companies of
the recruit depot, the 1st Light cavalry, and two 6-prs., he left on the 31st,
and proceeded westward. By a sudden move, Mhookah, the fort of the principal
rebel chief, was surprised, and taken without resistance, and afterwards blown
ap. Our arrival had been wholly unexpected, and the women and families
of the chiefs were almost the only persons found in the stronghold. Mhoo-
kah is 7000 feet above the level of the sea, and in the beginning of June,

quilts and blankets were required over night. Colonel Wallace after
this returned to camp, directing Captain Aunderson, now in his neighbouc-

hood, te join him.(12)

The combined force, now nearly 3000 strong, proceeded to destroy the forts
of the malcontents in the neighbourhood. They experienced no further re-
sistance for the present. Wholloo Khan and Marroo Khan, as well as a Vi-
zier of the latter, remained in our hands as prisoners: several of the others
were beheaded.(13) Colonel Wallace shortly afterwards returned to Ghuznie,
when the 2d N. 1., a aquadron of the 2d Cavalry, half Abbott’s Battery, and
2 mortars, were directed to remain at the disposal of General Nott. Kelat-
i-Ghilzie, 80 miles eastward from Candahar, was occupied by Captain Wood«
burn’s corps, the Shah’s 5th Regimeat, 4 guns, and 300 of Christie’s
Horse, who were directed to remain till the beginning of winter. The con-
sideration of the affairs of Scinde and Beloochistan—where insurrection
showed a still more formidable front than to the eastward of Quettah—is
postponed till afterwards: it forms a perfectly independent episode, which
will be taken up when the present act of the Affghan drama is closed by
the surrender of Dost Mahomed.

Onthe 3d of July, the Nawab Jubbar Khan, with Mahommed Akram Khan,

e
——

'11. Captain Anderson’s despatch, Bombay T'imes, 17th May 1841 : alse Agra
Ukhbar ; Hurkaru, 12th, and Englishman 26th, June 1840.

12. Delki Gazette.

13. An annoymous writer in the 4gra Ukhbar, dated 23d June, states, that
¢¢ three of the chiefs who made themselves over to Lieutenant Nicholson and
Shahzada Timour, had their heads struck off'; and now,’” says he, * the count
is deserted and the crops standing : but worse than all, the British Word, whie|
was heretofore sacred everywhere, is defiled and rotted in the dust.”
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and Sheik Ali Khan, sons of the Dost : together with the most of the other
members of the Ex-Ameer's family, arrived at Bameean, and placed them-
selves under our protection. The old Chief himself, and his sons Afzul and
Ukhbar, were still confined at Bokhara; Azim Khan,a younger son, had
joined us some time before. The family, amounting at this time to 250, in-
cluding attendants, were directed to proceed to Ghuznie ; it was understood
that Quettah was meant to have been their place of destination. On the sur~
render of the Dost three months afterwards, they accompanied himto India,
where they remained from Christmas 1840 till Christmas 1842, when they
were released from captivity. The Wullee of Khooloom sent an ambassa-
dor tendering friendship to the Shah Socjah. Jubbar Khan, on his arrival
at Cabool, was very kindly received by the envoy and minister, who offered
him the same terms as those originally propesed : that is, that he should
have his estates restored to him and dwell in Affghanistan, provided
he remained faithful to us, From this date, up to the present time, lLe
continued to reside at his fort of Killa Cazee, near the capital,-—never
throughout all the troubles in which his eountry was involved, when scarcely
an Affghan failed to take advantage of our dificulties, forfeiting the charac-
ter by which he had been known from the period of our earliest acquaintance
with him, of ¢ The Good Nawab—the Feringees' Friend.”

‘We must now retura to the personal adventures of Dost Mahomed, whose
flight from Urgundah, and escape across the Hindoo Koosh, has been described
in a previous chapter. On his arrival at Khooloom, he was handsomely

_ received and hospitably entertained by the chief. Except the threatened
incursion on Bameean by the Uzbegs, and the discontented spirit manifested
by the Hazarahs, no demonstration was made for a period in his favour to
the northward. Winter was too close at hand indeed ; and the consterna-
tion which our apparently irresistible ss had ioned, too general to
permit any military operation to be thought of by the Ex-Ameer before the
retarn of spring. He wrote, in the mean time, to the King of Bokhara,
inviting him, as one of the Lights of Islam, to assist in expelling the accursed
Kaffirs. They were to share the spoil betwixt them ; and it was urged that
the Shah Shoojah and the Feringees, unless routed, would not fail to over-
rua the countries on the Oxus.(14) The Kiog replied in very cordial terms,
directing a vakeel or ambassador to be sent to him. Mirza Sami Khan
having been deputed in this capacity, was directed to write Dost Mahomed,
giving him the warmest assurances of sympathy and assistance. Troops and

14. These statements are given on the authority of Dr Atkinson : who, with-~
out any appearance of dishonesty,is prejudiced against the Barukzyes—credu-
lous and careless in his statementis to a degree. —-Expedition, p- 329. Other

. accounts, referred to above, state that the Dost was on his way to Persia when
abrested, Dr Atkinson, however, is in this likely to be correct.



150

money were to be supplied him s0 soon as a personal interview, to conclude
arrangements, could bo obtained. Dost Mahomed on receipt of this, set out for
Bokbara in the end of Nov. 1839, with his sons Ukhbar, Afzul, and Sum-
munder Khan. On their arrival at Bokhara the King was profuse in his
professions of friendship,—entreating that the Dost should send for his
family, that their alliance might be still more closely and firmly cemented :
he wrote at the same time to the Wullee of Khooloom, requesting him to
forward them by force or fraud, without respect to their wishes. It had by
this time become apparent that the professions of the Bokhara chief were
hollow and delvsive: that he wished to get his old enemy into his haads,
partly with a view to revenge—chiefly from a desire to plunder him of his
last remaining property. The Dost wrote an open letter to Jubbar Khan,
directing arrangements to be made to have the wishes of the King complied
with : he sent a secret order at the same time, telling his brother to put
every member of the family to death rather than entrust them to the tender
mercies of the Bokhara chief! The Nawab, uncertain how to act, aad dis-
trusting the Wullee, thought it better to enter into a correspondence with
the British Government than to remain for an indefinite period in the dan.
gerous position in which he now stood, Negociations were in progress in
March, and ended, as already mentioned, in the surrender of his brother’s
family early in July. So soon as the King of Bokhara became aware that
the fraud intended to have been practised by him had been diseovered, and
in some measure frustrated, he laid aside the mask of friendship, and
threw the Ex-Ameer and his sons into prison. The Dost, meanwhile,
applied for and received assistance in his extremity from the Khan of Kookan
on the Persian border ; who having first used remonstranees and entreaties,
afterwards resorted to arms,—-captured some forts, and was in full march
towards Bokhara, when the King pretended to relent:—he promised to
release his prisoner on condition of hostilities being suspended, but at the
same time retained him in close confinement, threatening his life should he
attempt to get away. Early in July, he succeeded in making his escape under
circumstances of great difficulty and danger.(15) Directing his course
towards Khooloom, assisted by his son Afzul Khan, he proceeded to stir np
the country to undertake a holy war against us, promising that the Wullee
should be his vizier could he succeed in recovering Cabool. ’
Between Bameean and Cabool lie the districts of Koh-i-Damun and Ko-
bistan. There were at this time no parts of the Dooraunee empire more
hostile than those to the authority of the Shah Soojah. Yet, on our
arrival in the eountry in July 1839, it was here the King found his stoutest

15. Dr Atkinson’s'Expedition; &c., p. 337. The whole of the adventures
connected with the escape, which are too long for quotation, will be found in
Dr Atkinson’s Work.
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friends. “* It was in those districts that Dost Mahomed ruled with
a rod of iron. He put to death most of the Chiefs; he guadrupled
the revenues drawn from them. His policy was to sow dissension
amongst them, and he succeeded : it was the only district of the
country where the name of the ex-ruler was cxecrated when the Shah
Scojah ascended the throne. One would have supposed that here, at
least, his Majesty’s Government would have found favour; and the
wnore so, as the Kohistanees flocked in numbers to welcome him on his eri-
ginal entrance into Cabool—expressing the strongest feelings of loyalty and
devotion. By the month of May, 1840, a miserable change bad been pro-
duced in their sentiments, The Governors appointed under the Suddoyze
rule demanded duties which were unusual and exorbitant, and exacted taxes
the king had just declared to have become obsolete. The population of
whole districts had fled to the hills to avoid oppression. When complaints
were preferred, the complainants were thrown into prison; and when tem-
porary redress was forced by the direct interposition of our authority, all the
acts of petty tyranny which had for a time been interrupted were again re-
newed. At the time of the escape of Dost Mahomed, the feeling throughout
these extensive districts was foverish in the extreme; and the Euvoy was
warned, by Sir A. Burnes, that an insurrection might break out any day
in that part of the couatry where circumstances had originally given his Ma-
jesty the most trusty portion of his subjects.”(16) It was here, then, that
Dost Mahomed looked for assistance ; and no sooner was it known that he
was muster:ng troops to the northward than the whole country prepared
itself to rise in his favour., The Chiefs of Khoondooz and Khooloom, who had
just before gent Ambassadors proffering friendship to us, altered their views,
and allied themselves to the fortunes of the Ameer. Besides our mishaps in
Scinde and Beloochistan, various misadventures at this time befel us, cal-
culated to excite or embolden sedition. A fort, commanding one of the
principal passes into Toorkistan, had been quietly given up to Captain
Garbett, then on an exploring expedition, and was deemed of impertance
enough by the politicals to be permaneatly retained. Captain Hay was
directed to occupy it with five companies of the Shal’s infantry, one com-
pany of which was stationed at Bameean, the others at Syghan., He arrived
on the 4th of July, and took charge without the assistance of any otker
European officer. Matters at first went on quietly, but shortly afterwards,
disaffection making its appearance, a reinforcement was sent for to Syghan,
where Lieut. Golding commanded. Captain Hay, meanwhile, fell sick ; and

16. The portion of the text marked by inverted commas is taken, with slight
abridgment, from a memorial by Sir A, Burnes, dated Aug. 7, 1840, addressed
to the Envoy. We shall have frequent occasion to quote this very romarkable
papir.
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judging, from his information, that Lieut., Golding would be on his way
with assistance crossing the Dundan Shekan Pass on the 1st inst., despatched
two companies, abtout 100 in all, under a serjeant, to meet him, They
halted during the night opposite a fort, which they supposed to be friendly ;
at day-dawn the occupants of the hold, probably mistaking the unexpected
visitors for assailants, fired upon them. The serjeant and his little band re-
turned the fire and retired, but had, unfortunately, to pass through a narrow
defile where the enemy crowded the heights to the amouat of about 300.
Our men kept steadily together and retived in perfect order, but this was all
they could effect. They had 18killed, and 27 wounded ; when a detachment
being sent out by Capt. Hay to their assistance they returned without further
obstruction. A couple of mortars, and as many 6-pounders, left Bameean
on the st inst. to reinforce Syghan. But the quarrel just described was
settled by conference—the Chiefs agreeiag to cede one of their forts to us,—
so no further hostilities took place. The whole of our outposts in this
quarter were shortly afterwards abandoned. About this time, Captain
M‘Gregor having sent 1,500 of the Shah’s Affghans against a place north
of Jellalabad, they were defeated, lost their guns and 100 of their mea—200
going over to the ememy. So insecure did the Shah himself feel, that
having prepared to start ou a trip into Koh-i-Damun, thirty miles from his
papital, the Chiefs objected, and he was obliged to abandon his purpose, and
return his tents into store.(17) The Seikhs who had been detected giving
harbourage to the Ghilzie refugees some months before, were now proved by
intercepted letters to have promised or forwarded supplies of money to Dost
Mahomed ; while a conspiracy was discovered in Gabool by Sir A. Burnes, im-
plicating almost all the first men in the city and surrounding countries in a
plot to subvert the Suddoyze dypasty, and drive us from the country. (18)
Arms and ammunition were purchased up in great quantities in Cabool, and
forwarded to the Camp of the ex-Ameer, while large bodies of .the citizens
and fighting men in the neighbourhood joined the insurgent standard. The
Envoy was so greatly alarmed’ that he retired with his family and suite
into the Bala Hissar or citadel, where mortars and howitzers were placed in
a position to command the town in case of emergency. At one time it
was believed that we shonld require to abandon all our outposts and
concentrate on the capital till assistance should reach us, At Gluznie,
the guns in the citadel were loaded, and kept pointed in the direction
whence approach of danger was apprehended. The European regiment
and 48th N. L, stationed at Jellalabad, were ordered up to Cabool. Cap.

17. F rivatle note by Sir A, Bumes dated 22d Aug. written on a 00P Ot the
4 g s Y
repolt sent up to the Envoy found I p P .
1 al Ongst his osthumous apers.
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tain McQGregor's mishap was speedily retrieved. Lieutenant-Colounel
Wheeler, in conjunction with Captain McGregor, marched on the 19th
against the refractory Kudjah chiefs. His force consisted of 340 of
the 1st European regiment, and 90 of the 48th N. I, with one
6-pounder of the Shah’s artillery. There was much difficulty and delay
in bringing the gun to the sceme of action. A fort situated on
their flank greatly annoyed them by its fire. Another, which stood
right in the line of their operations, was carried in brilliant style by
the Grenaaiors of the 48th- under Lieutenant Paterson. The gun was now
run up to the gate of the largest fort, which was instantly blown open ;
the enemy flying, paunic struck, through every aperture by which they could
make their escape. The fort first mentioned as annoying the left flank in
its advance, next fell into our hands, and so on till five of these strong-holds
were in our possession. QOur casualties amounted to 8 killed and 16
wounded. The enemy, fiuding resistance hopeless, sued for terms,—
which were conceded them on hostages being granted ;—they were
said to have lost 80 men in the defence, including two chiefsi. On the
20th of August, Afzul Khan, eldest son of Dost Mahomed, came dowa
on Bajgah with about 500 borse. Captain Codrington had command of
this advanced post, which was occupied by 200 of the newly raised Janbaz
or Affghan levies, with the Ghoorkas or sepoys from Nepaul already
referred to. The Janbaz horsemen being without European officers, were
headed by Lieutenant Rattray, political assistant to Dr Lord. The enemy
were twice charged and driven off the field. (19.) A hazardous advanece in
pursuit of the Uzbegs had at first been determined on, but intelligence
having reached, in the course of the evening, that Heibuk, the stronghold
of a_friendly chief in our front, had fallen into the hands of the enemy, it
was resolved to commeace a retreat on Syghan during the night, and
unite with Captain Hopkios, commanding the Affghan regiment, and
Captain Garbett’s horse artillery; the whole of Dost Mahomed’s troops
being now at liberty to attack our outposts. From Syghan, having saved
the public baggage and treasure, but having sacrificed a large quantity of
private property on the way, they returned on Bameean and proceeded to
fortify themselves for immediate defence till assistance should reach
them from Cabool. The force amounted to 2000 men, with 12 guos ; but
of these one half were Affghans ready to join the Dost the moment he came
sufficiently near to permit desertion.(20) Oa the way from Syghan their con-

19. Delhi Gazette, September 23.

20. Letter of Sir Alexander Burnes, Cabool, September 7.—Fourth troop
8rd Brigade Bengal Horse Artillery, four of the Shah’s guns, two mortars,
and 460 Aftghan horse, with the force fell back from the outposts mentioned
in the text.—Bombay Times, 14th Oclober, 1840. -
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duct was in tbe last degree mutinous and disorderly ; and on their arrival a¢
Bameesn one company marched out with their arms and accontrements and
went over to the camp of the enemy ; the remainder, to the amouat of 500
or 600, were disarmed and ordered to return to Cabool. On the 7th
September, Colonel Dennie, with the 35th N, I., the Shah’s 4th regiment,
and 160 of Anderson's horse, left Gabool to reinforce Bameean. On the
11th, while on his march, he received an express from Dr Lord apprising
him of the desertion of Captain Hopkins's Affghans, and intimating that
Dost Mahomed, with his son Afzul Khan, the Wullee of Khooloom, and
some thousands of the tribes, had advanced to and captured Syghan im=»
mediately on its abandonment by us, and that the enemy were within 30
miles of Bameean. Having pressed through the Gurdan Dewal defile, a
second despatch of still greater urgency was received, intimating that the
ex-Ameer had resolved to return to Bameean and occupy the passes, so as tp
prevent the junction of our troops. In order to frustrate this, Colonel
Denbnie resolved to occupy the Irack pass, and the same day the crest of the
mountain, 13,000 feet above the sea, was gained, and both its sidep care«
fully guarded. Bameean was now safe, and only twenty miles off, the troops
being on the same side with it of this vast unbroken chain of mountains.
Here they remained just long enough to collect their supplies, left somewhat
bebind them by the rapidity of their movements,and thedifficulty of the ground
they required to traverse, Fresh entreaties for advance induced Col. Dennip
to press on by forced marches to Bameean, where he arrived on the 14th.
Having drawo out the Ghoorkas, he disarmed Captain Hopkins’s regiment,
who, although loaded, offered no resistance. This Las been referred to abgve.
Finding no epemy in the neighbourhood, he proceeded to make arranye-
ments for an advance upon Syghan. This turned out unnecessary, the
Uzbegs being now close at hand. Oa the evening of the 17th, information
was received that Dost Mahomed and his Uzbeg allies, under the Wulleg
of Khooloom, were entering the valley from the great defile seyen miles in
front of Bameean. They were not discouraged in their approach, ia order that
they might be drawn well up the valley, into a position favaurable for our
operations. On the morning of the 18th, a fortified village which had claims on
our protection having been attacked by them, it became imperative on us to
drive them off. It was reported that the Dost’s troops amounted enly to 3
few hundreds—it turned out that they numbered from six to ten thousand
fighting men. Relying on the correctness of the understatement, one-third
of the force, with a 6-pr. gun and howitzer, was all that were taken out.
These consisted of 230 of the 25th N. L., 270 Ghoorkas, 80 of Anderson's
1lorse, and 200 Janbazes—800 in all. The enemy had got possession of
the chain of forts in front, and Colonel Dennie was not a little surprised to
find them ten times as numerous as had been represented. To have retired,
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or waited for relnforcements, wculd have béen fatal, so they weré imme-
diately chiarged and driven from their position. The artilléry practice was
beautiful, and our grape and shrapnell told fearfully on their crowded masses.
They rallied four or five times, but seeing our steady and rapid advante,
they lost heart, broke, and fled pell-mell towards the pass.

The cavalry, cousisting of 80 of Andersori's Horse, 200 Janbazes, and 40
ot 50 of Dr Lord’s and Captain Conolly’s escort—about 330 in all—were now
Jot slip, and cut up vast numbers of thé flying Uzbegs. The deserters from-
Captain Hopkins's regiment were drawn up as lizht infantry—no mercy wa§
shéwn them by their former comrades. The allied troops dispersed them«
selves in all directions over the hills—the parsuit continued for four miles,
and when Dost Mahowed was last seen, he was wounded in the thigh, and
had not more than 200 horsemen along with ‘him: The ex-Ameer and his
son, with the Wulleé of Khooloom, owed their escape, which was a narrow
one, entirely to thé fleetness of their horses.  Their only gun, kettle-
drums, ténts, standards, and baggage fell into our hands. The casualties of
the enemy are said to have exceeded 500 killed and wounded. Our loss
amounted to 50, of whom six only were killed. For more than a week no
tidings could be obtained of the Dost or Wullee, but apprehensions being
entertained that they might be endeavouring to re-assemble their scattered
forces at Syghan, 87 miles from Bameean, Colonel Dennie made prepara-
tions to move out and disperse them. On the morning of the 22d, he
marched with 3 6.pr. guns, and 1 12-pr. howitzer, six companies of the
85th N. I, six more of the Ghoorka battalion, 100 of Anderson’s Horse,
200 Janbazes; and 100 Hazarah pioneers—1500 in all.(21)- Oan reaching
Akurabad at the end of the first day’s march, he learned that the allies had
passed that place after their defeat, and pushed forward without halt to
Hyatoe; where a‘'garrison was left, and continued their onward flight. The
following afternoon he reached Hyatoo, and fiading it abandoned, set fire to
it :—here he'léarned that the fugitives hal pushed on past Syghan, and
that the garrison they had left behind them had fled. This fort was next
approached and occupied; it was found most difficult of access, and capable
of maintaining & determined and' protracted defence. So precipitate had
been the retreat of the Uzbegs on hearing of our approach, that they had
left behind them the whole of the stores, tents, and arms, property, public
and private, which had been abandoned by our troops, on their retreat

21. The details of the above operations are taken from Colonel Dennie’s
despatches. He dates from Syghan thé 27th, mentioning’ that it had taken
him two days to'reach this from Bameean. He states that he left on the 27th;
the two are irreconcileable, 80 the date of his despatch has been altered to the
25th. He was back at Banieean again on' the 1st Oct, ; private letters state
t&u\t he Jéache'd on the 24th. Ho- saysy ¢ Syghan was stronger than

uznie.



156

towards Bameean, three weeks before. On the 23th, an ambassador from
the Wullee waited on Dr Lord with overtures of peace, and Colonel
Dennie resolved to remain where he was till negociations were completed.
Dost Mahomed appcared to have been for the time cast off from the Uzbegs,
of whom there were 5500 in a valley 30 miles from Syghan. Oaq the 29th
September our army returned to Bameean, the terms proposed to the Wullee
having been conceded him. The Dost having made his appearance at
Heibuk, was refused all further assistance, and no course appeared to be
left to him but to surrender himself into our hands. The duty on which
Colonel Dennie and his gallant little band had been dispatched having been
thus gloriously executed, they returned to Cabool on the i8th Qectober.
This series of oparations betwixt the 1 1th and 30th September, was one of the
most important, and by far the most brilliant, which had yet occupied our
troops in Affghanistan. From circumstances naver satisfactorily ex-
plained, the whole of the despatches of Colonel Daannie relating to them,
excepting that giving an account of the battle of Bameean, were excluded
from the Gazette. It wasthe custom with Lord Keane and Sir Willoughby
Cotton o avenge themselves on officers out of favour with them, by passing
them over in the Gazetle or suppressing their despatches—a system subse-
quently practised by General Nott, and permitted to pass uncensured. Col.
Dennie was offered the second class Doorannee Order for the most brilliant
exploit performed during the war: he declined it. (22) He had before de-
clined the cffer of the third class Order, with which he had been insulted fov
the storming of Ghuznie. Meanwhile, operations equally active, but in all
respects widely different in their results, had been in progress to the
westward. On the 29th September Sir R. Sale marched at daylight from
his camp at Robat to attack the fort of Tootundurra, at the entrance of the
Ghorebund Pass. His force consisted of Her Majesty’s 13th, two com-
panies 27th, and flank companies 37th N.I., two squadrons of the 2d
Bengal Cavalry, and the Shal’s 2d cavalry, which joined at Charekar, five
miles in advance, a couple of 6-pra., aad three 9-prs, Thecavalry were in ad-
vance. On arriving at Tootundurrah the enemy were found very strongly
posted. A village, surrounded by garden walls, and defended by a small
" fort, with several detached towers, commanded the uneven ground from
which the steeps ascend which wall in the pass. A chain of detached forts,
within musket shot of each other, and of the village respectively, extended
to the eastward. One of the forts was peculiarly strong. The rear or
northward of this position was protected by a deep canal along the high
ground, the valley beyond being covered with gardens. A party of the

29. Colonel Dennie’s letter to Sir W. Cotton, dated Cabool, 23d October ;
also private letters.—Fraser’s Magazing, and Bombay Times, -
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enemy was drawn up in front, protected by a mound ; a second patty occu.
pied the face of the hill to the west. The forts were all garrisoned by
matchlock men, which maintained a hot fire upon us as we advanced.
Stromg parties, with artillery, were detached to clear the hills, and take the
enemy in flank, and to get possession of two detached forts on- the right.
These having been completaly successful, the principal column moved down
upon the village. (28) The enemy were defeated, and compelled to retire
from all their positions, and by 11 o’clock the whole of their strongholds
were in our possession. The artillery, as usual, raioced destruction on our
opponents, and left them without means of resistance or hope of success.
‘We had six privates killed,—the only officer who fell was Captain Edward
Conolly. Three brothers of this talented family lost their lives during the
Affghan war—Captain John died at Cabool in July 1842, and Captain
Arthur, the traveller, was shortly afier murdered at Bokhara along with
Colonel Stoddart. The whole of the Tootundurrah forts were, at the sug-
gestion of Sicr Alexander Burnes, who accompanied the force, destroyed.
Sir R. Sale having been informed by the Political Agent that a number of
the rebel chieftains had taken refuge at the fort of Jugla, 16 miles from his .
camp at Chareekar, Captain Anderson, with two squadrons of the Shah’a
’ cavalry, the janbazes, and 500 Doorannee horse—about 1000 cavalry in all,
were despatched under Captain Sanders with a view to surround and pre-
vent the escape of the chiefs until the slower moviag infantry and artillery
should be able to get up and attack the place. They marched soon after -
midnight, and by sunrise of the 8d of October the fort was completely
iovested. By ten .M., the General with Her Majesty's 13th, two com-~
panies of the 27th and 37th Native Infantry, two squadrons of the 2d
cavalry, arrived, and in two hours more one 24-pr. howitzer, three 9 and
two 6-prs. had joined : the mortars, which had been detained by the badness
of the roads, did not get into position till late in the afterneon. A severe
cannonade was maintained betwixt one and three p.m., when the breach
being considered practicable they proceeded to storm. Four officers of
H.M.’s 18th for some time maintaided themselves on the summit of the wall
with such determined gallantry as to call forth the cheers of all their com-
rades in the thickest of the fight. (21) The enemy crowned the crest of the
shattered wall, and poured in so hot a fire, and offered such stout re-
sistance, that the storming party was compelled to retire with loss,—the
breach being quite impracticable, as was afterwards ascertained fully. They
took refuge in the adjoining ravine until recalled to camp. The

23. Sir R. Sales’s despatch of 29th September, 1810,

24. These were Brevet-Major Kershaw (killed on retreat from Cabool),
Lieutenant and Adjutant Wood, Lieutenant Edward King (who afterwards
fell gloriously at Tezeen), and Lieutenant G. Wade.
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garrison, “gotwithstanding all the precautions made use of to securs them,
made good their retreat ; and the fort having thus been evacuated, was taken
possession of by our men a Little after dusk<=7 . m. Our casualties amoanted
to 50 in killed and wounded. On the morning of the 13th, information was
received that Dost Mahomed had come through the Ghorebund Pass at Too-
tundurrah, and taken up his guarters 15 miles from our camp : his cattle-
were deseribed as so entirely knocked up, that it was supposed a squadron
of cavalry might intercept and cot off his retreat. Lieutenant Dowson, with
560 Affghan horse, was immediately despatched on this duty, but found

he was too late, the ex- Ameer having, a few hours before, left for Nijrow,

20 miles east of Chareekar, Next morning & whole company of Lieut. Maule's
Kohistanees went over to their old ruler, and fears were entertained that the-
rest would follow. Our troeps were encamped at Chareekar when information
was received that the Dost had crossed the valley, apparently intending to
move on Cabool, whose safety, considering the temper of the people in and
around it, began to occasion serious uneasiness. A position was accordingly
taken up by our troops on the 16th at Karabagh, with a view of covering
and protecting the capital. On the 17th, they proceeded to attack the fort:
of Derveesh Khan, one of the most respectable and consistent of the friends
of the late ruler. A long detour was made to avoid some difficuit marching
ground, and whea the fort was attained, it was found empty. The walls
and bastions were blown up and the stronghold destroyed. On the night
of the 18th, the enemy assembled after dark within 120 yarda of our camp,

and continued for three hours to pour in upon us a close but ill-directed fire,
which could not be replied to, but from which little damage was sustained.(25)
On the 19th, the remainder of the 37th N. I. and three 9-pounders joined.
On the 20th, preparations were made to attack the strong village of Kan=
darrah, occupied as was understood by from 600 to 1000 of the insurgents.
It was situated close under the inferior range of the Lughman mountains
by which Koh-i- Damun is bounded on the west. Immediately to the south
is the village of Beydack; and the groves, vineyards, and gardens of the two
places cover a portion of the hill side, measuring about two miles north and
south, and half as much from east to west. The gardens are, as usual, cul-
tivated in terraces like a flight of gigantic steps : each house was a distinet
little fort, loopholed and garrisoned ; while numerous towers of great strength
were scattered about : the place, in fact, was of very great strengtb, and if
ordinarily well defended, could only have been captured at a heavy sacrifice
of life. Fortunately, while we were encamped within sight of them, the
people took to quarrelling amongst themselves. The warrior portion of the
iohabitauts refused to fight, and on the night of the 20¢th moved off; the

28. Englishmasn, 9th December.
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rest felt so alarmad and dispirited that they all dispersed, and ea the fore-
noou of the 21st we set Sre to the houses, destroyed the gardens, and levelled
the villages ; and on the 22d moved to the north of Ak Serae to resums the
observation of the Cabool road. At this time a force ef the 8d Shah's
Khelat-i-Ghilzie Corps, sad two Shah's guns, marched from Cabool and
surprised Istalif by a night march. The 8rd Shah’s joined us from Pur-
wan shortly afterwards, In this pesition our troops remained for
about a week, when they advanced towards Nijrow on heaving that the
Dost had come ovt of the valley with a small force which was hourly ia-
creasing. On the Ist November they reached the fort of Meer Musjedee,
where more exact intelligence than had hitherto been obtained of the move-
ments of the ex~Ameer was procured. He had advanced towards Purwan
Durrah, a small valley traversed by a clear rapid stream, and sprinkled over
with orchards and numerous forts. Hitherward the following meorning
moved onr troops. The advanced guard consisted of 2 6-pr guas under
Lientenant Warburton, four companies of H.M.’s 13th under Major Ker-
shaw, the two flank companies of the 37th, and one company of the
27th N. L., under Lieutenant Rhind of the former corps; two squadroas
of the 2d Bengal Light Cavalry, and 200 of the Shah’s 2d Horse, un.
der Captain Anderson,~~the whole being under the command of Colonel
Salter. The troops moved at daybreak on the 2d Nov.: the morning was
serene and beautiful, the country in the highest degree pieturesque; but
the road was intersected with cuts, canals, and water courses, and was diffieult
in the extreme. Between eight and nine, the Gorabund river was crossed,
the guns having been got over with great difficulty. On ascending the
hills beyond, a fort opened fire on the advance, and compelled them to form
line. By this time the villagers were flocking in from every quarter, in-
treating protection from the army of Dost Mahamed, said to be plunder-
ing them in all directions and preparing to decamp. (26) The forts and
villages as we advanced were rapidly evacuated by the enemy, who were seen
retreating towards the hills, Their numbers were computed at 3500 foot and
500 horse. (27) Dr Lord, who accompanied Col. Salter, having intimated
that tho cavalry, by proceeding in advance, would be able to cut off a por-
tion of the fugitives, the 2d cavalry were ordered to skirt the hill on the
right, while the left of the pass was occupied by Anderson’s horse. Tha
infantry followed, but were greatly retarded in their movemeunts by the guns,
which were impeded by the water courses. The cavalry, haviag got a mile or
soahead of the main body, were attacked by a detachment of about 200 Aff-
ghan horse, believed to be headed by the ex- Ameer in person. Line having
been formed, Capt. Fraser, who commanded the right, ordered the troopers to

26. Correspondexit in the Delhi Gazette, Novelﬁber 22.
27. Genoral Sale’s despatch, 2d November.—Goveriunent Gazetis.
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draw and charge. The first troop hesitated, and the men began to fall back by
eights or tens, The officers were so completely occupied by the enemy advanc-
ing at aslow but determined pace, and now close upon thiem, that they merely
called out to the men to come on, little anticipating that they were to have
all the battle to themselves. Observing, when too late, that they were about
to be left without support from their men, who had now begun to move off
by threea and fours, aud scamper like a flock of sheep before a force not
superior to them in numbers, Captains Fraser and Ponsonby in vain used
every effort to bring them on to the charge; in vain they exhorted, ine
treated, and implored thew during the few moments permitted them, Cap-
tain Fraser at length exclaime., ** I never saw such cowards, we must go
alone.” The Affghan horse were now amongst our wavering or retiring
ranks. Dost Mahomed led his men dowa the hill, cailing ¢* In the name of
God and the prophet, fight and drive the Feringee Caflirs from the land, or I
am goue.” The European officers already named, together with Lieut, Crispin ,
Cornet Moffat, Assist.-Surg. Eddy, Mr Boulton, the riding master, and Mr
M‘Dermot, the veterinary surgeon, with some 135 or 20 men, were left fight~
ing desperately in the midst of the enemy. Dr Lord had been killed on the
advance by a shot from one of the posts. Lieutenant Broadfoot of the En-
gineers had followed in the rear of the cavalry, and was ridden down by them
while endeavouring to prevail upon them to return to the field. His body
was afterwards found mutilated by the enemy. The infantry column bad
observed with admiration the gallaut bearing and steady advance of the Aff-
ghans, conceiving that they would be as steadily met and still more gal-
lantly repelled ; the hot charge and flashing sabres conveying for a moment
the impression that all had gone well, when the enemy's high red banner
dispelled the illusion. To their dismay the next moment they perceived
the cavalry in full retreat flying at speed before the Affighans, Capt. Fraser
arrived shortly after in camp on horseback, severely wounded in the back, and
with his right hand nearly cut off. The advanced guard was now formed
in line to receive the enemy, and the guns placed in position; but the
horsemen were probably satistied with their success, and were, at all events,
too weak to attempt more than they had accomplished. They passed on
beyond range of our artillery. Three companies of the 37th N.I., with
the 2d Bengal Light Cavalry which had been seat back, were ordered to
move round to the right in quest of the missing officers, while three com-
panics, under Lieutenant Rhind, with two of Abboit's guas, proceeded
towards the left to attack the enemy now accumulating ia masses oa a rocky
eminence on the flank. Some delay occurred in these arrangements: as the
second- mentioned party advanced, Lieutenant Dawes, who was in charge of
the guns, oponed fire with admirable pre:ision on the Affghans. The red
standard of the enemy was now placed on the top of the Lill, anl a detack-

-
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ment, under Lieutenant Rhind, after experiencing the greatest dificulty in
the ascent, obtained possession of the height just before occupied. This posi-
tion having been maintained for about half an hour, was abandouned, the ene«
my having been driven off. (28) The troops had now been nine ‘hours
under arms ; it would have taken them three hours more to have reached the
principal portion of the enemy ; who still remained in the field, so we returned
to the camp for the night. (29) A new attack was arranged for next day,
and the soldiers slept accoutred for the fight. When morning dawne
ed, the Affghans were found to have fled towards Chareekar: not a shot
bad been fired, nor was an enemy to beseen. The loss at Purwan Durrah fell
entirely on the officers. Dr Lord, the Political Agent in Kohistan, fell on the
advance; Lieut. Broadfopt was killed as the cavalry began to retire, and Cornet
* Crispin was shot dead upon the field, and was afterwards cut to pieces. The
condition in which Captain Fraser returned to camp has already been refer-
red to ; (30) theescape of Captain Ponsonby was almost miraculous. He was
mounted oan a magnificent Ghuznie charger, who, finding himself hemmed in
on all sides, lashed furiously out and dismounted three of the Affghans.
The gallant officer himself had a ball through his left arm ; the top of his left
thumb was cut off, with a severesabre wound dividing his nose and laying open
his cheek to the bone. His reins were severed across ; his horse had lost his
ears, and had a shot through his neck. Such was the battle of Purwan
Durrah, which closed the caieer of Dost Mahomed Khaa; and presented
the first example of misconduct on the part of the Sepoy soldier since the
commencement of the war. Of this no adequate explanation has ever been
obtained ; but so infamous was it regarded that the regiment was degraded
and disbanded, and its number erased from the army list. The heroic con-
duct of the British officers met with the applause that it deserved ; the Na-
tive officars and troaps who had not been engaged, or were guiltless of mis—
conduct, were drafted into other corps. Bameean had, in reality, sealed
the fate of the insurgent party, who were now unable to bring into the field
half the force that Colonel Dennie had defeated. Haviog staked his all upon
this cast without further hope of success, Dost Mahomed found himself on
the eve of being abandoned to his fate. He disappeared from the field of
battle, no one knew how or where. On the evening of the 34 November,
as Sir W, Macnaghten was returning from his evening ride, and was within

28. Delki Gazette, ut mf).

29. Colonel Dennie’s letters, Cabool, 18th Aprily 1841, and India Gazette
therein referred to.

30. Tais officer formed one of Sir R. Sale’s garrisonat Jellalabad, when they
were blockaded betwixt November 184! and April 1842. 1n March 1843,
he went home in charge of presents from the Maharajah Shere Singh to the
Queen of England. Hishand had not been amputated, but was at this time
wholly useless.
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a few yards of his own residence in the citadel of Cabool, a single horseman
galloped up to him, and having satisfied himself that he was the Envoy and
Minister, told him that Dost Mahomed had arrived, and sought his protection.
The ex-Ameer ilnmediately appeared ; he alighted from his horse, and pre~
sented his sword.(31) His sword was returned him, and he himself requested
to remount. He had quitted tho field of battle late the preceding evening,
and rode straight into Cabool, a distance of 60 miles, having been 24 hours.
on horseback. His fnances were exhausted ; his allies were deserting
him ; and the Seikhs, who had heretofore promised him all sorts of support,
had consented to open their country for the march of additional troops, to
reinforce the British army in Affghanistan. It had become obvious, that
however he might protract the struggle it could have bat one issue. With
s pride peculiar to himself, he carefully eschewed our army close to(32)
him, whom he considered he had foiled, and rode in straight to give himself
up with flying colours, He shewed few symptoms of fatigue, and his self.
possession was remarkable. He wrote to his eldest son Mahomed Afzul,
the sharer of his captivity and toils, and to two of his other sons who had
escaped from Ghuznie, desiring them to come in immediately, as he had al-
ready surrendered himself and been hoanourably treated. He left Cabool for
India under escort on the 12th November, and waited at Peshawaur till joined
by his family, They had resided at Ghuznie since their surrender in July ;
they coasisted of nearly 700 persons, of whom one half wera females. Four~
teen sons surrendered themselves; Ukhbar Khan alone Laviag declined our
hospitalities to the end. Hyder Khan, who became prisoner on the fall of
Ghuznie, at this time a prisoner at large at Bombay, afterwards joined them.
The ex-Ameer was permitted at his own request to visit Calcutta, where he
was received with the utmost respect by Lord Auckland, and became for a time
the great Lion of the City of Palaces, He was allowed an income of three
lakhs of Rupees,—£30,000 a~year. He was assigned a residence first at
Loodianah and afterwards at Mussooree on our north-west frontiers, where
the climate was more congenial to his constitution than that of lower Bengal.
He appears to have created a strong and favourable impression on all with
whom he came in contact ; and though watching, of course with deep interest,
‘the struggles of his conutry, he was never on any eceasion detected interfering
with its affairs, or even during the time of our troubles, which he appeared
to deplore, corresponding with the insurgents. He quitted India in January
1843, and after a sojourn of some weeks at Lahore, returned to Cabool.
This, bowever, is greatly in anticipation of the regular course of our narra-
tive. The surrender of Dost Mahomed reduced the conntry around Cabool

31. Sil'1 Wl %waghw[?;:tgeupgtches.bm'ovember 4,
32. Colonel Dennie’s rs, December 27. We : i
the words of both the papers re,ferred to. have borrowed in part
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te astate of temporary tranquillity.(33) There was no further head or defi-
nite object for combination, and though the elements of insurrection were
every whefe abundant, and instances of individusl resistance to the tax-
gatherer not unfrequent, there was no hope to be indulged in, or object to
be advanced, by a combined or extensive outbreak. The embers of discon-
tent smouldered in Kohistan, but were not extinguished ; a communication is
said to have been intercepted, bearing the seal of the blinded Zemaun Shah,
brother of the Shah Soojah, addressed to the Sultan Mahmoud Khan
Barukzye, Sirdar of Kohat, urgiog a combination with the Seikhs to restore
him to authority ; a proof of the conviction of this member of the royal
family, that the queation was less betwixt the Suddozye and Barukzye races
than the anxiety to get rid of the present ruler and his allies.(34) Winter
was now at hand :—the Affghans had not as yet discovered the weak points
in the position we had taken up ;—and warlike operations were not thought
of with the ground covered with snow, and the thermometer considerably
below zero. Before directing attention to the affairs of Scinde and Beloo~
chistan, where insurrection was rife, and rebellion had assumed a more for-
midable front than in any of the tramontane parts of the Doorannee empire,
it will be expedient briefly to examine the causes of the unexpected continu-
ance of hostilities, and our extreme want of success in reducing the country
to obedience. The papers of Sir Alexander Burnes fortunately furnish
abundant materiel for an enquiry as important in its nature as unsatisfactory
in its results. The history of the operations in the countries south-
west of Candahar forming an episode of themselves, will be narrated in the*
following chapters.,

Dr Atkinson relates that, in December 1840, when accompanying Dost
Mahomed on his way to India, the ex-Ameer recommended strongly the
policy of taking the dominion of the country into our own hands. ¢ The
Suddozyes,” he said, * had never been accustomed to obey, and never would
obey ; and, by their intrigues, under the anomalous sovereignty of the
Shah Shoojah, we should be involved in perpetual embarrassment.”” The
only effectual mode of crushing them was to govern them in our own way.
¢ You wiil also find,” he observed, *‘ the very courtiers about the Shah
who have for years been fattening on your bounty, the most forward in
plotting against you.” There is no doubt that the observation of the
Affghan ruler fully explained our difficulties, arising, as they did, from the
anomalous nature of our position. It is true that the habits of the popula«
tion of Affghanistan bore scarcely any resemblance to those of the countries

33. “ The surrender of Dost Mahomed has made the country as tranquil as
Vesuvius after an irraption ; how long it will continue it is impossible to say.”
—-Letter of Sir A. Burnes, Cabool, Nov. 13, 1840.

34, Atkiuson’s Expedition into Affghanistan, p. 368.
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with which, in Indis, we had hitherto been accustomed to deal :—counntries
which lay on the borders of our dominions, and were accessible to our armies
along the whole line of their frontiers : which were familiar with the aspect,
as well as with the resistless power of our authority, before they felt its
influence. The Affghans had at no time for any lengthened period, sub-
witted to a regular government of their own: they were divided into a
hundred petty clans, each professing allegiance to individual chiefs, who
made no ceremony in disputing the authority of the Sovereign when his
behests discorded with their views. Imbued with more than the usual
impatience of taxation, almost the only aid they could be induced to con-
tribute to the state was in the shape of a contingent of men in the case of
war. Dificult as it was, however, to fuse these hot, fiery, and refractory,
subjects into the form of a quiet, well-ordered, and submissive tribute-
paying-population ; the source of all our troubles lay in the anomaly of our
own position. Had we taken possession of the country for ourselves, it would
not only have been totally useless to us, but would have cost some millions
sterling a-year for the maiatenance of from 12,000 to 15,000 regular troops
to keep up the show of sovereignty. But so long as we asked no tribute,
and left the tribes to themselves, it is probable they would have learned to
leave us alone when they discovered how much more satisfactory was the
silver and gold we scattered than the steel and lead we might have required
to use amongst them. This, certainly, was the most we could ever at any
time have hoped, from the eatire occupation of Affghanistan.

In maintaining the Shah Soojah by foree of arms on the throne in the
shape of an independent sovereign, we enabled him to do as he thought fit,
while we relieved him from the fear of consequences. The capricious
tyranny he exercised over his subjects was carried into effect, and he pro-
tected from the resulta—by British bayonets ! Rights long dormant
or forgotten, and which in many cases had never been admitted, were
resuscitated ; claims were renewed on tribute for half a century fallen aside ;
and the whole country harrassed and snnoyed by the political agent, the
spy, and the tax-gatherer,—creatures equally new and uanwelcome in the
recesses of the Doorannee empire.

No better explanation can be given of the sources of our difficulties than
.that oontained in the representation of Sir Alexander Burnes, laid before the
Envoy on the 7th of August 1840, on the anniversary of our entrance iato
.Cabool ; with a long extract from which able, but unfortunately unheeded,
document, the present chapter may be concluded ;==

8o much for the state of affairs in the kingdom of Cabool on this day, the anni-
versary of our entrance into its capital. At Court I fear we shall not find matters
in'a better state : much is said of the King’s popularity : this is a subject 1 feel an.
xzious to grapple with thoroughly. To meit would be very satonishing if any Af-
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ghan King who had allied himself to the Sikhs, and ihe English, eonld be popular ;
it is notin the matwre of things. Bis Majesty’s successor may hope for & beitet
share of the public favor, but Shah Shoojsh must I fear get on withoutit. I weuld
not however dwell mueh on the abstract question of unpopulsrity, T wounld rathet
enquire inte the causes forit, if they exist, or are only imsginary. Bad ministers
are ia every Government, solid grounds for unpopulsrity, and I doudt if ever a
King had a worss set than Shah Shooja. His principal sdvieer isan oldservant
by name Moolah Shikore, who has growa grey with His Majesty in exile, where he
distributed, in some hundred fractional parts, the Pension whieh the Shah receive
ed from the Company. He is not & msn of family, but a Moolsb; his faounities ‘are
impaired by age and disease ; he onee incurred His .Majesty’s displeasure for
which he forfeited his ears, a subject fruitfulin witticism to the discontented about
sourt, and little caloulated to elevate the representative of Majesty. So com-
pletely is this poor men’s memory gone thst he never recognizes s man he has
once seen ; that the commonest business requires half a dozen of notes,~in fact, of
him it might be said timt his whole business is to gather money, and to this one
end his remasining faculties are applied. Moolsh Shikere passes by the mame of
Vuzeer or minister, but His Majesty geta offended at his being so ealled,
50 we may presume he thinks it possible to get on without any minister. By
facts that have come under my own knowledge, I shall depict the Vizier's charscter,
and all of them can be tested by yourself. In the last winter, his notions of Pos
litical economy Jed him to seixe all the granaries sround Csbool, on which he put
his seal, and from which he drewforth the grain, and had it esposed for sate in
the Bazaar by his own officers, and at a price fixed by hitnself, When spring ar-
rived, he conceived it would please His Majesty to adorn the royal Gardens which
-have been long neglected, a measure most laudable to a people so fond of gardens
as the Caboolies, highly popular, but this wasto be done gratis, and by conserip-
tion on all around this district. The poor pessantry were dragged in bundreds
from their homes at seed time, when their lands required their care, and compelled
to labor withoat any reward. Discontent rose to such a height that I seat to the
minister and plainly told him that he was disgraeing his King' and himself; and
- that I would no longer stand silent, as policy dietated I should on all occasions, un-
less he at least gave the poor wretches bread, and if he would not do ity I would
from next day open myown treasury and supply it, After this the workmen
got two pice worth of bread per diem, while our Engineer officers were paying
seven times that in the adjoining garden, where our Cantonments were erecting.
The next freak of this minister was to reduce the number of Butshers” shops in
this populous City, and to compel these to sellat his own price, thereby ensuring
s menopoly of meat to a few, and injuring many. For days the loudest complaints
were uttered, till free trade wasat last established. As I write, the shops in which
flour is sold are now shut, the minister baving turned his views from meat to
bread ; and itis painful to pass through the B ian With such an

a1

- adviser, can His Majesty be popular—do he, and his minister deserve it ?
You have frequently pointed out to the King, in which I have humbly seconded
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you, the utter worthlessness of such a man as an adviser, and His Majesty has pros
mised more than onoce a remedy to an evil so pressing. You are sware that he has
sppolinted within this past month a man of family and character to take a share in
public matters by the titie of Nisam-co-dowla, his own name being Oosman Khaa
Suddoozsye. This,howerver, I regret to say is a pure fiction, the man exercises no su-
thority in the stste. His Majesty has given to bim the old revenue accounts to ex-
amine, aud heis to fiad out such defalcations as hecan,a task imperiously neces—
sary I admit, but one by no means furnishing s remedy to the grievances above
enumerated. These grievances relate to Cabeol, but the surrouading country
equally suffers under others. Those in the Kobistan I have described, those else«
where are fully as common, Besides Oosman Khan, of whom I am bound to speak
with favor, His Msjesty tells us thers is no man it for trust ; I will only say that be
deceives himself, but if unworthy of trust, we shall then suppose the S8hah carries
on this Government himself : not at all! he has surrounded himself with four or five
advisers, who were with him at Loodians, who are engaged entirely io filling their
purses, and who from loong sb in Hindoostan, are quite unfit for the respon-
sible duty which they are called on to perform. To reward old servants is noble
and magnanimous, but other employments may be found for such, than those
which taint the ends of justice, and with them, His Majesty’s reputation.

I have spoken of the duties assigned to Oosman Khan connected with the re-
venue, and this brings me to that very important subject, and the system on whish
Bis Majesty conducts it, if system it can be called, and which calls loudly for re-
form. The Collectors of the revenue are the soldiers ; they receive assigaments on
certain districts for their pay, and they proceed there, living at free quarters on the
community till the peasant pays the amount of the assignment, causing tbusa
more fruitful harvest of dispute than any other human invention could have devie
sed. Distant from the ospital the subject refuses to submit to suszh oppression,
and before the snow falls expeditions are sent forth to levy His Majesty’s rights ;
if the snow does fall the people defy the officers of the Crown, and escape for the
year. By ove of these expeditions the system will be explained. Khan Shereen
Khan, the head of the Persian faction, was dispatched in the fall of the year to the
countries of Koorum and Koost, south of Suffaid Koh: he levied His Ma-
jesty’s dues, and lived for five months with 1800 men at free quarters in the coun-
try. As he is a good man, he did his duty with more mildness than an Affghan,
but to continue such a system, must clearly alienate all the people of this country
from Shah Soojah and from us, for the force wa give him ensures what, if lefi to
himself, he could not otherwise command. It is thersfore incumbent on us by
sending religious men, or by demanding hostages to live at the capital, as security,
to see that some other revenue arrangements be adopted ; by the present we can nei-
ther govern on the Affghan system, nor on our owa, for the former implied that if
subject paid his duties one year he was tobe called out to plunder the Punjaub or

Hindoostan the uext.

After adjusting revenue arrangements, the admitted end of Shah Shooja’s Go-
vernment is to make his Troops fit for service, to raise in fact a nationsl force.
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The Jan Bsz corps are assuredly & step towards this, and a very important one,
and these with the Affghan Infantry, now being raised, promise well, but it is the
object of many to destroy His Majesty’s interest in them, and as they are not con-
stantly under the King’s eye, his attention is bestowed on other things, his own
Irregular Cavalry, his own guuns, bis own Orderly Regiment, his Nujeebs, and his
Sikh bedy guard. I would not advocate the dismissal of the Affghan Horse, be-
cause, 1 believe, if paid, they will do good service, but it will be seen that all the
really serviceable portion of the army, the Jan Bazy and the Affighan luofantry, ave
paid by us, or have our security, and that His.Majesty plays ot soldiers with the
other branches, which ld be well enough were they not a burden on the fie
nances of the State, (or rather our State,) for this country more than others can-
not afford to support useless Troops, and it is not dificult to shew not only how
useless are these Troops but Aow dangerous they are in this country. Of the
Irregular HorseI shall-not speak ; of the household Artillery, however, you are
aware that His Majesty left them in Cabool in the winter without pay 3 they pledg-
ed their swords and clothes, then mutinied, collared their pative officer, and
were ultimately paid by your orders out of our money left in deposit here. The
King has a mountain train and two Troops of Horse Artillery in his service, be-
sides an Artillery Officer to look safter his guns. Of what use ere these men ?
Next ‘come the Orderly Regiment, a body of Hindoeostanees some six or eight
bundred strong, who run before the King and keep his subjects at « distance with
the butt ends of their muskats,with little or no discipline though good looking men,
and capable of it, and to which His Majesty has rejected all your entreaties to
sppoint an European-eofficer.- “FTheresult is to be expected. Six weeks ago they
mutinied. You were apprehensive that the regular army would be required, but the
orderly Regiment had only repaired to Moolah Shikore, His Majesty’s miniater ;
blockaded the entrance to his house, and told him, which I repeat on the Shah’s
own authority, thet if he did not pay them, they would have his nose, his ears be-
iog already gone. Themen were paid. His Majesty sought to punish this serious
breach of discipline aad respect, andhad the offeaders confined ; the men laid down
their arms before the King, and oaly took them up from there on General Cotton’s
approach, and from whom I heard it. With so many fine promising regiments, re.
gular and irregular, of what use can this Orderly Regiment be, or what use the Nu-
jeebs ? One of H. M.'s regiments of the contingent would with pride discharge the
duties of the Palace, and mutiny and disrespect would disappear. Butif these sen-
timents apply to such Treops, what is to be said to a body of Sikhs in the costume of
their country as the King’s guard in this Mahomedan oapital? A few evenings ago
I was saluted by several of them with the Wagerojee ka Futteh,(the Sikh war ery,)
in the veryatreets of Cabool. I assert without fear of contradiction that no 8ikh
(Khulsa) ever durst inthe time of the Affghan monarchy sppear thusin this city ; and
I further assertthat their presence here is odious to the peopls, and to the last degres
injurious. These then are the Troops kept up by His Majesty from our coffers, for
his own treasure canuot defray the charge. Are there not two parties to a bargain,
«and is not Shak Shooja bound to attend to our wishes in discharging useless muti-
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veus men, some of whom are offensive to the people, snd all of whom add ¢o the
enormeus expense of our oceupation of this country ? A few of those men were old
servents of the Shab when at Loodiana, but any one who has sven His Masjesty’s
establishment thure, knows how fyw these are. To use a homely simile, we by
keepiag up such people, sre burning the family candle at both ends, and I cannot
but doubt that a demounstration to His Majesty of our inability to support such
people would readily rid us of such a nuisance. We all kaow that panic sud mu.
tiny are very iofectious among soldiers. If Hindoostanees successfully demand
their pay with arms in their hands, what will prevent Affighan Horse and Foot
soting likewise : and where men are o0 irregularly paid, what so probable ; and if
it ocours, are we to bayounet, and slay His Majesty’s subjects, because it pleased
His Majesty to live beyond his means ? Place these facts before any soldier,and
I shall retract all these opisions if he deems them unsound or unprofessional.
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CHAPTER 1IV.

Scixpe AND BEeLoOCHISTAN.

Mr Ross Bell, Political Agent fer Scinde—State of Khelat—Expedition under Major Billamore
to Kahun and Deyrah—Attacks the Bhoogties—Captures the chief Beebruck—Sacks the
village—Retires by Kahun and Nufoosk to the plains--Futility of the expedition-Detach-
ment dispatched under Captain Brown and Lieut. Clarke to occupy Kahun—March from
Poolajeo—Difficulties of the way—Arrive at Kahun, and find it empty—-Clarke’s party, and
that of a Subedar, sttacked and cut to pieces on their retarn—Captain Brown shut up in
Kahun—Puts the men on haif-rations on the 24th May--Patience and skill of the defence—
Offers of assistance from Quettah-~Hear of Major Clibborn’s convoy—Are informed of {ts
destruction—-State of garrison in the end of Augusf—Detachment under Major Clibborn
dispatched from Sukkur on 12th August—Reach Poolajee—sEnter the hills—Arrive at
Surtof—Examine the ground where Clarke's party were cut to pleces—Difficulties of the
way—Reach Nufoosk—Want of water—Dreadful heat—Attempt to storm the Pass unsuc.
cessful—Storming party driven back, four officers killed—Main body keep their ground till
10 p.x.—Parties sent out for water—Return unsuceessful—Part of them cut up—Clibborn
retires on Surtof —Attacked during the night—Lose all their baggage-—~Return to Poolajee—
Total loss of convoy generally overstated—Court of Inquiry upon—Extraordinary proceed-
fogs of—Pr ture publication of their report—Observations on—-General Brooks and Col,

Valiant recalled—Reflections.

Tag Political Agent to whom the charge of Scinde and I3eloochistan
was, in the end of 1839, committed, was a man in every respect as unlike
the Envoy at Cabool as could well be imagined. Mr Ross Bell, by whose
individual managemert so many of the untoward events about to be described
were brought around, was, at the time of his appointment, scarce thirty
years of age; yet, before this, he had distinguished himself in the Secre-
tariat, as a Persian scholar, and had been employed with high credit at the
Courts of Nepaul and Lahore, and in an important political situation at
Delhi. He had charge of the districts from Dadur to Kurrachee, and from
the Indus to the westernmost borders of Beloochistan—the ruler of Kelat
being regarded as only a tributary of higher grade than the other chieftains of
the Doorannee Empire. Mr Bell was a man of great vigour, and activity
of understanding, and of the most determined and reckless daring of pur-
pose: but he was one of those who seemed to think the rules of general
morality inapplicable in government, and that the maxims of common
honesty essential to be observed in the intercourse of private life, might
wisely be disregarded by political authorities: a frailty with which too large
a portion of our statesmen in India of recent years appear to have been af-
fected. While the Envoy and Minister clung to the last to the fond dream
of the restoration, under British auspices, of the Doorannee Empire in its
former extent and splendour, the Political Agent of Scinde had sagacity
enough early to become satisfied of the mischievousness and untenabi-
lity of our policy, and of the impossibility of long maintaining the sovereiga
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on the throne, or ourselves in the country. His representations to Govern-
ment, like those of Sir Alexander Burnes to this effect, appear to have been
-utterly unheeded.

At the close of a former chapter the arrangements which took place at
Kelat werc adverted to. Mehrab Khan and his principal chiefs having
fallen on the capture of the town, his widow, with her step-son Nusseer
Kban, a boy about fourteen years of age, betook themselves to the hills,

Newaz Khan, a relative of the deceased chief, descended by a collateral
branch from Abdoolah Khan, the founder of the dynasty, was placed upon
the throne. It seems to have been most unaccountably assumed, that we
had no more to do than to set up a ruler amongst the democratic tribes of
Central Asia, to easure the permanence of his authority. No means of
-maintaining our protegee in the perilous position in which we had placed
him appear to have been thought of. He was to collect tribute, not for
himself only, but for his superior, the Doorannee sovereign, and procure
military service from fierce and lawless races, who ill brooked the exercise
of hereditary authority, scarcely of that which they themselves had conferred
on an elected chief. Lieutenant Loveday was appointed Resident at his half
formed and nasupported court: and a guard of honour of thirty sepoys was
all that was considered necessary to make our authority known and re-
spected throughout Beloochistan.

Ia the middle of December, a force, consisting of the head-quarters of the
st Grenadiers, 150 strong, with 60 Irregular Horse, under Captain Raitt,
was despatched from Lheree to take pessession of Kahun, the capital of
the Murrees, a fierce and warlike but chivalrous clan, occupying a portion
of the mountain country which sweeps to the eastward of the Bolan Pass.
Another party, acting in conjunction with this, and ccnsisting of the light
company of the 5th N.I., 50 men of the Grenadiers, aud 40 Horse, under
Lieutenant Clarke, with Lieutenant Jacob’s Battery, proceeded to Deyrah,
the head-quarters of the neighbouring tribe of the Bhoogties. The whole
force was commanded by Major Billamore. These tribes were to be
compelled to pay tribute to Newaz Khan or his superior the Shah Soojab.
The chieftains had been persuaded te permit military posts to be established
within their country: on what express understanding does not quite appear.
(1) On Captain Raitt’s arrival at Kahun, he found that, besides its inha«~
bitants, there were about 400 warriors in the town: there were at
least 2000 Bghting men collected around. On the chief enquiring whether he
came for peace or war, he was answered, that we expected to be received

1. Bombay Times, January 6 and March 6. Our authorities on Scinde
matters are chiefly to be found in the Bonbay Times. The writers are per-
fectly known to us, though we regret that we are not authorised to refer to
them by name. .
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as friends, and he was accordingly permitted peaceably to encamp close to
the walls. It had been proposed to occupy the fort, when the old chief
Dodah learning this, came in person to Captain Raitt, and entreated that
this intention should not be persisted ip, else bloodshied would ensue, as
the fury of the people was already nearly uncoatrollable. The Murrees
were still wholly ignorant of the object of our people having beea sent
amongst them ; having never before seen regular troops within their hills
they considered that our presence boded any thing but good ; and observing
the weakness of the force, they began to pelt and insult the sepoys in a
way sufficiently indicative of the feelings of the tribe, though the chief
excused himself by the plea of want of control over his people. Captain
Raitt not thinking himse!f sufficiently strong to resent these insults, left a
detachment of one hundred men strongly posted within a mile of Kahun,
and himself returned to join Major Billamore, The part of the force under
this last-named officer’s command reached Deyréh without symptoms of
hostility (2) further than aa occasional shot from the high grounds adjoin-
ing. They were constantly watched by hundreds of eyes from the summit
of the hills, and every day when the rear-guard left the camp, large bodies of
men showed themselves in all directions, and signals were fired and repeated
at immense distances along the mountains to give notice of our movements.
On arriving within twenty miles of Deyrah, Major Billamore was met by
Islam Khan, the eldest son of the Bhoogtie chief, with a few followers : lie
was profuse in his professions of friendship, and conducted the detachment
with every demonstration of politeness to the town. Here the old chief re-
ceived them with the same cordiality and attention as had marked the de-.
meanour of his son. He expressed his astonishment at the smallness of our-
numbers : he had himself twice as many warriors in Deyrah, with two thou-
sand more at his command amongst the adjoining highlands. The other chiefs
had bardly left Major Billamore's teat when they showed their contempt for
the weakness of our force. The town was full of all sorts of supplies, but
the moat exorbitant demands were made for every thing required by the
detachment : forage and firewood, then plentiful in the couatry, being at
first absolutely refused. The Bhoogtie warriors bezan now to remove from
Deyrah, so that in a few days there was scarcely an armed man to be found
within the walls. At last Islam Khan secretly departed, taking with him
his harem and houseliold: he had, a few hours before, visited Major
Billamore, and made the most unbounded professions of eternal friendship.
Before this, private information Lad been received that the whole trides were

2. We have adhered closely to he statements, and in many cases to the
words, of the letter of an officer belongiug to Major Billamore’s party, which
appears in the Bombay Times, March 6, under the signature  Nuroosk.””
Afterwards acknowledged to be Captain Jacob.
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collecting in the neighbouring hiils to atlack our troops : it was stated, that
Islam Khan would first quit Deyrah, and when all was prepared, his father, the
chief Beebruck, would follow, and that the circumstance of the latter joining
his tribe would be the signal for them to fall upon us and destroy us by night.
The camp was originally pitched a mile from the town, and a guard was
placed at the gate to prevent soldiers from eutering, as complaints had been
made of their committing irregularities in the bazaar. On receipt of the intelli-
gence just referred to, the camp was moved up to the walls of the town on the
38d January; and the guard was directed to prevent Beebruck’s depar-
ture: this they effected first civilly as he proceeded through the gate,
and afterwards by force as he attempted to make his way over the wall,
Captain Raitt at this time arrived from Kahun. From the time the expe-
dition approached the hill country, which they entered on the 25th Dec.,
the men had slept fully clothed and accoutred, with their loaded arms in
their hands. On the night betwixt the 3d and 4th January none of the
officers laid theinselves down to rest. All was quiet till daybreak, when the
videttes gave information that from seven to eight hundred men were
within half a mile of our cantonments, flourishing their swords, and firing
thelr wmatohlooks, in the most approved stylo of defiance. The country
around wan oovored with brushwood and jungle, and intersected with
nullalia (wator courses,) and while the officers and men were intently
obnerviny the maln body of the enemy, three horsemen penetrated a ravine
unnoticed, and tnade a rush to carry off Beebruck, who had just before been
allowed to proceed a short distance from the gateway of the town under
charge of a dozen of sepoys. So sudden was this movement that there was not
an instant left for preparation to resist it. Lieutenant Clarke saw the ad-
vancing party, he sprang upon his horse, dashed at them alone, and pot only
secured the old chief and brought him back again, but captured one of the
adventurous horsemen, and dragged him off a prisoner, horse snd all. The
main body of the Bhoogties took alarm at our artillery, and swerved off to
the right before coming within musket shot. A shell, dexterously thrown
in the midst of them, killed or wounded thirty men and horse, and struck
such terror into the remainder, that no man preseat that day ever after-
wards dared to join battle with the infidel. Major Billamore now quartered
his force within the walls of Deyrah. The place was about one hundred and
forty paces square, with strong corner bastions ; the walis, which were
thin at the top, but broad at the base, being about twenty-five feet high. (3)
A few days afterwards, they received information from their brethren within
the town, that a foraging party was about to be dispatched to bring in provi-

3. Letters from camp at Deyrah, 15th January.—-Bombay Times, 224 Feb.y
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sions from a distance of ten or twelve miles: it was intimated that not
more than a single gun, with some 50 men, would be left behind; so
that were the Bhoogties to divide their strength, keeping the foragers in
play on one hand, and attacking the little garrison on the other, they could
scareely fail to rescue their chief and recover the fortress, which they might
maintain in deflance of us. Major Billamore having become aware of this,
left his guns, with about twenty or thirty men, within the walls, and sent out
a party, commaaded by Capt. Raitt, consisting of about 120 foot and 40 horse
under Clarke—rightly judging that this party would be the first object of as-
sault, and that, unless they were beaten, no attempt would be made upon the
other, The conclusion was correct: the foragers were permitted to load
their came!s without molestation ; but so soon as they began to move on
their return, about 300 Beloochee footmen rushed down upon them sword
in hand, and notwithstanding the steadiness of the fire poured in upon them
by our infantry, approached within fifteen yards of our ranks, when the
cavalry charged them and dispersed them in an instant. Lieut. Clarke, at the
head of these, cut dewn four with his own hand : one -fourth of the enemy's
force must have been killed or wounded. Had the orders against puarsuit
not been most imperative, few indeed would have escaped. The detachment
left by Captain Raitt, under Lieut. Peasock, at Kahun, joined head-quarters
at Deyrah about the 10th or 12th, (4) the Murrees having quitted their
habitations, and retired to the hills with their families and property, leaving
the town empty, and the garrison, now of no farther use, in danger of star-
vation, On the 15th, the chief Beebruck was dispatched uader a guard
to Scinde. Befors he left, notice was sent to the people that he was about to
start; as it was impossible to detach many men as an escort, the tribe was
warned that, if any attempt at rescue was made, the first step would be to
shoot Beebruck, and then fight it ou’: this had the desired effect, and rather
than risk the life of their Chief, they allowed the party, consisting of only
about 60 horse, to pass unmolested. He was imprisoned for eight months in
the fortress at Bukkur, without reason or precedent being assigned : and was
liberated after the affair of Nufoosk, in the end of August, in order to enable us
to make terms withthe hill men. He himself had not even been inarms against
us !—his tribe had given us no worse reception than such intruders into their
country wers entitled to expect ; their retirement to the hills is said to
have been occasioned by the apprehiension of an attack from us: it is as-
serted that their subsequent demonstration on our camp was made with a
view of rescuing their chief. A double treason by the guide in whom we

4. The dates are not given in any of the communications we have seen: they
require to be conjectured from the general tenor of the narrative. They can-
not any where be more than two or three days wrong; and these errors, 1
they be any, are quite immaterial.
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trusted is afficmed to have been practised,~each of the contending parties hav-
ing been informed that his opponent meaat to assail him. Beeja Khan and
Janee, two of the chiefs who surrendered on faith of honourable treatment,
were, in violation of all the practices of war, kept in irons and dealt with as
felons, 1t was with utter amazement that the Beloo :hees witnessed this on
the part of a nation famous all over the world for the stern unimpeachability of
its honour. Qur officers were soon and frequently afterwards condemnned to
witness the ridicule heaped upon our professions of integrity. The village of
Deyrah was sacked—grain, cloth, arms, every thing, down to the humblest
donkey, becoming prize property.(5) Major Billamore determined to leave
the Grenadiers in possession of Dayrah, and to retire to the plains via Kahun,
taking with him the artillery. This route had been represented as absolutely
impassable : but it was considered of so much importance to shew the
Murrees that we could penetrate their fastnesses at our pleasure, through
the most dificult of their defiles, that an attempt by Nufoosk, which saved
forty miles in distance to Peol:jee, was thought well worthy of eacountering
the danger and dificulty atteading it. The route betwixt Deyrah apd
Kahun was fearfully difficult, and to be overcome only by the most deter=-
mioe | perseverance and indefatigable exertions.(6) T wo forced marches —
one of twenty, and avother of twenty-seven miles—brought the detachment
to Kahun, which they found entirely abandoned. Meisages were sent to
the old chief Dodah Murree, to which insolent answers alone were returned.
A foot path across the mountains indicated the line of march to Poolajee
desired to be pursuel. It was surveyed by Lieut. Jacob of the Artillery,
to whom was committed the Herculein task of cutting a path through
the Nufoosk hills fit for the transport of guns and baggage. It was a grim
looking place: the mountaing were about 3000 feet in height, and four
miles across, and the narrow path, all which then existed, found its difficult
way through tremendous rocks, precipices, and ravines. The work was not
only attempted but completed, and a few days afterwards the astonished
mountaineers saw our troops, horse and foot, with their guus, on their way
through the Nufoosk and Surtof passes,—a few months after rendered so

5, There is nothing more humbling in the study of the large collection of
ietters of officers with the force, published and uupublished, trom which the
above narrative is compiled, than the constant recurrence to this most morti-
fying topic. The taunts that they could not believe us, were everywhere cast
in our teeth by the tribes with whom we desired to treat. Such was the result
of the political management of Scinde within six months of Mr Bell's
appointment ! .

6. The reader will do well to keep these facts in special recollection when
he comes to the repors of the Nufoosk commission, where great fault is found
with Major Clibbora that he did not select the Doyrah route instead of that
by Nufoosk —the former being forty miles longer, and only a few shades less
ditticult than the latter: the garrison of Kahun being, meanwhile, in extremity
for want of provisions.
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unhappily memorable. They arrived safe at Poolajee on the plains, while
Captain Raitt and his detachment retired from Deyrah shortly afterwards.
The details of this gallantly conducted, but useless expedition, have been
more fully given than its magnitude might appear to warrant, because of its
bearing on a series of most important, but unfortunate operations which
ensued. Ithas been so generally overlooked, that in that invaluable repository
of eastern intelligence, the Asiatic Journal, no notice of it is to be found. ‘Lhe
materials at the disposal of the preseat writer have been supplied by some
of the most talented officers of the force, and are of unquestionable authority,
Here was a body of 300 gallant men sent roving amongst fearful mountaius
utterly unknown to us, to encounter tribes of whom we knew no more than
that they were poor and warlike—to collect tribute not ackuowledged or
shewn to be due, and obtain professions of allegiance to a sovereign whose
ancestors appear never to have been recognised by them! The information
subsequently obtained from the minister at Kelat, after all the m'schief had
been done, proved that never had tribute been claimed by his master, or
pail by either Murree or Bhoogtie, and that nothing could be more indefi-
nite than their ideas of so much as an acknowledgment of sovereignty or
superiority being due. These circumstances were notorious to the whole po«
pulation of the countries around- But in 1839 we were too busy in over.
turning dynasties, and remodelling chiefships, to think of enquiring whether
or notthere were grounds of expediency or justice for what we were engaged
with.(7) The expedition proved worthless : it made us acquainted with roads
into a country where we had no business, and whose difficulties were shortly
afterwards taught us to our cost. The occupation of Deyrah and Kahun
ended in nothing, and in our subsequent attempts to treat with Dodah
Murree, a twelvemonth afterwards, we appearad rather as supplicants for
his friendship than as allies of his sovereign demanding his allegiance and
support. Enough has been statel to shew the skill and bravery with which
the military portion of the arrangement was carried out, and the wretchedness
of the policy which ever called this into operation. To consummate its ab.
surdity, neither engineering officer nor political agent accompanied the de-
tachment ; so that while it was rendered as useless as possible when in
the country for the time, it was left without the means of baving the routes
surveyed, to ascertain their military capabilities in case it was found requi-
site for us to return. The system of dispersing handsful of men up and down
through the country had, the previous autumn, been objected to by Brigadier
Gordon, who absolutely refused to send out detacbments to be isolated in the
mountains, for no end but to gratify a political whim, and give colour to

7. A very admirable series, under the title of ¢ Cutchee Letters,” on this
subject appears in the Bombay Times betwixt April and July 1841, from the
pen of an officer then in a very important position in Scinde.
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the fiction that the country was every where kept in subjection to us.(3)
Col. Gordon had resisted the dispatch of Major Billamore’s expedition, but
was overruled by the civil authorities. A quarrel and correspoadence so violent
had, in 1839, arisen betwixt the political and military chiefs, that the latte-
felt himself constrained to resign his command, Mr Bell had at this time
quitted his post and retired to Simla, to pass the hot season in the bosom
of the Himalayas—a month’s jouraey from the troubled region committed
to his charge. Lieut. Postans, his principal assistant, held supreme autho~
rity under the instructions and in the absence of the chief. Kahun was
ordered once more to be occupied : for what end cannot be divined. We
still maintained our claim to tribute and submission, and a Naib (a native
tax-gatherer), accompanied Captain Browa to collect money. The previous
enquiry as to whether any was due was considered enticely superflaous ; of
course none was ever paid ms, The charge of the troops destined
for this service was entrusted to two of the officers who had accompanied
the expedition under Major Billamore—Captaia Brown and Lieutenant
Clarke—both men of the utmost courage, cooluness and judgment. Captain
Brown joined the detachment then assembled at Poolajee, on the 8th April.
It consisted of 300 bayonets of the 5th regiment, under Eansign Tay-
lor; two 12-prhowitzers, under Lieutenant D. Erskine ; with 50 Poonah
horsemen and 50 of the Scinde Irregular Horze, under Lieutenant Clarke,
alreadynamed. He was directed to occupy the petty fort of Kahun, and was
provided with supplies for four months. His coavoy consisted of 600 camels
besides bullocks. The empty camels were to be roturned under charge of
Lieutenant Clarke, with 80 infantry and 50 horse. About the 15th, the
weather was extremely hot, the thermometer rising to 112° in the shade;
fever became prevalent, and one native officer died from a stroke of the sun.
At the request of the political agent, Lieut. Clarke with his horsemen were, on
the 20th, dispatched in the direction of Shapoor, where they were to be
joined by 100 men of the Belooch levy, under Lieutenant Vardon. The
combined detachment was to proceed to the south-east, with a view of sur-
prising a party of Culpore Bhoogties. In this they were unsuccessful, by
reason of the treachery of their guide : the sufferings of the party from heat
in crossing the desert were inconceivably severe: the Belooch levy alone
left 25 men behind them, of whom three died. The guns were ordered back
to Lheree on the 27th, in consequence of the sickness of Lieutenant Erskine

8. Statement of Colonel Gordon in the Bombay Times. The letters referred
to in this were published in tlie Bombay Times, May 1841 : as extraordinary a
series as ever appearcd in print. They extend from July to September 1839,
and might bave served to convince Lord Auckland that Mr Bell had been
mistaken, and that he was unqualified for the important otfice to which he
had been appointed. He was at this time about to have resigned : it would
have been fortunate for his fame had he carried his resolution into effect.
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~—one only being restored to the custody of Captain Brown, who knew, from
his experience with Major Billamore, how impossible it was to proceed with-
out artillery. Lieutenant Erskine soon after so far recovered as to be able
to take charge of the gun, the howitzers being left. On the 3d May the de-
tachment entered the hills, leaving 50 horse behind who could not be re-
lied on. Theroad was so heavy and difficult that a mile an hour was all the
advance that could be made : water, luckily, was pleatiful. Ensign Taylor
became 30 sick on the first march that he had to return, leaving two Euro-
pean officers in charge of three companies of Sepoys! The heat was intole-
rable: the thermometer was 116°, and the wind came down the gorges like
the breath of a furnace.(9) Arriviog on the 7th at the spot where the road
round by Deyrah, a detour of 74 miles, divides itself from the short cut
of 20 miles to Kahun through the mountains, by which Major Billamore had
descended a few months before, Captain Brown selected the latter ; having
in this matter been left, as Major Clibbora was afterwards, to judge for him-
self. Oa the 10th they reached the celebrated Pass of Nufoosk, through
which Lieutenant Jacob had cut a track for artillery, ut supra. A hun-
dred men ascended the acelivity in the morning ; the breast works erected by
the enemy were destroyed, and the cuts, three of which had been made across
the road by them, were repaired. From6 in the morning till 4 in the after-
noon was occupied in getting the gun up the steep, though the distance was
little more than a quarter of a mile ; and it was 3 next morning before the con-
voy was got to the summit of the gorge. The heat was dreadful, and water
extremely scarce ; the camels dropped down by dozens from fatigue; A few
Beloochees followed in the rear, and some shots were exchanged, but no for-
midable annoyance wis experienced ; the troops required to be kept three
nights on end under arms. On the 11th they obtained a sight of Kahun from
the top of the Pass ; the descent from their lofty bivouack was, for a mile,
80 extremely steep, that their progress was difficult and tardy : it was 2 p.x.
before the gun was got down. The heat continued as intense as ever, and
water was extremely scarce. By 5 ».u. they reached their destination ; the
whole march had been as arduous as it was skilfully conducted. The con-
voy often stretched a distance of 2 miles, so that to guard it properly was
impossible : through the exertions of the officers and men scarcely anything
was lost, Kahun is a small, irregular, hexangular lown, 900 yards in cir-
cumference: it is surrounded by a rugged and imperfect wall 25 feet high,
with six bastions. It has no ditch, but a large tank opposite the gateway
serves as a reservoir for water. It was found abandoned, the gates having
been carried off and buried ; they were discovered hid in the ground ad-

9. This part of the Narrative is chiefly an abridgement of Captain Brown’s
Journal, published by Government : & most interesting little brochure.
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joining, and replaced a few days after our arrival. The fort is chiefly
used as a place of retreat, its only regular inbabitaats being the chief
and a few followers,~—the Banians or Hindoo merchants, though numerous,
themselves living in huts on the plains which extend for fifteen miles
around. So soun as the troops were housed, every effort was made
to put the works in a state of repair; the wells were cleared, the
bastions strengthened,—the detachment haviug apparently been dispatched
to be placed in a state of siege when no succour could be sent them! The
cavalry discovered some grain in the fields, and 50 camel loads of wheat, in
stalk, were sent in; a second supply of similar amount was shortly after-
wards met in with; the Murrees discovering this set fire to the rest.

On the 16th, the return convoy under Lieutenant Clarke, started for
Poolajee at 2 in the morning. Capt. Brown, availing himself of the permis-
sion to increase the detachment originally destined to escort the returning ca-
mels,in consideration of the difficulty about to be encountered, accordingly
augmented it by the addition of a subedar’s party, consisting of 5 havildars
and 80 rank and file. Finding no opposition in crossing the first hill, Lieu-
tenant Clarke appears to have directed their return to Kahun, They were
attacked on their way by a body of about 2000 of the enemy, and cut off to
a man ; one dhoolie-bearer alone escaping to tell the tale. The escort pariy
baving got so far, were enabled to proceed towards the bottom of the Sur-
tof mountain, 13 miles from Kakan, with apparently but little molestation.
The string of camels extended to a length of two miles ; these had yet forty
miles before them of grim passes, rugged rocks, and river beds.(10) Clarke
had got his convoy safe through the ghaut and assembled in the plain, when,
seeing a strong body of Beloochees following dewn the mountain, he left
the camels in charge of the Irregular horse, while he went back a mile with
the infantry, and took up a position on the crest of the hill overhanging and
eompletely commanding the road. He appears to have thought that, consider-
ing the distance he had yet to march, a timeous check would have saved him
from all further annoyance. The motive on which he acted appears not only
to have Heen a brave, but a wise one, and would most likely have proved suc~
eessful, but for one of thoseuntoward accidents which no man ceuld have fore-
seen. From the post he had taken up he could easily have kept the enemy at
bay. Having sent for a supply of ammunition the messenger unhappily was
killed before reaching his destination, The Beloochees, seeing that our fire
had begun to slacken, crept up a shallow cut on the flank of the sepoy
party and then darted on them with the utmost fury, when, after a tweo
hours’ fight, every man of them was slain. The horsemen fled to Poolajes

10. The particulars of this melanchol ived i
Comain Separtioulars of oly catastrophe are derived in part from

arﬂ f ) 3 . . .
born’s force. y partly from a letter of an officer with Major Clib-
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at speed: the whole of the baggage feil into the enemy’s hands. One
havildar and ten privates alone escaped: thus, in a single day, did the
5th Bombay N. I. lose 148 men—Lieatenant Clarke was the pride and
ornament of his profession. To this day the Murrees spzak of his bravery,
ca:ling bim ¢* Burra Bahadoor.”

The departure and entire destruction of both portions of the escort party
bad reduced the strength of the garrison at Kahun to 140 bayonets, with a
single gun—who amongst them had to watch 900 yards of wall against
the assaults of a brave and indefatigable enemy. One hundred and fifty
rapees (£.15) was offered to get a messenger to carry intelligence to the
plains of the state of affairs: but none would undertake the task., On the
21st, a despatch was sent, intimating to Brigadier Gordon, that there
were still four months’ supplies in store, and that every exertion would
be made to hold the fort. The old chief Dodah had tried every means in
his power to prevent the attack on our relieving convoy, and when the
tribes would no longer be gainsaid, he exclaimed to those who
were leaving—*¢ there you go, selling our country for five hundred
camels.”’ (11) The full fatuity of the expedition had at length be-
come apparent—the garrison had been only twelve days in the country,
from which they came to enforce tribute and allegiance, and they were
now beleaguered in the capital, and barely able to hold their own. A strict
account of stores was taken and the troops put on half rations on the 24th
May, while every tree and shrub within 200 yards was cut down. To have
moved one step beyond the walls would have involved certaia destruction.
Lieutenant Loch having intimated his intention of endeavouring to join
them with 200 horse, was warned of the utter hopelessness of penetrating
Nufoosk with such a force. The idea of forwarding reinforcements from
Sukkur having for a time been abandoned, Captain Bean at Quettah was
written to, to see whether he could not get the Kakur tribe to attack the
Murrees, with whom they were at enmity, and so produce a diversion in our
favour, By the end of June, the wells had all been cleared, and the inner
fort, adequate to contain all their scanty provisions, strengthened as a last
place of retreat in case of emergency. Clubs from the adjoining bushes
were cut for the use of the camp-followers, who could not otherwise be
got armed ; and the empty grain bags were filled with sand to make up a
show to deceive the spies occasionally known to find their wayinto the fortress.
On the morning of the 29th June, a party of 150 Beloochees came sweep-
ing round the fort and managed to cut off the retreat of 20 bullock-drivers,
who contrary to express instructions had gone about a mile beyond the
walls. The work of slaughter had commenced, when a shell dexterously

11. Captain Brown’s Journal, para. 3d.
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thrown amongst the assailants, of whom 6 were killed by it, caunsed
them to give way ; while a party of 40 men thrown out in that direction,
and flanked by a couple of bastions, afforded a retiring post for the survi-
vois, of whom 10 were by this means saved. About the same time some 8
or 10 camel men were attacked while out foraging, by 20 Beloochees, who
rushed on them at speed, and would have inevitably cut them to pieces,
but for the courageous conduct of two sepoys, who coolly waited till the as:
sailants were close at hand, and then fired in their faces, wounding one of
them and compelling them to return, The only sheep remaining were gra-
zing bard by, when the attention of the enemy, luckily for the garrison, was
too intently directed to the destruction of the camel-men to observe the
plunder, otherwise the loss would have besn serious. On the 8d July
Shere Beg, a Bhoogtie, ‘o whom Captain Brown had the previous year been
of service, and who from the time our troops entered the Murree hills, clung
to him like a shadow, brought in 45 sheep and goats in evidence of his
gratitude: a most welcome supply, the troops being reduced to their last goat.
This man often visited the garrison, bringing with him small supplies of ve-
getables and condiments—his approach was always hailed with delight. He
was the only source of intelligence or stranger who visited them, and his
name as he approached was passed from bastion to bastion as that of a friend.
He was believed to act the part of a spy in a small way, while the prices he
obtained for his com.nodities, relieved our people of any alarm for excess
of obligation obtained at his hands. Offers of assistance were received from
Captain Bean on the 7th July, but the proffered aid never reached : while
the political agent at Shikaipore wrote that it was intended to act on the
defensive tiil the heats were over. Lieut. Erskine one day killed 8 out of 50
Beloochee horsemen who had been watching for some mischief in the dell
adjoining : after this the enemy kept at a respectful distance, and heaped
abuse on us beyond the range of the artillery. The same routine of dis-
heartening duties continued throughout the month ef July: the camels
were getting into poor condition from the badness or scareity of food, and
many of the gun bullocks had to be shot on the advance of disease. Intel-
ligence was received that the Kojjucks, instead of coming to our assistance,
had joined the Murrees against us: the Kakurs whom Captain Bean was
to send for our relief had turned to attack himself in Quettah, The men
suffered severely from uleers, upwards of 90 of all ranks being laid up with
" them by the middle of July: while by the 6th of August, 33 men were in
hospital from fever. The camp followers were subjected to drill, and had
become able to take a share of military duty. Dr. Glasse himself became
sick, and the medicine chest being exhausted, hot water was resorted to and
found effectual as a substitute for purgatives. A tremendous storm of wind
and rain filled all the tanks and inundated the country around : and the
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sight of the cultivators every where engaged in the labours of the field, ex-
hibited to the beleaguered soldiers a scene of as much ckeerfulness as could
be witnessed from such a prison. By the beginning of August the Beloo-
chees had begua to approach eloser and closer every day to the fort. Their
matchlocks could carry twice as far as our muskets; while little parties
like picquets appeared seated round in every direction. A set of men who
were watching in a ravine close by, fired on the officers while walking near
the gate. A few sepoys were sent out to entice them on, when 50 Murrees
immediately sprung up, and the sepoys having got out of the way, a shell
was fired which killed 15 of the enemy. The following extract gives so
graphic an account of the incidents at this period of the siege, that it is
given without abridgment (12) :—

¢ 10th Aug.—For the last 4 or 5 days the flocks had been coming closer and closer
to t e walls, eating up what little grass there was left. I had warned Hybutt Xhan
of this 3 or 4 times, and had also offered to purchase 100 at his own price, but
he declared I should not have one, Erskine and myself had finished the last but
ore, of those we procured frem old Sheer Bheg. We have both excelleat appe-
titesy although shut upin a fort. To-day, 2 large flocks of sheep and’goeats came
most temptingly near, and the sepoys earnestly entreated for some fresh meat ;
watching our opportunity (no Beloochees being then in sight) we slipped out
about 30 sepoys, flanking them with 2 bastions filled with men, and Erskine got
the gun round o bear in the direction. There were only 3 Beloochees just then
in charge; they immediately ran off for their lives, and the goats, by some in~
stinct, and to our great annoyance, followed them at speed, like dogs. Two
horsemen then came up looking very fierce, but scon rode off on getting a shot,
To describe the delight of all on getting this flock inside the fort is impossible;
there was a perfect uproar ; on counting our plunder we found we had secured
300 sheep* and 57 goats ; most of the latter were milk goats, so that the highest
castes shared the enjoyment ; we immediately made a division of the whole, charg-
ing 1 Rupee on the head of each, for the benefit of the widows of those who fell
on the 16th May. That evening the fort became one large cook-shop.

¢ 11th.—Hybutt Khan came to-day to try and recover his sheep; told us Nusseer
Khan had driven all our detachments in to Sukkur; also brought a note from
Dodah, the Chief, desiring us to leave his fort forthwith, snd that he and his army
would escort us down to the plains! When Hybutt found be could not get back
his sheep, being tuld that most of them were slready killed, he flew into a great
rage, and declared he would come and attack the fort, for which threat I told
the sentry to give him a shot, when he quickly departed.

12. The whole of the narrative of the siege of Kahun is abridged from
Captain Brown’s journal. The entries from the 10th to the 16th are given
entiro. The capture of the sheep is too graphic an incident to admit of
abridgment.

* These sheep were a great addition to the half rations ; the latter alone
being but poor food for men working all day and on guard every night.

N
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# 15th.—A cossid, to our great joy, came in this morniog after a lapse of 20
days ; eould have hugged the old rascal, although I knew him tobe the greatest
of spies. A letter arrived by him from the Political Agent saying, it was con-
templated to try and throw in supplies, through the agency of Jeytt Sing, * and
Meer Hussain, to save moving the troops up with a convoy.

¢ }6th,—Another cossid this morning. The system mentioned yesterday of
throwing in supplies discarded, being found impracticable ; and the weicome, most
welcome intelligence of the following detachment leaving Sukkur for our relief;

Detachment of H. M. 40th Regiment,
Ist Grenadiers, 4 Guns,
20d ditto, 200 Horse,
under the command of Major Clibborn, 1st grenadiers ; received intimation that it
was arranged between Hybutt Khan and the rest of the chiefs, that the former,
in making a truce, should encourage us to go out foraging, and then cut us up.”

Old Dodah Murree had first sent a message, stating that if the detachment
would retire, he and his chiefs would escort them to the plains ; and then
intimated, through his brother, that the whole tribe would assemble on the
31st of August, and put the garrison to the sword. Assemble they did—
for another, but not less fatal purpose. From the 10th of August, the stir
and activity in the direction of Nufoosk indicated that some evil was afoot.
A fortnight afterwards, ,Captain Brown was informed by Hybutt Khan, the
friendly chief to whom the flocks around belonged, that the Murrees, mus-
tering 3,000 strong, had resolved to intercept the convoy if possible.
They had determined to have three fights should they at first prove unsuc-
cessful : one at Nufoosk—oae somewhat nearer Kahun—and the third at a
fort still farther in the rear, where they had vowed to stand to the last.
‘We must once more borrow the, words of the gallant commander of the
fortress :—

¢ 81st Aug.— A day of great and almost overpowering excitement. It commenced
about 5 o’clock last evening, when the plains and hills became alive with Beloo-
chees, and at dark, large signel fires on the tops of all the hills. At day-break,
large parties of horse and foot were seen hurrying across the plain to the Nuffoosk
pass; on the opposite side of which, we soon learnt of the arrival of our convoy,
from the report of one of their guns, a signal agreed upon between us ; about sua.rise,
we saw collected on the very top of the pass about 2000 Beloochees, and others
prowling about in all directions ; the distance, asthe crow flies from the fort to the

* Jeytt Sing is a Shikarpore merchant, immensely rich, and has great
4 'd

sway with all the Beloochees around ; our loss is alwayy; his certain gaing; he
buysback our stolen camels for 15 or 20 rupees, and sells them again to our
commissariate for 50 or 60 Rs ! a positive fact. Meer Hussain I am almost
positive, was the cause of poor Clarke being attacked. and it is fully proved
it was he who led Major Clibborn’s watering party into the ambuscade. I
hope he will yet meet with the punishment he deserves.
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pass, is about 4 miles ; in fact, we were completely behind the scenes, and saw
all that the Beloochees were aty and fully expecting to see our comrades crown the
top every houry we were highly amused and excited—2 p, u. no sight of convoy
coming over pass, they must be repairing the road up—3 *p. u. saw the shrapnells
fiying over the hilly and bursting in the midst of the enemy with the most beauti-
fui effect—5 P, M. still no sight of convoy. Beloochees still crossing the plains
towards the seat of action. Erskine scattered a small body of them with a shell—
8 P, M. heavy firing of guns and musketry for 10 minutes; when all was silent for
the rest of the night, I should be very sorry to pass many days of my life like
this—I would ten th d times r have been in the thick of it; the excites
ment and suspense was beyond any thing I ever felt before ; knowing the difficulty
of the pass, and not seeing our people crown the top, I felt certain there must be
much bloodshed going on.t

¢¢ Sept. 1st.—Not a single Beloochee to be seen on thetop of the hill at day-light
but several passing across the plain in that direction, No sight or sound of convey
all day! Sadly perplexed to know what has become of them ; conclude that finding
the pass too strongly defended yesterday, that they had fallen back to go round by
tbe Deyrah road, as I first recommended.

¢ 2d.—Beloochees in all directions,and busy as bees— Another day of suspense and

excitement  after 11 o’clock they pitched one of our sepoy’s tents about half way
up the hill, up and down which, batches of loaded and unloaded camels are going;
suppose the convoy must have dropped some of their baggage and stores in -the
hurry of their departure, About 12 o’clock much firing commenced and continued
with intervals until 2 p. u. ; from the sound, it would appear the convoy had fallen
back in the direction of the Deyrah road, some 20 miles ; cannot now expect to
see them for the next 6 or 7 days; tantalizing, when they were so close: not a drop
of spirits, a cheroot or acup of tea left, or have we indeed tasted any for some
time ; sepoys very weak from short rations, only 6 bags of flour left, a bad look-
out ; cannot help thinking of our having got our convoy over so snugly in May,
when we had only a third of the number of the preseat convoy. .

¢ 3rd.--Still in susp ; 0o ication from out-side ; all on the look-out,
particularly at night ; upwards of 100 loaded camels going across the plain, being

* Between 2 and 3 o’clock the fight of Nuffoosk commenced.

1 I have since heard some surprise has been expressed that we could ses
and hear Clibborn’s shells, and not rush out to his succour! Had we done so
the labor and perseverance of 4 months would have been thrown away in an
hour, and the Beloochees would have gained the very object they had been
trying for without effect, since the day we entered the fort, namely to entice
us out : but the thing was out of the question. Between us and thepass were
4 miles of plain, } of a mile one of the most dangerous ravines I ever passed
thro’ : a mountain a mile in extent, and last tho’ not least, 2000 Beloochees!
I might perhaps have mustered 100 bayonets, but must have left some 40
sick behind ; but the best reason of all is, thatit was not until the 7th Sep-
tember (8 days afterwards) when we first saw the guns in the enemy’s hand,
that we had the slightest idea of the disaster that had taken place. Up to
that date we anxiously looked out to see the convoy coming round the Dey-
rah road, thinking they had found the Nuffoosk pass too difficult.
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some distance off, whather these are horses or camels cannot be clearly ascertained
without a glass, persuaded the people in the fort that they were the former, altho’
the sepoys made the shrewd remark, that they uever saw horsemen look so large,
or go along one after the other so regularly. About 20 borsemen with 8 or 10
spare horses came down from the hill to water near the fort, looks as if the owners
of the Istter had been killed—2 bodies carried across the plain on charpoys, with
a kind of funeral party following them ; suppose they are two chiefs. At3 p .
saw a large body of Beloochees pitching a sort of camp within 13 mile of the fort,
no mistaking our sepoy’s teuts, also one officer’s tent, 5 of the former and 1 of the
latter, exactly the number they took from Clarke’s party, trust they are those only,
but appearances are very suspicious, Just as it was getting dark, saw the whole
body assembled in one dense mass, in front of their tents; warned all hands to
keep a bright look-out when the moon goes down.

¢ 4th,—To.day some horsemen came and informed us ¢ that they had cut up our
¢ convoy, taken the gunsand all the stores and supplies, and had killed all the
¢ gahib log except 3, who were prisoners in their camp’’—=in proof of which as-
sertion they offered to show the guns to any person I chose to send, who ceuld
slso bring a chit from the prisoners—This offer however I refused, firmly believing
the report to be altogether untrue, and made with a view of getting hold of one of
my people for information, They also said, that if T would leave the fort and go
to the plains, they would not molest me—we had a very heavy fall of rain about
4 . m.—More tents springing up in the Murree camp, about 300 Beloochees seated
on a rising ground on one flank-~great amusement in watching their movements ;
baving a good glass, we could almost see into their very tents.

“ 5th.—A person came under the fort calling out, wishing to give us the news ; had
had already quite enough of these people’s stories, so sent a bullet or two after
him, to hurry his departure—all in the fort sadly perplexed to know what to think
of affairs—Beloochees on the move in every direction—100 passed this morning
in the Deyrah direction, the road from which we are expecting the convoy—the
Beloochees do not seem in good spirits, not like men who have destroyed a large
convoy—there has evidently been mischief some where—a storm occurred about
4 o'clock, which to our great delight blew down all the Beloochee tents; they
however soon had them up again,

# 6th,—No grain left for camels or bullocks, and little or no forage—they must
take their chance, poor creatures; nothing now left but a few bags of rice and 3
or 4 of flour—10 bags of the latter, which were thrown aside as being half sand,
now cameinto use, and were greedily devoured by the sepoys—a camel-man shot
himself, being detected in a theft.

¢ 7th.—Half expected, on taking a look at the Beloochee camp this morning, to
find them all decamped ; but a sad reverse met our sight—The three guns belong-
ing to the convoy staringus in the face! they are placed on a piece of rising
ground on one flank of their camp, their muzzles pointed towards the fort. What
can have become of Major Clibborn and his convoy? Many officers and men
must have lost their lives before they gave up the guns! There is no doubt now
that sonething most disastrous must have occurred, and we must prepare for the
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worst. Sepoys keep up their spirits amaziagly well, not the slightest sign of
flinching, altho’ they seem to be aware that their situation is rather perilous:
luckily they cannot see the guns with the naked eye, on account of the jungle.
There are chances in our favor yet, and that the guns will not be of much use
to them, lst, they may be spiked, 2ndly, they may have no ammuaition, and
lastly, they know not how to load or £re them; luckily they are howitzers instead
of field pieces; 10 A. M. all the Beloochees are assembled round the guns, snd
peeping into their muzzles, quite playthings to them,

¢ $th,~—Small parties of horsemen prowling all round the fort, watchiog us I sup-
pose, knowing we must soon take to flight for want of provisions ; they need not
be in such a burry, as we have still some rice and gun bullocks left.

¢ 9th.—Loaded camels still going across the plain, 2 Beloochees mounted on
artillery horses; no mistaking them from their size and their having blinkers on,
which they were determined should not escape our sight, as they galloped up and
down in front of the fort for an hour,

¢ 10th.—Our old friend Sheer Bheg came in this morniag, but in such a suspi-
cious manner, that I put him prisoner ; he tells us, the Beloochees’ report of having
destroyed our convoy is all true ; he meations poor Raitt and Moore as being two
of the killed. '

¢ 11th,.—DMade some horsemen, who were grazing their horses rather too
close, scamper off, and received much abuse from them for my pains. The
Murrees acknowledge to their having had 80 killed and 80 wounded in the fight.
Our old acquaintance Hybutt Khan aad his sou are, it ia stated, both killed, also
Kurreem Khan, who superintended the slaughter on the 29th Junge.”

We must now leave off for a little the narrative of the heroic defence of
Kahua till some account be given of the unsuccessful attempts for its relief,
terminating in the bloody action at Nufoosk.

A force consisting of 1,000 bayonets, with artillery and irregular horse, bad
early in August been warned, by Brigadier Stevensbn, for service amongst
the hills, The lamented death of that able and amiable officer transferred
to the hands of Major Forbes the crude aand incomplete arrangements so
imperiously required to be put into effect without a moment’s delay. Major
Forbes, a man of prudence, spirit, and activity, reached Sukkur on the 6th
August, a complete stranger to the country ; and on the 9th, by the casualty
just alloded to, found himseif senior officer in Upper Scinde. (13) The
first step ke took was to recommmend that the garrison should not be relieved,
but withdrawn. Having been informed by Lieut. Postans, Assistant Poli-
tical Agent at Shikarpore, that Mr. Ross Bell had given the most positive
orders for the maintenance of the Murree fort, he had no alternative left him
but to use all dispatch in preparing a force for its succour. The detach-
ment, which was allowed no more than 36 hours for preparation, consisted

13. Letter of Mr. Secretary Willoughby, 2d June 1841, in reference to the
Mioute of the Clibborn Commission.

Al
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of the 1st Grenadiers and flank company of the 2d, mustering altogether
about 600 bayonets, with three 12~pounder howitzers,—this being the utmost
number of fighting men which could be equipped at Sukkur at the time;
with a convoy of 1,200 camels and 600 bullocks under their charge. This
large train of animals, stretching over a space of four miles, where the Passes
compelled them to move io single file, was considered no more than neces-
sary for maintaining the garrison reinforced by the escorting party for the
space of two months which they had been commanded to remain. The de-
tachment and convoy left Sukkur on the 12th, and reached Poolajee on the
20th. Here they were joined by 200 of the Scinde and Poonah Horse, un-
der charge of Lieutenants Loch and Malcolm. This raised the force to a
strength of 850 fighting men. The heat across the desert was in the last
degree oppressive ; but as the marches were accomplished under night, the
encamping ground being taken up by sunrise, no accident of note occurred
on the first part of the way, Oao the 24th August they left Poolajee, and
for the next six marches traversed a wild and mouatainous country, abound-
ing with water and furage, but where no human habitation was observa-
ble. (14) The march before reacking Surtof, 20 or 30 Beloochees who
followed them with a view to plunder, were surprised by Lieut. Loch, and
eight of them killed. Oa arriving at the scene of Lieut. Clarke's disasters
they found the bleaching bodies of the dead Sepoys scattered everywhere
around ; the guide giving a very clear account of the manner in which the
sad mishap occurred.(15) A heap of stones was shown them under which
poor Clarke had been buried by Meer Hussein, the gnide now in attendance.
Fragments of his dress were recogaized scattered amongst the accoutre-
ments and bodies of the brave men who had fallen around him. The 30th
of August was occupied in getting the convoy and guas up the ghaut,—the
latter had to be dragged by the men, suffering from the excessive heat of an
August sun reflected from the rocks around,—the laborious task was com—
pleted by 6 p.x. At night they slept on the table-land which stretches from
the top of the Surtof te the bottom of the Nufoosk Pass six miles beyond.
No water was to be found nearer than the bottom of the ghaut, which it had
taken them all day to ascend. The men were under arms a great part of
the night, the Beloochees keeping up a fire on the camp and picquets from
the opposite side of an impassable ravine. The march towards the Kahun
hills was commenced at two in the morning. As they approached Nufoosk
the heights weve seen covered thickly with the enemy, who shouted and

14. The description of the march is tagen from a letter of a very accomplished
officer of the force. It appeared in the Bombay Times of September :—of the
engagement, from this, and from Major Clibborn’s despatch.

15. See above, where the ,gulde's account is embodied in the narrative, along
with that of Captain Brown’s Journal.
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flourished their swords in defianceas we came on, while a beacon fire, lighted:
up on the highest summit, called the scattered Murrees to the slaughter,
The road lay along the hase of the precipice, over ground intersected with
ravines and nullahs, in one of which a gun which overset caused considerable
delay. A heavy fire was meanwhile maintained from the hills, where the:
enemy were screened by the shelter and within the crevices of the rocks.
On arriving at the bottom of the Pass, they found the zigzag road, formerly
made by Lieut. Facob up the steep, and by which Capt. Brown had ascended
with so much difficulty, cut across and blocked up—unfit for the advance of
camels, much more of guns, and ouly admitting men in single file. The
ascent, half a milein length, was abrupt in the extreme. Worst of all, their
apprehensions of want of water, which the late rains half led them to expect,
were realized. Captain Brown had written on the 27th, that owing to the
recent fall, water was likely to be plentiful: a single pool, which could only
be approached under the enemy’s fire, was all that could be found—and this
was speedily exhausted ; and the puckals, or skins, they had brought along
with them had leaked or dried up, and were nowempty. It wasten o’clock A.M-.
~the heat was becoming dreadful, and it was obvious that some immediate and
decisive step must be attempted, or the troops would speedily perish of thirst.
It was half-past one before the rear-guard, consisting of a company of the 2d
Grenadiers, one howitzer, and the Poonah Horse, came up. The guns had
been placed in position to enfilade the summit of the Pass in front, and
immediately on the arrival of the rear-guard, the storming party, consisting of
the left and flank companies of the Ist and 2d grenadiers, were told off.
These moved up the hill in beauiiful order, headed by Capt. Raitt, and sup-
ported by 100 dismounted irregular horsemen : a heavy fire of sheil and shrap-
nell being meanwhile maiatained on the crest and gorge at the summit of the
pass. A strong flanking party of 817 was posted at the foot of the ghaut
on the right, who maintained a steady fire on the enemy, while the remain-
der of the regiment was drawn up on the plain facing the acclivity, and pro-
tecting the guns. The storming party gallantly overcame every difficulty,
having forced their way over three tiers of breast-works, topped with thorns
and bushes, built across their path. They had nearly reached the last turn in
the ascent, and were just entering the gorge at its summit, when they were
assailed on every side by a deadly fire from the enemy, and overwhelmed
with showers of stones hurled dowa from the precipices on all around. One
sepoy reached the gap and was seen to fire through it, when the Beloochees
gave a shout and rushed down sword in hand. Captain Raitt had been shot
through the thigh, half way up the mountain, and asked Lieutenant Frank-
lin to lead the advance; but seeing this officer supporting Lient. Williams,
who had just been shot through the heart, he bouad his limb with his hand-
kerchief, and nobly took his place at the head of his men. He and Lieut.
Williams were both killed fighting desperately when the furious rush was
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made on them. Lieut! More received two shot wounds in the body, and
was afterwards cut down. Lieut. Lochy who led the dismounted horsemen,
was severely wounded : he had received a bad sword cut, with numercus
bruises from stones, and was ferced down the hill by his orderly, reaching
the guas in a fainting state. Out of the 100 men he led, 47 were left dead
upon the hill. The Beloochees and sepoys were now mingled together
fighting hand to hand in wild confusion. All the officers, and nearly half
of the men had fallen, when the remainder were borne by main force down
the hill—hundreds ef the enemy leaping from every nook and overpowering
them, Seeing the impossibility of making a stand on the face of the hill,
the flanking party fell back upon the main body of the regiment, firing on
the enemy as they retired. An attempt was made to get into square, but
from the unsteadiness of the many recruits which formed the line, the move-
ment ended in a rally round the gune, now sweeping the plains with grape
shot. The Beloochees, about 800 strong, now came rushing down on all
sides, pouring on our ranks showers of heavy stones, with whick the place
abounded, and charging sword in hand up to the muzzles of the cannon,
which carried destruction amongst them. The fire at length became too hot
for them, and they were repulsed with great slaughter, and fled in all direc-
tions, leaving about 200 dead on the plain, There had been in all upwards
of 150 killed and wounded, including the four officers who had fallen. The
scorching Leat of the day continued unabated, the wind from the rocks was
like the breath of a furnace, and the excessive thirst experienced was intoler-
able, The piteous and incessant cries of the wounded for % water, water,”
were heart rending, Water there was none, yet all were clamorous for drink,
and the small supply of beer belonging to the officers was served out to the
most necessitous of all castes, who grasped at it with frantic eagerness.
Parties with camels and waterskins were sent to seek for water in the ad-
joining nullabs, where the guides reported that it was to be found
within a mile of the pass. The artillery horses, which were in their present
exhausted state unfit to draw the guas, were dispatched on a similar duty,
under an escort of 50 of the Scinde irregular horse. The evening was spent
in collecting and bringing off the wounded ; shells were occasionally thrown
on the enemy, who still kept up a straggling fire from the hills. Party af-
ter party returned with the dismal intelligence that no water was any where

to be found; and to complete their apprebensions, they quickly learned

that the Sowars, who had been sent with the gun horses, had been sur-

rounded in a nullah, attacked, and cut up; through the treachery, as was

believed, of Meer Hussein, a Bhoogtie chief, who acted as guide. The horses

had been carried off: and the camel men and dhoolie-bearers had by this

time nearly all absconded. To make a second attempt on the pass was, under

present circumstances, considered bopeless; had the encwy indeed at this
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time attacked them, the men were so helpless from extreme exhaustion, that
they must have been cut up without resistance. They had now been under
arms and without food for 16 hours; and it was resolved, that if no sup-
plies of water made their appearance before 10 at night, the troops should
retreat. Fifty pounds were offered to any one who would carry a letter to
Kahun, only 14 miles off, advising Captain Brown to cut his way through
and join Clibborn’s detachment in the course of the night, so that the whole
might retire to the plains together. No one would uudertake the task,—
and the garrison now believed to be almost without provisions was neces-
sarily left to its fate: a fate which the providential supply of sheep already
alluded to luckily prevented from being disastrous. At 11 a. m. this brave
but exhausted band moved silently off the ground, carrying with them as
many of the wounded and as much baggage and convoy as could be collected
and transported. Fortunately no obstruction was experienced; on reach-
ing the top of the Surtof Pass, 7 miles in the rear of the scene of action,
all discipline was at an end. The sepoys were frantic with thirst, an
rushed furiously down the hill, leaping like madmen into the pools at the
bottom. At this time the rear was attacked by a large body of Beloochees,
who appeared no one knew how or from whence. The flash of musketry
was seen along the whole face of the hill, and the slaughter amongst the
followers was severe, The men recovered themselves the moment their
thirst was slaked, and, haviog formed a hollow square, waited till day-
break should afford them a sight of the enemy, These, however, disappeared
before dawn, carrying with them the whole of the remainder of the convoy
which had fallen into their hands in the confusion of the night. The sepoye,
before leaving Nufoosk, had been directed to put three or four days’ supply
of flour into their haversacks, but most of them had been too tired to do so,
and they now found themselves absolutely in waant of food. The tents, trea-
sure, guns, and ammuaition, every thing in short which constitutes the
materiel of an army, had been lost. The men only escaped. Fortunately
there were still a few camels remaining, and 8 number more joined on the
road, as did also 35 gun-horses believed to have been destroyed. With such
scanty means as these a forced march of 54 miles to Poolajee was before
them. They started at seven, and sheltered themselves under some ta-
marisk trees during the heat of the day. Still occasionally fired at by the
enemy, and seeking refuge behind rocks and banks from the fierce rays of
the sun, they arrived at their destination on the night of the 2d Septembver,
having accomplished a march of betwixt 60 and 70 miles in the course of
48 hours. Four sepoys died of heat on the way, and Capt. Heighington was,
from the same cause, afterwards struck with apoplexy, which proved fatal.
The total loss in killed was 177—72 were wounded. The casualties amongst
the camp followers is not known, they must have been numerous. The losa
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of baggage was estimated at £15,000. (16) The enemy lost 350 of their
bravest warriors, and amongst them were several chiefs. After a short rest
the detachment returned to Shikarpore, 50 miles off, a week afterwards,
where they joined head-quarters at Sukkur without further accident.
Returning to Kahun, where we left Captain Browa and his gallant party,
grieved and disappointed, but not dismayed by the blight their hopes of
relief had sustained, we find them making the most of the live stock they
had obtained possession of so unexpectedly, and still on the alert—cheer-
fully waiting for what might befall. On the 12th the Murrees began to
move away the captured guns, which till then had remained in position in
sight of the fort; and the day after the warriors themselves dispersed. On
the 17th official intelligence of the full extent of Major Clibborn’s disaster
was received from the Brigade Major (Forbes) at Sukkur, who intimated
to Captain Brown, that he might use his own discretion as to abandoning

16. The loss was estimated by the Agra Ukhbar at six lakhs (60,0001.) and
as a considerable show of details was then given; this has generally passed
current as cerrect. The following is from an oilicial statement in the hands of
government : its accuracy may be relied upon ; ’1ts amount, as given in the
text, being about one quarter that of the Ukkbar’s estimate.

Dholl..esessessesses 8,000 1bs. at 16 1bs. § oz. per Rupee........... Rs. 494 3 3
RiCO veereres eeonn80,480  soe 20 e cacrnesn do seessecrsaen 2793 3 6
Flourm.sonenesee82,200 oo 33 3 oo do siivinn. 2446 6 9
Ghee...omreneree 760w 4 vvemvees 40 erveee.. 1200 3 4
Salt vuoerrseonees 3250 e 200 iiiii0ee O seienienn, 16 110
GraMl  seeeeo0neerd0600 .o 33} ceivernens do crverssnnaee 1,208 5 0

JOWAITEE ceveeee . TT,840 o0 - 43 teennens A0 eeeme ueey, 1,801 13 0

Total 9,960 4 8
From this should be deducted six days’ rations of troops, followers, and cat.
tle, paid daily into the commissariat treasure chest.
The camels taken into the hills were—
CoOMMISIALIAL.ee ceevescrssonserseraraseses soroee 978
Sick from Lheree w.coee. vee esevosese 150
Private camels .. cccvnnececensroscnnronees 50

——

1178
Died on the road above ......... 130} 330
Brought off carrying wounded ... 200

—

Estimated loss at Nufoosk— 848

Graifleceieees soseerencsessesssnncre e soe sosoas svssenes sosseses R 10,000
Camels 848, at 75 Rs, a camel .. 63,600
Bullocks 600, at 8 Rs, each ........ ceses seueoon 4,800
Gun Horses 25, at Rs. 300 each ... . censesane 7,600

Irregular do 30, at 120 each...... ve seneeee s senvesenres 3,600
Routies old 40, at Rs. 50 each cveee vere covnrerrnnvrsane 2,000
Three Guns, at Rs. 1000 each..icce s ceenvrercssecnsens 3,000
Private baggage and miscellanequs items........ ... 34,000

Total Rs. 1,50,000
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the fort. It was ascertained, that by reducing the men to quarter rations
and eating up the gun bullocks, they might contrive to subsist on this fa-
mine fare till the 15th October; and so it was determined that the fort
should be maintained, unless honourable terms were offered. The old chief
Dodah sent a message through Shere Beg, intimating that he had twice
before, just after the fight, offered to grant any terms we should desire,
provided we would quit the country; but that we drove his emissaries
away, and that he was now ready to agree to the arrangement sug-
gested. This was no offer of our seeking: the opening was fair:
and our position not likely to improve by delay. Captain Brown therefore
wrote in reply, ¢ Dodah Murree, I'll give you back jour fort, on con-
ditions, viz.—that you give me personal security for my eafe arrival in
the plains: if not, I will remain Lere two months longer, having provisions
for that time.” On receiving this, the whole of the chiefs assembled,
and, after consultation, took an oath on the Koran that, if he would leave
the fort in three days, they would protect him to the plains : they wrote to
this effect immediately, concluding that “ whatever Captain Brown's wishes
were, should to them be law.”” Immediately after the arrival of this, a letter
was brought from Dodali himself, in answer to that which had been written
to him, containing an agreement on oath, and promising to send his nephew
to pay his respects, and see that the terms were observed by the people of
the tribe. From this to the conclusion of Captain Brown’s adventures, we
must draw on his journal, which no longer admits of abridzment.

¢ 25th Sept.—Replied to Dodah’s letter, to the effect, that I would give up
the fort 3 days hence, on the above terms. Surprized at their letting us off
80 casily, viz. simply to return to the plains without let or hindrance from his
people, on condition of giving up the fort, which Dodah must well know we
cannothold a month longer ; plenty of room to suspect treachery, but we
must run therisk. This evening Guamaul Khan came near the fort, and sent
a message to say, that he feared to ventureinside, but that if 1 would meet him
outside without my troops, he would ratify the agreement. Wishing at once
to see whether it was to be ¢ treachery, or no treachery,’ I agreed, and with
Erskine and 4 native officers, met him about a mile from the fort. Ineversaw a
man in such a fright in my life. Altho’ he had 30 horsemen, armed to the teeth,
and there were ouly 6 of us, he rctreated twice before he would venture near
us! He thought from ourcoming alone, there must be treachery; that some
men were hidden somewhere : even after we had met, he had his horse all

ready close by for a start. Down we all gat in a circle. A wild scene; his fol-
" lowers appeared to be exceedingly well armed and all fine stout built men.
After compliments, &c. the nephew began to talk very reasonably. He ex-
pressed ahope that ¢ there would now be a lasting peace between his tribe and
the British : that they had only fought 2t the Nuffoosk pass to save their
country, and their lives ; that it was the least they could do, when they had
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the fate of Bejahkhan staring them in the face. That they had never killed
any of our people after the fizht, and that all the prisoners had been fed,
clothed, and set free” He concluded by saying that ‘he should remain near
the fort until we left, to prevent any disturbances between his people and
mine ; and that he would furnish me with trustworthy guides down.” There
was not the slightest appearance of treachery. Thus ended this most interest-
ing conference. It will not, I think, be easily forgotten by either Erskine or
myself. Somuch depended on it, the fate of ourselves and the whole of the
detachment. We found these Beloochees the most civil and polite of men !
Tho confidence we placed in their word, by meeting them in the way we did,
scemed to please them much, and from having been deadly enemies for 5 long
months, became in one hour the best of friends ; no doubt their joy was just
as great in getting rid of us, as our’s was in obtaining our freedom.

¢ 26th and 27th.—Most delightfully employed in preparing for a start ; only
10 public camels left, and those as thin as rats; none here procurable —the
number of sick amounts to 40, and these require 20! Then there are the
rations, ammunition, both guns and musket, water and tents. In fact, I found I
could not move without sacrificing all private property and half the am-
munition and teats; obliged to call on officers and men to give up what
private camels they had—this was most willingly agreed to ; and all kit, even
to our bedding, was left behind —the gun ammunition I was obliged to take, as
I rather expected opposition from the Bhoogties, through whose country we
had 40 miles to go. At first we were almost afraid we should not be able
to bring down the gun from the wretched state of the bullocks, and weak-
ness of the men—however we determined to try, and leaving the waggon and
forge-cart behind, picked out 30 of the best for the gun alone—the sepoys
thinking we were going to leave it behind, came and begged me not, as they
themselves would drag it down and defend it with their lives! When Erskine
was burning the forge-cart and waggon, the Beloochees outside thought we
were setting fire to tho fort, and sent to beg us to spare it.

¢ 28th.—Turned our backs on Kahun this morning at 2 o’clock. Much trou-
ble in getting off, in consequence of the number of sick : obliged to tie some
of the poor fellows on the camels—commenced the ascent of the big hill at
6, aud after immense fatigue and labour, got the gua to the top by 2 ». m. The
sepoys were regularly overpowered with fatigue half way up—the call for wa-
ter now was dreadful, all that I had brought with me in the mussucks being ex-
pended. About 9 o’clock about 300 Beloochees had assembled in our front,
rear and right flank, perched onthe top of the hills ; they seemed highly amused
at our getting the gua up : but when they saw the sepoys completely done
up with thirst and fatigue, they called out ; ‘ah! you will never get the gun
down to the plains, you had better give it to old Dodah.,'—I offered them
money te show us some water, they said they would for 1,000 Rupees ! After
some talk they agreed to show us some for 100 Rupees, which was immedi-
ately given them,—there was just enough to give cach man a handful or so
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and then they set to, and got the gun up. Ireally thought at one time we
must have left it behind. At the very top of the pass were about 50 of
Hybutt Khan's followers; these men swore we should not go any farther
until we had paid for the flock of sheep we captured on the 13th Augusi ;
however, whenit came to the point, and seeing the gun too close to be
pleasant, they thought better of it; and begged a few rupees for Hybutt Khan’s
family, who they said, were very poor; it was as much as Icould do to
restrain myself from giving this party a round of grape. It’s well I did not
perhaps, as it would most likely have embroiled me with the rest of the tribe,
and my detachment was not in much of a fighting eondition! It was now ¢
r. u. and we had still to descend the Nuffoosk pass to some water, which our
Murree guide reported wasin abundance 3 miles from the bottom, in conse-
quence of much rain having fallen.(17) Commenced descending, when a spec-
tacle, the most horrible to beconceived, met our sight ;: the bodies of all
ourpoor fellows, both officers and men, who fell on the 31st August, lying *
unburied with all their clothes on ! having been merely dragged off the road
—Raitt’s body was the first, being almost on the top of the pass ; through
this dreadful scene, we had to lower our gun down the hill, inch by inch—I
would have given worlds tohave buried the poor fellows, but this was out
of the question ; we had then been 14 hours under arms, and had still to
seek for water, besides which, we had no intrenching tools. The bodies
were lying on heaps, which shows what a bitter fight it must have been. The
Murrees spoke highly of poor Raitt’s bravery in being at the head of all ; they
had buried all their own dead at the bottom of the hill, but although I offer-
ed them any money they choose to ask, they refused to bury our’s in conse-
quonce of the state of decomposition they were then in. After much labour,
got the gun down the hill and proceeded on along the table land until?
o’clock, when we found water in abundance, in a deep water course, on the
bank of which we bivouacked for the night. Altho’ the men had had no food
all day,theyall (save the pickets) immediately fell asleep, without tasting
a bit : they had been 19 hours unier arms, the 1st bugle having been
sounded at 12 lastnight. Had this water been found when the fight of the
31st took place, what a different tale would have been told !

17. This appears to have been the passage seized upon by the Court of
Enquiry for the famous deliverance which amounted to this—that Major
Clibborn was culpable for not kecping a sharper lock out for water : the
men who were perishing with thirst might, according to the report, have
found water within 300 yards of them if they had looked for it! There is
no doubt of the fact, if they had just remained where they were 28 days long-
er, till after the rains hadfallen! This entry of Captain Brown, together
with that of the 9th, 10th and 11th May, will give some idea of the difliculty
of foreing the pass of Nufoosk ! )

* Since writing this, I am happy to say I have succecded in getting all our
poor comrades buried—their remains now lie in one large grave in the ground
on which they fought so gallantly—~Mundoo Khan, the nephew of Beejah
Khan, accomplished this desired object for me, in which he was assisted by
some of the Murrces engaged inthe fight. )

B
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¢ 29th,—Marched this morning to the top of the Surtoff Mountain, 4 miles
descended hill, lowering gun down with drag ropes ; reached bottom at 10
o’clock ; on examining one of the gun wheels, found the iron work of the
axle-tree box split in several places; to all appearance it seemed impossible
to repair it, or that the gun could travel any further ; but Erskiae by great
exertions, got it bound up, and on we went again, starting at 2 p, M., but
did not reach our ground until 10, having lost the road, got jammed in
between ravines—I should have wished to have made only one march a day,
in consequence of the weak state of the men, bat there was no help for it,
on we must go, nightas well as day, having only 2 days provisions with us,
Here no water was procurable; luckily the sepoys were so done up, that
they soon fell asleep, and forgot all about their thirst. Received an express
from the Assistant Political Agent, warning us to expect opposition from the
Bhoogties, whose country we are now in; not in much of a fighting train,
half the men being on camels, but with the gun I think we have not much
to fear from them.

¢ 30th.—Started at 5 4. . and arrived at 10 at a beautiful stream of water
-—on this march I was obliged to throw away all the ammunition, save afew
rounds of grape, otherwise I must have left 8 or 10 sick behind—men and
cawels regularly gave in during this march, and how we got all safe up, [
hardly know—Remaining with the rear.guard, I cheered them on as well ‘as
I could—one poor fellow died on the camel’s back. Our Murree guide, who
had behaved as yet very well, did an act of extraordinary kindness for a
Beloochee : hearing that one of our people was left behind for want of car-
riage to bring him on, he went back of his own accord, mounted him on his
horse, and brought him into camp, walking himself by hisside. From this
ground, sent off an express by our Murree guide, (the only man who would
venture) to Poolajee, for some spare camels and gun bullocks, and we pro-
ceeded on another 8 miles at 4 a. u., getting to some water about 10 o’clock.
i * October Ist.—Started at 3 a. m. and marched on 8 miles—soon after our
arrival, to our great delight, up came our Murree guide, with some Scinde
horse, spare camels and gun bullocks—proceeded on to Poolajee at 4 r. M.,
reaching that post at 12, distance 14 miles ; on coming ous of the hills into the
Plain, fired off our howitzer to give notice to our friends at Lheree, the head
quarters of the 5th Regiment, of our safe arrival.

* Thus after a detention of 5 months in the fort of Kahun, was our escape
from that position and the Murree hills, accomplished. The [hardships and
privations circumstances forced on us, were most cheerfully borne with by
all.  After the attack on Major Clibborn’s party, it often appeared impossible
to expect a release, yet not a murmur was heard. Or no one occasion had
Itofind fault with the men, and the alacrity and cheerfulness with which
they performed the exceedingly onerous duties which I was forced to exact,
reflects, in my humble opinlon, great credit on the Kalee (5th) Pultan and small
detac.hment of Artillery. Of the constant aid afforded me on every occasion
by Lieut. Erskine and Dr. Glasse, I note nothing ; it can never cease to be
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¥resh in my memory; and their rank is too near my own to admit of my say-
ing all I could wish or they deserve, even in this my private Journal.”

The admirable conduct of Captain Brown earned for him the thanks of
Government and the cordial applause of India at large: and he was im-
mediately created Brigade Madjor, in Scinde, in room of Major Boscawen
just then promoted ; he was aftsrwards raised to the rank of Major by
Brevet, and appointed to the command of the Bheel corps in Guzerat.
Nor admidst the obloquy endeavoured to be heaped by a section of the ad-
wirers of Lord Auckland’s policy on the Affghan tribes, who dared to
resist the invasion of their country, did the generosity and honeur of the
Murrees, and their aged chief, wholly pass unpraised.

Though Dodah the Murree chief, and Beebruck theleader of the Bhoogties,
had been induced to allow military posts to be established in their respec—
tive holds of Kahun and Deyrab, neither of them had ever made submission
or acknowledged supremacy.(18) With our retirement from the country,
the objects for which our troops were sent there—if indeed these
had ever been understood—appear to have been eatirely forgotten. We had
taught the hill tribes two lessons, which were new to them and fatal to us ;
~—they had learned that representatives of the British government could
tamper with truth, and give justice to the winds; that we could break our
pledges, and press demands, at the bayonet's point, of tribute which had
never beea our due ; and that if they took advantage of the natural strength
of their fastnesses for the purposes of mountain warfare, they could compel
us on any oceasion to capitulate, or turn us back upon our path of conquest.
The nation which, throughout the East, had hitherto been knowa as *‘ im-
mutable in faith, invincible in arms,” was found failing in both beyond the
Iodus!

The capture and imprisonment of the Deyrah chief Beebruck has already
been referred to: in the instructions furnished to Major Billamore, it was
stated that the Bhoogties and Murrees not only plundered in the plains, but
gave shelter to robbers, and received stolen property. They were believed
to have robbed us of as many as 5000 camels (1 1) and they had given refuge
to Beejah Khan, a notorious freebooter.(19) This man was a chief of the
Doemkees, and in consequence of his power and activity he had been for
some time acknowledged head of the tribe. It was said he could muster

18. We once more draw for our facts on the admirable store supplied by
the Cutchee letters already repeatedly referred to. The writer subscribing
himself « Nufoosk,” (Times, 19th June, 1841,) states that « the placing of military
plcl)sts within the hills was not thought of till after Major Billamore’s return to
the plains.”

19. Catchee Letters, No, I. ; for the most part greatly abridged—in part,
however, copied verbatim.
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200 followers for a foray into the plains. Various attempts had in vain besn
made to capture him, At last he was induced to submit; but fearing trea—
chery, he stipulated that Umeer Shaw, a renowned Syud (lioly man) should
accompany him to an interview with the British authorities. Conceiving
that, with a companion the sacredness of whose person assured him of pro-
tection, he was safe, he proceeded to Shikarpore with his nephews and a
few followers, He was received as became the head of a warlike clan, and
for four days was treated with all honour by Lieut. Postans, the Assistant
Political Agent, whom he visited daily. On the fourth day, while paying
his respects to the resident as usual, he aud his attendants were seized,
without reason or warning given, and thrown into the prison at Bukkur,
where they were detained for many mouths,—their horses, arms, and orna.
ments being sold by public auction! The order for this was given by Mr
Bell, then at Sukkur, 25 miles off. The whole of the tribes regarded it as
a direct breach of promise towards a man who defied us to capture him ; and
who, on stipulations being granted, volun-arily came into our camp. The’
same view was taken by the oilicers of the force; and if we are to judge from
results, perhaps at last by the chief political himself. Tho money arising
from the sale of the horses and other property was at Lheree paid over to
the chiefs some time after their liberation ! (20) This much of explanalion

20. This is -the version of the Cutchee letter-writer, whose narrative has
throughout been very closely adhered to. The subjoined passage isa correction
on this by one of the Assistaut Political Agents furmerly in Scinde :—

¢ In June 1839, Major Clibborn moved, intending to proceed to the Hills;
but was unable from climate to proceed farther than Shikarpoor from Sukkur,
losing on the way 1 officer, and 14 men. Beja Khan Doomkie was the most noted
freebooter of the plains; and was the object of the movement, as he alone caused
us a loss of about 2 Lacs of rupees. le was offered by Government Rs. 3000 a
month to leave his nefarious practices and engage to protect the road between Shi-
karpoer and Dadur. Bejarefused to do so by letter, and accompanied his refusal
with fnsult ! As soon asthe cold season however sct in, Beja sent earnest peti-
tions to be allowed to come iny which was refused unless with conditions, The
1st Assistant theny with three or four of the Khyeeri tribe proceeded to the haunts
of the Doomkie, who fled. The Khyeeries afterwards fell into an ambuscade pre-
pared for them by Beja, and were defeated. The detachments under Major Bil-
lamore were then pushed across the desert, accompanicd by the Vst Assistant ; and
the Jekranee chiefs; after several encounters with our Horse, aud being pushed to
desperation for want of food, surrendered thewselves to the Political Authorities,
and Bejali Kban, the Doomkie chief, aftera pledge sent to him verbally through
Ameer Shan the Syud, to the effect that his Ufe should be spared, but without
othier conditions, also surrendered himself to the same authority, in his oun coun-
try st Shapoor, At his time he was in open hostility with us, and had been
warned, that if he persisted in his freebooting practices, a price weuld be set on
his head—Beja Khan was geat in a Prisoncr to Sukkur under astrong guard
comminded by Captain Erskine, aud he was followed, as speedily as possible, by
the Assistant Political Ageut. Previous to Beja’s surrender, Mosjor Billamore
marched into the Hills, and as the most imnportant object was then cousidered to
be the negotiations with the Doomkie and Jekranee tribes, the Political Assistant
did not consider himself authorized to leave the plains until this duty was pers
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in reference to these chiefs is necessary, beeause their case was repeatedly
referred to by the Murrees in their negociations with Captain Brown; and

formed. The want of ¢ Judgment’ of M:jor B. at Deyrah in departing from
his orders, which were specitic to use the mosr conciliatory measures only, was the
sole cause of the catastrophe which easued.”.—Bombay Times, May 26, 1841.

This letter elicited the following reply from Lieut. (now Major) Jacob :—

¢ Str,~—In your paper of the 26th May, which I have just received, I perceive an
assertion, given on the authority of a correspondent on whom you say you can
place very implicit reliance, that ¢ The want of judgment of Major Billamore
at Deyrab, in departing from his orders, which were specifie, to use the most
conciliatory measures only, was the sole cause of the catastrophe which ensued,’

¢ Actacks on the dead are seldom creditable, and at least should be founded on
truth, In this instance your correspondent is altogether mistaken, and I beg
leave to contradict his assertions most emphatically. L was on very intimate terms
with Majer Billamore during the whole time he was employed on the service in
question, and well acqaainted with the iustructions received from the political
authorities ; I can positively assert that be neither ¢ departed from his orders’
or displayed ¢ any want of judgment.” His instructions were ¢to use concilia«
tory measures, but to resist insult or aggression to the utmost.” The latter
words are not alluded to by your correspondent—for reasons best known to
himself ; but I can distinctly declare, that the most conciliatory ineasures were
used by Major Billamore uutil the attack made on him at Deyrab by the whole
Bhoogtie tribe. An imperfect aecouut of Major Billamoere’s proceedings in the
Hills was givensome time since in your paper in a letter signed ¢ Nwoosk ?
that account is eorrect at far as it goes, and was written by we ; the circumstances
described in it will shew, not only that Major Billamore did not act with want
of judgment, but that any other line of conduct but the one he pursued would,
in all probability, have eusured the loss of his little detachmeat.

¢ Very many members of our little party in the hills alas | are dead, but there
are enough left to bear witness to the truth of what I have said above, and I trust
they will do so.—1 am, Sir, your most obedient servaat,

® Quetta, 18th June, 1841.” ¢ J. Jacos, Artillery Lieut.”

¢ Str,—1In continustion of my letter of yesterday’s date, I beg lvave to point
‘out other inaccuracies in the letter of your corressondent therein alluded to.  Your
correspondent says ¢ The first assistant then, with three of the Kbyeeree tribe,
proceeded to the haunts of the Doumkee, who fled. The Khyeerees afterwards
fell into an ambuscade prepared for them by Beejah, and were defeated. The
detachmnents under Major Billamere were then pushed across the desert accom-
panied by the first assistant, &ec. &e.’

* On this I must remark, that the haunts of the Docmkees extended over the
whole plain of Upper Scindey so that it is probable ¢ the lirst assistant® did visit
some of them. But the Head Quarters of the tribe, and Beejah Khan himself,
were at Poolajee, and did wot fly until the very cay before Major Billamore
reached the place ; when they set fire to the town, went into the hills, and encamp-
ed iu a ravine some twelve miles distanty, which camp was visited some days after-
wards by Capt. Browa aad myse.f. It was after this that the * first assistant’
fiest visited Poolajee, The Khyeerees were put to flight by Beejah Khan may
days after the arrival of Muajor Billamore at Poolajee, and the Major was actually
present under arms in the tield at the time with his wuole forece, yet your correse
pondent gravely writes, after meutioning the defsat, ¢ The detachments under
Major Bilamore were then pashel across the desert.’ There are other insc-
curacies in your correspondent’s letter, but 1have meationed ouly those of which
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will indirectly fall to be spoken of in another point of view. The distrust
occasivned by these disingenuous proceedings was one great source of our
difficulties throughout the next twelvemonth of almost incessant fighting.
The secret of the almost instant pacification which ensued on the resignation
of Mr Bell, and continued to the close of our connection with the country,
arose from the thorough restoration of eonfidence by the appointment of
Major Outram. This officer was well known to them; they placed the
most implicit reliance on his assurances—whether promises or threats,—and
they found that in this they had acted right.

In December, Captain Brown, who had been placed in political employ
by Mr Bell, was sent on a mission into tha Murree hills to negociate terms
of friendship, on condition of their returning to us the guns captured at
Nufoosk. Mr Bell himself took up his quarters for a time at Lheree, and
expected that the Chicfs of . the hill tribes would come in and render sub-
mission, as a considerable force was collecting in the neighbourhood for the
purpose of coercion, if necessary. Beebruck was not yet at liberty, though
now present with the Chief Political Agent, and so great was the distrust of
his neighbours and friends, that tkey, angious to see bim, could in nowise
be induced to come within four miles of the Residency, though Captain
Brown had gone out almost unatteaded on purpose to induce them. This

I was an eye witness, and in which 1 was a party concerned, Verily your cor-
respondent’s facts appear Lo be of equal value with his opinion of Major Billamore's
judgment at Deyrah, But perhaps no one but a Political oflicer is, in Upper
Scinde, allowed to possess the faculty of judgment ]

¥ The cause of our reverses was at onc time Walpole Clarke’s rashness, now it is
Major Billamore's waut of judgmeot which caused the ¢ catastrophe !’ Why these
repeated accusations ageinst dead men ? the snswer is obvious,—they tell no
tales. Poor Clarke had been concerned in many a dangerous adventure before
he ever saw Upper Scinde: his daring was so different from rashness that I
doubt if many cocler or more far-seeing soldiers of his age ever existed, Major
Billamore judged wrong in not allowing himself to be destroyed without resistance
at Deyrahi! But where was the judgment (setting aside the question of breach
of faith) displayed in the imprisonment of Beejah Khan and Janee, or in writing
submissive letters, in the name of the British Government, to Dodah Murree
after the affair at Nufoosk, or in many other instances I could mention? Had
these efforts of wisdom no influence in bringing about the ¢ catastrophe’? Your
correspondent is apparently a political officer, and perhaps not unacquainted with
¢ the first assistant’ of whom he writes. Let him make himself acqusinted
with the opinion of the Home Government with regard to the ¢ Judgment’of the
statesmen of Upper Scinde before he presumes to lay the blame of their acts on
the memory of gailant soldiers uow deceased—Let your correspondeat also appear
in his real name.

“ Anogym‘ous accusations are in general little attended to ; and nothing but your
grave Editorial remark ¢ that your correspondent’s communication is a valuabl
fragment of history,—’ together with my own personal knowledge of its calum-
nious nature, would bave induced me to come forward in this instance to defead the
character of deceased friends. I am, Sir, your most obedient servant,

« 3. Jacos, Artillery Liows.”
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officer proceeded about 20 miles into the hills nearly alone, and then at
length a secoadary Murree Chief was prevailed on to visit the British Resi-
dent. To urge the return of trophies taken in fair stand-up fight seemed
unreasonable—our guns could never be used against us; they had been
placed in a mosque as trophies, and were valued by them and worthless to
us. This point, therefore, was abandoned. Two Chiefs at length visited
Mr Bell in January 1841 ; they pledged themselves on the Koran that they
and their respective tribes would abstain from plundering on the plains, and
questions of tribute and allegiance were carefully avoided, This was ealled
submission ; and so the curtain drops on the affairs of the Murrees, with
which we found that we bad no further occasion to interfere,

The Governor-General, it is said, was never officially informed of the in-
tention to demand tribute from the Murrees, and he is believed to have been
greatly offended with the whole proceedings. These events occurred simul.
taneously with those terminating with the surrender of Dost Mahomed,
narrated in the previous chapter, and with the occurrences about to be enu-
merated in connection with the affairs of Nusseer Khan of Khelat, which for a
twelvemonth kept Scinde and Shawl in a state of incessant conflict. The
Deyrah and Kahun episode stands by itself, and apart from the rest : it would
be incomplete without a short notice of the proceedings of the Court of En-
quiry appointed to investigate the causes of the loss of the convoy at Nufoosk.
Major Clibborn, in closing his despateh, earnestly solicited that a rigid
enquiry should be instituted in regard to his conduct as the unfortunate com-
mander of the convoy: and the solicitation was immediately complied with
by the Supreme Government. Not that there was any charge or suspicion
of culpability or mismanagement, but with a view of silenciog obloquy where
it was unmerited, and of bringing to light the sources of misarrangements
somewhere supposed to exist. Major-General Brooks, commanding the
field-force in Upper Scinde, was instructed to nominate the officers required
to constitute the court, over which he himself was appointed to preside, and
to proceed with the investigation without delay. (21) From the tenor of
what has already been stated, it will appear that the party whose character
was chiefly implicated throughout fer the primary occupation of Kahun,
the determination to provision and reinforce the garrison when the military
authorities were of opinion that it ought to have been withdrawn, and others
of the unwise measures which led to the result of its final abandonment, was
none other than the chief political agent himself. It has been repeatedly
stated that Mr Bell was an able maa : he had a singular facility of gaining

21. The Members of the Court were Lieut.-Colonel (now Major-General
Valiant, H.M.’s 40th ; Lieut.-Colonel Wymer, 30th Bengal N.L ; Major Farrel,
6th Bombay N.I.; and Major Lloyd, of the Artillery.
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the mastery over weaker minds with whom he came in contact, when he con.
ceived it to be his interest to bend them to his wishes. The use made by him
of the influence thus obtained was, on the present occasion, in the last degree
unjustifiable. The Chief Political, who was one of the most vindictive of men,
had special grounds of grudge against Major Clibborn, on whom he appears
to have determined now to b2 avenged for the share taken by him in the most
indecent controversy betwixt the political and military chiefs the preceding
year. Captain Clibborn was, in 1839, Brigade-Major to Colonel Gordon,
and gave some of the most important evidence before the Court of Enquiry
inrefutation of Mr Bell’s charges against that officer. (22) General Brooks
was at this time understood to be entirely uader the thumb of the political
agent ; and three out of the five officers, who constituted the commission,
were at the date of the enquiry residing under his roof. The court
having adjusted preliminaries, Major Clibborn read over a statement
of the case, the correctness of the whole of which was deponed to by every
one of the surviving officers who had been present with him at Nufoosk,
These gentlemen were afterwards examined, but that apparently with the
view to inculpation rather than for the eliciting of truth. Major Forbes,
then commanding at the station, and Lieutenant Postans, the chief political
assistant at Shikarpore, also at hand, the conduct of both of whom became
the object of special observation, were called on for no explanations, al-
though it afterwards became apparent that they could fully exonerate them.
selves of the charges brought against them. Dr Kirk, (23) who had accom-
panied the detachment, had made numerous and valuable sketches of the sce-
nery, and thesc, when produced in court, were considered evidence of the exis-
tence of water, against the testimony of the living witnesses who deponed that
there was none. By a singular fatality the report of the Commission found
its way into the newspapers before it had reached the hands of Government,
This of itself immediately demanded investigation. The matter was involved
in mystery, and clouded with a grievous amount of mis-statements, (24)
and though the manner in which it obtained premature publicity was never
officially accounted for, it was perfectly well understood by the publie.

22. The whole correspondence on this subject, together with the evidence
referred to, was published in the Bombay Times, May, 1841.

23. This very talented officer was seut on mission to the Court of Shoa in
Abyssinia along with Major llarris, &c. in May 1841,

24. The sensation this matter created for many months warrants us in en-
larging on it more than its impertance demands, as connected with the Affghan
war. The report was dated 20th Nov. 1810, and it appeared in the Bombay
Courier newspaper of the 19th Dee. :—the post occupying 15 days from Sukkur
to Bombay. Itappears as if the copy meant for Government had been kept
back on purpose until the public should have seen the newspaper account. It
was known to have been handed about for some days at Poonal before being
sent {o Bombay.
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The Court having closed its enquiries, met after a few days’ adjournment
to report proceedings, when the President, on taking his place, produced a
paper which he said embodied his opinion, and that if the members approved
it would be adopted as the report of the Commission ; or, if it was not 80
adopted, each member ghould give his opinion in writing. The document
in question, the same as was afterwards published, having been read, and
the members having been called upon, beginning with the youngest, each
gave his agsent without commentary. Colonel Valiant was the last called
upon to vote. He declined adopting the report, poiuting out its irrelevaney,
and calling attention to the numerous points which appeared wholly unsup-
ported by evidence. The President replied that some of the matters ob~
jected to were notorious throughout India, and being irritated at the ob-
joctions being pressed, Brigadier Valiant having remarked that were the
rveport forwarded to Government in its present form, it was sure to be re-
turned disapproved of--General Brooks replied that in this case he should
himself be answerable for it,—so the objections were no longer persisted
ir. (25)

The commissioners were required to meet again and reconsider various
points in their original report, which appeared to be set forth, on some occa—
sions, without any evidenge whatever, and on others, in the teeth of that
which had been laid before them. Their revised finding was much the same
as the first report, and on the parts on which they offered explanations or
attempted to adduce evidence, matters were made worse. The whole was ulti-
mately laid before the public in an admirably written Government Gazette of
the 8th of May, 1841. It were too tedious to go over the whole entire, and
the notice of a few isolated points will sufficiently indicate the character of
the paper. Lord Keane’s conduct in supplying the commissariat the year
before, was declared to be the origin of the whole mischief, This assertion
was made, without an attempt at proof, in reference to the character of a
party already beyond the cognizance or jurisdiction of the court, and who
had quitted Iudia five months before the Kahun expedition was undertaken.
Col. Stevenson, whose lamented death on the 9th August, before the army
started, might have saved his memory from aspersion, was blamed for send-
ing Captain Brown into the hills, although it subsequently appeared in -
evidence that this was done by order of Mr Ross Ball. (26) Brigadier
Stevenson and Major Forbes were both blamed for not baving made Captain
Brown aware of the dificulties of sending him- supplies, so that he might
have put his men on half or quarter rations early in August. From Captain

25. Gemeral Valiant’s report, dated 18th June 1841—Government Archives.
F%. Mr, Secretary Willoughby’s lettcer in reference to the report of Major
orbes. 1
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Brown’s journal, so often quoted, and then at the command of the commis-
sion, had they desired it, it appeared that it had been intimated, so early as
the 4th June, that no assistance could be sent from Sukkar, and that he, of
his own accord, and in consideration of the extreme isolation of his position,
had put his people on half rations on the 24th of May! The court, in its
original finding, declared that Major Clibborn, in his choice of the Nufoosk
instead of the Deyrah route, placed too implicit reliance on the guide, Meer
Huseain,—it was subsequently shewn that Meer Hussain joined the party two
marches from Nufoosk : in their revised finding, they state that it wae not this
man but another named Buchan Shaw : Government declared this wholly un-
supported by evidence ; other things were declared on equally or still more
questionable grounds, of which government afterwards stated, that ¢ they
deeply regretted to find this court, composed of five field-officers of rank and
experience, could, on such grounds, have recorded as a fact that which was
not a fact, &c."’(27) The court blamed Major Ciibborn for not having been
guided by the drawings of Dr Kirk, by which the difficulties of the passes
were wanifested, —the drawings having in fact been made on the ad-
vance ; Dr Kirk never having traversed this route until with Major Clib-
born's party. The court, in their first finding, observed that Major Clibborn,
before entering the Murree hills, had been warned by Captain Brown that
the Murrees were assembling : in their second, they admit that they came
to this conclusion from the circumstance that a rumour to that effect pre-
‘vailed at Hydrabad, 250 miles off; in the end of Aungust. Captain Brown
declared, that not only had no such warning as that referred to by the court
ever been given by him, but that, on the contrary, he had written to Major
Clibborn on the 27th August, that he had Zeard that the road had not been
destroyed, and that the Murrees were not assembling, and that water might
be expected, as heavy rain had recently fallen. Captain Brown was present
in court, and had been examined as a witness. Major Forbes was censured
for having sent out a force, under half the size of that ordered by Brigadier
Stevenson, and without consulting the political authorities ; as also, for the
cumbrous magnitude of the convoy, as 200 camels would have been sufficient
to provision the fort of Kahun for three months. Major Forbes proved
that instead of a force of 1200 bayonets, six guns, and some irregular horse,
having, as stated by the court of enquiry, been actually equipped by his
predecessor in commaud, that no arrangement up to the 10th of August had
been made for its equipment; that the number of bayouets warned was
1038, and not 1200 : and that the amount of stores and camels was no more
than was essentisl to relieve and provision Kahun, and subsist the escorting
party. (28) Lieut. Postans had named a much smaller force, to which

27. Governor in Council’s Minute, 7th May, 1841.
28, Mr Secretary Willoughby'’s letter.
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Major Forbes, of his own accord, had added one third. These explanations
on the part of Major Forbes,—who, till he received the commission’s report,
never suspected that he could bave been condemned unheard, when on the
spot to offer explanations, if required,—were not sent in till afterwards,
Gen. Brooks having declined to receive or forward them to government.(29)
These most extraordinary proceedings wero clearly exposed, and most
severely and justly censured, by a very clear and able minute of the Bombay
Goverpment, which, while passing high and merited encomiums on Major
Clibborn and the officers and men under his charge, directed the im-
mediate removal of Geueral Brooks from his command, and the retura of
Colonel Valiant to tho Presidency. The conduct of Government was greatly
approved of by the Governor-General in Council, the Court of Directors,
and the Horse Guards, and was as decided as it was upright and energetic.
General Valiant had been on the point of protesting against the whole procced-
ings, when unhappily he permitted himself to be conecussed into acquies-
cence by some inaccurate and confused ideas of the duties of the members of
a court of enquiry ; he conceiving it to be essential that an apparent unan-
imity should exist. The junior members of the court appear to have homo-
logated the report as drawn up without their assistance, and presented to them
by the President, who took on himself the responsibility of its aceuracy, with-
out giving themselves the trouble of examiuing into its conteats, or reflect-
ing on the monstrous natare of the pruceedings to which they were making
themselves parties. This, at all events, was believed to be the only explanation
of the conduect of Colonel Wymer, Majors Farrel and Lloyd, officers of sound
judgment and unimpeachable integrity, and who, had they been unprinci-
pled enough to have made the judgment of a court of inquiry the means of in-
dulging personal animosity—~misconduct of - which o one suspected them—
it did not appear that iu this case there existed any such feelings as those
towards the parties concerned, to gratify. Of course, what has just been
stated is no sort of excuse for the solemn duties of a court of inquiry having
Leen trifled witb—the ends of truth and justice perverted, and the charac-
ter and prospects of officers, as hooorable as themselves, destroyed by the
tiat of a military commission. The report to whose accuracy they solemuly de-
pened was, from beginning to end, a tissue of walignant falsehoods, and
which, if attered by the hunblest subaltern, would, if enquired into, have
nccasioned his dismissal from the service. Had the whole of the officers
who constituted the Nufoosk commission been removed from the service,
the punishment for so grave and mischievous an offence conld not have
becn considered too severe. That General Brooks was, at this time, a
tool in the hands of Mr Bell, is sufficiently notorious; but lus conduct

29. Mr Scerctary Willoughby’s letter.
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notwithstanding this, is far more reprehensible than that of the other mem-
bers. As the President of the court, and the party who was entrusted
with the selection of its members, and the guidance of the forms of its pro-
cedure, ho was peculiarly bound to be circumspect. He, at all events, must
have known that much of what was charged against the parties inculpated
was unsupported by, much more in the direct teeth of, the evidence adduced ;
and that, instead of searching for information, or desiring to discover truth,
the parties who could have assisted them in attaining these were avoided to
be inquired after. Mr Bell was the only man connected with the affairs of
Scinde who escaped all notice——a circumstance in itself sufficient to have
awakened snspicion. Though afterwards brought, in the most irregular
manner, ioto the field as the voluntary accnser of Lord Keane and Sir T.
Willshire, it does not appear that he ever experienced a frown from his
superiors, and, at all events, he was maintained in high and confidential em- .
ploy as if no suspicion had ever been entertained of his unfitness for service.
General Brooks returned to Bombay along with Colonel Valisnt in Feb.
1842, and left for Europe on the 1st May, having completely lost the con-
fidence of Government. Colonel Valiant, as a Queen’s-officer, received a
reprimand from the Horse Guards. He was Commander of the garrison of
Bombay from February 1842 to March 1843. He had been raised to the
rank of Major-General on the brevet whieh oecurred on the birth of the
Prince of Wales. This is, however, anticipating in point of time: in the

next chapter we shall have occasion to mention the names of both officers in
eonnection with the affairs of Scinde.
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CHAPTER V.

Genealogy of the Khans of Kelat—Doubtful extent of Mehrab Knhan's treachery in 1839-His
preparations for defence sudden and imperfect—His death - Escape of his Widow and Son—
Unsuitableness of Newaz Khan to rule over the Brahoes—Lieut. Loveday appointed Envoy
—Dismemberment of the Khanate—S8harawan and Cutchee made over to the Shah 8hoojah
—Cutchee given to the Indian Government by the 8hah-—Rent exacted trom the free Jagheers

Resist the q Bad selection of our Native agents..Mahomed Sherreef,
villany of—~Revocation of jagheers—The Chiefs left in ignorance of the change in their con.
dition—Customs of the port of Las ceded by Newaz Khan to the British Government—

Claims are abandoned— Nusseer Khan pursued—Vengeance inflict=d on those who protected
him—Unhappy proceedings of Licut., Loveday—Kakura threaten Quettah—Reintorcements
arrive from Candahar—~Insurgents retire from Quettab and invest Kelat—Pusillanimity of
the Envoy—Lieut. Hammersley defeats the insurgents at M '3 t pts at negoti
tion with Captain Bean--Lieut. Loveday and Mr Masson put in close confinement—Insur-
gents proceed to Moostung—Mi derstandings in negotiating with Captain Bean~Depute
Mr Masson as Ambassador--He is placed under arrest on suspicion of beiog a Russian spy—
Proceedings connected therewith— His release—Combination of mishups—Large reinforce-
ments sent to Scinde—Brahoes attacked and defeated at Kundah—Liecut, Vardon attacks and
defeats them ncar Bhag and captures 1100 camels—XExpertness of the Enemy in seizing
camels experienced by Major Boscawen— Sack of Gundava—Three days’ fighting round Dadur
—The enemy on cach ion defeated—Loss estimated at from 300 to 400~Murder of Licut,
Loveday—The insurgents disperse—Nusseer Khan lett a wanderer—General Nott recap-
turcs Kelat—Geuneral Brooks, Brigadier Valiant, and Major Holland, leave Bombay and join
the force— Views of the Politicals towards Herat—Colonel Marshall takes command of the
Kotra Brigade— Negotiates with the enemy~-Nusseer khan makes submission—Receives
pecuniary assistancc—Ordered by General Brooks, who was ignorant of pending negotia-
tions, to be attacked~Brilliant victory at Kotra— Entire dispersion of the insurgents—A
large reinforcement moves towards the Belan Pass—Colonel Stacey improves the aspect of
affairs at Kelat—Cutchee affairs—Seebee tribute—Detachment advances on Kojjuck—Misun -
derstandings, and attack on the town unsuccessful—Inhabitants abandon it—Occupied by
our troops —Reinforcements arrive—Kojjuck sucked and burnt—Submission of the Beeb

Gunjani—Herat affairs—Troops ascend the Bolan Pass—Fxpedition to Neosky—Acci«

dent in the Bolan to Captain Haldane’s lrregulars—8imilar accident in the Khyber Pass—

Generul Brooks -nd Colonel Valiant deprived ot their cominand-Surrender of Nusseer

Khan-~Death of Mr R. Bell—Major Outram takes political charge - Restoration of Nusseer

Khan—Coronation at Kelat—General state of Affairs—Memoir of Major Qutram.

Since the earlier portion of the present narrative was issued, the va-
luable work of Mr Masson, entitled * A Journey to Kelat, &c.,”" has been
published. By this, many important facts have been disclosed, of which the
public were previously ignorant. Theso have‘been taken advaptage of at
the risk of some repetition ; and where present statements differ from those
formerly given,—as, on oune or two points, chiefly of awplification, they may
chanee to do,~~the newer is to be regarded as the more correct version of the
matter. The Cutchee letters have been consulted with more care and
winnteness than formerly, and the information supplied by them, which
may hitherto have been overlooked, has been embodied in the present
Chapter. The first fow pages of the following chapter, in consequence of
these thiags, are in part retrospective, and ought perhaps to have taken
their place in that part of the narrative where the earlier portion of the
affairs of Kelat are discussed. (1) The following genealogical table of the
rulers of Kelat, copied from the work of Mr Masson, will save the trouble
of much explanation and reference :—

1. These lctters have been referred to in a previous chapter, in connection
with the procecdings in the Murree country. ‘Lhey arc of unquestionable
authority, and their writer now holds a high appointment : the revelations
they make are most mourntul and dishearteniug ; yet their accuracy will, wo
doubt not, be amply borne out by the papers in the archives of the Board of
Control, as we are sure they will be by every officer in the Scinde ficld force
who had the means of making himselt acquainted with the subjects of which
they treat,




oENEALOGICAL TABLE,

SHOWING THE DESCENT, 0N THEMALE SIDE, OFTHE PRESENT CHIEF OF KELAT'PROM ABDULAB KHAX.

Abdulab Khan slain io battle ot Jandsir
|

Nobabat |Khan, tigned some
timg at Ralat; superseded by
bis brother, Nasir Khan, and
lied, a howtage, at Kandaher,

|

-
Haji Kiin, died, 8 hos-
fige, t Kanlabar,
t

— e

Elars Khan lin acedentlly by bis broe
ther, Nasir Khao, when both were hstages
at Kandahar; from bim descend the Eltars
L fmiles of Baghwan and Kot

Nasir Ko, ongma]ly 8 hoslage
Randaba, supemded b bother
Mobabst Kban, sad roled sbout
foty years,

Mahmud‘ Kban  Msbomed Rehim Khan, sin ~ Mastapha Kb, tlai by hisbro-
roled at Ralt by sster of Mistapha Koo, ther, Mahomed Rk Kb,

| ] |
Barham Koo, originallya hotageat Kan- e Khan* sl Asem Kban,  Sinfrus Khan, diny ¥
i, ool asetd s hiusto  onthecapure of bis ngatHae  Mebrab Kb ot the O

the soveoment with Nasie Kbao and bis  caplal by theBritih, I,
wi, Vit Bha, Dled at Kalat,

-7-.._——

Abmel lar Khany lsn by Nehrab Kban
tiesecond year afer hisaceesion
|

Shab Nowaz Khan. Pt K|han.

S—— —

W

same time with Abmed
Yar Khan,

Hassen Bban, presnt clllief of Klat, with
the assumed name of Mir Nasi Kban,

Retained in captivty by Mehrab Khao, from whic they esespd ; tempararly placed in power by the i,

* Nebrab Khan b four wive, 1. A danghter of MastaphaKbau,theBeebeeGanJam ) Adanghterof Jam Alylte relepof
Las 3. A duughterof Elars Kooy dbmed i of K, t0d motherof hlsaon,l\usseer Khan,thepreseutkhan 4, A duughter

of Aus| Kban, Shirwani now s cipple
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From this, it appears that Mehrab Khan was descended from the younger
hranch of the family, and his suceessor on the throne from the older, yet the
ancestor of the latter had been set aside by the progenitor of the former,
four generations back, and the legitimaey of the succession had never, since
the reign of Nusseer Khan, been called in question.

At the time the British army crossed the Indus (Dec. 1838) the Kelat
durbar was filled with councillors hostile to their own ruler, and anxious for
an opportunity to betray him into any difficulty which might redound to
their profit or advantage. The incessant misunderstandings which arose in
our attempts at negociation seem in a considerable measure to be acecounted
for by this, without imputing to the Khan a greater amount of duplicity
and cunning than might have been expected and excused in an Asiatic chief
under the circumstances. (2)

‘When Mehrab Khan heard of the intention of our march upon Kelat, he
sent his son to collect troops. This step was opposed by his councillors,
but the chief replied, that though be had given no cause for enmity, as we
proposed attacking him he would defend his throne. Kelat had fallen
before the desired levies could be brought into the field, and on becoming
aware of this they departed without coming into action. (3)

The women of the harem had made their escape before the fall of the
fortress :—the Beebee Gunjani, one of the widows, shortly after claimed
the protection of the Scinde politicals, and for a time resided in
Cutchee on a pension allowed her by government. She joined the
followers of her stepson, Nusseer Khan, when the insurrection broke o1t
in June, 1840. The young Khan, aspirited and intelligent boy of fourteen
years of age, sought refuge amongst the chiefs who had been his father's
friends, and who speedily became the objects of our vengeance in conse~
quence of the hospitality exercised by them towards the fallen prince. Newaz
Khan, the destined successor to the throne, quickly joined the army, and
was duly invested ruler of Kelat, and vassal to the Doorannee empire.
This man, who was one of the few of our protegees who did not re-
quite our kindness with ingratitude, was ill suited for sovereignty over a
people so flerce and unruly as the Brahoes, who, though aware of his being
of the roysl line, could in no shape recognise his claim of right. The
bad odour attached to him of being our protegee, and the suspicion
of his having made over to Shah Soojah the more valuable portions of
the sovereignty: besides, he himself was unwarlike; he had acquired no
name or position, and had no respect amongst the chiefs. The territory we
committed to him was not only poor and sterile, but eminently hostile. A
loan of £5000 was considered sufficient to enable him to set up a royal es-

2. Masson, p. 383.
3. Cutehee Letters, No. 3,— Bombay Times, May.
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tablishment. The jeweis which belonged to the women of his predecessor,
which were secured by us as prize property, had brought us more than this.
For repayment of the sum just named he was to make over to us the rights of
the customs along the sea-coast, which had been abaudoned by the sover-
eign balf a century before ; but of this more hereafter. It wasa part of
our agreement with him that he was to expect no assistance from us
to maintain him on his throne. Lieutenant Loveday, a young Bemgal
officer of some distinction as a Persian scholar, but beyond this eminently
ill qualified for the post assigned him, was appointed political agent to re-
side at the Kelat court; he was supplied with 60 sepoys as a guard of
hopour, and this, with the terror supposed to invest our name, was all that
was considered necessary for sccuring the stability of the new dynasty, and
to ensure the tranquillity of eastern Beloochistan under all the changes to
which we had subjected, or were abont to subject it.

Lord Auckland is understood to have been from the beginning averse to
the deposition of Mehrab Kban : he left, however, an amount of power in
the hands of the politicals which was taken advantage of. Mr Bell pointed
out with fatal aceprsey the mischief, which he himself afterwards hastened
and aggravated, sure to ensue from the dismemberment of the empire just
about to be noticed. (4) ’

The valuable provinces of Sharawan, Cutchee, Haraud and Dajil bad
been conferred by Abmed Shah, on the first Nusseer Khan, for service per-
formed during his wars with Persia. These were to be held by him as
feudatory on the usual terms of furnishing a military contingent to the
Doorannee sovereign, when required. While the monarchy remained entire,
there was a force of 1000 Belooch horse furnished for the .protection of
Cashmeer ; and the Kelat princes had ever been remarkable for the fidelity
with which they fulfilled their obligations to the sovereign. When the Doo-
rannee empire feoll to pieces all semblance of allegiance disappeared. (5)
Sharawan contains a population of about 150,000 souls : it was placed under
charge of Captain Bean, assistant to the envoy, and chief political in Shawl,
Quettah, its principal town, containing about 4,000 people, was maintained
as a strong military post from the commencement to the conclusion of our
connection with the country. Cutchee was taken charge of by Mr Bell; it
contains about 150,000 people, and is so rich and fertile that it has always
been considered the granary of Upper Scinde. Both were transferred to the
Doorannee empire in lieu of a tribute alleged but not admitted to be due.
They wete nominally made over to us by Shali Soojah, and retained by

M4. Letters in Bombay Times, February 13, 1841 : also Cutchee Letters, ditto
ay.

5. Journcys in Beloochistan and Affghanistan, &c., by Chas, Masson, vol. ii.
page 101—quoted, supra page 88, chap, ii.
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us for the liquidation of a portion of his majesty’s debts.(6) Like our otlier
legacies of the kind they proved unprofitable bequests, having cost us in the
course of the next twelvemonth, an outlay of some £300,000 to keep them in
order.(7) The dismemberment of states is not without example in Europe 3
but the precedeats which history supply are not such as moralists refer to
with approbation, or as England would often desire to copy. The fact of
the transfer, bad as it was, was matter of smali account in comparison to
the manner of its accomplishment.

In the large province of Shawl, Jagheers (feudal estates) had been held
for many generations by influential families on military teaure. The
principal chiefs so situated at the period of the fall of Kelat, were
Assur Khan, Rysannee ; Mahommed Khan, Shewannee ; Mahommed
Shye, Rhodeynees ; Buungoolzyrees, &c. These men had made sub-
mission to Mr Bell at Bagh, and proceeded to their estates on the under~
standing, that they were to hold them on the same tenure as here-
tofore. Their surprise and indigration may be imagined when they were
called upon by Captain Bean to pay rent for their hitherto reat-free jagheers.
This demand was said to have greatly incensed the Governor-General, who
reproved it as at variance both with the spirit and tenor of his instructions ;
but the mischief was dene, the mandate had gone forth, and the appearance
of the revenue moonshee sent out to collect the tribute, called down on him-
self and his escort immediate and condign punishment : they were attacked
by Mahommed Khan Sheewannee, near Moostung, and slaughtered
to a man.(8) _A less barbarous and martial race would have remonstrated
and petitioned against the violation of the pledge made at Bagh; but
of orderly and deliberate proceedings such as these the flery chiefs of
Shawl knew nothing : and with arms in their hands they sought, after the

6. Cutchee letters.

7. Friend of India.

8. Cutchee Letters, No. 5, given verbatim. Masson speaks of a party of 25
Sepoys being cut off at Moostung, but says they were a portion of Lieut. Love-
day’s guard going on business to Quettah. We think the two narratives musé
relate to the same thing, and though we have referred to the other, the Cutchee
writer is likely to be correct. 'The party accompanied Captain Bean’s Moon-
shee to Moostung to collect revenue. On arrival at the place, the Moonshee
sent in aud oréered the chiefs to come out and make salaam to Aim ; this they
refused to do, justly saying ke was not their ruler. On this the Moonshee sent
the sepoys to bring the chiefs out: an engagement took place, and the sepoys
were driven back to the house where the Moonshee lived, which they gallantly
defended until destroyed : this was told by a native who was present. The con-.
tinuance of Captain Bean in office, and the obtaining for him a badge of the
Doorannee empire,—the last that was conferred,—is, after the repeated disap-
proval of his acts, and proofs of his incompetency, one of the numberless illus-
trations of Lord Auckland’s character. He in general judged rightly, but
wanted the decision or nerve to put his purposes into effect. Captain Bean
had friends in the Secretariate, and Beloochistan was kept twelve months at
war on this account.

D1
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fashion of their race, that redress which the justice of their cause deserved,
but of which under their new rulers, it did not, or could not, assure them.
They flew to arms, joined their banished chief Nusseer Khan : their cause and
his became identified ; and they quickly avenged their grievances, by be-
sieging their oppressor in his stronghold. The particulars of this fall after-
wards to be detailed. A process very similar to this was meanwhile being
pursued in Cutchee. No intimation whatever was in the first place given
to the chiefs that Catchee had been disjoined from Kelat and annexed to
the Doorannee empire, or that it had been made over by the Shah Soojal to
the Government of India. Not only were the people never consulted ; they
were not 80 much as informed on thess points. It was left to their own sa-
gacity to discover that it was a Briton and not a Brahoe who now ruled over
them. These omissions were trifling compared to the fatal mis takes which
followed. ‘¢ It was peculiarly unfortunate,”” observes Mr Masson, * and
what might and ought to have been avoided, that both in Beloochistan
and Affghanistan the traitors to the old order of things became the
favoured and trusted adherents of the new: as might have been expected,
the confidence so unwisely reposed in them was uniformly betrayed.”
Syud Mahomed himself had beean appointed (by Mehrab Khan) Naib
of Dajil and Hurrand, two provinces beyond the Murree Hills, and east
of them. These provinces he sold to the Seikhs, and became a traitor to
his master. Had it not been for his being a Syud, Mebrab Khan would
have executed him. He was known to all as the greatest scoundrel in the
country.

The treason and perfidy of the Syud Mshomed Sherreef to his late mas-
ters, was, as usual, recommendation enough to ensure him especial marks of
our favour: and we met with the requital which those who patronize
scoundrels are entitled to look for from their protegees, This man was
appointed, by Mr Bell, Naib or collector of Cutchee, and in a country not
famed for honesty, he could scarcely have found a more dishonest or thorough-
bred rascal.(9) The territory whose supervision was committed to his hands
eccupied a space of from 5000 to 6000 square miles ; and over this the Syud
held absolute charge without the controul of a single European assistant.
‘Within a few months of the fall of Kelat, which occurred November 1839, a
letter was addressed to this man by Mr Bell, directing him to inform the chiefa
that all the jagheers were attached, but that they would be restored to the law-
ful claimants on their appearing personally or by vakeel at Sukkur, and prov-
ing the validity of their sunnuds or charters of gift from the Crown.(10) It
does not appear that Mr Bell was authorized by his superiora, without investi-

9. Cutchee Letters, No. 8, verbat,
10. Cutchee Letters, No. 3, abridged,
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gation, te deprive the whole proprietors of a province of hereditary estates
even until their titles should be proved. When the measure was resolved
upon, the best thing that could have been done was to make it kuowa by
proclamation, or in any other way which might render it most public and
notorious. It is more than doubtful whether the Naib ever communicated
to the parties most concerned the instructions he received from his superior,
A fow of the smaller landholders did appear at Sukkur, and had the proper
geal attached to their title deeds; the rest, irritated by having rights ques-
tioned by intruders which had been held undoubted under their native so-
vereign, and maddened by the exactions and insolence of Mahomed Sherreef,
shared in the discontent, and joined in the insurrection beginning in June
to make its appearance everywhere throughout the country. The revenue
from this unjust source which reached the treasury, was insignificant even
at its best ; the frauds and extortions by the Naib were bouadless ; and in
a country where Syuds are almost worshipped, he alone of his class was sub-
ject of universal exeeration. Charges preferrod against him by Europeans
were not so much as listened to ; his knavery was in the mouth of every na-
tive ; his accounts, when called for at length, had to be drawn out afresh
before they could be presented ; like all the others in Cutchee, they remained
for a twelvemonth, if they remain not still, unaudited. Yet no such thing
was ever broached as the threat of his removal from office. Six months af-
terwards, when the chiefs had been driven to rebellion, and 2000 of the
people slaia in battle, an order was issued, though only partially carried in-
to effect, that all the rights which had been held valid during the late reign
should be so still; the whole questien in dispute being, like that of the
Murree tribute, abandoned after we had had our fill of fighting. But we
are not yet done with the schemes which would almost seem to have been
purposely coutrived to drive the country to arms. The customs of Beila
have already just been referred to. This province is governed by the Jam
or chief, on a military tenure under Kelat. From the seaport of Son-
meanee the Khan, some generations back, had received as revenue half
the duties collected—amounting to about £700 annually; these had, in
consequence of an intermarriage with the Kelat family, been made
over to the Jam in perpetuity : his other income derived from his
jagheer amouated to about as much more. So soon as Newaz Khan
was placed in power, the grant of the port duties was declared to be
vesumed ; and they were made over to us for the liquidation of the sum
of £5000 received in loan by the Khan, A British officer, who was direct-
ed not to acknowledge the local authority of the Jam, was appointed to make
the collection. The chief appealed to the Bombay government, and thus
managed to have his case brought to the notice of Lord Auckland, who cen-
sured and reversed every thing that had been done. Infinite alarm and irri-
tation had been at first occasioned; but this act of the Government was
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luckily in time to save the Jam and his tribe from joining the other insur-’
gents against us.

‘When Nusseer Khan escaped from Kelat, on the capture of that fort by
Sir T. Willshire, he sought refuge amongst the chiefs in Panjore: Newaz
Khan soon afterwards set out on an expedition to expel or capture him;
but though this was well planned, the youth had friends who made him aware
of his danger, and 8o enabled him to escape: so that the first expedition in
the new reign was unsuccessful. Enraged at his disappointment, the intrue
sive ruler avenged himself by plundering the tribes which had afforded his
enemy shelter. A large amount of spoil was obtained, and the cruelties
exercised were spoken of with horror long after.(11) A second expedition
for a similar purpose, attended by the like results, and conducted in the same
unhappy manner, was shortly afterwards made to Noosky. The allegiance
of some disaffected chiefs was compelled before returning to the capital. Oa
these occasions Lieutenant Loveday most unwisely accompanied the Khan
~=thus mixiog himself and his government up with ictestine broils in a
manner gaid to have been highly displeasing to the Eavoy and Minister.
Directions to desist from these things for the future, alone prevented further
expeditions from boing engaged in. It did not seem that the son of Meh-
rab Kbhan bad any idea of appearing for the present in arms, or that the
chiefs intended to do any thing more in his favour than to afford him a
place of refuge. Such was the state of matters betwixt November 1839 and
June 1840. Lieut. Loveday appears to have occasionally suffered from an
unsettled condition of miad : helived in astate of the utmost seclusion, enter-
taining constant appreheasions of intruders upon his premises. He seems to
have been a dog-fancier, and to have had with him a number of specimens
of the fierce bull and mastiff races. . These he is aaid occasionally to bave
houunded upon the populace, some of whom were worried to death. (12) To
have ferocious beasts set loose upon them, was sufficient to exasperate people
any where: it was amongst Mussulmans a heavy aggravation of the offence,
that these were dogs held specially unclean by the prophet. The conduct
of the Resident appears to have been such as to have occasioned excessive
discontent : and the evil deeds of himself and the chief, to whose court he had
been deputed, caused hatred and scorn to be mutually reflected on each of them.
The garrison of Quettah had in May consisted of the Shah’s 1st or Royal Regi-

11. Masson, p. 112,

12. Masson, p. 119. Masson’s authority on this point we understand to
be confirmed by at least one of the political agents who had the best means
of being informed. We are bound to state, at the same time, that much of
what is alleged against Licutenant Loveday is believed to have had its origin
amongst the Brahoes, who were glad to propagate every variety of calumny
against hiw, to excuse their own cruel treatment of him. A cawel man who
had been in the employment of Lieutenant Loveday, stated at Lheree that the
dogs destroyed one mau : this was afterwards confirmed by a native of Moostung.
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ment, commanded by Captain Griflin, the 1st Troop of the Cabool H. A.
under Lieut. Cooper, and the Bolan Rangers. These were shortly reduced
by dispatch of troops to Candahar, so that by the middle of July, the force
was diminished to 250 infantry, 80 horse, and 3 guns. The young priace
Nusseer Khan was immediately summoned from his retreat to head the
malcontents, and form a rallying point for the tribes. The Moostung insur-
gents moved straight upon the capital. Newaz Khan was not slow or indo-
lent in endeavouring to collect troops from amongst the villages, Perso.
nally he was uapopular, doubly so as haviag been forced upon the country
by infidels and foreigners, the conduct of whose representative was enough to
cause general dissatisfaction, His treasury was empty, and his success in
procuring succour commensurate with what might have been looked for
under a combination of circumstances so emionently inauspicious. The in-
surgents meanwhile considering Kelat a secure prize at any time when they
might fiad it most convenient to seize upon it, resolved to direct their ef-
forts against Quettah, which had been nearly stripped of troops; its entire
garrison mustering as already stated, under 400 men. Here a large quantity
of treasure was believed to be kept, and the weakness of the force tempt-
ed to assault. It has already been mentioned thal when it was found
impossible to send Captain Brown relief from Scinde, that Captain Bean
had promised him the assistance of the Kakur tribes, which had been taken
into our pay ; but that this scheme had been frustrated by these very stipen-
diaries turning their arms against us.(18) The Kakurs had been at the same
time engaged in double treaty—they were in terms with Captain Bean to
assist in relieving the garrison at Kahun, and on treaty with the Murrees
to secure its destruction. True to the latter and more congenial alliance,
the first proof they appeared to have intended of their sincerity was the attack
on Quettah, where they Eoped to monopolize the spoil. The earliest assault
occurred on the 22d of June, when the insurgents were repelled with consi+
derable loss, They had taken up their quarters in a deep and narrow gorge
nine or ten miles from the British camp, into which several of them had
introduced themselves, pretending to be friends. These were detained, and
in the course of the night the whole Kakur force, amouating to about 1000
men, advanced towards the town. They came on qnickly, expecting to take
the garrison by surprise, but were received with a discharge of grape, followed
by a brisk fire of musquetry, which disperse:l them at once. They fled to-
wards the hills, pursued by the irregular horse, who cut up a few of them.
The enemy had 20 killed, with 100 wounded and 3 prisoners: we had two se-
poys killed, with 1 gunaer wounded. It was considered expedient, however, to
abandon the lines and place the troops within the walls uatil succour should

13. Vide aute, p. 180.



214

reach from Candahar.(14) Shortly after this, a reinforcement arrived from
the eastward, consisting of the left wing of the Shah's regiment, which had
been detached on duty, and a detachment from Killa Abdoola, under Lieut.
Bosanquet. Thus reinforced, a party was sent out to reconnoitre the enemy
at Moostung ; and the result was that they were considered too formidable
in point of strength to be attacked by the garrison. In this state matters
continued for some time: the garrison at Quettah actually cooped up within
the walls of that town for several weeks together. The assistance of Sala
Khan, a Pesheen chief, is said to have been purchased for £2,000 : he forc-
ed his way through the insurgent host, and brought the effective aid of 600
horsemen to the relief of the garrison. The tribes still pressed the invest-
ment, and had actually prepared ladders for escalade, when disputes arose
smongst them as tothe points which each individual tribe should assail.(15)
Captain Bean afterwards discovered the ladders in camp. Lieut. Cooper
was dispatched from Candahar with a troop of horae artillery to assist Cap-
tain Bean; The insurgents now perceived that all hope of a successful
attack on Quettah had vanished, and about the third week of July they
accordingly broke up and decamped. Lieut. Jackson, with 200 Affghan
horse sent to keep open the passes, had just before cut his way through their
camp; he had arrived in 8 days from Candahar, 13 being in general allowed
for the march, (16) When the tidings reached Kelat tbat the tribes had
retired from Quettah, it was at first conjectured that having been foiled,
they would for the present return to their homes, and defer the execution of
any purposes against the capital which they might bave formed. This
conjecture proved erroneous. About the 22d July the insurgent host
directed their steps to the southward. About the 23th, they appear to have
presented themselves before the walls of Kelat. The uawillingness to
assist Newaz Khan, was on the part of two importaut Chiefs aggravated
when their cordial aid was most to be desired. It now for the first time
transpired that the customs of Sonmeanee had been made over to the
English, and that the estates in Cutchee, had, without any reason assigned,
been confiscated. These things have elsewhere been stated in detail. Lieut.
Loveday in this extremity undertook to interpose his authority, so as to

14, On reference to previous chapters, it will be found that this untoward
event was nearly simultaneous with the general risings betwixt Ghuzuie and
Candabar, and with the earlier hostilities of the Murrees against Captain
Brown: sothatat pdidsummer 1840, when at home Affghanistan was represented
as n a state of universal tranquillity, we had three little wars raging in differ.
ent portions of the Doorannes empire, on the results of two of which we had
no grounds of felicitation.

15. Masson, p. 126—Delki Gazstte, Bombay Times, Sept. 5.

16. 'We have found much dfficulty in making out the precise dates when
t!:ose events ocourred, Masson never gives one. The circumstance just men-
tioned is taken from the Delhi Gazetts of the 26th Aug.
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have matters settled according to the wishes of the malcontents, who were
in this way for the time pacified.

All diligence was used to place the garrison in a state of defence; arms
and ammunition were plentifal, but provisions uofortunately scarce. The
assailants mustered from ten to twelve hundred strong, but had probably
not more than five hundred matchlockmen at arms, while the garrison
mustered about a similar number. This is Mr Masson’s estimate, other
writers uniformly guess them higher—at from six to eight thousand. The
artillery on the walls unhappily proved nearly uunserviceable, For three
days irregular and desultory firing was kept up, when, on the fourth night,
an escalade, which had proved all but successful, fifty of the insurgents
having entered the town, was prevented by the bravery of the resistance of
Lieut, Loveday’s sepoy escort. Fear and treachery had now made their
appearance amongst the garrison. Some days were spent in fruitless, and, as it
appears, pusillanimous and discreditable negociation by the British resident,
who by no persuasion could be induced to support Newaz Khan in his
more courageous determination to resist to the last. At length, money
and provisions having, bit by bit, been g'ven over to the enemy, the town
was taken possession of by permission of the rabble. Shah Newaz, indeed,
had acted with zeal, determination, and perfect fidelity to us throughout, (17)
The communication with Captain Bean had given them no reason to hope
that assistance could be spared them, otherwise the defence might have
been protracted till this arrived. Yet the towa had hardly been surrendered
when information was received that Lieutenant Hammersley, with fifty of
Christie’s Horse, and about four hundred horsemen under Salu Khan, had
sallied out from Quettah, in the direction of Moostung. (18) They came
up with a party of about four hundred of the insurgents, when nearly the
whole of his cavalry refused to charge. The Affghan chief, and British
officer, with a handful of the men, dashed in amongst the enemy, and killed
great numbers : the whole would have been cut up had the troops proved
stanch. Letters had been written by Lieutenant Loveday to Captain Bean,
at the entreaty of the chiefs, offering to make submission, and to continue
at peace with the British Government, provided the removal of Shah

17. For the whole of this we are indebted to Mr Masson’s work. His ac.
count of the matter is unusually obscure. Lieutenant Loveday’s servant
- stated that his master became a prisoner on the 20th August, and that the
Brahoes imiaediately marched to Moostung,which they reached in three days :
this man estimates the enemy at eight thousand strong.—Bombay Gaz., Nov. 30,

18, Delhi Gazette, September 2d. There ecannot have been two similar
sallies by Lieutenant Hammersley. The Delki Gazelts’s jutormation seems
derived from a Quettah correspondent, and appears to be correct. Yet Masson
speaks of Hammersley having 1500 or 1600 infantry and cavalry, with horse
artillery guns. ‘This would have nearly exhausted the whole Quettah garrison,
which, at this time, contained only two weak regiments, with Cooper's guns
and some irregulars,
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Newaz, and the restoration of the son of Mehrab, was conceded to them.
To this Captain Bean replied by expressing his willingness to receive an
Envoy from the insurgents, and his intention to recommend that the son of
Mehrab should be acknowledged, but insisting that a letter of submissive
allegiance should be written to Shah Soojah. This was the rock on
which we invariably split. The Affghan tribes would have submitted to
our direct and immediate rule with comparative willingness: their re-
pugnance to the Government, and their aversion to the person, of Shah
Soojah, nothing could overcome. The chiefs, on receiving this, ex~
pressed their willingness to make submission to the Lord Sahib, as they
denominated the Envoy : he was, they said, the real Sovereign of the Em-
pire, and to him they would pay homage in any form that might be desired
of them, however humble : but the Shah’s conduct to their late ruler had
been 8o base and ungrateful that to him they would make no submission. (19)
Though Xelat had for some time been in the hands of the insurgents,
Licutenant Loveday and Mr Masson were left at liberty, though closely
watched, and their departure preveuted. The Resident at this juncture un-
fortunately wrote to Captain Bean, recommending him to send four hun-
dred Lorse to their relief, and ipstructing them in what manner their
services would be most effective. The messenger proved treacherous,
and the imprudent note was at once conveyed to the chiefs, who
pext night required Loveday to repair to the citadel to pay his rea-
pects to the young ruler. No escort was sent to condact him, and
it was impossible for him to have made his way through the infuriated mul-
titude without danger, so the request was not complied with. Next night a
sharp fire was opened on the residency, which was returned with interest
by the sepoy guard, three of whose number unhappily fell. The mus-
quetry speedily silenced the matchlocks of the enemy, and probably did
considerable execution. The sepoys at length began to desert, and the
Brahoes making their way into the building, longer resistance became fu-
tile. Lieutenaut Loveday and Mr Masson being conducted to the durbar,
were severely reproached by the Darogah, Ghool Mahommed ; by the
others they were received more civilly 5 but were speedily afier placed in close
confinement in a very loathsome apartment. The residency was completely
plundered, and the whole property it contained appropriated by the multi«
tude. From this till about the 20th cf August, (20) various unsatisfactory
interviews appear to have taken place betwixt the prisoners and insurgent

19. Masson, p 192.

20. Masson as usual leaves us entirely in the dark as to dates. From other
sources it appears that Kelat was taken possession of on the 29¢h July, and that
the insurgents reached Moostung, a distance of 90 miles, about the 22d August.
Lieut. Loveday’s servant declared the 20th August was the day on which his
master became prisoner : he had been requested to recollect it. :
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leaders, chiefly with a view of arranging negociations for peaco with the po-
litical agent for Shawl. It was at length resolved that they should move
in a body to Moostung, 25 miles from Quettah, with a view of endeavouring
to promote peaceful negotiations, by being in the neighbourhood of Captain
Bean. From this they were earnestly, but in vain, warned by Mr Masson ;
fresh troops were kuown to be on their way from Candahar ; the insurgent
followers were disorderly and intractable, and the villages sure to suffer at
their hands ; and the approach to the British camp seemed now the most
likely thing that could be devised to provoke collision. Towards the cone
clusion of the march, letters were received from Capt. Bean, and the Brahoes
fearing that Lieut. Loveday might attempt,to make his escape, had him loaded
with fetters and chained to a tent pole. Arriving at Moost ung, Mr Masson
and he were placed in close confinement, with a numerous guard set to watch
over them. Negociation was again renewed, and it is said that Captain
Bean promised to procure the restoration of the young chief to his father's
throne ; he was to hold under the Shah Soojah ; and though Sharawaa and
Cufchee were not immediately to be restored, composition was spoken of. (21)
These were as conciliatory and reasonable terms as could have been desired
—more 80 than might have been expected. A private letter to Nusseer
Khan himself, accompanying this, is said to have occasioned great indigna-
tion amongst the insurgent leaders. By this it was insisted that the Khan
should immediately surrender KXelat—that he should proceed to Candahar to
make his obeisance to the Shah—and that after that he should do whatever
was required of him. On sach conditions were his claims to acknowledgment
to meet with consideration, On these points Mr Masson is our sole authority ;
and incredible as his statements may appear, the most extraordinary nature of
the proceedings was in no shape out of keeping with most of our political
transactions beyond the Indus in the years 1840 and 1841. It was at length
determined that a messenger should be sent with powers to see what could be
effected in the way of personal treaty, and Mr Masson was selected as the
party best suited for this purpose. The negociations appear to have occu-
pied about three weeks in all ; and about the 21st of September the travel.
ler was dispatched, at the request of Lieutenant Loveday, as ambassador
to Quettah, to arrange the terms of peace, when he was immediately placed
under arrest by Captain Bean, on suspicion or BEING A Russtan spx 1(22)
It must here be remarked in passing, that the Russophobia which two
years before appeared to have blinded the understandings of the Teheran
and Cabool missions, had not wholly, though it had in a considerable mea-

21. Masson, p. 244.

22. In a letter from Mr Masson in the Bombay Times of 14th Nov. 1840, we
find copies of letters betwixt him and Captain Bean of the 25th and 26th Sep-
tember. These seem to have been written a few days after his arrival, whicn
probably was about the 21st, as mentioued in the text,

E1l
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sure, passed away. Even the better-informed and more able of the politicals,
who in 1837 and 1838 actually raved about Russia, and saw an emissary or .
8 spy in every ragamufiian who did not choese to give an account of him-
self, or who desired to play upon their fears, still wrote of the advance on
Khiva, and of the dangers of intrigue at Herat, as things for which the Bri-
tish empire had cause to tremble. The printed papers on these subjects
betray much futile fear and anxiety, totally unwarranted by any thing set
forth by those affected by it.

The disease which had nearly exhausted itself in the quarter where it
first broke out, now made its appearance and spread amongst the weaker
minded of the politicals scattered everywhere over the country. That which
in 1887 and 1838 affected the solid and clear understandings of such men as
Sir John McNeil and Sir Alexander Burnes, in 1840 totally upset the
addled brains of such weak-~minded persons as Lieutenant Loveday and Cap-
tain Bean, who seemed to imagine that there was something in discovering,
or oven-in suspecting, Russian intrigue, which allied them, if only in their
frailties, with the more eminent individuals with whom they were now as-
sociated.

The possession of the most unlimited amount of absolute and irresponsible
power in an enemy's country seems besides to have turned the heads of
many of the younger politicals, whose freaks and caprices in the tyran-
nous exercise of the autherity so unwisely committed to them might readily
seem incredible, were our information on the subject one whit less copious or
authentic than it really is. These matters will develope themselves by and bye;
what has been said may be enough to assist us at all events, in accounting
for the conduct of Captain Bean—a singularly weak-minded, confused, will-
ful, and capricious man, who appeared to the end incapable of comprehend=~
ing the absurdity he had committed,

The grounds on which Mr Masson was put under restraint were some
mysterious and discreditable letters written by Lieutenant Loveday—but
afterwards explained away by the writer,—who stated that the conduct of
the imagined spy during the siege had been ‘¢ noble,” and that no suspicion
any longer attached to him ;——and aletter from Major Outram, intimating that
200 Brahoes had assembled in Kej in favour of Nusseer Khan, with whom Capt.
Bean had most unaccountably suspected Mr Masson of being connected.
Major Outram, the moment he discovered the use that had been made of his
letter, hastened to disclaim all suspicion——declaring that nothing was farther
from bis thoughts than to dream of Russian emissaries. Notwitbstanding this
the captive was detained for a period of four m onths in durance, until repeated
references had been made, first to the Envoy, and finally to the Governor-
General, )

No more unpardonable sin could in those days be committed than for a
stranger—~who might, perhaps, make disclosures of mismanagement—to in-
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trude himself into the region of the misrale of the young politicals. Sir W.
Macnaghten had too recently been a close correspondent with Mr Masson
(July 1838), and knew his character too well to sympathise with the suspi-
cions of Captain Bean,—while, at Calcutta, the whole affair must have
seemed absolutely ludicrous. His answer to Mr Masson (10th Oct. 1840)
is as absurd an one as could well be supposod. He stated that he did autho-
rize Captain Bean to detain him until the pleasure of the Governor-General
should be ascertained as to his being permitted to prosecute his travels in
countries subject to the crown of Cabool, seeing that he was without per-
mission to do so, either from the Shah Soojah or the British government !
The Eavoy had all along insisted, when any particular act of wrong was
perpetrated by the Shah on his subjects, that he was an independent prince
with whom we had no right to interfere :—yet here it is assumed that no
traveller could enter the states subsidiary to the Doorannee empire without
permission of the British government! Altmed Shah himself would never
have dreamt that he had power to exclude travellers from Cabool in the most
palmy days of his authority—much more from distant subsidiary states,which
scarcely acknowledged allegiance tohim. The arrogance, as well as the ab-
surdity, of the Envoy's claim, was characteristic of the politicals of the time.
The infirmity of Lord Auckland—which was the bane of his foreign policy
throughout-~was his want of decision of character and determination imme-
mediately to put down what was wrong in the conduct of a public servant. In-
stead of pursuing the dignified course of censuring the Shawl political, and
ordering the immediate liberation of the wrongfully suspected spy, the matter
was referred to Mr Ross Bell,—who, whatever might be his other frailties,
was neither chargeable with fear of responsibility, want of talent, nor deficiency
in decision: Mr Bell, on examining into the facts, saw at once the enormity
of the blunder that had been committed, and the ridicule te which it exposed
its authors and abettors. Mr Masson was so perfectly well known to the
leading politicals and literary men who had been in any way concerned
in the affairs of Affghanistan, his habits and pursuits so familiar to the
literary world, and his journey from Kurrachee to Kelat in April and May
so absolutely void of mystery or suspicion, that it required an amount of per
verseness of perception to extort from it a charge, such as was scarcely cre-
dible even in the political agent of Shawl. The traveller was ordered to be -
liberated without delay, and to be permitted to proceed on his way wherever
he thought fit: a guard being furnished him should he desire to proceed to
Kelat or Scinde. He chose the latter route, and pursued his journey to
Bombay, where he resided for many months, and thence departed for Eng—
land. On the 15th September, the following reinforcements reached Quettah
from Candahar—the Shah’s 2d iufantry, the 43d Bengal N. 1., 100 Sowars
of the 1st cavairy, and two of the Shah’s guns: afew days afterwards General
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Nott joined with the light company of the Bengal 42d N. I., and 80 of the
4th local horse, raising the force to nearly 3000 men of all arms. The Be-
loochees having waited for a considerable time in expectation of the arrival_
of their messenger, at length to their astonishment discovered the mishap
that had so unexpectedly befallen him. A letter received from Capt. Bean
80 incensed the chiefs that they resolved at first to kill Lieut, Loveday on
the spot ; but speedily changed their purpose, determining instead to be
revenged on us by plundering Cutchee, and attacking our troops whenever
they could be taken at a disadvantage: they moved their camp from
Moostuag, and proceeded through the Bolan Pass, determined to inflict as
much injury vpon us as they were able.

These mishaps at Kelat and at Kahun occurring almost simultaneously,
convinced the aathorities of the necessity of immediately dispatching large
reinforcements to Scinde. The 6th N. I. was ordered to start from Deesa
and march by Nugger Parkur, through the sands to Omercote. Captain
Del Hoste was directed to take charge of this regiment in its journey across
the desert. He was left without any directions, save that he shoald take
his own way and conduct the march with as much speed and as little risk
as possible : government felt the fullest confidence in his competence for
the task. The country was then almost entirely unknown; for nearly 100
miles neither villages nor inhabitants were to be found. The heat was
most jntense, the road difficult, and water there was none. With all these
obstacles to contend with, they reached Sukkur in safety under the able
pilotage of the gallant aud distinguizhed officer who had undertaken to guide
them, The 8th, 21st, and 25th were dispatched from Bombay. Betwixt
the 27th January and 19th December 1810, in fact, a force of nearly 6,000
men left the Western Presidency for Kurrachee, in addition to those moved
from the upper provinces ; so that a larger regular army was found essen-
tial to keep the peace betwixt Quettah and Kurrachee, within a twelve-
month of Lord Keane’s return through the Punjaub, than had been thought
necessary for the capture of Candahar, Ghuznie, and Cabool.(23) At this

23. The following abstract of the number of troops dispatched from Bombay
within the period referred to, is from the returns ot the Commissary Generai’s
Ottice :—

Dute of Names of Vessels. Officers. Troops:
Departure.

1840 Eur. Nat. E. & N.
27th Jany.  Ship Hannah...c.ccc seeercnssereresonsisesae.. 10 0 176
1st March Ditto.. ... vee 4 1 273
24th ditto Ship Resolation....csees sonecoae eese 1 [} 72
18th Augt. Steamer Berenice ., 4 3 227

Ditto Cleopatra { 3 3 226

Ditto Barque Benares.. 2 2 as
32nd Augt. Brig Palinurus... 1] 2 68
29th ditto Steamer Berenice... 6 4 272
2ad 8ept. ” Cleopatra.. . 8 6 888
10th ditto Barque Benares.... .. 3 3 164
11th ditto Ship Charles Forbes.. 13 7 492
3ist ditto Steamer Hugh Lindsay 4 0 158
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time, 10,000 camels, at the cost of upwards of £80,000, were ordered to
* be purchased for the use of the army in Scinde,

The insurgents had threatened Lheree, then very weakly garrisoned.
In the 24 week of October they had assembled in some force at Khunda.

On the 14th October a detachment, consisting of Captain Curtis’s Irre-
gular Horse, with a wing of H. M.’s 40th, reached Kundah. Information
having been received immediately on their arrival, that the Brahoes were
approaching with the view of plundering the town, accompanied by a large
number of camels to earry away the spoil, the horse were instantly sent up-
on their track, But though on foot and earefully guarding their camels,
the jnsurgents for some time succeeded in keeping the sowars at bay,
amongst some close thick jowarree jungle, from which they fired their
matchlocks on scouts and reconnoiterers. The Irregular Horse were led
on by Captain Curtis and Lieut. Postans, assistant Political Agent
in Scinde, but the enemy retired too rapidly to permit the infantry
to overtake them in the tangled ground they had now reached. Our
horsemen behaved most gallantly, and the enemy defended themseives with
desperation as they retited. One hundred and forty are said to have been
killed, and 84 camels were captured from them. Our casualties amounted
to two killed and three wounded.(24) Around Bagh, where a detachment
ofthe 5th N.1. was stationed, the same system of universal plunder appeared
to have been practised. FEarly in October the Head-quarters of the 23d
N. L. were ordered to proceed as a reinforcement from Shikarpore. About
the 24th, Lieut. Vardon having been out with a party of Beloochee auxi-
liary horse, met a strong detachment of Brahoes about 20 miles from Bagh:
be immediately attacked, and, after a sharp encounter, defeated them:, cap-
turing 1100 head of cattle, and leaving 235 of their people dead upon the fleld.
Reinforcements in light detachments were now pressing upwards with all
dispatch from Sukkur to the disturbed regions along the base of the moun-
tains. Major Boscawen with a wing of H.M.’s 40th, the whole of the Ben -

27th Sept. Steamer Sesostris.... 3
Diltcf s»  Cleopatra... 5 } 12 897
6th Oct. ”» Zenobia., [ 1 40
10th ditto » Cleopatra.... . 14 [1] 355
15th ditto » Hugh Lindsag...cveee eocvsanse 12 1 90
23rd ditto »s  Zenobia...... . 1 o 47
25th Oect. " Cleopatra..... 16 0 321
1st Nov. " Hugh Lindsay 0 4 250
4th Nov. - Zenobia....... 11 5 550
24th ditto » Zeuobia...... PRI 1) 125
19th Dec. » 8e809triBee,. sscnvernrrencirnnairaee coe 10 2 307
Total 140 56 5568

24. Bombay Gazette,Nov. 9 ; Bombay Times, Dec .2. The latter paper states
that this occurred at Kotrah, and the detachment was that of Major Boscaweun,
i. e. wing of f1.M’s 40th, Bengal 38th, and Poonah Horse ; and that the actjon
occurred on the 18th. The two are agreed as to the general results, cagualties,
&e.
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gal 33th, and some guns and irregular horse, left Shikarpore on the 15th
October, and directed his march towards Kotra; while the Bombay 25th
N. L. were seat to watch the opening of the Moolah Pass to prevent the Bra-
hoes from plundering the country. The latter regiment was on its way
from Kurrachee, and was joined by the right wing at Laikhanah, and thence
proceeded across the desert in the direction of Gundava. On its march
the 25th experienced proofs, which they were scarcely prepared for, of the
audacity and expertness in the art of thieving of the people into whose
country they were advancing. One night about 11 o’clock, a party of marau-
ders came quickly down on the advaucing force, under cover of some jungle,
aud mixing themselves up amongst the baggage-camels in the rear, succeed -
ed in carrying off six of them with their loads before anything wrong was
suspected. A cry from the camel men made the officer aware of the acci-
dent, when the Grenadier company, under Lieuts. Jackson and Phayre, were
ordered back to search the jungle. Their efforts were in vain : they reco-
vered nothing, and only exposed themsciv:s to further risk inthe darkness and
confusion. (25) About 10 o’clock in the morning, shortly after this, a party of
80 horsemen galloped at speed upon a number of camels feeding about a mile
from camp, and, before any alarm could be given, or assistance afforded, they
hamstrung six and carried off two of them, and then made good their retreat.
They were pursued three or four miles but in vain; a sepoy managed to
shoot one of the horses, but the rider escaped. The detachment joined Major
Boscawen on the 31st October. The enemy continued to ravage the country
and sack and burn the villages on the whole line of the advance. Conceal-
ing themselves from our troops during the day, they prowled abroad so soon
as darkness set in, and spread devastation everywhere,

Thedetachment already detailed had reached Gundava under theabove officer
a week before (23d October,) but unfortunately too late to save it from total
sack, and the demolition of all the property contained in it. ** The most de-
termined desire of destruction,” says an otlicer of the force, writing from the
spot(26) * seems to have influenced the rebels in their attack ; they levelled
aud burnt that which they could not carry away; the value of the property
destroyed is abont 3§ lakhs (£35,000 Sterling). The houses of the Hin-
doos had been fired, and the rich and thriving Guodava presented a general
scene of misery and desolation.”” The advance of our troops Was a signal
for the enemy to retire; they fell back on Kotra, which they threatened
with a siailar fate to that which they had inflicted on Gundava ; baut,
furtunately, it was saved. This was the natural but fierce vengeance the
Brahoes took oa the estates of which they had just before been so iniqui-

25. Letter from an officer of the 25th N.L. ; Bombay Times, Nov. 21.
26. Letter from upper Scinde ; Bo.nbay Time?, Nov. 11.
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tously deprived byus. We had stripped them of their heritage without
cause, and they resolved our plunder should not profit us.

On the 28th October, the Brahoes, amounting to betwixt 4800 and 5000
men, emerged from the Bolan Pass under Nusseer Khan, and took up a
position two miles to the south of the mouth of the defile, near the en-
trenched camp at Dadur. The force in camp numbered about 575200
of the 5th, and 225 of the 28d N.I., commanded by Captain Watkins of the
latter corps, and 120 of the Bengal Local Horse. On the 29th, they ad-
vanced to the attack at first steadily and slowly, increasing their speed as
they drew near, and raising a shout as they prepared to charge. A fire of
round shot and shrapnell was opened upon them from the gums on the
entrenchments so soon as they got within range. Undaunted:by the de-
struction this caused amongst their ranks, they divided their force into two
parties—one advancing along the front, the other moving to the right
and rear of the breast-work. The first of the attacking parties proceeded to
a position where the whole detachment of Local Horse was stationed : they
were gallantly charged and repulsed by the Sowars, leaving about 40 dead
upon the field. Lieut. M‘Pherson, 43d Regt. B.N.I., who headed the charge,
was wounded, as also were 20 of his men-—one only was killed, While this
was passing, Captain Heath of the 5th plied the enemy so hotly with
grape that they retired beyond range, ensconcing themselves in a mud village
about half a mile off. About sunset, however, they again formed and ad-
vanced, taking up a position on the left of the Sowar lines, from which they
could not be dislodged. From this they kept up a desultory fire of watch-
locks, which was replied to during the earlier portion of the pight from
the breasteworks and fortified summit of the commissariat store room.
About 2 . M, they once more advanced in line to attack the breast-work,
but were repulsed with heavy loss—one of their chiefs having fallen.
Nothing daunted by these successive checks, and once more reinforced
to a strength ot full 5700, they, on the 8lst October, advanced on the
breast-work, about 3 o'clock in the afterncon. They pressed on in two
divisions, the one headed by the young Khan with his standard dis-
played: and took up a position about 200 yards from the breast-work.
Having been compelled by the fire of grape and shrapnell to retire from
this, about 1000 of them made for the town of Dadur, where they were at
once admitted by the Beloochee inhabitants, The population of the town,
which is surrounded by a thick mud wall, and surmounted by a strong
citadel, amounts to about 2000, The Hindoo, that is the wealthier, portion
of them, were plundered and m altreated, and the part of the town which
they occupied sacked before our eyes. The fortified camp had been con-
structed two miles from the fort to prevent collision with the inhabitants, and
avoid the filth and annoyance from which, in the neighbourhood of Indian
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towns, our troopa suffer. The remainder of the enemy having, about 6 ¢. m.,
taken up a position in the compound where the Bengal Horse were posted,
were driven from this by our artillery, and as night drew on retired towards -
Dadur. Lieutenants M*Pherson and Cartwright were wounded, 3 men were
killed, and 30 wounded. (27) The fighting seems to have been very severe,
and 150 of the enemy are said to have fallen. Scarcely had the above
gallant series of encounters closed, when a wing of H. M.’s 40th and the
Bengal 38th N. I, arrived at Dadur. Ithas been mentioned that Nusseer Khan,
with the force of the strength formerly noticed, was encamped neagg the
mouth of the Bolan Pass, four miles off, determined, apparently, to make
another attack on the town or field works. Every preparation was made for
their reception—but as they did not seem disposed to attack us with so much
alacrity as was desired, on the 3d November Major Boscawen, with the
whole of the reinforcement just named, two guns, aad the regular cavalry,
proceeded in quest of them. The Brahoes hearing of his approach, re-
tired rapidly up the Pass, leaving their camp standing. Owing to the
extreme difficulty of the road, pursuit was impossible, so that they escaped
for the present. Their camp, containing the jewels of the young chief,
with property of the value of £1000, was taken possession of. Lieutenant
Loveday was found murdered, as was supposed by some of the chiefs: the
erime appeared to have been perpetrated by a horse-keeper, who, when he
found that the poor prisoner who had for two months been dragged along
with them must be left behind and fall into the hands ot friends, re-
turned and nearly severed his head from his body. He was found heavily
ironed, and nearly naked, chained to a kajawa or camel chair. His body
seemed much bruised ; and it is to be feared that, from the time the tribes
left Quettah, his sufferings must have been extreme. The loss of the enemy
in these various encounters is estimated at from 150 to 400 men—autho~
rities writing from the spot being in the last degree discrepant on this point
—300 may perhaps be pretty near the mark : 70 are said to have fallen on
the 29th, 150 on the 31st Oct., and 80 on the 1st Nov.: the casualties on
the other days not being mentioned.

The Brahoes, immediately after this, appear, for a time, to have despaired ;
and Nusseer Khan, with his step-dame, and several of the chiefs, having
separated themselves from the rest, were left to wander in the Bolan Pass
almost without a follower.

Meanwhile General Nott started from Quettah with a stroog detach-
ment to recover Kelat: he encountered no resistance, and, when he ar-
rived under the walls, found that the town lLad been vacated four
days before. He accordingly took possession on the 2d November, and left
Lieut.-Colonel Stacy, with the Bengal 43d, to maintain the now tenantless

27. Letter from au officer at Dadur ; Bombay Times, Dec. 5, 1840,
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garrison. Mr Bell was understood to have been dissatisfied with General
Nott's advance, wishing probably to let the affairs of Kelat settle down of
themselves, and desirous to observe the effect of a little quiescence and
non-interference. At this time & strong and general disposition began to be
expressed to make peace with the Brahoe chief. The various charges against
his father began to be proved unfounded : and even had they been otherwise,
his life had paid the penalty of his errors, Neither Nusseer Khan, nor his
stepmother, the life and soul of the insurrection, were in any way implicated
in the more violent proceedings of the tribes. The facility with which Ne-
waz Khan, who bad now passed through Scinde towards Hydrabad, had been
discarded, clearly proved that he bad no hold on the affections of the people ;
while it was equally apparent that no advantage whatever was to be gained
by maintaining a detested ruler amongst a race at once needy, warlike,
and revengeful. The Vuzeer of Kelat, who had been detained since its
capture the preceding November, a prisoner at Bukkur, was set at liberty,
and it was understood to be the wish of Shah Soojah himself, as well as
the Envoy, and Governor-General, that submission should first be obtained,
when the Khanite would be restored to the rightful heir. These humane
and prudent wishes appear to have been marred by the mismanagement of
the political agents ; and the Brahoes had now no longer any faith in our
professions of friendship and forbearance.

On the death of Brigadier Stevenson on the 9th of August, Genl. Brooks
had been nominated to the command in Scinde ; and Colonel Valiant, K.H., of
Her Masjesty’s 40th, tendered his services to Government, which were
accepted of, and he appointed to the command of a brigade. These
officers, together with Major Holland, deputy quarter-master-general,
left Bombay on_ the 15th of October, as soon as the state of the weather
would permit, and, having reached Xurrachee by ses, arrived at Suk.
kur on the 1st November., The force in the feld between Kurrachee
and Quettah at this time amounted to nearly 10,000 men, and immediate
preparations were made for moving a very strong detachment towards
Quettah, It was said that the intelligence from Herat was such that the
Scinde politicals were determined to march a force towards the Persian fron-
tier. This, as it appears from the papers published by Parliament in 13483,
was without the cognizance of the Bengal government, whose severe dis-
pleasure was expressed as soon as they became aware of what was intended
to be attempted. The posts along the foot of the mountains had all been
strengthened, the villages were mostly destroyed, and the efforts of the
enemy to annoy us seemed to have slackened, partly from having suffered so
severely at cur hands, and in part because they had already accomplished
nearly all the mischief they could inflict upon us.

F1
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Lieutenant-Colonel Marshall having taken command of the Brigade
now assembled near Kotra, consisting of the 25th N. I., with detachments
of the 2nd Grenadiers and 21st N. I., with details of the 5th and 6th
companies of light artillery and irregular horse, on the 26th Nov. pro-
ceeded without delay to take active measnures against the insurgents. Hav-
ing learnt that Nusseer Khan was in strong force within six miles of his
eamp, he went out with a reconnoitering party to satisfy himself on the
subject. He started at 3 in the morning with 250 men under Capt.
Teasdale, a company of the 2nd Grenadiers 100 strong, under Capt. Boyd,
1 gun, and 20 irregular horse. (28) One of their objects was to occupy
the pass, and prevent the insurgents from escaping in that direction. Having
by 6 o’clock threaded the gerge and ascended the hill, with I gun and 250
irregulars, he at 9 discovered the enemy in great strength, occupying
a difficult position commanding the eantrance into the body of the hills.
Our troops took up a station 8300 yards from them, when Nusseer Khan
sent a message expressive of his anxiety for peace. ¢‘ I gave him,” says
Colonel Marshall, from whose despatch our extract is takem, ¢‘ one hour to
decide finally [the gallant officer does not state what he was to decide
upon ; he had before expressed his anxiety for peace without condition]
before I opened fire; at the same time I immediately sent and ordered
Capt. Teasdale to join us with his horse as quickly as possible, as I saw I
was too weak to dislodge them should the Khan decide on fighting. The
rascals opened fire on us from the hills for more than three-quarters of an
hour, but did no harm. I would not allow a shot to be fired in return until
the hour had expired, as I thought it might defeat the object Mr. Bell had
in view of the Khan coming into camp to make terms of peace.”” At the
expiration of the hour the Khan sent by his Vizier a letter with his seal
affixed, stating that within a fow days he would disband his followers, and
preceed to Mr. Bell to make submission, with an assurance that he would
not again be cut off from Col. Marshall’s camp. Our receipt of this Col.
Marehall withdrew his troops and returned to camp. Mahomed Hussein, a
native in our employ as a spy, having next day (Nov. 27) stated that the
Khan was destitute of provisions and of the means of making his way to
Shikarpore, Col. Marshall advanced him rupees 2000 (£200) to overcome
the difficulty. This man bad been the minister of Mchrab Khan, and was
taken prisoner by us and detained at Bukkur; he was now deputed as
ambassador from Mr Bell, in negotiating a treaty not meant to be fule
filled! The letters detailing these things are dated the 27th and 28th,
and could not have reached General Brooks before the 81st November.
While arrangements for peace were thus being proceeded with between the

‘n%ﬂ.chlonel Marshall’s letier to General Brooks, November 27th and 28thr,
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British commander and insurgent force, a peremptory order was forwarded
by General Brooks from Sukkur to attack the enemy without delay. The
letter is dated the 27th, and must have been written without cognizance of
the requests of the Khan, Colonel Marshall being then 150 miles from Suk-
kur.(29)

. 29. The letter is from Major Holland, Deputy Quarter-Master General, and
is of sufficient importance to be subjoined entire :—
Deputy Quarter-Master General's Office, Camp Sukkury 27th November, 1840.
Sm,-TI am directed by Major-General Brooks, commandiog the Field Army,
to scquaint you that, by information received from Sehun Lal, the native agent
st Kotria, it appears that a body of insurgent Brahoes, amounting to about 1200
men, located at the entrance of this Pass not more than 8 miles from your posty
have been lulled into fancied security by our apparent inastivity.

2. ,This state of affairs leads the Major-General, in communication with the
Political Agent, to consider that an attack judiciously planned, and with the
utmost secresy and caution, will enable you, without fail, to cut up and destroy
this body ; and with this view I am to give you the following information.

3. The enclosed Persian letter from Mr. Ross Bell to Sehun Lal, contsins that
geatleman’s instructions to bim to place himself uander your orders, for the purpoze
above mentioned, to furnish you with guides, to accompany you in person, aud te
procure and furnish you the most specific information as to the position occupied
by the Brahoes,—whether on the height, in the hollow, or in the defile, and their
:;Me and numbers ; in order to enable you to ct your plaas for surprisiag

em, -

4. You will send for Sehun La), and deliver the enclosed letter to him—no
otaer peraon being present, directing him, after he hasread and made known its
contents to you, to deliver it into your keeping: you will then arrange your
plans with him—placiog the most implicit reliance oa his good faith.

5. Ycuare notto cemmunicate the subject of this letter to any ove, as the
whole succesa of the plan depends on the most profound secresy being observed 5
lpd you will endeavour, in preparing your troops, to do so in such mauner as to
give riseto no suspicions of your objects,

. 6. You will eave 200 men, under the command of a steady iatelligent officer,
in your camp ; and you will take with you the remainder of your infantry,and all
your cavalry ; and so arrange your march as to fall on the enemy at day-break.

7. You will uake no tents or baggage of any kind : the men to carry one meal

in'their havresacks, and to fll their canteens ; their pouches are to be well supplied
with cartridges.

8. You are on no account to advance more than one day’s march from your
oamp : you will pay particular attention to the guides ; they are to be well treated, but
closely watched, and in case of treachery put 10 desth on thespot ; and you wiil
take care that, if there is the least cause for suspicion, they shall not escape you.

9. In conclusion, I am directed to repeat, that nothing but the most complete
secresy, as t0 your plans and intentions, can give you success,—and the Major-
iuenel:ul eojoins this above all things: even your officers should not know your
ntentions till you are close to the Pass, Yon will, of course, grant quarter to
those who surrender. (Signed)  James Horrawp, Major,

Dep. @Qr-Mr. Genl, of the Army.

P. S.—Nusseer Khau’s position is stated by Se;ﬁn g:l to be on thefKolril ﬁitfe
of Peer Chutta. The latter place is 12} miles from Kotria, and the rosd to it s
govd. The next march within the hills is Kuttur Kahua, distant 8 miles, and the
road to it leads through a defile, and is very difficult the whole way: I would
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When the order to attack the insurgents reached Col. Marshall, he was
no longer at war with the Brahoes, who had sued for peace on certain
torms, which, so far as was known to the contrary, they intended faithfully to
fulfil, The days granted to Nusseer Khan to disperse his followers, and pro.
ceed to aurrender himself to Mr. Bell, had not yet expired ; and there is no-
thing anywhere set down which authorizes the belief that the ehief designed
to break his word. A new attack by Col. Marshall after he had drawn off
his troops on the 26th, and advanced money for friendly purposes to the
Kbhan on the 27th, without additional provocation or grouads for the
suspicion of bad faith, was as distinct a breach of truce, and as flagrant a
violation of the spirit of the treaty just entered on, as was the attack of the
Affghans on the retiring army of General Elphinstone in January 1842,
These were points, however, on which the Scinde politicals of 1840 felt no
hesitation ; in reference to which afler they were over they appear neither
to have experienced compunction or drawn down censure from their supe-
riors., It was said that information bad Leen received that strong reinforce-
ments were expected by the insurgents,—three parties of Brahoes, one of
3000, one of 5000, and one of 2000 men! Had such a force as this been
in existence, the defeat of 3000 at Kotra was unlikely to have ensured us
peace from so determined a foe. The rumour was probably got up by a
native spy with a view of bringing oa an action.. These gentry throve well
on their country’s disorders.

Agrecably to the instructions contained in the despatch of General
Brooks, which had been forwarded express by hia aide-de-camp, Capt.
Smith, (30) Col. Marshall with the main body of the force, consisting of
900 men, of the 2nd Grenadiers, the 21st and 25th N. L., with 60 irregular
horse and two guns, started shortly after midnight, and proceeded straight
for the enemy's camp, a distance of about six miles. The Brahoes, apparently
confiding in the truce entered on two days before, were taken completely by

therefore advise, that should Nusseer Khan’s position have been changed since
last sccounts, and he be on the Kahan or Kuttur side of Peer Chuttah, aithough
only a mile, the movement of the detach t should be suspended
(Signed) G. Brooxs.
J. HoLuaxp.
Mahomed Hussein, stated in the text as a spy, was no other than the ex-
rime minister of Kelat, who had just before been released from prison by Mr
ell, and sent as an ambassador to Nusseer Khan, to treat with him for sur-
render! The order directing Colonel Marshall to attack the Brahoes was ap-
proved of by Mr Bell, and written in his house ! .
30. Lieutenant Smith of the Bengal 16th N.I.—This zealous and active
officer left Sukkur at 2 o’clock on the 28th of December, and although hl,s
progress wae greatly impeded by falling in with a large body of the enemy’s
cavalry, who followed and fired on him for several miles, he reached Colonel
Marshall’s camp on the morning of the 30th; completing a journey of 150
miles in 38 hours. 'I'he accounts of the whole of this atfuir are taken almost
unaltered from the despatches.
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surprise. Capt. Teasdale of the 25th, made a detour of 21 miles by Peer
Chutta, with 500 mea, and so took the enemy in the rear and cut off his
retreat, Capt. Ennis with 200 men pushed over a portion of extremely
difficult ground, and so outflanked them and drove them back upon our
guns ; by which means many were slain, and 180 were taken prisoners.

The resistance of the insurgents was most determined : they numbered betwixt
3000 and 4000 mean ; their position was strong, and they disputed every inch
of ground. Nothing could have exceeded the courage and conduct of the se-
poys that day; excited by the constant fighting and marauding which had
occurred all around for six weeks anterior to this, when the enemy in general
contrived to elude them before any serious damage had been done, they de-
termined to pay off old scores. The death of Lieutenant Loveday had excited
them to a pitch of fury, and as some charge more destructive than the rest was
made, or deadly volley thrown in, the ery was ¢ remember Loveday Sahib—
let us revenge him ;" and fearfully were they avenged that day. After three
bours hard fighting the Brahoes were totally defeated, and made their way
through the unoccupied raviaes, or up the mountains the best way they could.
Nusseer Khan, attended, as was believed, by Gool Mahomed, was seen
crossing the heights on horseback, almost alone. Betwixt 400 and 500 of
the enemy were left dead upoa the field. Four of the principal chiefs were
taken. The kettle-drums, standards, and camp furniture fell into our hands,
together with carpets, wearing apparel, and a great number of beautifully
illumioated copies of the Koran.(31) Our loss amounted to 4 killed and
80 wounded, Amongst the former was Lieutenant and Quarter- Master
Lodge, 25th Regt. N.I,who was shot through the thigh, and almost imme-
diately bled to death. )

The prisoners were dispatched for Sukkur under charge of Captain
Smith, aide-de-camp to General Brooke, who was directed to shoot them in
case their rescue should be attempted.(82)

This victory was so complete—the battle so unexpected and so disas-
trous to the enemy, that for the present they dispersed and left us without
annoyance, They had, since they deputed Mr Masson to treat with Captain

31. Asiatic Journal, April 1841, p. 303. . .

32. Colonel Marshall’'s words are—* I have directed Captain Smith, in the
event of any attempt being made to rescue the prisoners in his charge, or any
attempt being made by them to escape, to shoot them on the spot.”—Laetter to
General Brooks, 3d December. We believe there is nothing unusual in this.
‘When a report got abroad that Ukhbar Khan had directed our prisoners to be
killed, should any attempt be made to rescue them, the cry was raised that he
had done the most atrocious and fiend-like thing on earth. Captain Johnston,
.who had been the party to disseminate this rumour, found that it was untrue,
and that Saleh Khan had misled him. He took every ineans in his power to
obtain for it a contradiction, but not one in ten of the journals which propa-
gated tho error had the honesty to correct it!
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Bean, lost upwards of 2000 men out of a force which at no time seems to
have excecded 7000 at the uttermost, if ever it was higher than five. The
only fruits of the victory were, that any little confidence the Brahoes might
before have entertained of British faith was dissipated : they fled to the
mountaios to bide their time, having no longer any wish or heart to treat
with us. Singularly enough, the ordinary official reports of this action were
pot forwarded to the Governor-General, who, so late as the 29th March,
remarks on this unexplained fact, and then for the first time publishes in the
Gazette, extracts of the field orders of Colonel Marshall and General Brooks,
from which this part of the narrative is chiefly abridged. ’

The excellent conduct of the sepoys at Kotra has just been mentioned : the
whole of the eorrespondence from Scinde at this period bears unvarying and
enthusiastic testimony tothe admirable patience, conrage, and spirit with which
they conducted themselves throughout this harrassing campaign. Though
fighting in a conntry which was new, and with an enemy not only strange to
them, but surpassing in strength, courage, and determination, as well as
arms and appointments, any they had before encountered, no Europeans
could have doue better service to the state, To this there had not as yet
occurred a single case of exception.

Meanwhile, though the Murrees and Bhoogties had been pacified, sad the
Brahoes disabled, there wera rumours of formidable disturbances above the
pass, both to the east aud west, around Candahar, aad on the Persian fron-
tier, which caused a general movement to be hastened of the principal body
of the troops in Scinde,

The 1st Light Cavalry, and Irregular Horse, left Shikarpore for Dadur
on the 5th January; the 4th troop Horse Artillery, and right wing
of the Bombay 20th N.I. started on the 12th from the same place for
Quettah ; and the st troop H. A. and left wing of the 20th N.I. marched
for Bhag on the 14th, Previously, the 2d Grenadiers, with some Irregular
Horse, marched from Sukkur with a convoy of 3000 camels and 200 earts.
The stores were left at Bhag ; the Regt. proceeded to Dadur in order to re-
lieve the Bengal 38th N.I., which left for Quettah on New-year's-day. The
head quarter wing of H.M. 40th, which had shortly before arrived from Kur-
rachee, the 21st N.L, with a body of Irregular Horse, left for Bhag on the
:‘i;l:. a::]:'(::]:l?;;)he é 1st, and Capt. Po?tardent's artillery, followed a few

. eneral Brooks with a strong force reached Shi-
karpore on the 5th, and Mr Bell joined him on the 7¢h. (34)

The confidence of the people in our protection had been so far restored that
;l;z_\;sv':::‘ur;;;ti ;o ttl?;alir villages an_d com.menced the cultivation of their fields.

still kept the hills, his step-dame found shelter amongst

43. Bombay Times, Jan. 830. 34, Ibid, Feb. 27.
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the Dodah Murrees. The country throughout the month of January kept
tranquil : it was gorged with troops, occasioning an expenditure amongst
the people of many times the amount of the revenue of the whole region we
occupied. Mr Bell meanwhile directed the chiefs taken at Kotra to be li-
berated unconditionally and sent to their own conntry loaded with pre-
sents. (85) The ejected Shah Newaz was now at Larkbana, Government
having allowed him a pension of £1200 a year.(36) This was afterwards re-
duced a half, and finally altogether withdrawn by Sir C. Napier in 1848.
Colonel Stacy continued to conduct matters with much prudence at Kelat,
where the people returued to their homes, and the bazaar once more bes
came occupied by nearly 1000 residents, (37) So much confidence had
this inspired that it was expected Nusseer Khan would give himself up.
But though he must by this time have been repeatedly apprised of our
friendly intentions towards him, he would not trist us: be had seen other
chiefs who came into our power relying on friendly treatment, thrown into
the dungeons of Bukkur. The broken truce of Kotra was not to be forgot-
ten. At this time the sepoys in Scinde suffered from the cold of the
nights, where ice constantly made its appearance.

We come now to the most unsatisfactory portion of the history of the
management of the affairs of Scinde—to a portion which, whether in a poli-
tical or a military point of view, no Englishman can read without a blush,
The chief part of our knowledge on the first division of the subject is
derived from the often-quoted Cutchee letters, and a better authoerity could
Dot be desired ; fortunately, indeed, there is no conflicting information to
be dealt with—the intelligence from the spot was at the time copious, va-
ried, and perfectly harmonious, and not one particle of its truth was ever
called in question,

‘Whenthe Army of the Indus passed through Cutchee in 1839, Major Leech
wrote and sent a moonshee (interpreter) to the people of Kujjuck, to beg
that they would break their bunds (weirs or dams) which retained for
the irrigation of their fields the water flowing from the hills, and
let it off for the use of our troops. The request was complied with,
but the money offered for a piece of such valuable service, attended
with much damage to the cultivators, was declined. The flelds suf-
fered from deficient irrigation, but to this they submitted without
complaint. 1he following year Yoosif Khan Rysannee was Naib of the
Seebee country, and the Kujjuks requested he would make the battai or
division of grain, on which the Government share or tything is allotted,
the crops being ready for it. The revenue is paid in kind ; and the corn

36. Letters from Shikarpore, 27th Jan., B. Times, Feb.
36. Cutchee Letters, No. 5.
387. Times, Feb. ; letter from Camp, near Kotra, 22d Jan.
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eannot be housed till the Government's quota has been determined on.
The Naib of Seebee stated that he could not act in this matter without the
directions of Mahomed Sherreef. What piece of roguery this worthy bad in
view,in delaying the order, does not appear : but so it was, the time passed
away, the rainy on spproached, and the Kujjucks housed their grain to
save it from destruction. When all this labour had been incurred, and the
cultivators were led, from the delay which had been occasioned, to believe
that the tax was for that season to be remitted, Mahomed Sherreef ordered
the battai or division to be made. The cultivators were now loath to part
with that which they had begun to regsrd and deal with as their own; and
they urged as a plea for exemption, the service they had performed, and
sacrifice they had incurred at Major Leech’s request; stating what was’
admitted to be true, that they almost alone, of all the tribes, had abstained
from plundering our baggage or'convoys. They expressed a hope that these
considerations would weigh with Mr Bell in obtaining for them exemption
from payment for the present. The district is very productive, the utmost
attention to irrigation being paid. It contains about thirty villages, each
under its particular hakim or chief. The adult male population amounts
to about 6000, of whom only one thousand sre reckoned warriors: they
are mostly infantry, and have no guns. The town where all the principal
chiefs reaide is Kujjuck. It contains a population of about 4000. The
annual revenue of the district amounts to about £3600; the arrears
now stated to be due, to £4400—of this we demanded immediate payment
of the half. In this state matters were, when the chief political pro-
-ceeded to Cutchee, and had, in the beginning of February 1841, an
interview at Lheree with some of the chiefs. They pleaded poverty in
addition to the other reasons already adduced, on which they claimed
exemption : this was known to have been a mere pretence, for they were
not poor: and the hardship of claiming afterwards that which was not
received at the time when it was offered, was, owing to the representations of
Mahomed Sherreef, not held entitled to consideration. At MunghulKeshehur,
4 miles from Bhag, eight of the chiefs had a second interview with Mr Bell,
when, on the 7th Feb., a paper was drawn up by them, in conjunction with
Lieut. Brown, Mr Bell's assistant, and others, guaranteeing that the reve-
nue claim should be satisfied in full on or before the 19th of the month. (38)
Not observing that any measures were taken to have this agreement ful-
filled, a demonstration was directed to be made before the time fixed for
payment Lad expired, and on the 18th February our troops arrived before
the town—the people having not the most remote idea that hostilities

38. Cutchee Letters, No. 3.

Much . .
and incorporated mith 1he ton uch of this letter bas been taken verbutim,
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were intended ; the same having been the impression of Geueral Brooks
when the dispatch of the forco was arranged. They had not so much as
provided themselves with ammanition, nor had they cat the bunds, though
their unfailing practice in case of attack was to lay the country under
water and render it impassable, They invariably maintained that they never
thought of being attacked, or of attacking us: nor have we any grounds for
believing that in this they misrepresented their apprehensions or inten«
tions.

The troops sent, consisted of the 8d cavalry, Leslie’s horse artillery, some
of Skinner’s and of Curtis’s irregular horse, and a wing of the 20th N. 1.;
these were afterwards joined by 200 of the 2d Grenadiers, with Lieutenaats
Hogg, Falconer, and Morrison. The whole was commanded by Colonel
Wilson of the cavalry. The distance they had to march from quarters, was
about 40 miles: a detachment worse suited for the attack of a fortified town,
could not be imagined ; especially when the General had every variety of
troops in such abundance at comwand.(39) So late as the 17th, after
the troops were on their way certain of the Kojuck chiefs had an in-
terview with Mr, Bell :—some misunderstanding appears to have arisen;
Mr. Bell stated that he was left under the impression that the chiefs
wished to evade payment altogether, though admitting it was dae;. and
some of the natives on whom /e so often so unworthily relied, assured
him that the Kojjucks were arming and preparing for resistance. The
groundlessness of this last became obvious when our troops arrived near
the fort, and the populace appesred never to dream of hostilities. Lieu-
tenant Brown, A.P.A., was sent to join the force io consequence of Lieut.
Col. Wilson reporting that the people were hostile, and that our camel-men
had been detained in the town, §c., which he deemel it imperative to make
known! He proceeds to say—*¢ but little forage had been promised, aad
the people who went for it were treated with ill-concealed ill-will. I am
positively informed that an attack on our camp will be made should a favour-
able opportunity of doing so0 occur. I respectfully solicit the Major-general
granting further and more explicit instructions.” It was at this time that
the Assistant-political Agent was ordered to proceed to Col. Wilson’s camp
in case of difficulty, that the commanding oficer might be fully aware

39. We have heard General Brooks declare that he never in the course
of 40 years service, experienced any thing so intensecly mortifying as the
failure at Sebee. He sent out a light detachment on the assurance of Mr.
Bell that by no possibility could there be fighting,~—that a mere demoostra-
tion was all that was desired. The neighbourhood of Kujjuck had been re-
commended as a station for part of the mounted force, aud the eavalry and
horse artillery were ordered there in the first instance without any idea of war-
fare, but simply for the benefit of forage, which was hardly procurable at
Mungul-ke-Shuher.”

G1
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how matters were to be managed. On the day of the fight, 20th Febru-.
ary, a deputation of the chief men had an jnterview with Lieutenant
Brown : they declared their readiness to pay the sum required, but re-
quested twelve hours to make the collection. This was refused, and they
were informed that unless within two hours they should produce £2,200,
their town would be attacked by the troops. The attempt was made—the
collection was commenced on the instant; and rupees, gold and silver orna—
ments were gathered in the utmost haste, in amount equal to our demands.
A Moonshee with some attendants, who had been sent to the town when
the two hours’ leave which had been given were expired, met the chiefs
bearing the treasure to our camp. Befora they arrived there, however, they
observed the guns getting into position, and the troops being drawn out in
order of battle. Supposing some trick or delusion to be intended, that we
meant both to take the money and attack the town besides, they retired withia
the walls, and charged the Moonshee with endeavouring to practise a frand
upon them, The fight immediately began. The fort, which contained about
4,000 people, of whom 1,200 were women, was not a strong one. It was
situated in a level plain, which afforded no cover for ordnance, and sur-
rounded with a ditch and mud wall, varying from 12 to 20 feet in height,
with four open gateways respectively of 9, 10, 12, and 20 feet in width,
The ditch surroundiog the fortress at 12 feet distance from the wall was 25
feet broad and 4 feet deep ; it was encircled on three sides by marshes and
waler-courses. About two o'clock ». M, the guns opened with round-shot
and spherical case, at the distance of two hundred yards; after a fire of
pearly half an hour’s duration, they were removed to within one hundred
yards of the mud wall. The defences were so thick, and numerous,
that even at this distance our shot scarcely told upon the town. The enemy
bad kept up a brisk and galling fire upon us from the moment our artillery
were in position. Colonel Wilson was wounded through the thigh, the fe-
moral bone being badly splintered by one of the first shots. The command,
in consequence, devolved on Msjor Rollings of the 2d Grenadiers. The storm.
ing party, consisting of two companies of the regiment just named, supported
by the left wing of the 20th N.1., proceeded to a place where the men were
able easily to cross, the ditch having been loft unfinished, and advanced by the
pathway 12 feet wide, which intervened betwixt the edge of this and the base
of the wall. Captain Walter, with a troop of the 3d cavalry, proceeded round
to the other side of the town to cut off the enemy’s retreat. The rest of the
troops remained to support Captain Leslie with his guns, and act as circum-
stances might require. The enemy were six or eight hundred strong just within
the gate, —there being about twelve hundred fighting men in the town altoge=
ther : the guns, which otherwise kept the gate clear, required to suspend their
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fire as the storming party advanced. So soon as the head of the column got
near the gate, the enemy rushed out and cut down the leading men, who were
unfortunately very indifferently supported, as no effort on the part of the officers
conld induce the Grenadiers to move forward, Lieut. Falconer was killed, and
Lieut. Shaw, sub-assistant commissary general, who volunteered his serviees
on the occasion, severely wounded in leading the assailants on. On seeing
the check of the storming party, the intrepid Lieut, Creed, H.A., requested
permission to take some dismounted artillerymen to head the columa, and
endeavour to recover the fortunes of the day. This gallant band of about
20 horse artillerymen at once advanced and endeavoured to force their way
into the town. Lieut. Creed and some few got within the gateway: but
here the heroic officer and five of his men were immediately cut down,
and the remainder, most of whom were severely wonanded, driven back by
force of numbers, were compelled to retire, being unsupported. At this
time some women came out with korans on their heads entreating for
peace. The enemy began to flag; and had the attack been persist-
ed in the fort must have fallen. Evening was now rapidly advaneing: it
was obviously in vain to maintain the struggle, so our troops retired to a
distance of 1000 yards, and proceeded to encamp for the night with a view
of next morning renewing operations.

The easualties in this unfortunate affair amounted to 15 killed and 25
wounded ; Lients. Falconer and Creed wore amongst the former, Col. Wilsin
and Lieut. Shaw amongst the latter. Colonel Wilson died in a few days
afierwards from the effects of his wound: The enemy's loss is said to have
amounted to about 60 killed.

A report was spread that the Kojjucks intended to attack us at night, so
that the troops slept under arms. The ramour proved groundless: about
11 o’clock .M. a Banyan arrived in camp from the fort, intimating that
the chiefs had fled,—the whole of the occupants of the town, save the aged
and bedridden, made their escape to the hilils—so that, when morning dawn-
ed, it was tenantless. Kujjuck was taken possession of, and all the move-
ables contained in it declared prize property. This amounted to about
£2000 in value: this, as will by and bye be seen, had afterwards to be
restored by order of government,

The tidings of this mishap reached General Brooks at Mungel-ke-shuher
about noon on the 21st ; and he immediately ordered out a detachmentto join
Capt. Rollings with the utmost expedition. This consisted of the head-quar-
ters of the 4th troop horse brigade, H. M.’s 40th, and the 21st N. I., with the
sappers and miners ; they marched about 5 p. M. the same afternoon. These
were to proceed by forced marches without a moment’s delay, as the extent
of the mischance was believed to be much more serious than it turned out.
But on the march the Major-General receiving authentio intelligence that
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the Kojjucks had evacuated their fort, directed the infantry to remain that
night at Mitree, and proceeded only with the head—quarters and 4th troop
Horse Artillery to Kujjuck, The infantry recommenced their march
the following afternoon : —before they had procecded far rain began to fall in
torrents, and from the night being pitchy dark, the troops remained for
some time in a perfect slough of mud and water, and did not reach the camp
till mid-day. The whole were detained before Kujjuck till the middle of
March by the heavy rains, which caused great destruction amongst the
camelz of the force.

After the town had fallen into our hands, but before it was destroyed,
some of the people, who were starving on the hills, returned with a view of
recovering their lost property: they were driven back, some perishing in
the ditch, and orders were given to fire on any one who should approach
the town. Foiled in avenging our mischances on the Kojjuck warriors, Mr
Bell resolved that the property of the inhabitants should suffer. An order
was fulminated, directing the place to be destroyed and the country deso-
lated. On the 6th March, accordingly, the aged, sick, and bedridden having
been carried beyond the walls, the clothes on tliem being the only property
they were allowed to retain, the fort was set fire to, and laid ia ruins. The
houses that could not easily be pulled down were mined and blown up,—the
timbers that could not be otherwise destroyed were burat,—the devastation
was complete : the fire raged for several days—and the property accumu-
lated, and buildings erected, through the space of seven generatiouns, during
which the place had flourished in the hands of the Kojjucks, was appro-
priated or destroyed by us. The crops were eaten up or trampled under
foot by the horses, the camels, and the baggage-cattle of the army : the de-
sire appearing to be to do as much wanton mischief as possible. An ediet
was i:sued when the work of ravage had been completed, that no part
of the town should be rebuilt or re~occupied.(40) Shortly after this, some

40. The account of the action is chiefly given from an unpublished copy of
the official despatch, with some incidents from private lettors. We have been
favoured with divers valuable notes from officers of the furce, to whom the
proofs have been submitted, and the following is one :—¢ Mr Bell’s first letter
to General Brooks was such as to lead the General to expect opposition; the
second was merely saying the troops should take up a position conveniest for
water and forage—this was received late at night. The force was frained on
the first letter, and nothing could be more injudicious than its selection.
General B. knew nothing of Kujjuck, nor did Mr Bell—a fact fully proved. for
had they known what the place was, Europeans would have been sent. Well
might General Brooks feel unsatisied, not only in this instance, but in having
remained from October until January at Sukkur, instead of being in the field
with his troops. Had he been stationed at Bhag, and Mr Bell with him, the
country would have had a better chance of becoming quiet and gettled. How
cquld General Brooks say he did not expect resistance, when his orders to
Lieut.Col. Wilson were—‘ Your detachment is to march to Kujjuck, in order
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Brahoes, who must have otherwise starved in the hills, came down, and
were quietly feeding their flocks at Mitree, when our troops observing them
mistook them for Kojjucks, and actually attacked them, dispersing them in
every direction, and seizing on the women's ornaments and property left
behind. The mistake was soon discovered, and every effort made to remedy
it; but the mischief was done, and this untoward accident was added to the
list of acts of supposed perfidy and wrong—for too few of which we could
plead any excuse cr extenuation.

The Cutchee letter-writer, who learned the facts on the spot, and was
most familiar with every feature of the case, and with all the parties con-
cerned, says, “ We all know that Asiatics invariably plead poverty and
procrastination to contribution of revenue to their despotic governments, in the
hope of obtaining some remission ; and that where they can, they resist with
force the payment altogether, as the Kojjucks have often done. That the
Kojjucks hoped, by au excuse of poverty and procrastination, to get some
remission, is, I conceive, beyond doubt. It is the opinion of all the natives
of Cutchee that I have seen : of our habits they kuew little, what they did
know was not likely to have produced the most favourable impression. A
forcible resistance of our demands they knew to be useless, and accordingly

to coerce some refractory tribes in that district, in case of their refusing com-

pliance with the demands of the political agent.” The detachment marched

on the 17th, and on the 18th General Brooks writes to Mr Bell—¢ [ have no

information who are the parties to be acted againsty’ &c. Why not have

made due inquiry on the subject before sending the force? The Kujjuck force

was as follows :— ’

2d Grenadier Regt.—1 captain, 3 lieutenants, 4 native officers, 12 havildars,
200 rank and file : killed—1 lieut. (Falconer), 8 meu ; wounded 20,

8cinde Horse.—1 captain, 4 native officers, 2 duffadars, 66 sowars ; killed—1
sowar.

st Troop B. A.—1 captain, 2 licuts., 98 men; killed—5, and 1 officer, (Lieut.
Creed) ; wounded—6, aud 1 officer (Capt. Blood}. -

3d Lt. Cav.—1 col., 1 capt., 6 lieuts. and cornets, 201 troopers; killed—1
trooper.

Rt. Wing 20tn.—2 captains, 2 lieuts,, 2 ensigns, 381 men; killed—1 private, 10
ditto wounded. :

Totalforce . . ., Cavaley . . . . 266

Infantry . e . 581

847

Deduct sick and guards . . . . . . 182
Present in action . 665

Killed—1 lieut.-col,, 2 lieutenants, and 12 men.
W ounded, 2 lieuts., and 45 men.”—Note by an Offfcer of the Force.
Another officer belonging to the Staff states that there were not above
800 warriors in the town: that so illsdefended and weak a place was un-
worthy of the name of fort; and that the whole affair was one of the most
miserably mismanaged during the war.
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they not only avoided plundering the country, but even neglected providing
themsveles with ammaunition, trusting to procrastination as the safest diplo—
macy. From tae fact of their having gathered in valaables in amount equal
to our demand, and with which they were about to present themselves in our
camp when they saw our troops advancing on the town, and from that of no
earthly provision having been made for defence, does it not appear that,
instead of opening our guns at two in the afternoon agaiust the fort, if we
had thrown a cordon around it, that the people would at once have seen how
unlike we were to former rulers, even had they not gathered together in
mouney and ornaments the amount we demanded.”” (41)

Well might Sir Alex. Burnes, in_remonstrating with the Eavoy shortly
after this on our deplorable and calamitous mismanagement of the conatry,
exclaim, *¢ It seems to me that wherever our political officers are, collision
forthwith follows. A native temporizes, a European officer fights; we are
thus on the high road to denationalize Affghaniatan instead of contributing
to its stability as a kingdom ; we shall subvert all its iastitutions, and not
succeed in fixing our own in their stead, for we are not labouring to do
so.” . * « That regalar troops should be employed in enforcing
revenue, is at all times doubtful, ualess refusal to pay ends in rebellion ; but
it is more than ever questionable, when there is injustice oa the side of the
c.llector. A postponement to pay is at once in our notions converted into a
refusal, and that which a parley and explanation between Affghans would
terminate ia a day or two amicably, ends with us in a battle and loss of life
on both sides. But the lives are not the greatest loss: respect for us, and
influence with them, go with them. When once regular troops appear, hesi-
tation is deemed pusillanimity, they cannot stand still, they must act, and
thus every trifling outbreak endangers the character not only of the English
but of the whole frame of government.'’ (42) The reader will excuse thein-
terruption of the narrative which the introduction of those passages occasions,
proving, as they do, how early and distinctly the more sagacious portion of
the political authorities saw and appreciated the mischiefs we were inflicting,
and the direction whitherward they were tending. Unbappily, those in
whose hands the amendment of this system lay, would not, or could not, see
its error,

The details of these proceedings appear to have given the greatest offence
to the Governor-General : it is doubtful whether the despatches afforded
him a sufficiency of particulars ; but the facts in which they were defective

41, Cutchee Letiers, No. 4.

42, Notes on the consolidation of Affghanistaa, by Sir Alexander Burnes,
dated April 19, 1841. A copy of these was found amongst his posthumous
palﬁen, with notes by the Envoy. Frequent occasions of referring to them
will by and bye present themselves.
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were amply supplied by the letters to which we liave had such frequent oc-~
casion to refer, and which bore with them so much of the stamp of autho-
rity that they could not be overlooked. Early in August an order was re-
ceived rescinding the edict against the re-construction of Kujjuck, and order-
ing the payment of the value of the property which had previously been
declared prize,~-abandoning all claims of arrears, and explaining as the
reason, that though our troops had for a time required to occupy the
country, the Kojjucks were considered our friends ! 'We are, however,
breaking through the chromological order in which events ought to be re-
lated.

A few weeks before this, the Beebee Gunjani, widow of Mehrab Khan,
had made submission : she was kindly received, and aeemed gratified with
the attention that was paid her ; she was a sprightly, pleasing, intelligent
looking lady, whose influence with the chiefs friendly to her husband, as
well as with her step-son, seemed to be very great. She received as a gift,
the Naibs hip of Kotra, worth about £1200 a year, and with this she
seemed contented. About 1000 of Ler followers shortly afterwards made
submission.

Alarming reports were meanwhile gaining currency as to the state of
affairs at Herat and along the Persian fromtier. It may be recollected
that in July 1889, Major D’Arcy Tod, with & deputation of British officers,
had been dispatched from Candahar to the court of the worthless prince who
was the legitimate representative of the Suddozye dynasty. After an ex-
penditure of £300,000 in endeavours to purchase a friendship, the free gift
of which was not worth our acceptance, the Governor-General resolved,
that before more advances should be made, the expediency of moving a gar-
rison of British troops into Herat should be broached to Kamran Shah.
This became the source of immediate misnuderstanding ; and Major Tod
discovered, that not only was this as unpalatable as might be, but that
Yar Mahomed the Vizier, known at all times to be in his heart unfriendly
to us, had usurped the actual power of the Shah, and was caballing amongst
the chiefs with a view to an advance on Candahar, It was said, indeed, that
it was the intention to proclaim Kamraa Shah head of the Doorannee em-
pire, and to endeavour, through the assistance of the Affghan malconteats,
to place him on the throne. Major Tod had been guilty of the offence of
endeavouring to put a stop to the plunder of caravans and the sale of the
persons captured along with them as slaves. The English mission left on
the 10th, and arrived at Ghirisk on the 21st Feb., having encountered some
parrow risks but experienced no injury. This post is on the river Helmund,
about 80 miles north-west from Candahar: it had been weakly garrisoned

ince our original invasion, and was now about to be reinforced by the

-

 ———
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Shah’s 5th Native Infantry under Captain Woodburn, and 500 of Christie’s
Horse. The country everywhere in fact shewel symptoms of that unquiet
and uneasy state of feeling which, six moaths afterwards, broke out into
such fearful and successful insurrection,

Preparations were on these grounds made onece more to draw our troops
together near Dadur, and to move a heavy force up the Bolan Pass so early
as the season would permit, to await at Quettah the determination of the
Governor-General. Luckily this was peaceful ; though the Eavoy was ur-
gent to stretch the limits of the Doorannee eupire to their proper extent,
which he conceived to be Herat on the west, and Attock on the south-east.

From the scarcity which prevailed in Cutchea and Beloochistan, it was
mecessary that the whole of the troops, followers, and eatile, attached to
the force, should be rationed by the Commissariat ; and to enable that de-
partment to do so, the following enormous amount of animals was required
during the campaign for the transport of the Commissariat supplies, bag-
gage, guns, ammunition, camp-equipage, &c. of the army :—

12,000 Government Camels, valued at £8 each . . £96,000

4000 Hired Camels, from Sukkur to Quettah, at £1, 10s. per month 6,000

2000 Hired Draught and Pack Bullocks,—5000 more were expected from
Ferozepore, but never joined. (43)

The 20th N.I. entered the pass about the 10th October, and betwixt
the 16th and 20th March a large portion of the army, under General Brooks,
had commenced moving through the Bolan. The General arrived at Qusat-
tah on the 3d April; his command having been extended so as to include
Kelat, Moostung, and Quettah, as weil as Scinde : Mr Bell had preceded
him by afew days only. The first brigade suffered severely from storms
in the pass: their tents having been blown down and property destroyed.
It was believed that General Valiant's brigade would proceed to Canda~
har,—a determination which, if ever made, was speedily altered. Haviag
already done nearly all we could in the way of irritation and annoyance,
our policy now appeared to be to make every effort at ccneiliation. Colonel
Stacy had, in a brief space, produced a very importaat alteration in the
feelings of the people of Kelat. e sought communion with the chiefs, and
mingled freely with the people, and his sympathy with their sufferings, and
still more, his apparent coafidence in them, and the fearless want of suspi-
cion with which he alone dared to move amongst them, woa sympathy and
confidence in return. Iu the course of the month of April he set out to the
Brahoe camp almost unattended, thongh he had to travel nearly 60 miles
through a wild, turbulent, and disaffected country. Ile had an interview

43, Commissariate Returns.
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with the young Khan and his chiefs, and seemed to consider that everythiag
was settled, when some fresh source of misunderstanding broke out, and
Nusseer Kban again sought refuge in the remote hills. Colonel Stacy had
just before this advanced a considerable sum of meney to the Khan. Oa
the present occasion something occurred during his residence in camp, which
80 offended the chiefs that his life was in peril. The Khan warned him of
his danger, and eatreated that he would retire as speedily as possible, offer-
ing him a safe conduct to Kelat. Of this he accepted, and after a ride of
nearly 60 miles in length, returned in safety with the utmost speed to
the Brahoe capital. The Bombay 25th N. I. was about this time dis-
patched to Kelat. The Beebee Gunjani having occasional interviews with
Mr Bell, promised him that she would speedily prevail upon the young prince
to come in if made sure of being restored to his father’s throne. The asaur-
ance was given, but he would anot trust us, nor could he be prevailed upon
to see any political save Colonel Stacy till Mr Bell was no more. Mean-
time an order was promulgated, that unless he surrendered himself before
the 4th May, he would be put to the ban, and chased wherever he might
seek refuge.

The force now at Quettah amounted to above 8000 men. No instructions
had been received, nor did any deflnite idea seem, in any quarter, to be en-
tertained as to their destination. The Herat panic was now well nigh over :
the idea of advancing thitherwards, broached, and so far acted on by the
Scinde politicals, was dizcountenanced by Government; and the country
around Candahar was considerably less turbalent than it shortly before had
been.

A petty chief called Fazel Khan had been giving some annoyance in the
Noosky c,untry, and as we had soldiers on the spot, it seemed to be
thought a pity we should not keep fighting. An expedition accordingly was
ordered for Noosky, consisting of the 4th Troop H.A., a squadron of the 34
Light Cavalry, 2 companies of the 41st, and the 20th N.I. They were com-
manded by Colonel Soppitt, an officer of conduct and experience. They left
Quettah on the 3d of May, and having reached Noosky by a forced night-
march of 40 miles, found that the offending chief, with his principal people,
bad fled. It was said they had taken the route of Kelat to render submis-
sion to Colonel Stacy. Two companies of Europeans, mounted on camels,
were dispatched with the cavalry in pursuit of him, but without effect. The
force returned to Quettah after incurring much hardship and fatigue, and
losing many camels,—haviong effected nothing,

An accident as singular in its nature as unfortunate in its consequences,
at this time befel a party of Skinner's horse in ascending the Bolan Pass.
Capt. Haldane had been left at Dadur with orders to escort the battering-
train to Quettah. When the plan was altered, and orders given that the heavy

H1
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guns should be allowed to remain at Sukkur, this officer, with the horse
under his command, was ordered to join his brigade, which had just reached
Shawl. Having experienced much difficulty in obtaining a sufficiency of
baggage-cattle, he was at length enabled to start on the 23rd of April.
Haviog got to withia ten miles of the ead of the pass, a night was passed at
Sir-i-Bolan (44), and the cattle being still very much knocked up, they
were allowed to rest till the afternoon to recruit. It rained very much on
reaching the narrowest part of the pass, which was no more than from 80 to
40 yards wide, and Capt. Haldane having sent on the camel-men with all the
baggage and 100 troopers, ordering them to keep close together, was bringing
up the rear with about 80 men, when just as he entered the narrow gorge,
and came to 3 sharp turn in the way, he saw a body of water, about a foot
deep, rushing on with tremendous speed round a turn of the rock alittle way
ahead of him ; this was immediately followed by a second, more than three
feet in depth, thundering on with still greater fury than that which pre-
ceded it. On the right and left there were no means of escape, the rocks
being nearly perpendicular ; so they galloped back, reaching a place which
enabled them to retire on one side a little way out of the reach of the torrent
just as its waters were upon them. The cataract, now increased to ten
foet in depth, rashed past the rock with awful fury. Then came a scene
terrible to contemplate,—men, horses, and camels were swept past, and
dashed to pieces against projecting rocks, against which the water flew to
the height of twenty feet. No assistance could be rendered, for the stream
ran faster than any horse could gallop. ‘I stood upon the bank,” says
Capt. Haldane, * quite horror-struck, for I believed that every one ahead of
us had perished. In a few momeants the destruction was complete, and we
felt like men cast upon a desert plain, without a particle of food, wet to
the skin, a cold and cutting wind blowing on us, and no means, from the
nature of the country, of ascertaining the extent of our loss; as, until the
water went down, all communication with any party who might have been
saved was completely out off. About sunset the stream had nearly sub~
sided, and I perceived how matters stood, The loss of life was 33 men and
101 animals. We passed a miserable night, and mext day pushed on to
one of cur outposts, eight miles from Dusht-i-Bedowlut. We trusted to
recover some of our property in the morning before starting, but found very -
little : for such was the force of the stream, that the matchlocks belonging

44. Sir-i-Bolan, head of the Bolan;—a powerful spring here forms the
source of the Bolan river. The ascent betwixt Abi Goom aud Sir-i-Bolan in
the course of 94 miles is 1054 feat, giving a rise of about 1 foot in 25 ; this is
the ate.egest acclivity in the pass. A mass of water pouring down this must
rush with the rapidity of a cataract.—Major Hough, pp. 53 and 427.
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*0 men drowned had their barrels broken in two, and some of the bodies were
found at Bebee Nanee, 20 miles below where the accident occurred. The
property lost was estimated at £1200."” (45) ' :

An accident of a precisely similar nature oceurred to Sir Alex. Burnes and
his party in ascending the Khyber Pass in September 1838, when a thunder
shower overtuok them, and the brooks swelled so rapidly, that it was with
much difficulty they saved their baggage: the party was for a shert while
divided in two, without the power of communicating with each other. (46)
So that, besides the incidents liable to occur in those defiles from the oppo-
sition of hostile tribes, which in its most formidable shape British troops have
overcome —there ara storms of wind and snow,with the swelling of torrents
by the sudden burst of thunder storms, to be eacouuntered, sufficient for the
destruction of any army. These appear to be of by no means unfrequent
occurrence, and the only wounder is that we suffered from them so little: that
just detailed,and the snow-storm which overtook Colonel Wallace’s parly in
February 1842, being the only serious accidents which really from these
causes befel our troope.

Affairs in Upper Scinde and around Quettah from this time forward to
the surrender of Nusseer Khan, continued in a state of tranquillity and
insipid inaction. About the beginning of June, the notiflcation issued by
the Bombay Government, that General Brooks and Brigadier Valiant had
been recalled—the former to be temporarily succeeded by Colonel England
of H. M. 41st, the latter by the senior Brigadier at the station,~—reached
camp, and occasioned no small astonishment. The causes of this have al-
ready been minutely explained ;(47) but the authors of the Clibborn com-
mission never, up to the close, seem to have suspected the serious offeace
of which alike in a military or in a moral point of view they had been guil-
ty. Mr, Bell was at this time suffering from a severe indisposition, which
caused him to tender his resignation—and Major Outram was already un-
derstood to be assured of succeeding him ; the charge devolved on the latter
earlier than was anticipated, by the demise of the former on the 1st of Aug.
Captain Bean also had solicited leave to retire, on the plea of ill health.
The great schemes to be accowplished by the army under General Brooks,
in which all of the gentlemen just named, more or less shared, ene by one
fell to the ground. The Candahar force proved adequate for the work as-
signed to it : strong bodies were postel at Ghirisk, Moostuny and Kelat,

45. Letter of Capt. Haldane, given in Asiatic Journal, Sept. 1811; part II.
p- 32. It appears as a quotation, but it is not stated where it was first pub-
lished.

46. Wood’s Journey to the soarce of the River Oxus, p. 163. Burnes's
Cabool, p. 129.

47. See conclusion of preceding chapter, p. 202.
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ready to act if required ; there appeared no source of alarm of serious mis—
chiof from Herat, and no intention of proceeding against i1 for the present ;
and as the Brahoes no longer showed themselves in the field, there really
seemed nothing for our troops to effect beyond watching the current of
events.

Nasseer Khan had meanwhile fallen sick and become tired of remaining
a fugitive: he had received the fullest assurance that no more evil wasin-
tended him than that of reinstating him on his father’s throue—our pur-
pose being now to add Cutchee to Kelat, from which it had beea so un-
wisely disjoined. About the 20th July, Colonel Stacy was written to,
intimatiog that the Khan and his chiefs were in the neighbourhood, aad
expressive of a wish to see that officer in camp. This was immediately
complied witli : the boy had been suffering severely from intermittent fever,
which the treatment of one of our medical officers speedily relieved, He
came into camp without conditions oa the 25th July—and Colonel Stacy
immediately made preparations to proceel with him to Quettah.

A general order was published on the 9th August at Sukkar, intimating
that Nusseer Khan and his;adherents were no longer enemies to the British ;
while the intimation from Lord Auckland already referred to was at the
same time circulated, to the effect that the property taken at Kujjuck could
not be considered as prize, in consequence of its having been captured in a
town of a friendly power, though it was found necessary as a temporary
measure to occupy it with British_troops. (48)

By the time the Khan and his party reached Moostung, intination had
been received of the demise ot Mr Bell, which took place at Quettah on the
1st of August; and it was resolved to remain there until Major Qutram’s
arrival, or until the purposes of goverament should be delinitively made
known.

Major Outram, after hearing of the death of Mr Bell, having been de-
tained for a short time at Hydrabad, bringing some political arrangements
there in progress to a close, left with a view of taking charge of the affairs
of his new appointment, on the 18th of August. The unostentatious celerity
of his progress contrasted as much with the pomp and circumstance with
which his predecessor moved as did the other portions of the career of the
two differ from each other. Mr Bell’s escort consisted of 150 horsemen—
his rate of travelling was about 10 miles a day. The appointmeants of
Major Outram cousisted of one palanquin, with 16 bearers for exchanging,
one attendant, four troopers of the irregular horse, and three riding camels.

48. Bombay Courier, August 31. No allusion in this order was made to the
total destruction of the town : the occupation might have been necessary, but

to blow up the walls and burn the bazaars of our friends was a curious mode
of manifesting amity !
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The distance from Hydrabad to Quettah is 400 miles, including 96 miles
of desert and 70 miles of the Bolan Pass: this was traversed in 16 days,
the new political agent having arrived at Quettah on the 3d of September.

Sir W. Macnaghten, for what reason does not appear, seemed anxious
to take into his own hands the task of closing an arrangement with Nusseer
Khan. About the 25th of August a draft of a treaty was forwarded to Moos-
tung, for his subscriptior, by the Envoy, just before Major Qutra’s arrival,
and when he was known to be on the way. This would have seemed alike
strange and inexplicable, bat for the passion for diplonacy with which the
leading politicals were then aflicted: they seemed never so happy as when
endeavouring to over-reach the rude and semi-barbarous tribes, who under-
stood the spirit of treaties, but were totally bewildered and misled by the
complex technicalities with which they were crammed ; and who, when any
of them were neglected, and/punishment followed the oversight, always
conceived that we had misled them or dealt with them uafaithfully.

After a delay there of a moath, the young Khan and his attendants left
Moostung immediately on hearing of Major Outram’s arrival ; he reached
Quettah on the 6th Sept, He was received with that kind and frank cordiality
which distinguished the manners of the new resident, and he seemed delighted
with his reception. Affairs of state are easily arranged when one party
iz disposed to concede whatever the other can desire: and so it was agreed
that they should set out all together as speedily as possible for Kelat, to invest
the young sovereign with regal power, and place him with becoming pomp
upon the throne of his fathers. About the middle of ths month they started,
and on the 6th Oectoher the Khan was duly invested, the chief Sirdars
being previously invited to be preseat at the ceremony, The follow-
ing is a short notice by an offices who was present on the occasion ;:—

¢ At 2 p. M, the Khan, with his Sirdars and Officers of State, proceeded
to the Durbar Tent of the Agency, where the Treaty was ready for signature—it
was read by the young Khan himself, and by the Wuzz:er Moolla Mahomed
Hussein, The Khan, Sirdars and all were most gratefal for the liberal terms on
which the British gave him back the ry of his ors, The Treaty being
approved of, it was signed on thespot, and after some quarter of an hour’s con-
versation, the Khan took leave,

¢ At 4 p. M. Major Outram ascended to the citadel. A circular had been sent
round in the morning, notifying thatthe investiture would take place at 4 p. %, The
young Khan, who has ingratiated bimself with every body, was ready at the hour
appointed—every Officer in Camp paid the Khan the compliment of a ttending.

¢ After Major Quiram, assisted by Brigadier Eongland and Cel, Stacey, had
invested him with his complete Khanate Dress, he was seated between the two
former, and a Royal 8alute announced the completion of the Treaty between the
Honorable Company and the Khan of Kelat.”

The country as usual was infested with robbers. Dr Owen and Lieut. Mac-
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kenzie, 8rd Cavalry, were, in the widdle of September, waylaid and
robbed, and narrowly escaped murler in the Koochlak Pass, 7 miles north
of Quettah; while Geoeral Brooks and his party were fired upon in
descending the Bolan Pass ; but from the time of Nusseer Khan's surrender,
there was no hostile movement in Beloochistan of any considerable magni-
tude agaiust us.

In taking a cursory review of the contents of this and the preceding chap—
ter, which refer exclusively to the affairs of Beloochistan, it will be found that,
from the time Sir T. Willshire returned to the plains, when everything was
considered to have been settled, our troops in numbers varyiog from 50 t02000,
had been 15 times engaged with the enemy (49) aund four times unsuccesss
fully.(50) The loss of the enemy on these various occasions must, #o0 near
as can be estimated, amount to not much under 2500 ; our own casualties to
ahott 300 men slain. We lost no fewer than 12 European officers, viz. Col.
Wilson, Capts. Rait and Heighington, Lieuts Clarke, Franklin, Williams,
Moore, Loveday, Lodge, Falconer, and Creed. All these, save two, had
fallen in action, or died of their wounds. Captain Heighington had died from
the fatigue of the fight and retreat of Nufoosk ; and Lieut. Loveday was
murdered. The climate of the countries in which these unhappy operations
had been carried on, had among our officers been still more destructive of
life than the sword of the enemy. There had died, chiefly from climatie
causes within the period under review, Brigadier Stevenson, Major Billa-
more, Major Liddel, Captains Sutheriand, Rebenack, Jones, Beddingfeld,
and Lewis; Lieats. Revelly, Hunt, Valiant, Cuerton, Shubrick, and
Oliphant, with Drs Carlow and Baines; 16 in all. The death of Mr
Bell was not perhaps altogether attributable to the effects of climate.

The destruction of beasts of burthen had during this short but unhappy
campaign exeeeded the worst apprehensions our most disastrous experience
could bave led us to form. Of the twelve thousand camels which were col-
lected at Sukkur in August 1841, scarce 3000 e¢nuld be produced in October
1842 ; the loss occasioned by this sacrifice of animal life must alone have
exceeded £80,000. The total outlay ocecasioned by the campaign was

Y

49. These ¢ affairs’’ took place at Deyrah 4th and 12th January (p. 172). Na-
tive officer’s party of 80 men slaughtered to a man in returning to Kabun, 16th
May, (p. 178 ) Destruction of Licut Clarke and convoy, 16th June, (p. 179).
Repulse at Nufoosk, (p. 189). Destruction of 25 sepoys, the escort of Captain
Bean’s revenue moonshee. Attack of the Kakurs on Quettah. Attack on the
Brahoes by Lieut. Hammersley at Moostung. Three days’ fighting round
Dadur. Destruction of lhauy and Gundava. Attack on the enemy at Kun-
dah. First fightiog near Kotra. Affair of Lieut. Vardon in capturing 1100
;)‘q:locks. Battle of Kotra. Capture of Kujjuck. Attack on the Braboes at

itree.

50. The unsuccessful affairs were Surtof, Nufoosk, Quettah he troops
though not beaten, had to retreat into the’ fort), a;dqxujjtclgv hero the pss
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estimated by the Friend of India at £800,000, and no one was less likely
to exaggerate in this.

The results were as extraordinary, and still more mortifying, than the

- expenditure of men and money by which they were achieved. Our rale

seems to bave been to fight first, and when we became tired of this, to en-
quire into what we were fighting about. By a strange fatality, every
quarrel in which Mr. Bell engaged us, we were compelled to proclaim by our
abandonment, unwise, unjust, or oppressive. The system was one of
continual doing and undoing, of which the only memorials that were left
were the heaps of slain who fell in battle, and the delapidation of a herste-
fore flourishing treasury.

A slight reference to what has been already related at large and in detail,
will illustrate this statement.

1In seeking tribute for Kelat, we attacked Deyrah, and slew some 60 of
its inhabitants, earrying away the chiefs as captives: we subsequently
released the chiefs and solicited their friendship, abandoning all claims of
tribute,—it being admitted that none was due. On the same grounds
Kahun was taken possession of, and our troops shut up for six months in the
fort, one detachment having meanwhile been destroyed, and another defeated
by the Murrees. Wo then left the country, abandoning all our claims
against it, granting a free pardon to those who had haundled us so roughly,
and entreating the friendship of the chiefs on their own terms. Cutchee
and Shawl were in 1839 detached from Kelat; the one was re-annexed to
it in 1841, the other in 1842, We stripped the chiefs of the former pro-
vince of their hereditary estates, bocause they had not made up their title-
deeds according to our pleasure; and after six monthe’ fighting with them,
we restored the disputed property without making any questions about
titles at all, We claimed the customs of Las, which had loang before been
made over to the chief of Beila, and when an armed resistance was
threatened we withdrew our claim. We attacked and destroyed Kujjuck,
and then proclaimed that all the property which had been captured would
be restored ; their town being that of a friendly power whose dominions it
had become necessary for a time to occupy. Finally, we expelled Nusseer
Khan from the throne of his father in November 1839, and restored him in
October 1842 ; his claims on our gratitude being founded on the two years
of war he had carried on against us ; Major Outram haviog afterwards re.
commended, that, in the event of our retiring from Candahar, we should
grant him a subsidy of £15,000 a year (51) instead of assisting him with
troops.

The casualties wo havealready detailed are far from light, but they are trivial
in comparison to the damage we sustained from loss of character for truth,

51. Blue Book of 1843, p. 266,
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consistency, justice, and integrity. Of unhappy violations of all these we
stood self-convicted by the repeated reversals of our policy, which we felt
ourselves compelled to resort to.

Just at the very time when the tranquillization of Belooshistan was con-
sidered to have been completed, an insurrection broke out at the other ex -
tremity of the Doorannee empire, more frightfully momentous and tragieal in
its results than any recorded in modern history. On the 6th October, the
coronation of the young prince was celebrated at Kelat: three days after,
General Sale was attacked in the passes mear Cabool, and after nearly a
wmonth’s incessant fighting, found shelter in the fort of Jellalabad, where he
was shut up for six months. The general rising which occasioned the de-
struction of the Cabool garrison, took place a few weeks afterwards. This,
however, opens a new chapter in history, on which it is not at present pro-
posed to enter.

This narrative would be incomplete without a short sketch of the history
of Major Qutram, whose management of Scinde betwixt August 1841, and
November 1843, merits the lasting gratitude of his country, and reflects the
highest honour on one who has well been termed the Bayard of the Indian
Army.(52) Major OQutram, in requital for services the most meritorious
and successful, has experienced nothing but injury and insult from Lord
Ellenborough : he has been stripped of office without cause, and remanded
to his regiment, when his exertions as an envoy at the court of Hydrabad
might have spared us the most discreditable war in which we were ever en-
gaged.

Major Ovurran.

M= Jauxs OurnaM arrived at Bombay as a gentleman cadet in the Hon.
Company’s Service on the 15th of August 1819, and very shortly after hav-
ing joined was appointed adjutant of a newly raised Sepoy regiment, now
the Bombay 28d L.I. In those days of military activity, when every month
had its conflict or scene of adventure to record, an appointment such as that
with which Lieut. Outram was entrusted, was one of the most honourable
and responsible so young an officer could have conferred upon him : and no
man could bave filled it with more credit to himself, or benefit to the army,
than the subject of our narrative. :

In 1824 the fort of Kittoor, in the Southern Mahratta country, was gar-
risoned by a party of troops much too weak to withstand severe assault, but
unsuspicious, at the same time, of the approach of hostilities. On the 23d
of October an insurrection broke out; the resident, Mr Thackeray, with
Captains Black and Deighton, were killed, and the whole of the troops were
surrounded and taken prisoners. A large forece having been dispatched to

52. Speech of Sir C. Napier at a dinner given by the whole of the Officers of
the force, at Sukkur, subsequent to Major Outram’s loss of office, and prior
to his quitting Scinde.
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chastise the insurgents, and recover our captive soldiers, Kittoor was taken
on the 6th December, with a loss on our side of six only: 1000 of the
enemy were believed to have fallen. It was at one time suppesed that it
would have been necessary to storm the fort, and, at his ewn request, Lieut.
Outram was appointed to lead the forlorn hope. This operation was after—
wards found unnecessary, the place having been surrendered without assault';
but in the dispateh of Col. Deacon, Lieut. Outram is particularly mentioned,
as having, along with Captain Pouget and Lieut. Lawrie, been of the
greatest use in the dangerous service of reconnoitering. In 1825 a rebel-
lion having broken out in the western part of Candeish, headed, as was be-
lieved, by Appa Sahib, ex-Rajah of Nagpore, the standard of the Peish-
wa was raised, and the fort of Moolair taken possession of by the rebels.
Troops were ordered to advance with the utmost expedition from all the

" posts around; and reinforcements were summoned from stations so remote
as Jaulna and Surat. Lieut. Outram was then at Malligaum. A detach-
ment of 200 men was entrusted to his charge to relieve Meolair, not then
known to have fallen. Purposely passiog the fort, which he ascer.
tained to have been eaptured, he pushed on by a rapid and brilliantly-
executed night march till he overtook the rebels: completely taken by
surprise, and without the remotest idea that an enemy was near, they
were attacked, defeated, and dispersed in an inconceivably short space
of time. One of the leaders of the insurrection was killed : the fort was re-
taken, and the first overpowering success followed up with auch celerity and
vigour, that the whole were reduced to submission before the other detach-
meants, which had been put in orders, were able to reach the scene of action.
About this time, Lieut. Outram was appointed to raise a Bheel corps in
Candeish, and the countries of the barbarous tribes adjoining. In these
remote and savage regions, he, for twelve years, laboured without inter
mission, laying the foundations of peace and tranquillity in quarters long a
refuge for the robber, and converting the ferocious and untutored Bheel into
a defender of the peasant and a cultivator of the soil. These people have, till
of late, been considered the most barbarous and unteachable of any of the
natives of India. They in general go about almost entirely naked ; they make

. no attempt at wanufactures, even of the rudest sort,and have secarcely
uny agriculture ; they are all but ignorant of peaceful industry, and live
almost eatirely by plundering neighbouring tribes. The rader portions of
them are armed with bows and arrows,—in their hands not unformidable
weapons, They pay no tax or tribute, and acknowledge no allegiance to
any one. They are said to be one of the eriginal races of Central Hindustan.
Scarcely a trace of any species of religion is to be found amongst them ;
they are nominally of the Brahminical faith, but pay no heed to the observ—
ances considered essential to this form of belief. Whole brigades had,

I1
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.year after year, been employed to no purpose to suppress or chastise
the outreges committed by these barbarians on the adjoining frontier.
‘To deal with them from within: to convert the disturbers of the peace
into its preservers, appeared never to have been thought of; and indeed
with such materials the task seemed hopeless and chimerical enough.
Lieut. Outram, at the hourly peril of his life; proceeded at once aud
“almost alone into the jungle, bent on the execution of his dangerous
and all but desperate mission. The nature of the difficulties encountered
may be gathered from the means taken to overcome them. It was at
first found impossible to make the Bheels comprehend what was desired
of them ; and when this had been got ever, it was most difficult to fiad
any stimulant or motive adeguate to induce them to comply with our
wishes. The great seducer of civilised, as of savage men—intoxicating li—~
quor-—was at length resorted to. And for months and months together he
managed to keep first some hundreds and then several thousands of those
speedily destined-to become temperate and orderly soldiers, around him by
‘the mere influence of arrack. The men and their future officer began at
length to understand esch other. They had now been for a time at least
detached from their kin Ired, as well as from their habits of depredation and
pillage, and the next thing was-to wean them from the excesses by the in
dulgence in which these things had been effected. It is needless to go into
the detsils of the tedious and dangerous messures by which the drunken
eavage was converted into the sober, orderly, and steady soldier : it is enough
to state, that in five years’ time the Bheel corps, ifnot so temperate or man-
ageable as a sepoy regiment, was equal in sobriety to any English fcree, and
so thoroughly to be depended on, that they were employed with perfect
success in the escort of treasure through the very country which so short-
ly before had furnished the scenes of their own most lawless acts. Suec-
ceeding officers have ably and faitbfully carried into execution the system
thus begun ; but for its plan, and for surmounting the fearful dificulties
presenting themselves at its commencement, we are entirely indebted to
Major Outram. In 1880 this officer, stiil a subaltern, was entrusted with the
command of a very important expedition, undertaken expressly on his
own urgent recommenuation, jutothe countries bordering on the scenes
of his recent operations. The force committed to his charge consisted of
detachments from regiments of the line, the Bheel corps, the Poonah horse,
and other native auxiliaries ; and its object was the invasion of Daung, a
strong, jungly, robber country, dividing Candeish from Surat. Sir Jobn
Malcolm, then governor of the Western Presidency, doubted the practica-
bility, and feared the results, of such an undertaking, even if set about with
double the force which could then be spared : and he yielded only to the
urgent entreaties of the officer who recommended it, and who pledged him-
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self for its perfect success. Mr Outram’s character and thorough know-
ledge of the neighbouring country and the people around, afforded assur
ance that any pledge he made on such a subject was likely to be redeemed.
‘Within one month of our advance the entire tribes of a territory till now com-
pletely unkaown to us, and whose jungles had never been penetrated till
enterad by our treops, were completely subdued, and the whole of their chiefs
and rajahs, amounting to seven in number, were prisoners in Lieutenant
Outram’s bands. This, considering its magnitade, was one of the most
brilliant and suceessful feats of arms from the time of the Mahratta war.

From Candeish Captain Outram was, in 1833, transferred by the sa-
gacity of thelate Sir R. Grant, Governor of Bombay, to the Mahee Caunta
in Guzerat. Inhabited by turbulent and warlike predatory tribes, this
country had been for years, almost for ages, a scene of desolation, pillage;
and slaughter. Might constituted right, security for life and property was
unknown, and year after year military operations, with their attendant evils
and transient or doubtful success, became necessary for the protection of
our subjects. Within the short space of three years, Captain Qutram, by
the strength of his intellect, and fertility of his resources, by his unwearied’
industry and conciliating spirit, brought peace and order where such bless~
ings had before been unknown. This was effected without his having ever,
with one single exception, had occasion to resort to arms. The ex-
periment tried with such admirable results in Candeish was here repeated
with renewed success : and so stable have these arrangements proved, that
for the past seven years tranquillity has scarcely ever been interrupted.
Here was organized the Coolie Police corps,—composed, as its name de-
notes, from the predatory races. .

In December, 1838, he joined the army of the Indus, acting as extra A.D.C.
to Lord Keane, We had scarcely touched the shores of Scinde when the
zeal, promptitude, and indomitable activity of Capt. Outram were of the
utmost service to the army. It was not very wonderful that the Ameers of
Hydrabad should not be over-zealous in promoting the success of an expedi-
tion, one of the objects of which was to render them tributaries to a sove-
reign whose rule they had remounced, and mulct them at starting of
£300,000. The carriage-cattle they had promised had not made their ap-
pearance on the arrival of our army at Vikkur, and nothing but the efforts
of Capt. Outram in procuring camels from Cutch enabled them to advance
at the time they did. His adventures on the expedition of Lord Keane are
so fully given in the First Chapter of this narrative that they may here be safe-
ly omitted. Theugh he lost the favour of the Commander—in~Chief he wasre-
peatedly thanked by the Supreme Government, as well as the Shah Soo-
jah, for his exertions, In 1840 he was appointed Resident at Hvdrah-4,
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d Political Agent for Lower Scinde, and as has just been seen, he, in
August 1841, was promoted to the.charge of the whole coustry from
Quettah to Kurrachee,

‘We have had repeated occasion to refer to the sad disrepute into which
our hitherto unimpeachable character for good faith aad veracity had fallen
under the administration of Mr Ross Bell. The bitter stigma which
the order of an advance on Cabool occasioned, after the Sirdars had
agreed to every proposition we had made to them, was infinitely wore
merited in western than in eastern Affghanistan — where we were said
‘“to have taught every chief to lie and cheat by our example.”(53) Major
Outram’s two years’ residence at Hydrabad had made the natives weil
aware of his character as a soldier and politician. Iatimately acquainted
with the principles, prejudices, maaners, and feelings of the semi-bar-
barians with whom he had to deal; he was by nature eminently fitted
to commaad their respect and esteem. Brave, determined, prompt and de-
cided in all his proceedings ; he was forbearing, frank, aad forgiving. He
was as destitute as any man alive of tbose jesuitical qualities which appear
occasionally to be considered essential to good statesmanship amongst the
class of diplomists who appear to think that no negaciation can claim
the character of ekill which is not marked by dissimulation, disingeanous-
ness, and concealment, or which would not readily avail itself of direct fraud
could its objects be forwarded thereby. In Mr Bell's time, the chiefs never
appear to bave treated with us without a suspicion that, in some way or
other, they were meant to be overreached. In that of his successor they were
told at once what was desired of them ; their expostulations, if they had any to
offer, were duly considered and yielded to at first, if found reasonable ; and
they knew that whatever Major Outram said, whether as threat or promise,
would be made good whatever might be the consequences. He permitted
his intercourse with them to be interrupted by no parade of ceremony—to
be perverted by the intervention of no third parties. On all occasions they
found access to him personally, and at once had their case listened to with
patieace, and decided on with justice and moderation without a moment’s
delay. Where any thing was suspected of being wrong, Major Qutram was
on the spot to examine and iuquire for himself, and that with a rapidity
of movement which cast the celerity of their own wild forays into the shade.
Before he had been three months in power, he found that distrust had
vanished : that he had done as much as mortal man could accomplish in

53. Ukhbar Khan's remark to Captain Troup on his having returned from
Jellalabad with the treaty unratified. Unhappily, the charge of the Sirdar
against our Government is fully borne out by the evidence of the Blue Book !
Surely impeachment is barely enough for those who have done so much to de-
file the fair and uosullied fame of England in the East.
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remedying the injury his predecessor had inflicted on our charscter. We
once more became trusted : the veracity of the political agent, instead of
being a subject of mockery and derision, was looked upon as inviolable—as it
was wont throughout the east to have been, till these unhappy wars began.

The result was even more auspicious than could have been anticipated ;
showing what desp cause we have for grief, that the system which led to it
was uot earlier resorted to and practised over a far wider field.

From Qctober 1841, when our misfortunes began, till November 1842,
when they had been fully and finally retrieved, and the policy which led to
them was for a time abandoned and repudiated, there occurred not betwixt
Quettah and the sea, either in Scinde or Beloochistan, a single exhibition
of hostility or distrust towards us : though at this time there was not one
solitary tribe from Pesheen to Peshawur, including the distriots around Can-
dahar, Ghuznee, Cabool, and Jellalabad, which bad not attacked us. The
invaluable services of Major Outram ia collecting baggage-cattle, forward-
ing treasure, and hastening and facilitating the advance of troops, in a
great measure contributed to our ultimate success, His conduct in this
respect appears at the time to have been appreciated both by the late
and the present Governor-General. Ia the despatches published in the Blue
Book it is repeatedly mentioned in terms of the greatest approbatien ;
and Lord Aucklaad, since his return to Eagland, has, in Parliament,
bestuwed on it the highest commendations, There were fow who could
be persuaded of the desperate position to which the Dooraanee alliance
had reduced the finances of India by the end of 1841 ; a position which, if
no insurrectioa had oceurred, would, before the close of 1842, have com-
pelled us, under any circumstances, to have retired from the country ; and
Major Outram appeared for a time to believe, notwithstanding the assurances
of Government to the contrary, that so soon as the insurrcction was sub-—
dued we should resume the place we held before it began. No man more
deeply deplored the resolution for a time adopted by the Government, of
retiring from the country before any attempt to retrieve our reverses had
been made. He recommended that Candabar and Jellalabad should, at all
events, be held as outposts for the year 1842,(584) and deprecating in the
strongest manner the withdrawal of the garrison of Sir R, Sale, he stated,
that he did not conceive that a measure more injurious to our interests
jn Affghanistan, or one more likely to endanger our character there and
in India, could have been devised by our bitterest enemy. These views
were fully concurred in by Mr Clerk and Major Rawlinson, who pro-
posed a formal invasion of the country for next year, Farther on, when

54. Blue Book, p. 197. Sir J. Nicolls’ letter to the Governor in Council,
March 30, 1842 ; given verbatim.
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General Nott had been reinforced by the brigade of General England, and
fully supplied with carriage, Major Quiram recommended that a direct
movement should be made from Candahar on Cabool, without waiting for
General Pollock, whose furce was unable to proceed for want of carriage,
and was, besides, not necessary,—the Candahar army being strong enough
to accomplish every object the government had in view. (55) Had this
advice been followed, the achievements undertaken at such enormous hazard
in September and October, might have been accomplished in June—the
troops retiring by Jellalabad, without General Pollock incurring the cost,
risk, and tremendous labour and loss of money, in penetrating the defiles
beyond Gundamuck. It is not exactly known from what cause Major Out-
ram incurred the displeasure, and drew down the manifestations of spite
so meanly vented on him shortly afterwards by the Governor-General.
He remained in full favour up to the beginning of May, at which time it
was intimated to him that he was to be appointed Eavoy at the court of
Hydrabad—hostilities against the Ameers not having at this period been
dreamt of. The source of offence is said to have been the friendly interest
taken by him in Lieutenant Hammersley, assistant political at Quettah.
General Eogland, with a reinforcemeat of 1200 men, and coavoy of 1500
camels, and £45,000 of treasure, while on his way to Candahar, where the
troops were suffering extremely for want of medicine, and were disabled for
field service from deficiency of cash and carriage, was met at Hykulzye by a
force of the enemy said to have been nearly 800 strong. Anill-advised attompt
to storm in line ! a hillock which might easily have been turned or commanded,
occasioned the repulse of the storming party of 180, when, to the astonishment
of every officer in the force, the whole brigade was ordered to retreat a dis—
tance of 25 miles, and immediately on arriving at Quettah, commenced en-
trenching themselves as if for a siege, leaving the troops of General Nott to
their fate. For a much more veaial error Admiral Byng had been tried and
shot. A despatch, making a fearful parade of dangers and difficulties, in refe«
rence to which no information had been provided by the political agent, was
forwarded to the Supreme Government, and Lieutenant Hammersley was dis«
missed. Major Outram wrote to Lord Ellenborough eatreating him to sus-
pend judgment on this point, until enquiry had been made as to the nature of
the Hykulzye defences, and the time oceupied in their construction, both of
which were represented by General Eogland in such a formidable light that
the political agent ought to have been informed of the matter. The officers

55. This was exactly the doctrine laid down by the Bombay Times so far
back as March, and insisted on so long as there appeared to be any intention
of advancing at all—that if a demonstration on Cabool was to be made, General
Nott might advance with a brigade of 5000, leaving 5000 at Candahar aud
Kelat-i-Ghilzie, and level every town in Affghanistan if deemed expedient.
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of General England’s army were almost unanimously of opinion that the
Hykulzye despatch was a tissue of the most grievous mis-statements. To
the fecommendation for inquiry the Governor—General did not thiak fit to
accede.(56) The perfect facility with which the same ground was gone
over by the same detachment exactly a month afterwards, shewed that it was
neither the existence of defences nor the want of information, but the gross
mismanagement of the commanding officer, which occasioned the retreat from
Hykuolzye before an inferior force: the only disgraceful military measure
(thoseat Cabool excepted) which occurred during the war. Lieut. Hammers-
ley’s health had suffered from the extent of his exertions and the insalu-
brity of the climate ; and this harsh, ungenerous, and unjust decision, proved
fatal te him.

Major Qutram had now committed an unpardonable offence in interposing
in behalf of his friead ; and he also must be victinized. From the 2d of
May, when the intention of appointing him envoy to the court of Hydrabad
was aunounced to him, on to the 19th of Qctober, he heard no more on the
subject ; but had no reason to suppose the resolution of the Governor-General
in his favour altered. A notification in the Gazette of the latter date intimated
bis summary removal from all political employ, placing his services at the ais-
pesal of the Commander-in-Chief for regimental duty ; his salary and al-
lowaoces to cease from the 15th November, the duties of political azent here-
after to be discharged by the extra Aides-de-Camp of Geaeral Napier.(57)
On the 4th of November he received a public dinner at Sukkur previously
to his departure for Bombay. Geunsral Napier presided, and except those
who were detained by indisposition, of the officers belonging to an army of
nearly 10,000 men scarcely one was absent. The gallant chairman wisely
avoided all allusion to public affairs, especially to the treatment their guest
had recently experienced. He proposed his health as the ¢“ Bayard of the
Indian army—the Chevalier sans peur et sans reprocke.” Oa his arrival at
Bombay a similar testimony of public regard awaited him : he was entertained
on the 13ih December by a party of upwards of 100, including the Secretaries
and Aides-de-Camp of the Governor, the Secretaries of Government, heads
of all the departments, the Judges, senior Civil Servants and Staff Oficers,
and the whole elite of the Presidency. Had he goue the round of Iundia he
would probably have met with complimeats similarly gratifying at every mi-

66 Blue Book, p. 267, Lord Ellenborough’s leiter to the Secret Cowmniitee,
zth June; the wording of this letter bas; 1n the text, been preity closely ad-

ered to.

67. It must be kept in view, that the order applied toall the Scinde politi-
cals; Major Outram was included amongst the common herd ; not the slight«
est notice being now taken of his services. The conduct of the Governor-
General has been apolozized for on the plea that a functionary such as Major
Outram was no longer required in 8cinde. The appointment of Lieut. Brown
as commissioner, shews that this excuse is baseless,
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litary station in the Company’s territories. He at this time proposed to proceed
to England on furlough. No sooner had Sir C. Napier taken ia band to un-
ravel the tangled skein of Scindian politics, than he found that a task had
been imposed on him which he was wholly unable to execute. He applied
to the Supreme Government for assistance, and was permitled to requeat
the services of Major Outram ; the Governor-General had not the eourtesy
to make the nomioation direct,—it was done by Sir C. Napier. After slights
and insults such as these, Major Qutram might readily have excused him-
self from assuming a subordinate appointment where he had, three months
before, been supreme, on the plea that he had made arrangements for imme-
diate return to Eogland ; he never thought of this ; he bad for twenty years
devoted his life to the service of his Government without the most remota
idea of indulging in personal feeling ; and now, whea required to resume the
duties of an office from which he had been so lately and summarily discarded,
he set private arrangements and personal considerations at naught, and started
at once for Kurrachee. His appearance on the 4th January ia Sir C. Napier’s
camp, and subsequent interview with the Ameers, made almost an instan-
taneous change in the aspect of affairs—it inspired confidence of our peace-
ful and honest inteations in the bosoms of the Chiefs, who were at once
willing to accept Major Outram as a referee, and to be guided by his de-
cisions on any question of misunderatanding betwixt them and the Supreme
Government. The Governor-General had by this time resolved to have terms
proposed to the Ameers so injurious and insulting, that cowpliance
with them could pever have been expected. The object was to bring
them into such total subjection that their independence would hereafter
be virtually aonihilated: or to force a quarrel on them which might
compel corflict and afford us a pretence for conquering the country.
Having succeeded in inducing them to subscribe the treaty: there were
certain secret and most exorbitant stipulations contained in separate in-
structions, which he was directed to insist upon, but which the Ameers
could not be prevailed on to comply with. While yet at court, and in hopes
that he might induce them to concede even these, Greneral Napier continued
to advance steadily on Hydrabad with a force of 2,700 men. The Ameers
intimated to Major Qutram, that ualess the army halted uatil negociations
had finally been broken off or concluded, they would be compelled to move
out and protect their capital, from which our troops, whose object could no
longer be mistaken, were now only 30 miles off: and they fully warned the
Commissioner, that unless he retired, they could not further be answerable
forhissafety. Anxious toavert a conflict which he clearly foresaw would be a
dcsperate and bloody one, and in expectation that he might still be enabled to
obtain by persuasion that which Sir C. Napier was prepared to extort by force ;
he remained after he had received a firat, and then a second formal warning to
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depart, or until he and his escort of 100 men were attacked by 8000 of the
enraged Beloochees now on the eve of marching forth to the fatal field of
Meeanee. Above 90 of the eremy were killed in the defence, and Major
Gutram expressed a fervent but not sanguine hope, * that their deaths might
not be charged on him as murders.”” He considered the attack on . himself
as perfectly justifiable by the laws even of Christian war; and conoeived,
that 8o far were the Ameers from being chargeable with the treachery im-
puted to them by the Governor-General, that they had acted a thoreughly
candid, friendly, and generous part, till forced to betake themselves to arms.
Major Outram joined Sir C, Napier on the eve of the battle of Meeanee, at
which he was not, however, present, having been directed to take in hand
the dangerous and troublesome service of destroying by fire the Shikargurs
which protected the enemy. He returned to Bombay immediately after the
victory, having left Hydrabad on the 21st, and reached the presidency on
the 26th February. It was resolved that on this occasion a Sword, to the
value of 300 guineas, should be presented to him by his friends: the sub-
scription list was filled up with the utmost celerity ; and had it been extend-
ed to the services throughout India at large, £3000 would, in all likelihood,
have been got as readily as £300. The following inscription was desired to
be engraven on the blade :—*‘ Presented to Major James Outram, 23d Regt.
Bombay Native Light Infantry, in token of the regard of his friends, and
the high estimation in which he is held for the intrepid gallantry which has
marked his career in India, but more especially his heroic defence of the
British residency at Hyderabad in Scinde, on the 15th February 1843
against an army of 8000 Beloochees, with six guns ;'’ on the opposite side
were the words—*¢ sans peur et sans reproche.’” Hoe sailed for England on
the 1st April. The stand made at the residency was considered so admirable,
that Sir C. Napier made it a subject of separate memorial for the Governor=
General, as an example of the defence of a military post. (58) No notice
was ever taken of this by gevernment, and Major Outram now remains the
only officer who did duty near Hydrabad whose services have not been pub-
licly noticed in any way by Government. His brethren in arms who could
appreciate his heroic virtues, were not slow in expressing their sentiments
on the subject: the rulers he served alone remained silent! It may be
added, in conclusion, that when he temporarily resumed his political duties,
he declined to accept of any remuneration; and that while acting as Com~

£8. This is in part an assamption ; Sir Charles, at the close of his despatch
of the 18th February, promises to send this, and there is no reason to doubt
that the promise was fulfilled: the text gives nearly the words of the despatch
~procecding thus far on the hypothes;g ais to the paper having been forwarded.
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missioner in Scinde, betwixt the 19th December and 20th February, he was
only in the receipt of the pay and allowances,of a Captain of the 23d N.L.I.
He proposes to remain two years in Europe: by the time 'of his return it
is to be boped that the Government of India will be in the hands of some
"one capable of sppreciating the worth of services such as his.
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CHAPTER VI.

Events near Cabool in the beginning of 1841—Brigading of the Troops in Affghanis.
tan—Shelton's Brigade leaves KFerosepore—Alleged reduction of the Army—Expedi.
tion into the Naxian valley in Febraary—-Lieut. Pigon killed by an explosion—Captain
Douglas shot—Arrival of the 34 Convoy at Cabool—Return of the Shah and Envoy to the
Capital—Arrogance of the Shah—8eikh affairs~-Death of Kurruck S8ing—Of Nao Nehal 8ing
—~8here Bing proclaimed King—-Dissipatod habits of-His coronation—Queen Dowager
declared pregnant—Shere 8ing withdraws himself—A rovolution in the Army—He is restored
to the throne—Tranquillity of the Punjaubh—Captain Broadfoot’s convoy—Death of one of
the Royal Ladies—Danger of the Convoy—Cool and good duct of Captain Broad-
foot--Arrives at Peshawur—8cens of Narrative changes—Suftar Jung Govérnor of Canda-
bar—.His misconduct and dissipation--Disoontents in the Ghilsie ocountry—Expedition to
Ghirisk—Detachments of the Shah’s troops destroyed—Captain Farrington sets out—Par-
sues Ukhtar Khanand defeats him on the Helmund-=Major Tod’s arrival from Herat—Rein.
forcoments sent to Ghirisk—Major Lynch’s management of the Ghilzie country—Resolves
to fortify Kelat-i-Ghilzie—Unhappy affair at Kulla i- Ingozs—General rising of the country—
Colonel Wymer’'s reinf nt from Candahar—Defeats the enemy--Detachment from
Ghuznie quar dat Mookl Colonel Chambers’s expedition—8uccess of Captain Walker
and Lieat. Baszett—Captain Woodbura’s Detachment sent to Ghirisk—Battle with Ukh.
tar Kbhan on the Helmund--Misconduct of the Janb Horse-~Brilliant victory Ex-
pedition under Captain Grifin—Battle with Ukhtar Kban's troops—Qreat slaughter
of the enemy--Expedition under Colonel Wymer into the Teeree country—Capture
of Akram Khan— His execution — Colonel Maclaren’s Brigade leaves for India — Di-
rected to retarn and proceed to Cabool--Advance found impossible«ePosts in Western
A ffghanistan in October 1841.Affairs at Cabool—Expedition into the Zoormut Valley—
Strength of Army in East Affghanist, Ghilzie insurrection oeceasioned by stoppage of
tribute—Conclusion—Loss of life during the Affghan war—Less of Treasure--8ir W. Mac-
naghten’s letter on p ting 8ir Al der Burnes’s memorial--Apathy of the people at
home-Lord Palmerston’s Tiverton spesch-—Proposed continuation and subsequent aban~
donment of our Affighan policy—~Reflections on the conduct of the Political Agente—Noble
conduct of the Army--Conclusion.

Tan history of the events in Beloochistan and Scinde arising out of our
connection with the Doorannee sovereign has, in last chapter, been brought
down to the commencement of the Ghilzie insurrection, when our alliance
may be said to have terminated, the whole of its objects having been frustrated :
from this time we remained in the country, in the first place uatil we
could find the means of retiring from it ; and afterwards, on second thoughts,
till some signal mark of our vengeance had been inflicted on the Affghans for
daring to dispute our right to make a causeless invasion into their territo-
ries,—and for having conducted that dispute with the falsehood, perfidy, and
vindictiveness characteristic of the quarter of the globe to which they be-
longed.

The thread of the narrative, in order of time running parallel with this,
requires now to be resumed at Cabool, where it was broken off at the close
of the third chapter, with the account of the surrender of Dost Mahomed in
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November 1840, and the temporary and partial tranquillity which imme—
diately thereafter ensued. This auspicious state of repose was of short
duration ; o soon as the season for active operations opened, ome general
ferment of discontent and insurrection made its appearance from Ghirisk to
Jellalabad : a condition of matters which was never remedied or allayed dur-
ing the period of our continnance in the country.

The following order was issued on the 28th of January, for the brigading
of the troops in Affghanistan: (1) the first brigade of infantry, stationed at
Cabool, and consisting of H. M.'s 13th, the 16th, 95th, and 37th Bengal
N. I, to be under the command of Sir Robert Sale ; Capt. Wade, of H. M.’s
18th, acting as major of brigade. The Candahar, or second brigade,
under the charge of General Nott, was to consist of the 2d, 42d, and 43d
N.1. The third brigade, consisting of H. M.’s 44th, the 27th and 54th
N.I., was to be commanded by Colonel Shelton: it was at this time at Jel-
lalabad. These three brigades comprised nine regiments of the line, of
which two were Queen’s and seven Company’s, aud contained probably
about 7,500 men. This was exclusive of the Bombay troops at Quettah
in Beloochistan, and Scinde,—as well as of cavalry, artillery, the Shah's
contingent, and all irregulars,—which brought up the strength of the army
required to be paid by the East India Company for the maintenance of the
Doorannee alliance, to betwixt 25,000 and 30,000 men. Loose as the statement
appears, it is diffienlt to make it more specific, from the fluctuating strength
of the irregulars, which constituted nearly one half of the contingent.

When these arrangements were made, Colouel Shelton was still on his
march, He left -Ferozepore on the 8th December, 1840, reached
Peshawur in the beginning of January, and arrived at Jellalabad abont
the 25th of that month. He crossed the convoy accompanying Dost
Mahomed. to Hindostan, at Rawul Pindee, on the 6th January. The
Kaffila escorted by Colonel Shelton’s troops is commonly known as the second
convoy of the season; the first having been that under Colonel Wallace,
mentioned in a previous chapter, and usually termed the grand convoy.
The third convoy left Ferozepore on the 31st January : it was escorted by a
wing of the 5th N.I.,a detachment of H. M.’s troops (details of the 13th
and 44th) under Captain Havelock, and a detachmeat of the Company's

-under Captain Manning and Lieut. Pottinger, some artillery drafts under
Lieut. Brougham, and a Goorkah detachment under Lieut. Crawford ; the.
whole was commanded by Lieut.~Colonel Oliver. (2) General Elphinstone
and Brigadier Anquetil accompanied this force, together with Major Thane
aod.Lieut. Eyre—all names of men speedily destined to occupy a conspicu-

1. Caleutta Government Gazette, January 28.
2. Delhi Gazette, Fcbruary 3. ’ v
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ous place amongst the fearful events which followed ten months afterwards.
- Sir Willoughby Cotton crossed them on his return three marches on their
way : he reached Ferozepore on the 6th February.

The 1st Bengal European regiment, and two companies of the 27th N.L.,
which had accompanied the grand convoy, under Colonel Wallace, were
sent back to India under command of Colonel Wheeler, as an escort to Sir
W. Cotton. These were replaced by Shelton’s brigade, and the troops
attending the second and third convoys, about 4090 in all, as a substitute
for 1100 withdrawn. These changes were afterwards censured as prema-
ture withdrawals of the troops from Affghanistan,—three men being sent
where one was intended to be taken away !

The most continuous and uninterrupted series of disorders requiring to be
enumerated occurred in 1841 near Candahar ; and that the narrative of these
may be left unbroken, a slight departure from strict chronological order will
permit the expedition of Colonel Shelton into the Nazian valley to be notic-
ed without breaking in upon the history of the squabbles with the Western
Ghilzies : those to the east and south of Cabool having given little trouble
from the month of February till the great and disastrous outbreak of Qctober,

Colonel Shelton, when on his way from Ferozepore, was directed by the
Euvoy to proceed from Jellalabad to chastise a refractory tribe called the
Sungoo Kail, inhabiting the Naziaa valley. For this purpose, a strong force
marched from Jellalabad on the 21st February, consisting of a detachment
of Sappers and Miners, and a troop of Horse Artillery with four guns,
H. M’s 44th, and the 27th N. I. Troops of the Shah Soojah cousisting
of a detachment of the mountain train, 1 squadron of the 2d Cavalry, 8d
Infantry Regiment, and 1st corps of Janbaz Cavalry. This force arrived at
Pesh Bolack, a distance of about twenty-three miles, on the 23d, and was
joined by Captain Ferris’s corps of Jezailchies, and the 8d Regiment of
Janbaz. Quitting this post on the morning of the 24th,(3) the Nazian val-
ley was entered by the Sarobi Pass soon after daybreak. The force having
been divided, Colonel Shelton advanced up the centre of the valley with
six companies of H. M.’s 44th under Colonel Mackerell, a similar number
of the 27th N. L. under Col, Palmer, (4) and two guns under Capt. Nicholl:
The 1st Shah's Janbaz regiment, the 2d cavalry, and two hundred Jezail~
chees, under Hyder Alli, a native commandant, proceeded from the left flank
along the high ground, closing the valley on the east side : the remainder
of this corps, moving from the extreme right of the detachment, under
Captain Ferris, were to attack the enemy on the left: two companies of

3. Brigadier Shelton’s Despatch. .

4, This officer with his regiment (27th N, 1) was shut up in Ghuznie in
the following November, and.becamo a prisoncr in March 1842, remaining in
thoe hands of the enemy till Soptember.
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I1.M.’s 44th, and two of the 27th N.I., supported by detachments from the
same regimeunts, with two six-pounder guns, under Captains Scott and
Swayne, moved along the heights on the west of the valley. A strong body
of regulars and irregulars made a considerable detour so as to emter by
the eastern pass the dell, which was thus hemmed in on all sides, Captain
Ferris came in almost immediate contact with the enemy : he attacked them
with great spirit, pursuing them with the most determined gallantry over
almost inaccessible heights, and driving them before him under a galling
fire. The Jezailchees suffered severely in the performance ot this service. The
insurgents were retiring with their women and children, and driving off their
flocks, inclining the line of their retreat so as to get out of reach of our fire
with all convenient speed, when Hyder Ali, with his two hundred Jezail-
chees, met them and captured most of their cattle : Lieutenant Golding,
with his Janbaz, made a successful charge upon the fugitives, and destroyed
a considerable number in their attempts to escape. Some skirmishing had,
meanwhile, occurred up and down the valley, where the conduct of the
troops was excellent, and their success complete. A few men atill held out
in two of the forts, till the gates werc blown open by powder-bags. The
explosion on the second occasion proved fatal to Lieutenant Pigou of the
Engineers, who, with the utmost coolness and gallantry, conducted the
operations. He was blown up and killed : his body falling at a distance of
about eighty yards from the place of explosion. The Nazian valley is about
eight miles in length, studded from end to end, on both sides, with forts.
Nearly the whole were in our possession by a little after noon, the advance
of the troops having been one continued course of success. Our casualties
amounted to eighteen killed, and thirty-four wounded : those of the enemy
were estimated at from forty to fifty killed and wounded. The following
day the same force procceded into a secluded valley adjoining, similarly de-
fended, and sprinkled with forts, but of which scarcely any thing was known :
they continued as formerly to carry every thing before them. The ground
over which the march had to be performed was difficult : the defiles were deep,
narrow, and appalling ; the heights requiring to be crowned by the flanking
parties rugged and precipitous. The loss of Captain Douglas, who was
shot dead by the side of his commander, was the only casualty which oc-
curred, and by the evening of the 25th, eighty-twoforts had been captured. (5)
The force returned to camp, having fulfilled the objects of the expedition
in devastating a valley whose inhabitants had proved refractery on the
usual subject of tribute, it is presumed : though the occasion or manner
in which the insubordination for which they were chastised manifested itself,
is not stated. The third convoy of the season, which, as already noticed,

5, Colonel Shelton’s Despateh, 25th February.
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commenced its march on the 1st February, was now well on its way towards
the Attock, and Captain Broadfoot, escorting a portion of the Shah’s family,
had just entered, or was about to enter, the Seikh territory, where the dis-
pute for the suceession betwist the Dowager Princess and Shere Singh was
threatening disorder.

The third brigade, in consequence of the disturbances apprehended in the
Punjaub, was meanwhile ordered to stand fast at Jellalabad, to watch the
progress of events. The third convoy arrived in safety on the 4th April:
General Elpbinstone baving preceded them by four days. The 54th N. 1.
and a squadron of the Light Cavalry were ordered to proceed to Gunda.
muck on the 8th to keep open the way for the convoy itself, which, accom-
panied by its former escort, marched on the 9th. The Shah Soojah, at-
tended by the Envoy and court, who had, as in the first year of the new
reign, taken up his winter quarters at Jellalabad, was enabled by the guard
of the convoy to return to Cabool on the 30th of April, accompanied by
General Elphinstone, who, as already mentioned, took the place of Sir
Willoughby Cotton in the command of the forces in Affghanistan—a brief,
troubled, and disastrous charge. The arrogance of the weak and unhappy
monarch had grown upon him, as might have been expected, by the
adulation which was paid to him, and the actual power which our friendship
had enabled him to exercise compared to the mere nominal authority he had
formerly possessed when on the throne. Punctilious at all times, he now
gave full rein to that small-minded and miserable selfishness which far.
nished the most prominent feature in his character; insisting on the
minutest observance of etiquette and ceremony. (6)

6. The following extract of a letter of Sir William Macnaghten’s, accom-
panying the report of Sir A. Burnes on the Consolidation of Affghanistan, to
which we have already had occasion to refer, sufficiently indicates the excessively
cxaggerated view taken of his majosty’s excellences by the envoy in August
1840 :— His Majesty invariably evinces the groatest anxiety that justice should
be done to all his subjects. His Majesty sits in durbar every morning, exoept
Thursday, for about two hours, and iistens with the greatest patience to tho re.
presentations of his chiefs. One day is set apart for hearing the complaints of
all those who may allege that they have not received redress from the autho-
rities to whom their cases have been referred.—Though stern in the execution
of justice (as was exemplified only the other day in the case of the murderer
in whose pardon so much influence was exerted) yet His Majesty is morciful
and kind-hearted in tho extreme; aund if the personal qualities of & monarch
could ensure Fopularity, Shah Soojah could not fail to obtain it. My longer
experience of His Majesty’s character more thoroughly convinces me of the
truth of what I have alrcady asserted, that there is not an abler or a better
man than himself in all his dominions.”’—The subjoined extract from a private
journal kept l\Il)(y Sir Alexander Burnes up to the day before his murder, and
preserved by Mohun Lal, will show how completely tho opinions of Sir W.
Macnaghten were shortly afterwards changed :— .

¢ Cabool, 18t Soptember, 1841, * * * Au expression from Mac-
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The Eavoy, who continued to profess the highest opinion of the ex-
cellences of the Shah's charaeter and of his capacity for government,
indulged him in tho silliest whims, and most absurd and troublesome
caprices, On his return to the capital an order was issned that no officer
should ride through, or even enter, the Bala Hissar, unless required so to
do as a matter of duty. A fort which Captain Mainwaring had purchased
at a large price, as a residence, as well as one of the commissariat stores,
were directed to be abandoned or removed as being too near the royal
gardens!

The history of Seikh affairs, from the death of Runjeet Sing, in July 1839,
to the accession of Shere Sing, is well worthy of a separate chapter: it
may be sufficient here to remark, that the Lion of the Punjaub having
been quiotly succeeded by his son, the weak and imbecile Kurruck Sing,
this prince was cut off on the 5th November after a lingering and painful
illnesss, aggravated by the prescriptions of native physicians, which alone
he could be persuaded to attend to. His body was burned, and one of his
wives with three or four of her hand-maidens, were immolated on the funeral
pyre. His only son and beir, Nao Nehal Sing, was killed the same day by
the falling of a beam in one of the city gates on returning from his father’s
obsequies.

Two days after this Shere Sing, Governor of Cashmere, was proclaimed
Sovereign. This prince was the son of one of the wives of Runjeet Sing, but
born on an occasion when her husband had been so long absent from home,
as to leave little doubt as to his illegitimacy. He was, however, treated as a
prince of the blood, though not considered heir to the throne. He was made
governor of Cashmere: was a maa of both energy and ability, but of habits
so extremely dissipated, that he was much estranged from the old Lion him-
self, whose own manner of life should have made him in the last degree
forbearing towards the frailties of hisimputed son. Shere Sing hastened
to Lahore and was duly installed on the musnud. Meaawhile one of
the wives of Kurruck Sing was declared pregnant, and shut up in the
zenana ;=23 large party, including the European officers taken into
pay by Runjeet Sing, being attached to her cause. This looked for-
midable, and though the people clung to the prince, the strength of his
party continued for a time to decline, when at length he professed to have
abdicated and rotired from power. This was merely a ruse to enable him
to visit those districts where he was popular, and to raise and collect his
friends for a further effort. A revolution took place early in January, the

naghten to-day that © the Shah Soojah was an old woman not fit to rule his
fgg{’lg. with divers other condemnations.’—Aye, see my Travels so far back as
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prince returned towards the city, the leading men joined him on the way,
and the army went over to his standard under the walls of Lahore. Gene-
rals Court, Ventura, and Avitabile had been brought over, and before the
end of the month, the new ruler was seated on the throne; the princess
haviog been persnaded to abandon farther claims for the present but not till
after offering a stout defence, in which 2000 of her followers are said to have
fallen. These events occasioned much commotion through the country, the
troops becoming mutinous and disorderly, and acting as brigands on the
chief lines of route. No serions mischiefs, luckily, arose out of these dis-
orders, whose aspect at one time had been so alarming. By the commence-
ment of the hot season matters were so far tranquillized that the Seikh
troops were entrusted with the conveyauce of treasure for our armies.

About the end of March, Captain Broadfoot left Ferozepore with a
weak detachment of sepoys, a small body of Ghoorkas, and a detachment of
Alexander’s horse—in all about 1000 strong, one half only being regular
infantry,—in charge of a portion of the family of the Shah Soojah, including
about 100 ladies, who had not till now rejoined him. Soon after he
entered the Punjaub, the country became much disturbed; several regi-
ments had mutinied, and bands of robbers marauded all over the kingdom.
As the ladies’ jewels were valuable, and the econvoy had a considerable quan-
tity of property in charge, a strong inducement to attack was held out to
men ever ready to plander under the slightest of temptations. Much sick-
ness prevailed, and nearly 150 sepoys are said to have deserted. An acci-
dent occurred early on the march, eminently illustrative of eastern manners,
in reference to the seclusion in which the females of the higher ranks are
maintained. A restive camel threw its load, consisting of one of the wives of
his majesty, concealed with as much privacy as a camel litter would permit.
The beast fell heavily upon his burthen, which now entangled him. In a
moment an European officer was on the spot, anxious to release the suffer—
ing captive; who amidst all the terror and torture which the struggles of
the restive animal must have occasioned, deprecated interference, and en-
treated that no man might approach to subject her to sufferings worse than
death,~~that of being seen! She was so injured that she died a few hours
afterwards. Though repeatedly threatened, the prudent conduet and beld
front at all times manifested by Captain Broadfoot, overawed the rebels. His
chief danger was near Attock, where the occupants of a stockade first threat «
ened an immediate attack on him. Though outanumbering his force by
about six to onein strength, he sent a peremptory maundate to them, inti.
mating that uoless they immediately gave him what assistance was required
to help him on his way, he would compel them; and that if they continued
to maintain the present unfriendly aIt‘tiltnde, he would attack and destroy
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their fort. It was easier to make this threat than to carry it into execu—
tion ; but the bold confidence it implied, served the purposes desired. En-
trenchments meanwhile were dug, and defences thrown up, and the most
active preparations made for hostilities. The Seikhs even proceeded so faras
to plunder the women’s travelling litters, havinz got it into their heads that
they carried treasure, They next secured several of our cattle, and some of
the chiefs came into camp and became iansolent. Finding that Captain
Broadfoot was not to be bullied, they produced a letter from Genl. Avitabile,
assuring him of protection. This was throwa back in their faces—they
were told that fifty letters from the General would not make thieves honest
men ; and that they must restore every thing they had taken, or they would
be instantly attacked; and that if this was not done in ten minutes, they
would be treated as criminals. They now became terrified, and did- as
they were desired. Alarmed and humbled, they permitted the convoy to
cross the Attock and proceed towards Peshawur, where it arrived in safe-
ty on the 18th May. Such, however, had been the alarm for their safety,
that Col. Shelton proceeded by forced marches through the pass with H.M.'s
44th, 1st troop st brigade H. A., two squadrons of the 5th L. C., with the
27th and 54th N. L, to assist him ia case of need—or at all events to show
the Selkhs that aid was at hand. Their duties were happily limited to
those of an eacort from Jumrood to Jelallabad. They reached Cabool on the
17th June ; a party of the Sappers having been left behind to look after the
magazine stores at Gundamuck,

To the northward and westward of Cabool though discontent was ge-
neral, and casual outbreaks of a trivial nature not unfrequent, no affair
of any considerable importance occurred betwixt the surrender of Dost Ma-
homed and the general rising which took place exactly that day twelve-month
—on the 2d November 1841. To the south the Ghilzies and Khyberrees
were liberally rewarded for the use of their passes ; and just so long only
as their stipend of £8000 a-year was paid in full, did they remain at peace.

The scene of the narrative which relates to the warlike proceedings of
saummer 1841 must now be shifted to the westward. At Candahar popular
discontent appeared to be approaching a crisis just as matters around Cabool
were becoming tranquillized by the surrender of Dost Mahomed on the
8d November. (7) Sufter Jung, son of Shah Soojah, had been appointed
governor of the town and province, with asalary of £1700 a-year. The whole
of the offspring of the Doorannee sovereign——Prince Timour alone excepted
—~appeared to have been men of the most worthless character, and depraved
and dissipated habits. The Candabar governor was a wretch too execrable

7. See Chapter IIL, p, 162.

— e
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to live, He is said frequently to have increased an income of £140 a.
month to £10,000, by extortion alone: on one occasion, he put & merchant
to the torture on some frivolous protence, and released him only when £300
had been paid by his relations for his liberation. The money thus vils
janously obtained was squandered in the gressest sensuality, and in shame~
less and excessive indulgence in a vice not uncommon in the east, which
in Europe is reckoned ao infamous, above all others, as to be nameless. {8)
On one occasien he managed to entice some Europeans into his residence,
and, having drugged them with brandy, took advantage of their helpless
condition. One of them afterwards poisoned himaelf. The political agent
was not allowed to interfere with the pleasures of the Prince, whose mis-
conduet was thus bringing scandal on the British name, (9} The contrast
betwixt the family of the late and preseunt ruler was most disadvantageous
to us: the sons of Dost Mahomed being so remarkable for their good
conduet, and manly, soldier-like, and intelligent bearing, as to make a
deep impression on every European who came in contact with them. (10)
By the middle of December the country was threatened with a general
insurrection—discontent way at its highest pitch everywhere, and the
detestation of the Shah Soojah, intense and universal as it had now be-
come, was too manifest 1o be disputed by the most devoted of his friends,
A detachment of 800 men—a sort of armed police—provided with a
couple of guns, having been sent to the westward to collect revenue on
.the banks of the Helmund, were attacked by the enemy and defeated, 400
or 500 of them having been killed and their guns taken. Sunch a casualty
demanded inetant attention from the authorities, About this time a detach-
ment, consisting of the Ist troop Shab’s Artillery, 2nd N.I., and Ist Cavalry,
with 2 guns and some Irregular Horse, was dispatched from Candshar by
General Nott, under charge of Captain Farrington, into the Zamin Dawn v
country, for the purpose of dispersing a body of rebels assembled under a
chief named Akhtar Khan,(11) They reached Koosh-kina~Khood on the
28th December, and halted on the following day to permit Lieat, Elliott,
the political agent, to complete his arrangements. On the morning of the
30th, thay proceeded to Sungboor, 16 miles in the direction of Saerwan-
killah, where the detachment of the Shah’s troops, under Mahomed Allum
Khan had the evening before lLeen completely worsted, his guus and
baggage having been captured by the imsurgeats, This success on the

8. Agra Uklbar, Nov. 7,.—Bombay Times.

9. Letter of the medical attendsnt of the prince.—Bombay Times, October
21, 1840,

10. Letters from the late Dr. Graut, Bombay medical service.—Bombay
Times.
11. Caplain Farrington’s despateh, 4th January, 1841,
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part of the enemy was likely to acquire for them many new adherents, and
a8 their force was now making formidable head, Capt. Farrington resclved
to hasten matters as much as possible; preserviag the utmost secrecy as to
bis intentions. On the morning of the 3lst, the detachment marched 25
miles, crossing the river Helmuod, here a broad and difficult stream, and
ocoupyiog the fort of Ghirisk on its western bank 80 miles from Candahar.

On the 1st Jan. the march was continued 22 miles farther to Kareegha.
By these rapid movements the rebels were outmancmuvred and outwitted.
They became so completely misled as to the object of our movements, and
patare of our position, as to believe at one time that another force was in
their rear. On the 2d a halt to refresh the men was indispensible. It hav-
ing been reported that the insurgent force was in the neighbourhood, a re-
eonnoitring party, consisting of some irregular horse and a portion of the 1st
cavalry, under Licutenants Patterson and Hawkins of the horse artillery,
proceeded in the direction of Lundie Nowah. The enemy were discovered to
have taken up a difficult position among the sand hills in the neighbourhood.
They had a strong range of heights in their front, and a canal in their rear.
The irrogular horse, with Lieutenant Patterson, haviog succeeded in driving
in their outposts, gave Lieutenant Hawkina time to bring his guns, which
were supported by the 2d N.L, into position. A well-directed fire of grape
and shrapnell having been opened upon the rebels, they were prevented
erossing the erest of the heights, behind which they ensconced themselves.
The 1st cavalry followed up the advantage thus gained by the 2d N.I.: they
charged under a heavy fire of matchlocks, and drove the enemy everywhere
from their position, The insurgent force consisted of from 1200 to 1500
horse and foot : they were drawn up in four divisions, two of which at-
tempted to turn our left. Their objects were frustrated by the cavalry, who
charged and defeated them. They were now completely routed : sixty were
left dead upoun the fleld, amongst whom was one chief of distinction. A
standard was taken. Their wounded must have amouated to several hun.
dreds. After half an hour’s halt at the conclusion of the action, the de-
tachment posted on to Shornek, the stronghold of a rebel chief: where the
guns, lost on the 29th, were recaptured. We had six killed, and fourteen
wounded. Lieatenant Young was severely, and Lieut. Patterson slightly,
injured. This seems to have beea a very judiciously and gallantly con-
ducted expedition altogether, and reflected the utmost credit on Captain
Farringtou, the military leader, and Lieutenant Eiliot, the political autho-
rity. (12)

On the 9th Feb. the 38th N.I. under Colonel Wymer, arrived at Canda-
har, and were added to the strength of Gen. Nott's brigade. Oa the 20th,

12. The narrative is slightly abridged from the despatch.
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the 1st regiment of the Shah's infantry, 500 irregular horse commande.
by Captain Leeson, together with the 5th Shah's infantry under the com-
mand of the gallant Captain Woodburn, (13) left Candahar to reinforce the
garrison at Ghirisk. Fears were entertained for Major Tod and his party,
now known to have left Herat, and believed to have Ukhtar Khan in front,
and Yar Mahomed in their rear. They arrived at Ghirizk on the 21st with-
out sustaining barm : they had left on the 9th, and were aware that numerous
parties of marauders were on the way ready to attack them : but the escort
of the embassage was too strong, and the intended assailants kept their
distance. Matters having become comparatively quiet in Shawl, Captain
Anderson’s troop of horse artillery, with the remainder of the 33th N. I,
were ordered to retura to Candabar from Quettah, at which latter place
the army of General Brooks was immediately expected.

The troubles of the Ghilzie country affords a connected and almost unin-
terrupted series of disturbances from the surrender of Dost Mahomed—
the date at which the scene was shifted from Cabool to Beloochistan,~~down
to the termination of our connection with the Doorannee empire.

The characters of the political administrations of Mr. Bell and Capt. Bean,
—the authority of the former of whom was absolute ia the couatries below the
Bolan pass, that of the latter being supreme in the district immediately above
it, have already been detailed in a previous chapter. Major Rawlinson (14)
held the chief political authority at Candahar—Masjor Lyach(15) being im-
mediately under him in charge of the Ghilzie country. The latter officer
unfortunately seemed to have been deeply imbued with the creed at this
time unhappily of general prevalence amongst the politicians of India
whose votaries held it a mazim, that in state affairs the ordinary principles
of morality were by no means to be beld binding, but that something which
they termed * expediency,’” which seemed to warrant every variety of
roguery, trick, and deceit—which furnished every man, in short, with au~
thority to do without reproach in his public character, whatever he thought
fit, was the sole rule by which statesmen, big and small, should be guided.
The laws ot war and of nations as recognised in Europe, were held to be
inapplicable in cases where such countries as Affghanistan had to be dealt
with.(16) These things, which are gathered from the published statements

13. This brave and excellent officer was, along with a party of one hundred
sick sepoys on their way to Hindostan, attacked at the outbreak of the insur-
rection on the 3d Nov. 1841, and cut to pieces near Ghuzaie.

14. Lieut. Rawlinson has the local rank of Major in Persia. At the time
reterred to he was a Lieut. of 1835, of the 1st Bombay Grenadiers, and is a
Knight of the Lion and Sun.

15. The same is the case with Major Lyuch, a Lieut. of 1833.

16. These seem still favourite views amongst a considerablo class of per-
sons, both at home and here, in reference to Indian affairs. The statement of
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of Major Lynch, are necessary to be explained to account for some portions
of his proceedings, otherwise not easy to be accounted for, :

On the restoration of the Shah Socjah in August 1839, Sunnud Khan bad
been appointed chief of the Tokey (Ghilzie) tribe, more from the conside-
ration of his having been a well-wisher to his Majesty, than for auy in-
trinsic qualities for government possessed by him. He seemed to have
been a weak.minded man, unfitted for the exercise of the authority which
had been placed in his hands ; and Major Lynch accordingly recommended
his removal—not save he *‘ that this was a just act, for vothing could be
brought forward to impugn bis loyalty or fidelity,” but becanse he was ill gua-
lified to rule the tribes over whom he had been set.(17) The change was ac-
cordingly effected ; Sunnud Kban was removed, and a chief more vigorous,
ove of his rivals of the race of Shaboodeen Killie was set up to rule in his
stead. The country for a time became comparatively tranquil. In the be-
ginning of July, Lieutenaot Nicholson, who had hitherto been the active
manager of Ghilzio matters, left for Cabool,~—the entire charge hereby de-
volving on Major Lynch, who bad a force consisting of the Shah's 5th Hin-
dostanes Regiment, 4 gune, and betwixt 300 and 400 Irregular Horse placed
at his disposal.(18) These were directed toremain in the field till the beginning
of winter ; but they were not expected to be required in actual fighting, as
every effort was directed to be made to conciliate the tribes. Sultan Maho-
med Khan, one of the most obstinate and refractory of the chiefs, was at
length; and with much difficulty, induced to take the oath of allsgiance to
the Shah Soojah. He was a shrewd, cunning, unscrupulous, and enterprizing
man, and much value was attached to his friendship. He, 8o early as the
month of August, recommended that the troops meant to be maintained in
that quarter of the country shonld occupy Kelat-i-Ghilzie, which place he
recommended as in itself a commanding station, and one where the govern-
ment of the country had generally been located. When Dost Mahomed
made his appearance on the Kohistan frontier previous te the battle of Ba-
meean on the 18th September,(19) emissaries had been sent into the Ghil-
zie country, but were nnable to shake the loyalty of the chiefs. Ia this
auspicious coodition matters remained till the approach of winter, when the

Lord Lansdowne, received by the House of Commons as axiomatic in 1818,
seems to have becomeexploded before 1838, His lordship said ‘t that he did
not believe their lordstips would sanction any rules of war in Tundia, differing
from those prescribed in Europe; that it was their duty to convey over every
portion of the globe where their power extended, those principles of justice
and moderation which governed them in Europe.”

17. Major Lynch’s statement for the Envoy, June 22, 181l. Bombay Times,
April 20, 1842,

18. The narrative of the affairs of the Ghilzie countey will be found to have

been brought down thus far in Chapter 111, . 148. B
10, Videante, p. 166, P » P 147 and 14
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severity of the cold compelled the withdrawal of the troops. They retived
to Candahar on the 14th November attended by such an escort of friendly
Ghilzies as had rarely been seen assembled together for any purpose save to
concert for war or pluader. ’

In the beginaing of Decr. (20) it became kanown that about 70 of the mem-
bers of the Shaboodeen tribe, including a brother of a chief of mote who had
found refuge in the Punjaub the previous year,(21) had been made over
to the British Government and sent prisoners to India. The Affighane ap-
pear all along to have held in special abhorreuce the idea of being removed
from their native country, and detained as captives in Hindostan. “ Itis a
very common saying amengst them,” observes Major Lyanch, from whose
statement this much of the present narrative is chiefly taken, ** when they
talk of the Shah Soojah in conanection with the British, and whea they are
told that he is king of Affghanistan, and only supported by the Indian
Government, that they conceive it rather a curious fact that Shah Soo-
Jjah should be king of Affighanistan, and have his state prisons in Iandia or
London. I am firmly of opinion, that if there has beeu one measure more
than another calculatad to make us unpopular with the Affghans, it has been
the untoward circumstance of sending into exile Hadjee Khan Kakur and
the other Affghan khans.”

From this time Major Lynch considered that all chance of the system of
conciliation——which had previously been so promising—ultimately proving
successful was now at an end, and that coercion and severe measures could
alone produce or maintaia tranquillity, The mode in which he proposed
to change from the one to the other was certainly summary and uanscrupulous
enough. He writes to the Envoy under date 27th December—* It is just
as well the Tokies did not know you had seized their Pet-man [one of the
Ghilzies given up to us by the Seikhs, and for the possession of whose
person it appears the Eavoy had for six or seven months been negociating]
or the chief of the Shaboodeen Killie, or they might, in all probability,
have boned me, and given you some trouble, when the Dost was at large.
However, we have langhed at their beards, and hope you will now approve
of my adopting a pew system, for the coaciliatory one will not work in the
Tokey land for the Future. W8 CAR BASILY GRT THEM T0 COMMIT THEM~
SELVESR, AND IN LIEU of their present pay, give them a few more rounds of
cannister from Aanderson’s guns, which they will now in all probability

20. It is called March in Major Lyanch’s MS. ; instead of 1st March it mast
be 1st December,—a note farther down discusses the matter.

21, ¢ The 8Seikhs who had been detected giving harbourage to the Ghilzie
refugees some months before; were sow ( Sept. 1840) proved to have promised
supplies of money to Dost Mahomed Khan,” ante, Chap. IIIL., p. 152,
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require before the winter is over.”(22) A more indefensible system than
this, though it was afterwards practised on a larger scale against the Ameers
of Scinde, cannot be conceived :—premeditatedly to drive or to entrap men
into a quarrel, for the purpose of being able to slaughter and get rid of
them, is 8o closely allied to wholesale murder, that it gives a sad view of
the political morality of the time to see such a sentiment as is here express—
ed, in a formal official paper, should have been passed uncensured. In
the month of January 1841, so strong was the feeling of dissatisfaction
through the tribe, that Major Lynch proceeded at once into the country,
when a deeply laid plot to seize himself and his escort was discovered. He
was met by about 1000 horse, who pretended to have been assembled to
welcome him back, but were so in fact for the purpose of attacking him.
He managed to make them aware that he was not ignorant of their desigus,
and persuaded them to abandon thein, and once more to seal the Koran in
the name of the king—the Affghan mode of swearing allegiance.

Shortly afterwards, intimation was sent to the chief by whom this very
measure had been originally advised, that Kelat-i-Ghilzie was to be fortified
aund garrisoned, Sultan Mahomed Khan assembled the head men to con-
sult on the subject ; and though he pointed out the futility of resistance to
our wishes, they determined to set themselves in this matter against us. A
very civil but guardedly-written letter was sent back to the political agent,
intimating that the measure in contemplation would be moat unpopular with
the tribe. They suspected our objects, and were in the last degree jealous
of permitting a foreign force to be permanently established amongst them.
The minor chiefs were written to in succession, but with no better success :
the determination to resist the coastruetion of fortifications and establishment
of a garrison, seemed firm and universal. Failing to persaade them to per-
mit us to establish ourselves peaceably in the capital of the country, it was
resolved that a garrison should be placed there by force.

About the end of April, a detachment consisting of the Ist and 2d Shah’s
Hindostanee infantry, commanded by Captains Griffin and Macan, about 300
of Christie’s horse (Shah’s st cavalry), and a couple of guas, were dispatch-
ed from Candahar to occupy the ground on which the fort was to be built.
The distance from Candahar is 80 miles, and the country here attains an
elevation of 5778 feet, intermediate betwixt that of the place they had

.22. We are unable to reconcile Major Lynch’s dates with each other. In
his statement, he says that it was on the 1st of March 1841 on which he
made the discovery about the Ghilzies having been carried to India—yet the
letter itself is dated 27th December 1840. Moreover, in a letter of 1st Dec.
same year, the matter is specially referred to; and the Envoy, under date 15th
same month, makes some severe remarks thereon. 1st Dac. 1840, instead of
1st March 1841, must be thedate intended, though even this produces confusion
with the rest of the narrative.
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left, which was 3484, and_Ghuenie, still 140 miles further to the north.west
of them, which rose to the altitude of 7726.

The troops appear to have experienced no molestation on' their advance,
but no sooner had they reached their destination than they planted the Bri.
tish standard with much ostentation and display, and saluted it with a salvo
of artillery and three volleys of musketry : a silly proceeding in itself under
any circumstances; but, on the present occasion, caleulated to irritate and
madden a people sufficiently discontented, and prepared to take umbrage at
what they must have viewed as insult added to aggression. They were
already boiling with rage and indignation at the seizure of their kinsfolks,
and chafing under the oppression;of the new order of things ; and were ready
to rise in arms on the slightest additional provocation, and take vengeance
on any one who came within reach of their wrath. It does not appear that
this was even a part of the execrable system suggested * to get them to
commit themselves,” but a simple act of spontaneous imprudence. Just
after this, Major Lynch, hearing of the discontents everywhere prevailing
around, resolved to satisfy himself as to the state of matters with his own
eyes, and so started with a feeble escort to take a general survey of the
country, In passing the fort of Kulla-i-Ingoz, about six miles off, the
people observing a body of 200 or 300 horse, as they supposed with hostile
intent in their neighbourhood, turned out and made demonstrations to the
extent of flourishing their swords, indicating that they would not tamely
submit without resistance. (28) An officer was immediately sent back,
ordering out a regiment, and a couple of guns to chastise this instance of
contumely. The detachment arrived about 10 o’clock at night, and an dttack
was immediately commenced on the fort, which turned out to be garrisoned
only by 30 men. They defended themselves stoutly till half their numbers
were slain ; and not till we had blown up the gate with powder-bags, by
which an officer was nearly destroyed, nor till Captains Saunders and Macan
and Lieutenant Hoppe were wounded, and several sepoys slain, did we
manage to get possession of the stronghold, in which five prisoners were
taken! It afterwards appeared that the Kulla-i-Ingoz chief was a firm
friend of the Shah Socjah ! :

The country was immediately in arms, and the garrison at Kelat-i- Ghilzie
surrounded by from 3000 to 4000 men furious for the fray. A requisition for
troops was at once forwarded to Cabool and Candahar. The Eavoy disap«
proved of the whole proceedings, and declined to permit reinforcements to be
sent. He desired Capt. Macan to act strictly on the defensive, and he accord-
iagly remained in cantonments, morely driving off the enemy, who, mistaking

23. Calcutta Englishman, Junc 8. M1
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inaction for timidity, dttacked his pickets. So sdon as the tidifigs of these
unhappy events reached Candahar, a reinforcoment under Colonel Wymer
was ordered to be dispatehed with the utmost speed to the Ghilzie country.
This sonsisted of 400 wen of thé 38th N.I., the remainder of Christie’s horse,
eommsnded by Capt. Leeson, shortly before retarned from Ghirisk, with feut
horse artillery guns, and a large supply of stores for the fort. When the
enemy, about 4000 strong; heard of their spproach they retired from the
neighbourhood of Kelat-i~Ghilzle, and proceeded tg interrupt the advanee of
the reinforcement. They edme upon our camp about 6 o’clock in the evening
of the 20th May, at & place salled Assas Hazzarsh, and immediately attaek<
ed it; rushing down upon the bayonets of our treops; who had formed ia
front the moment the alarm was given. They were belisved by this time
to have been betwizt 4000 and 5000 strong—their old enemies the Dooran-
nees having forgotten their quarrels, and joined theni iu common enmity te
us. They were steadily withstood and repulsed, but again and again they
rushed on with the most determined gallaotry. Foiled in this, the Ghilsiés
endeavoured to turn our flank with still worse sudcess than that which ate
tended thelr atiempt to force our front. The engagement lasted till 11-the
five hours’ fighting being chiefly in the dark. They were beaten in every
quarter, and when morning breke were found to bave quitted the feld, leave
ing 70 dead behind them. Their wounded were as nsual carried away. Our
casualtios amotunted to four killed and fifteen wounded. Col. Wymer’s fores
was too weak, and the country too formidable, to permit of & pursuit being
attempted. The conduct of oficers and men is said on this ocoasion te
have been admirable : the coolness of the cemmander in making his arrange-
ments when taken by surprise, was above all praise. Next morning the de~
tachment and convoy procéeded on their march, and reached Kelat-i-Ghilzie
withont further interruption. Strangely enough these events were after-
wards associated with the general rising in November, a matter with which,
as will appear in the narrative, they had no earthly concern. The Zondoei
Times newspaper first took up this view-—misied, apparently, by an In-
dian correspondent, and the errer was fallén into by the writer of the Asanal
Register, who supplies one of the most inacchrate accounts of oriental
affairs in existence,

‘The severe castigationinflicted by Colonol Wymer, and the strength te whieh
the post at Kelat-i-Ghilzie had now been raised, appears for a time to have
overawed the people ; the more impatient and flery of the malcontents having
probably joined the standard of Ukhtar Khan, who was still in forod on the
Helmund, giving great annoyance, snd about to beleaguer or attack the gar-
rison at Ghirisk. The construction of the works of the intended fortress
was commenced and proceeded with ; the place was strong by

(

nature, a beautiful eminence of about 100 fect in height, with a splendid
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spring on its summit, surmeunted by a cone of rock 80 feet higher stili, was
to be walled in and defended by acouple of 18-prs and other guns ; and fur-
ther to ensure tranquillity while these were in progress, a detashment was
sent out from Ghuznie ¢o the westward, and quaréered in the Ghilzie
country.  The post they oecupied was at Mookloor, six marches from
Ghaznie, and nearly as much from Kelat—i-Ghilzie, The troops consisted
of the 16th and 43d N.1., nowset down amongst the reliefs as about to return
to India by the Bolan Pass in Oetober, (2¢) the 5th Light Cavalry, and a
ressalah of Local Horse, with three of the Shah’s guus, the whole com-
manded by Colonel Chambers, of the 5th Cavalry. The insurgents having
made their appearance in considerable numbers in thé neighbourhood, the
detachment already alluded to broke up its camp on the 1st of August.
About noon they arrived at Eck-au, 18 miles in advance, They here ex~
pected to have overtaken the enemy, who were found, however, to have re-
tired to a pass adjoining, where they were reported to be in numbers, both
horse and foot. On the evening of the 2d, & part of the detachment arrived
ia the valley of Karootoo, well knocked up with a march of 25 miles over
‘billy and irregular grouad. (25) For the next three days the enemy son-
tinued to increase—our troops apparently remainiag in camp till such a body
should make their appearance as might bs attacked and dispersed with effect.
About eight o’clock on the morning of the 5th shots were heard on the left
of the valley, where the grass-cutters were employed in procuring forage,
and a8 troop was immediately ordered to be got in readiness. Soon after
this, information was brought that the enemy were descending the Shea-
Kotel Pass, ia the direction of a weak reconnoitring party of the 4th Irre-
gular bhorse under Capt. Walker, Lieut, Bazzett’s troop being by this time
in readiness, was dispatched to his assistance, with as many of the 4th res-
salah as could be sont, with a view of keeping the enemy in check till the
iafantry and remainder of the cavalry were able to make up with them.
There were supposed by this time to be not fewer than 3000 Ghilzies bear~
ing down upon the grass-cutters, when Capt. Walker, now strengihened by
the arrival of Lient. Bazzsett, made a hrilliant charge with ths Laocal Horse,
cutting yp about 200 of the ememy. Lieut. Bazzett meanwhile sttacked
another party, of whom about 20 wera slain. The last-pamed offiser was

24. Calcutta Englishman, 30th August,

25. The chief portion of the above is taken from the DelAi Gazette of the
23d June and 28th August, and gives an abatract of letters from camp. Col.
Chambers’s dispatch is meagre and obscure. Mr Btoequeler in his ¢ Memerials
of Affghanistan,” the most incorrect and untrustworthy work on the subject
which wo have seen, states (p. 159) that Colonol Chambers’s detachment
was sent out from Caodahar in consequence of Capt. Woodburn's applica-
tion for reiuforcements at Ghirisk !~ ' '
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shot through the thigh, and Captain Walker's horse was killed under him ia
the charge. Colonel Chambers states, that as his column approached the scene
of action, he could distinctly see Captain Walker and Lieut. Bazzett with
their parties dashing boldly over the hill after the enemy, driving them off in
all directions, and, in short, leaving nothing for him to do.(26) A few Horse
and Foot having been observed in the Syeeghan Ghaut as the main column

passed, Captain Olddeld, with a troop of the 5th Cavalry, was directed to
halt at a distance and merely hold them in check until the troops returned.

As they speedily increased both in boldness and numbers, the cavalry charged
and dispersed them, killing from 28 to 30. Our loss in all amounted to 1

man killed and S woanded,—that of the enemy by the statement just given,

appears to have exceeded 250,~this, we think, must be an exaggeration,

=it is difficult to suppose anything like 200 to have fallen by the haads of

the Irregular Horse on such ground. The detachment after this remained

for a time in the valley previous to proceeding to the westward ; the 16th

resumed its march about a week afterwards, and arrived at Kelat-i-Ghilzie
on the 17th, and Candahar on the 25th August.(27) Half of the 5th Ca-
valry, and a similar proportion of the 43d N. I., hadbeen sent into the Toree
passes when the detachment first moved.(28)

The strength now attalned by the force at Ghirisk, and the magnitade of
the army assembling at Quettah, and mystery of its dest ination, tended to
impress on the recollections of the insurgents the lesson Captain Farrington
had read them in the first week of the year. Though the country continned
in a state of disorder, they seem not for some months to have mustered any
where in such numbers as to permit scope for a regular attack being made
on them.  Sometime in June, Ukhtar Khan took the field, and fairly set
himself down before Ghirisk, with a body of 3,000 men, from which, by
this date, Captain Woodburn’s troops appear to have been withdrawn. (29)

On the news of these disturbances reaching Candahar, Geaeral Nott or-
dered out a force, consisting of a detachment of the 1st troop horse artillery,
with detachments of the 1st and 2d Janbaz horse, and the 5th Shah’s Hin-
dostanee infantry. These were placed uader the command of Captain
‘Woodburn, with the following efficers under him :—=Captain Hart, Lieuts.
Cooper, Golding, Ross, and Clark, and Assistant-Surgeon Colquhoun.

26. Colonel Chambers’s Despatch verbatim. The chief part of the narrative
continues to be taken from the Delki Gazetis.
. 27. Delki Gazeits, 8th Sept.

. 28, Delhi Gazetts utsupra,

20, The information from this quarter is, from Jan. to June, very defective.
The inference of the withdrawal of Captain Woodburn’s troops is based on the
fact of that officer having advaaced in the end of June from the Candahar
side, as related in the text from his own despatch.
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It was thought likely that on hearing of the approach. of the Candahar
troops the enemy might retire along the river’s bank, and a short detour
was resolved upon with a view of meeting them. They continued, how-
aver, before the walls of the fort until Captain Woodburn approached the
Helmund, and found that they were in possession of all the fords, The
river, which at certain seasons of the year is 350 yards wide, and from 2 to 8
foet deep, is two miles from the fort, (830) The enemy appearing deter-
mined to prevent Captain Woodburn from crossing the stream, Capt. Hart
was directed to advance three miles up its banks about daybreak on the 4th,
to the ford of Sumboolee, and there cross, with the 2d Janbazes,- and so
move down upon the enemy while Captain Woodburn himself attempted
to get over lower down, at a place where, according to the assistant political
agent, it was no more than knee deep: Capt. Hart executed his portion of
the movement with perfect success, when, on advancing towards the insur-
gent foree, he luckily discovered the mishap that had befallen Capt. Wood-
burn : the so-called knee-deep ford, from the depth and rapidity of the water,
proved impracticable, and he was condemned to see, from the high banks,
the enemy's force drawn up in order on the; further side, while the Janbazes
were in danger of being attacked, amnd cut off in detail. Captain Hart
observing what had happened, was able to retire and recross in time, Capt.
‘Woodburn, with the remainder of the force, joined him at Sumboolee about
eight o’clock in the morning. The enemy having observed these movements,
advanced up the farther bank of the Helmund, and posted themselves at the
entrance of the ford right opposite to our troops. It was now excessively
hot, and the men were fatigued with the march of the morning and previous
night, having been in motion for nearly twelve hours, so Captain Woodbura
contented himself with firing some round-shot, which compelled them to
retire to a respectful distance. Immediately on this he pitched his camp
close to the river, having resolved to wait till the excessive heat of the day
was over before commencing an attack. The hills in the British rear were,
for a mile up the river, crowaed with horsemen, whosa duty it was to watch
the enemy and give information of his movements. About half-past 4 the
insurgents, it was observed, began to getin motion. Lieut. Golding was de-
tached with the Janbaz cavalry to watch their progress and prevent them
from crossing the river. In the latter of these he failed in accomplishing
his object, the enemy having contrived to ford the Helmund considerably
further up. They were now advancing in large bodies on the position of
Captain Woodburn, from which they were less than three miles distant.
The British troops immediately changed their ground, taking up a strong

30. See Conolly’s Travels, vol. ii., p, 381. This traveller visited Ghirisk
and crossed the Helmund in October.
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poest on the loft of the camp, the best which, under the circumstances, ap-
peared to be attainsble. The guns were stationed betwixt the 4th and 5th
companies of the 5th Hindoostanee Infantry ; the Janbaz regimeats were
formed on either flank, and 200 horsemen were placed in the rear to protect
the baggage. A large mass of the enemy's infantry were shortly after this
seen passing towards the left of Captain Woodburn's force, which required
him to make a considerable change in his order of battle,~=an alteration very
speedily ascomplished,—all the troops, save the Janbaz, moving with the
steadiness and precision of a review, The attack was made with great bold-
nees by the insurgents, but was repelled by the well-directed fire of the guns
and infantry ; the enemy on pushing towards the right, experienced a simi-
lar reception, with results similarly disastrous to them. Large bodies of
horse and foot were new seen crowding along the heights, and making for
Capt. Hart's Janbaz, posted on the extreme right of the infantry. These the
assailants speedily forced back, driving them to the rear, and followiag their
advantage close up to the baggage. Lieut. Clarke now faced round the
rear rank of the infantry, and poured a deadly fire on the enemy, compelling
them to retire. Tha rear was still threatened, the utmost exertions of the
officers failed in recovering the Janhazes from their confusion. It became ne-
oessary to move back one of the guns, with the Grenadiers of the 5th,
to disperse the masses of Infantry and Cavalry now threatening the baggage.
Nor was this effected, so determined were the assailants, until three ronnds
of grape and a volley of musketry had been delivered within 50 paces of
them, when they were fairly driven back, Captain Hart and Lieutenant
Golding were now directed to pursue the fugitives, and scour the country
around—but they were hurrying back, erowding in upon the baggage, and
could not be induced to follow their_leaders to the field; The baggage was
now placed within some melon ground, so as to be easily gnarded by the
Infantry in case of a night attack. The enemy again made their appear-
ance in heavy masses about 11 o'clock at night, and kept pouriag in a
desultory and useless fire till morning, apparently with the view of distraot=
ing attention till they had carried off their dead. At suarise on the 4th,
Lieutenant Golding was dispatched to observe the movements of the enemy :
he found them strongly posted, and in considerable strength, about two
miles higher up on the further side of the river, Soon after this they re-
sumed their retreat; and Captain Woodburn's force being too weak to
follow them proceeded to eross the river. This operation occupied some
hours, and not till 2 o’clock on the morning of the 5th did the convoy reach
Ghirisk : thetroops haviag for thirty hours scarcely rested. The Janbazes who
- conducted themselves so indifferently, were a portion of the Affghan cavalry
of the Shal’s contingent. They occasionally fought well, bt their fpelings were
all opposed to us—and they were never to be depended on. The rest of the
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troops conduoted themselves admirably : the British officers as usnal exposs
ing themselves to every ddnger, and submitting to every vatiety of fatigue.
The enemy were belioved to be at least 6000 strong ; and though beaten,
scemed neither broken nor disheartened, though 300 of theat wers understood
to have falles. They had lost thred standards—=atid the viilages all sround
wore said to be full of the woiinded. Our casualties smounted to 12 killed
snd 28 wounded. In forwarding an account of this gallant and deecisive
detion, Captain Woodburn took oceasion strongly to recommend that rein-
forcements should be sent to follow up the present suceess, the Ghirisk de-
tachment being much too weak to take the fleld, with cavalry so little trist-
worthy as the Janbazes had just proved themselves, and the enemy still in
sach strength in the neighbourhood. A force was accordingly sent out
under Captain Griffin, consisting of four 6-pounder guns under Captain
Cooper, a wing of the 2d Bengal N. L., a portion of the 1st Shah’s infantry
and 5th eavalry;, dnder Captain Woodburn, with the 1st and 2d Janbax
(cavalry) fegulars, under CaptainHart and Lieutenant Golding—amounting
in all, besides artillery, to 800 sabres and 850 bayonets, Oa the afterncon
of the 16th August, information was received that the insurgents were in
force near Khawind about ten miles off. At 4 4. a. our troops broke ground;
and at 7 they came up with the enemy, strongly posted in a sueccession of
small forts with walled gardens in front, The combined Dgorannes and
Teeree troops amounted to abotut 5000 in all. Immediately on our advance
they opened a heavy fire of jezails and matchlooks from the eficient cover
behind which they had placed themselves. After 2 few skilfully delivered
rounds of grape, parties wore detached from the 2d Bengal N. L., and the 1st
Shah’s infantry, to clear énd take possession of the enclosures. The 5tk
Shah's,(31) with a wing of the 1st cavalry, deployed into line, and advaneing
at double quick time, drove in a body of the enemy’s skirmishers concealed
behind a range of broken walls, and whose fire was becoming mischievous.
Simuitaneously with thess things, the enclosures in front of the colamn
were speedily and gallantly carried, under a heavy firs of matchlocks, by
two companies of the 2d Bengal N. I, led by Lieutenants Cooke and
Travers, supported by & party of the 1st Shah’s infantry, under
Lieutenant Gardener. The enemy suffered severely in this charge—
many of them resisting until bayonetted. The whole of our troops
now advanced with a view of attacking the main body of the enemy, wlo
were 6een en masse in the rear of the gardens—=but before the assault eould
take full effect, some confusion being observed amongst them, Captain
Hart's Janbazes and the Shab’s 1st Cavalry charged and broke them, and
pursued them for several miles, taking fearful vengeance upon them. (82)

31, Captain Grifin’s Despatch. .
32. Captain Griffin’s Despatches verbatim. Liout. Golding, who we find
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Prince Sufter Jung headed the pursuit in person. Lieutenant Golding's

Janbazes, who had, till now, been on rear-guard duty with the baggage,
were, by the request of their commanding officer, and at their owa special

desire, permitted to share in the close of the fray — both these regi-
ments so conducted themselves oa this occasion as completely to regain the

character they had lost on the Helmund a month before. The onemy’s

resistance was stout and protracted—their position eminently favourable

for defence ; their casualties are said to have amounted to betwixt 600 and

700 killed, of whom 100 are said to have fallen by the bayonet. (33) Our
Josses were somewhat severe, consisting of twelve killed, and 104 wounded,
for the most part slightly.

This affair seems to have been ably planned, and gallantly conducted.
Captain Woodburn, though up to this time requiring to be carried in a litter
in consequence of a wound shortly before received, guitted his couch and re<
mained throughout the action on horseback at the head of his regiment.

As usual on occasious such as this, the enemy, when they found that
they had been fairly beaten, and that there was no chance for them against
the strong and well organized force now in their country, dispersed, and
left our troops without molestation. The country, however, was still as
far as ever from being tranquillized.~—Akram Khan, a chief of the Teeree
tribe, had joined Ukhtar Khan just before the fight with Captain Griffin,
and it was against him we next prepared to direct our vengeance.

- On the 1lth of September, a force under Colonel Wymer, consisting of
Sappers, Miners, and Bildars, under Captain Sanders, two 18-pouaders
and four 6-pounders— the former with European artillerymen, Leeson's
horse, and the 2d and 38th Beongal N.I., weredirected to proceed to the
Teeree country to collect tribute and chastise the refractory. Such was the
scarcity of camels, that 1200 jackasses had to do duty as draught and baggage
eattle. Lieutenants North and Conolly were the politicals in attendance.
The Teeree country is 100 miles north of Candahar: it had never till now
been travelled through or surveyed by any European, much less traversed
by our troops, and nearly all that was known of it amounted to this, that it
was rocky, wild, and difficult of access, inbabited by a fierce and lawless
population, eminently disinclined to pay homage, allegiance, or tribute to

fighting at Syghan in Oct. 1840; in the Nazian Valley in Feb. 1841 with Col.
Shelton ; with Capt. Woodburn at Ghirisk in June ; and with Capt. Griffin
in ﬂ'le Glulme. country in August,—was, in November, murdered by the men
of his own regiment, who rose in mutiny and went over to the enemy.

- 33, A correspondent of the Delki Gazette, subscribing himself ¢ Riensi,”
states the number at 700—there is a tone of exaggeration about the letter
which leadsus to doubt its statements. We should think 600 more near to
the mark than 700, though the latter is adhered to by several writers.
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the Shah Soojab, or to conduct themselves towards their neighbours or their
Feringhee allies as peaceable and well-disposed citizens.(34) The dstachment
left on the 16th September, and General Nott shortly afterwards followed in
person and took command. On the 21st they reached a tremendous moun-
tain gorge at the entrance to the Duramut valley : the utmost difficulty was
experienced in getting forward the artillery, and the transit of the baitering
guns occupied three days. Lieutenant Conolly with a small party of Jan-
baz horse came by surprise on the Teeree chief, Akram Khan, and captured
him. He was sent as a prisoner to Cabool, and being sentenced to death,
was blown from a gun. From the Teeree and Duramut valleys the inhabi-
tants fled on otir approach, so that with the exception of the capture of the
chief cothing whatever was effected by it. It returned to Candahar on the
2d of October; and the 16th, 42d, and 43d N.I., which had, from the be-
ginning of August, been under orders for relief, started on the 7th Nov.
on their return to India by the Bolan Pass. But the insurrection which
proved so fatal to us had by this time broken out around Cabool ; and when
three marches on their way towards Quettab, Colonel M‘Laren’s brigade
as this was called, was directed to return and endeavour to make their
way to the assistance of the garrison in the eastern capital ;—they started
on the 17th November. In this they failed, having been compelled
from want of baggage cattle, and the severity of the weather, to retura after
they were well on their way towards Ghuznie. It is not to be supposed
that the politicals were mad enough to diminish the strength of the army,
notwithstanding the exigeuncies into which the state had now fallen in
this scene of tribulation, H. M.’s 40th had been marched to Canda-
har, and though Beloochistan was now at peace, and all thoughts of an
expedition towards Herat abandoned, a portion of the force which ascended
the Bolan pass in April, still remained naemployed at Quettah. The 25th
Bombay N. I. returned thither from Kelat, immediately after the corona-
tion of Nusseer Kban on the 3d October ; so that, had the Bengal brigade
returned to India, there still would bave been a larger force above the Bolan
pass to the westward of Ghuznie, than had at any time been thought neces-
sary betwixt Nov. 1839 and Feb. 1841. (35) But we are now approaching

34. Bengal Hurkaru, 6th and 15th October.

35. The following return gives pretty exactly the strength of General
Nott’s army, including Colonel M‘Laren’s Brigade, which, on the 10th Dec.,
returned to Candahar from its unsuccessful attempt to succour Cabool. This
enumeration does not include officers ; its force of all ranks amounted to 8724,

Blue Book, p. 171.
( P ) At CANDAHAR.

2 Troops of Shah’s Horse Artillery, 12 six pr. guos......eceeese-socsnces 200
3 Co. Foot Artillery with Capt. Blood, 4 nine prs.cc.eececss csessecssorseaces 70
2 Eighteen pounders.....icccecsrssssscessatsservesssvaseacsosns sonssnas se cscsosse oo

H. M's 40th Regimem......m. B 9P 00008 00 SUEANIEINARg Y RIS P R REBES N et sun B0e 800
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that portion of the history of tho Doorannce alliance which spreads over
too large a field for being at present entered on—which is so recent and so big
with events of unprecedented moment, as still to be fresh in the recollection
of the public; and with the commencement of which the present narrative
must be concluded,

The posts in Western Affshanistan at this time occupied by our troops,
were Candabar, Quetta, Kelat-i-Ghilzie, Killa Abdoola, and Ghirisk, with
sundry lesser stations up and down the country; the latter of these were
wisely called in as our troubles thickened around us: afterwards the
troops at Killa Abdoola fell back on Quettah, except those belonging to the
Shah’s service who deserted us, and ultimately the three garrisons first
named alone remained in position. They maintained themselves right glo-
riously till it was resolved finally to abandon the country.

Turniog shortly to Cabool, we find the same incessant disquietude pre-
vailing here to the end with which the whole country, from first to last, had
been affticted. The garrison itsclf was so strong, and troops so easily available
to move in any direction, that from the time of the victories of Colonel
Shelton in the Nazian valley in February, no conflict of any moment had
occurred,

2nd Bengal Native INfantryice,..cceisssesscrss onsssensonsscessens sesvsorssssrsasse 850
J6th  d0...d0uuie s cenia venns conressererossossens v ssssssssssnassnstunnes os sunsvssne 850
33th do,.do. (0n€ WiDE).ievrerrerraecsereesetrnteasneersosonrscsssancnserc an senee 450
420d d0esd0useaecrern e vnn - eseseseseresse
43rd  do...d0iciiviree vernascnnrnneee
Ist  Shab’s Infantry... «......,.
28d dCeuseestd0oies seree

sesseceses sesrsene seses sesens 850

assevsses soracsras srees asses 850

One Squadron SKinner’s Horse..uemes ceess cocrenrvscrnns oaonses sssssns sssssosess 300

Ar Kevar-1.Garze, 7220
2 1ighteen pounders,
2 six do., with § Co. European Artillerymen.cccveccevacesscnscass overciss 70
3ed Shal’s Infantryeeees coconsrsnsere s sensecosnsce
‘Wing of 38:h Bengal N.

Total rank and file, 8240

The force at Quettah, according to the Blue Book, at this time, consisted of
two strong native regiments (say 1700 men), two 9-prs. with European artillery,
two 9-prs. of the Bolan Rangers, with Major Southeby’s company of European
artillerymen, in all about 2200 regular troops; so that, above the Passes,
there wero nearly 11,000 men to the westward of Ghuznie when the insurrec—
tion began, and about as many more to the eastward, including Sir R. Sale’s
g;t'lglagelot‘ 2273, the Charekar Goorkabs of 800, and the Ghuznioe garrison, the
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In the beginning of September an expedition had been arranged for the
usual purposes of punishing the refractory, and collecting tribute. A de-
tachment was ordered to proceed to the Zoormut valley, consisting of two
bundred men of H.M.'s 44th, the 5th Bengal N.I., one Shah’s regiment, a
detachment of sappers and miners, with two iron and four brass guns. (36)
The mountain train, under Captain Abbott, with two ten-inch mortars, ac-
companied the force, and which was, for its magnitude, unusaally well sup-
plied with artillery, the king's regards for his subjects being manifested
by knocking down the strongholds when he could not manage to secure or
slaughter the inbabitants. On the 27th of the month the whole moved for.
ward, under command of Colonel Qliver, towards the mouth of the Zoormut
valley, resolved that not one stone should be left standing on anotler in the
couantry of the rebels, Captain Hay, when in the same neighbourhood
collecting tribute shortly before, had endeavoured to persuade the Zoormut
chief to disjoin himself from his friend, a much more notorious malcontent
and enemy of the Shah than even himself. His counsels had been responded
to by a shower of stones and torrents of abuse: and after replying to this by
our usual retort, a few rounds from his six-pounder guns, he found himself
too weak to proceed further, and so withdrew. This was the immediate
cause of the dispatch of an expedition of suchy mragwritude as the present at
this late period of the year. The valley was, as in the case of the expedi-
tion to Teeree by General Nott, abandoned by its inhabitants, and the force
returned to Cabool on the 17th October without bhaving fired a shot. (37)

1t has already been stated that in the course of the spring and summer of
1841, about 1100 men were permitted to retire from Affghanistan,—nearly
4000 of a reinforcement having been sent to the eastern capital.

It had been resolved on the arrival of the brigade of Colonel Shelton at Ca-
bool in July, that that of Sir R. Sale, whose term of service had now expired,
should return to India. By this exchange of 2000 men about to be witha
drawn for upwards of 3000 which had been sent, the Army in Affzhanistan
would still have been permanently iacreased.(33) Should the force at Cahool
appear to bave been too much weakened, H.M.'s 9th, with two native regi--
ments, were ordered to be in readiness to take the place of Sale’s brigade.(39)

36, Delhi Gazetts, October.

37. Delhi Gazette, 17th November.

38. Bombay Times Overland Summary, Dec. 1,1841, The Brigade of Colonel
Shelton, it will be recollected, consisted of H.M.’s 44th and the 27th and 54th
N.L, with Horse Artillery, &ec. ; that of Sir R. Sale, of H.M.’s 13th, and the
16th, 35th, and 37th N.I, The 16th, as will be remembered, had, in J uly, been
sent Lo Mukloor, 60 miles from Ghuznie in the western Ghilzie country, and had
arrived at Candahar on 25th of August, being destined to form part of Colo-
nel Maclaren’s Brigade about to return to India by the Bolan Pass.

39. Blue Book of 1843-—No. 1.
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The Doorannee alliance had now so completely drained the treasury that
the Government of India were compelled to enjoin economy in every quar—
ter. An accumulated surplus of ten millions sterling(40) in the bands of Go-
vernment sometime after the war began, had been entirely expended : an an-
nual surplus revenue of a million and a half, which had existed in 1836, had,
in 1840, been exchanged for a deficit of above two millions and a quarter 3(41)
and so severely were the finances at Calcutta pressed, that a stoppage of
payment at Fort William in September was at one time contemplated by the
Supreme Council.(42)

The anthorities in Affghanistan had, like those throughout India, been
naturally urged to husband their means with the utmost care. The revenues
of the country were in the last degree narrow, and while we seemed to con-
template bearing the burthen of the army of trenquillization for an indefinite
period, the instructions given the envoy that beyond this he was not in future
to rely on assistance from the British treasury, left no alternative but to at-
tempt retrenchment in the only quarter where this seemed practicable.(43)
The department in which reduction was commenced was ia the pension of
£8000 a-year allowed to the Ghilzies of the eastern passes for the free tran~
sit of troops, stores, and merchandize. It was resolved to curtail this by a
half, and the country was in consequence in a blaze in a mement. The re-
monstrances of the chiefs were in a great measure disregarded, and they at
once proceeded to take matters into their own hands. A kaffila with property of
£2000 in value, was seized at Tezeen on its way to Cabaol. The roads were
stopped, and all communication with Hindostan entirely cut off. The Envoy
appeared to despise the danger of the insurrection. He induced Gen. Elphia~
stone to dispatch the 35th N.I., with a couple of guue, to clear the way to Jel-
lalabad. They were stopped at Bhoodhak as they entered the passes ; and,
after a severe struggle, found themselves unable to proceedtill joined by H. M.
13th. The fighting continued almost without interruption till they reached
Gundamuck, and afterwards Jellalabad, where they were shut up for six
months. Such was the commencement of the general Ghilzie insurrection,—
a movement in many of its chacterisartics unprecedented amongst the fickle
and incoberent hordes of Asia, unparalieled in the amount of calamity it occa-
sioned us, and in the nature of the retribution exacted after our misfortunes
bad come to an end.

40. P?rliamenta,,ry paper ; also Major Hough on the Finances of India.

41, Sir R. Peel’s speech, House of Commons’ Debates, 11th March, 1342,

42, St.aten}enf. of the Hon'ble Mr Bird, Senior Member of Coancil, given in
the letter of Sir H. Willock to Lord Aberdeen, Sept. 1841.—Colonial Maga-
Zine,

43. 8ir W. Macnaghten’s despateh, Oct, 23, Blue Book of 1843, page 8.



Having thus drawn our narrative to a close,~for, with the occurrences
just mentioned the system of policy which we had for three years attempted
to carry out may be said to have been brought to an end,—the war of ag-
gression having been changed first into a struggle in our own defence, and
finally into a war of vengeance,—a few general observations may be per-
mitted as to the concomitants and consequences of what must be regarded
one of the wildest adventures in which any Goverament ever was engaged.

It will bave been seen from the preceding pages that betwixt November
1839, whean the armies of Sir J. Keane and Sir T. Willshire quitted Affgha-
nistan, till November 1841, when the Ghilzie insurrection made its appear-
ance, our troops, varying in numbers from fifty to two thousand, had been
on thirty.four several occasions engaged with the enemy; that we had had
1500 killed and wounded, and had slaughtered about 5000 of the insurgeats.
This was in addition to the 2500 already enumerated as having fallen in the
first campaign, so that from February 1839 till October 1841, we had slain
about 7500 Affghans, yet we marvelled at their ingratitude in not requiting
with attachment the dlood relationship we had established. The connexion
was cemented by the sacrifice of above 5000 more in the course of the suc-’
ceeding year 1—12,500 in all. About 18,000 of our own army, and camp
followers had been destroyed before December, 1842, We had in the course
of this period, lost about fifty British officers, of whom nearly one-half
had fallen by the sword. The names of twelve killed in Beloochistan
have already been given: those who fell in Kohistan or near Jellalabad
are as follows :—Captain Douglas, Dr Lord, Lieutenants Collinson, Conolly,
Broadfoot, Crispin, and Pigou. We have not been able to make up a
complete list of those who died from climatic causes. During Lord Keane’s
campaign we had lost 82 officers, of whom one was killed in action, three
wounded by the enemy, three were burnt, and one drowned ; about half the
rest died from natural causes, the other half fell victims to the climate,—
nearly one hundred officers having perished in the country before the insur-
rection. 'We had on thirteen several occasions been unsuccessful : by these
not only dispiriting our troops, but injuring the character for irresistibility
we had hitherto maintained, and which isso often more than half the battle.

No official returns of the precise cost of the Atfghan war have yet been
published, but we have sufficient data to enable us to make a very close ap-
proximation to this. The carliest estimate in point of date which has been
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attempted, that of the Bombay Times of July 1811, comes singularly near
the truth. The cost of the first year's campaign is set down at nine millions
sterling, that of each succeeding year at three : thesc were deductions from
the known charges of the troops, the salaries of political agents, and the pay
allowed to the tribes. DBy the Parliamentary papers since publist.ed, it ap-
pears that there was ten millions of accumulated surplus in the various trea«
suries of India when the war began. Not only was this entirely expended
by the end of the year 1841, but Government required a loan at an un-
usually high rate of interest, by which about five millions more were raised.
Sir R. Peel stated in Parliament on the 11th March 1343, that there had been
for some years just before the commencement of the war a surplus reveaue
of somewhat above a million sterling annually, The domestic government
of Lord Auckland was, if not parsimonious, far from extravagaat or wasteful :
and as the revenues of India have for some years been growing in productive-
ness, we must guppose this surplus, amounting betwixt 1838 and 1841 to
four millions, to have been absorbed in the one vast drain that was carrying
off all our wealth, On these facts, and this assumption, the cost of the Doo-
rannee alliance up to the time of the siege of Cabool will be found to have
amounted to betwixt seventeen and twenty millions at the lowest estimate,
without taking interest into account at all.

But the enormous loss of treasure thrown away without any hope of pe-
cuniary return, was only a portion of the financial evil. The whole of the
money sent from India to Affghanistan was so in the shape of coined silver—
it was expended there on baggage-cattle, forage, provisions, commissariat
stores, and other matters which the country itself supplied. Nearly a mil-
lion sterling went for camels alone, of whom upwards of 70,000 were sacri-
ficed within the period referred to. The Affghans are not a commercial people,
and their trade with the countries below the mountains never in all ap-
pears to have amounted to a million annually in gross value, if it ever came
up to anythiog like this. It was just beginning to set in the direction of
Hindostan when it was fairly turned by us; the imports from Russia by
the Herat frontier, having, according to Sir Alexander Burnes, more
than doubled from 1833 to 1841, Such was one of the most natural
and foreseeable results of our iaterference. Without any exact means
of estimating, the conjecture that from four to five millions sterling was
withdrawn in specie from the currency of India to which it has not yet,
nor will for many years, return, may probably be found within the truth.

The more the matter is examined, the more difficult it is to discover by
what process of self-delusion it was that the projectors or advocates of the
Doorannee alliance could for a moment persuade themselves that the
restoration and maintenance of the Shah Soojah on the throne, could
conduce to any one of the ends we professed ourselves anxious to attain,
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Assuming, for argument’s sake, that which we know to be either unproven,
improbable, or utterly untrue—that Herat was mcant to become a Rus-
sian outpost——that Dost Mabomed was determined to recover Peshawur
and attach himself to the Czar, without regard to our interests, wishes,
or friendship, yet it seems impossible to discover by what process we
supposed that matters, in any one of those respects, save that of Peshawur,
which concerned us not, was to be one whit improved.

It was apparent from the beginning, to all who chose to open their eyes,
that in the person of the Shah Soojah was no inherent potency or virtue
to repel Russia or draw the tribes around him ;—that by our arms and re-
sources, expended directly in Affghanistan, and encumbered and deadened
by the very parties the thorough efliciency of whose assistance was the only
thing which, under any circumstances, could have rendered the Doorannee
alliance in the most remote degree desirable, must the Northern Autocrat
be repelled should he dream of advancing.

Copious extracts have already been given from a report laid before the
Envoy by Sir Alexander Burnes, on the 7th August, 1840.(44) The follow-
ing from a letter to Mr Secretary Torrens, by the Eavoy in handing this
up to Government, will throw light on the difficulties experienced at the
commencement of the new reign :«=

To H. Toreens, Esq., Officiating Secretary to the Governinent of India,

S1ry—I was about to submit my sentiments to Government on the present con-
dition and future prospects of this country, when Ireceived a paper, of which the
accompanying is a copy, from Lieutenant Colonel Sir A. Burnes, to each Para. of
which I have arnexed my comments as being the most convenient form of showing
wherein I agree, and wherein I differ, with that officer.

20d, It will be seen that this paper reached me originally in a private form,
but with the permission of Sir A, Burnes Ihave placed it oa record, as was done
with his former paper written in February last on similar subj ects.

3d. Ia this paper Sir A, Burnes has enumerated all the defects of the present
Government, and the dangers to which our position is exposed. Of the defects, no-
thing certainly has beea extenuated, but when they are weighed it would be but
fair to take into consideration the difficulties by which we have been surrounded
from the time of the assumption of authority by Ris Majesty up to the present pe-
riod. Of the dangers to which we are exposed from the perpetual intrigues of sceret
foes in our front and in our rear, I have already, I fear, written too much.

4th. No sooner was His Majesty seated on his throne than his attention was at«
tracted to the necessity of sending an Expedition against the rebellious Ghiljee
Chiefs, and agsinst the treacherous Khan of Kelat. Whilst these operations were
going on, His Majesty was anxiously considering the best means of frustrating the

—

44. Vide ante, pp. 164-103,



288

machinations of Dost Mahomed Khan, and before they were brought to a conclu.
sion he was compelled to pr d to Jellalabad

5th. Whilst on his way to that place, His Majesty was informed of the insur-
rection of the Khyber tribes ; and hardly had this been suppressed by negotiation,
when the rebellion broke outin Koonner. Next followed our owa negotiation
with a view of conci'iating Saadut Khan, Azeez Khan, and other disaffected chiefs.
Aund just before His Majesty quitted Jellalabad to return to Cabool the disturbauces
broke out in Bsjore which have not yet been quieted.

6th, Immediately afier His Majesty’s return to Cabool it became necessary to
take measures for coercing the Ghiljees a second time ; and scarcely had this object
been cffected when the disturbances in the neighbourhood of Quetta and Kelat de-
manded his attention,

7th. When it is considered that all these occurrences, and many otliers of minor
importance, were crowded into the brief space of one twelve month, it must be ad-
mitted that His Majesty has quite enough to occupy his attention without the set—
tlement of the internal affairs of his kingdom. In his efforls for the improvement
of these, I know that His Majesty has been indefatigable. Governors, with their su-
bordinate officers, have been appointed to the different districts ; His Majesty himself
examines his treasure accounts, and superintends, in conjunction with Capt, Trevor,
the muster of bis Troops. All objectionable taxes have been abolished,and His
Majesty invariably evinces the greatest suxiety that justice sheuld be done to alt
his subjects. His Majesty sits in Durbar every morning, except Thursday, for about
two hours, and listens with the greatest patience to the representations of his chiefs.
One day is set apart for hearing the complaints of all those who may allege
that they have not received redress from the authorities to whom their cases have
been referred.

8th. Though stern in the execution of justice, (a8 was exemplified only the
other day in the case of the murderer in whose pardon so much influence was ex-
erted,) yet His Majesty is merciful and kind-hearted in the extreme ; and if the pere
sonal qualities of a monarch could ensure popularity, Shah Shooja could not fail te
obtain it. My longer experience of His Majesty’s character more thoroughly con-
vinces me of the truth of what I have already asserted, that there is not an abler,
or better man, than himself in all his dominions.

9th. But His Majesty labours under peculiar and complicated difficulties, the
foremost of which is his connexion with us. We have placed him on his throue,
but it will be some time before our motives in doing so are thoroughly understood.
There are many who wilfully misunderstand them, The difference of our religi~
on is, of course, the chief cause of nntlputhy on the part of thepeople. The Aff-
ghans are a nation of bigots. Besides an lersnce of our creed there is an ine
tolerance of our customs, and it behoves us therefore to be very wary in ourat.
tempts at innovation : nor ought it ever to be forgotten that a system, though excel-
lent in itself, may not be good as applied to this country, nor though good, may it
be such as toadmit the due apprecistion of its advantages, It requires the most
cautious steering to refrain, on the oneside from alarming popular prejudices, and
on the other from leaving the Government in the same imbecile state in which we
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found it : a safe foundation hag been laid for improving the natural strength of the
country, but on this subject I shall shortly do myself the honor of submitting a se-
parate report.

10th. It would be imnpossible to enumerate the various difficulties with which
the British Representative has daily to contend in this country, Our enemies try
to impress the people with a belief that we are the rulers of the country. We
must necessarily interfere on some occasions, and the risk of exceeding or falling
short of the exact medium is of daily (I may almost say of hourly) oceurrence.
There are other minor causes which operate against us : we bave raised the price
of provisions by increasing the number of consumers, and the quaatity of the cir-
culating medium, and the inconvenience from this uanfortunately tells chiefly on the
two cl of the gr influence-the priesthood, and the military,—~who have
fixed s'ipends.

11th. His Majesty has found an Augeaa stable of iniquity to cleanse. He has
to defeat the accumulated impurities of thirty years. During the whole of that
period, all has been anarchy, and what little of government there was, has been
chiefly supported by a system of perfidy and assassination. It is notorious by
these means alone that Dost Mahomed Khan was able to prop up the little power
he possessed beyond the gates of Cabool. The most virtuous Affghan would deem
it no sia to break faith with a rebel ; and ination, as a of conquest,
was of daily occurrence. His Majesty has not been exempt from those inconve-
niences which ordinarily beset restored monarchs, His old retainers were in-
satiable in their wants, and his new adherents eatertained the most sanguine ex-
pectations of reward for their desertion ; whilst all looked forward to the appear-
ance of some miraculous change in their favour. [he splendour of the ancient
monarchy was revived in the recollection of all ; whilst the king, succeediog to a
dismembered monirchy impoverished by the struggle which placed him on the
throne, as well as by the long-continued system of grinding oppression which pre-
ceded the restoration, found himself without the means either of rewarding his
friends or conciliating his enemies.

12th. It appears that evea at the time of Mr. Elphiastone’s mission, (p. 49) the
Doorannee Lords were averse to an alliance with the British Government, which
might strengthen the king to the detriment of the aristocracy. How much more
averse must they now be to such an alliance after having participated with Dost
Mahomed, almost on equal terms, in the spoils of the country ? They are now
powerless, and they feel that every additional security we grant to His Majesty,
lessens their own censequence. :

13th. I have on more than one oceasion stated the great facilities which exist
for disturbing the peace of this country, The people I have described as being
rapacious, bigotted, and credulous. 8ikh Ageats with Sikh gold can easily set the
whole country into a flame by taking advantage of their position, by power and
offers of money, and by artful appeals to the religious prejudices of the people ;
whilst the mountainous nature of the country, and the prevalent notioas of hospi-
tality which prevent the people from giving up a refugee however criminal, ren-
der it a work of infinite difficulty to root out the disturbers of the public tran-
quillity. o1
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14tb, There is one, and only one, remedy for all these evils, namely, to deprive
those of the power who havethe will to injure us., The Sikh Feuadatories on one
side, and tbe Herat authorities on the other, should be for ever deprived of
the means of molestivg us.—Ifsuch a vigorous policy as this should suit our con-
wenience, it would further be recommended by proving to the world that there
was no eriginal miscaloulation taken of the risks to be run in the bold and saga-
cious measures of the Governor General, but that all the evils which have hap-
pened were as unexpected as they are undeserved,—that they are attributable to
the perfidy of pretended friends, which could not of course be either forezeen or
provided against.

15th, I bave now enumersted the prinoipal events which have occurred in this
country since His Majesty’s accession to the Government ;—I have recapitulsted,
as succinctly as was in my power, the chief obstacles which have arisen to the suc-
cessful administration of affairs ;~and I have endeavoured to show that the
existing state of things is as prosperous as, under all circumstances, could reason-
ably have been expected.

16th, Y would now respectfully solicit the expression of His Lordshipin Coun-
cil’s opinion as to the course of policy which I have pursued. Iam of opinion that
it would be impolitic to alienate His Majesty’s affections by suddenly and harshly
calling upon bim to dismiss the comparatively small number of armed attendants
whom be is desirous of retaining about hie own person ; especially when itis clear
that we should have to supply their place by troops of the contingent, who have
slready more duties than they can perform, and whose discipline would be ruined
by such employment.

17th. I am of opinion that it is the duty of the British represeatative here ra-
ther to watch carefully for opportunities of suggesting reform, and to treat His
Majesty with ell possible consideration, than to urge sweeping innovation, or to
assume towards His Majesty anything like a tone of dictation, Such proceedings
would reduce His Majesty to the condition of a cypher, and would afford to our
enemies the means of successfully propagating reports to our prejudice, and to the
effect that our design is to seize the Government of the couatry. I am of opinion
(and if wrong I hope to be corrected) that it is preferable to work at minor abuses
which sre inberent in every Eastern Monerchy, than to exercige frequent and
authoritative interference, the good effects of which would be at least proble-
matical.

18th. Tt has been my principle therefore to turn a deaf ear to all trifling com-
plaints that are brought to me, snd to refer the complainants for yedress to their
Jawful sovereign,—deeming it of paramount importance to our interests that His
Majesty’s authority should be felt and respected.

19th. Where complaints appeared to me to be of such a nature s seriously to
involve the interests or reputation of His Majesty’s Governmeunt, I have never
failed to bring them privately to His Majesty’s notice, and I have not unfrequents
1y found those complaints utterly destituts of foundation.



291

20th. Though fully aware of the difficulty of making a proper solution, I bave
never ceased to urge upon His Majesty the great importance of selecting a competent
minister, of reforming his army, and of reducing his expenditure within the limits
of his income. These and other objects will be gradually attained by kind and:
persevering counsel, This is not a country in which our objects are to be attain.
ed per saltum : His Majesty’s wishes must meet with some litule attention. The
prejudices of the people must be respected, minor abuses must be overlocked, and
our proceedings at every step must be guarded by caution, temper, and forbear-
ance.

(Signed) W. H. MacNaGHTEN. |
August 10th, 1840.

The first portiomrof this is a justification or extenuation of the errors into
which Government had fallen, as enumerated by Sir Alexander Burnes: in
point of fact it affords precisely the picture that was at the time drawn by the
opponents of the Doorannee alliance, and which was repudiated and de-
nounced by its supporters as gloomy and exaggerated--just a representa-
tion of that state of affairs, for which, at the commencement of the expedi-
tion, the Government ought to have been prepared te look. Yet at this
time, with these documents in their possession, the Ministry at home de-
picted everything as bright and sunshiny : the halcyon days of Affghan’
tranquillity were hastening on; the golden age of the Doorannee civiliza-
tion was at hand; and it but required a few years coatinuance of that
blessed peace and prosperity which was ruining the armies, draining the’
treasury of India, and filling Central Asia with tumult and slaughter, to
prove that the Suddozye alliance was one of the miracles of modern
statesmanship ! A miracle it was most assuredly, but in the opposite sense
to that in which it was intended to be understood as such by those who se
characterised it.

It bhas already been stated, that the vast majority of the newspapers of
India were, from tho beginning, most hostile to the Affghan war; and now
that we can look back on the occurrences which have happened within the
last four years, and compare them with the anticipations formed of them by
the press, the extraordinary accuracy with which their prophecies have been
realized occasions less admiration of the sagacity of the writers than astonish-
ment that what was so obvious to the guides or representatives of public
opinion should have been so utterly lost sight of by Government.

Not only is this most marvellous, but still more so in the apathy mani-
fested by the ministry and people of England at the fearful warnings the
events of each succeeding month supplied. In May 1841 the Bombay Times
published a corrected list of thirty-three actions in which our troops had
been engaged during the preceding twelve months, in thirteen of which they
had been unsuccessful ; and two months afterwards an account current drawn.
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ap on the facts supplied by the Government Gazette, the Almanack, snd
the Army List, from which it appeared, that up to that date twelve mil-
lions sterling had been expended, and three millions annually hardly covered
the current charges of the Doorannee alliance. The paper referred to was at
this time extensively circulated in England, yet not one of these fearfully
alarming facts, or the inferences deduced from them, that the hour of our
compulsory retirement or expulsion from Affghanistan was then drawing
rapidly near, occasioned the slightest attention. Within ten months, the
gloomy, but unheeded anguries, were all realized.(45)

This was the period of the general .election of June and July 1841,
when the merits of the measures, foreign and domestic, of both parties are in
general pretty keenly canvassed. About this time Lord Palmerston, in ad-
dressing the electors of Tiverton (46), took infinite eredit to himself and his.
colleagues for the excellency and thorough success of their policy towards
Affghanistan, which country he described as so perfectly tranquillized, and
s0 entirely satisfied with our management, that Englishmen might travel
from the one end of it to the other without fear of danger or annoyance.
At this very time the papers in the archives of the Board of Control, to
which the foreign secretary had access, showed that, from the hour we had
entered the country, it bad been one scene of incessant bloodshed and
turmoil, that the chiefs whom we subsidized were the only ones who main—
tained even the semblance of submission; and that our soldiers dared mot
venture beyond sight of the sentries without perilling their lives, Yet
these observations of Lord Palmerston’s,—which, in India, were received

45. The London Times and the Spectator are at this time the only papers which
scemed to; be fully alive to the momentous warnings then so universally
neglected, and which, if attended to, might bave saved the expenditure of so
much bloed and treasure.

46. The following extract is from the nmewspaper report of the famous Ti-
verton Speech of June 1841. At the time it was delivered Lord Palmerston
must have been aware of the documents in the bands of the Board of Controul,
giving accounts of Shelton’s operations in the Nazian valley—of the general
discontents in Kohistau—the three separate expeditions then on foot betwixt
Candahar and Ghuznie—the victories of Farrington and Woodburn on the Hel-
mund, with the preparations for Captain Griffin’s expedition—the Noosky
expedition—the atfair of Kojjuck and general movement of the troops in Scinde
and Shawl—the universal marching and countermarching of detachments
throughout the country, occupied as they were in five simultaneous or imme-
diately consecutive campaigns around Jellalabad, Kelat-i-Ghilzie, Ghirisk,
Noosky, and the Seebee country. The Foreign Secretary must either have
spoken ironically, or desired to ascertain how far the credulity of the people
might be taxed. It must have been gratifying to him to discovor, that there
was no statement whatever, however enormously at variance with fact, which
would not be received in England in reference to the affairs of India, if made
by a minister of the Crown, The same system is at present being adopted by
the conservative journals in defending the policy of Lord Ellenborough,
and apparently with similar success; the statements of the Morning Post and
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as a bitter mockery of the sufferings our troops were then endatring in
Aflghanistan,-—~were at home passed over without question, reprehension, or
observation. So late did public apathy continue, that when the abstracts
above referred to were reprinted after the destruction of the Cabool force,
they were still regarded, and in many cases stigmatised, as exaggerated or
fictitious. They are wrought into the preceding narrative, with the authorities

on which they have been made given in detail ; and now that abundance of-

corroborative official information has been supplied by Government, -defy
impeachment.

It appears, as already stated, from the official papers published in the

Blue Book of 1843, that had the Ghilzie insurrection not occurred, Lord -

Auckland was anxious to have his policy carried out as long as it would
hold: H. M.’s 9th, with two native regiments, were under orders to sup-

Standard on this subject may, in point of accuracy, be fairly placed beside those
of the ex-Foreign Sccretary : it is to be hoped that their illusions will be some-
what less rudely dispelled.

¢ Now let me travel alittle further to the east ; for there is no quarter of the
globe in which we have not had occasion t¢ uphold the dignity of the country, and to
vindicate its honour, and to maintain its dearest interests. Transactions had taken
place in countries which many of you have, perhaps, never heard of till they came
to be introduced to your notice in consequence of events to which I allude—trans—
actions, I say, bad taken place in Persia and Affghanistan, in the centre of Asia,
which threatened destruction to the vast empire which we possess in the East Indies;
but, acting with promptitude and decision, we carried our armies into the centre of
Affghanistan, and the noble Lord, whose name my honourable friend mentioned
just now, there rendered the most important services to his country, by achieving
military successes which have rendered secure to us that vast empire which we
possess in India, and the importance of which it is hardly possible to over-rate, though,
perhaps those who have uot turaned their attention to these matters may not at once
sufticiently perceive their value. We brought within British ivfluence, in one cam-
psign, a vast extent of country, larger than France, alinost as big as half Europe ;
and the way in which this was done, and the results which have followed, are well
deserving of the attention of the people of England. 'There isa contrast, of which
we may have reason to be proud, between the progress of our arms in the East and
the operations which a neighbouring power—France—is now carrying on in Africa.
The progre:a of the British arirs in Asia has been marked by a scrupulous refer~
ence to justice, an inviolable respect for property, sn abstinence from anything
which could tend to wound the feelings and prejudices of the people ; aud the result
is this, that I saw not many weeks ago a distinguished military officer who bad juat
returned from the centre of Affghanistan, from a place called Candabar, which
many of youy perhaps, never heard of, and he told me that he, accompanied by half
a duzen attendsnts, but without any military escort, had ridden on horseback many
bundreds of miles through a country inhabited by wild and semi-bairbarous tribesy
who but two years ago were arrayed in fierce hostility against the approach of the
British arms—but that be had ridden through them all with as mueh safety as he
could have ridden from Tiverton to John o’ Groat’s house, his name as a British officer
being a passport through them all, because the English had respected their rights,
had afforded them protection, and treated them with justice ; thence it is that an
unarmed Eoglishman was safe in the midst of their wilds,”

L
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ply the place of Sir R. Sale’s Brigade, shouid this be found necessary at
the time our misfortunes began. H. M. 41st, with 2000 Bombay troops,
wore ready to ascend the Bolan Pass, if needed, in room of McLaren’s bri-
gade. It is equally clear, that though this was the Governor-General’s
determination, it was merely contingent upon the continuance of affairs in
a state not more unfavourable than that in which they had been for the
preceding two years,—and probably with a view of getting rid of the matter
in the best way he could, leaving the difficulties of the winding-up in the
hands of his successor : the moment the intelligence of the insurrection
reached Government, they declared that, in tbe event of military possession
of Cabool and the surrounding country being lost, it was not their intention
to direct new and extensive operations with a view of re-establishing our
supremacy ;(47) and they were prepared for the contingency of our political
influence in that quarter being for a time entirely subverted.(48) Mr
Bird’s apprehensions of immediate bankruptcy have been already noticed :
the Commander-in-Chief shortly afterwards declared his belief that the state
neither of the army nor treasury of India were such as to permit them to
think of renewing the war.

Under these circumstances, it is clear that early in the year 1842, the
Doorannee alliance must have been broken off, and Affghanistan aban-
doned at all events, without reservation or delay, whatever its condition.
The originators of the policy, had they remained in power, would have
been compelled to undo their own measures with their own hands,—to
abandon a system, which, from its own inherent defects, was incapable
of being maintained. The Cabool disaster was for them and their already
bankrupt credit as statesmen, far the best thing that could have happenéd :
making it appear as if the policy of 1838 had been brought to an end by a
great and unlooked-for catastrophe, which no one could have foreseen or
guarded against, and withdrawing public attention from the fact that, in
the first place, the Ghilzie insurrection, and its results, was a natural
and long-expected emanation from the system itself; and, in the second
place, that if, by some rare piece of unimagined good fortune, we bad con-
trived to escape any thing like this, the whole fabric of our policy, which
the disasters of Cabool so suddenly dissolved, was ready to crumble to
pieces from its own intrinsic rottenness, (49)

Such frequent mention has been made of the mismanagement of the
political agents, in contrast with the excellent conduct of the military,

47. Letter of Governor-General in Council, Dee. 3. News from Cabool at
this time extended to the 9th Nov., and gave details of only one week of the
insurrection, which began on the 2d. Blue Book, p. 37.

48, Letter; &c, &c., Dec. 5. Blue Book, p. 38.

49, See extract from memorial of Sir Alex. Burnes, page 151.
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that a misapprehension has got abroad that these gentlemen did not belong
to the army at all. This is a mistake which ought to be rectified. On
referring to the liet given at the commencement of the third chapter (p. 148)
it will be seen that at the first the Envoy and Mr Bell were the only
political agents who did not belong to the military service ; and that after
the demise of the latter of these gentlemen, the envoy alone was a civil-
lian. Of the thirty-two political agents employed in Affghanistan betwecn
1839 and 1842, not one had attained the rank of major in the army, (50) ten
were captains, and 21 lieutenants. Had these gentlemen continued to act
in their military capacity there is no reason to doubt but that they would
have done no discredit to the service from which they had been tem-
porarily in some measure withdrawn. They were selected chiefly for their
proficiency in languages and knowledge of the country: and as these
accomplishments did not necessarily imply the possession of a high order
of intellectual endowment, the men whose power was supreme over the
various districts of the Doorannee empire were too often found awanting
for the adequate discharge of the onerous and important duties imposed
upon them. The amount of irresponsible authority with which they were
invested was enough to have turned stronger and stabler heads than theirs
-and the idea had unhappily got amongst them that subtlety and dissimu-
lation were essential, and the most tortuous policy and Machivellian
morals permissible in the position of statesmen which they now occupied
—that in fact they must fling aside the military frankness and straight-
forward candour which became them as officers, and assume a character
from which, in their private capacity of English gentlemen, they would
have shrunk. There are many, very many, to whom these observations are
inapplicable, and the examples of the eminent success of Major Outram, and
Captains M*Gregor, Mackeson, and Lawrence, in pursuing the straight.-
forward system becoming high-minded soldiers and honourable men, may
shew how sadly some of their brethren erred in supposing wisdom in-
compatible with perfect candour, frankness and simplicity. The evils
_which arose from the general system of political agencies might have beea
greatly diminished had the sphere of the labours of the agents been re-
stricted to that of interpreters and collectors of information—leaving the
political power in the hands of the military chiefs. Yet the mischiefs
complained of were, in a considerable measure, inherent in the system,
and it is difficult to conceive any organization which could have worked

50. 8ir Alex. Burnes had merely the army rank of Captain—Major Outram
was so by Brevet—Majors D’A. Tod, Rawlinson, Pottinger, Leach,and Lynch,
were Lielutena.nto in the army, and held the rank of Major in Persia or Affghan~
istan only.
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tcally well in carrying out the objects we had in view, considering the
nature and magoitude of these, and the circumstances under which they
were desired to be elaborated.

A single subject remains yet to be noticed—the conduct of the army
—~which we have reserved to the last, because it is the only one which ean
be discussed not only without a preponderance of censure, but with un-
mixed approbation, and unalloyed pride and pleasure.

Highly as the sepoy soldier had been appreciated by every one acquaint-
ed with the history of oriental wars, balf the merit of the Company’s
native army may be said to have remained unknown till brought to light
by the Affghan campaigns. There are no people on earth more averse to
quit their homes for foreign lands than the natives of Hindostan, and no
country could have been more abhorrent to them than that where the cli-
mates of the frigid and torrid zone alternated, and from which had de-
scended those torrents of gigantic and resistless warriors by whom, from
time to time, the fairest provinces of India were overrun,

From November 1838 till November 1841, the native army sustained a
series of incessant and most perilous encounters, over an expanse of 800
miles of rugged, difficult, and inhospitable country, without one solitary
instance of alleged misconduct, save that on the part of a single squadron
of cavalry at Purwan Durrah. Patient of fatigue, tormented by extremes
of heat and cold, in a country where the thermometer ranged from 120
deg. to 40 deg. below freezing—often suffering from scarcity of food and
want of camp accommodation, we have not so much as an example of a
threat of mutiny, or manifestation of discontent. Frequently disappointed in
the expectation of returning to India, théy received their orders to remsin
in the country and resume campaigning with the most perfect cheerful-
ness. With no single instance of timidity or backwarduess, save that
just named, and a trifling case at Kojjuck, only worth adverting to be- -
cause we are anxious to extenuate nothing which the censurers of the ser—
vice would desire to dwell upon——there were mumberless examples of
endurance, eoolness under fire, and intrepidity, which would have been the
boasi of any service. It must be kept in view that we were on almost
every occasion of conflict enormously outnumbered,—that the enemy indi-
vidually were stronger and more powerful men, far better armed, and
equally as brave as those they encountered: and that the advantage of
choosing their battie-ground was always on their side. These observations
‘refer exclusively to the Hindostanee troops,—the character of the British~
born soldier is sufficiently known to require no commendation — it was
mever more gloriously sustained than in the campaigns in Affghanistan,
to which this narrative relates. A portion of H. M.’s 4th dragoons, H.MJs
13th, 17th, 40th, aud 44th, and the 1st Beogal Europeans, with various
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corps of artillery, all more or less shared in our Doorannee wars before
the Ghilzie outbreak. The 13th alone were engaged throughout, and
fought gloriously, and suffered patiently from the beginning to the end.
The perfect harmony betwixt the various races, and the brotherly feeling
with which they fought, side by side, is above all commendation. The fel-
lawship which afterwards sprung up betwixt H.M.’s 13th and Bengal 35th
N.L,and the admiration of H.M.’s 22d for the Bombay 25th N.I., indicate
that the sympathies of the brave with each other are impeded by no dif-
ference of country, colour, or creed.

Of the British officers nothing need be said: the history of their
achievements and sufferings, brief and meagre as it is, is enough. With
the service of more gallant, upright, able, or efficient men, no Governe
ment need desire to be blessed or honoured. Where there was so much
to irritate and excite, it is not to be forgotten that with the daring and
promptitude, the mercy and humanity of Englishmen was duly mingled.
More instances of individual heroism and personal gallantry, under circum-
stances of extreme trial, might be quoted in this campaign than in any
one in which our armies ever were for a similar time engaged. To the
army the Affghan war was in many ways a curse: its hardships they
cheerfully surmounted—its dangers they defied. But it was a war as void
of apology or justice as of honour, its objects awakened no sympathy in
its favour, their attainment was unworthy of British ambition. The lsurels
it yielded, however ably won, were grudgingly given, and scarcely coveted,
their extivition hardly furnished food for gratification —- they gained no
glory in so worthless a cause. The terrors of the sword were nothing,
those of sickness and poverty were less easily defied. Iustead of the cam-
paigus from 1838 to 1842 requiting the soldier for his sufterings and tolls,
they were, in all cases, sources of loss, in many, of absolute ruin, The
extra allowances were utterly inadequate to meet the extravagant charges
on the march, and expenses attending on the detention in cantonments ; -
and unless to those to whom lucrative political or staff appointments fell,
the officers, not only in health but in emolument,were grievous sufferers. ,

Ovarleaping the interval occupied by the active operations of the insar-
rection, it may be as well shortly to notice the fate of the leading characters
which bave occupied so promirent a place in the preceding pages.

Sir Alexander Burnes and Sir William Macnaghten weroe murdered at
Cabool-—the one on the 24 November, the other on the 23d December, 16841,
General Elphinstone died a prisoner in the enemy’s hands.

General Nott, with his army, remained at Candabar till August 1842,
when he himseif, with the larger portion of them, advanced on Ghuznie,

P1
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which they destroyed, and returned by Cabool and the Khyber Pass to fudia,
grining two victories, and attended by the most brilliant success on the way .
The other portion returned by Quettah and the Bolan Pass.

The Shah Soojah is suspected to Lave been connected with the Ghilzie
joturrection. At his own desire he was left behind when our armies quitted
Cabool on the 6th January 1842, and for a time appeared likely to maintain
himself in power. He was murdered a few months afterwards by the chiefs.

Of his sons, Prince Timour, the only one whose character was without
reproach, remained faithful to us to the end, and retired with our armies to
Jadia, where he now lives a pensioner on government, Prince Futteh Jung
succeeded the Shah in nominal authority at Cabool, but afterwards fied frona
the capital for fear of his life. Prince Shahpoor it was at one time believed
would be able to maintain himself in power, and he was left behind after
our final retirement: he quickly followed his brother, and the two are now
elemosynaries of the Seikh ruler.

The miscreant Sufter Jung of Candahar went over to the enemy shortly
after the commencement of the insurrection, and having continued for six
months to fight against us, ultimately surrendered himself into our hands.
He was left behind on General Nott’s advance, but haviog been shortly
afterwards expelied from his couontry, is said to have found refuge at Kelat.
According to another rumour he is now in chains at Candahar, where every
one who befriended us is made subject of persecution by the ruliag powers.

On the 1st of October 1842, a proclamation dated Simla, announced that
our connection with Affghanistan had ceased, and that the government of
India would meddle no more with its affairs; our own prisoners had
been recovered, and the Affghan chiefs and their families were all to be set
free. )

After devastating the country—ecutting down the trees, and uprooting the
orchards and vineyards, after having blown up or burned with fire the cities
and forts of Ghuzanie, Cabool, Istaliff, Jellalabad, and Ali Musjid, by which
about 70,000 human beings were, on the eve of winter, left houseless—our
armies were, in November, entirely withdrawn from the country. .

In April 1843, Dost Mahomed, after a long sojourn in the Punjaub-
where he was entertained by the Seikh ruler in a manner becoming both
their sta tions—returned with his family, without obstruction and in safety,
to Cabool, and resumed sovereignty without opposition or resistance. His
indomitable son, UkLbar Kban, for a time laying aside the sword, set him-
seif about the reconstruction of the fort of Jellalabad, and the ruined cities.

The king of Bokhara sent an ambassador to congratulate the Ameer on
his return : he was received with favour, and returned with presents.
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Sarawan was once mote re-annexed to Kelat, and Quettah left uninjured
~Cutchee had been before made over to Nusscer Khan.

The Candahar Sirdars do not appear so easily to have regained their
authority : by the latest intelligence their government was said to be in the
hands of Persia—the Shah coining money—the surest stamp of oriental
sovereig nt y—in his own name.

Kamran Shah is understood to have died about May 1848, and the
sovereignty of Herat was immediately assnmed by the king of Persia.

The Ameers of Scinde appear on the whole to have conducted themselves
inoffensively enough from the date of the hostile demonstration near Hy-
drabad in Jannary 1839—fresh treaties were urged upon them from time to
time, and successively agreed to. In February 1843, terms were proposed
to them by Lord Ellenborough, to which they considered it impossible to
assent——they resolved to oppose the advance of Sir Charles Napier, then
pressing forward on Hydrabad, with an army of nearly 80,000 men. They
were beaten with a loss of 5000 killed and wounded, and having surrender-
ed themselves prisoners, were sent to be confined in India for life. A second
battle with a similar loss eccurred near Hydrabad some weeks afierwards.
Scinde was declared ours by right of conquest, and was added to the British
territories in India. At present 16,000 men, at an annual cost of above a
million sterling, are required to maintain it in peace—the share of its revenue
claimed by us being less than the fourth part of this!
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Appoor Reaman Khan, an insurgent Ghilzie Chief, 126—taken by surprise, 127
—escapes, 128.

AsgrpEEN, Lord,—Sir H. Willock’s letter to, 284

Aernan, Manoxep Axsar Kuan (sometimes spelt UknBar), commands the
troops against the Seikhs in 1834, and is successful ; defeats the Seikh troops
in May, 1836, when Hurry Sing is slain, 11—sent out from Cabool to receive
Captain Burnes; his appearance, as described by Lieut. Wood, 33,—Gover-
nor of Jellalabad in 1839 ; recalled to defend Cabool ; abandons his artillery
and baggage, 113-—accompanies his father, and is confined at Bokhara, 149,
150—declines our hospitalities ; and continues captive at Bokhara, 162,

Ackeax Knaw, son of Dost Mahomed, surrenders himself at Bameean, 149, .

Ackrer (commonly spelt Uxares) Knaw, an insurgent Chief on the Helmund ;
troops of defeated by Captain Farrington, 269,~beseiges Ghirisk, 276—
defeated by Captain Woodburn, 278,—his army joined by that of Ackram
Khan, defeated by Captain Griffin, 279.
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Raunjeat Singhy 6-~Forces of withdrawn from Peshawur in 1834, 6—Affghans
of Peshawur discontented with Seikh dominion, fight against Seikhs, look
to Dost Mahomed for assistance, 64.

Arrcuans, character of by travellers— 4siatic Journal’s account ofy v-=Mr.
Masson’s account, viii.

Arzun (sometimes spelt Urzur) Kuav, eldest son of Dost Mahomed ; gains a
victory over the Seikhs at Peshawur, 10,—near our camp at Ghuznie with
5000 cavalry, 112,—sets out for Bokhara with Dost Mahomed, 150,—es-
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capos and assists in stirring up the country, ibid,~comes down on Bajgak
with 500 horse, 153—joins his father and the Wullee of Khooloom, 154—
desired by the Dost to surrender, 162.

Aumep 8uam, Founder of the Doorannee empire, i.—Kelat chief, his ter-

“ ritory held in reign of—his reliance on the Kuzzilbashes, 35—terms per-
mitted by to the Khan of Kelat—adds Sharawan, Cutchee, Harund, and
Dajil to Kelat, 208—extent of the Doorannee empire at the death of, 142.

Axrax Kuaw, an insurgent Teree Chief, joins Ackter Khan on the Helmund ;
joint forces defeated by Captain Griffin, 279,— Chief himself captured by
Licut. Connolly, 281,.—ordered for execution at Candahar, ibid.

AvceriNg, H.M.s ship, dispatched to Kurraches, 86.

Avrsanv, General, a Corsican in the Seikh army ; introduced to Lord Keane at
Lahore, 125.

Axgers, The, of Scinde.—Feudatories of Dooranee empire, 81--profess friend-
ship ; their duplicity, 82—Beloochees plunder with sanction of; compelled
to pay £100,000, part of arrears due to the Shah Soojah; threatened by
Bombay and Bengal troops ; give in to all our requests, 83—deposition of by
Lord Ellenborough, 299.

Arprraox, Lieut., leads attacking party at Ghuzaie, 109,

Arxpzgsow, Capt. W., marches against the Ghiljies from Candahar, 147—joins
Col. Wallace, 148—present at Purwan Durrah, 159.

Arpa Samis, ex-Rajah of Nagpore ; rebellion said to be headed by, 219.

Azworp, Brigadier, death of, 121.

Assexr Knax, a Chief of Sarawan, stripped of his estate, 209.

Assoo Hazara, Colonel Wymer’s victory at, 274.

AstraBAD ; Report of Russian forces assembling near, 47.

Argingon, Dr J.’s account of the conduct of Mehrab Khan, 89, 9)—estimates
the slain at Ghuznie above 1000 ; prejudices against the Barukzyes ; anecdote
by of Dost Mahomed, 163.

Arrock, boundary of Affghanistan, i.

Arrocx ; Fort of, seized on by Runjeot Singh, 6—ibid, 12 note, p. 49,—Cap-
tain Broadfoot’s convoy threatened at, 265-66.

AvckLanp, Lord, Governor-General of India ; papers in regard to his policy, as
quoted by his supporters, incomplete, 2—respectability of his private cha-
racter, goodness of his intentions, considered the time was come for resis-
tance, 26—~letter to Dost Mahomed in August 1830, 31 and 39—believes in
possibility of Russia and Persia endangering India, 4t —his minute, 12th May,
1838, 42—absence from his council in April, 1838, 63 —farewell letter to the
Ameer; difficulties of keeping him in warlike mood ; amusing scene ; de-
spatch to the secret committee ; declared a grand cross of tho Doorannce
order; 121—domestic government of, not exiravagant, 286.

Avrrasie, General, Governor of Peshawur, 9—protection to Captain Broad-
foot, 266,
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Azreum Kmaw, a Barukzye leader, defeated by the Seikhs at Peshawur in
1828, 6.
Aziy Knaw, youngest son of Dost Mahomed, gives himself up to us, 149..

B

Beaw, Capt. J. D., Political Agent at Quettah, 128—seizes Mr Masson as a
Russian spy, 219—character of, 220.

BerTinok, Lord William, his desire for the extension of trade beyond the
Indus, 33.

Buaern—S8ystem of plunder prevailing around, 221.

BrooaTiEs, tribe of; 170,

Bsorrsrierna, Count, his speculations on the safety of the Indian empire, 18;
his estimate of the amount of the Indian army, 79.

Briax, Ambassador at St. Petersburg; his letter to Lord Palmerston on the
death of the King of Persia, 20.

Boxrmaga, the western, boundary of] Affighanistan, i—~Hussein Ali accompanies
Captain Vicovitch from, 47—king of offers to assist Dost Mahomed, 144—
invites him to his court, 149—suddenly seizes and imprisons him, and his
sons'; threatened by the Khan of Koochan ; they escape from, 150—~Colonel
Stoddart and Captain Connolly murdered by, 157.

Boran Pass, a tremendous defile betwixt Dadur and Quettah (see Dadur and
Quettah),

Brypees, Sir Hartford Jones, late ambassador at the court of Persia; his esti-
mate of the expense of the various Persian missions, 45.

Brooks, General, appointed to the command of the Scinde field force, 225—
letter to Colonel Marshall, 227—mortification at the Kojjuck reverse, 233—
conduct in reference to the Clibborn commission, 210—recall of, 204..

Brown, Captain, takes charge of expedition to Kahun. (See Kahun.)

Brown, Lieutenant, political agent at Kojjuck, 233.

Broaproort, Lieut., killed at Parwan Durrah, 161.

Broarnroor, Captain Geo., takes charge of convoy from Ferozepore to Attock,
264.5,

Bunwzs, Captain (afterwards Lieut.-Col. Sir Alex.), opinion of Affghan cha-
racter; v.—visit to Cabool in 1832, 4—considers payment to Persian cabinet
derogatory to the dignity of England, nots, 15—pronounces selection from
Cabool papers “ sheer trickery,” 20 nots, 29 —affected by Russophobia, 21
—his negoociations at Cabool, 31—directed to proceed on a commercial mis-
sion through Scinde in 1836, 33—proceeds by Peshawur, and is received by
Ukhbar Khan and splendid escort, 3¢ —opinions of Affghan affairs expressed to
Sir J. M‘Neil, 35— his instructions as to the mercantile portion of his mis-
sion ; his views as to the reasonableness of Dost Mahomed’s wishes, 40—in-
definite nature of instructions, 42—offers to conduct an expedition in person
against the Persians, should they move on Candahar; would pay their
troops ; suggests an advance of £30,000; these proceedings repudiated by
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government, approved of by Court of Directors, 44—inability to give &
gpecific answer to Affghan chiefs ; unable to guess intentions of government,
40—receives instructions frem Mr Macnagbten in January, 48—important
letter from of 26th January 1838 ; ditto of 5th March ; Ameer waits upon,
62— proposes to leave Cabool ; account of interview with Ameer, difficulties
apparently all overcome ; returns from Cabool, 63—opinions as to the re-
storation of the Shah Soojah ; further reports to Mr Macnaghten ; Masson’s
account of his reception at Simla; employed to provide camels for grand
army, 85-—receives intimation while at Shikarpore that knighthood has been
conferred upon him, and he been raised to the rank of lieut..col., 139—ap~
pointed envoy to Kelat, 88, nots ; dispatched in November 1838 to endeavour
to procure a treaty with the Khan of, 88—proceeds to Kelat in March, 89—
result of negociations ; rejoins the force, 91-his interview with Sir J. Keane
on the beheading of the Ghazee prisoners at Ghuznie, 107-9—Hyder Khan,
governor of Ghuzuie, placed in charge of, 113—proceeds to meet the Na-
waub Jubbar Khan; present at ceremonies at Cabool, 119—receives grand
cross of the Doorannee order, 121—his opinion of the system of political
agencies, 142, 238—appointed assistant to the envoy, 143—warns the envoy
of the alarming state of the country, 151, 164—unsatisfactory condition of
Affghan portion of the contingent, 153, note—conspiracy discovered in Cabool
by ; accompanies the force to Tootan Durrah, and suggests that the forts be
destroyed, 157—letter of on the unhappy state of the country ; states that
our trade with Affghanistan had not increased since 1839 ; that of Russia had
more than doubled, 286—letter of Sir W, Macnaghten on hancing up his
report of 7th Aug. 1840 to government, 287—is murdered at Cabool, 297.

Busxes (Dr James, K, H., brother of Sir Alexander); account of Ameera of
Scinde, 81—* Visit to Court of.”

C

Casoor, Kingdom of, origin of, i—Timor 8hah transferred the seat of Governa
ment to, i—Dost Mahommed makes himself master of, iii—population of
city, iv.—Revenues of, iv. 137-142—Dost Mahomed supreme in ; makes over
Peshawur to his brother, §—Captain Burnes’s mission to, 33 —had been pre-
viously visited by him; reception at; protracted negotiations at, 35-65—force
under Colonel Wade moves on from Peshawur, 113-120—intelligence of fall
of Ghuznie received at, 112...Colonel Wade arrives at, 2d September, 113—
grand Army moves on, 115—arrives at, 119—Shah Soojah's reception at ; in-
vestiture of knights of the Doorannee Order at, 122—Bombay column quits
for the westward, 123—Bengal troops retire from by Khyber Pass, ib.

Caxparan ; Timor Shah transferred the seat of government from, i—falls une
der the rule of three of Dost Mahomed’s brothers, iii—population of city, iv—
revenue, iv—Candahar sirdars at feud with Dost Mahomed, 3—the Dost’s re-
solution to join them to keep Persia at bay, 4—right over claimed by the
King of Persia, 13—stipulation to place the Sirdars of on the throne of Herat ;
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urnes reccives a letter from, announcing the arrival of a Persian elchee at,

in June 1837, 36—negotiations at in October ; Sirdars of, correspond with
Persia, 41~cut the Persian alliance, 42— promised assistance and money by
Burnes against Herat, 43—charged by Quarterly Review with double dealing ;
Persian ambassador compelled to quit the country after reaching Candabar,
565—grand Army resolved to march upon, 78—grand Army arrives at, 92-—loss
on joining ; the Bombay column arrives at, 4th May ; Colonel Dennie’s ad-
ventures betwixt Shikarpore and Candahar; muster of troops and followers
at, 97—reception of Shah Socjah; flight of Barukzye Sirdars, 99—Shah
entertains him, 100—review at; delay of two months at, 104—Runjeet Smg

- died day before on march from, 115,

Cragk, Lieut., proceeds with a detachment to Deyrah, 170— heads a party
sent out by Major Billamore from Deyrah, 173—his prowess, 172—accom-
panies Captain Brown to Kahun, 176 —returns with empty camels, 178—his
detachment attacked and cut to pieces, 179-184—remains of seen by Major
Clibborn’s party, 186.

CrissoRrn, Major, dispatched in charge of troops to relieve Kahun, 185, 203-—
decision of commission on, 199, 230.

Corrinson, Lieut., death of, 145,

ConornLy, Arthur, Traveller, murdered at Bokhara, 157.

Conoryny, Lieut, Edward, killed in Kobhistan; melansholy fate of tiwree bro-
thers, 157.

Cossack Officer, vide Vicovitch.

Corron, Sir Willoughby, takes commaund of the Bengal column, 80, 81—de-
tachment dispatched under towards Hydrabad, 84—recommended to fall
back on Shikarpore from above the Bolan Pass, 121—Commander-in-chief
left in Affghanistan. His conduct towards Col. Dennie, 156 —relieved from
command, and ded by G al Elphiastone, 261.

CarEeEep, Licut. Henry, Bombay Artillery, practice of at Kelat, 130—is killed
in endeavouring to storm Kojjuck, 235.

Curcrer separated from Khelat, 210—Mahomed Sherriff appointed Naib
of, 210.

D

Danur—A town in Upper Scinde, near the mouth of the Bolan Pass, 87—
8ir J. Keane’s interview with the Shah Soojah at, 84-troops betwixt and
Kurrachee, 87, 93—troops to keep up _the line of communication between
and Sukkur, 93—troubles in Mr Bell’s political charge ; three days’ fighting
near, 223, 234.

Dexra IsamaeL Kaax obtained by the Seikhs by stratagem, 10.

Desuiz, Lieutenant Colonel ; appointed brigadier, 80—prevents Bengal com-
missariat officers from misappropriating camels ; complains of baggaze cattle
required for Shah’s levies, 85—misunderstandings with Lord Keane—takes
charge of troops through the Bolan Pass, 86--arrives at Candahar, 93,

Ql
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96—ordered to join head-quarters, 91--his opision of the Shah's contingent,
956—concurred in by Lord Keane, 85—letters of, 95, note, and 98— conduct
of coming through Bolan Passdisapproved of by commander-in-chief, 96—leads
the storming party at Ghurnie; heroic conduct of; reported failure; com..
pletesuccess of, 111-—appointed to command troops in Balla Rissar, 130—leaves
Cabool with a force to protect Bameean, 1564—brilliant manceuvring near
Syghaun ; splendid victory of near Bameean, 155—further operations ; de-
spatches mutilated : offered second class Doorannee order, but refuses it i
seals the fate of the campaign, 161—his account of the surrender of Dost
Mahomed, 162.

DrseraT obtained by stratagem by the Seikhs, 10.

Dryzawm, capital of Bhoogties (see Bhoogties and Billamore.)

Dar’Hosts, Captain, takes charge of 6th N. I., across the desert, 220.

Dobaw, a Murree chief, 179—Captain Brown’s treaty with, 191, 195.

Dosr Mamoxep, makes himself ruler of Cabool, iii—recovers half of Pesha-
wur from Runjeet Singh, 6—makes this over to his eldest brether, 7—
bis principal Chiefs required to meet the advance of the Shah Soojah
in 1834, 7 — Peshawur seized in his absence; resolved to recover it
at all hazards; prepares to descend by Jellalabad ; repalsed by the Seikhs s
and returns through the Khyber Pass; pledges himself to remew the
attack; Runjeet Singh also acts in the spirit of unscrupulous aggression
against, 12—forwards letters to the Emperor of Russia, King of Persia, and
Governor-General, 16—Burnes’s opinion of his character, 3¢—Wood's des-
cription of, ibid—conduct towards the Kuzzilbashes, 36—his letter to Lord
Auckland in 1836, 37—answer to, 38—falls into the views of Sir A. Burnes,
(vide Burnes )—flight of from Arghundee, 115—escapes into Kohiatan, 118—
proceeds to Bokhara and is made prisoner, 147—escape from, 150—~threatens
Kohistan, 154—defeated by Colonel Dennie at Bameean, 155—appearance
of at Purwan Durrah, 160—flight of, 161—surrenders to Sir W, Macnagh-
ﬂ;n,z;.,nd is sent to India, 162—his views of Affghan policy; 163—restoration
of, 297,

Durames, General, ambassador at the Court of Persia; recalls Captain
Vicovitch, 28, 24, 27.

Durawo, Licut., one of the explosion party at Ghusnie, 109—afterwards pri-
vate secretary to Lord Ellenborough, note.

E

EiLrssoroven, Lord, character of his Government, 2—opens the trade of the
Indus, 32,

Eciics, Mr, our ambassador at the Court of Persia, 19—his alarms for Russia;
21— obvious misconstruction of views of Russia; despatches of, 20 to 28.

F

Farrer, Major, Member of Nufoosk Commission, 203.
Farconzs, Lieut., killed in attempting to stgrm Kojjuck, 235.
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Faxe, Sir Henry, Commander-in-Chief for all India, 79 —about to proceed to
Europe in bad ‘health ; succeeded by Sir Jasper Nicolls ; his opinions of the
Doorannee alliance, 79—resigns the command of the army, fand proceeds
down the Indus on his way to Bombay, 80 ~Meets Sir J. Keane at Sehwan,
84,

Fang, Lieutenant-Colonel ; letter in the London Times giving an account of his
father’s opinions, 79,

Fawe, Captain, A.D. C, to the Commander-in-Chief ; his account of the Shah’s
reception at Candahar, 101,

Farewvgrow, Captain; his expedition to Ghirisk, 263—skilful movements of;.
brilliant victory over the enemy, 269.

Ferozerore—Reserve left at, 80.

Fornes, Assistant Surgeon, death of, 130.

Forses, Major, succeeds Brigadier Stevenson in"command at Sukkur, 185,

G

GHIRISK, a fortress on the Helmund ; Candabar Sirdars retire to, 99—detach«
ment of troops proposed to be sent to, 239, 243—Shah’s troops sent to, to col-
lect tribute, defeated and dispersed, 267—Captain Farrington’s expedition
to, 268—brilliant success of ; reinforcements sent out to, 269—Major Tod
and the Herat mistion arrive at; fears for safety of, 239, 269—Ukhtar Khan
besieges, 276—Captain Woodburn’s troops arrive at, 278—one of the posts
occupied at the time of the general insurrection.

Grmzigs; Outram’s operations against, 127—Major Lynch, political amongst
(see Lynch)-—various expeditions against, 145, 148.

Grorian ; refusal of Kamran Shah to restore to Persia; anxiety of British
embassy to have it annexed to Herat ; restoration of to Persia, 19.

Guuznie; advance on, 103—captare of, 109—slaughter of Ghazees near, 107.

Gogrpox, Brigadier, succeeds Colonel Dennie in command in Upper Scinde,91.

GrirFiTHS, Major ; in charge of the Bengal commissariat at Dadur, 94.

- GuspAvA ; the pass of reported impracticable, 93—8ir T. Willshire retires by,
86, 185,

GuxpAva, town of, destroyed by the Brahoe insurgents ; value of property in,
222.

H

Havsee Kean Karug, an Affghan chief, 100—treachery of, 117—is sent to-
India a prisoner, 118.

Hazagram country ; expedition into, 145—oxtermination of the occupants of a
fort in the, 146.

Haverock, Major; describes the practicability of the Khoord Cabool and
Tezoen defiles, 81, notc—describes the troops as on famine allowance on
their advance, 92—opinion of Candahar Sirdars, 99—takes charge of a de-
tachment from Ferozepore, 260.

Henar; people of deal in slaves, vii.--affairs of, 1—ocontinual quarrels with



308

Persia and Candahar, 3—-no fears of an attack from Russia, 5—Simla pro-
clamation in relation to, 12—its revenue and population ; Shah Mahomed
finds refuge at; succeeded by Kamran 8hah; character of tho latter, 13—
King of Persia claims sovereignty over; threatens an expedition against,
14—threatened with a joint attack from Persia, Candahar, and Cabool, 15—
Persian army prepares to advance on, 16—arrives before, 17.~unsucoessful
operations against; seige of raised ; defended by Lieutenant Pottinger;
Major Tod and Pottinger ordered to quit, 19—fear of Mr Ellice tbat it
might be made a Russian outpost; Count Nesselrode dissuades the Shah
from advancing ou, 21—intention to annex to Candahar, 22 —harmony of the
views of Great Britain and Russia on, 22—-8ir J. C. Hobhouse’s statement in
reference to, 25—exchange from Suddozye to Barukzye rule ; Lord Auckland
aware of the King of Persia’s preparations against, 36—Candabar Sirdars
agree to attack, 42—King of Persia declines their assistance, 43—Spectator
newspaper on, 74.

Hegrixe, Colonel ; murder of, 120—~Captain Ouiram desired to seek out his
murderers, 126.

Hicks, Lieutenant ; severely wounded at Pushoot, 145.

Honuouse, Sir J. C., President of Board of Control, extract from speech of;
27—mutilation of the Cabool Despatches by, 39,

Hyoer Knas, son of Dost Mahomed ; Governor of Ghuznie, 111—surrender
of, 112—accompanies Bengal army, 124,

J

Jacos, Lieut., cuts a path through the Murree Rills, 176-77—his defence of the
conduct of Major Billamore, 198.

Jussar Knan, Nawaub, brother of Dost Mahomed, deprived of his government,
iii.—interview with Captain Burnes, 65—attempts to make terms for his
brother at Ghuznie, 114--his surrender, 149.

K

KaNDaBHAR.—Se¢¢ Candahar.

KARRACEK, an island in the Persian Gulf ; Bombay troops take possession of, 17,
19.

Karooroo ; expedition near, 275,

Keane, Sir John, Commander-in-Chief of the Bombay army ; appointed to
command the army of the Indus, 80—character of, 80, also 140—lands at
Vikkur, 8l—gives letters to Captain Outram requesting supply of camels
from Cutch ; advances up the line of the Indus; halts at Tatta, 83—for-
bearing conduct towards the Ameers of Scinde—balt at Jerruck ; obtains
subscription of a treaty at Hydrabad, 84—meets Sir H. Fane at Sehwan ;
issues general order at Larkhana intimating the arrangements of the troops
for both presidencies; quits the Bombay column and joins the Shah and
Envoy at Dadur, 85, also 93—distributes the camels collected ; alleged ris-
understanding with Colonel Dennie, 85-—finds feeling of despopdency in the
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army at Quettah, 91—gives peremplory orders to advance ; disapproves of
Shab’s contingent, 85, 98—difficulty of obtaining forage at Candahar, 102—
misled as to the strength of Ghuznie, 103—reconnoitres the Fort, 106-his
opinion of the slaughter of the Ghazees at Ghuznie, 108—Ghuznie despatch,
114—accompanies the Shah Soojah round the fortress ; advances on Cabool 3
receives grand cross of Doorannee order, 120—general order on separation of
troops ; quits Cabool for India, 123—visits Lahore, 124—quits Ferozepore
for Bombay, 125—thanked by India House, 138—by Parliament ; pension
bill passed, 139—general character of ; his politics ; the dark portions of his
history, 140.

Kerar, line of traffic withy 32—the Khan of refuses supplies, 88-—8ir A. Burnes
negociates, ibid—his anticipations of our mishaps, 90—Bombay troops proceed
against, 128—capture of in 1839, 133affairs of, in 1840, 170—dismember-
ment of Khanate.

Kenvepy, Dr., his account of prozress of the march, 102—of the proceedings
at Cabool, 137.39.

Krwra Aspoora, Detachment from, 214.

Kuaiva ; people of deal in slaves, vii.,—~reported advance of Russians on, 129.

Knvperies, Plunderers, vi.

Kavser Pass, The ; Burnes proceeds by, 32—Colonel Wade penetrates, 113.

Kigx, Dr, drawings of passes in the Murree hills, 202.

Kossvck Pass, The.

Koocnan, Captain Burnes meets Abbas Meerza at Siege of, 14—~Khan of
threatens Bokhara, 150.

Koron Pass; the Fighting in, 275.

Koonpooz, one of the Boundaries of Aﬁ‘ghamata.n, i.—Chief of sends Am-
bassador to Cabool, 131.

Koorooym, The Whullee of; friend to Dost Mahomed ; escapes from Bamean,
118—allies himself to the Ameer, 151.

Kanuw, a Murree fort; first expedition to, 172——troops quit, 173—return to,
174—Captain Brown takes possession of, 180—is besieged in, 181, 185—ad-
mirable defence of, capitulation, 195,

Kuspan, fighting near, 221,

Kubnsam chief, Colonel Wheeler proceeds against, 155,

Kossuck, town of, 232—expedition against, 233 —destruction of town of, 238.

Korranm, fighting near, 226—brilliant victory at, 229.

Kurran-1-Incoz, capture of, 273. .

Kugruck Sings, deputation from to Lord Keane, 124—succession of to the
throne of Lahore ; his death and character, 264.;

Kurracnek, Bombay troops land near, 8l—fort captured, 86--reserve force
at, tbid--Sir J. Keane retires by, 135.

Knaonrassan, the limits of Ahmed Shah’s dominions, i.

Kaunan Suau of Herat ; succeeds his father in 1829, ii., 4—character of, 13—
conduct towards India, 18.
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L

Lovepay, Lieutenant, Envoy at Kelat, 212. Se¢s Kelat.
Leecs, Lieutenant, Major in Affghanistan—negociations at Candahar, 43.
Loopianam, place of the Snah Soojah’s retirement, 49—removal from supposed

by Burnes never to have been contemplated, 55.
_ Lyxca, Major, political agent in the Ghilzie country, 269-~character of his
political views, 269-70 —recommends removal of a Tooky chief ; force under
his control ; account of the ideas of the Ghilzies as to the power of the Shah
8oojah ; considers all hope of conciliation at an end; proposes that the
chiefs should be ¢ made to commit themselves ;” applies for peraission to
erect a fort at Kelat-i-Ghilzie ; force sent out from Candahar ; Major Lynch
proceeds to inspect the country; affair of Kulla-i-Ingoz; conduct disap-
proved of by the Envoy, 270-273.

M

MacxacHTEN, Mr, (Seeretary to Government of India, afterwards Sir Williant)
Envoy at Cabool ; letter to_Sir A. Burnes, 49 (see Burnes)—change of opirion
as to Candahar Sirdars, 71—mission to Lahore, 68-73.

MoNEir, Sir John, Ambassador at the Court of Perxsia, 41.—(See Persia, Elice,
Palmerston, &c.)

MazsuaLr, Colonel Thomas, gains a brilliant victory at Kotra, 220—negotiates
with Nusseer Khan, 226—attacks during truce, ib.—instructions to shoot pri-
soners, 230.

Massox, Mr C., Traveller, account of Affghan revolution, viii.—writings of in
reference to the affairs of Cabool, 39 —account of the views of Lord Auck-
land, 71—his acoount of the affairs of Kelat, 205-218 —seized and imprisoned
as a spy, 219.

Mznran Kaaw of Kelat, negotiates with Sir A, Burnes, 89-90.—See Kelat..

Mookroor, troops stationed at, 275.

Moosrure, a village near Quettah, fighting near, 214—insurgents beat at, 217—
mission sent from, 219.

N

Nazian Valley, Col. Shelton’s expedition into, 261.

NesseLrone, Count, correspondence with Lord Palmerston, desires full pub-
lication of all communications with Lord Palmerston, 30—terrors for move-
ments of, 48. ’

Nrwaz, intrusive Khan of Kelat.—See Kelat.

Numow, troops advance on, 159.

Noosky, ravages of Newaz Khan near, 212—expedition under Colonel Sop-
pitt to, 241—Loss of Camels at, ib.

Norr, General, starts for Kelat, 224—captures, ib.—joins expedition into the
northward, 291—returns in triumph to India, 208.

Nusseez, son of Mehrab Khan of Kelac ; escapes after the capture of, 130—
seeks refuge amongst the tribes, 212—See Kelat, Kotra; Quettah, and Outram.
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Nuroosk Pass, Lieut. Jacob cuts a road through, 176-77-~defeat of Major
Clibborn’s force at, 186-88-spectacle witnessed in by Captain Brown, 192-
193,

o

Orives, Colonel, commands an expedition into the Zooramut valley, 283.

Orguarp, Lieut. Col,, expedition to Pushoot, 145,

Ovuream, Captain James (afterwards Major, and political agent for all Scinde),
extra A, D, C. to Sir J. Keane ; dispatched to Cutch in quest of camels, 82—
disperses a large body of the enemy near Ghuznie, 103—takes charge of
the detachment sent in pursuit of -Dost Mahomed, 116 —~returns to Cabool,
118—placed in political charge, 1253—undertakes an expedition against the

“Ghilzies, 127—remarkable forced march; returns to camp; attached to

General Willshire’s division on leaving Quettah, 129 his account of the cap-

ture of Kelat and causes of, 130-33 —carries tidings of to Bombay ; supposed

loss during these operations, 135—appointed political agent at Hydrabad ;

expense of establishment, 143.—disclaims all suspicion of Mr Masson, 219

appointed to succeed Mr Bell ; proceeds to Quettah to take charge, 244 —

assists at the investiture of Nusseer Khan at Kelat, 245—Memoir of, 248—

captures Moolair ; raises the Bheel corps in Candeish, 249 —entrusted by Sir

J. Malcolm with an important expedition, which proves completely successful,

261 —raiser Coolie police corps, 252—connection with the army of the Indus,

&c.; distinguished success as political agent; promised the appointment of

resident at Hydrabad ; incurs the displeasure of Lord Ellenborough; receives

a public dinner from the officers of the army at Sukkur; receives a public

dinner at Bombay, 256 —returns to Scinde; his negociations with the Ameers;

retires from Scinde ; his opinion of the conquest of the country ; receives a

sword from the army; returns to England, 257—success of in managing

Scinde by honest means proves that chicanery was no whore necessary, 295.

P

Pasuersron, Lord, letter to Mr Ellice, Nov, 1835 ; correspondence with Count
Nesselrode, 19—~considers Count Nesselrode’s explanation entirely satisfac -
tory, 27.

Pzrsia, affairs of, see Herat, 12,

Pzsuawun, affairs of, 5—~views of Dost Mahomed regarding, 50, 52,

PesusEy, valley of,—See Quettah.

Porringer, Lieut. Col. (afterwards Sir Henry), resident at Hydrabad ; hostile
to the idea of attack on, 83—made a baronet, 139.

Puswax Durean, fight at, 160—Dr Lord, Lieut. Broadfoot, and Cornet Cris-
pin killed at, 161.

Pusnoor, Colonel Orchard’s expedition to, 145.

Q

QuarTERLY REvizw, opinion of favourable to Lord Auckland, 46—Spectator’s

reply to, 73.
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QuETran, the capital of Shawl, independence of ; Bengal column reaches, 87
—arrival of Sir J. Keane at, 91—Bombay cdlumn arrives at ; Col. Dennie’s
adventures necar ; Bombay troops return to, 128 —8ir T. Willshire starts from
for Kclat ; troops proposed to be sent from to relieve Kahun, 179—General
Brooks arrives at, 240—large force at, 241,
R

Roreg, a town in Scinde, troops cross from, 84,

Russia, relations with, 19,

Rairr, Captain Queen’s Royals, present at Kelat, 131.

Rair, Captain Ist Bombay Grenadiers, killed in endeavouring to storm the
Nufoosk Pass, 187.

Ruwsrer Sinan, Ruler of the Punjaub; termed “our ancient ally ” in-Simila

proclamation, 6—scizes in 1818 on Attock ; on Mooltan ; on Cashmere ; defeats

the Affghans under Azeem Kban in 1823 ; seizes on, but finds himself unable

to keep, P eshawur ; dividen it betwixt Kamran Shah and Dost Mahomed, 7

- advances to meet Affghans, and defeats them, in 1835 ; resolves to seize on

Shikarpore ; his feelings on the death of Hurry Singh and defeat of his

troops at Jumrood, 11—had maintained the line of the Indus a scene of in-

cessant strife, 12—Peshawur constant source of expenditure and annoyance
to, 39—would have been willingly parted with ; had never sought to attack

Cabool, 57—enters on treaty with British government and the Shah Soojah,

68—~ declines to permit our army to pass through the Panjaub, 78-.death of

occurs on 27th June; intelligence of reaches the troops 1st August; is suc- _
ceeded by Kurruck Singh ; his treatment of Shere Singh his repudiated son»
now ruler of the Punjaub, 262.
8
Savrx, General Sir RoserT, pursues Candahar Sirdars, 99 ; commands the leading
column at Ghuznie, 111 —Operations in Kohistan, 156 —service expires, 283
—his brigade forces the Khoord Cabool Pass and retires on Jellalabad,
2903,
Savrer, Lieut. Col., commands 2d Cavalry at Parwan Durrah, 159.

Simonionm, Count, Russian Ambassador at the court of Persia, 20—desires the
King of Persia to attack Herat, 20.

SHIKARPORE, & town In Scinde, amount of force at, in Feb. 1839, 86.

Suan Soosan, The,—first appearance of as a public characier, ii—defeated and
driven from his kingdom by Futteh Khan ; pensioned at Loodianab, iii—8ir
Alex. Burnes’s opinion of, 35, 263, note—on terms with the brother of Dost
Mahomed, 49—mode of restoration recommended by Burnes, 68, 70—charac.
ter of his ministers, 165—spends the winter at Jellalabad, 144,

SxzvnTON, Colonel, appointed to command 3d brigade at Cabool, 260--leaves
Ferozepore and reaches Jellalabad, 261—success of in.Nazian valley, 262—
proceeds to escort Capt. Broadfoot, 266,

SreoraTon Newspaper,—sagacity of views, 73—refutal of Quarterly Review, T4
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Syanaw, troops stationed at, 15t—compelled to retire from, 153—re-occupied
by Col. Dennie, 155. -

T

‘Tazes, victory near, 148.

Tzres Valley, expedition to, 280—found abandoned, 281-—troops connected
with Doorannees, 279.

Tezren, cafila seised at, opens the Ghilzie insurrection, 284.

Tiuour Saam, character of, i

Tivesron, Lord Palmerston’s speech at, describing the tranquillity of Affghan-
istan, 201.92.

Toxnexns, Mr, Secretary to Government, 71.

Too, Major, Ambassador at Herat, 19.

Toorax Durrag, Lieut. Conolly killed at ; forts destroyed at, 159,

v

Varianz, Colonel T., (now General) captures Kurrachee, 86--left in charge
of the mouth ef the Indus ; member of Nuffoosk commission, but opposed
the report of ; votes in favour of,199.

VenrTura, General, a Corsican officer in the Seikh army, remains behind on
advance of Timour Shah for Peshawur, 113,

Vicovirce—a Cossack Lieutenant, 23—objects of his mission, 26, 27, 47—
treatment of at Cabool, 48—Burnes’s account of, 55—Had no political au-
thority, 66.

VIREUR, post at the mouth of the Indus; Bombay troops disembark at, 81.

w

Wape, Capt. (afterwards Sir Claude Martin) ; statement in reference to Dost
Mahomed’s attack on Peshawur, 8.11-—said by Masson to have denounced
the peaceable arrangement for the surrender of Peshawur, 9 (note)—views
as to the popularity of the Shah Soojah, 39—takes charge of detachmentof
contingent from Peshawur to Cabool, 80-81, also p. 113.

WaLkER, Captain, accompanies Captain Anderson against the Ghilzies, 148.

WarLack, Colonel, takes charge of grand convoy from Ferozepore, 146—arrives
at Cabool, 146—proceeds towards Ghuznee with troops, 148 —joined by
Captain Anderson, captures a fort and returns to Ghusnie.

WazzLeR, Lieut.-Col,, successes against the chiefs, 153.

Wirrsaing, Sir Thomas, commands the Bombay column of the Army of the
Indus ; descent of from Khelat by the Bolan Pass, 86-135—returns from Ca-
bool to Quettah over the Tobah mountains, 127—proceeds against Mehrab
Khan, 128—Capture of Khelat, 130-135.

Wisown, Colonel, mortally wounded at Kojjuck, 235.

WoopBuBN, Captain, about to be sent to reinforce Ghirisk, 139—accompanies
reinforcements for Ghirisk, 269—sent out at head of detachment to Ghir-
isk to attack Ukhtar Khan, 176 — skilful movements of, 277 — brilliant

R
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violory on the Helmund, 229—-pooompanigs Captain Grifin’s force ; gallant
conduct of ; leaves his couch to lead his regiment, 279—his degih, !um'lp
P- 269.

‘Wrussn, Liout. Colonel, member of the Nufoosk commission, note 199—arrives
at Candahar and his detachment added to General Nott's army ; detachment
under, sent out to the Ghilzie country, 274—brilliant suocens of, sbid—farco
dispatched under, into the Teree country, 280. ‘

Y
Yaz Mamousp, vizier to Kamran Shah—See Herat apd Eamran Shah.
z

Zruaxn Smam, elevation of to the throne, ii.
Zoosauvr, Valley, expedition into, 283.
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